

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

EXPLORING THE CONTRIBUTION OF BIOPSYCHOLOGICAL MAKERS TO EXPLAIN PHYSICAL FRAILTY AND THE EXERCISE MEDIATION ON HORMONAL, IMMNUE AND PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING IN INSTITUTIONALIZED FRAIL OLDER WOMAN

Thesis in the field of Doctoral degree in Sports Sciences, the branch of Physical Activity and Health, supervised by Doctors Ana Maria Teixeira and José Pedro Ferreira and presented to the Faculty of Sports Sciences and Physical Education of the University of Coimbra.

August, 2018.

Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física

Universidade de Coimbra

EXPLORANDO A CONTRIBUIÇÃO DE INDICADORES BIOPSICOLÓGICOS PARA EXPLICAR A FRAGILIDADE FÍSICA E A MEDIAÇÃO DO EXERCÍCIO NOS INDICADORES DO BEM-ESTAR PSICOLÓGICO, PARÂMETROS HORMONAS E IMUNITÁRIOS EM MULHERES IDOSAS FISICAMENTE FRÁGEIS

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Tese no âmbito do Doutoramento em Ciências do Desporto, ramo da Atividade Física e Saúde, orientada pelos professores Doutores Ana Maria Teixeira e José Pedro Ferreira e apresentada à Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra.

Agosto de 2018.





Furtado, G.E. (2018). Exploring the contribution of biopsychological makers to explain physical frailty and the exercise mediation on hormonal, immune and psychological well-being indicators. Ph.D. Thesis, Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education, University of Coimbra, Portugal.

Furtado, G.E. (2018). Explorando a contribuição de indicadores biopsicológicos para explicar a fragilidade física e a mediação do exercício nos indicadores de bem-estar psicológico, parâmetros hormonais e imunitários em mulheres idosas institucionalizadas fisicamente frágeis. Tese de Doutoramento, Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, Portugal.



This work was funded by Portuguese National Funding Agency for Science, Research and Technology [FCT PTDC/DTP-DES/0154/2012]. Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado were financed by grant from CNPQ/CAPES Foundation - Ministry of Education (BEX: 13642/13-8).

DEDICATORY

It is important to mention that all stages involved in the development of this doctoral thesis were influenced by my best friends, teachers, institutions where I worked and especially by my 'families'. I dedicate this document to my father Márius and my mother Marize, for understanding my desire to return to Portugal and pursue my studies, for being always close and supporting my decisions; My sister Camila/Fabrício (my strong support) and my brother Bruno (my eternal idol and champion); To my friends from the neighbourhood and school, whose positive influence gave me the social skills to overcome the challenges of life (in special Thiago Maforte, Érica Moreira, Leonardo Souza, Fernando Lima, Kellen, Suellen and Francihelen Ferigotti, Rafael, Mateus, Luís Francisco (Kiko), Eduardo Duque, Carlos Educardo Souza, Priscila, Flávio Augusto, Felipe Lopes, Leonardo Lopes, Juliana Lopes Fábio Augusto, Rodrigo Pelage, Ana Maria, Denise, Mariana Fernandes, Fernanda Guerra, Leonardo Barroso, Nello Nemer, Elton Ramos, Emerson Coelho, Ricardo Bomtempo, Karina Neponucemo, Janaína Costa, Eugênio Tiago, Cristiane Bastos, Kelly Conceição, Luciane Guimarães and Márcia Heilbuth); To my friends who worked with me in the field of recreation and leisure, especially Alfredo Marinho Falcão and Leandro Rajão; To my best friends in the Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education at UNI-BH, Luciano Nora (my great adventure partner in Portugal and Europe), Gustavo Satoshi, Caetano Scoralik and all the colleagues that graduated with me; To the friends that I conquered in the Pampulha late Club (PIC), especially, Bruno Souto (brother), Taciana Oliveira and Rafael Cozzi; To all my colleagues who accompanied my career as Personal, Group and Master Trainer, especially Juliana Santos, Geoffray Ramos, Silva Simoni and Marcos Simões, Alan Sousa, Rebeca Coelho, Juliana Cordeiro and João Simões. To my 'Portuguese' friends Heráclito, Bruno, Andreia, Rita e Pedro, Carolina and Izabela. I thank all the teachers, the real people who influenced me positively to follow the scientific career: Professor Alaíde, Augusto Venâncio (Neto), Silmara Luz, Kelerson, Ricardo Claudino, Franco Noce, Fernando Gripp and Gladstone Grip (In memorian).

Here in Portugal, I met my dear wife, who has supported me throughout my academicscientific career. Her family (Alice, Arlindo, Sandra) were also fundamental throughout these years, for their support, affection and comprehension. During the last year of the PhD, our beautiful son Miguel was born, brightening our lives. While I returned to Portugal to pursue this work, that decision forever defined the path of my life.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank all the Institutions that accepted to participate in this study: Santa Casa da Misericórdia de Coimbra, Santa Casa da Misericórdia Catanhade, Cáritas Diocesana de Coimbra and Venerável Ordem Terceira da Penitência de São Francisco. We also would like to thank all elderly volunteers in this study. It was an amazing experience to learn through the study of the elderly and, above all, learn from the elderly. Notwithstanding the proposed goals, it was equally important to listen to the old people's stories, both negative and positive events that life brought to them, but above all, to listen to their life experiences. This gave me valuable lessons about life, and enabled me to grow and develop important human skills. My sincere thoughts to all the elderly who contributed to this study and at some point left us. I thank the students Fábio Direito, Tais Rieping, Nelba Souza, Sandra Pereira, Adriana Caldo, Rafael and Rafael Carvalho for their contribution with exercise implementation and data collection. To my best research colleagues, Mateus Uba Chupel (and Rubens Letieri), I express my heartfelt gratitude. There were long hours of data collection, discussions about statistics, exercise, immunology and other important issues for our work that were undoubtedly important for my scientific development. Thanks for "lending" your knowledge. I am very grateful for the knowledge that I gained with Miguel and Marisa, two experts in statistics and for their 'patience' with a PhD student. Thera-band® elastic bands were kindly provided by Prof. Juan Colado, Valencia University, Spain. Professor Doctor Juan Colado showed interest and collaborated with our research group until the last moment, in addition to his valuable contributions provided throughout research. Special thanks to Professor Doctors Eef Hogervost and Stephan Badelow, who had an amazing synergy with our research group. Professor Eef, who received me in her 'home', (Loughborough University) one of the best colleges of Sports Science in the world. After a short stay promoted by the Erasmus Program, an intense and massive work was carried out, consolidating a professional relationship that we intend to reinforce. I would like to thank Dr. Liliana, who is a supervisor of the Department of International Relations and organized, in record time, my stay at the Loughborough University. A special thanks for my advisors, Professors Doctors Ana Teixeira and José Pedro Ferreira for their trust, patient and for the responsibility in guiding me through my academic and research development. Both advisors, 5 years ago, understood the need for change; they supported me in times of indecision and hard work; they were always present, in spite of their demanding academic duties, in all stages of this work. They gave me autonomy to carry out the research tasks, opportunity to participate in other projects and the good scientific support which generated an enormous personal growth. Finally, I would like to express my appreciation to all the FCDEF-UC community who supported me to carry out this work.

ABSTRACT

Frailty syndrome is a complex aging expression determined by ontogenetic and phylogenetic factors. Chronic stress has been shown to have immunosuppressive effects, to accelerate immunosenescence and to cause cumulative disorders in many physiological systems, resulting in frail state. In a recent approach, Linda Fried and colleagues have developed a construct whose bases are muscle loss, negative energy balance and physical inactivity, called 'Frailty Cycle'. They identified five dimensions in the construct: weakness, low resistance to an effort, slowness, low physical activity, and weight loss, which were operationalized on five criteria to identify the Physical Frailty (PF), and divide the population in frail, pre-frail and non-frail. Recently, epidemiological studies reported that cognitive impairments, low immune expression, and others global health dimensions have a powerful association with physical frailty. However, there is a need for the search for new correlated markers for the frail condition, for a better understanding of the phenomenon. On the other hand, exercise has been shown as a co-adjuvant treatment to have positive effects on several factors linked to physical frailty (e.g. improve immunity and prevent chronic diseases), because of it's potential effect on hormonal mediation. Looking at Fried PF Phenotype construct, their dimensions share biological 'commonalities' that can be explained by studying the biopsychological mechanisms with exercise being a key factor in the study of these relationships.

The current research was designed to investigate and characterize the prevalence of the PF in a cross-sectional Portuguese samples (institutionalized participants), to examine the relationship between PF and each one of the general health status domain such as physical fitness and functioning status; neuroendocrine and immune parameters; psychological and cognitive ability of these populations; and to verified the impact of different types of exercise in each domain of general health status. However, this doctoral thesis is presented in the form of articles, divided into five sections and their respective chapters. In total, 3 preliminary studies (2 systematic reviews of studies 1 and 2 and one exercise-intervention pilot study 3), 5 cross-sectional studies (4,5,6,7, and 8) and 3 intervention studies (9,10 and 11) were completed. The cross-sectional design consisted of the assessment of 140 older women (\geq 75 years old), living in different centres of heath care and social support, located in the city of Coimbra, Portugal. The participants were selected using a non-probabilistic convenience sampling based on the geographical area of the center region of Coimbra city.

The experimental design characterizes as a naturalist controlled trial exercise-based intervention study with two different chair-based exercise programs. In the preliminary study 3, the group of 20 participants was submitted to 14 weeks of chair-based yoga type flexibility exercises. The control group consisted of 15 participants. The subsequent phase was designed to assess the effect of muscle-strength with elastic band exercises (n = 24) and multimodal exercise (n = 18) interventions on biopsychological outcomes in frail and pre-frail individuals. Participants in these groups attended a 45 minutes' exercise session, two-three times per week over 24 weeks. All participants were evaluated in the pre- and post intervention moments. In this phase, the participants were extracted by PF protocol from the cross-sectional study design.

Several interesting findings from different studies were found. Firstly, preliminary metanalysis review of study 01, exposed a strong association between the decline in the cognitive profile and PF, which presents a similar pattern in countries of several regions in the world (global effect size = 95%CI: 0.50-0.62, p<0.001). The systematic review of reviews (study 2) has confirmed that there was concrete evidence of a promising effect of the multimodal exercise with a long-term duration (more than five months) and a weekly frequency that varies between 3-5 times per week seems to have a superior effect to other types of exercise in improving different global health variables, attenuating and reversing the PF. In yoga intervention of study 3, it was possible to verify that chair-based exercise, being a method integrated with the conventional exercise programs of group classes, also promotes promising results in the modulation of functional fitness and salivary stress hormones indicators. However, it was clear that exercises of light intensity have little impact on these variables.

The cross-sectional studies presented important evidence regarding the identification of new correlates of PF, as well as the power of some of these variables to explain the variance associated with frailty status in the institutionalized older women. Study 4 demonstrated that only aerobic resistance (AUC = sensitivity [93-96%]; specificity [74-77%], p=0.001) and cognition (AUC = sensitivity [77-88%]; specificity [65-71%], p<0.001) were the variables that had the greatest strong power of explanation of the PF status when compared to several other global health markers. Study 5 demonstrated that the agility-dynamic balance test can be used as a simple and fast tool for the detection of physical frailty (AUC=.82, 95% CI [0.74, 0.90]). Study 6 revealed clearly that low activity levels and slow gait speed were independent dimensions of PF that contribute to functional disability (p < 0.05). Central results from study 7 revealed that attitudes towards aging and the subjective perception of happiness, explaining 34% and 40% of variance respectively, were highlighted as new psychological dimensions that may explain the variance associated with PF.

In study 8 the results pointed to salivary α -amylase (AUC = 0.613, AUC 95%CI = [0.518; 0.707]) as a promising marker for prognosis of PF condition. Intervention studies with different types of multimodal (CME) and muscle strength elastic bands exercise (CSE) presented some important results. In study 9 it was possible to verify the positive effect of exercise modulation on the independent components of PF in several domains of physical function, namely in the reduction of the subjective perception of the risk of falls and in the proficiency to perform daily life activities (p < 0.05), showing a small increase in sex hormones such as DHEA and testosterone. Study 10 demonstrated the effect of exercise on the positive mediation of immune markers, specifically in the balance of the IL-10 / TNF- α ratio (p < 0.05). Study 11 showed the effect of exercise on the maintenance and improvement of psychological well-being and cognitive abilities of exercise practitioners, as well as the effect of exercise on the modulation of biological stress markers (COR and α -amylase) and immune function of IgA (p < 0.05).

Overall, we believe that this multidimensional approach offers a more comprehensive understanding of the causes and consequences of PF status. The results help us to make some essential assumptions. In this sample, we verified the presence of new phenotypes associated with to physical frailty status: Disability of Frailty, Cognitive Frailty, Psychological Frailty, Poor functional fitness of Frailty and Neuroendocrine-immune of Frailty. Looking at the interconnection between studies, we can see that it makes sense that frail individuals have lower physical fitness, accompanied by a physical inability to perform daily tasks and a high fear of falling. An interconnection between the low profile of psychological and cognitive state and a lower functional fitness, since the literature points out a relationship between a good functioning of the executive function and a greater capacity to solve physical tasks and daily problems, also including the management of the stress, was also found.

Finally, the relationship between the unsatisfactory hormonal balance and the poor functioning of the skeletal muscle system was also seen. On the other hand, exercise intervention proved that chair-based exercise, was an appropriate method to integrate with the conventional methods of exercise prescription to be used in the older-frail individuals. The impact of different exercise programs (multimodal and muscle strength exercise) showed similar findings in the several indocators. Despite the different results presented in the intervention studies, we can speculate that exercise change positively the levels of physical activity and physical fitness, which may be related to an improvement in subjective perception of fear of falling and proficiency in daily activities. The improvement of the physical performance seems to have influenced attitudes toward aging, global self-esteem and general self-efficacy, corroborating the previous findings that already had exposed correlations between physiological well-being and some physical-functional fitness components.

ix

Although not directly assessed the social interaction component promoted by both exercise programs, this 'parallel-effect' may have exercised a positive influence on the improvement of emotional well-being and mood status of participants, since controls did not show similar results. For the future interventions and based on our cross-sectional studies as a pilot trial, we can recommend to extend this type of study to older populations of different settings (e.g. hospitalization, community, social vulnerability). In addition, a longitudinal design that focuses in the study of the life-time course, starting at age 40 and above (middle-age) may produce clues about how the physical Frailty phenotype develops across the time. This was the main recommendation from the World Health Organization Scientific Committee on the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia 2017, Barcelona. Exercise as an adjuvant treatment may be combined with other therapies (i.e., dietary supplementation, medication) to potentiate its beneficial effects, and this type of strategy is the future of public health interventions.

Key-words: Physical Frailty, Older Adults, Exercise, Psychological well-being, immune system, stress hormones, disability, cognition, physical fitness.

RESUMO

A síndrome da fragilidade é um complexo desfecho associado ao envelhecimento, determinada por fatores ontogenéticos e filogenéticos. O estresse crônico demonstrou ter efeitos imunossupressores, causando distúrbios cumulativos em muitos sistemas fisiológicos, resultando num idoso frágil. Numa abordagem recente, Linda Fried e seus colegas fizeram emergir um construto cujas bases são a perda de massa muscular, o balanço energético negativo e a inatividade física, chamados de "Ciclo da Fragilidade". Eles identificaram cinco dimensões deste construto: fraqueza muscular, baixa resistência, lentidão da marcha, baixos níveis de atividade física e perda de peso não intencional e que serviram de base para operacionalizar os cinco critérios do 'Fenótipo da Fragilidade Física (FF), capaz de dividir a população em idosos fragilizados, pré-fragilizados e não-fragilizados.

Recentemente, estudos epidemiológicos relataram que o declínio cognitivo, baixo perfil imunológico e outras dimensões da saúde global têm uma poderosa associação com a fragilidade física. Existe a necessidade de busca de novos marcadores correlacionados com a FF para uma melhor compreensão do fenómeno. Por outro lado, o exercício tem sido demonstrado como um tratamento coadjuvante na modulação positiva de vários fatores associados à condição frágil (i.e., melhorar a imunidade e prevenir doenças crónicas), devido ao seu efeito potencial sobre a mediação hormonal. Olhando para o construto de Fried, suas dimensões compartilham correspondências no desfecho de algumas variáveis, que podem ser explicadas pelo estudo dos mecanismos biopsicológicos com o exercício sendo um "fatorchave" no estudo dessas relações. A presente tese doutoral foi concebida para investigar a caracterização da prevalência da FF numa amostra transversal, de participantes idosos que vivem em regime de institucionalização, examinando a relação entre a FF e cada domínio do estado de saúde global, tais como aptidão física e estado funcional; parâmetros neuroendócrinos e imunitários; bem estar psicológico e perfil cognitivo; e ainda, e verificar o impacto de diferentes tipos de exercício em cada domínio do estado de saúde global destes indivíduos. No entanto, esta tese foi elaborada na forma de artigos, divididos em cinco seções e seus respectivos capítulos. No total, foram realizados 3 estudos preliminares (2 revisões sistemáticas (estudos 1 e 2) e um estudo piloto de intervenção com exercício (estudo 3), 5 estudos transversais (4,5,6,7 e 8) e 3 estudos de intervenção (9,10 e 11).

O desenho transversal consistiu na avaliação de 140 mulheres idosas (≥75 anos), residentes em diferentes centros de saúde e apoio social, localizadas na cidade de Coimbra, Portugal. Os participantes foram selecionados por amostragem de conveniência não probabilística, com base na área geográfica da região central da cidade de Coimbra. O desenho experimental caracteriza-se como um estudo-naturalista controlado, baseado em diferentes programas de intervenção com exercício suportados por cadeiras. No estudo preliminar 3, o grupo de 20 participantes foi submetido a 14 semanas de exercícios de flexibilidade do tipo ioga baseados em cadeira. O grupo controle consistiu de 15 participantes.

A fase subsequente, foi planeada para testar o efeito de um programa de exercícios de força muscular com bandas elásticas (CSE, n = 24) e outro, caracterizado como multimodal, que engloba resistência muscular, equilíbrio, coordenação (CME, n = 18) sobre os indicadores biopsicológicos em indivíduos frágeis e pré-frágeis. Os participantes desses grupos realizam de uma sessão de exercícios de 45 minutos, com frequência de duas a três vezes por semana, durante 28 semanas. Juntos, o grupo controle, que não exercitou (CG_{ne} = 15) qualquer tipo de atividade, foram avaliados nos momentos pré e pós-intervenção. Para esta fase, os participantes foram estratificados do desenho de estudo transversal em função do protocolo de fragilidade física.

Alguns resultados interessantes nos diferentes estudos apresentados foram encontrados. Primeiramente, a revisão sistemática com metanálise (estudo 01), encontrou uma forte associação entre o declínio do perfil cognitivo e a FF, cujo os resultados revelam um padrão semelhante de associação em países de diversas regiões do mundo (tamanho do efeito global = CI:95%: 0,50-0,62, p <0,001). A revisão sistemática de estudos de revisões (estudo 2) confirmou a existência de evidências concretas sobre o efeito promissor do exercício multimodal, realizado com uma duração de cinco meses (ou mais) sendo que, uma frequência semanal que varia entre 3-5 vezes por semana, parece ter um efeito superior a outros tipos de exercício na melhoraria diferentes variáveis de saúde global em idosos frágeis, atenuando e até mesmo revertendo o FF. No estudo (piloto) 3 de intervenção com yoga, foi possível verificar que o exercício sem grupo, também promove resultados promissores na modulação dos indicadores de aptidão funcional e hormônios salivares do estresse salivar. No entanto, ficou claro que os exercícios de baixa intensidade têm pouco impacto sobre essas variáveis.

Os estudos transversais apresentaram evidências importantes em relação à identificação de novos correlatos à FF. O estudo 4 demonstrou que a resistência aeróbia (AUC = sensibilidade [93-96%], especificidade [74-77%], p = 0,001) e cognição (AUC = sensibilidade [77-88%]; especificidade [65-71%], p <0,001) foram as variáveis que melhor explicaram a condição frágil, quando comparados a vários outros marcadores. O Estudo 5 demonstrou que o teste de equilíbrio dinâmico-agilidade pode ser usado como uma ferramenta simples e rápida para a detecção da FF em idosos institucionalizados (AUC = 0,82, IC 95% [0,74, 0,90]). O estudo 6 mostrou claramente que os 'baixos níveis de atividade' e 'lentidão da marcha' eram dimensões independentes da FF que contribuem para a incapacidade funcional (p <0,05). No estudo 7, os resultados centrais revelaram que as 'atitudes face ao envelhecimento' e a 'percepção subjetiva da felicidade', explicam 34% e 40% da variância, sendo apontadas como novas dimensões psicológicas que podem explicar a variância associada à FF. No estudo 8, os resultados apontaram a α -amilase salivar (AUC = 0,613, AUC 95% CI = [0,518; 0,707]) como sendo um marcador promissor para o prognóstico da condição de FF.

Os estudos de intervenção com diferentes tipos de exercício (CME and CSE) apresentaram alguns resultados importantes. No estudo 9, por exemplo, foi possível verificar o efeito positivo da modulação do exercício sobre os componentes independentes da FF e nos vários domínios da aptidão física-funcional, na redução da percepção subjetiva do risco de quedas e na proficiência em realizar atividades de vida diária (p <0,05), mostrando ainda, um ligeiro incremento nas hormonas sexuais esteroides tais como o DHEA e a testosterona. Já o estudo 10 demonstrou o efeito dos diferentes programas de exercício na modulação positiva de marcadores imunológicos, especificamente no equilíbrio do rácio IL-10/TNF- α (p <0,05). O estudo 11 mostrou o efeito do exercício sobre a manutenção e melhora do bemestar psicológico e habilidades cognitivas de praticantes de exercício, bem como o efeito do exercício sobre a modulação de marcadores de estresse biológico (COR e α -amilase) e função imune de IgA (p <0,05).

Em geral, acreditamos que essa abordagem multidimensional oferece uma compreensão mais abrangente das causas e consequências do estado da FF. Os resultados nos ajudam a fazer algumas reflexões importantes. Verificou-se a presença de novos fenótipos associados ao estado de fragilidade física: fragilidade associada às incapacidades, fragilidade cognitiva, fragilidade psicológica, baixa aptidão físico-motora associada à fragilidade do sistema endócrino-imune. Observando a interligação entre os estudos, percebeu-se que faz sentido uma reduzida aptidão física em indivíduos frágeis, acompanhados de uma incapacidade física para realizar tarefas cotidianas e o elevado medo de cair. Uma interligação entre o baixo perfil do estado psicológico e cognitivo e uma menor aptidão funcional também faz sentido, uma vez que a literatura aponta para uma relação entre um bom funcionamento da função executiva e uma maior capacidade de resolver tarefas físicas e problemas cotidianos, incluindo também a gestão do stress psicológico. Finalmente, a relação entre um baixo perfil imunitário/hormonal e o funcionamento do sistema muscular esquelético deficitário, cujas evidências apontam para uma correlação bastante sólida.

Por outro lado, ambas as intervenções comprovaram que o exercício com base na cadeira, pode ser um método adequado para integrar aos métodos convencionais de prescrição de exercício na aplicação com amostras de idosos mais frágeis. O impacto de diferentes programas de exercícios (CME e CSE) mostrou resultados semelhantes nos vários indicadores. Podemos especular ainda, que o exercício influenciou positivamente nos níveis de atividade física e aptidão física-funcional o que pode estar relacionado com uma melhoria na percepção subjetiva do medo de cair e proficiência nas atividades cotidianas. A melhoria do desempenho físico parece igualmente ter influenciado nas atitudes em relação ao envelhecimento, na autoestima global e auto-eficácia geral.

Embora não tenha avaliado diretamente o componente de interação social promovido por ambos os programas de exercícios, esse efeito paralelo pode ter exercido influência positiva na melhoria do bem-estar emocional e no estado de humor dos participantes, enquanto que o grupo controlo demostrou resultados negativos. Com base nos resultados dos nossos estudos transversais e tendo em conta que este estudo pode ser considerado um piloto, para as futuras intervenções podemos recomendar a extensão desse tipo de estudo para populações mais velhas de diferentes contextos (por exemplo, hospitalização, comunidade, vulnerabilidade social) e com amostras representativas. Além disso, um desenho longitudinal que analisa o comportamento para adesão ao exercício ao logo da vida, começando com amostras acima de 40 anos (adulto de meia-idade), pode produzir pistas sobre como o fenótipo da fragilidade física se desenvolve ao longo do tempo. Esta foi a recomendação máxima do Comitê Científico da Organização Mundial de Saúde sobre a Conferência Internacional sobre Fragilidade e Sarcopénia 2017 (Barcelona). No que concerne aos resultados dos estudos de intervenção podemos afirmar que o exercício, utilizado como uma terapia coadjuvante poderá ser combinado com outras terapias (i. e. suplementação alimentar, medicação) para potencializar seus efeitos benéficos sendo esse tipo de estratégia o futuro das intervenções em saúde pública.

Palavras-chave: Fragilidade física, idosos, exercício, bem-estar psicológico, sistema imunitário, hormonas do estresse, incapacidades, cognição, aptidão física-funcional.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Reliability and validity measures of the three physical frailty components in a samp of n = 20 older women	ple 88
Table 2.2 Reliability and validity measures of anthropometric indicators in a sample of n = older women.	20 89
Table 2.3 Reliability and validity measures of global health indicators.	90
Table 2.4 Reliability and validity measures of physical fitness tests in a sample of n = 20 old woman.	der .93
Table 2.5 Reliability and validity measures for each Functional disability scale.	94
Table 2.6 Scores of internal consistency reliability for each psychometric rate scale	96
Table 2.7 Overview of single session multimodal exercises program	98
Table 2.8 Overview of single session chair-muscle strengh exercises program1	00
Table 2.9 Overview of single session chair-yoga type flexibility exercise program1	02
Table 2.10 Statistical analysis presented in each study of PhD thesis	04
Chapter 3	
Table 3.1 Quality assessment scores of selected studies based on the STROBE check-li 1	ist. 32
Table 3.2 Characteristics of select studies following the PICOS statement (Panic et al., 201 1	3). 34
Chapter 4	
Table 4.1 Summary of adopted descriptors for meta-data search. 1	55
Table 4.2 Summary table of general scope of systematic reviews studies	59

 Table 4.3 Characteristics of systematic reviews studies according the PICOS statement and

 quality of evidence score.

 163

Chapter 5

Chapter 2

Table 5.1 Characteristics of experimental and control groups at baseline and comparisonbetween groups by Two-independent samples.185

 Table 5.2 Comparison between pre and post exercise intervention values.
 186

Chapter 6

Table 6.2 Spearman and their equivalent partial correlations (p values in bold) between frailty syndrome total score and adverse geriatric health outcomes (n = 140)......208

Chapter 7

Table 7.1 Characterization of the total sample study population^a and comparison by frailty phenotype index for sociodemographic, clinical status, frailty and physical fitness indicators.

Table 7.2 Spearman total and partial correlations (controlling for cognitive, comorbidity and both) between combined score of FS and indicators of physical fitness tests (n =119)......229

Table 7.3 Predictive performance of physical fitness tests for frailty syndrome (n =119). ...229

Chapter 8

Table 8.1 Characterization of the total study sample and comparison by physical fra subgroups for biosocial and global health outcomes.	ilty 251
Table 8.2 Characterization of total sample and comparison of physical frailty subgroups functional disability outcomes	for 252
Table 8.3 Association between each physical frailty and functional disability components (r 119).	n = 254

Chapter 9

Table 9.1 Characterization of the total sample study population ^a and comparison by physical
frailty subgroups syndrome for sociodemographic, anthropometric and general health status
outcomes
Table 9.2 Spearman and their equivalent partial correlations between physical frailty total score
and psychological well-being outcomes (n = 118)275
Table 9.3 - The association of PF with psychological well-being and physical frailty indicators
(n = 118)

Chapter 10

Table 10.1 Characterization of the total sample and comparison by physical frailty categories for biosocial and general health status. 294
Table 10.2 Characterization of total sample and comparison by physical frailty subgroups for biochemical makers 295
Table 10.3 Association between each physical frailty independent component and availablebiochemical makers (n = 139).297
Chapter 11
Table 11.1 Characteristics of total sample, experimental and control groups at baseline318
Table 11.2 Comparison of salivary sex steroids hormones markers between baseline, 14 and28 weeks of exercise intervention moment.319
Table 11.3 Comparison of frailty status (total score) and functional disability outcomes betweenbaseline, 14 and 28 weeks of experimental design
Chapter 12
Table 12.1 Total sample, exercising and control groups characteristics of at baseline338
Table 12.2 Comparison of immune profile biochemical makers between baseline and 24 weeksof intervention moments
Table 12.3 Comparison of physical-functional status outcomes between baseline and 24 weeks of intervention
Chapter 13
Table 13.1 Characteristics of total sample, exercise and control groups at baseline
Table 13.2 Salivary stress hormones and functional fitness comparisons between pre- andpost- intervention and control group (non-exercise) after 24-weeks.367
Table 13.3 Functional fitness comparisons between pre- and post- exercise and control group after 24-weeks.
Table 13.4 Psychological well-being comparisons between pre- and post- intervention andcontrol group (non-exercise) after 24-weeks

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1

Figure 1.1 The ecologic model of health-related quality of life structural concept, adapted fromthe World Health Organization report, 2009.50
Figure 1.2 Bioecological model of the determinant factors in active and health aging policies, adapted from World Health Organization report, 2009
Figure 1.3 The physical frailty trajectory associated with several biopsychosocial declines, adapted from of Fried (2001)
Figure 1.4 The five main components of the Fried's Physical Frailty phenotype and their negative scores to classify the frail sub-groups, adapted from (Fried, 2001)
Figure 1.5 Prevalence of Physical Frailty based on epidemiological studies, in several countries adapted from systematic review study carried out by Furtado and colleagues, 2017.
Figure 1.6 Hypothetical model of long term exercise-modulation effect to reverse physical frailty and stimulate changes in biopsychosocial correlates. Created from (112,113)
Chapter 2
Chapter 2 Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design82
Chapter 2 Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design Figure 2.2 Flowchart of cross-sectional study design.
Chapter 2 Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design
Chapter 2 Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design
Chapter 2 Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design 82 Figure 2.2 Flowchart of cross-sectional study design 84 Figure 2.3 Flowchart of the intervention study design 86 Chapter 3 Figure 3.1 Flow diagram of studies selection according PRISMA guidelines (Panic et al., 2013).
Chapter 2 Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design
Chapter 2 Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design 82 Figure 2.2 Flowchart of cross-sectional study design 84 Figure 2.3 Flowchart of the intervention study design 86 Chapter 3 81 Figure 3.1 Flow diagram of studies selection according PRISMA guidelines (Panic et al., 2013). 131 Figure 3.2 Descriptive statistic of each study and global results of meta-analysis. (a) Non-frail versus frail, (b) Non-frail versus pre-frail. 136

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1 Flow diagram of studies selection according PRISMA guidelines (30)......156

Figure 4.2 Categorization of the variables emerged from the 18 systematic reviews studies.

Chapter 6

Figure 6.1 Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for test performance: a) Frail versus non-frail group; b) Frail versus non-frail plus pre-frail group......209

Chapter 7

Figure 7.1 Radar plot of the variables of the physical fitness tests comparison by physical fra	ailty
subgroups (n= 119)	228

Figure 7.2 Results of Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for test performance used physical fitness indicators (n = 119)......230

Chapter 9

Chapter 10

Figure 10.1 Receiver operating characteristic	curve analysis for biochemical maker of salivary
α-amylase, (n =140)	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2mST	2-minute step test
30s-AC	30 seconds arm-curl test
30s-CS	30 second chair-and-stand test
8-UGT	8-foot up-and-go test
AAQ	Attitudes toward aging questionnaire
ACSM	American College of Sport Medicine Science
ADBT	Agility-dynamic balance test
ADL	Katz index of independence in activities of daily living
AMSTAR	A Measurement Tool to Assess Systematic Reviews
AUC	Area under the curve
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BMI	Body mass index
BPM	Beat per minute
BST	Back stretch test
C- α	Cronbach's alpha
CCI	Charlson comorbidity index
CES-D	Center of Epidemiologic Studies on Depression
CHS	Nursing homes of social and health care support
CI	Confidence interval
COR	Cortisol
CRP	C-reactive protein
CSR	Chair sit-and-reach test
СМЕ	Chair multimodal exercise
CSE	Chair muscle strength exercises
СҮ	Chair yoga type flexibility exercises
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
ES	Effect size
FCDEF-UC	Faculty of Sport science and physical education
FES	Falls efficacy scale
FS	Frailty syndrome

GC _{ne}	Control group non-exercising
GSES	General self efficacy scale
HFS	Happiness face scale
HGT	Hand grip test
HPA axis	Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis
HR	Heart rate
HRmax	Maximal heart rate
IADL	Lawton of independence in activities of daily living
ICR	Internal consistency reliability scores
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
lgA	Immunoglobulin-A
IL-10	Interleukin 10
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
IL-6	Interleukin-6
k	Cohen's kappa coefficient
K-S	Kolmogorov–Smirnov test with Lilliefors
Lys	Lysozyme
M±SD	Mean ± standard deviation
M1; 3	The first and third quartile in the bracket
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment
Mesh	Medical Subject Headings
ММЕ	Chair-multimodal exercises
MMSE	Mini mental state examination
MNA	Mini-nutritional assessment
MN	Not menditoned
MU	Medication use
NFvsF	Non-frail <i>versus</i> frail
NFvsPF	Non-frail versus pre-frail
nRCT	Non-randomized controlled trials
РА	Physical activity
PF	Physical frailty
PhFi	Physical Fitness
PICOS	Patient, intervention, comparison, outcomes

PPR	Pattern Recognition Receptors
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses
PRO-HMECSI	Hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress, and immunity project
PSE	Perceived effort scale
PSS	Perceived stress scale
PsyF	Psychological frailty
PwB	Psychological well-being
QA	Quality assessment
RCT	randomized controlled trials
ROC	Receiver operating characteristics analysis
RSES	Rosenberg self-esteem scale
SAM	sympathetic adrenomedullary system
SR	Systematic review
SRM	Systematic review with metanalysis
SRofR	Aystematic reviews of reviews
STROBE	Strengthening Reporting of Observational studies in Epidemiology
SWLS	Satisfaction with life scale
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TSB	Tandem Balance Test
тт	Testosterone
Vs	Versus
α-amylase	Alpha amylase

CONTENTS

ACKNOW	LEDGEMENTS	/i
ABSTRAC	۲۷	ii
RESUMO.		ci
LIST OF T	ABLESx	V
LIST OF F	IGURESxvi	ii
LIST OF A	BBREVIATIONS	ci
CHAPTER	3 1:3	9
GENERAL	INTRODUCTION	9
1.1 E	3ackground4	1
1.2 F	Research question4	4
1.3 Gen	eral and specific objectives4	5
1.4 Stud	ly relevance4	7
1.5 Assu	umptions and limitations4	7
1.6 Orga	anization of PhD thesis document4	8
1.7 State	e of the art5	0
1.7.1	The physical frailty syndrome5	2
1.7.2	Epidemiology of PF5	3
1.7.3	Impact of regular exercise on frail elders5	5
1.8 Refe	erences6	0
CHAPTER	2 2:7	9
MATERIA	LS AND METHODS7	9
2.1 F	Preliminary actions and ethics statement8	1

2.2	2 St	tudies design (phases 1 and 2)	81
2.3	B El	ligibility criteria	83
2.4	1 Sa	ample size estimation	83
2.5	5 Pa	articipants recruitment	84
2.6	6 D	ata collection procedures	87
2.7	7 Pi	rimary outcomes	87
	2.7.1	Physical frailty protocol	87
	2.7.2	Individual and Sociodemographic data	89
	2.7.3	Anthropometric measures	89
	2.7.4	General health status	89
2.8	3 Se	econdary outcomes	90
	2.8.1	Salivary biomarkers analysis	91
	2.8.2	Blood biomarkers analysis	91
	2.8.3	Physical fitness	92
	2.8.4	Functional disability (FD)	93
	2.8.5	Psychological well-being	94
2.9) Pi	ilot study	96
2.1	10 D	escription of exercise programs	96
	2.10.1	Chair-based exercise method	97
	2.10.2	Multimodal exercise program	97
	2.10.3	Elastic-band muscle-strength exercise program	99
	2.10.4	Yoga type flexibility	101
	2.10.5	Non-exercise control group	102
	2.10.6	Exercise engagement and masking	103
2.1	11 G	eneral statistical procedures	103
	2.11.1	Cross sectional studies	105

2.11	1.2 Intervention studies	106
2.12	References	107
СНАРТЕ	ER 3 (STUDY 1):	123
PHYSIC SYSTEM	AL FRAILTY AND COGNITIVE STATUS OVER-60 AGE PO IATIC REVIEW WITH META-ANALYSIS**)PULATIONS: A 123
3.1	Abstract	125
3.2	Introduction	126
3.3	Methods	127
3.4	Central criteria of selected studies	128
3.5	Exclusion criteria	128
3.6	Data Extraction	129
3.7	Quality Assessment (QA)	129
3.8	Statistical Analysis	130
3.9	Results	130
3.9.	1 Data search	130
3.9.	2 Characteristics of studies and participants	131
3.9.	3 Magnitude of effect size	136
3.9.	4 Homogeneity effects	137
3.9.	5 Publication Bias	137
3.10	Discussion	138
3.10	0.1 Frailty, age and gender	138
3.10	0.2 Frailty, cognition performance and assessments	139
3.10	0.3 Frailty subgroups and cognitive decline	140
3.10	0.4 Study limitations	140
3.11	Conclusion	141
3.12	References	142

CHAPT	ER 4	4 (STUDY 2):	149
EXERC SYNDR	ISE-	BASED INTERVENTIONS AS A CO-ADJUVANT TREATMENT OF IN OLDER ADULTS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF REVIEWS)F FRAILTY 149
4.1	At	ostract	151
4.2	In	troduction	152
4.3	M	ethods	153
4.3	8.1	Data sources	153
4.3	8.2	Inclusion and exclusion criteria	153
4.3	8.3	Main search criteria	154
4.3	8.4	Search strategy	154
4.4	Re	esults	155
4.4	l.1	Data search	155
4.4	1.2	General characteristics of SR studies	156
4.4	1.3	Scope of studies and participants	158
4.4	1.4	Exercise interventions characteristics and outcomes	162
4.5	Di	scussion	167
4.6	Co	onclusion	169
4.7	Re	eferences	170
СНАРТ	ER \$	5 (STUDY 3):	177
EFFEC [.] ACTIVI ADULT	TS C TIES S**.	OF A CHAIR-YOGA EXERCISES ON STRESS HORMONE LEVELS, 5, FALLS AND PHYSICAL FITNESS IN INSTITUTIONALIZI	DAILY LIFE ED OLDER 177
5.1	At	ostract	179
5.2	In	troduction	180
5.3	M	ethods	181
5.3	8.1	Design of the study	182
5.3	8.2	Participants	182

	5.3.	3 Sample selection criteria	182
	5.3.	4 Masking	
	5.3.	5 Assessments	
	5.3.	6 Activities of daily life and falls	
	5.3.	7 Physical tests assessment	
	5.3.	8 Biochemical markers	184
	5.3.	9 Chair-based yoga exercise program	184
	5.3.	10 Exercise Adherence	184
	5.4	Data analysis	185
	5.5	Results	185
	5.6	Discussion	187
	5.7	Conclusion	189
	5.8	References	190
С	5.8 :HAPTE	References	190 199
C	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX H	
C P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX H DLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY	
C P P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO EXPLOR 6.1	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX H DLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY	
C P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO EXPLOR 6.1 6.2	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX H DLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY Abstract	
C P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO EXPLOF 6.1 6.2 6.3	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX H DLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY Abstract Introduction Methods	
C P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO EXPLOF 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3.	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX H DLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY Abstract Introduction Methods	
C P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3. 6.3.	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX HOLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY Abstract Introduction Methods 1 Study Design 2 Sample selection criteria	
C P P	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC SYCHO 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3. 6.3. 6.3.	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX F DLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY Abstract Introduction Methods 1 Study Design 2 Sample selection criteria 3 Ethical aspects	
C P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3.	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX HEDLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY Abstract Introduction Methods 1 Study Design 2 Sample selection criteria 3 Ethical aspects 4 Outcome measurements	190 199 10RMONES, VOMEN: AN 199 201 202 203 203 203 203 204 204
C P E	5.8 CHAPTE PHYSIC PSYCHO 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX HEDLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER VICATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY Abstract Introduction Methods 1 Study Design 2 Sample selection criteria 3 Ethical aspects 4 Outcome measurements 5 Physical Frailty screening	190 199 10RMONES, VOMEN: AN 199 201 202 203 203 203 203 204 204 204
C P E	5.8 PHYSIC PSYCHO 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3 6.3	References ER 06 (STUDY 4): AL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX F DLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER V RATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY. Abstract. Introduction Methods 1 Study Design 2 Sample selection criteria 3 Ethical aspects 4 Outcome measurements 5 Physical Frailty screening 6 Sociodemographic and anthropometric data	190 199 10RMONES, VOMEN: AN 199 201 202 203 203 203 203 204 204 204 204 204 204

	6.3.8	8 Mental health and psychological well being	205
	6.3.9	9 Functional disability and physical fitness	205
	6.3.1	10 Sex steroids hormone makers	206
	6.3.1	11 Statistical procedures	206
6.	.4	Results	206
6.	.5	Discussion	209
6.	.6	Conclusion	211
6.	.7	References	213
СНА	APTE	ER 7 (STUDY 5):	217
РΗ	SICA	AL FITNESS AND FRAILTY SYNDROME IN INSTITUTIONALIZE	D OLDER
WO	MEN'	! **	217
7.	.1	Abstract	219
7.	.2	Introduction	220
7.	.3	Methods	222
	7.3.1	1 Ethical Procedures	222
	7.3.2	2 Outcome Measures	223
	7.3.3	3 Sociodemographic Status	223
	7.3.4	4 Anthropometric Measures	
	7.3.5	5 Comorbidities	
	7.3.6	6 Medication-use assessment.	224
	7.3.7	7 Cognitive Status Assessment	224
	7.3.8	8 Physical Frailty Syndrome Screening	224
	7.3.9	9 Assessment of Physical Fitness Indicators.	
7.	.4	Statistical Analysis	226
7.	.5	Results	226
7.	.6	Discussion	230

7.7	References	.234
СНАРТЕ	ER 8 (STUDY 6):	.243
THE R INDEPE OLDER	RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FUNCTIONAL DISABILITY OUTCOMES A ENDENTS COMPONENTS OF PHYSICAL FRAILTY IN INSTITUTIONALI WOMEN	AND ZED .243
8.1	Abstract	.245
8.2	Introduction	.246
8.3	Methods	.247
8.3.	.1 Sample selection criteria	.247
8.3.	.2 Measurement	.247
8.3.	.3 Frailty screen	.248
8.3.	.4 Functional disability outcomes	.249
8.3.	.5 Sociodemographic screening	.249
8.3.	.6 Anthropometric measures	.250
8.3.	.7 Clinical-mental health status	.250
8.3.	.8 Statistical analysis	.250
8.4	Results	.251
8.5	Discussion	.255
8.6	Conclusion	.256
8.7	References	.257
СНАРТЕ	ER 9 (STUDY 7):	.263
THE RE FRAILT STATUS	ELATIONSHIP AMONG PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING AND PHYSI Y IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER WOMEN REVEALS A PSYCHOLOGIC FF S	CAL RAIL .263
9.1	Abstract	.265
9.2	Introduction	.266
9.3	Methods	.267

9.4	Design and procedures	268
9.4.1	Participants and eligibility criteria	268
9.4.2	2 Ethical Procedures	268
9.4.3	3 Outcomes measures	269
9.4.4	Physical Frailty screening	269
9.4.5	Psychological well-being assessement	269
9.4.6	Sociodemographic variables	271
9.4.7	Anthropometric measurements	271
9.4.8	3 Clinical health status	271
9.5	Results	272
9.5	Discussion	276
9.5.1	Comparison by frailty subgroups	277
9.5.2	2 Relationships among PF and PWB outcomes	277
9.6	Conclusions	279
9.7	References	280
CHAPTE	R 10 (STUDY 8):	285
EXPLOR TO EXPL	ING THE POTENTIAL OF SALIVARY AND BLOOD IMMUNE PROFIL AIN PHYSICAL FRAILTY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER WOMEN.	E MAKERS
10.1	Abstract	
10.2	Introduction	288
10.3	Material and Methods	290
10.3	.1 Eligibility criteria	290
10.3	.2 Sample selection	290
10.3	.3 Ethical statement	290
10.3	.4 Outcomes measures	291
10.3	.5 Physical Frailty screening	291

10.3.6	Biochemical markers analysis	292
10.3.7	Biosocial status	292
10.3.8	General health status screen	293
10.3.9	Statistical analysis	293
10.4 F	Results	294
10.5 E	Discussion	298
10.6 0	Conclusions	301
10.7 F	References	
CHAPTER	11 (STUDY 9):	
MUSCLE- INCREAS FUNCTIO	STRENGTH AND MULTIMODAL CHAIR-BASED EXERCIS E DHEA AND TESTOSTERONE LEVELS, DECREASE FRAII NAL DISABILITY IN OLDER WOMEN	E PROGRAMMES LTY STATUS AND 309
11.1 A	Abstract	311
11.2 l	ntroduction	312
11.3 N	lethods	
11.3.1	Participants' selection	
11.3.2	Sample size and allocation	
11.3.3	Assessments	314
11.3.4	Physical Frailty	
11.3.5	Sex steroids hormones	314
11.3.6	Functional disability	315
11.3.7	Clinical health status	315
11.3.8	Biosocial and anthropometric	315
11.3.9	Intervention programmes	
11.3.1	0 Chair multimodal exercises (CME)	
11.3.1	1 Chair muscle-strength exercises (CSE)	
	5	

11.4	Results	
11.4.	1 Sex steroids hormones	
11.4.	2 Physical Frailty and disability	
11.4.	3 Physical Frailty independent components	
11.4.	4 Perceived exertion and adherence	
11.5	Discussion	
11.6	References	
CHAPTER	R 12 (STUDY 10):	
THE MEC IMMUNE	NATING EFFECT OF TWO DIFFERENT EXERCISE PROGRAMM PROFILE OF INSTITUTIONALIZED FRAIL OLDER WOMEN	MES ON THE 329
12.1	Abstract	
12.2 Int	roduction	
12.3 Me	thods	
12.3.	1 Participants recruitment and allocation	
12.3.	2 Sample size calculation and allocation	
12.3.	3 Assessment procedures	
12.3.4	4 Physical Frailty (PF)	
12.3.	5 Immune and biochemical makers' determination	
12.3.	6 Functional Fitness	335
12.3.	7 Health status	
12.3.	Biosocial and anthropometric assessment	336
12.3.	9 Intervention programmes	336
12.3.	10 Multimodal exercises (CME)	
12.3.	11 Muscle-strength exercises (CSE)	
12.3.	12 Data analysis	
12.4	Results	

40.4.0		
12.4.2	Physical Fitness	340
12.4.3	Exercise effort and engagement	341
12.5 D	liscussion	342
12.5.1	Immune Makers	342
12.5.2	Physical Fitness status	344
12.5.3	Limitations	346
12.6 C	conclusion	346
12.7 R	eferences	347
CHAPTER	13 (STUDY 11):	355
EFFECTS	OF MULTIMODAL AND MUSCLE-STRENGTH CHAIR- EX	ERCISE
PROGRAM	IMES ON PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING AND SALIVARY	STRESS
HORMONE	ES IN PRE-FRAIL AND FRAIL OLDER WOMEN	355
13.1 A	bstract	357
13.1 A 13.2 Ir	bstract	357 358
13.1 A 13.2 Ir 13.3 M	bstract htroduction	357 358 359
13.1 A 13.2 Ir 13.3 M 13.3.1	bstract htroduction lethods Initial procedures and ethics	357 358 359 359
13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2	bstract htroduction lethods Initial procedures and ethics Participants characterisation and recruitment	357 358 359 359 360
13.1 A 13.2 Ir 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.3	bstract htroduction lethods Initial procedures and ethics Participants characterisation and recruitment Criteria of sample selection	357 358 359 359 360 360
13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.3 13.3.4	bstract htroduction lethods Initial procedures and ethics Participants characterisation and recruitment Criteria of sample selection Sample calculation and allocation	357 358 359 360 360 360
13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.3 13.3.4 13.3.5	bstract htroduction lethods Initial procedures and ethics Participants characterisation and recruitment Criteria of sample selection Sample calculation and allocation Masking effect	357 358 359 360 360 360 361
 13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.3 13.3.4 13.3.5 13.3.6 	bstract htroduction lethods Initial procedures and ethics Participants characterisation and recruitment Criteria of sample selection Sample calculation and allocation Masking effect Measurements	357 358 359 360 360 360 361 361
 13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.2 13.3.4 13.3.5 13.3.6 13.3.7 	bstract	357 358 359 360 360 360 361 361 361
 13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.3 13.3.4 13.3.5 13.3.6 13.3.7 13.3.8 	bstract htroduction lethods Initial procedures and ethics Participants characterisation and recruitment Criteria of sample selection Sample calculation and allocation Masking effect Measurements General health status Biosocial and anthropometric evaluation	357 358 359 360 360 360 361 361 361 362
 13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.3 13.3.4 13.3.5 13.3.6 13.3.6 13.3.7 13.3.8 13.3.9 	bstract	357 358 359 359 360 360 361 361 361 361 362 362 362
 13.1 A 13.2 In 13.3 M 13.3.1 13.3.2 13.3.2 13.3.4 13.3.5 13.3.6 13.3.6 13.3.7 13.3.8 13.3.9 13.3.1 	bstract	357 358 359 360 360 360 361 361 361 361 362 362 362 362
13.3	3.12 Characterization of chair-exercise protocols and adherence	
--	---	-----
13.3	3.13 Chair multimodal exercises (CME)	
13.3	3.14 Chair elastic-band muscle-strength exercises (CSE)	
13.3.15 Data analysis		
13.4	Results	
13.5	Discussion	
13.5	5.1 Salivary stress hormones	370
13.8	5.2 Psychological well-being	371
13.6	Conclusion	373
13.7	References	
CHAPTER 14:		
GLOBAL DISCUSSION AND FINAL CONSIDERATIONS		
14.1	Summary of findings	
14.2	Inferences based on key results	
14.3	General limitations	
14.4	Directions for the future studies	
14.5	References	
ANNEXES		

SECTION I

Initial considerations: Rationale, methodologies and state of art.

CHAPTER 1:

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

José Pedro Ferreira

Ana Maria Teixeira

1.1 Background

The Frailty syndrome is a complex ageing expression determined by ontogenetic and phylogenetic factors (1). Biological and psychosocial chronic stress has been shown to have immuno-suppressive effects, to accelerate immunosenescence and to cause cumulative disorders in many physiological systems, resulting in a frail state. Sedentary life style also proves to be a powerful condition linked to frailty (2). The phenotype of frailty is characterized as a state related to an elderly person, in which reserve function across multiple physiologic domains declines, compromising the individuals' capacity to withstand stress, leading to institutionalization/hospitalization and death (3). In a recent approach, Fried and colleagues have developed a construct whose bases are the sarcopenia, negative energy balance and physical inactivity, called the "Frail Cycle" (4). They identified five dimensions in the construct, operationalized on five criteria to identify Physical Frailty (PF) and divide the population in three subgroups as know as non-frail, pre-frail and frail (1). Lately, epidemiological studies around the world reported that mental health and high comorbidities, have a powerful association with PF (5,6). Older individuals with advanced frailty, with or without cognitive impairment, have an end-of-life functional course marked by slowly progressive physical deterioration, with only a slight acceleration in the trajectory of functional loss as death approaches (3).

Similar to Portugal, the population of many parts of the world is getting older posing many serious problems but a relatively small number of good research studies to provide practical answers (7). Due to the medical advances and increased life expectancy European adults are reaching old age with more comorbidities, physical impairments and cognitive decline, and these several global health conditions are intrinsically related to PF condition in old people (8). Health is one of the most significant factors, associated with assessing psychosocial wellbeing and quality of life (9). Some findings revealed that the high scores of self-reported health are predictors of a better aging trajectory (10). This is specially true/relevant in advanced age, where health-related guality of life is recognised by a set of physical (long-term illness) and mental outcomes (depression), that impact on people's functional limitations, mobility difficulties, reflecting in an early physical and cognitive frail condition (11,12). Recently, longitudinal and cross-sectional studies reported that low immune function has a powerful association with PF (5). Immunosenescence is also a part of the aging process and is associated with an increase in autoimmune disorders, tumors or infectious disease (13). The mucosal immune system, including the upper respiratory tract, is considered as a first barrier to colonization by pathogenic agents, reducing the incidence of upper respiratory tract infections (URTI) in humans (14). During aging, for example, there is a decrease in salivary Immunoglobulin-A (IgA) and interferon gamma (IFN-y) secretion which are also linked to higher URTI incidence (15).

Engaging in regular sports, exercise or systematic physical activity (PA) is known to protect against many factors associated with poor physical and psychological health and improves life expectancy. With an aging population on the rise, it is important to assess interventions and programs that may maintain mental-health and physical function and quality of life in late life (16). It is very important for public health and political decision-makers to identify the main factors associated with physical decline in older populations, which subsidize the creation of new methods of adjuvants and co-adjuvants therapies (17,18). Looking at Fried's PF construct, their independent components share biopsychological «commonalities» that can be explained by studying the biochemical mechanisms, with exercise being a "keyfactor" in the study of these relationships (19,20).

The impact of exercise-mediation on independent frailty components such as muscle hand-grip strength, gait speed, and subjective perception of vigour to conduct day-to-day tasks is well tested and understood (21,22). However, there are some factors that may be influential in this positive exercise mediator effect on the physical functioning, such as positive changes in hormonal balance and in mood states (23,24). Regular exercise (RE) has been shown to have positive effects on several factors related to PFS (e.g. improve immunity, prevent/attenuate chronic diseases and ameliorate cognitive functions), because of its potential effects on biological mediation and their positive impact on psychosocial health outcomes (23,25). RE may have the largest positive effect on older women who have low levels of sex steroids after menopause and that at the same time increase the risk for cardiovascular disease and dementia (26). The type of exercise seems to be crucial on increasing the aerobic capacity, but the evidence to support the involvement of multimodal, aerobic and muscle-strength resistance exercise programs in improving cognition and psychological well-being related to mental health are not yet clear (27), and their effectiveness should to be investigated.

The realization of dysregulated immune function and increased disease prevalence in the humans has been the motivation for interventions designed to improve immune functions in the older populations (28). Regarding the influence of exercise intensity on the immune function, data suggests that moderate RE may reduce URTI incidence and symptomatology (29). Also, the immune function is less impaired in highly conditioned versus sedentary old subjects. However, very few studies have looked at the effect of moderate RE on salivary IgA, and there are no sufficient evidence to support the effect of exercise on IFN-y and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels in old frail people (13). Some recent systematic review studies have identified a lack of studies that aimed to investigate the impact of regular exercise on the immune system of frail older individuals, opening some precedents for further investigations (24,30).

These same studies indicate that the biomarkers of pro and anti-inflammatory system of interleukin-6, TNF and CRP appear to be the most investigated markers (20,23). Exercise has also been shown to diminish the level of stress and anxiety and the risk of psychological diseases and emotional decline in old people (31). The responses of saliva flow rate and their composition during exercise are influenced by the sympathetic nervous system activity and the Hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis (HPA axis), the salivary glands being enervated by both parasympathetic and sympathetic nerves (32). Recent studies have identified salivary α -amylase (α -Amy) as a potential marker of sympathetic activity while salivary cortisol (COR) seems to be a valid measure for the HPA axis activity (33). The adaptation to physical or psychological stress usually involves the activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (33). Normally it is hyper-activated and changes in diurnal or stress-induced secretion of the cortisol hormone could predispose older adults to negative health outcomes associated with the development of cognitive impairment (34). Cortisol levels are also affected by exercise, depending on its intensity and duration, however the role of alpha-amylase needs to be explored in relation of exercise modulation (35).

Cross-sectional studies have well established that low participation in RE is negatively associated with symptoms of anxiety and depression (36). A meta-analysis suggested that exercise can improve mental well-being of frail old people and that mental well-being in later life is changeable through exercise (37). Positive effects of exercise participation have been reported suggesting increases on older adult's self-efficacy, that might improve more positive perceptions of well-being and effectively enhance quality of life (38–41). Other studies revealed that physical activity has an effective contribution for improving mood states (42), Self-esteem (43,44) and satisfaction with life in older adults (45), all important indicators of mental health and well-being. Further evidence for these positive effects of exercise on mental health and well-being in old people have recently been provided as a guideline for exercise, offering a strong evidence base for their both preventive and therapeutic benefits (43,46).

In contrast to other studies, the current research was designed to investigate the hormonal mediation of RE in immune and neuroendocrine biomarkers; analyse the impact of RE in the decrease of several factors associated with PF namely, psychological well-being and cognitive impairments; analyse what type of exercise is more effective in improving immunity and psychological/mental health as well as increasing cognitive abilities. However, before testing the effect of the RE, it was necessary to test the interactions between independent components of PF and several geriatric global health factors, aimed to understand how exercise could have a more positive impact on these outcomes.

Specifically, the production of new knowledge of these relationships is necessary to understand the role of different type of exercises in mediating the biomarkers reported above; the effectiveness to improve immunity, prevent/attenuate chronic diseases and the PF condition. Aerobic exercise, for example, is thought to be most effective in improving cognitive and physical health, however, different types of exercise, frequency and intensity can trigger different adaptations or impacts. The role of resistance exercise using elastic band systems as a muscle-strength type training or the multimodal exercise method aimed to improve multifunctional skills in population aged 75 and over, for example, are less clear and its effectiveness should be investigated.

In this sense, the main goals of this study was to explore the association between the different dimensions of overall geriatric health and the frailty status in a cross-sectional sample of institutionalized old people, and subsequently, understand how the participation in different types of exercise programs was able to promote potential stimuli to provoking positive changes in biopsychological outcomes. In addition, the hypothesis that not type, but the specific exercise intensity is capable of attenuating and even reversing PF in frail and pre-frail cases of octogenarians was tested. Notwithstanding the central objectives, the primarily procedure of this research was to build a review of literature related to the aging process, frailty and exercise, aiming to organize important information in a robust state of the art and systematic review approach.

1.2 Research question

The present investigation focused on two distinct problems, that are interconnected or complementary. It is worth mentioning that as preliminary studies, a group of 3 systematic reviews studies are highlighted, aimed to present systematized and relevant information for the present thesis and answer some initial questions. In the first part of the study, the objective was to evaluate and characterize the population of older people living in an institutionalized regime, based on the prevalence of the PF, taking into account the following biopsychological dimensions: sociodemographic, global health, physical fitness and functional autonomy as well psychological/mental health and immune and hormonal biochemical blood and salivary markers. In this sense, the associations between these dimensions and PF indicators were explored, presented through a set of 4 independent studies. In this sense, the study question focused on the following question: 'Are there associations between PF and the different biopsychological geriatric health outcmes in institutionalized Portuguese older adults?

The second part of the study aimed to look at the modulatory responses caused by two different types of exercise programs on biopsychological outcomes of older frail adults on PF and how they differed. According to scientific evidence, the provision of systematic exercise programs and the actual knowledge of its benefits for this population can be further explored (47). In this sense, two different types of physical exercise programs were implemented, and their central objective was to submit the different groups of pre-frail and frail older individuals to either a program of muscular-strength or another characterized as a multicompetent exercise program, both with a total duration of 24 weeks and look at the psychological outcomes of the intervention.

1.3 General and specific objectives

The thesis is organized in 10 independent studies, summarized in three research questions and papers to be submitted to international peer review journals, each having its own general and specific goals listed bellow:

i) The first research question was to review the bibliography related to the frailty, their correlates and aging related-exercise programs. In this sense, the aim of this preliminary step is to organize the information in a systematic review with and without metanalysis;

ii) Study 1 was designed to examine the physical frailty sub-groups effect on cognitive status. Thus, two studies of systematic review with metanalysis were performed;

iii) Study 2 aims to investigate the effectiveness of regular exercise on frail adults, using a recent approach described as a systematic review of systematic reviews.

iv) Study 3 was carried out as a preliminary exercise-based research, aimed to explore the effects of yoga type-flexibility exercises on stress hormones and disabilities domains in older women;

v) The second research question aimed to examine the PF incidence, PF-associated variation of physical fitness, physical functioning and biochemical makers' parameters as well as psychological well-being and cognitive status in older people with PF. For this purpose, a cross-sectional design was completed;

vi) Study 4 was targeted at analysing the relationship between PF and adverse general health outcomes and assessed how the latter might explain the former;

vii) Study 5 was targeted to analyse the relationship between PF and physical fitness indicators and assessed how the latter might explain the former;

viii) Cross-sectional study 6 aimed to explore the relationships between the Fried's frailty model and functional disability outcomes in institutionalized-dwelling older women;

ix) Study 7 analysed the relationship between independent components of physical frailty and psychological well-being, and explored the contribution that these outcomes can exerted in the frail older women;

x) Cross-sectional study 8 aimed to explore the potential of adverse immune blood and salivary biochemical markers to explain frailty status and test the relationship with frailty independent components in institutionalized older women.

xii) The third research question aimed to describe the hypothetical effect of muscle-strength and multimodal exercise programs on biochemical makers, physical functioning and mental health domains in institutionalized frail and pre-frail women. A longitudinal experimental design was used to test the hypothetical positive impact of two different types of exercise programs;

xii) Based-intervention study 09 aimed to verify the effect of the multimodal and musclestrength exercise programs on frailty independent components, functional disability and balance of sex steroid hormones in frail older women; xiii) Study 10 aimed to investigate the impact of multimodal and muscle-strength exercise programs on pro and anti- inflammatory immunity markers and physical fitness in institutionalized older women;

xiv) Study 11 aimed to verify the modulator-effect of different types of exercise programs on health-psychological status and salivary stress hormones associated with mood, subjective well-being and self-perception status in frail-older women.

1.4 Study relevance

The reasons for the present study were based on the premise that up to the moment, there is a lack of research explaining the associations between physical frailty and some correlated health indicators, and also the potential effect of exercise as a complementary therapy for the treatment of physical frailty in institutionalized older Portuguese populations.

However, a small number of studies have investigated the profile of neuroendocrine and immunological makers, and possible associations with the PF variables that have been identified in the literature (73). This study will also contribute to determine the incidence of PF in older people living in social and health care support centers, an issue that may be of interest to local public health. In addition, the lack of information on exercise modulation responses in physiological systems is highlighted, since the integrated action of the aforementioned biomarkers modulated by different exercise programs may be revealing of events not observed in samples of pre-frail and frail elderly. This study is also justified by the need to analyze the chronic responses to the multi-component exercise (muscular endurance, flexibility and balance), compared to those of muscle strength (with elastic bands), since the circumscribed evidence in the literature focus mainly on the benefits of aerobic exercise (49–52).

1.5 Assumptions and limitations

The conception, experimental application and data processing of this research study was developed considering the existence of certain assumptions and also some study limitations, which are important to identify. The rational premises on which the problem was presented are based on the subsequent assumptions: i) given the reproducibility of the theory of physical frailty and its application in numerous longitudinal studies, the same will occur in the Portuguese population; ii) the same pattern of associations between PF and the different overall health dimensions associated with old people can be found; iii) the hypothetical positive

effect of physical exercise as complementary therapy in the attenuation of the frail condition, can also cause positive impact in the other global health outcomes investigated. Regarding the study limitations, they are closely related to the assumptions. Based on this consideration, the following issues are addressed: i) low adherence of participants to different physical exercise programs; ii) the lack of authorization by the directors of the institutions to take the participants to the FCDEF-UC laboratory and consequent evaluation of anthropometric physical fitness assessment iii) the need to conduct exercise programs *in loco*, which narrowed the number of institutions able to participate in this study since not all had the physical space (exercise room) suitable for group exercise classes in each institution.

1.6 Organization of PhD thesis document

The three research questions outlined above, containing their respective objectives, served as a guiding thread for the development of the studies that, in a systematic and orderly manner, translated into a 'doctoral thesis' carried out through a model of chapter construction based on scientific articles or the Scandinavian model. This format has been an alternative for a methodical and consistent way of gathering and processing scientific information (53). However, despite the objectives of constructing a document of high scientific content and rigor, due care was taken that this document contemplates a high quality of information in the construction of its constituent parts, since it is the construction of a valid thesis to obtain the degree that it is proposed here. In this sense, this thesis is presented in the form of articles, divided into five sections and their respective chapters (studies).

The first section presents the chapters of General Introduction (e.g. objectives, research question, assumptions and directions for the future studies) and Materials and Methods (study design, methodologies, characteristics of participants and assessments) used in different phases of both cross-sectional and experimental studies, which comprise the "central axis" of this research purpose. Additionally, this part presented the organization of the PhD thesis document. The section II includes a sequence of three preliminary studies. In the study 01 (chapter 1), the metanalysis approach to examine the magnitude of effect size of differences on cognitive status comparing the three physical frailty subgroups was used. The study 2 presents the systematic reviews of systematic reviews regarding exercise-based interventions to reverse frailty condition, as a contemporary approach to design this type of review (chapter 2). Additionally, this section presented in the chapter 3 a short-term exercise-based intervention pilot study 3, aimed to explore the effects of yoga on disabilities, stress hormones and functional fitness.

In the studies of cross-sectional design (section III), the general aim was to investigate the relationship between frailty and each biopsychological dimension in the institutionalized older women sample. Chapter 4 aimed to investigate the relationship between the PF and adverse health outcomes indicators and to assess how the latter might explain the former. Chapter 5 aimed to investigate the relationship between the PF and physical-functional fitness indicators and to assess how the latter might predict the former (study 5). In chapter 6 of study 6, the focuses were on the contribution of the independent components of PF as indicators of functional disability. To examine the relationship between PF and psychological well-being, as well as assessing the contribution of different psychological domains to understand psychological of frailty trajectory were the purposes of this study 7 (Chapter 7). Finally, the study on Chapter 8 (study 8) aimed to explore the potential contribute of adverse blood and salivary biochemical immune markers to predict frailty status and the relationship between some markers and independents components of PF was tested.

In the three chapters of section IV, the exercise-based intervention was used to explore the modulated effect of two types of 24-weeks chair-based exercise programs (elastic-band muscle strength and multimodal exercises) on different global health indicators in institutionalized older women. In these studies, all outcomes measures were organized according to their biopsychological communalities, since the objective was to verify the impact of the exercise on different variables of each dimension simultaneously. The study of Chapter 8 comprises analyses of physical functioning dimension and included functional disability, sex steroid hormones, independent and combined components of physical frailty markers. Chapter 9 describes the analysis of exercise impact on psychological wellbeing (self-perception, mood state and subjective well-being) outcomes and stress system regulation hormones. Finally, in chapter 10, the central goal was to examine the exercise modulation effect on several blood and salivary immune markers were included in the statistical model, in addition to some markers of physical fitness associated with frailty. Finally, in chapter 11 of section V a global discussion and conclusion together with some directions for future research in the areas of exercise, frailty and their general global health correlates is presented. In the Final Considerations Section V, was presented the general discussion, conclusions, limitations and directions for the future studies. The objective was to make clear which were the main findings of the studies, establishing an interconnection between them. It is important to note that all the manuscripts presented in this thesis have a similar structure, according to the type of design (systematic reviews, cross-sectional and exercise-based interventions studies).

Taking into account the reference style of the last target journal where the different manuscripts were submitted, minor adjustments in the sections and subsections of the chapters were needed. However, in the topics of Section I and Section V, the Vancouver citation style formatting rules were adopted.

1.7 State of the art

The biopsychosocial condition in which we reach old age is different depending on the lifestyles maintained during the earlier stages of life (31). While some individuals manage to get there with full physical and mental capacities, others suffer unpleasant experiences, especially in later phases, often in consequence of many years of progressive physical and cognitive decline, ending in care facilities that condition the final course of their life's (54,55). Initiatives focused on an active lifestyle such as promoting the increase in the participation of the old population in programs aimed to reduce sedentary behaviors and increase levels of physical activity, seem to assume a key role in contemporary societies (56,57). Despite this, some doubts regarding the effectiveness of translating the guidelines of the main world organizations (which organize and justify directives for their implementation), in public policies that show positive results in a given population (58) remain.



Figure 1.1 The ecologic model of health-related quality of life structural concept, adapted from the World Health Organization report, 2009.

In this context, the recognition of regular exercise and its positive modulating effect on various aspects of the overall health of the elderly (59), as well as their contribution in making older people more active and less dependent was recognized by the World Health Organization (WHO) through strong stand positions (60). According to the WHO, in 2025, the proportion between young and older adults will be similar, due to the decrease in fertility and the increase in life expectancy and this growth will happen faster than in any other age group (61).

For this reason, the exponential increase in research in the field of the aging process (62), seems to be centered on the challenge of maximizing the quality of life in the population above 60 years of age through access to health, leisure (see Figure 1.1), increased literacy, security, participation and social involvement (58,60,63). Nowadays, the improvement in the health-related quality of life model presented by WHO in the recent past years was increasingly more specific, being recently associated with the concept of dignified aging in the social participation domain (64). Currently, the WHO presents the "Active and Healthy Aging" concept, as a process to optimize opportunities to improve health-related quality of life when reaching adulthood (65).

FIGURE 1.2 show the biological model. This concept presents some bioecological aspects in a more specific way, directing the stakeholders to specific changes that will have a more decisive impact on the aging life-course and also, taking into account the specificities of each population as (66). In general, the term 'health' encompasses the promotion of physical, mental and psychosocial well-being (66). The term 'active' is understood as the increase in life expectancy associated with the promotion of active lifestyles, with access to physical/sport activities or similar body practices (56). On the other hand, the term 'participative' is added to this concept and is understood, in its broadest sense, by the offer of initiatives and opportunities for adherence to different population programs (i.e. health therapies, physical and sport activities, cultural and artistic manifestations) which can positively influence the general well-being through a diminished sedentary lifestyle, without exclusion of the over 65-year-old classified as an older-frail population (65).



Figure 1.2 Bioecological model of the determinant factors in active and health aging policies, adapted from World Health Organization report, 2009.

1.7.1 The physical frailty syndrome

The frailty syndrome is a complex condition related to the aging process, characterized by the decline of multiple physiological systems, which in turn compromises the body's ability to resist to the deleterious effects of chronic stress (1,2). This phenotype, as thus treated by the specialists, had a strong influence on the biological theories of aging (67), that explain this process as an accumulation of harmful biochemical alterations, whose occurrence accompanies the course of ageing (14,68). The progressive losses of energy and functional reserves that occur in the body are a hallmark of this negative process (5). The vulnerability induced by these losses can lead to a weakening state, if he or she is exposed to more severe aggressions (2). From a frail state this individual tends to cycle through institutionalization (see Figure 1.3), intensive care and hospitalization, often followed by early death (69).

It was based on this theoretical influence, that Linda Fried and her collaborators (2001), through successive cross-sectional studies and the follow-up of samples of individuals over 50 years coming from a hospital context, have proposed a construct called the Physical Frailty Syndrome (PF) (70). Fried et al. (2001) argue that even though 'deregulation of hormonal systems is seen as an important age-related phylogenetic feature of PF theory, progressive loss of mass muscle, energy balance deregulation, and sedentary lifestyle are considered as central factors of frailty phenotype. The interconnection between these factors is currently corroborated in epidemiological studies in which different authors recognize these pillars as the central pathophysiological core of PF (4,7,8).



Figure 1.3 The physical frailty trajectory associated with several biopsychosocial declines, adapted from of Fried (2001).

In this sense, there is an high potential effect of PF on the acceleration of the already characteristic biological decline of elderly populations (55,71). In this way, five dimensions were identified, which translated into criteria for the operationalization of the PF phenotype (Figure 1.4), such as: muscular weakness, subjective perception of exhaustion, low levels of physical activity, unintentional weight loss and slow gait speed. The evaluation under these criteria makes it possible to classify the subjects as frail (three or more manifested criteria); pre-frail (one or two of the overt conditions) and non-frail, when none of the five criteria are meet (1). This construct has proved to be an excellent predictor of comorbidities and physical disabilities, with excellent internal validity to evaluate what it is proposed, proved in epidemiological studies carried out in several parts of the world. (7,18).



Figure 1.4 The five main components of the Fried's Physical Frailty phenotype and their negative scores to classify the frail sub-groups, adapted from (Fried, 2001).

1.7.2 Epidemiology of PF

Recent studies carried out in the European countries found similar values in the percentage of elderly with PF in hospital context, when compared to the original study of Fried (8). An incidence that ranges from 20% to 40% when pre-frail and frail individuals are added (73). Most of the resources spent on health care are concentrated in the frail elderly, who usually develop more severe clinical conditions (74). These represent on average 20 to 35% of the elderly population in contemporary societies (88). In the recent systematic revision present by Furtado and collaborators its possible to the prevalence of frailty and the most important is to observe the percentage of older individuals (pre-frail, n = 11.559) who can move to the frail condition. (74).

The economic impact of PF in the older populations is interrelated with the costs of care supported by several health systems in European countries (8). In Portugal, an average cost of $2.205,00 \notin$ /patient/year was reported versus a much higher value of $5.634,00 \notin$ in the case of severe health conditions including PF (75). In Germany, for example, similar results further provided evidence that older people with 4 or more positive FS components have a substantial increase in their health care costs (76).



Figure 1.5 Prevalence of Physical Frailty based on epidemiological studies, in several countries adapted from systematic review study carried out by Furtado and colleagues, 2017.

In studies conducted with samples of elderly who live in institutionalized systems and who require social support and health care, the incidence of the frailty-trait seems to reach higher percentages, with higher prevalence in women, but with men dying earlier (77,78). In Portugal, the results of the first study recent published indicated that the prevalence of PF in elderly communities was 34.9% (n = 339 participants) and the incidence of PF among older (40.9%). women more frequent than in older men (32.5%) (79). This study also revealed that the PF in Portuguese elderly populations was associated with several psychosocial factors such as illiteracy, living within a family with some degree of dependence and living in unsuitable conditions. PF is considered by many authors as a 'phenotype' in a wide sense, since current research has identified other patterns associated with PF such as sarcopenia (80), severe decline in specialized cognitive functions (81), impairment of the immune and neuroendocrine systems (82,83) and the low cardiorespiratory reserves of muscular strength and endurance (84,85).

New studies involving a joint and multivariate analysis between PF and other global health indicators indicators, called frailty correlates, have also emerged (86,87). Some indicators that most correlate with frailty are: chronic cardiometabolic diseases makers (88); physical fitness (89,90); physical performance related to the decreased ability to perform everyday life activities (91); immunological and inflammatory parameters (82); the association between neuro-cognition, namely cognitive frailty (92,93); osteopenia and bone degeneration (94); sarcopenia and disturbance of the neuromuscular system (91); psychological well-being associated with mental health and other psychosocial factors, such as changes in emotional states and subjective well-being (95,96).

Recent findings report a direct relationship between frailty and negative changes in the neuroendocrine, immune and inflammatory systems (97,98). Imbalances in the neuroendocrine system appear to satisfactorily explain dementia, delirium, failures and cognitive absences, which may occur in individuals over 55 years of age (99). On the other hand, immunosenescence, characterized by the 'natural deterioration' of the immune system that arises with aging (5), is accelerated by the immunosuppressive effects of chronic psychological or biological stress (100), translating into autoimmune, infectious and degenerative diseases (14). All PF dimensions and their correlated domains have a 'feedback' relationship between them and can be explained by adverse biochemical events (2). When analyzed individually, biochemical markers (BM) have presented a weak relationship with the PF, so recent evidence reinforces the premise that certain BMs should be analyzed (101,102). BMs represent the 'biological passport' that allow an integrated understanding of adverse physiological events (103).

1.7.3 Impact of regular exercise on frail elders

An approach to the treatment, attenuation or reversal of the frail condition in older adults has gained some notoriety in recent years (19,20). Much has been discussed about the efficacy of different physical exercise programs as an adjunct therapy capable of promoting a positive impact not only on the independent components of frailty but on their correlated domains (104–106). Evidence indicates that PF-related and regular exercise research may be a 'key factor' in the study of these associations because of the important role played by PE in neuroendocrine, immune and hormonal modulation of BM (49,107). The aging process does not affect the immune and neuroendocrine system uniformly, and there is a high degree of individual variability that may be associated with confounding factors. These factors have the potential to either confound data interpretation or contribute to an interaction between different types of exercise and immune function, or both (105,108–110).

However, recently findings showed that participation in RE may induce a 'cascade' of cellular reactions, capable of promoting angiogenesis, neurogenesis and synaptogenesis, and further delay immunosenescence (105,111). In addition, there is proven positive action in improving the quality of life related to emotional states, psychological well-being and gains in autonomy to perform daily tasks (23). However, scientific evidence points to different types of exercise causing distinct and specific responses in the different physiological systems in this type of population (13).



Figure 1.6 Hypothetical model of long term exercise-modulation effect to reverse physical frailty and stimulate changes in biopsychosocial correlates. Created from (112,113).

Current findings have demonstrated, for example, the beneficial effects of aerobic exercise on the increase of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in elderly people who practice regular exercise (83). BDNF is an important mediator of brain neuroplasticity, differentiation, neuronal growth, learning and memory (111). Its unregulated expression is related to diseases such as Parkinson's, Alzheimer's and mild cognitive impairment (MCI), this last one a clinical condition evidenced through cognitive testing (114). All these conditions or diseases can be diagnosed through easy-to-apply cognitive tests, that are also valid and capable of revealing a possible decline in executive function and memory, among others (115). However, MCI is often characterized as a condition or initial stage of more advanced cognitive impairments (116).

Recent findings consistently associate MCI with PF (114,117). Exercise can act as a positive mediator of cognitive functioning in individuals suffering from early dementia and mental disorders, these responses being attributed to a possible role of BDNF (92). Cognitive functions sensitive to early dementia and mental disorders shown to undergo positive changes in response to the effects of exercise were attributed to a possible neurogenic effect of BNDF (83). A possible regulatory effect of maintaining a satisfactory cognitive performance was also observed in studies with other markers such as testosterone and cortisol (Verdelho et al. 2011).

The efficacy of exercise in the prevention / attenuation of clinical manifestations of depression, stress and chronic anxiety, whose evidences are supported by biochemical mechanisms of a similar nature, was also shown (118). In addition, the evidence that associates physical and cognitive frailty with possible declines in the neuroendocrine system is increasingly robust. (103,117,119). A systematic review carried out by Hogervost et al. (2012) also found that different types of exercise may affect cognition and dementia risk to different levels; aerobic programs seem to be particularly effective while there is little evidence that flexibility exercises, such as yoga, can help cognition (120).

Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), a sex hormone produced by the adrenal glands, appears as a strong predictor of PF (14). The reduction of DHEA, the decline of insulin-like growth factor (GH-IGF1), and testosterone, promote increased cortisol levels, which in turn increase immunosenescence, which is also related to cognitive decline, psychophysiological stress, cardiometabolic diseases and musculoskeletal disorders (13,33,121). This sequence of events counterproductive to the physiological system is also associated with the increased incidence of sarcopenia in the elderly, considered one of the central pathophysiological nuclei of PF (122). However, increased plasma DHEA concentration and cortisol / DHEA ratio balance are positive responses to moderate exercise (13,33).

Overweight/obesity in older people is also identified as a strong predictor of PF (80). Currently, researchers investigate the increased production of inflammatory cytokines in obese older patients associated with the risk of atherosclerosis and endothelial dysfunction (13); chronic inflammation (123); insulin resistance (124); and some mental disorders induced by the decrease of serotonin (125,126). The activation of powerful 'inflammatory cascades' caused by hormonal imbalance can also have serious consequences for the cardiorespiratory system (123). The term "inflammaging" is used to describe complex organic responses to various inflammatory stimuli mediated by high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (127), which appears to be triggered by chronic functional disorganization of the first line of immune defense (105,108,128).

The immune system of the mucosa, including the upper respiratory tract is considered the first barrier to colonization of pathogens (35,129). The reduction of episodes of upper respiratory tract infections (URTI) is related to the efficacy of these agents (13). The B lymphocytes, important components of the acquired and mucosal immunity and producers of immunoglobulins (including IgA), have their secretion affected by the immunosenescence process, which leads to an increase in the incidence of cardiorespiratory pathologies (130). Several studies suggested the practice of moderate intensity exercise as an agent for promoting improvements in IgA expression, indicated a reduction in the symptoms and incidence of URTI and a better immunological profile in well conditioned elderly individuals when compared to sedentary ones (105,131).

Studies examining the effects of moderate exercise for IgA expression were inconclusive as they did not find increased expression of important correlating biochemical markers such as interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) and salivary C-reactive protein (CRP), but point to important clues for the study of mechanisms adjacent to this process (132). Acute moderate exercise sessions have little impact on mucosal immunity, but prolonged and moderate/intense training may evoke decreases in sIgA secretion, compromising URTI (13). In addition to these measures in saliva, peripheral blood concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers like Interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF- α) and Interleukin-6 (IL-6) have previously been found to be elevated in cases of mild cognitive impairment in comparison to healthy age-matched controls (133,134) Evidence shows that immunological and hormonal parameters are able to mediate the effects of exercise on mucosal immunity, psychological stress, cognitive improvement and risk of dementia in elderly who are regularly active (135) since regular exercise may provide an effective strategy in the treatment and prevention of associated disorders due to its anti-inflammatory benefits.

IFN-γ is a potent cytokine produced by T lymphocytes and Activated "*Natural Killers*" (NK) cells and exerts antiviral, antibacterial and anti-tumor effects (132,136). In a recent study on the mobilization of circulating NK cells and IFN-γ in response to exercise, the authors noted that the magnitude of the effort was a precisely controlled variable for desirable immune responses to occur (137). CPR, an important immune agent also quantified in this study, had its expression increased in acute response to exercise (138). But it seems to be the chronic moderate exercise that provides a homeostatic effect on the regulation of CRP, explained by the decrease in cytokine overproduction, improvements in endothelial function (137), decrease in insulin resistance, as well as a promising antioxidant effect (14,105).

Some authors have identified salivary alpha-amylase (α -amylase) as a potential marker of sympathetic activity and stress regulation associated with exercise (33). The α -amylase is an enzyme that catalyses the degradation of starch into maltose and can be important to host defence by inhibiting the adherence and growth of certain bacteria (139). It was already known for its' antibacterial effect, acting on the inhibition of adhesion, growth and proliferation of bacteria of the upper respiratory tract (35). However, chronic exercise responses of salivary α -amylase still need to be explored, as the existing literature has investigated the acute exercise-induced response in a more comprehensive way and used salivary cortisol as a preferred BM in most studies, that has similar and more recognized functions for evaluation of the response to biological stress (32,140,141).

Testosterone, the important sex steroid hormone is associated with musculoskeletal health, declines with aging and cognitive function loss, its levels reported to be diminished in patients with MCI, depression and chronic stress (121). Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) is another steroid hormone involved in metabolism, produced mainly in the adrenal cortex, its anti-glucocorticoid, functions linked with anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects (98). Recently, DHEA has been investigated for its relationship to mental and physical stress and also in psychological and behavioural disorders. The DHEA plasma concentration and the ratio Cortisol/DHEA have also been shown to increase with PA (123). Salivary markers may serve as potential non-invasive tools for evaluation of the relationship between the central nervous system and mucosal immunity following psychological and/or physical stress and how these may affect cognitive functions (32). Exercise could be a significant factor in ameliorating the deleterious effects of chronic stress but variables such as the type, intensity and frequency of exercise should be controlled and defined clearly in order to effectively reduce the stress burden.

1.8 References

- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman a B, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2001 Mar;56(3):M146-56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet [Internet]. 2013 Mar 2 [cited 2014 Jul 14];381(9868):752–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23395245
- 3. Rodriguez-Mañas L, Fried LP. Frailty in the clinical scenario. The Lancet. 2015.
- Afilalo J, Alexander KP, Mack MJ, Maurer MS, Green P, Allen LA, et al. Frailty assessment in the cardiovascular care of older adults. Journal of the American College of Cardiology [Internet]. 2014 Mar 4 [cited 2014 Dec 5];63(8):747–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24291279
- Yao X, Li H, Leng SX. Inflammation and immune system alterations in frailty. Clinics in geriatric medicine [Internet]. 2011 Feb [cited 2015 Apr 23];27(1):79–87. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0749069010000765
- Maggio M, Colizzi E, Fisichella A, Valenti G, Ceresini G, Dall'Aglio E, et al. Stress hormones, sleep deprivation and cognition in older adults. Maturitas. Elsevier Ireland Ltd; 2013;76(1):22–44.
- Rockwood K, Bergman H. FRAILTY: A Report from the 3rd Joint Workshop of IAGG/WHO/SFGG, Athens, January 2012. Canadian Geriatrics Journal : CGJ [Internet]. 2012;15(2):31–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3516241/%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pmc/articles/PMC3516241/pdf/cgj-15-31.pdf
- Macklai NS, Spagnoli J, Junod J, Santos-Eggimann B. Prospective association of the SHARE-operationalized frailty phenotype with adverse health outcomes: evidence from 60+ community-dwelling Europeans living in 11 countries. BMC geriatrics [Internet].
 BMC Geriatrics; 2013 Jan [cited 2014 Sep 24];13(1):3. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3585820&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 9. Kanwar A, Singh M, Lennon R, Ghanta K, McNallan SM, Roger VL. Frailty and healthrelated quality of life among residents of long-term care facilities. Journal of aging and

health [Internet]. 2013 Aug [cited 2015 Jul 26];25(5):792–802. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3927409&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

- Benjamins MR, Hummer RA, Eberstein IW, Nam CB. Self-reported health and adult mortality risk: an analysis of cause-specific mortality. Social science & medicine (1982) [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2017 Feb 20];59(6):1297–306. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953604000115
- Pinto JM, Fontaine AM, Neri AL. The influence of physical and mental health on life satisfaction is mediated by self-rated health: A study with Brazilian elderly. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2016 Sep 1];65:104–10. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27017415
- Robertson DA, Savva GM, Kenny RA. Frailty and cognitive impairment--a review of the evidence and causal mechanisms. Ageing research reviews [Internet]. 2013 Sep [cited 2016 May 22];12(4):840–51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23831959
- Walsh NP, Gleeson M, Shephard RJ, Jeffrey MG, Woods A, Bishop NC, et al. Part one : Immune function and exercise. 2011;6–63.
- Gruver AL, Hudson LL, Sempowski GD. Immunosenescence of ageing. The Journal of pathology [Internet]. 2007 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 26];211(2):144–56. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1931833&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Walsh NP, Oliver SJ. Exercise, immune function and respiratory infection: An update on the influence of training and environmental stress. Immunology and cell biology [Internet]. 2016 Feb 13 [cited 2017 Jan 21];94(2):132–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26563736
- Ng TP, Feng LL, Nyunt MSZ, Feng LL, Niti M, Tan BY, et al. Nutritional, Physical, Cognitive, and Combination Interventions and Frailty Reversal among Older Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. American Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2015 Nov [cited 2018 Apr 29];128(11):1225–36. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26159634
- 17. Puts MTE, Toubasi S, Andrew MK, Ashe MC, Ploeg J, Atkinson E, et al. Interventions to prevent or reduce the level of frailty in community-dwelling older adults: A scoping review of the literature and international policies. Age and Ageing. 2017.

- Morley JE, Vellas B, van Kan GA, Anker SD, Bauer JM, Bernabei R, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association [Internet]. 2013 Jun [cited 2015 Jan 8];14(6):392–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4084863&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- de Labra C, Guimaraes-Pinheiro C, Maseda A, Lorenzo T, Millán-Calenti JC. Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Jun 30];15:154. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26626157
- 20. Theou O, Stathokostas L, Roland KP, Jakobi JM, Patterson C, Vandervoort AA, et al. The effectiveness of exercise interventions for the management of frailty: a systematic review. Journal of aging research [Internet]. 2011;2011:569194. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3092602&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 21. Cadore EL, Rodríguez-Mañas L, Sinclair A, Izquierdo M. Effects of different exercise interventions on risk of falls, gait ability, and balance in physically frail older adults: a systematic review. Rejuvenation research. 2013;16(2):105–14.
- 22. Giné-Garriga M, Roqué-Fíguls M, Coll-Planas L, Sitjà-Rabert M, Salvà A. Physical exercise interventions for improving performance-based measures of physical function in community-dwelling, frail older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2014 Apr [cited 2018 Apr 29];95(4):753–769.e3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24291597
- 23. Tarazona-Santabalbina FJ, Gómez-Cabrera MC, Pérez-Ros P, Martínez-Arnau FM, Cabo H, Tsaparas K, et al. A Multicomponent Exercise Intervention that Reverses Frailty and Improves Cognition, Emotion, and Social Networking in the Community-Dwelling Frail Elderly: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association [Internet]. 2016 Mar 3 [cited 2016 Mar 25];17(5):426–33. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26947059
- 24. Aguirre LE, Villareal DT. Physical Exercise as Therapy for Frailty. Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series. S. Karger AG; 2015;83:83–92.
- Rodriguez-Larrad A, Arrieta H, Rezola C, Kortajarena M, Yanguas JJ, Iturburu M, et al. Effectiveness of a multicomponent exercise program in the attenuation of frailty in longterm nursing home residents: study protocol for a randomized clinical controlled trial. BMC Geriatrics [Internet]. 2017 Dec 23 [cited 2017 May 10];17(1):60. Available from:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28231827

- Heaney JLJ, Carroll D, Phillips AC. DHEA, DHEA-S and cortisol responses to acute exercise in older adults in relation to exercise training status and sex. Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands) [Internet]. Springer; 2013 Apr [cited 2017 Aug 10];35(2):395–405. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22105939
- Williams JW, Plassman BL, Burke J, Benjamin S. Preventing Alzheimer's disease and cognitive decline. Evidence report/technology assessment [Internet]. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2010 Apr [cited 2014 Dec 2];(193):1–727. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK47456/
- Walsh NP, Gleeson MM, Shephard RJ, Jeffrey MG, Woods A, Bishop NC, et al. Part one : Immune function and exercise. Exercise immunology review [Internet]. 2011 Jan [cited 2015 Oct 28];17:6–63. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21446352
- 29. Kohut ML, Senchina DS. Reversing Age-Associated Immunosenescence via Exercise Running Title : Immunosenescene and exercise.
- Apóstolo J, Cooke R, Bobrowicz-Campos E, Santana S, Marcucci M, Cano A, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to prevent pre-frailty and frailty progression in older adults. JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports [Internet].
 2018 Jan [cited 2018 Apr 29];16(1):140–232. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29324562
- 31. Chodzko-Zajko W, Schwingel a. Successful Aging: The Role of Physical Activity. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine [Internet]. 2008 Oct 27 [cited 2014 Sep 27];3(1):20–8. Available from: http://ajl.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/1559827608325456
- 32. Papacosta E, Nassis GP. Saliva as a tool for monitoring steroid, peptide and immune markers in sport and exercise science. Journal of science and medicine in sport / Sports Medicine Australia [Internet]. 2011 Sep [cited 2014 Dec 29];14(5):424–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21474377
- 33. van Stegeren AH, Wolf OT, Kindt M. Salivary alpha amylase and cortisol responses to different stress tasks: impact of sex. International journal of psychophysiology : official journal of the International Organization of Psychophysiology [Internet]. 2008 Jul [cited 2015 Jan 3];69(1):33–40. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18417235

- 34. Heaney JLJ, Carroll D, Phillips AC. Physical activity, life events stress, cortisol, and DHEA: Preliminary findings that physical activity may buffer against the negative effects of stress. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity [Internet]. 2014 Oct [cited 2017 Aug 13];22(4):465–73. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24084142
- Allgrove JE, Gomes E, Hough J, Gleeson M. Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men. Journal of sports sciences [Internet]. 2008 Apr [cited 2015 Nov 8];26(6):653–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18344136
- 36. Ten Have M, de Graaf R, Monshouwer K. Physical exercise in adults and mental health status findings from the Netherlands mental health survey and incidence study (NEMESIS). Journal of psychosomatic research. Elsevier Inc.; 2011 Dec;71(5):342–8.
- Windle G, Hughes D, Linck P, Russell I, Woods B. Is exercise effective in promoting mental well-being in older age? A systematic review. Aging & mental health. 2010 Aug;14(6):652–69.
- Atlantis E, Chow C-M, Kirby A, Singh MF. An effective exercise-based intervention for improving mental health and quality of life measures: a randomized controlled trial. Preventive medicine. 2004 Aug;39(2):424–34.
- Elavsky S, McAuley E, Motl RW, Konopack JF, Marquez DX, Hu L, et al. Physical activity enhances long-term quality of life in older adults: Efficacy, esteem, and affective influences. Annals of Behavioral Medicine. 2005 Oct;30(2):138–45.
- 40. Hu L, Mcauley E, Elavsky S. Does the Physical Self-Effi cacy Scale Assess Self-Effi cacy or Self-Esteem ? 2005;152–70.
- McAuley E, Konopack JF, Motl RW, Morris KS, Doerksen SE, Rosengren KR. Physical activity and quality of life in older adults: influence of health status and self-efficacy. Annals of behavioral medicine : a publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine [Internet]. 2006 Feb [cited 2015 Mar 14];31(1):99–103. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16472044
- 42. Oken BS, Zajdel D, Kishiyama S, Flegal K, Dehen C, Haas M, et al. Randomized, controlled, six-month trial of yoga in healthy seniors: Effects on cognition and quality of life. Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine. 2006;12(1):40–7.
- 43. Gothe NP, Mullen SP, Wójcicki TR, Mailey EL, White SM, Olson EA, et al. Trajectories of change in self-esteem in older adults: exercise intervention effects. Journal of behavioral medicine [Internet]. 2011 Aug [cited 2015 Mar 14];34(4):298–306. Available

from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3118401&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

- 44. Opdenacker J, Delecluse C, Boen F. The longitudinal effects of a lifestyle physical activity intervention and a structured exercise intervention on physical self-perceptions and self-esteem in older adults. Journal of sport & exercise psychology [Internet]. 2009 Dec [cited 2015 Dec 17];31(6):743–60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20384010
- 45. Stubbe JH, de Moor MHM, Boomsma DI, de Geus EJC. The association between exercise participation and well-being: a co-twin study. Preventive medicine [Internet].
 2007 Feb [cited 2015 Mar 14];44(2):148–52. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17059845
- Scully D, Kremer J, Meade MM, Graham R, Dudgeon K. Physical exercise and psychological well being: a critical review. British journal of sports medicine. 1998;32(2):111–20.
- Mjm, van Uffelen JGL, Riphagen I, van Mechelen W. The functional effects of physical exercise training in frail older people: a systematic review. Sports Medicine. 2008;38(9):781–93.
- 48. Gale CR, Baylis D, Cooper C, Sayer AA. Inflammatory markers and incident frailty in men and women: the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands) [Internet]. 2013 Dec 2 [cited 2016 Feb 28];35(6):2493–501. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3751755&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Coelho FGDM, Gobbi S, Andreatto CAA, Corazza DI, Pedroso RV, Santos-Galduróz RF. Physical exercise modulates peripheral levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF): a systematic review of experimental studies in the elderly. Archives of gerontology and geriatrics [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2014 Sep 4];56(1):10–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22749404
- 50. Martins RA, Cunha MR, Neves AP, Martins M, Teixeira-Veríssimo M, Teixeira AM. Effects of aerobic conditioning on salivary IgA and plasma IgA, IgG and IgM in older men and women. International journal of sports medicine [Internet]. 2009 Dec [cited 2015 Nov 27];30(12):906–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19941250

- 51. Erickson KI, Kramer AF. Aerobic exercise effects on cognitive and neural plasticity in older adults. British journal of sports medicine [Internet]. 2009 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 26];43(1):22–4. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2853472&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 52. Fraga MJ, Cader SA, Ferreira M a., Giani TS, Dantas EHM. Aerobic resistance, functional autonomy and quality of life (QoL) of elderly women impacted by a recreation and walking program. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2011;52:40–3.
- Hagen NT. Deconstructing doctoral dissertations: How many papers does it take to make a PhD? Scientometrics [Internet]. Springer; 2010 Nov [cited 2018 Jan 23];85(2):567–79. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20949112
- 54. Verdelho A, Madureira S, Moleiro C, Santos CO, Ferro JM, Erkinjuntti T, et al. Selfperceived memory complaints predict progression to Alzheimer disease. The LADIS study. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD [Internet]. 2011 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 26];27(3):491–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21841255
- 55. Clegg A, Trust DM. CME Geriatric medicine The frailty syndrome. 2011;11(1):72–5.
- 56. Kalache A, Gatti A. Active ageing: a policy framework. Advances in gerontology = Uspekhi gerontologii / Rossiĭskaia akademiia nauk, Gerontologicheskoe obshchestvo [Internet]. 2003 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 22];11:7–18. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12820516
- 57. Bauman A, Merom D, Bull FC, Buchner DM, Fiatarone Singh MA. Updating the Evidence for Physical Activity: Summative Reviews of the Epidemiological Evidence, Prevalence, and Interventions to Promote "active Aging." Gerontologist. 2016.
- 58. Greenfield EA. Using ecological frameworks to advance a field of research, practice, and policy on aging-in-place initiatives. The Gerontologist [Internet]. 2012 Feb [cited 2016 Jan 9];52(1):1–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22075772
- Silva RB, Aldoradin-Cabeza H, Eslick GD, Phu S, Duque G. The Effect of Physical Exercise on Frail Older Persons: A Systematic Review. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2017 May 25]; Available from: http://www.jfrailtyaging.com/all-issues.html?article=524
- 60. Chapon P-M. [The WHO age-friendly cities program raises the issue of strategic planning, coordination and local political structure]. Gériatrie et psychologie neuropsychiatrie du vieillissement [Internet]. 2011 Jun [cited 2015 Sep 12];9(2):151–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21690022

- 61. WHO. Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health: 65 years and above. 2011;2011.
- Silverstein M, Giarrusso R. Aging and Family Life: A Decade Review. Journal of Marriage and Family [Internet]. NIH Public Access; 2010 Sep 29 [cited 2016 Feb 28];72(5):1039–58. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3427733/?report=abstract
- 63. Tiernan C, Lysack C, Neufeld S, Lichtenberg PA. Community engagement: an essential component of well-being in older African-American adults. International journal of aging & human development [Internet]. 2013 Jan [cited 2015 Oct 29];77(3):233–57. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4148077&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

- 64. Sander M, Oxlund B, Jespersen A, Krasnik A, Mortensen EL, Westendorp RGJ, et al. The challenges of human population ageing. Age and Ageing [Internet]. Oxford University Press; 2015 Mar [cited 2018 Jan 22];44(2):185–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25452294
- WHO. Interventions on Diet and Physical Activity: What Works. Summary report. [Internet]. 2009. Available from: http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/summary-report-09.pdf
- 66. WHO WHORC for E. Strategy and action plan for healthy ageing in Europe ,world Health Organization: Regional Office for Europe. 2012.
- 67. Walston JD, Bandeen-Roche K. Frailty: a tale of two concepts. BMC medicine. 2015;13.
- Morley JE. Frailty: diagnosis and management. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2011 Aug [cited 2015 Feb 17];15(8):667–70. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968862
- 69. de la Rica-Escuín M, González-Vaca J, Varela-Pérez R, Arjonilla-García MD, Silva-Iglesias M, Oliver-Carbonell JL, et al. Frailty and mortality or incident disability in institutionalized older adults: the FINAL study. Maturitas [Internet]. 2014 Aug [cited 2015 Jul 7];78(4):329–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24929996
- 70. de Vries NM, Staal JB, van Ravensberg CD, Hobbelen JSMM, Olde Rikkert MGMM, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWGG. Outcome instruments to measure frailty: a systematic review. Ageing research reviews [Internet]. Elsevier; 2011 Jan 1 [cited 2015 Jan 31];10(1):104–14. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1568163710000760

- 71. Cesari M, Gambassi G, van Kan GA, Vellas B. The frailty phenotype and the frailty index: different instruments for different purposes. Age and ageing [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Feb 17];43(1):10–2. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24132852
- 72. Op het Veld LPM, van Rossum E, Kempen GIJM, de Vet HCW, Hajema K, Beurskens AJHM. Fried phenotype of frailty: cross-sectional comparison of three frailty stages on various health domains. BMC Geriatrics. 2015;15(1).
- 73. Gale CR, Cooper C, Sayer AA. Prevalence of frailty and disability: findings from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Age Ageing [Internet]. 2015;44(1):162–5. Available from: http://ageing.oxfordjournals.org/content/44/1/162.full.pdf
- Furtado, Guilherme Eustáquio, Teixeira, Ana Maria, Ferreira JP. Frailty syndrome and cognition performance in older populations, part I: systematic review with meta-analysis. Cien Saude Colet [Internet]. 2017; Available from: http://www.cienciaesaudecoletiva.com.br/artigos/fragilidade-e-desempenho-cognitivo-em-populacoes-idosas-parte-i-uma-revisao-sistematica-com-metanalise/16300?id=16300&id=16300&id=16300
- Miranda LC, Santos H, Ferreira J, Coelho P, Silva C, Saraiva-Ribeiro J, et al. Finding Rheumatoid Arthritis impact on life (FRAIL Study): Economic burden. Acta Reumatologica Portuguesa. 2012;37(2):134–42.
- 76. Sandberg M, Jakobsson U, Midlöv P, Kristensson J. Cost-utility analysis of case management for frail older people: effects of a randomised controlled trial. Health economics review [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Jan 4];5(1):51. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4449349&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 77. Abizanda P, Romero L, Sánchez-Jurado PM, Martínez-Reig M, Alfonso-Silguero SA, Rodríguez-Mañas L. Age, frailty, disability, institutionalization, multimorbidity or comorbidity. Which are the main targets in older adults? The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jul 26];18(6):622–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24950154
- 78. González-Vaca J, de la Rica-Escuín M, Silva-Iglesias M, Arjonilla-García MD, Varela-Pérez R, Oliver-Carbonell JL, et al. Frailty in INstitutionalized older adults from ALbacete. The FINAL Study: rationale, design, methodology, prevalence and attributes. Maturitas [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jul 7];77(1):78–84. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24189222

- 79. Duarte M, Paúl C. Prevalence of phenotypic frailty during the aging process in a Portuguese community. Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia [Internet]. Universidade do Estado do Rio Janeiro; 2015 Dec [cited 2016 Dec 27];18(4):871–80. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1809-98232015000400871&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=en
- Barcía-García FJ, Larrión Zugasti JL, Rodríguez Mañas L. [Frailty: a phenotype under review]. Gaceta sanitaria / SESPAS [Internet]. 2011 Dec [cited 2014 Sep 27];25 Suppl 2:51–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22033007
- 81. Samper-Ternent R, Al Snih S, Raji MA, Markides KS, Ottenbacher KJ. Relationship between frailty and cognitive decline in older Mexican Americans. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society [Internet]. 2008 Oct [cited 2015 Jul 27];56(10):1845–52. Available http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2628807&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Barvin K, Randolph A, Ovalles S, Halade D, Breeding L, Richardson A, et al. Plasma protein biomarkers of the geriatric syndrome of frailty. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2014 Feb 1 [cited 2015 Feb 17];69(2):182–6. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/biomedgerontology/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/gerona/glt183
- Carlson MC, Erickson KI, Kramer AF, Voss MW, Bolea N, Mielke M, et al. Evidence for neurocognitive plasticity in at-risk older adults: the experience corps program. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet].
 2009 Dec [cited 2014 Sep 17];64(12):1275–82. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2781785&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Theou O, Jakobi JM, Vandervoort AA, Jones GR. A comparison of physical activity (PA) assessment tools across levels of frailty. Archives of gerontology and geriatrics [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2015 Feb 17];54(3):e307-14. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22209454
- 85. Syddall H, Cooper C, Martin F, Briggs R, Aihie Sayer A. Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? Age and ageing [Internet]. 2003 Nov [cited 2015 Feb 17];32(6):650–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14600007

- Wilson D, Jackson T, Sapey E, Lord JM. Frailty and sarcopenia: The potential role of an aged immune system [Internet]. Ageing Research Reviews Elsevier; Jul 1, 2017 p. 1–10. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1568163716302719?_rdoc=1&_fmt =high&_origin=gateway&_docanchor=&md5=b8429449ccfc9c30159a5f9aeaa92ffb&d gcid=raven_sd_recommender_email
- 87. Albala C, Lera L, Sanchez H, Angel B, Márquez C, Arroyo P, et al. Frequency of frailty and its association with cognitive status and survival in older Chileans. Clinical Interventions in Aging [Internet]. Dove Press; 2017 [cited 2017 Aug 4];12:995–1001. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28721027
- 88. Smets IHGJ, Kempen GIJM, Janssen-Heijnen MLG, Deckx L, Buntinx FJVM, van den Akker M. Four screening instruments for frailty in older patients with and without cancer: a diagnostic study. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Feb 17];14:26. Available http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3938903&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Chang S-F, Yang R-S, Lin T-C, Chiu S-C, Chen M-L, Lee H-C. The discrimination of using the short physical performance battery to screen frailty for community-dwelling elderly people. Journal of nursing scholarship : an official publication of Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing / Sigma Theta Tau [Internet]. 2014 May [cited 2015 Feb 17];46(3):207–15. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24502621
- 90. Jeoung BJ, Lee YC. A Study of relationship between frailty and physical performance in elderly women. Journal of exercise rehabilitation [Internet]. 2015 Aug [cited 2016 Feb 4];11(4):215–9. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4548679&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 91. Milte R, Crotty M. Musculoskeletal health, frailty and functional decline. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology [Internet]. 2014 Jun [cited 2014 Dec 15];28(3):395–410.
 Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25481423
- 92. Panza F, Solfrizzi V, Barulli MR, Santamato A, Seripa D, Pilotto A, et al. Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological and Neurobiological Evidence of an Age-Related Clinical Condition. Rejuvenation Research [Internet]. 2015 Oct [cited 2016

 Aug
 18];18(5):389–412.
 Available
 from:

 http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/rej.2014.1637

- Ávila-Funes JA, Pina-Escudero SD, Aguilar-Navarro S, Gutierrez-Robledo LM, Ruiz-Arregui L, Amieva H. Cognitive impairment and low physical activity are the components of frailty more strongly associated with disability. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2011 Aug [cited 2015 Jul 27];15(8):683–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968865
- 94. Ensrud KE, Ewing SK, Cawthon PM, Fink HA, Taylor BC, Cauley JA, et al. A comparison of frailty indexes for the prediction of falls, disability, fractures, and mortality in older men. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society [Internet]. 2009 Mar [cited 2015 Feb 17];57(3):492–8. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2861353&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 95. Dent E, Hoogendijk EO. Psychosocial factors modify the association of frailty with adverse outcomes: a prospective study of hospitalised older people. BMC Geriatrics [Internet]. 2014;14(1):108. Available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2318/14/108
- 96. Mulasso A, Roppolo M, Giannotta F, Rabaglietti E. Associations of frailty and psychosocial factors with autonomy in daily activities: A cross-sectional study in Italian community-dwelling older adults. Clinical Interventions in Aging. 2016;11.
- 97. Lucicesare A, Hubbard RE, Fallah N, Forti P, Searle SD, Mitnitski A, et al. Comparison of two frailty measures in the Conselice Study of Brain Ageing. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2010 Apr [cited 2015 Feb 17];14(4):278–81. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20305994
- 98. Maninger N, Wolkowitz OM, Reus VI, Epel ES, Mellon SH. Neurobiological and neuropsychiatric effects of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA sulfate (DHEAS). Frontiers in neuroendocrinology [Internet]. 2009 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 21];30(1):65–91. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2725024&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 99. Tajar A, O'Connell MDL, Mitnitski AB, O'Neill TW, Searle SD, Huhtaniemi IT, et al. Frailty in relation to variations in hormone levels of the hypothalamic-pituitary-testicular axis in older men: results from the European male aging study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society [Internet]. 2011 May [cited 2016 Feb 27];59(5):814–21. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21568952
- 100. Licastro F, Candore G, Lio D, Porcellini E, Colonna-Romano G, Franceschi C, et al. Innate immunity and inflammation in ageing: a key for understanding age-related diseases. Immunity & ageing : I & A [Internet]. 2005 May 18 [cited 2014 Sep 18];2:8. Available http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1166571&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 101. Mitnitski A, Collerton J, Martin-Ruiz C, Jagger C, von Zglinicki T, Rockwood K, et al. Age-related frailty and its association with biological markers of ageing. BMC medicine [Internet]. 2015 Jan [cited 2016 Feb 28];13:161. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4499935&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 102. Liu CK, Lyass A, Larson MG, Massaro JM, Wang N, D'Agostino RB, et al. Biomarkers of oxidative stress are associated with frailty: the Framingham Offspring Study. Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands) [Internet]. 2016 Feb 23 [cited 2016 Feb 28];38(1):1. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26695510
- 103. Tay L, Lim WS, Chan M, Ye RJ, Chong MS. The independent role of inflammation in physical frailty among older adults with mild cognitive impairment and mild-to-moderate Alzheimer?s disease. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2016 Jan 5 [cited 2016 Feb 28];20(3):288–99. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26892578
- 104. Sherrington C, Fairhall N, Kirkham C, Clemson L, Howard K, Vogler C, et al. Exercise and fall prevention self-management to reduce mobility-related disability and falls after fall-related lower limb fracture in older people: protocol for the RESTORE (Recovery Exercises and STepping On afteR fracturE) randomised controlled trial. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. 2016 Jan [cited 2016 Feb 8];16(1):34. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4739405&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 105. Kohut ML, Senchina DS. Reversing age-associated immunosenescence via exercise. Exercise Immunology Review [Internet]. 2004 Jan [cited 2015 Nov 6];10:6–41. Available

from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15633584

- 106. Michel JP, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Cederholm T. Frailty, Exercise and Nutrition. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine. W.B. Saunders; 2015. p. 375–87.
- 107. Norman B, Esbjörnsson M, Rundqvist H, Österlund T, Glenmark B, Jansson E. ACTN3 genotype and modulation of skeletal muscle response to exercise in human subjects. Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md : 1985) [Internet]. 2014 May 1 [cited 2015 May 8];116(9):1197–203. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24651987
- 108. Senchina DS1; Kohut ML. Immunological outcomes of exercise in older adults. Clinical interventions in aging [Internet]. 2007 Jan [cited 2015 Nov 27];2(1):3–16. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2684080&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 109. Schober-Halper B, Hofmann M, Oesen S, Franzke B, Wolf T, Strasser E-M, et al. Elastic band resistance training influences transforming growth factor-ß receptor I mRNA expression in peripheral mononuclear cells of institutionalised older adults: the Vienna Active Ageing Study (VAAS). Immunity & Ageing [Internet]. 2016 Dec 30 [cited 2017 May 17];13(1):22. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27375767
- 110. Hall-López J, Ochoa-Martínez P, Teixeira AMMB, Moncada-Jiménez JA, Dantas EM. [Effect of hydrogymnastics physical exercise on serum level of immunoglobulin A in elderly women]. Revista chilena de infectología : órgano oficial de la Sociedad Chilena de Infectología [Internet]. 2015 Jun [cited 2015 Nov 23];32(3):272–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26230432
- 111. Gomez-Pinilla F, Hillman C. The influence of exercise on cognitive abilities. Comprehensive Physiology [Internet]. 2013 Jan [cited 2014 Sep 9];3(1):403–28. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3951958&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 112. Park BJ, Lee YJ. Integrative approach to elderly frailty [Internet]. Korean Journal of Family Medicine. 2010 [cited 2018 Mar 12]. p. 747–54. Available from: https://synapse.koreamed.org/DOIx.php?id=10.4082/kjfm.2010.31.10.747
- 113. Bray NW, Smart RR, Jakobi JM, Jones GR. Exercise prescription to reverse frailty. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism [Internet]. 2016;41(10):1112–6. Available from: http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/10.1139/apnm-2016-0226

- 114. De Jager CA, Hogervorst E, Combrinck M, Budge MM, Jager C De. Sensitivity and specificity of neuropsychological tests for mild cognitive impairment, vascular cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Psychological medicine [Internet]. 2003 Aug [cited 2015 Jan 3];33(6):1039–50. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12946088
- 115. Petersen RC. Mild cognitive impairment as a clinical entity and treatment target. Archives of neurology [Internet]. Blackwell Science Ltd; 2004 Sep 1 [cited 2017 Aug 4];62(7):1160–1163; discussion 1167. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01388.x
- 116. Petersen RC, Doody R, Kurz A, Mohs RC, Morris JC, Rabins P V, et al. Current concepts in mild cognitive impairment. Archives of neurology [Internet]. 2001 Dec [cited 2014 Dec 6];58(12):1985–92. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11735772
- 117. Han ES, Lee Y, Kim J. Association of cognitive impairment with frailty in communitydwelling older adults. International psychogeriatrics / IPA [Internet]. 2014 Jan 23 [cited 2015 Jul 27];26(1):155–63. Available from: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S1041610213001841
- 118. Eef Hogervorst, Angela Clifford, Jennifer Stock XX and SB. Exercise to Prevent Cognitive Decline and Alzheimer's disease: For Whom, When, What, and (most importantly) How Much? Journal of Alzheimers Disease & Parkinsonism [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2014 Dec 26];2(3):1000e117. Available from: http://www.omicsonline.org/exercise-to-prevent-cognitive-decline-and-alzheimersdisease-for-whom-when-what-and-most-importantly-how-much-2161-0460.1000e117.php&&aid=7477
- Woo J, Yu R, Wong M, Yeung F, Wong M, Lum C. Frailty Screening in the Community Using the FRAIL Scale. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association [Internet]. 2015 May 1 [cited 2015 May 15];16(5):412–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25732832
- 120. Hogervorst E. Exercise to Prevent Cognitive Decline and Alzheimer's disease: For Whom, When, What, and (most importantly) How Much? Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Parkinsonism [Internet]. OMICS International; 2012 May 26 [cited 2018 Jan 23];02(03). Available from: https://www.omicsonline.org/exercise-to-prevent-cognitivedecline-and-alzheimers-disease-for-whom-when-what-and-most-importantly-howmuch-2161-0460.1000e117.php?aid=7477

- 121. Beauchet O. Testosterone and cognitive function: current clinical evidence of a relationship. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies [Internet]. 2006 Dec [cited 2015 Jan 3];155(6):773–81. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17132744
- 122. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. Age and ageing [Internet]. 2010 Jul [cited 2014 Jul 9];39(4):412–23. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2886201&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 123. Straub RH, Tankó LB, Christiansen C, Larsen PJ, Jessop DS. Higher physical activity is associated with increased androgens, low interleukin 6 and less aortic calcification in peripheral obese elderly women. The Journal of endocrinology [Internet]. 2008 Oct [cited 2014 Dec 31];199(1):61–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18617605
- 124. So W, Song M, Park Y, Cho B, Lim J, Kim S, et al. Body composition, fitness level, anabolic hormones, and inflammatory cytokines in the elderly: a randomized controlled trial. Aging clinical and experimental research [Internet]. 2013 May [cited 2015 Jun 16];25(2):167–74. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23739902
- 125. Diniz BS, Reynolds CF. Major depressive disorder in older adults: benefits and hazards of prolonged treatment. Drugs & aging [Internet]. 2014 Sep [cited 2016 Jan 23];31(9):661–9. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4615590&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 126. Seyedabadi M, Fakhfouri G, Ramezani V, Mehr SE, Rahimian R. The role of serotonin in memory: interactions with neurotransmitters and downstream signaling. Experimental brain research [Internet]. 2014 Mar [cited 2016 Feb 28];232(3):723–38. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24430027
- 127. Tocchi C, Dixon J, Naylor M, Jeon S, McCorkle R. Development of a frailty measure for older adults: the frailty index for elders. Journal of nursing measurement [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 20];22(2):223–40. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25255675
- 128. Deuster PA, Silverman MN. Biological mechanisms underlying the role of physical fitness in health and resilience. Interface Focus [Internet]. The Royal Society; 2014 Oct

6 [cited 2017 Jul 30];4(5):20140040. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25285199

- 129. Miletic ID, Schiffman SS, Miletic VD, Sattely-Miller EA. Salivary IgA secretion rate in young and elderly persons. Physiology & behavior [Internet]. 1996 Jul [cited 2014 Dec 26];60(1):243–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8804670
- 130. Muscatell KA, Dedovic K, Slavich GM, Jarcho MR, Breen EC, Bower JE, et al. Greater amygdala activity and dorsomedial prefrontal-amygdala coupling are associated with enhanced inflammatory responses to stress. Brain, behavior, and immunity. Elsevier Inc.; 2015;43:46–53.
- 131. Akimoto T, Kumai Y, Akama T, Hayashi E, Murakami H, Soma R, et al. Effects of 12 months of exercise training on salivary secretory IgA levels in elderly subjects. British journal of sports medicine [Internet]. 2003 Feb [cited 2015 Apr 23];37(1):76–9. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1724582&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

- 132. Drela N, Kozdron E, Szczypiorski P. Moderate exercise may attenuate some aspects of immunosenescence. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. BioMed Central Ltd; 2004 Sep 29 [cited 2015 Nov 28];4(1):8. Available from: http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2318/4/8
- 133. Mendoza-Núñez VM, Hernández-Monjaraz B, Santiago-Osorio E, Betancourt-Rule JM, Ruiz-Ramos M. Tai Chi exercise increases SOD activity and total antioxidant status in saliva and is linked to an improvement of periodontal disease in the elderly. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jun 30];2014:603853. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3984794&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 134. Libardi CA, De Souza GV, Cavaglieri CR, Madruga VA, Chacon-Mikahil MPT. Effect of resistance, endurance, and concurrent training on TNF-α, IL-6, and CRP. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise. 2012;44(1):50–6.
- 135. Guerreiro RJ, Santana I, Brás JM, Santiago B, Paiva A, Oliveira C. Peripheral inflammatory cytokines as biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Neuro-degenerative diseases [Internet]. 2007 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 7];4(6):406–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17934323
- 136. Kraemer WJ, Hatfield DL, Comstock BA, Fragala MS, Davitt PM, Cortis C, et al.

Influence of HMB supplementation and resistance training on cytokine responses to resistance exercise. Journal of the American College of Nutrition [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jun 16];33(4):247–55. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25140763

- Radom-Aizik S, Zaldivar F, Leu S-Y, Galassetti P, Cooper DM. Effects of 30 min of aerobic exercise on gene expression in human neutrophils. Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md : 1985) [Internet]. 2008 Jan [cited 2016 Feb 12];104(1):236– 43. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18006867
- 138. Kasapis C, Thompson PD. The effects of physical activity on serum C-reactive protein and inflammatory markers: a systematic review. Journal of the American College of Cardiology [Internet]. 2005 May 17 [cited 2014 Aug 19];45(10):1563–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15893167
- Scannapieco FA, Solomon L, Wadenya RO. Emergence in human dental plaque and host distribution of amylase-binding streptococci. Journal of dental research [Internet].
 1994 Oct [cited 2015 Jan 3];73(10):1627–35. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7523468
- Maruyama Y, Kawano A, Okamoto S, Ando T, Ishitobi Y, Tanaka Y, et al. Differences in salivary alpha-amylase and cortisol responsiveness following exposure to electrical stimulation versus the Trier Social Stress Tests. PloS one [Internet]. 2012 Jan 30 [cited 2015 Feb 10];7(7):e39375. Available from: http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0039375
- 141. Cevada T, Vasques PE, Moraes H, Deslandes A. Salivary cortisol levels in athletes and nonathletes: a systematic review. Hormone and metabolic research = Hormon- und Stoffwechselforschung = Hormones et métabolisme [Internet]. 2014 Dec [cited 2015 Nov 3];46(13):905–10. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25230328

CHAPTER 2:

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

José Pedro Ferreira

Ana Maria Teixeira

2.1 Preliminary actions and ethics statement

This research protocol (RP) was integrated in the research project entitled "PRO-HMESCI: Hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress and immunity", recently published (1). This RP was previously approved by the Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education Ethical Committee - University of Coimbra (number reference: CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013). The RP takes into account the legal premises of the Portuguese Resolution [Art.^o 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series] on ethics in biomedical research with humans (2), and follows the guidelines for ethics in scientific experiments in exercise science research (3) and still, complied with the guidelines for research with human beings of the Helsinki Declaration (4).

The contact with the medical staff was established as one of the criteria to verify the eligibility of each subject to participate in the study and subsequently, to perform the exercise program. According to previous studies (1,5), the general procedures included: a) in the first visit, a presentation was made to all eligible participants and HSC staff, communicating the stages of this study; b) in the second visit, CHS or legal representative of participants was required to give a full informed consent (statement of responsibility) before beginning the research protocol, where the anonymization of data was performed.

2.2 Studies design (phases 1 and 2)

This research protocol was planned for approximately 13 months, involving a trained research team and it is built in different phases, according to the type of studies: cross-sectional and experimental (see Figure 2.1). The cross-sectional study (4 weeks' duration) consisted in the evaluation of older people (≥65 years old), living in different centres of heath care and social support (HCS), located in the city of Coimbra, Portugal. The participants were selected using a non-probalistic convenience sampling based on the geographical area of center region of Coimbra city. The experimental phase characterized as an intervention study with two different chair-based exercise programs, designed to assess the effect of strength/elastic band and multimodal interventions on biopsychological outcomes in frail e pre-frail individuals. Participants in these groups was attended a 45 minutes' exercise session, two-three times per week during 28 weeks and were extracted using the Physical Frailty status from the cross-sectional study design.



Figure 2.1 Timeline of the experimental study design .

2.3 Eligibility criteria

The description of the inclusion and exclusion criteria comprises the recruitment of the HCS and the elderly participants to take part of cross-sectional study and subsequent interest in participating in the different exercise programs.

i) inclusion criteria: a) ability to participate in a study with total duration of 12 months and encompassing three phases: cross-sectional study, intervention and detraining periods b) existence of an appropriate physical space to carry out the exercise sessions; c) required support of caregivers to assist with the elders' displacement to the exercise classes;

ii) Exclusion criteria: The following selection criteria for participants included was adopted to select the HCS participants: a) take a part in this study spontaneously; b) drug therapy and clinical condition controlled and updated (it must be stable and enable participation in the exercise classes as decided by local medical staff); c) not completing the '8-foot-up and go test' in the maximum time of 50 seconds. According to previous studies with samples of institutionalized elderly, scores above this value indicate severe disability/mobility dependence (6); d) no involvement in other structured exercise programs; e) no presence of any type of health condition that could prevent testing of functional autonomy such as severe or no controlled cardiopathy, hypertension, uncontrolled asthmatic bronchitis, and any musculoskeletal conditions that might prevent testing (i.e., osteoarthritis, recent fractures), mental disorder, hearing and vision impairment, morbid obesity, or the use of medications that could cause high attention impairment; f) do not have alcohol abuse; to have a high score on the comorbidity Index, indicating a life expectancy under 2 years (7).

2.4 Sample size estimation

Calculation of sample size (SS) is an essential stage in the proposal of a research study and is crucial to infer with confidence that SS calculated are reflective of underlying population parameters (8). For different combinations of power and effect size (ES), the SS for both crosssectional and experimental studies were computed with G*Power 3.1.9.2 (9). G*Power is a free software program for a variety of statistical tests currently accepted by the scientific community (10). For the cross-sectional study, a total of 140 participants were enrolled for subsequently analysis according the Fried of PFS protocol. The sample size has been calculated according to the following assumptions: a 40% of incidence of frail condition of previous cross sectional studies using institutionalized samples, with an α < 0.05 and β = 0.80. Assuming that 5% (n = 32) can be lost during the data collection for any reasons (i.e. death, non-cooperation, migration, chronic disease), 136 participants would be necessary. However, for each cross-sectional study, the power and ES was reported, taking into account the adjustment of each evaluated dimension. In the experimental study the sample size (SS) estimation was performed by considering the comparison of physical performance between frail-subgroups in frail subjects between pre- and post multicomponent exercise intervention. The SS was seen to range between 5 and 44. Previous publications have reported high ES (Cohen's *d*) for a combination score of physical fitness tests, up to 1.08 (11). Assuming a minimum power of 0.8 as acceptable and that we may realistically but conservatively, expect the ES to be at least 0.7 [moderate to robust], the SS of the study should be 19 per group. Furthermore, assuming a dropout rate of 30% (12), the SS increases to 25 per arm, in total of a n = 75 participants.

2.5 Participants recruitment

In the first stage of recruitment, 10 eligible CSHS were randomly selected (see Figure 2.2). The primary recruitment strategy was based on information provided to the potential participants by the medical professionals from each CHS, combined with clinical primary outcomes information. The initial sample of cross-sectional study consisted of 305 institutionalized-dwelling individuals. Based on the medical staff recommendations, 52 individuals (14,6%) were excluded: i) severe clinical condition that does not allow one to get out of bed (n = 33); ii) morbid obesity (n = 8); iii) use of medications that could cause attention reduction (n=11).





A total of 74 subjects failed to meet sample selection criteria as follows: i) physical impairment associated with musculoskeletal disorders and joint or muscle pain in the performance of tests (n = 34), ii) established diagnosis of early-stage dementia or other mental disorders (n = 9); iii) severe impairment of hearing or visual functions that made it impossible to perform all tests (n = 13); iv) need of palliative health care or special nutritional support, (n = 4); participants who dropped out when applying the tests (n = 14). In this phase, 39 participants also refused to participate a few minutes before data collection.

A total of 140 women were included in the cross-sectional studies 01 and 04. In studies 02, 03 and 04 119 participants were included, and because in the final analysis it was possible to identify poor data quality, dropouts, non-conclusion of psychometric rate scales and other issues, data of 21 participants were futher excluded. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology Statement (STROBE) extension for trials has been used to design the cross-sectional study (13).

After defining the number of participants for the experimental studies, the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials statement extension (CONSORT) has been used to design the experimental study (14). To guarantee equal distribution [1:1:1] and the non-influence of the researchers in the assignment of the groups, a simple allocation technique, distributing the participants into 3 arms: chair-based multimodal exercise (CME), chair-based muscle-strength elastic band exercises (CSE) and non-exercise control group (GC_{ne}). Of the 75 participants selected for the experimental study, a total of 09 participants withdrew their willingness to participants were excluded from analyses due to low exercise adherence. None of the dropouts left the intervention because of injuries or adverse responses to the intervention. Finally, a total of 59 participants of CME (n = 24), CSE (n = 18) and CG_{ne} (n = 17) completed the 28 weeks' study (see Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Flowchart of the intervention study design.

2.6 Data collection procedures

Firstly, the assessment of the cross-sectional study 01 and the extraction of participants for experimental study 02 were made. In the experimental design, 3-time points of data collection were applied. In agreement the research methods already described in a recent reports (1,5), all primary and secondary outcomes measures were collected at baseline following a specific order. Assessment measures were organized by the main investigator, applied by specialists and co-investigators of the research team and also, these were completed on different days respecting the motivation of the participants, interrupting the test, and continuing on another day if they felt tired or uncomfortable.

All baseline data collection was obtained between March and June 2015, during the morning (09:00 to 11:30 am). To minimize methodological inconsistencies, the same variable was always measured by the same member of the research team in all subjects. The quality of data was analysed in a pilot study and was reported for each physical measure through scores of internal consistency reliability (ICR). Table 2.1 and Table 2.2 presented the ICR scores for each variable in their respective dimension. The time-point for all outcomes measures were the first collected at baseline, after 14 and 28 weeks of exercise intervention period. Some variables of Biosocial and global health status were included just in the baseline assessment.

2.7 Primary outcomes

The physical frailty protocol characterizes as a primary outcome, however, biosocial, anthropometric and global health status were also considered.

2.7.1 Physical frailty protocol

Based on the scientific rationale explained by Fried and colleagues, a phenotype of frailty was proposed to include the several health domains and important co-variates associated to the frail condition (15). However, in the final characterization of the Fried's frailty Phenotype, taking into account the most important five elements in the construct which operationalized on five criteria to identify the Physical frailty construct, divide the population in non-frail, pre-frail and frailty older individuals. The prevalence of the independent components of PF was calculated, as well as the presence of each one of the five components of the Fried of PF criteria. The positive evaluation in one or two criteria classified the participants as pre-frail, in three or more as frail and as non-frail when the subject had none of the five PF components (15). The following five components of PF were assessed:

i) Weight Loss: assessed by self-reporting unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months, for both sexes. In addition, this measure was validated by medical records over one year assessed in the HCS; ii) Self-Reported Exhaustion: evaluated by negative concordance of questions number 7 ("I felt that everything I did was an effort") and 20 ("I could not get "going"), from the Centre of Epidemiologic Studies in Depression (CES-D) questionnaire (16). In the original study, Fried et. al (2001) explained that these were associations with the stage of exercise reached in graded exercise testing, as an indicator of VO_2 max and was predictive of cardiovascular disease; iii) weakness was analyzed using the handgrip strength test (HGT). This test uses a hand-held dynamometer (Lafayette Dynamometer, model 78010, United States) and strength is measured in kilograms. The subject holds the dynamometer in the hand to be tested, with the elbow by the side of the body. When ready, the subject squeezes the dynamometer with maximum isometric effort, which is maintained for 5 seconds. The best result of the two trials was used for scoring purposes (17). Participants who were unable to perform the HGT and those in the lowest 20% were categorized as positive. The cuttoff values for HGT ≥ 29 for male kg and ≥17 Kg for female were adopted; iv) slowness was measured using the 4.6 meters walking test (4.6-WT), which results are expressed in seconds and adjusted for gender and height. The best time of the two trials was used for final scoring. The cuttoff value of \geq 7seconds for males and \geq 6 seconds for females were adopted (18); v) low PA levels were assessed by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) short version (19). The IPAQ short form asks about three specific types of activity undertaken in the three domains introduced above and time being sedentary. The specific types of activity that were assessed are walking, moderate-intensity activities and vigorous intensity activities; frequency (measured in days per week) and duration (time per day) are collected separately for each specific type of activity. The total volume and the number of day/sessions was included in the IPAQ analysis. There are three levels of PA suggested for classification: inactive, minimally active and a highly active. Participants classified with low levels of PA had a positive score for the FS condition (20).

 Table 2.1 Reliability and validity measures of the three physical frailty components in a sample of n = 20 older women.

Frailty Phenotype outcomes	Unit	Internal consistency reliability
4,6 walking speed test	Seconds	0.80
IPAQ short version scale*	minutes per day	0.78
Hand Grip Test	kilos	0.84

Note: IPAQ = International Physical Activity Questionnaire.

2.7.2 Individual and Sociodemographic data

The following individual and sociodemographic data were assessed: i) Chronological age was assessed through the date at testing - date of birth and analyzed as a continuous variable. ii) Sex was classified in two categories, female or male; iii) Marital status was classified in four categories: single, married, widowed or divorced. iv) Level of education was classified according to the Portuguese educational system and analyzed as a continuous variable (21).

2.7.3 Anthropometric measures

The following anthropometric measurements were performed using following standardized procedures previous described (22): i) Body mass was determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms; ii) Stature was determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Bodymeter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimetres; ii) Body mass index (BMI) was calculated according to the usual formula [BMI = weight/height²]; iii) Waist, arm and leg circumferences were measured using a retractable glass fibber tape measure (Hoechstmass-Rollfix®, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimetres.

Anthropometric measurements	Unit	Internal consistency reliability
Stature	centimeters	0.87
Body mass	kilos	0.89
Waist circumference	centimeters	0.87
Hip circumference	centimeters	0.91

Table 2.2 Reliability and validity measures of anthropometric indicators in a sample of n = 20 older women.

2.7.4 General health status

Overall general health indicators were evaluated through measures and instruments frequently used in epidemiological studies, due to their reliability and comparability with studies in other countries (23–29). The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI), Daily use medications (DUM), nutritional status, systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) were accessed in this study: i) CCI characterizes as a method of predicting mortality by classifying or weighting comorbid conditions. This instrument has been widely used by health researchers to measure burden of disease and has a weighted index based on 19 comorbid conditions. Its score can be combined/adjusted with age and gender to form a single index (continuous variable). One point for each additional 10 years is added to the initial score, that has been shown to predict

one-year and 10-year mortality (7,30); ii) Daily medications used by the participants was assessed through question number six of the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA), that asks the participant if she takes more than 3 or less prescription drugs per day. Additionally, the number of medications-used was checked systematically through the institutional medical record of each participant, identifying and reporting polypharmacy (takes more than 3 prescription drugs per day) according to the Portuguese Classification System of Human Medicine (31); iii) Nutritional status was measured using the MNA. It consists of 18-item questionnaire that can be completed within 15 minutes and it includes four domains, namely anthropometric assessment, general health assessment, dietary assessment, and self-assessment of health and nutritional status. The maximum score is 30 points (pts), and classifies subjects as well-nourished (24 to 30 pts), having risk of malnutrition (17 to 23.5 pts) or as malnourished (score 17 pts and lower) (32); iv) To register SBP and DBP, the digital device OMRON (HEM-4011C-E[®]) model M1 Plus was used (33).

General health status	Present study	Original study
Mini nutritional assessment	0.74*	0.96 [¶]
Rest Heart Rate	0.78**	NM
Systolic blood pressure	0.81**	NM
Diastolic blood pressure	0.80**	NM
Charlson comorbidity index	0.86**	1.2 [§]
Medication use	NM	NM

 Table 2.3 Reliability and validity measures of global health indicators.

Note: *The Kappa coefficient of study validation; [¶]area under curve validation criteria; ** internal consistency reliability test applied in a sample of n = 20 older women (pilot study); [§]estimated relative risk of death calculated by hazard ratio, p<0.001; NA = not mentioned.

2.8 Secondary outcomes

Secondary measures comprised biochemical markers (blood and saliva samples), health psychological wellbeing (mood state, psychological well-being and self-perception), cognition status (global and specific areas) and physical functioning (functional disability and physical fitness related to health).

2.8.1 Salivary biomarkers analysis

The concentration of all salivary makers used were assessed by specific techniques, according to the manufacturer instructions for the differents kits used. (34). The collection times were always at the same time in the morning, in order to minimize the circadian effect seen with some of the markers under study (35). Saliva was collected by passive drool that consisted in the participant allowing saliva to collect on the floor of the mouth, then leaning forward and dribbles into a tube), for three minutes in high quality polypropylene vials to avoid problems with analyte retention or the introduction of contaminants that can interfere with the immunoassays. Prior to the saliva collection subjects will be asked to rinse their mouth with water to remove food residues 10 minutes before sample collection and to avoid: alcohol for 12 hours, dairy products for 20 minutes, foods with high sugar or acidity, or high caffeine content immediately before sample collection. All participants were instructed not to engage in extreme physical efforts in the 24 hours prior to the collection. The volumes measured, the flow rate calculated, and the samples stored at -20°Celsius until determination of the saliva markers proposed for this study. Immunoglobulin-A (IgA), testosterone (TT), lysozyme (Lys), cortisol (COR) and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and interleukin-1ß were analyzed by ELISA (34). Alpha-Amylase (α -amylase) was analysed by a kinetic-assay, according to standard procedures reported in previous studies (36). The reference values for all salivary markers were reported by the manufacturer and other relevant studies, in terms of sensitivity cut off value, absolute range in adults (34). In the case of α -amylase (37), IgA (38) and Lys (39), the reference values was obtained from other studies.

2.8.2 Blood biomarkers analysis

Venepuncture was used to collected blood samples by a registered nurse. The samples of blood were allocated into kEDTA and serum tubes. All participants were instructed not to engage in extreme physical efforts in the 24 hours prior to the collection. Determination of blood counts was done immediately after blood samples collection, using an automated haematology analyser Coulter AcT Diff [Beckman Coulter, USA]. The remaining blood were separated after centrifugation for the collection of plasma and serum and these stored in cryovials at -80° Celsus (C) until determination of the serum and plasma markers proposed for this study. The levels of the pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-10 (IL-10), interferon gamma (IFN- γ), Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha (TNF- α) and the neurotrophic factor Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF), were analyzed by ELISA kits according to the manufacturers' instructions [Invitrogen[®], CA] (34). The cardiovascular risk marker C-reactive protein (CRP) was determined using the Horiba Medical Pentra C200 [Kyoto, Japan].

2.8.3 Physical fitness

The Senior Fitness Test battery developed by Rikli and Jones (1999) was used to access physical Fitness (PhFi). All PhFi tests were developed for adults aged over 60 years and are appropriate for both research and clinical purposes (40). Additionally, Tandem Stance Balance test (TSB) was used to evaluate static balance (Franchignoni, Tesio & Martino, 1998). Participants performed two repetitions for each physical test to familiarize themselves. For all the HrPf tests the best score of the two trials performed was used for final scoring purposes. When upper and lower members were tested in both sides (i.e. left and right) the best scoring side was the one considered for counting purposes.

The following PhFi measures were assessed: i) the lower body strength was determined with the '30 second's chair-and-stand test' (30s-CS), measuring the number of total full chair-stands that can be completed in 30 seconds with the arms folded across the chest; ii) The upper body strength was assessed with the '30 seconds arm-curl test' (30s-AC) that measures the total number of bicep curls that can be completed in 30 seconds, seated in a chair and holding a hand weight of 5 lbs (2.27 kg) for women. iii) For lower-body flexibility we used the 'chair sit-and-reach test' (CSR), from a sitting position at front of chair, with leg extended and hands reaching toward the toes, the number of inches (centimeters, + or -) between extended fingers and tip of toe were measured; iv) The upper-body flexibility (shoulder girdle) was measured using the 'back Stretch' test, that assesses the distance (centimeters, + or -) of approach between the middle fingers when one hand reaching over the shoulder and one up the middle of the back; v) Agility-dynamic balance test (ADB) was assessed using the eight-foot-up and go test, that assesses the time in seconds required for the participant to get up from a chair (seated position), walk as quickly as possible around either side of a cone placed 2,44 meters away from the chair, turn and sit back down in the seated position; vi) Aerobic resistance was measured through the "2-minutes step test" (2m-ST), that consisted of the number of full steps the subject completed in two minutes performing a stationary gait, with one hand resting on the wall and raising each knee to a midway point between the kneecap and iliac crest. Score is the number of times the right knee reaches the required height (Rikli, Jones, 2013). vii)The TSB consists of the participant maintaining the standing position with open eyes and one foot in front of the opposite foot for a maximum of 30 seconds (43).

Physical Fitness Tests	Unit	Original study*	Present study*	Range of Reference values [*]
30 second's chair-and-stand test	reps per time	0.87	0.89	4 - 15
30 seconds arm-curl test'	reps per time	0.83	0.90	8 to17
Chair sit-and-reach test'	centimeters	0.80	0.89	-1.0 - +4.0
Back Stretch' test	centimeters	0.79	0.84	-8.0 - +1.0
Eight-foot-up and go test	seconds	0.79	0.80	7.1 – 11.5
Two-minutes step test"	steps per time	0.91	0.78	44 - 101

 Table 2.4 Reliability and validity measures of physical fitness tests in a sample of n = 20 older woman.

Note: *test-retest reliability; **internal consistency reliability; NA = not applicable; Original study (minimum and maximum values from old women

2.8.4 Functional disability (FD)

The indicators of FD were organized in a test battery following the approach of Tomes and colleagues (2009), that proposes objective and subjective measures to access disability (44). The following PhFi measures were assessed: i) Katz Index of independence (ADL) index was used to asses' daily function. The ADL ranks adequacy of performance in 6 functions such as bathing, dressing, toileting, transferring (using transport), continence, and feeding (45). Subjects are scored ves or no for independence in each of all functions described in the questionnaire and after adding up the points, individuals were ranked. Participants who scored for each function as dependent score 1 point and independent scored 0 points (46,47). ADL scale is most efficiently used among older adults in a variety of care settings, when baseline measurements, taken when the subject is well, are associated to periodic or subsequent measures (46). Unlike the Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale, this instrument has its recommended use for old individuals with an living institutionalized living (48); ii) Fear of falling was measured using the Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES), assessing the possibility of falling during the performance of 10 activities through the guestions that encourage the individuals to give a punctuation to this subjective perception of confidence ability to perform daily living task to evolved stability, dynamic and static balance skills. Each question is rated from 1 point (very confidence) to 10 (not confidence) and the per question rating are added to generate a summary total score. The scores range from 10 to 100 points with a lower score indicating a high self-efficacy or little fear of falling (49).

Functional Disability Scales	Original stud	ly	Portuguese version			
	Author	score	Author	score		
Falls efficacy scale	Tinetti et al., 1990	0.71*	Melo, 2009	0.88*		
Katz of Independence ADL	Katz et al.,	0.87*	Sequeira, 2007	0.92**		

Table 2.5 Reliability and validity measures for each Functional disability scale.

Note: ADL: activities of daily living; values of Pearson correlation with other physical functioning measures; scores of Cronbach alpha; *internal consistency reliability.

2.8.5 Psychological well-being

The assessment of Psychological Well-being (PwB) was organized in a test battery that comprised the most import three domains of psychological well-being and closely linked to older ages, comprising mood state, self-perception and subjective emotional well-being (50). In addition, the PWB tests were chosen because they had been validated in the Portuguese population and were also described in the concept of Psychological of frailty defined previously (51). The following measures of PWB were assessed:

i) Cognitive status: The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) was used to assess cognitive state (52). MMSE assesses five areas of cognition status: orientation, immediate recall, attention and calculation, delayed recall, and language (53). The MMSE was used to classify participants by cognitive profile as a category variable, according to the following cut off values: severe cognitive impairment 1 to 9 points; moderate cognitive impairment 10 to 18; mild cognitive impairment 19 to 24 points and normal cognitive status 25 to 30 points (54). The propose was to measure cognitive functions sensitive to early dementia and age-related cognitive decline. These functions have in earlier interventions also shown to respond and be sensitive to the effects of exercise in the elderly populations (55,56);

ii) Mood states: Depression was assessed using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies for Depression (CES-D) scale reflecting major facets of this state. The 20-items are given on a four-point Likert scale, using to rate how often (older people) over the past week they experienced symptoms associated with depression, such as restless sleep, poor appetite, and feeling lonely. Scores range between 0 and 60 in which the highest scores correlate with more depressive symptoms for the last week (16). The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) is the most widely used instrument for assessing the perception of stress. It is a measure of the level to which situations in one's life are appraised as stressful. Items were designed to tap how unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloaded respondents find their lives. The scale also includes a number of direct queries about current levels of experienced stress. Seven out of the 14-items is considered negative and seven as positive. Final scores can vary from 14 to 70 points, a higher score indicating greater feelings of stress (57);

iii) Self-perception: The Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale (RSES) analyses global self-worth. A 10-item scale that measures global self-worth by measuring both positive and negative feelings about the self. The scale is believed to be uni-dimensional. All items are answered using a 4point Likert scale format ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree. The sum of all 10item scores gives results between 10 and 40 points, where higher values represent higher levels of self-esteem (58). The General Self-Efficacy Scale (GSES) was used to assess optimistic self-beliefs related to efficacy to cope with a variety of difficult demands in life. This is a 10-item scale and all items are answered using a 4-point Likert scale format ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree. Responses sum up to a composite score with a range from 10 to 40 points, where higher values represent higher levels of GSES (59). The Attitudes to Aging Questionnaire (AAQ) was used to assess attitudes toward the ageing process as a personal experience from the perspective of older people. The 24-item scale (total scores range from 8 to 40 points) incorporates the concepts of both losses and gains with ageing. Factor analysis found three distinct subscales: Psychosocial Loss, Physical Change, and Psychological Growth. The AAQ contains 24 items and. The higher the score the more positive the attitude towards one's own ageing process (60);

iv) Emotional well-being: The Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) measures global cognitive judgments of satisfaction with one's life. The SWLS is recommended as a complement to scales that focus on psychopathology or emotional well-being because it assesses an individuals' conscious evaluative judgment of his or her life by using the person's own criteria. The 5-item scale results in scores between one to 35 points, with higher values representing higher levels of life's satisfaction (58). The Happiness Face Scale (HFS) consisted of a graphical scheme where for each face is assigned one letter, in which the letter A (seven points) is considered the maximum and the letter G, the minimum (one point). This scale was commonly used to evaluate the positive facet of subjective well-being. The participant has to identify with one of the faces, depending on his/her state of happiness (61).

Psychometric rate scales	Original study*		Portuguese version*	
	Author	score	Author	score
CES-D	Radloff, 1977	0.85	Gonçalves & Fagulha, 2000	0.89
Perceived Stress	Cohen et al., 1983	0.78	Mota-Cardoso et al., 2002	0.86
Rosenberg Self-esteem	Rosenberg, 1965	0.90	Ferreira & Fox, 2007	0.85
General Self-Efficacy	Schwarzer Jerusalem	0.86	Nunes et al., 1999	0.75
Attitudes to Aging	Laidlaw et al., 2007	0.86	Silva et al., 2013	0.67
Satisfaction with life	Dienner et al., 1985	0.83	Laranjeira, 2009	0.89
Happiness face scale	Andrew & Withey, 1976	NA	N.A.	078**
Mini-mental state exam	Folsten et al., 1975	NA	Morgado et al., 2010	0.71

Table 2.6 Scores of internal consistency reliability for each psychometric rate scale.

Note: CES-D: Center of Epidemiologic Studies for Depression; *internal consistency reliability; **score calculated from the pilot study.

2.9 Pilot study

In the first phase of the study, some initial procedures were adopted that are described in the following lines. As previously mentioned, a pilot data collection was carried out in the first four weeks, aiming at analysing the quality of data for each physical-functional fitness measures. At the same time, interviews, psychometrics scales, cognitive and functional tests were applied to check the subject's conditions and evaluate the methods of application of the study (1). In addition, an exploratory exercise-based intervention study was carried out, using the data of 14 weeks of the chair yoga-type flexibility intervention, characterized as a third arm of the complete study protocol in which this research project was inserted. The complete description of chair yoga method was presented in the next topic. Previously, a four weeks of exercise sessions was conducted with an exercise session per week aimed to test the chair-based method, subjective perceived exertion (PSE) of the participants and the use of heart rate monitors of the participants. The experimental-exercise classes had a duration of 30 minutes (pre-training, easy-level PSE = 4-5).

2.10 Description of exercise programs

The initial approach to the development of the exercises programs included the complete description of both programs, defining the types of exercise for each program, conducting literature review using key-terms related to the topics, consulting with other group class exercise experts and preparing of the final version of the different types of chair-based exercise program activities. The development of the chair-based exercise (CBE) group classes was conducted by specialists in exercise prescription for older populations. In first order, the

method consisted of integrating the main guidelines of exercise prescription recommended by the American College of Sport Medicine Science (ACSM) for older adults (62–65) as well as recent guidelines for exercise prescription in groups, with the support of a chair were incorporated (66). In the CBE music was will not used during the sessions, since the objective was to test the influence of exercise in some mental health parameters and therapy of music alone (67), or combined with physical exercise can positively influence cognition parameters (68). All exercise programs have the similar characteristics in terms of systematization (i.e. number of weeks and sessions, time of session) but, different specificities (i.e. volume intensity, type of exercises). An instructor-to-participant ratio of 1:12 was adopted.

2.10.1 Chair-based exercise method

The CBE consists of systematized and gradual exercises performed with a chair for support that guarantees the individual's stability during the session, respecting individual limitations without discouraging individuals to reach beyond their limits (69). The CBE protocol was shown to be a suitable and appropriate method of exercise for inactive older adults (70). This method, combined with other exercise methods can vary in intensity from vigorous chair aerobic or resistance exercise designed to provide muscle conditioning and benefits for healthy adults to movement that concentrates in maintaining a basic level function for older-frail participants (70). Recent studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of multicomponent, yoga type flexibility and muscle-strength elastic band exercises programs combined with chair support in promoting beneficial changes on older individuals' general health status (56,70,71).

2.10.2 Multimodal exercise program

In order to establish a progressive endurance training program aimed to improve the walking-speed capacity, balance and other correlate motor skills, specific exercises were performed with a determined number of exercises, repetitions, sets/circuits, and other variables involved in this type of exercise program. Multimodal or multicomponent exercise (ME) programms encompassing conventional progressive strength-resistance training, flexibility, weight-bearing exercise and/or balance exercises have shown a good evidence to reduce risk factors for falls and fracture as well improve motor skills (63). This form of designing exercise program denotes an effective method to increase multiple musculoskeletal and functional performance measures in older adults with risk factors for falls and/or low bone mineral density (72).

According to ACSM based-evidence guidelines ME exercises is classified as a degree C (medium-low evidency) (73). However, recent studies have increasingly confirmed the efficacy of this type of program for the development of physical fitness and improvement of some cognitive abilities, especially in physically frail individuals or older populations with lower levels of physical activity (72,74,75).

Multimodal exercise group class		Total ti	ime: 50 minu	tes	
Phase 1 warming-up:	5 minutes				
Mobilization and dynamic flexibility exercises	sets*	reps	Cadence	Rest	PSE
Sequence of joint and full body mobilization exercises	2	10	1:2	20"	1-3
Phase 2 main workout					
Multimodal circuit-training protocol exercises			c	5 minutes	
1. Walk around the gym-room during 2-3 minutes.	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
2. Chair-based sit and reach + easy skipping	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
3. Chair-based sit and reach + arms coordination	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
4. Chair-based leg extension and overhead reach	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
5. Mini-circuit coordination, balance, quickness, agility	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
6. Chair-based skipping + standing rear leg extension	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
7. Chair-based middle skipping + arms coordination	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
8. Chair-based power skipping	2-4	8-16	1:2	20-30"	3-5
9. Walk around the gym-room during 2-3 minutes.	2-4	8-16	1:2	60-120"	3-5
Phase 3 cool-down:				5 minutes	
Full body relaxation exercises					
Sequence of joint and static stretching exercises	1	10	2:1	10"	1-2

 Table 2.7 Overview of single session multimodal exercises program.

Complementary to the ACSM guidelines, the CME was an used integrated exercises method, suggested by National Academy of Sport Medicine (NASM), in the form of physical fitness programs periodization (76). The NASM of optimum performance training model (OPT), is the way of describing how one should progress (as the PhiFi capacity improves) (stabilization, strength and power) and their respective 5 sub-phases. Each exercise session was performed with a pre-determined number of exercises (7-10), repetitions (6-12), sets (2-4), rhythm of execution (1:2) and active rest in the siting position between sets (20-30) seconds and active rest between circuits (90-180 seconds). Each session was conducted using a functional-circuit training protocol, that consisted in completing one set of each exercise in a full range of motion following two-three minutes of walking around the gym-room (77). When one circuit of exercises was complete, one begins the first exercise again for the next cycle. The exercise-types of body-weight strength, walking time route to work handedness, changes

in direction, static and dynamic balance, coordination as well exercises with accessories (i.e. cones, floor makers) were included. During the first 14 weeks, the body weight workout executed in the set and reach position and simple walking exercises around the gym room were used to develop stabilization. In the lasting 14 weeks, the increase of exercise intensity was induced by inclusion of more difficult and complex exercises and challenges sequences, aimed to improve endurance and specific motor skills (i.e. time reaction, balance, coordination).

Exercise-intensity was indirectly calculated using the Karvonen's formula to predict target heart rate (HR), with maximal (max) HR calculated using a specific formula for older population [HR_{max}= 207 (beats per minute, bpm) - 0.7 x chronological age] (78) and was monitored using heart rate monitors (Polar, RCX5®) randomly distributed among participants. A low to moderate intensity effort around 50-75% of maximum heart rate zone (HRz_{max}) values was attained as recommended by the ACSM (79). Additionally, intensity was measured through the modified BORG scale of perceived exertion (PSE), that consists of an arbitrary scale ranging from 0 to 10 points, with identical intervals and with reference to the quality of effort: (0) nothing at all; (1) very weak; (2) weak; (3) moderate; (4) somewhat strong; (5-6) strong; (7-9) very strong; (10) very, very strong (almost maximal). Each exercise class was divided into three parts: 5 minutes of warm-up and body mobilization (PSE = 1-3, HRz_{max} = 50-55%); 35 minutes of multimodal circuit exercises (PSE 3-6, HRz_{max} = 56-85%) and finally 5 minutes of stretching exercises targeted to encourage cool down (PSE 1-2, HRz_{max} = 45-50%).

2.10.3 Elastic-band muscle-strength exercise program

To create a progressive chair elastic-band muscle resistance exercise program (CSE), specific exercises were performed with a determined number of repetitions, time of rest and other variables evolved in this type of training. Elastic band (EB) is an alternative to traditional muscle strength exercises devices which reduces the risk of injury, is cheap and easily accessible (80), and allows individuals to perform a range of ergonomic movements and adjust the training intensity based on the rate of perceived exertion (81). According the ACSM evidence-based statement position, the systematic muscle-strength exercise has a evidence category A (73). Elastic Band are relatively inexpensive and provide a practical form of training that could be considered in programs designed for older adults with mobility limitations (82). A type of resistance exercises with dumbbells as well as EB system showed increased same electromyography amplitude and perceived loading with increasing resistance (83), Consequently, this type of training is increasingly indicated for populations that are in clinical and special conditions (84,85).

Chair muscle-strength exercise group c	Total time: 50 minutes				
				5 minutes	
Phase 1 Warming-up: Body mobilization and dynamic flexibility exercises	sets*	reps	Cadence	Rest	PSE
	2	6	1:2	20"	1-3
Phase 2 Muscle-Strengthening Activity:				35 minutos	
Elastic-band exercises compound (bi-sets) protocol				55 minutes	
Sequence of exercise*					
1. Front squat (stand or chair)	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
2. Unilateral hip flexion with chair	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
3. Bench over Row (with flexion)	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
4. Chest Press (stand or chair)	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
5. Standing reverse Fly	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
6. Spine Twist extension arm (oblique's)	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
7. Shoulder Press/twist arm front position	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
8. Frontal total raiser	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
9. Biceps arm curl (stand or chair)	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
10. Overhead Triceps extension	2-3	10-15	2:3	30-45"	4-6
Phase 3 cool-down: Body mobilization and static flexibility exercises				5 minutes	
	1	10	2:1	10"	1-2

Table 2.8 Overview of single session chair-muscle strengh exercises program.

A descriptive evaluation survey study aimed to developed a systematic exercise program for older adults using EB, involving 11 exercise professional experts and 20 older participants concluded that the EB program feasible, was manageable, and could be helpful to their health promotion (86). In our exercise program, the first three levels of the Thera Band elastic system (yellow, green and red color) were used [Thera Band[®], Akron, Ohio, US] (87). An specific exercises were performed with a determined number of exercises (4-8), sets (2-3); repetitions (12-15), a cadence of repetitions execution in 2 seconds concentric and 3 seconds eccentric (2:3) and a passive rest in the sit position between sets (30-45 seconds). The details information regarding control of exercise-type, repetitions and other variables involved in the program varying across the time, respecting the different phases of training, as possible to show in Table 2.8 above. The macrocycle of CSE was also design based on OPT model by NASM (76).

Intensity was measured through the OMINI perceived extension scale (PSE), that consists of an arbitrary scale ranging from 0 to 10 points, with identical intervals and with reference to the quality of effort: (0) extremely easy; (1-2) easy; (3-5) somewhat easy, (6-7) somewhat-hard; (8) hard; (9-10) extremely-hard (88). During the first 14 weeks of periodization, participants developed their stabilization and endurance strength training program using an intensity somewhat easy (PSE = 3-5). To this effect, the level one (yellow colour) of EB were used. In the last 14 weeks, participants were encouraged to develop their resistance strength level increasing their intensity load perception somewhat to hard (PSE = 6-7), induced by changing the elastic-band levels to 2 and 3 (red and green colour).

The methodical organization of all CSE exercise sessions following a bi-set strengthexercise protocol, that consisted in completed two exercises involving the major muscle groups consecutively followed a rest period, performed in a full range of motion. In terms of control of effort during the CSE program, the goal of was to keep the intensity of the exercise activities between 1 to 7 in PSE levels. It was expected that the relationship with the real effort would be 55-80% of maximum heart-rate (64). For safety reasons, the participants of CSE were using heart rate monitors. The session was divided into three parts: 5 minutes of warm-up exercises for general body mobilization (PSE 1 to 3, $HRz_{max} = 45-55\%$), 35 minutes of strength elasticband exercises in PSE 4 to 7 ($HRz_{max} = 56-75\%$) and finally, 5 minutes of cool-down stage, through easy-walking and static flexibility exercises for 'breath' control, PSE 1 to 2 ($HRz_{max} = 45-50\%$).

2.10.4 Yoga type flexibility

The creation of the chair-based yoga (CY) was based on the essential philosophy of Hatha Yoga and its āsanas, focusing on the flexibility benefits provided by them (89). The introduction of āsanas was made through a sequence of movements combined with breathing (90). This method allows the modification of postures itself and of how to "enter" and "leave" the postures, which simplifies working with limiting conditions in group classes with various levels of physical ability and can be reviewed according to the participant's evolution (91). In this intervention program, exercises sequence was prepared cautiously and reviewed according to the participant's evolution aiming to easily achieve moderate intensities in classes. Participants of CY (n = 20) maintained a frequency of two-three times weekly. Each session had a maximum duration of 50 min divided into three parts: i) 10 min of warm-up, with standing or sitting exercises of joint mobilization and exercises to promote respiratory body awareness; ii) the standing or sitting practice of \bar{a} sanas and postures sequences, with the duration of 30 min; iii) 10 min to cool down and relaxation, through sitting or lying respiratory body awareness exercises, localized massages, exercises for muscle relief and meditation and vocalization. Additionally, the methods of design of the exercise programs include the ACSM guidelines for stretching exercises prescriptions for older populations (79) (Table 2.9). The global exercise intensity was measured with heart rate monitors and it was expected that the real effort would 50-75% of maximum heart-rate (PSE = 4-6), the values recommended by the ACSM.

Chair yoga exercise group class			Total time: 50 minutes						
		5 minutes							
Phase 1 Warming-up: Joint mobilization and respiratory body awareness exercises	sets*	reps	Cadence	Rest	PSE				
	1	10	**	**	1-3				
Phase 2: Asanas exercise routine				30 minutes					
1. Seated Forward Bend" (Paschimottanasana)					4-5				
2. "Butterfly" (Baddha Konasana)					4-5				
3. "Seated Spinal Twist" (Ardha Matsyendrasana)					4-5				
4. "Cow face pose" (Gomukhasana)					4-5				
5. "Cat" (Cakravakasana)					4-5				
6. "Child's Pose" (<i>Balasana</i>)					4-5				
7. "Snake" <i>(Bhujangasana</i>)					4-5				
8. "Child's Pose with arms extended" (Utthita Balasana)					4-5				
9. "Side Bending Stretch" (<i>Tiryaka Tadasana</i>)					4-5				
10. "Dorsal Torsion" (Kati Chakrasana)					4-5				
Phase 3 cool-down: Body mobilization and static flexibility exercises				5 minutes					
	1	10	2:1	10"	1-2				

 Table 2.9 Overview of single session chair-yoga type flexibility exercise program.

Note: SoSp= Standing or sitting position **Cadence according breathing and rest in transition periods

2.10.5 Non-exercise control group

This group did not participate in any physical exercise intervention during the development of both exercise programs. However, they maintained their normal routines, which included a monthly agenda of artistic, cultural and other activities offered by the institutions.

2.10.6 Exercise engagement and masking

Exercise sessions were offered two-three times/week, during 24 weeks, in a total of 74 sessions. Entries for each participant were recorded in a specific data sheet and the percentage of exercise adherence to group classes was calculated individually through the total sum of participation and reported as the total percentage. When a participant has two consecutive absences, she was contacted to return to the exercise group classes. According to recent systematic review, many factors influenced the adherence to exercise in the elderly involved in a long term exercise program (12). Adherence rates were generally higher in supervised programs involving older participants, fluctuating between 58 to 86% (12). Based on this information, an adherence to the exercise program of 65%, was established as minimum for each participant to be included in the study. The physical exercise instructor did not not take part in data collection procedures. Precaution was taken to avoid interaction between individuals of the two exercing groups by staggering the classes schedule. Each team of teachers conducted the classes in their respective chair-exercise program, so that no possible influences would occur.

2.11 General statistical procedures

First of all, it is important to point out that the statistical analyzes used in this study were systematized for two study types: i) cross-sectional studies, which are epidemiological characteristics and therefore use statistical methods inherent to this area of knowledge; ii) intervention study design with exercise and controls, which used basically the repeated measures as a statistical method, depending on the intervention over time. The rigor in the statistical treatment of data produced in this type of study is justified when seeking accuracy and precision in the measurements (92). The sampling procedure used requires that the data analysis procedure considered in the calculation estimates the data weighting, either by the losses and / or the effect of the study design, to generate more accurate estimates of the studied phenomena (9). In this sense, it is quite obvious that the starting point is an exploration of the data, in order to verify its normality. From this first step, we determined that the most consistent was to report results and use of parametric and/or non-parametric statistical analysis, according to the nature of the data, and not taking into account the unsubstantiated premise that it is only the sample size that will determine the statistics to be used. The statistical analysis, described above, depending on its design (see

Table 2.10).

Statistical analyses						Studie	s				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
Normality (Shapiro-Wilk or Kolmogorov)			х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Mean (standard deviation)	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Median (1 st and 3 rd quartile)				х	х	х	х	х			
Correlation (Pearson or Spearman)			х	х	х	х	х	х			
Multiple regression analysis				х	х	х	х	х			
ROC analysis				х	х			х			
Collinearity (Nagelkerke R square test)				х	х	х	х	х			
Quantitative Comparison of T-student										х	х
Quantitative Comparison of ANOVA				х	х	х	х	х	x		
Qualitative comparison of Kruskal-Wallis				х	х	х	х	х			
Qualitative comparison of Chi-square				х	х	х	х	х			
Qualitative comparison of McNemar									х		
Bonferroni Post-Hoc test									x	х	х
Cochrane's Q Post-Hoc test									х		
Effect size of Eta-square									x		
Effect size of Cohens' d			х							х	х
Effect size of Phi									х		
Confidence intervals (CI:95%)				х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
Chi-square	х										
Cochran's Q	х										
Higgin I	х										
squared (I ²)	х										
Tau square tests (T ²)	х										

Table 2.10 Statistical analysis presented in each study of PhD thesis.

It is important to mention that the preliminary study 01 used the meta-analysis (MA) as the statistical treatment. MA is a statistical technique current in several areas of health research, whereby all data from all available studies of something are combined, at times regardless of the quality of the data. The method is used by researchers to get a highest amount of statistical information, at times without worrying about distortion of the results (93). The standard MA treatment includes the calculation of the magnitude of effect of the differences (e.g. between treatments or time-points) or or magnitude of correlations (if applicable), using statistical tests such as tests of heterogeneity, effect size, publication bias and sub-group analysis (94). The details inherent to specific statistical procedures for all studies can be found in each article. To conduct the statistical analyzes, two programs were used: SPPS Package and R - Statistical Analysis Program. The Comprehensive Meta-Analyses Statistical Program was used to performed MA statistical treatment.

2.11.1 Cross sectional studies

The non-normality distribution observed in some study variables after the Shapiro-Wilk test statistical treatment, induced us to report them in the form of median, first and third quartiles, since this form is considered the most logical and rational by statistical specialists. However, the measures represented by their mean, standard deviation were used when the data were presented normality, as a described in each study. The comparison of the frailty subgroups according to the variables of interest for each study followed the assumption of normality. For the normal variables were used the repeated measures ANOVA or, if applicable, the non-parametric equivalent (Kruskal-Wallis test). The analysis of correlations between variables followed a similar rational. For the normal data we used the Pearson correlation analysis and for the non-normal distribution data we used the non-parametric (Sperman) equivalent test.

Regarding the use of multivariate analyses, which were a common endpoint for all cross-sectional studies, very specific assumptions were followed according to the interest for each group of variables in the different studies. Linear, multiple or logistic regression models were used, as well as some specific statistical resources for this type of analysis, based on other (empirical or statistical) assumptions, such as stepwise regression methods (which extract from the regression model those variables that don't explain much the variance of the dependent variable over the independent (i.e. studies 3,4 and 6) or, for example, the hierarchical regression model (i.e. study 4), which takes into account the assumption that 'theoretically', a given dependent variable will explain better than the other variables introduced in the model the variance on the independent variable and this way, this variable must be introduced into the model separately.

In addition, a logistic regression following the Receiver Operating Curve (ROC) as an attractive statistical solution was used in the analysis of data in studies 01, 03 and 06. ROC is a graphical plot that illustrates the diagnostic ability of the binary classifier system when its discrimination threshold is varied. The type of statistical treatment is frequently used in epidemiological of health to choose the most appropriate cut-off for a specific test. This type of statistics, despite being used in a permissive way in cross-sectional studies, does not indicate prediction of factors contrary to what some studies point out. The real power of prediction when using this type of analysis is in Cohort studies or longitudinal studies (95). However, ROC analysis can be used to explore cross-sectional population data and estimate some statistical outcomes trough models performance assessment.

2.11.2 Intervention studies

In the exercise-based intervention studies we also used the principle of data assumption as the first statistical procedure to be taken into account. However, the use of logarithmic conversion or conversion to z-score, was a solution to better and more clearly treat some biological data that accounted for inter- and intra-individual variability but very likely for this type of studies and above all for some variables such as functional fitness (96). This way, we were allowed to use parametric comparative statistics to analyse the effect of exercise over time (T-test or repeated ANOVA measures). In order to demonstrate the results of exercise modulation on variables of different dimensions (i.e. psychological, biological, physiological), some principles described by Batterham and Hopkins (2006) and his colleagues were followed, which make it clear that the significance value often does not indicate what is clinically or biologically relevant to understand the real impact of exercise effect (97). For this effect, measurements of the effect size were used. In addition to the ES calculation, the Delta scores, which indicate the percentage of the change, were reported so that the joint analysis of these measures of magnitude of the effect, taken together, led to a more reasonable interpretation.

2.12 References

- Teixeira AM, Ferreira JP, Hogervorst E, Braga MF, Bandelow S, Rama L, et al. Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. Frontiers in Public Health [Internet]. Frontiers; 2016 Jun 27 [cited 2016 Aug 18];4:133. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133/abstract
- Braga R. Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos. Revista Portuguesa de Medicina Geral e Familiar [Internet]. Revista Portuguesa de Medicina Geral e Familiar; 2013 [cited 2015 Nov 4];29(6):354–6. Available from: http://www.scielo.mec.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S2182-51732013000600001&Ing=pt&nrm=iso&tIng=pt
- Shephard RJ. Ethics in exercise science research. Sports medicine (Auckland, NZ) [Internet]. 2002 Jan [cited 2015 Aug 30];32(3):169–83. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11839080
- 4. Petrini C. Helsinki 50 years on. La Clinica terapeutica [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2014 Dec 21];165(4):179–81. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25203329
- González-Vaca J, de la Rica-Escuín M, Silva-Iglesias M, Arjonilla-García MD, Varela-Pérez R, Oliver-Carbonell JL, et al. Frailty in INstitutionalized older adults from ALbacete. The FINAL Study: rationale, design, methodology, prevalence and attributes. Maturitas [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jul 7];77(1):78–84. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24189222
- Bischoff HA, Stähelin HB, Monsch AU, Iversen MD, Weyh A, von Dechend M, et al. Identifying a cut-off point for normal mobility: a comparison of the timed "up and go" test in community-dwelling and institutionalised elderly women. Age and Ageing [Internet]. 2003 May [cited 2016 May 12];32(3):315–20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12720619
- Charlson M, Szatrowski TP, Peterson J, Gold J. Validation of a combined comorbidity index. Journal of clinical epidemiology [Internet]. 1994 Nov [cited 2014 Nov 10];47(11):1245–51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560
- Suresh K, Chandrashekara S. Sample size estimation and power analysis for clinical research studies. Journal of Human Reproductive Sciences [Internet]. Wolters Kluwer Medknow Publications; 2012 Jan [cited 2018 Jan 30];5(1):7. Available from:
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22870008

- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A-G, Buchner A. G*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behavior research methods [Internet]. 2007 May [cited 2015 Jan 8];39(2):175–91. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17695343
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang A-G. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behavior research methods [Internet].
 2009 Nov [cited 2014 Jul 9];41(4):1149–60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19897823
- 11. de Labra C, Guimaraes-Pinheiro C, Maseda A, Lorenzo T, Millán-Calenti JC. Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Jun 30];15:154. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26626157
- Picorelli AMA, Pereira LSM, Pereira DS, Felício D, Sherrington C. Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and personal factors: a systematic review. Journal of physiotherapy [Internet]. 2014 Sep [cited 2015 Nov 14];60(3):151–6. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1836955314000800
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology [Internet]. 2008 Apr [cited 2017 Mar 13];61(4):344–9. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0895435607004362
- 14. Des Jarlais DC, Lyles C, Crepaz N. Improving the reporting quality of nonrandomized evaluations of behavioral and public health interventions: the TREND statement. American journal of public health [Internet]. 2004 Mar [cited 2015 Dec 14];94(3):361–6. Available http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1448256&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman a B, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2001 Mar;56(3):M146-56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156

- Gonçalves B, Fagulha T, Ferreira A, Reis N. Depressive symptoms and pain complaints as predictors of later development of depression in Portuguese middle-aged women. Health care for women international [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2016 Feb 14];35(11– 12):1228–44. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24279715
- Syddall H, Cooper C, Martin F, Briggs R, Aihie Sayer A. Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? Age and ageing [Internet]. 2003 Nov [cited 2015 Feb 17];32(6):650–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14600007
- Newman AB, Haggerty CL, Kritchevsky SB, Nevitt MC, Simonsick EM. Walking performance and cardiovascular response: associations with age and morbidity--the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2003 Aug [cited 2016 Mar 4];58(8):715–20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12902529
- Pitanga CPS, Pitanga FJG, Beck CC, Gabriel RECD, Moreira MHR. Nível de atividade física para prevenção do excesso de gordura visceral em mulheres pós-menopáusicas: quanto é necessário? Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia [Internet]. ABE&M; 2012 Aug [cited 2016 Feb 16];56(6):358–63. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0004-27302012000600003&Ing=en&nrm=iso&tIng=pt
- 20. Guessous I, Luthi JC, Bowling CB, Theler JM, Paccaud F, Gaspoz JM, et al. Prevalence of frailty indicators and association with socioeconomic status in middle-aged and older adults in a swiss region with universal health insurance coverage: A population-based cross-sectional study. Journal of Aging Research. 2014;2014:8.
- 21. Fernandes D. A avaliação das aprendizagens no Sistema Educativo Português. Educação e Pesquisa [Internet]. Faculdade de Educação da Universidade de São Paulo; 2007 Dec [cited 2017 Jan 18];33(3):581–600. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1517-97022007000300013&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=pt
- 22. Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R. Anthropometric standardization reference manual. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. 1988. 177 p.
- Woo J, Yu R, Wong M, Yeung F, Wong M, Lum C. Frailty Screening in the Community Using the FRAIL Scale. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association [Internet]. 2015 May 1 [cited 2015 May 15];16(5):412–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25732832

- Ávila-Funes JA, Pina-Escudero SD, Aguilar-Navarro S, Gutierrez-Robledo LM, Ruiz-Arregui L, Amieva H. Cognitive impairment and low physical activity are the components of frailty more strongly associated with disability. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2011 Aug [cited 2015 Jul 27];15(8):683–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968865
- Furtado G, Adriana Caldo, Ana Botelho Teixeira, José Pedro Ferreira. Frailty and cognition performance in older populations: systematic review with meta-analysis [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2017 Sep 5]. p. 1. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.asp?ID=CRD42017057360
- 26. Avila-Funes JA, Amieva H, Barberger-Gateau P, Le Goff M, Raoux N, Ritchie K, et al. Cognitive impairment improves the predictive validity of the phenotype of frailty for adverse health outcomes: the three-city study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society [Internet]. 2009 Mar [cited 2015 Feb 1];57(3):453–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19245415
- 27. Kiely DK, Cupples LA, Lipsitz LA. Validation and comparison of two frailty indexes: The MOBILIZE Boston Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society [Internet]. 2009 Sep [cited 2015 Jan 28];57(9):1532–9. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2792729&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Ottenbacher KJ, Graham JE, Al Snih S, Raji M, Samper-Ternent R, Ostir G V., et al. Mexican Americans and frailty: Findings from the hispanic established populations epidemiologic studies of the elderly. American Journal of Public Health [Internet]. 2009 Apr [cited 2017 Sep 6];99(4):673–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19197079
- Yassuda MS, Lopes A, Cachioni M, Falcao DVS, Batistoni SST, Guimaraes V V, et al. Frailty criteria and cognitive performance are related: data from the FIBRA study in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet].
 2012 Jan [cited 2016 Apr 26];16(1):55–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22238002
- 30. Quan H, Li B, Couris CM, Fushimi K, Graham P, Hider P, et al. Updating and validating the Charlson comorbidity index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. American journal of epidemiology [Internet]. 2011 Mar 15 [cited 2016 Mar 21];173(6):676–82. Available from: http://aje.oxfordjournals.org/content/173/6/676.full

- 31. Santos M, Almeida A. Polimedicação no idoso. Revista de Enfermagem Referência [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2017 Feb 23];III Série(nº 2):149–62. Available from: http://www.esenfc.pt/rr/index.php?module=rr&target=publicationDetails&pesquisa=&id _artigo=2205&id_revista=9&id_edicao=34
- 32. Guigoz Y. The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA(registered trademark)) review of the literature What does it tell us? Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging [Internet]. 2006;10(6):466–85. Available from: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L4612 7189%5Cnhttp://sfx.hul.harvard.edu/sfx_local?sid=EMBASE&issn=12797707&id=doi: &atitle=The+Mini+Nutritional+Assessment+(MNA?)+review+of+the+literature+-+What+does+it+tell+us?&stitle
- 33. Viera AJ, Hinderliter AL. Validation of the HEM-780REL with easy wrap cuff for selfmeasurement of blood pressure according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol. Blood pressure monitoring [Internet]. Dove Press; 2007 [cited 2016 Aug 23];12(5):335–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17969368
- Salimetrics UK. Salimetrics: Saliva Collection, Saliva EIA kits, Saliva Testing, & Salivary Bioscience Research [Internet]. Salivary Analyts. 2017 [cited 2017 May 28]. Available from: https://www.salimetrics.com/
- 35. Papacosta E, Nassis GP. Saliva as a tool for monitoring steroid, peptide and immune markers in sport and exercise science. Journal of science and medicine in sport / Sports Medicine Australia [Internet]. 2011 Sep [cited 2014 Dec 29];14(5):424–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21474377
- Allgrove JE, Gomes E, Hough J, Gleeson M. Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men. Journal of sports sciences [Internet]. 2008 Apr [cited 2015 Nov 8];26(6):653–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18344136
- 37. Razooki Hasan H, Jamal Jabir R. Salivary and serum α-amylase activity and their correlations with oxidative stress index among different iraqi smokers groups. MOJ Addiction Medicine & erapy [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2018 Jun 23];4(1):224–30. Available from: http://medcraveonline.com

- 38. Miranda DO, Silva DAO, Fernandes JFC, Queirs MGJ, Chiba HF, Ynoue LH, et al. Serum and salivary IgE, IgA, and IgG 4 antibodies to Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus and its major allergens, der p 1 and der p 2, in allergic and nonallergic children. Clinical and Developmental Immunology [Internet]. Hindawi; 2011 Oct 5 [cited 2018 Jun 23];2011:302739. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22007250
- 39. Taylor DC, Cripps AW, Clancy RL. Measurement of lysozyme by an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. Journal of Immunological Methods [Internet]. Elsevier; 1992 Jan 1 [cited 2018 Jun 23];146(1):55–61. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/002217599290048X
- 40. Rikli RE, Jones CJ. Development and validation of criterion-referenced clinically relevant fitness standards for maintaining physical independence in later years. Gerontologist. 2013;53(2):255–67.
- F. Franchignoni1,2, L. Tesio3, M.T. Martino1 and CR. ability of four of these tests in community-dwelling healthy elderly females, and analyze their inter-correla- tions. Aging Clin Exp Res [Internet]. 1998 [cited 2018 Apr 23];10:26–31. Available from: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2FBF03339630.pdf
- Rikli, R.; Jones C. Senior Fitness Test Manual-2nd Edition [Internet]. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2013 [cited 2015 Nov 23]. Available from: http://www.humankinetics.com/products/all-products/senior-fitness-test-manual-2ndedition
- Cho BL, Scarpace D, Alexander NB. Tests of stepping as indicators of mobility, balance, and fall risk in balance-impaired older adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2004;52(7):1168–73.
- 44. Tomey KM, Sowers MR. Assessment of Physical Functioning: A Conceptual Model Encompassing Environmental Factors and Individual Compensation Strategies. Physical Therapy [Internet]. American Physical Therapy Association; 2009 Jul [cited 2016 Aug 17];89(7):705–14. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19443558
- 45. Arik G, Varan HD, Yavuz BB, Karabulut E, Kara O, Kilic MK, et al. Validation of Katz index of independence in activities of daily living in Turkish older adults. Archives of gerontology and geriatrics [Internet]. 2015 Aug 28 [cited 2015 Sep 10]; Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26328478

- Katz S, Downs TD, Cash HR, Grotz RC. Progress in development of the index of ADL. The Gerontologist [Internet]. 1970 Jan [cited 2015 Jul 20];10(1):20–30. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5420677
- Buurman BM, van Munster BC, Korevaar JC, de Haan RJ, de Rooij SE. Variability in measuring (instrumental) activities of daily living functioning and functional decline in hospitalized older medical patients: a systematic review. Journal of clinical epidemiology [Internet]. 2011 Jun [cited 2015 Aug 23];64(6):619–27. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21074969
- Wallace M, Shelkey M. Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (ADL). Urologic nursing: official journal of the American Urological Association Allied. 2007;27(1):93–4.
- Tinetti ME, Richman D, Powell L. Falls efficacy as a measure of fear of falling. Journal of gerontology [Internet]. 1990 Nov [cited 2015 Aug 15];45(6):P239-43. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2229948
- 50. Ryff CD. Psychological Well-Being Revisited: Advances in the Science and Practice of Eudaimonia. Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Apr 6];83(1):10–28. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4241300&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Fitten LJ. Psychological Frailty in the Aging Patient. Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 29];83:45–53. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26484526
- Morgado J, Rocha CS, Maruta C, Guerreiro M, Martins IP. Cut-off scores in MMSE: A moving target? European Journal of Neurology [Internet]. Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111);
 2010 May 1 [cited 2018 Apr 23];17(5):692–5. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009.02907.x
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. Journal of psychiatric research. 1975;12(3):189–98.
- 54. Mungas D. In-office mental status testing: a practical guide. Geriatrics [Internet]. 1991 Jul [cited 2014 Dec 21];46(7):54–8, 63, 66. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2060803
- 55. Eef Hogervorst, Angela Clifford, Jennifer Stock XX and SB. Exercise to Prevent

Cognitive Decline and Alzheimer's disease: For Whom, When, What, and (most importantly) How Much? Journal of Alzheimers Disease & Parkinsonism [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2014 Dec 26];2(3):1000e117. Available from: http://www.omicsonline.org/exercise-to-prevent-cognitive-decline-and-alzheimers-disease-for-whom-when-what-and-most-importantly-how-much-2161-0460.1000e117.php&&aid=7477

- 56. Chupel MU, Direito F, Furtado GE, Minuzzi LG, Pedrosa FM, Colado JC, et al. Strength training decreases inflammation and increases cognition and physical fitness in older women with cognitive impairment. Frontiers in Physiology. 2017;8(JUN).
- 57. Taylor JM. Psychometric analysis of the ten-item perceived stress scale. Psychological Assessment [Internet]. 2015 Mar [cited 2018 Mar 13];27(1):90–101. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25346996
- McKay MT, Boduszek D, Harvey SA. The rosenberg self-esteem scale: A bifactor answer to a two-factor question? Journal of Personality Assessment [Internet]. 2014 Nov 2 [cited 2018 Mar 9];96(6):654–60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24940657
- McAuley E, Elavsky S, Motl RW, Konopack JF, Hu L, Marquez DX. Physical activity, self-efficacy, and self-esteem: longitudinal relationships in older adults. The journals of gerontology Series B, Psychological sciences and social sciences [Internet]. 2005 Sep [cited 2015 May 6];60(5):P268-75. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16131621
- 60. Low G, Molzahn A, Donald Schopflocher. Attitudes to aging mediate the relationship between older peoples' subjective health and quality of life in 20 countries. Health and quality of life outcomes [Internet]. BioMed Central; 2013 Jul 30 [cited 2017 Jul 30];11(1):146. Available from: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0144686X05003454
- Andrews F, Withey S. Social Indicators of Well Being [Internet]. Boston, MA: Springer US; 1976 [cited 2016 Jun 19]. 392 p. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-4684-2253-5
- 62. Mazzeo RS. Exercise and the Older Adult. ACSM's Fit Society Page [Internet]. 2003;1–
 3. Available from: papers2://publication/uuid/23D5B7C2-01FF-4D8D-9E912AEB3639D104
- 63. Tobalina JC, Calleja-GonzÁlez J, De Santos RM, FernÁndez-López JR, Arteaga-

Ayarza A. The effect of basketball footwear on the vertical ground reaction force during the landing phase of drop jumps. Revista de Psicologia del Deporte [Internet]. 2013 Mar [cited 2018 Jun 21];22(1):179–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19204579

- 64. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee I-M, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. Medicine and science in sports and exercise [Internet]. 2011 Jul [cited 2014 Jul 10];43(7):1334–59. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21694556
- Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, Duncan PW, Judge JO, King AC, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults: Recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2007. p. 1094– 105.
- 66. Robinson KR, Leighton P, Logan P, Gordon AL, Anthony K, Harwood RH, et al. Developing the principles of chair based exercise for older people: a modified Delphi study. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 6];14(1):65. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4039312&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 67. Nikolić G. Narrow capture beat. Heart & lung : the journal of critical care [Internet]. 2004 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 17];33(3):194–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14652528
- Hars M, Herrmann FR, Gold G, Rizzoli R, Trombetti A. Effect of music-based multitask training on cognition and mood in older adults. Age and ageing [Internet]. 2014 Mar [cited 2015 Jan 17];43(2):196–200. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24212920
- 69. Furtado GE, Uba-Chupel M, Carvalho HM, Souza NR, Ferreira JP, Teixeira AM, et al. Effects of a chair-yoga exercises on stress hormone levels, daily life activities, falls and physical fitness in institutionalized older adults. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice [Internet]. Elsevier; 2016 May [cited 2016 Jun 13];0(0):144–56. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S174438811630041X
- Kevin A, Louise C, Phillipa L, John G, Tahir M. Chair based exercise in frail older people:
 A systematic review. European Geriatric Medicine [Internet]. 2011;2:S16. Available from:

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=eme d10&AN=70705320%5Cnhttp://lib.exeter.ac.uk:4556/resserv?sid=OVID:embase&id=p mid:&id=doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2011.06.003&issn=1878-7649&isbn=&volume=2&issue=&spage=S16&pages=S16&date=2011&title=European +Geriatric+Medicine&atitle=Chair+based+exercise+in+frail+older+people:+A+systema tic+review&aulast=Kevin&pid=%3Cauthor%3EKevin+A.%3C/author%3E&%3CAN%3

E70705320%3C/AN%3E

- 71. Marques M, Chupel MU, Furtado GE, Minuzzi LG, Rosado F, Pedrosa F, et al. Influence of chair-based yoga on salivary anti-microbial proteins, functional fitness, perceived stress and well-being in older women: A randomized pilot controlled trial. European Journal of Integrative Medicine. 2017;12:44–52.
- 72. Gianoudis J, Bailey CA, Ebeling PR, Nowson CA, Sanders KM, Hill K, et al. Effects of a targeted multimodal exercise program incorporating high-speed power training on falls and fracture risk factors in older adults: A community-based randomized controlled trial. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2018 Feb 6];29(1):182–91. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23775701
- Kraemer WJ, Adams K, Cafarelli E, Dudley GA, Dooly C, Feigenbaum MS, et al. Progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise. 2002;34(2):364–80.
- 74. Cadore EL, Casas-Herrero A, Zambom-Ferraresi F, Idoate F, Millor N, Gómez M, et al. Multicomponent exercises including muscle power training enhance muscle mass, power output, and functional outcomes in institutionalized frail nonagenarians. Age. 2014;36(2).
- Silva RB, Aldoradin-Cabeza H, Eslick GD, Phu S, Duque G. The Effect of Physical Exercise on Frail Older Persons: A Systematic Review. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2017 May 25]; Available from: http://www.jfrailtyaging.com/all-issues.html?article=524
- Clark M a, Medicine NAOS, Lucett S, Corn RJ. NASM Essentials of Personal Fitness Training. National Geographic. Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007. 624 p.
- 77. Giné-Garriga M, Guerra M, Pagès E, Manini TM, Jiménez R, Unnithan VB. The effect of functional circuit training on physical frailty in frail older adults: A randomized controlled trial. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity [Internet]. 2010 Oct [cited 2018 Jan 10];18(4):401–24. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20956842

- 78. Guderian B, Johnson A, Mathiowetz V. Impact of Exercise Frequency on Hand Strength of the Elderly. Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics [Internet]. 2013;31(3):268–
 79. Available from: https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=2012228225&site= ehost-live
- 79. Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, Duncan PW, Judge JO, King AC, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. Medicine and science in sports and exercise [Internet]. 2007 Aug [cited 2014 Aug 1];39(8):1435–45. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17762378
- José A, Dal Corso S. Inpatient rehabilitation improves functional capacity, peripheral muscle strength and quality of life in patients with community-acquired pneumonia: A randomised trial. Journal of Physiotherapy [Internet]. 2016 Apr [cited 2017 Jul 23];62(2):96–102. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26996093
- Colado JC, Triplett NT. Effects of a short-term resistance program using elastic bands versus weight machines for sedentary middle-aged women. Journal of strength and conditioning research / National Strength & Conditioning Association [Internet]. 2008 Sep [cited 2017 Jul 23];22(5):1441–8. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=0012427 8-200809000-00009
- Webber SC, Porter MM. Effects of ankle power training on movement time in mobilityimpaired older women. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise [Internet]. 2010
 Jul [cited 2018 Jan 31];42(7):1233–40. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20019625
- 83. Andersen LL, Andersen CH, Mortensen OS, Poulsen OM, Bjornlund IBT, Zebis MK. Muscle Activation and Perceived Loading During Rehabilitation Exercises: Comparison of Dumbbells and Elastic Resistance. Physical Therapy [Internet]. 2010 Apr 1 [cited 2018 Jan 31];90(4):538–49. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20133444
- 84. Martins WR, de Oliveira RJ, Carvalho RS, de Oliveira Damasceno V, da Silva VZM, Silva MS. Elastic resistance training to increase muscle strength in elderly: A systematic review with meta-analysis [Internet]. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2013 [cited 2018 Feb 2]. p. 8–15. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23562413
- 85. Yeun YR. Effectiveness of resistance exercise using elastic bands on flexibility and

balance among the elderly people living in the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of physical therapy science [Internet]. Society of Physical Therapy Science; 2017 Sep [cited 2018 Feb 2];29(9):1695–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28932015

- 86. Chen KM, Tseng WS, Huang HT, Li CH. Development and feasibility of a senior elastic band exercise program for aged adults: A descriptive evaluation survey. Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics [Internet]. 2013 Oct [cited 2018 Jan 31];36(8):505–12. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0161475413002029
- 87. Behm D, Colado JC. The effectiveness of resistance training using unstable surfaces and devices for rehabilitation. International journal of sports physical therapy [Internet]. 2012;7(2):226–41. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3325639&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Robertson RJ, Goss FL, Rutkowski J, Lenz B, Dixon C, Timmer J, et al. Concurrent validation of the OMNI perceived exertion scale for resistance exercise. Medicine and science in sports and exercise [Internet]. 2003 Feb [cited 2015 Jan 6];35(2):333–41. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12569225
- Gerstein N. Guiding yoga's light: lessons for yoga teachers. Human Kinetics; 2008. 235
 p.
- 90. Patel NK, Newstead AH, Ferrer RL. The effects of yoga on physical functioning and health related quality of life in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of alternative and complementary medicine (New York, NY) [Internet]. 2012 Oct [cited 2014 Dec 4];18(10):902–17. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22909385
- 91. Büssing A, Ostermann T, Lüdtke R, Michalsen A. Effects of yoga interventions on pain and pain-associated disability: a meta-analysis. The journal of pain : official journal of the American Pain Society [Internet]. 2012 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 30];13(1):1–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22178433
- 92. Sternberg SA, Bentur N, Abrams C, Spalter T, Karpati T, Lemberger J, et al. Identifying frail older people using predictive modeling. The American journal of managed care [Internet]. 2012 Oct [cited 2015 Feb 17];18(10):e392-7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23145847

- 93. Sutton AJ, Duval SJ, Tweedie RL, Abrams KR, Jones DR. Empirical assessment of effect of publication bias on meta-analyses. BMJ (Clinical research ed) [Internet]. 2000 Jun 10 [cited 2015 Jul 28];320(7249):1574–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=27401&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract
- 94. Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. BMJ (Clinical research ed) [Internet]. 1997 Sep 13 [cited 2015 Jan 2];315(7109):629–34. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2127453&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 95. Hajian-Tilaki K. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve Analysis for Medical Diagnostic Test Evaluation. Caspian journal of internal medicine [Internet]. Babol University of Medical Sciences; 2013 [cited 2016 Jul 20];4(2):627–35. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24009950
- 96. Mjm, van Uffelen JGLZ, Riphagen I, van Mechelen W, Chin A Paw MJM, van Uffelen JGLZ, et al. The Functional Effects of Physical Exercise Training in Frail Older People. Sports Medicine [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2018 Apr 29];38(9):781–93. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18712944
- 97. Batterham AM, Hopkins WG. Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes. International journal of sports physiology and performance [Internet]. 2006 Mar [cited 2014 Dec 25];1(1):50–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19114737

SECTION II

Preliminary study: systematic reviews and a pilot study of exerciseintervention

CHAPTER 3 (STUDY 1):

PHYSICAL FRAILTY AND COGNITIVE STATUS OVER-60 AGE POPULATIONS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW WITH META-ANALYSIS**

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Adriana Caldo

Taís Rieping

Edith Filaire

Eef Hogervorst

Ana Maria Teixeira

José Pedro Ferreira

^{**}Furtado GE, Caldo A, Rieping T, Filaire E, Hogervorst E, Teixeira, AM, et al. Physical Frailty and cognitive status over-60 age populations: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2018 Jul 22];78:240–8. Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167494318301377</u>; **Impact fator: 2.241.**

3.1 Abstract

The aim of this meta-analysis was to analyse the magnitude of the effect-size of the cognitive status of populations over 60 years of age, when comparing nonfrail versus pre-frail and nonfrail versus frail subgroups. A systematic review of prospective studies published from 2000 to 2017 was completed in Medline, B-on, Ebsco, Ebsco Health, Scielo, ERIC, LILACS and Sport discus databases and observational, cohort and cross-sectional studies were selected. The Mini-Mental State Examination to screening cognitive status and the Fried phenotype for assess physical frailty state was used as clinical outcomes. After applying additional search criteria, 14 manuscripts (26798 old participants) were selected from an initial universe of 1681 identified. When comparing the scores of cognitive status of the participants who were non-frail (n = 12729, 47.4%) versus pre-frail (n = 11559, 43.2%) and non-frail versus frail (n = 2452, 9.4%) subgroups, significant statistical differences were found for both comparisons (M±SD = 0.60, 95%CI: 0.50-0.62, p<0.001 and M±SD = 3.43, 95%CI: 2.26-4.60, p<0.001, respectively). It is clear that poor cognitive function is strongly closed associated with pre-frailty and frailty subgroups in older populations around the world.

Key-words: Frail older adults, geriatric assessment, mild cognitive impairment, mini-mental state exam.

3.2 Introduction

Increasing functional health status in older adults across the life has been given more attention in the last decade (WHO 2012), including both cognitive and physical functioning. Cognitive status refers to all fundamental mental skills that regulate humans' lifestyles, such as instrumental daily life activities and complex behaviours (Carlson et al. 2009). An older age has been shown to be a risk factor for early dementia and age-related cognitive decline in specific areas, such as episodic memory (Misiak et al. 2013), with a third to half of the older adults in Europe complaining of cognitive impairment (CI), a possible precursor of early dementia (Verdelho et al. 2011). Recently, studies have found that older people with lower physical function, called the Physical Frailty syndrome (PFS), were more likely to develop CI (Gray et al. 2013; Buchman & Bennett 2013). However, conversely, individuals with IC can also enter a spiral of early physical-functional decline, e.g. through engaging in less activity because they feel less secure and/or because a common co-factor (e.g. dementia pathology) driving both CI and apraxia (the inability to perform learned activities and routines) (Panza et al. 2015; Brigola et al. 2015; Ruan et al. 2015).

PF is thought to be highly prevalent in old age, particularly in those with low education and those of low socioeconomic status (Guessous et al. 2014). According to Fried's model, the phenotype of clinical PF is characterized by a critical mass of three or more "core frail components" which are: i) weight loss>10 lbs in past year, ii) weak grip strength (lowest quintile), iii) exhaustion (by self-report), iv) slow gait speed (lowest quintile) and v) low physical activity (lowest quintile) (Fried et al. 2001). Likewise, Ensrud in 2007 identified the physical frailty phenotype as having the following components: i) diminished levels of physical activity ii) unintentional weight loss, iii) self-rated fatigue, as also identified by impaired hand grip strength and low performance in gait speed (Ensrud et al. 2007). While these criteria have mainly physical components, Campbell and Bucher (1997) measured PF by incorporating specific physical and cognitive tests, comprising i) grip strength, ii) chair stand, iii) sub-maximal treadmill performance, iv) 6 min walking test, v) static Balance Test, vi) body mass index (to assess weight loss), vii) arm muscle area (to assess sarcopenia, the muscle loss associated with frailty) but also viii) Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) to assess cognitive impairment (Marshal F. Folstein et al. 1975; Campbell & Buchner 1997). However, because of its ease of application, the Fried model has been widely disseminated in several studies around the world (Theou et al. 2015). For instance, according to some criteria, mental or cognitive impairment is a crucial factor for PF and this would need to be assessed using objective instruments (Panza et al. 2015).

On the other hand, PF may also be an early indicator for possible later dementia (Gray et al. 2013). One study showed that at post-mortem, Alzheimer Disease brain pathology was associated with PF both in people with and without dementia (Buchman et al. 2013). Epidemiological studies demonstrate the interconnection between physical frailty and cognitive performance. However, longitudinal studies show this relationship and the emergence of cognitive changes, cognitive impairment and dementia to be associated with an increased risk of frailty status in older populations. Some systematic reviews have been carried out in order to clarify this association (Panza et al. 2015; Brigola et al. 2015; Ruan et al. 2015). However, a recent review of cross-sectional data used meta-analysis, comparing the means scores of MMSE among pre-frail and frail sub-groups, but omitted the non frail group data (Furtado, Guilherme Eustáquio, Teixeira, Ana Maria, Ferreira 2017). The present paper, in order to complement this systematic review with metanalysis (SM) and to clarify the magnitude of effect size in mean cognitive status investigated frail, pre frail and non frail subgroups using the Fried of Physical Frailty Protocol.

3.3 Methods

This work followed a pre-determined and published protocol available in PROSPERO 2017: number registration CRD42017057360 (Furtado, Adriana Caldo, et al. 2017). The search was conducted in English language (published or in press) in the following databases: Medline, B-on, Ebsco, Ebsco Health, Scielo, ERIC, LILACS and Sportdiscus databases, with access made between December of 2016 and July of 2017, using the advanced meta-search option in which original articles of epidemiological studies of cross-sectional, observational, cohort and population-based published between 2000-2017. Key Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) and search indexed descriptors were used to refine the data search (Huang et al. 2011): ((("frail elderly" [MeSH Terms] OR "frail" [MeSH Terms]) AND "cognition" [MeSH Terms]) OR ([mild cognitive impairment]] AND "frail older adults" [MeSH Terms]) OR "frail older adults" [MeSH Terms] AND "[mini-mental State examination or MMSE]". Studies done in the last 17 years, with samples of people over 60 years of age of both genders, who were not hospitalized samples were selected. The data source strategy included also additional terms related to indexed descriptors such as 'Fried criteria', 'Fried Phenotype of Frailty' and 'Fried Phenotype'.

3.4 Central criteria of selected studies

The search was further limited by selecting articles including the Fried's model to assess frailty status and Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) to assess cognitive status. The PF Phenotype was developed by Linda Fried and collaborators (Fried et al. 2001). After consecutive studies on older adults samples, they identified five dimensions which translated into five criteria to operationalize PFS. Weight loss was assessed by self-reporting, targeting unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months or a loss of 5% of total body weight in the three months prior to the assessment date. Self report exhaustion was evaluated by negative concordance of questions number 7 and 20 of the Centre of Epidemiologic Studies in Depression scale. Weakness was analyzed using the handgrip strength test, adjusted for gender/body mass index. Slowness was measured using the 4.6 meters walking test, which results are expressed in seconds and adjusted for gender/height. Low PA levels were assessed using the Minnesota Questionnaire - short version. The positive evaluation in one or two negative criteria classified the participants as pre-frail, in three or more as frail and as non-frail or robust, when the subject had none of the FS five criteria (Fried et al. 2001).

The MMSE is an instrument composed by 30 questions, and is able to assess the cognitive profile based on the evaluation of six areas of cognition: orientation, immediate recall, attention, calculation, delayed recall, and language (Mungas 1991; Han et al. 2014). It is a continuous score, ranging from 0 to 30 points (pts) and according to the criteria established in several studies, the following cut-off values that classify individuals (categorical scores) on cognitive profiles are: a) severe cognitive impairment (from 1 to 9 pts); b) moderate cognitive impairment (10 to 18 pts) mild cognitive impairment (19 to 24 pts), d) normal cognitive status (25 pts and above) (M F Folstein et al. 1975).

3.5 Exclusion criteria

The exclusion criteria of the present study comprised the elimination of all articles that did not meet the initial selection criteria (include both MMSE and PF), had poorly defined dimensions, did not report MSSE scores as mean and standard deviation, examination of middle-aged adults was omitted. Extended or congress abstracts, systematic reviews, book chapters, letters to editor, short surveys, study protocols, and interventional studies were also excluded.

3.6 Data Extraction

The initial search to create the present study was carried out by two independent research assistants, who were trained in SM methods. Each research assistant performed the independent-blindly search and at the end of the work, the principal research was conducted a short briefing to assess the level of agreement of the search procedures. All titles and abstracts of identified articles were screened and the full-text articles were assessed for potential inclusion by the principal investigator and any conflicts that arose were reviewed until an agreement was reached. For the final selection of the articles we included all based-population studies, according to the FS subgroups non-frail, pre-frail and frail (as a categorical variable) as well as compare the mean scores of the MMSE results (as a continuous variable), according to the aforementioned subgroups.

3.7 Quality Assessment (QA)

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Statement for the organization of this study was followed(Panic et al. 2013). PRISMA describes the four stages (identification, screening, eligibility, final selection) needed to perform the search and selection of manuscripts under a SM, and feature the graphic option to draw a flowchart (Liberati et al. 2009). At the same time, the PRISMA presents the PICOS acronym ('patient, problem or population', 'intervention', 'comparison, control or comparison', 'outcomes'), which directs the refinement of the systematic search, making the process more effective (Panic et al. 2013). In addition to this method, we chose to use the Strengthening Reporting of Observational studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) Positioning Statement, that the characterization of each assessed item has been described in detail elsewhere (Malta et al. 2010).

This method consists of a checklist comprising 22 items, which characterizes a manuscript based on the quality assessment that it presents. In this study, we used a STROBE combined model of study designs, which is specifically assesses observational, epidemiological, population-based, cross-sectional or cohort studies (Abeysena 2011). After applying the above criteria we attributed to the total score of the 22 items a value of 100%. The purpose of this procedure was not to use an established cut-off point to enter/or not enter the meta-analysis. Instead, the percentage value was used to identify studies in which low quality assessment could interfere with the results of the SM.

3.8 Statistical Analysis

The results are expressed by calculating the values of the standardized mean and standard deviation (M±SD) differences in MMSE scores when comparing the subgroups of NFvsPF and NFvsF, as well as their respective variance, confidence intervals (CI:95%), the magnitude of the effect size and levels of statistical significance, which was set at $p \le 0.05$ (Batterham & Hopkins 2006). The global M±SD of the studies included in this review were calculated based on the random effects model, including the assumption of heterogeneity of the studies and their participants. The risk of publication bias was assessed by the method of visual inspection method of the scatter plot generated by the Egger's intercept test (Egger et al. 1997). This graphic assumes a format of an 'inverted funnel plot' inserted by a midline, with analogue display of points representing the studies included in the graphical analysis (Sterne et al. 2001). Heterogeneity was measured using the Chi square, Cochran's Q, the Higgin I squared (I^2) and Tau square tests (T^2), assuming that a $T^2 > 1$ suggests presence of substantial statistical heterogeneity. In terms of I² test analysis, the percentage of the variance attributed to the heterogeneity of the study, ranges from low $(25\% < l^2 < 50\%)$ to high $(l^2 > 75\%)$ (Egger et al. 1997). If the Q test is statistically significant (set at p < 0.05) there is also evidence of heterogeneity. The SM was performed using the statistical program Comprehensive Meta-Analysis - Version 3.0 (Bax et al. 2007).

3.9 Results

3.9.1 Data search

Figure 3.1 shows the paths covered for final studies selection that were later included in the meta-analysis. The initial search identified 1681 potentially eligible papers. After excluding articles following a review of titles and abstracts, replication and others reasons, such as systematic reviews and intervention studies, 149 full-text articles were examined in the screening stage. After applying the central criteria to the studies, 56 papers were advanced for the eligibility phase. From the eligibility stage, criteria such as presentation of MMSE scores as a categorical variable and treating the physical frailty as a continuous variable, as well as studies carried out with the same database, were the most common reason for papers exclusion. In total, 20 studies were included after quality analysis and six studies were excluded (see Table 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Flow diagram of studies selection according PRISMA guidelines (Panic et al., 2013).

3.9.2 Characteristics of studies and participants

Table 3.1 shows the 14 epidemiological studies were included for data quantitative meta-analysis. From the total of 22 items, the overall mean of included studies was 92%. The Table 3.2 showed the general characteristics of all studies included. A total of 14 studies included for final data analysis have a total sample of 26798 participants which came from 11 different countries, with mean and their respective standard deviation of ages varying between 61.8 (1.4) to 87.5 (5.4) years old. Overall, the sample included 12729 (47.4%) non-frail, 11559 pre-frail (43.2%) and 2452 (9.4%) frail individuals.

Items (paper sessions)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	100%	22
1. (Abizanda <i>et al.</i> , 2013)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
2. (Alencar <i>et al.</i> , 2013)	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	86%	19
3. (Avila-Funes <i>et al.</i> , 2009)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	100%	22
4. (Furtado <i>et al.</i> , 2017)	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
5a. (Han, Lee and Kim, 2014)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	100%	22
5b. Han, Lee and Kim, 2014)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	100%	22
6. (Jacobs <i>et al.</i> , 2011)	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	91%	20
7. (Kiely <i>et al.,</i> 2009)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
8. (Robertson <i>et al.</i> , 2014)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	86%	19
9. (Samper-Ternent et al., 2008)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
11. (Al-Kuwaiti, <i>et al</i> ., 2015)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	91%	20
12. (Macuco <i>et al</i> ., 2012)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	86%	19
13. (Ottenbacher <i>et al.</i> , 2009)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	82%	18
14. (Yassuda <i>et al.</i> , 2012)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	82%	18
15. (Tay <i>et al.</i> , 2016)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	91%	20
Median of total scores																							92%	20

Table 3.1 Quality assessment scores of selected studies based on the STROBE check-list.

A total of 10 studies had samples from both genders (Han et al. 2014; Avila-Funes et al. 2009; Robertson et al. 2014; Abizanda et al. 2013; Tay et al. 2016; Yassuda et al. 2012; Ottenbacher et al. 2009; Al-Kuwaiti et al. 2015; Macuco et al. 2012; Kiely et al. 2009), but only the study carried out by Sook-Han and colleagues presented a separate analysis performed by gender (Han et al. 2014). Three studies included female participants (Furtado, Adriana Caldo, et al. 2017; Alencar et al. 2013; Samper-Ternent et al. 2008) and one study included only older men (Jacobs et al. 2011). Four types of epidemiological studies were found: Three longitudinal (Avila-Funes et al. 2009; Samper-Ternent et al. 2008; Ottenbacher et al. 2009), four cohort (Tay et al. 2016; Alencar et al. 2013; Abizanda et al. 2013; Jacobs et al. 2011), six cross-sectional (Yassuda et al. 2012; Furtado, Adriana Caldo, et al. 2017; Macuco et al. 2012; Robertson et al. 2014; Han et al. 2014; Al-Kuwaiti et al. 2015) and one observational study (Kiely et al. 2009). Study designs and full details are summarized in Table 3.2. The cognitive status measured by MMSE was assumed as the central outcome in 11 studies (Alencar et al. 2013; Han et al. 2014; Jacobs et al. 2011; Avila-Funes et al. 2009; Robertson et al. 2014; Yassuda et al. 2012; Ottenbacher et al. 2009; Al-Kuwaiti et al. 2015; Kiely et al. 2009; Macuco et al. 2012; Samper-Ternent et al. 2008) and as a co-variate in three studies (Furtado, Adriana Caldo, et al. 2017; Tay et al. 2016; Abizanda et al. 2013).

All of the included papers used a version of Fried's model and their respective five components were used to create frail sub-groups. However, the study conducted by Laura Tay and collaborators (Tay et al. 2016) did not have the three frailty subgroups and the main investigator decided to introduce it only in the statistical analyses that compared the non-frail versus frail individuals. When looking to the mean scores of cognitive performance in the PF subgroups and taking into account the cut-off values of the cognitive status by MMSE, In all studies the frail subgroup was classified as having cognitive impairment (MMSE lower 24 pts), expect for studies carried out in France (Avila-Funes et al. 2009), United States (Kiely et al. 2009) and Ireland (Robertson et al. 2014). In the pre-frail subgroup, a total of 7 studies (USA, South Korea, Brazil, Portugal, Mexico and United Arab Emirates) also presented the same cut-of values to classified participants as a cognitive impairment (Yassuda et al. 2012; Furtado, Patrício, et al. 2017; Ottenbacher et al. 2009; Alencar et al. 2013; Han et al. 2014; Al-Kuwaiti et al. 2015; Macuco et al. 2012).

Frailty Subgroups Mini-mental scores by samples distribution Frailty subgroups (100%) (M±SD) Country of Author's Study Age Samples Sex **Central outcomes** Main goal (M±SD) Method study Non-frail Frail population Pre-frail Pre-Nonn (%) frail n (%) n (%) Frail frail Physical Frailty. 1. n = 993 Albacete, Abizanza 26.61 24.92 22.31 morality, disability To analyse whether frailty implies increased M/F 79,4±6,4 168 482 Spain Cohort 286 et al. (3.23)(4.91)(5.52)and activities of risk of death and incident disability. (16.9%)(48.5%) (22.8%)(2013) daily living Evaluate associations between frailty status Physical Frailty, Belo n = 160 2. Alencar Horizonte, 24.02 21.11 17.02 cognitive status, and cognitive decline as well as the F 78,37±7,2 et al. Cohort 47 112 48 Brazil (4.03)(5.99)(5.43)hospitalization and incidence of cognitive impairment over 12-(2013) (23.7)(54.1)(23.2)death month period. n = 6030 Physical Frailty, 3. Ávila-3 cities. To determine whether adding cognitive 2738 421 2871 27.51 27.42 26.91 mortality incidence, Funes et France M/F 74,1±5,2 Longitudinal impairment to frailty improves its predictive (1.93)(1.93) (2.01) disability and al. (2009) validity for adverse health outcomes. (7) (45.4)(47.6) coanitive profile n = 4294 4a. Sook-To analyse Association between frailty and 25 cities, 26.10 24.42 21.53 Physical Frailty and Cross-Han et al. Μ 68,1±5,4 375 cognitive disorder in community people. 2200 1719 South sectional (2.93)(3.21) (5.11)cognitive abilities (2014)(40.3)(8.7) (51.2)n = 6094 4b. Sook-2593 2894 607 25 cities. Cross-23.81 21.73 18.61 Physical Frailty and To analyse association between frailty and Han et al. F 64,8±3,72 South Korea sectional (3.92)(4.54)(5.72)cognitive abilities cognitive disorder (2014) (10.1) (42.5)(47.4)n = 834 5. Jacobs To examine the association Jerusalem, 206 470 164 28.21 27.01 22.22 Physical Frailty and between frailty and cognitive impairment and et al. Israel Μ 87,5±5,4 Cohort (2.34)(2.72)(6.12) cognitive status the impact on 5-years survival (2011) (24.5)(56) (19.5) n = 760 389 295 76 Physical Frailty, Boston. To validate two established frailty indexes (51.2)(38.8)(10)27.31 25.39 falls, disability and 6. Kiely et 26.78 United States M/F 78,1±5,4 Observational and compare their ability to predict adverse al. (2008) (2.53)(2.72)(3.21) hospitalization. outcomes 20 79 -----(20.2)(79.8)

Table 3.2 Characteristics of select studies following the PICOS statement (Panic et al., 2013).

(Continuation)														
	Dublin.			_		n = 4349			28.41 (1.82)		Physical Frailty			
7. Robertson et al. (2014)	Ireland	M/F	61,8±1,4	Cross- Sectional	3115 (71.6)	1144 (26.3)	90 (2.1)	28.88 (1.52)		27.63 (2.23)	and cognitive abilities	I o explore the relationship between cognitive function and physical frailty syndrome.		
8 Samper-Ternent	Texas,				-	n = 1370	า = 1370		25.41	24 81	Physical Frailty	Examine the association between frailty status		
et al. (2008)	United States	F	75,2±5,8	Longitudinal	684 (49.9)	626 (45.7)	60 (4.4)	(2.97)	(3.22)	(3.05)	and cognitive profile	and change in cognitive function over time		
	United Arab					n = 151		= 0470	23.71 (2.64)			To determine the prevalence and correlates of frailty		
9. Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015)	Emirates, Abudabi	M/F	65,6± 6,2	Cross- Sectional	75 (46.9)	53 (33.1)	23 (14.4)	24.72 (1.52)		19.73 (3.88)	Physical Frailty			
10. Macuco et al. (2012)	São Paulo, Brazil			Cross-	-	n = 384		24 56	23.63	20.52	Physical Frailty	To examine the association between frailty and		
		M/F	72,3±5,8	Sectional	142 (36.9)	211 (54.9)	31 (8.2)	(2.77)	(3.72)	(5.54)	and cognitive status	cognitive functioning		
11. Ottenöacfter et al. (2009)	Texas, United Status					n = 777		21 71	21.87 (41.10)	19 14	Physical Frailty and cognitive performance.	We examined the prevalence of frailty and		
		M/F	74.03±6.4	Longitudinal	191 (24.5)	425 (54.6)	161 (20.9)	(3.88)		(5.63)		explored the correlates associated with disability and morbidity		
12 Vassuda et al	Sao Paulo,			Cross-		n = 384		24.66	23.68	20.50	Physical Frailty	To explore the relationship between cognitive		
(2012)	Brazil	M/F	72.3±5.8	Sectional	142 (36.9)	211 (54.9)	31 (8.2)	(3.78)	(3.76)	(5.55)	and cognitive function.	function and frailty.		
13. Furtado et al. (2017)	Coimbra, Portugal					n = 119			21.58 (4.84)		Physical Frailty	To explore the relationship between physical frailty and physical fitness		
		F	81.96±7.9	Cross- Sectional	19 (15.9)	n = 46 (38.7)	n = 54 (45.4)	23.75 (3.98)		18.11 (5.17)	and physical fitness			
14. Tay et al. (2016)	Singapore, Southeast Asia.	M/F	76.6±6.7	Cohort		n = 99		16.72 (3.76)		19.03 (5.11)	Physical Frailty and cognitive status	To examine the independent and combined effects of inflammation and endocrine dysregulation on baseline frailty status and frailty progression at one year		

3.9.3 Magnitude of effect size

Regarding the central hypothesis of this SM, we attempted to assess whether the frailty subgroups, non-frail versus pre-frail (NFvsPF) and non-frail *versus* frail (NFvsF) differed in mean and standard deviation scores for cognitive performance. The results showed that the global effects of MMSE mean and standard deviation differences were statistically significant for both NFvsPF (M±SD = 0.60, 95%CI: 0.50-0.62, p<0.001) and NFvsF (M±SD = 3.43, 95%CI: 2.26-4.60, p<0.001) comparisons (see Figure 3.2). The results of Z-values test scores showed that we may reject the null hypothesis as the frail subgroups-effect was not associated with cognitive performance) in both comparisons (NFvsPF, Z = 18.31 and NFvsF, Z = 5.73).



Figure 3.2 Descriptive statistic of each study and global results of meta-analysis. (a) Non-frail versus frail, (b) Non-frail versus pre-frail.

3.9.4 Homogeneity effects

To determine whether the observed variation fell within the interval assigned to the error of the studies sample and to test the null hypothesis according to which all the studies involved in this SM share a magnitude of common effects, the Cochran's Q test (Q) was used. If all studies share the same magnitude of effects, the expected value of Q would be equal to the degrees of freedom, i.e., the number of studies minus 1. The value obtained from Q test for both comparisons were 857.820, with 14 degree of freedom (NFvsF) and 417.520, with 13 degree of freedom (NFvsPF). In both comparisons the values were statistical significant (p <0.001) accepting the alternative hypothesis, i.e., the true magnitude of the effect varies from study to study.

The statistics of I^2 corresponded to the ratio of the real heterogeneity of the total variation of the observed effects, that is, it tells us what proportion (percentage) of the observed variance reflects the differences in the true magnitude of the effect rather than in the error of the sample(Dinnes et al. 2005). The obtained value of $I^2 = 98.368$ (NFvsF) and 96.886 (NFvsPF) which means that about 98.40% of the variance reflects the true effects. The Tau squared (T^2) values correspond to the variance of the true effect sizes among studies which were in the current SRM, 4.92 (NFvsF) and 0.54 (NFvsPF).

3.9.5 Publication Bias

To assess hypothetical publication bias, we initially performed the visual inspection of the funnel plot, suggesting low evidence for publication bias. However, we used Egger intercept test and standard deviation (SD), Confidence interval (CI):95% and degree of freedom (df) to test the null hypothesis according to which the intercept is equal to zero (see Figure 3.3). The result for NFvsF intercept comparison was 5.05 (SE = 2.96, CI:95% = -1.27-11.38, t = 1.72, df = 13 and p = 0.10) and for NFvsPF comparison the intercept comparison was 3.34 (SE = 2.05, CI:95% = -1.12-7.81, t = 1.63, df = 12 and p = 0.12). In the both comparisons the p value was not significant, indicating no strong evidence for publication bias.



Figure 3.3 Visual Funnel plot inspection associated to Egger's test. (a) Non-frail versus frail, (b) Non-frail versus pre-frail.

3.10 Discussion

3.10.1 Frailty, age and gender

Regarding PF and sex differences, the older literature points to a similar association between physical frailty and cognitive decline in both male and female older adults (Han et al. 2014). It is perhaps for this reason that many authors did not present the statistical analyses stratified for sex. However, findings in recent studies that used other PF screen tools are unanimous in revealing a higher incidence of PF in older women when compared to older men (Chang & Lin 2015; Theou et al. 2015; Theou et al. 2011). Older men (with or without cognitive decline) have physical frailty associated with a higher incidence of mortality when compared to older women and such results were corroborated in 3 studies selected for this SM (Avila-Funes et al. 2009; Abizanda et al. 2015; Jacobs et al. 2011). In the present study, similar to occurred in a previous study (Furtado, Guilherme Eustáquio, Teixeira, Ana Maria, Ferreira 2017), it was not possible to explore sex-differences, since only the study carried out in South Korea presented statistical analysis by gender (Han et al. 2014).

In fact, sex is one of the variables which influence may help us to explain the high heterogeneity found in this meta-analyses (Sterne et al. 2001; Egger et al. 1997). Frailty linked to cognitive decline is identified in the literature as having a strong relationship with advanced age, although this phenotypes may be able to manifest itself early as well. In the present SM the results showed that only studies carried out in Portugal (Furtado, Patrício, et al. 2017) (81.96±7.91) and Singapore (Tay et al. 2016) (76.6±7.03) with a higher mean age showed more cognitive decline and similar distribution in the PF subgroups. Contrariwise, the studies conducted in South Korea (Han et al. 2014) and United Arab Emirates (Al-Kuwaiti et al. 2015) presented the same frailty and cognitive characteristics but had lower mean ages for cognitive scores. Factors such as education, public policies to adopt an active and healthy lifestyle during the course of life and different eating habits from country to country may interfere and could be identified in a more in depth meta-analysis.

3.10.2 Frailty, cognition performance and assessments

PF assessment is used to identify older populations at risk for adverse aging-related health indicators (Mohler et al. 2014). Recent reviews recognized more than 25 types of frailty screening tools among which the Fried's and colleagues set is the most widely used (de Vries et al. 2011; Sieliwonczyk et al. 2014; Schwenk et al. 2014). The PF comprises five components and this screen tool has been confirmed associated with subsequent health outcomes in a succession of studies drawn from a range of diverse older populations (Brigola et al. 2015; Bouillon et al. 2013). However, Fried's model, which comprises physical frailty, had a strong interrelationship with cognitive state as assessed by MMSE (Yassuda et al. 2012; Alencar et al. 2013; Han et al. 2014; Robertson et al. 2014). As the MMSE assesses several cognitive domains, it might be useful to determine which individual experienced cognitive deficits are most significantly associated with frailty scores (Mungas 1991). However, MMSE total score (rather than isolated cognitive ability screen tools) showed to be a better predictor of physical frailty scores (Abizanda et al. 2013; Avila-Funes et al. 2009). As the Fried construct seems to be the most used protocol for assessing the frailty phenotype, MMSE is the most widely used tool for assessing cognitive status, thus increasing the level of comparability with other studies (Vella Azzopardi et al. 2018).

3.10.3 Frailty subgroups and cognitive decline

The pattern of decreased cognitive performance in the comparisons of non-frail versus pre-frail and frail subgroups was found in all studies included in this meta-analysis, except in those carried out in Singapore (Tay et al. 2016), that showed higher MMSE values, i.e. better cognitive results in the frail subgroup. In the other comparisons, the mean differences in MMSE scores were always statistical significant. The results were recently confirmed when also comparing pre-frail and non-frail subgroups (Furtado, Guilherme Eustáquio, Teixeira, Ana Maria, Ferreira 2017). Various studies have confirmed the existence of cognitive decline in pre-frail and frail subgroups. However, according to our latest review of literature, this is the first study to statistically show the magnitude of the mean differences.

The strong evidence of communal physio-pathological chains is based on the occurrence of both physical frailty and decreased cognitive function involved in the same biopsychological systems (Gale et al. 2013). Recent findings suggest a severe loss of muscle (sarcopenia) and bone (osteopenia) mass as a common nutritional impairment in this population, causing cellular and molecular damage, reducing homeostatic reserves caused by mechanisms that are regulated by complex neuronal maintenance and repair networks (Chang et al. 2016). Cognitive Frailty, as it is known today, has become of major concern for public health, as a result of the increased incidence of many types of dementia (Panza et al. 2015), since it is characterized as a phenotype that represents large expenditures to health care systems (Macklai et al. 2013).

3.10.4 Study limitations

To the best of our comprehension this is the first analyses to systematically examine the interaction between physical frailty and cognition performance in the elderly population. Despite the high methodological quality of the studies included, this work has some limitations. It was not possible to perform a gender analysis, since only one of all the studies included presented the results according to the sex of the participants. The different criteria for the evaluation of frailty phenotype adopted by some researchers did not allow us to include more studies. Our results signify the importance of implementation of public policies to develop and improve non-pharmacological treatments (i.e. physical activity plus nutritional support) when evaluating physical impairments and their associations with cognitive decline to be used as a basis for health professionals decision-making.

3.11 Conclusion

Worse of physical frailty condition improves the predictive validity of the accepted currently definition of cognitive impairment, characterize as a low score of mini-mental cognitive test. The accuracy in the evaluation of cognitive functioning may help to well-define and characterize frailty associated to cognitive decline in older persons. This would be useful in expecting aging policies needs and to provide appropriate services to encourage an active life style, aiming to large prevent the premature health decline effects in the old populations.

3.12 References

Abeysena, C., 2011. Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: New guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Journal of the College of Community Physicians of Sri Lanka*, 13(2), pp.20–22.

Abizanda, P. et al., 2015. Effects of an oral nutritional supplementation plus physical exercise intervention on the physical function, nutritional status, and quality of life in frail institutionalized older adults: The ACTIVNES study. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 16(5), p.439.e9-439.e16.

Abizanda, P. et al., 2013. Frailty and mortality, disability and mobility loss in a Spanish cohort of older adults: the FRADEA study. *Maturitas*, 74(1), pp.54–60. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23107816 [Accessed July 27, 2015].

Al-Kuwaiti, S.J., Aziz, F. & Blair, I., 2015. Frailty in Community-Dwelling Older People in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Frontiers in public health*, 3, p.248. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4630498&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed April 26, 2016].

Alencar, M.A. et al., 2013. Frailty and cognitive impairment among community-dwelling elderly. *Arquivos de neuro-psiquiatria*, 71(6), pp.362–7. Available at: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0004-282X2013000600362&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=en [Accessed February 9, 2015].

Avila-Funes, J.A. et al., 2009. Cognitive impairment improves the predictive validity of the phenotype of frailty for adverse health outcomes: the three-city study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(3), pp.453–61. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19245415 [Accessed February 1, 2015].

Batterham, A.M. & Hopkins, W.G., 2006. Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, 1(1), pp.50–7. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19114737 [Accessed December 25, 2014].

Bax, L. et al., 2007. A systematic comparison of software dedicated to meta-analysis of causal studies. *BMC medical research methodology*, 7, p.40. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2048970&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed April 27, 2016].

Bouillon, K. et al., 2013. Validating a widely used measure of frailty: are all subcomponents necessary? Evidence from the Whitehall II cohort study. *Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands)*, 35(4), pp.1457–65. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3705104&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed February 17, 2015].

Brigola, A.G. et al., 2015. Relationship between cognition and frailty in elderly: A systematic review. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 9(2), pp.110–119. Available at: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1980-57642015000200110&Ing=en&nrm=iso&tIng=en [Accessed April 26, 2016].

Buchman, A.S. et al., 2013. Association of brain pathology with the progression of frailty in older adults. *Neurology*, 80(22).

Buchman, A.S. & Bennett, D.A., 2013. Cognitive frailty. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging*, 17(9), pp.738–9. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24154644 [Accessed June 22, 2017].

Campbell, A.J. & Buchner, D.M., 1997. Unstable disability and the fluctuations of frailty. *Age* and *Ageing*, 26(4), pp.315–318. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9271296 [Accessed June 30, 2017].

Carlson, M.C. et al., 2009. Evidence for neurocognitive plasticity in at-risk older adults: the experience corps program. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical* sciences, 64(12), pp.1275–82. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2781785&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed September 17, 2014].

Chang, K.V. et al., 2016. Association Between Sarcopenia and Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 17(12), p.1164.e7-1164.e15. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1525861016304285 [Accessed May 25, 2017].

Chang, S.-F. & Lin, P.-L., 2015. Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(8), pp.1362–1374. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0020748915001066.

Dinnes, J. et al., 2005. A methodological review of how heterogeneity has been examined in systematic reviews of diagnostic test accuracy. *Health technology assessment*
(Winchester, England), 9(12), p.1–113, iii. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15774235 [Accessed May 22, 2016].

Egger, M. et al., 1997. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 315(7109), pp.629–34. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2127453&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed January 2, 2015].

Ensrud, K.E. et al., 2007. Frailty and risk of falls, fracture, and mortality in older women: The study of osteoporotic fractures. *Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(7), pp.744–751. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17634322 [Accessed June 30, 2017].

Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E. & McHugh, P.R., 1975. "MINI-MENTAL STATE." *Journal of psychiatric research*, 12, pp.189–198.

Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E. & McHugh, P.R., 1975. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 12(3), pp.189–198.

Fried, L.P. et al., 2001. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences*, 56(3), pp.M146-56. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156.

Furtado, Guilherme Eustáquio, Teixeira, Ana Maria, Ferreira, J.P., 2017. Frailty syndrome and cognition performance in older populations, part I: systematic review with metaanalysis. *Cien Saude Colet.* Available at: http://www.cienciaesaudecoletiva.com.br/artigos/fragilidade-e-desempenho-cognitivo-empopulacoes-idosas-parte-i-uma-revisao-sistematica-commetanalise/16300?id=16300&id=16300&id=16300.

Furtado, G., Adriana Caldo, et al., 2017. Frailty and cognition performance in older populations: systematic review with meta-analysis. , p.1. Available at: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.asp?ID=CRD42017057360 [Accessed September 5, 2017].

Furtado, G., Patrício, M., et al., 2017. Physical Fitness and Frailty Syndrome in Institutionalized Older Women. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 124(4), p.3151251770991. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28560893 [Accessed June 12, 2017].

Gale, C.R. et al., 2013. Inflammatory markers and incident frailty in men and women: the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands)*, 35(6), pp.2493–501. Available at:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3751755&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed February 28, 2016].

Gray, S.L. et al., 2013. Frailty and incident dementia. *Journals of Gerontology - Series* A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 68(9), pp.1083–1090.

Guessous, I. et al., 2014. Prevalence of frailty indicators and association with socioeconomic status in middle-aged and older adults in a swiss region with universal health insurance coverage: A population-based cross-sectional study. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2014, p.8.

Hamaker, M.E. et al., 2012. Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of acomprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: a systematic review. TheLancet.Oncology,13(10),pp.e437-44.Availableat:http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23026829 [Accessed January 18, 2015].

Han, E.S., Lee, Y. & Kim, J., 2014. Association of cognitive impairment with frailty in community-dwelling older adults. *International psychogeriatrics / IPA*, 26(1), pp.155–63. Available at: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S1041610213001841 [Accessed July 27, 2015].

Huang, M., Névéol, A. & Lu, Z., 2011. Recommending MeSH terms for annotating biomedical articles. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 18(5), pp.660–7. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3168302&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed May 22, 2015].

Jacobs, J.M. et al., 2011. Frailty, cognitive impairment and mortality among the oldest old. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging*, 15(8), pp.678–82. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968864 [Accessed July 27, 2015].

Kiely, D.K., Cupples, L.A. & Lipsitz, L.A., 2009. Validation and comparison of two frailty indexes: The MOBILIZE Boston Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(9), pp.1532–9. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2792729&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed January 28, 2015]. Liberati, A. et al., 2009. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *PLoS medicine*, 6(7), p.e1000100. Available at: http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100 [Accessed July 15, 2014].

Macklai, N.S. et al., 2013. Prospective association of the SHARE-operationalized frailty phenotype with adverse health outcomes: evidence from 60+ community-dwelling Europeans living in 11 countries. *BMC geriatrics*, 13(1), p.3. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3585820&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed September 24, 2014].

Macuco, C.R.M. et al., 2012. Mini-Mental State Examination performance in frail, prefrail, and non-frail community dwelling older adults in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. *International psychogeriatrics / IPA*, 24(11), pp.1725–31. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22652040 [Accessed April 26, 2016].

Malta, M. et al., 2010. Iniciativa STROBE: subsídios para a comunicação de estudos observacionais. *Revista de Saúde Pública*, 44(3), pp.559–565.

Misiak, B. et al., 2013. European studies on the prevalence of dementia in the elderly: time for a step towards a methodological consensus. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 28(12), pp.1211–21. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23450739 [Accessed December 26, 2014].

Mohler, M.J. et al., 2014. The Frailty syndrome: clinical measurements and basic underpinnings in humans and animals. *Experimental gerontology*, 54, pp.6–13. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24503059 [Accessed February 17, 2015].

Mungas, D., 1991. In-office mental status testing: a practical guide. *Geriatrics*, 46(7), pp.54–8, 63, 66. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2060803 [Accessed December 21, 2014].

Ottenbacher, K.J. et al., 2009. Mexican Americans and frailty: Findings from the hispanic established populations epidemiologic studies of the elderly. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(4), pp.673–679. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19197079 [Accessed September 6, 2017].

Panic, N. et al., 2013. Evaluation of the endorsement of the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (PRISMA) statement on the quality of published systematic review and meta-analyses. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12).

Panza, F. et al., 2015. Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological and

Neurobiological Evidence of an Age-Related Clinical Condition. *Rejuvenation Research*, 18(5), pp.389–412. Available at: http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/rej.2014.1637 [Accessed August 18, 2016].

Robertson, D.A. et al., 2014. Cognitive function in the prefrailty and frailty syndrome. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(11), pp.2118–24. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25370593 [Accessed July 27, 2015].

Ruan, Q. et al., 2015. Cognitive frailty, a novel target for the prevention of elderly dependency. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 20, pp.1–10.

Samper-Ternent, R. et al., 2008. Relationship between frailty and cognitive decline in older Mexican Americans. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 56(10), pp.1845–52. Available at:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2628807&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed July 27, 2015].

Schwenk, M. et al., 2014. Frailty and technology: a systematic review of gait analysis in those with frailty. *Gerontology*, 60(1), pp.79–89. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4017858&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed January 2, 2015].

Sieliwonczyk, E., Perkisas, S. & Vandewoude, M., 2014. Frailty indexes, screening instruments and their application in Belgian primary care. *Acta clinica Belgica*, 69(4), pp.233–9. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24773077 [Accessed February 16, 2015].

Sterne, J.A., Egger, M. & Smith, G.D., 2001. Systematic reviews in health care: Investigating and dealing with publication and other biases in meta-analysis. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 323(7304), pp.101–5. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1120714&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract [Accessed July 28, 2015].

Tay, L. et al., 2016. The independent role of inflammation in physical frailty among older adults with mild cognitive impairment and mild-to-moderate Alzheimer?s disease. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging,* 20(3), pp.288–299. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26892578 [Accessed February 28, 2016].

Teixeira, A.M. et al., 2016. Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 4, p.133. Available at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133/abstract [Accessed August 18,

2016].

Theou, O. et al., 2015. *Modifications to the frailty phenotype criteria: Systematic review* of the current literature and investigation of 262 frailty phenotypes in the survey of health, ageing, and retirement in Europe, Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1568163715000355 [Accessed March 13, 2017].

Theou, O. et al., 2011. The effectiveness of exercise interventions for the management of frailty: a systematic review. *Journal of aging research*, 2011, p.569194. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3092602&tool=pmcentrez&rendert ype=abstract.

Vella Azzopardi, R. et al., 2018. Increasing use of cognitive measures in the operational definition of frailty—A systematic review. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 43, pp.10–16. Available at: https://ac.els-cdn.com/S1568163717301009/1-s2.0-S1568163717301009-main.pdf?_tid=757a66c6-1737-11e8-8848-

00000aab0f27&acdnat=1519238944_68689ee41fa25b8ec24590d5b9afac23 [Accessed February 21, 2018].

Verdelho, A. et al., 2011. Self-perceived memory complaints predict progression to Alzheimer disease. The LADIS study. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD*, 27(3), pp.491–8. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21841255 [Accessed December 26, 2014].

de Vries, N.M. et al., 2011. Outcome instruments to measure frailty: a systematic review. *Ageing research reviews*, 10(1), pp.104–14. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20850567 [Accessed January 31, 2015].

WHO, W.H.O.R.C. for E., 2012. Strategy and action plan for healthy ageing in Europe ,world Health Organization: Regional Office for Europe,

Yassuda, M.S. et al., 2012. Frailty criteria and cognitive performance are related: data from the FIBRA study in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging*, 16(1), pp.55–61. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22238002 [Accessed April 26, 2016].

CHAPTER 4 (STUDY 2):

EXERCISE-BASED INTERVENTIONS AS A CO-ADJUVANT TREATMENT OF FRAILTY SYNDROME IN OLDER ADULTS: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF REVIEWS

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Rubens Letieri

Adriana Caldo

Maryam Farhang

Eef Hogervrost

Ana Maria Teixeira

José Pedro Ferreira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018.

4.1 Abstract

Background: Regular exercise has been shown to have positive effects on several factors related to FS (e.g. improve immunity, cognitive abilities, improve psychosocial domains), because of its potential effect of biopsychological outcomes modulation Goals: To combine considerable information concerning the benefit of exercise through a systematic review of existing systematic reviews on the frailty status exercise scientific literature. Methods: the RS followed a pre-determined and published protocol available in PROSPERO 2018. The search was conducted in English language, in the following Ebsco, Ebsco Health, Scielo, ERIC, LILACS, Medline (PubMed), Web of science and SportDiscus data bases. The entry was made between the months of December 2017 and February 2018, using the advanced meta-search option, aiming to detecting existing SR and metanalysis of exercise-based intervention published between 2000-2017. The terms of 'physical exercise', elderly-frail and systematic review (and analogues) were used. The strength of evidence of each article was assessed and the respective score atrabuted, trough the AMSTAR-2 (A MeaSurement Tool to Assess Systematic Reviews) A narrative and descriptive findings are reported. Results: In total, 19 studies were including after quality synthesis analisys. The quality of evidence was completed according AMSTAR-2 checklist revealed a mean (standard deviation) score of 11,2 (±2,3) with a range of 8-16 points, suggests moderate quality of the systematic reviews. In general, findings demonstrate an overall positive benefit of long term multicomponent exercise-based intervention in the attenuation and reversing frailty status and have a substantial impact in their correlates outcomes, especially in the physical-functioning status. Conclusions: A trend towards better results in old participants classified as pre or moderate frail, and who underwent programs lasting more than 22 weeks, with an average weekly frequency of 2-3 times a week and with session time exceeding 45 minutes was found. For other forms of exercise, the evidence is inconclusive due to the low number of studies. Despite some limitations, more high-quality studies that use metanalysis statistical treatment are needed to clary the real effect on the specific group of variables.

Key-words: Exercise, Frail older adults, systematic reviews

4.2 Introduction

According studies in recent years, in the last year's exercise-based interventions have been considered a preferable alternative for treating condition of frailty (1). Frailty syndrome is a complex ageing expression determined by ontogenetic and phylogenetic factors (2). Chronic stress has been shown to have immuno-suppressive effects that accelerate immunosenescence and cause cumulative disorders in many physiological systems, resulting in the frailty state (3). Environmental factors such as malnutrition and negative psychological adjustment events across life also contribute to manifesting frailty earlier (4). Several forms of manifestation and classifications frailty exist (5). Fried et al. (2001) have developed a construct whose bases are sarcopenia, negative energy balance and inactivity, called physical frailty (PF) status (6). Recently some studies have identified that cognitive of frailty, for example, may be separated into subtypes distinct physical frailty (PF) (7). This implies that cognitive frailty syndrome, a novel age-related concept (8), is a form of pathological brain-aging and a precursor to neurodegenerative processes, that is characterized by concurrent PF and potentially reversible cognitive impairment (1).

Despite the different subtypes of frailty, there is a consensus that sedentary life style proves to be a powerful condition linked to PF (9). Regular exercise has been shown to have positive effects to several factors related to PF (e.g. improved immunity, cognitive abilities and psychosocial indicators), because its potential effect in the modulation of biopsychosocial indicators (10). For this reason, a large number of the intervention studies with exercise in old individuals, opted to investigate variables of physical, biological and behavior factors (11). This factors share commonalities that can be explained by studying the simultaneous exercise modulation effect on some of these variables (12).

Evidence shows that immunological and hormonal parameters are able to mediate the effects of exercise on mucosal immunity, psychological stress, cognitive improvement and risk of dementia in elderly who are regularly active (13). In fact, regular exercise may provide an effective strategy in the treatment and prevention of associated disorders owing to its antiinflammatory benefits (14). Regular exercise has also been shown to diminish the level of stress and anxiety and the risk of psychological diseases and emotional decline in the elderly (15). Currently, there is conflicting evidence concerning the efficacy and practicality of different types of exercises interventions to decrease PF. For this reason, some review articles written in the last decade, aimed at presented a robust evidence that supporting the use of exercise as a coadjutant treatment to reverse the frailty status (16–18). In this sense, the current research was designed to summarize the recent robust evidence and analyzing the impact of regular exercise in the decrease of the several factors associated with frailty. We started from the premise that there were already some revisions made of great quality, this systematic review (SR) of previous systematic reviews articles (SRofR) updates the previuos one and offers a more open view of the best 'state of the art' on this topic.

4.3 Methods

The method used to perform this systematic review study protocol was based on the Cochrane approach, organized by Smith and colleagues (19). This approach is suggested to appraises and summarizes research findings from separate papers of SR papers to discuss the different results to help provide clinical decision makers with relevant scientific evidence. Sources and searching, review selection, quality assessment, presentation of results and implications of practice research are the recommended foci for conducting this type of study.

4.3.1 Data sources

This work followed a pre-determined and published protocol available in PROSPERO 2018, number registration CRD42018088782 (20). The search was conducted in English language in the following data bases: Ebsco, Ebsco Health, Scielo, ERIC, LILACS, Medline (PubMed), Web of science and SportDiscus, though the University of Coimbra on line remote control access (21). The entry was made between the months of December 2017 and February 2018, using the advanced meta-search option, aiming at detecting existing SR and metanalysis of exercise-based interventions published between 2000-2017.

4.3.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Generally, the following two inclusion criteria were taken into account for further evaluation and selection of a paper: a) a paper a defined as a SR and/or SR following metanalysis; b) the use of any systematic regular physical exercise or analogous coadjutant treatment interventions (i.e. tai-chi), aimed at treating frailty or modulating overall frailty correlated outcomes; RS papers that included randomized controlled trials (RCT) or non RCT-type studies; Exclusion criteria included: a) withdrawal of comprehensive, scoping and literature review type paper where the authors do not presented a discussion in the narrative way b) withdrawal of papers where the coadjutant treatment does not fit into the concept of physical exercise or where no therapeutic exercise was adopted.

4.3.3 Main search criteria

The search was developed taking into account the PICOS approach (22). Participants included frail male and female adults aged 65 years and older, classified according to the standardized methods for evaluating frailty with criteria accepted by the scientific specialists (23). Intervention include any types of systematic physical exercise, comprising aerobic, resistance and strength-muscle, yoga, Pilates, flexibility/balance and other similar types, therapeutic exercise, chair-based, combined, and multicomponent exercises programs. Comparison largely addressed supervised or unsupervised exercise interventions, experiments with or without control group, comparison of different exercise programs with randomized and non-randomized trials design. The duration, frequency and adherence to the exercise could be varied. Outcomes included physical, functional and mental health changes, such as musculoskeletal, body composition and cardiometabolic functions. They also included improvement in physical fitness and frailty outcomes measures; improvments in psychosocial, psychological wellbeing and quality of life domains. The exercise-based interventions also tested the impact of neurocognitive functions and specific cognitive abilities. Blood count and saliva samples were analyzed for alterations in stress and sex steroids hormones, cytokines, neuroendocrine, immune, pro- and anti-inflammatory biochemical makers.

4.3.4 Search strategy

The strategy was developed by a first author in discussion with the reviewer specialist and author's research team. Firstly, a meeting was held with three exercise experts aiming to define the key search terms. Secondly, the data extraction was carried out by two independent exercise specialists, who communicated only in the initial phase of refinement of the search methods. It was recommended to the first author to exclude the articles by reading the title, abstract and finally, reading the manuscript in its integral form, in this order. At the end of the searches, a concordance analysis of the two searches was performed by the first author and reported as a percentage. The Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) indexed descriptors were used to refine the data search and Table 4.1 summarizes the key-terms were used (24). Additionally, analogues terms of eligible primary terms were identified and used according to decision of the members of research specialist in physical exercise.
 Table 4.1 Summary of adopted descriptors for meta-data search.

Physical exercise ...OR exercise or exercise training OR exercise therapy OR aerobic exercise or aerobic training OR circuit-based exercises OR circuit training OR muscle strength exercises OR muscle strength training or resistance training OR Weight-Lifting exercise program OR muscle stretching exercises OR balance exercises OR flexibility exercises OR multimodal exercise OR multicomponent exercise or combined exercise OR physical activity OR physical fitness programs. AND Frail Elderly

...OR frail elders OR frail older adults OR frail older populations OR frailty syndrome OR frailty phenotype OR physical frailty OR frailty outcomes OR frailty status OR frailty state.

AND

Systematic review

... OR review OR metanalysis.

4.3.5 Quality of evidence Assessment (QEA)

The strength of evidence of each article was assessed trough the AMSTAR-2 (**A M**ea**S**urement **T**ool to **A**ssess **S**ystematic **R**eviews). AMSTAR-2 is a validated instrument that assesses the attributes of the best available evidence in systematic reviews (19). Based on online calculator, queries the papers estimating 16 items and attributing a final result classification based on quantitative (0 to 16 points) and qualitative (low, moderate and high quality) approaches. According to relevance that require insight on the quality of the SR methodology, AMSTAR-2 helps to minimized errors and bias checklist (25). Each paper included in the eligibility phase was assessed using this tool (for more details see: <u>https://amstar.ca/Amstar Checklist.php</u>).

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Data search

The initial search recognized 753 potentially eligible papers in the identification stage, however, 726 were excluded after reading titles and abstracts, and identifying replications. A total of 27 full-text articles were examined in the screening stage. After reading the article completely, 21 papers advanced for the eligibility stage (see Figure 4.1). In total, 19 studies were including after quality synthesis stage. The QEA realized according AMSTAR-2 checklist revealed a mean (\pm standard deviation) score of 11.2 \pm 2.3 with a range of 8-16 points (see Table 4.2). A total of 3 studies was obtained high scores (strong evidence), varying between 14 to 16 points (26–28) and one study presented a poor score, classified as a critical evidence (29). Descriptive findings are provided because pooled effects were not calculated.



Figure 4.1 Flow diagram of studies selection according PRISMA guidelines (30).

4.4.2 General characteristics of SR studies

As can be seen in Table 4.3, in general, all the authors included only RCT-type studies in their respective SR articles. Overall, out of 18 studies, 4 articles performed metanalysis (16,26–28), 13 studies did not advance to any statistical treatment, chosing the narrative way using qualitative and categorical results presentation (29,31–42), and one article chose to use an alternative statistical comparison treatment for calculating the degree of exercise effect eviendence (pre- and post-exercise) measuring Cohens' d effect size (43). The number of articles included in all papers ranged from 4 to 47 papers. However, these numbers are relative and not absolute, because when analysing all the articles included in the presented SRofR, we found that there were several studies that were in more than one revision. The number of data bases assessed, the form of data access and the date range for the articles search is quite varied, but it does not appear to be directly proportional to the number of articles included in each review. A total of six studies presented an open date search not delimiting an initial date of interval, only defining the final year (26,28,33,36,39,42). The remaining authors closed the date of the search in a range that includes approximately 10-15 years. Observing all included SR, the number of participants varied between 9 to 1338. But these numbers are relative, for the same reasons we mentioned above. The study variable included in each SR study was depend on the interest of the respective authors and the main goals of studies. Analysing each SR, it was very clear that the option of performing a SR following meta-analysis (SRM) or just a SR also interferes with the selection of variables. The option of running a SRM, for example, requires the select of a limited number of variables since the authors interest is to present a solid evidence (16,26–28), while the objectives of SR, in generally, is to presented the topic of interest with several correlated sub-themes (29,31,32,34,37,40,41); or offered a large comprehensive review on the main theme (27,33,38,42). Despite the particular objectives of different authors, the variables included in each SR study can be classified into the following categories, current is called by gerontology and gerontology specialists as frailty correlated dimensions (44–46):

i) Psychosocial determinants: cognitive status, mood states, depression, quality of life, social engagement and caregiver burden;

ii) health determinants: vitality, perceived health status, self-reported pain, tendinitis, admission to hospital or long care;

iii) physical-functional fitness and physical frailty status: gait speed, upper and lower muscle strength, endurance capacity, upper and lower flexibility; aerobic resistance; levels of physical activity.

iv) motor skills: static and dynamic balance, coordinator, reaction time, mobility and neurological tests;

v) Physical functioning (related to disability): independent and instrumental activities of daily life, falls incidence, risk of falls and fear of falling;

vi) Body composition and anthropometry: nutritional status (ratio of calories intake), changes in body weight and composition; circumferences and BMI;

vii) biochemical makers: inflammatory cytokines, blood counts, bone and muscle damage biomarkers and insulin resistance indicators;



Figure 4.2 Categorization of the variables emerged from the 18 systematic reviews studies.

4.4.3 Scope of studies and participants

Overall, all SR studies used physical-functional fitness, physical frailty and/or motor skills as the first outcome, that included the physical frailty outcomes, which was in agreement with the central objectives of each SR. Almost all reviews included in their studies measures of indirect functional physical function using questionnaires and psychometric scales. Only 3 authors were included in their reviews studies with biochemical makers as a central indicator, especially variables of pro and anti-inflammatory system and insulin resistance (29,33,42). The study participants' ages included in each review range from 60 to 90 years of age. However, a specific group of studies have samples older than 70 years (28,31–35,40,47). In all studies, male and female old frail and pre-frail participants were included, only one study included pre-frail participants (27). Even though in all SR the authors labelled their participants as frail status, the frailty assessment used in the studies cited in each review were substantially varied. However, all the authors assumed that they included studies whose measures can be classified as valid (as in the case of the protocol of Fried, Tinetti or the Edmonton Frailty Scale) or non-standard measures, such as the ability to climb stairs, activities of daily life and falls risk scales, physical fitness tests and others (Table 4.3)

Table 4.2 Summar	y table of general	scope of systematic	reviews studies.
------------------	--------------------	---------------------	------------------

Author's study	Review Characteristics	Methods of studies included	Search Strategy	Studies included	Total of participants (range)	Main results
1. Chin et al. (2008)	A systematic review (without metanalysis) exercise interventions to generated impact on physical functioning outcomes	RCTs studies	PubMed, EMBASE, EMtree (via EMBASE.COM) (in and CENTRAL (in the Cochrane Library) data bases were searched between 1995 and 2007 in English language	20	20 to 551	This systematic review suggests that older adults with different levels of abilities can improve their functional performance by regular exercise training.
2. Theou et al., (2011)	An comprehensive systematic review of exercise interventions for frail older people, that examines how frailty is assessed and does not focus only on one specific outcome measure	RCTs studies	Medline, Embase, Psycinfo (Scholars Portal), Cinahl (OVID & EBSCO; 1982-), Scopus, Ageline, Eric (ProQuest), and SportDiscus (EBSCO) data bases, were searched up to February 1, 2009 in English language	47	13 to 188	Multicomponent training program interventions, of long duration (≥5months), performed 3x per week, for 30–45 minutes per session, generally had superior outcomes than other exercise programs
3.Weening- Dijksterhuis et al., (2011)	A systematic review (without metanalysis) aimed to test the power effect size of interventions studies with several types of planned exercise	RCTs studies	Medline, PubMed, Cochrane, and CINAHL data bases, using MESH terms data bases in English language, published between and published between 1955- 2008.	27	20 to 981	The conclusion is that there is firm evidence for training effects on physical fitness, functional performance, activity of daily living performance, and quality-of-life.
4. Cadore et al., (2013)	The systematic review (without metanalysis) was focus on supervised exercise programs that improved muscle strength, balance, and gait ability and decreased the risk of falls.	RCTs studies	Scielo, Science Citation Index, Medline, Scopus, Sport Discus, and Science Direct data bases data bases in English language and published between 1990-2012.	20	9 to 684	The multi-component exercise composed by strength, endurance and balance training seems to be the best strategy to improve rate of falls, gait ability, balance, and strength performance in physically frail older adults
5. Clegg et al. (2012)	The systematic review following metanalysis on specific primary and secondary outcomes previously selected.	RCTs and cluster RCTs studies	AMED, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, EMBASE, PSYCHINFO and PedRO data bases in English language, published between 1950-2010.	6	94 to 243	Home-based exercise interventions may improve disability in older people with moderate, but not severe frailty status. Home- based exercises are a potentially simple, safe and widely applicable intervention to prevent dependency decline for frail older people.
6. Bibas et al. (2014)	The systematic review (without metanalysis) was focus on Randomized clinical trials that tested one or more therapeutic interventions in a population of frail older adults	RCTs studies	PubMed, using Mesh and Tiab terms data base, was searched in English language, up to 2014.	38	17 to 1665	Exercise training interventions succeeded in improving PPTs, although it regress to the pre-intervention state once exercise discontinued. Home-based exercises were safe/effective and appeared to help counteract the regression. Moderate-intensity programs achieved superior results for muscle mass and function. Individuals with moderate frailty derived greater benefits.
7. Nash (2012)	The systematic review (without metanalysis) was focused on Randomized controlled trials reporting physical outcomes in frail older people	RCTs studies	Medline, Embase, AMED, PEDro, The Cochrane Library, British Nursing Index and PsychINFO between 1995 and 2010.	13	30 to 682	Exercise and some physical activity programmers, particularly moderate intensity and multi-component, are safe and can improve strength and function in the majority of frail, except highly frail with multiple comorbidities. Limited evidence on transferability of improvements into everyday life, and sustainability could not be determined.

8. Gine-Garrida et al (2014)	Systematic review following metanalysis to determine the efficacy of exercise-based interventions on improving performance- based measures of physical function and markers of physical frailty in frail older people.	RCTs studies	MEDLINE, The Cochrane Library, PEDro, and CINAHL, up to April 2013.	19	21 to 138	Exercise has some benefits in frail older people, although uncertainty still exists with regard to which exercise characteristics (type, frequency, duration) are most effective.
9. Daniels et al (2008)	Systematic review to assess the content, the methodological quality and the effectiveness of intervention studies for the prevention of disability in physically frail elderly.	RCTs studies	PubMed, the Cochrane (CENTRAL), CINAHL, and hand-searching, in English, Dutch and German up to 2007.	10	46 to 188	There is an indication that relatively long- lasting and high-intensive multicomponente exercise programs have a positive effect on ADL and IADL disability for moderate physically frail elders.
10. Chou et al (2012)	Systematic review following metanalysis to determine the effect of exercise on the physical function, activities of daily living (ADLs), and quality of life (QOL) of the frail older adults.	RCTs studies	PubMed, MEDLINE, EMBASE, the Chinese Electronic Periodical Service, CINAHL, and the Cochrane Library, between 2001 and 2010.	8	30 to 311	Exercise is beneficial to increase gait speed, improve balance, and improve performance in ADLs in the frail older adults.
11. Liberman et al (2017)	Systematic review to report the most recent literature regarding the effects of physical exercise on muscle strength, body composition, physical functioning and inflammation in older adults	RCTs and CCTs studies	PubMed and Web of Science in 2015 or 2016 in English.	34	19 to 127	Exercise has moderate-to-large effects on muscle strength, body composition, physical functioning and inflammation in older adults. Future studies should focus on the influence of specific exercise modalities and target the frail population more.
12. Dedeyne et al (2017)	A systematic review aimed to determine the effect of multi-domain compared to mono-domain interventions on frailty status and score, cognition, muscle mass, strength and power, functional and social outcomes in (pre)frail elderly (65 years).	RCTs studies	PubMed, EMBASE, CINAHL, PEDro, CENTRAL, Cochrane Central, and by citation search, author search, and reference lists up to 2016, in English, Dutch, French, or German	12	31 to 246	Overall, multi-domain interventions tended to be more effective than mono-domain interventions on frailty status or score, muscle mass and strength, and physical functioning. Results were inconclusive for cognitive, functional, and social outcomes. Physical exercise seems to play an essential role in the multi-domain intervention, whereby additional interventions can lead to further improvement
13. Arantes et al (2009)	A systematic review of the literature on physical therapy interventions and their effect on frail community-dwelling elders	CTs, CCTs, RCTs studies	Medline, Embase, PEDro, SciELO, LILACS and Cochrane Library until June 2008	15	11 to 243	There is little evidence of the effect of physical therapy intervention on frail community- dwelling elders; thus, it is not possible to reach a consensus or conclusion on the effectiveness of the therapeutic regimens proposed for this complex syndrome.
14. Frost et al (2017)	A systematic review following metanalysis aimed to synthesize randomized controlled trials evaluating home and community- based health promotion interventions for older people with mild/pre-frailty	RCTs and crossover studies	MEDLINE, MEDLINE, EMBASE, Scopus, Social Science Citation Index, Science Citation Index Expanded, Cochrane, Cochrane Central, Cochrane Effective Practice and Organization, NHS Health Economic Evaluation Database, Cochrane Methodology Register, Cochrane Groups, Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects, PsycINFO; Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature, Evidence for Policy and Practice Information Centre Register of Health Promotion and Public Health Research (Bibliomap), Sociological	7	18 to 103	Interventions of exercise in groups showed mixed effects on functioning (no effects on self-reported functioning); positive effects on performance-based functioning.

			Abstracts, Social Care Online, and Applied Social Sciences Index and Abstracts, between 1990 and 2016, in English.			
15. Lopez et al (2017)	A systematic review of the effect of resistance training (RT) alone or combined with multimodal exercise intervention on muscle hypertrophy, maximal strength, power output, functional performance, and falls incidence in physically frail elderly	RCTs studies	MEDLINE, Cochrane CENTRAL, PEDro, and SportDiscus from 2005 to January 2017.	16	24 to 616	Frequency of 1–6 sessions per week, training volume of 1–3 sets of 6–15 repetitions and intensity of 30–70%1-RM promoted significant enhancements on muscle strength, muscle power, and functional outcomes. Therefore, we suggest that supervised and controlled RT represents an effective intervention in frailty treatment.
16. Schechtman and Ory (2001)	This article uses covariate-adjusted preplanned meta-analyses of the effect of exercise on quality of life (QOL) outcomes.	RCTs studies	All medical data base provided by Cooperative Studies of Intervention Techniques - Washington University in St. Louis	4*	100 to 1323	Results indicate that exercise produced a small but significant improvement in the emotional health component of QOL, trended toward an improved social component, and did not effect perceptions of general health; exercise-related joint and muscle stresses did not increase bodily pain; and QOL improvements were independent of changes in physical functioning.
17. De Labra et al (2015)	A systematic review to examine the exercise interventions to manage frailty in older people	RCTs studies	PubMed, Web of Science, and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials from 2003 to 2015, in English.	9	24 to 243	Results suggested that frail older adults seemed to benefit from exercise interventions, although the optimal program remains unclear. More studies of this topic and with frail populations are needed to select the most favorable exercise program
18. Apostolo et al (2017)	A systematic review to summarize the best available evidence regarding the effectiveness of interventions for preventing frailty progression in older adults	RCTs studies	CINAHL, MEDLINE, Scopus, Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials and SciELO. ProQuest Theses and Dissertations, Open-Grey, Banco de teses da CAPES (<u>www.capes.gov.br</u>) and Dissertation Abstracts Online (e-Thos), in English, Portuguese, Spanish, Italian and Dutch, from January 2001 to November 2015.	21	24 to 1338	Mixed results regarding the effectiveness, however, there is clear evidence on the usefulness of such interventions in carefully chosen evidence-based circumstances, both for frailty itself and for secondary outcomes, supporting clinical investment of resources in frailty intervention.

Notes: * The data was extracted from data base of 4 sites (cities), that managing a public health based community exercise intervention.

4.4.4 Exercise interventions characteristics and outcomes

In general, findings demonstrate an overall positive benefit of exercise-based interventions in the attenuation and (or) reverse of frailty, and have a substantial impact in their correlates outcomes. Considering all the interventions found in the different systematic review studies, we can attribute two classifications that are based on the following approaches according to: i) the place where the exercise interventions were carried out (community centres, gym centres, naturalistic style, home based and aquatic exercises programs); ii) use (or not) of some integrated technologies or advices for mediating exercise programs (e.g. Wiifit, assistance device and tele-monitoring and vibration platform); iii) exercise-type associated to physical fitness component, single-component (e.g. flexibility, balance, coordination, muscle strength, aerobic walking or cycling) or multicomponent (e.g. aerobic plus strength, balance, aerobic and strength, repetitive performance of ADL tasks, reaction time plus resistance, functional training and environment adaption exercises. There is a type of exercises, which in a more contemporary way, can be called body and mind activities (e.g. Pilates, Tai-chi and Yoga). A large part of these interventions take the form of exercise group class, except the category that used integrated technologies.

There was significant variability regarding duration, frequency, type and intensity of commonly prescribed exercise programs. A general trend toward improved outcomes was noted when exercise was conducted in a moderate-supervised multicomponent (composed by strength, endurance and balance) exercise-type intervention (32–35,37,40). The SR comprised in this review also show a trend towards better results in old participants classified as pre or moderate frail, and who underwent programs lasting more than 22 weeks, with average weekly frequency of 2-3 times a week and with session time exceeding 45 minutes (31,33–35,37,38,40).

Some SR reported that many of the studies examined failed to meet the designation of physical exercise, whereas others reported well-defined, if disparate, exercise parameters. One study, for example, was not very clear when including studies that used exercise and physical therapy treatment, abruptly increasing the risk of bias in interpreting findings, which is already great, since the variability of interventions is considerable (39). Systematic reviews that included studies using some form of integrated technology considered the modulating effect of physical exercise when using this resource (27,39,42).

Author (year)	Main goals	Characteristics of participants	Type of intervention	Frail criteria	Comparison	Variables	Evidence quality (total score)
1. Paw et al. (2008)	To analyse the systematic physical exercise modulation- effect on physical performance	Male and female with a variable degree of frailty status participants, age range from 77 – 88 years old living in community and health care facilities	Multi-component exercises programs (mixed strength, balance and endurance); Tai-chi and resistance training program	The author's study use the main outcomes of physical- functional fitness status to stratified older frail- population	Supervised group class exercise and group class plus home-based exercise, frequency of 2-3 times per week (one study = 4-5 times), 45 to 60 minutes of time session and time of intervention ranged from 10 weeks to 28 months.	The gait performance was used time-up and go, chair rising and stairs climbing tests; the balance performance was measured by the tandem and semi- tandem tests, Berg balance scale, one leg stand test, 10-seconds parallel and POMA tests; timed Up and Go test for gait performance;	Moderate (12 points)
2. Theou et al. (2011)	To examine the effectiveness of current exercise interventions for the management of frailty status.	Pre-frail and frail men and woman, age of 71 – 90 years old living in community, hospital and health care facilities.	Multi-component exercises and resistance training program	Only 3 studies utilized one of the validated operational definitions of frailty (Fried, and Tinetti protocol)	Supervised group class exercise, frequency of 2-3 times per week, 30 to 90 minutes of time session and 1 to 18 months of time duration	Psychosocial determinants (quality of life, cognitive functions, quality of life, ADL disability and falls). Physical health (physical activity, cardiorespiratory, muscle function, motor skills, flexibility and balance); Adverse health outcomes (body composition, biochemical, neurological and nutritional status)	Moderate (13 points)
3. Weening- Dijksterhuis et al., (2011)	To performed a state of art on exercise-training outcomes influencing functional fitness, activity of daily living, and quality- of-life	Institutionalized (living in a long-term care facilities and nursing homes) pre-frail and frail older people (age, + 70 years old.	Balance, aerobic, flexibility and strength exercises programs, combined and, functional training exercises.	The author's study use the main outcomes of physical functioning (ADL scale and physical fitness) to stratified older frail-population	Supervised group class exercise, frequency of 2-3 times per week, 45 to 60 minutes of time session and 1 to 18 months of time duration	ADL Performance, quality-of-life, operationalized as Depression, Vitality, and Perceived Health and physical fitness (endurance, balance, strength, flexibility and coordination).	Moderate (11 points)
4. Cadore et al. (2013)	To recommend training strategies that improve the functional capacity in physically frail older adults.	Pre-frail, frail and moderate-frail men and woman, age of 70 – 90 years old living in community, hospital and health care facilities.	Strength, endurance and balance training, and multi-component exercises program	11 studies classified their participants using valid protocol and 9 studies consider history of injurious falls, illness-induced functional decline and sarcopenic condition as an effective screen of frailty.	Supervised progressive group class exercise program, frequency of 1-3 times per week, 5 to 60 minutes of time session and 1 to 48 weeks of time duration.	Berg balance scale, one leg stand test, and clinical test of sensory interaction and balance) Timed Up and Go test for gait performance, the strength measurements were done using the one repetition maximum test (1RM) and isokinetic and isometric dynamometry. Data on incidence of falls	Moderate (10 points)
5. Clegg et al. (2012)	To evaluate whether home-based exercise interventions improve outcomes for frail older people.	Male and female participants with the median age was 83 years (range 78 - 88)	Home based exercise (supervised and non supervised) and a mix of home-based and group- based exercise (included if the home-based component)	Two trials used an operationalised, non- validated frailty model to select and stratify participants. Four trials did not use an operationalised frailty model but reported inclusion criteria or baseline characteristics.	Modal treatment frequency was three times per week (range 3-21 sessions per week). Treatment duration was 6 months (mean 28 weeks, range 6 weeks - 18 months).	Measures of mobility, health-related quality of life indices, self-Report questionnaire and measures of activities of daily living. Secondary outcomes measures were muscle strength, balance, depression, bone strength and adverse outcomes including falls and admission to hospital or long-term care.	Moderate (16 points)

Table 4.3 Characteristics of systematic reviews studies according the PICOS statement and quality of evidence score.

6. Bibas et al, 2014	To test one or more therapeutic interventions in a population of frail older adults	Men and women Frail and pre-frail at baseline, age over 60 years.	Exercise training, nutritional supplementation, combined exercise plus nutritional Supplementation, pharmaceutical agents, multi-dimensional programs, and home- based trial	34 studies classified their participants using valid frailty protocol and 4 studies consider inability to descend stairs, to live in residence and sarcopenic condition as an effective screen of frailty.	Dietary counselling, balanced diet, milk protein, ricotta cheese, amino acids supplementation, nurse visits, education small groups, symbiotic, estrogens, androgens, testogel, DHEA, rhGH, Supervised group class exercise and group class plus home-based exercise program, frequency of 2-5 times per week.	Timed Up and Go test for gait performance, the strength one repetition maximum test (1RM), isokinetic and isometric dynamometry, insulin resistance, inflammatory cytokines, incidence of falls, quality of life, disabilities, death or hospitalization, frailty status, change in body weight and its composition (muscle mass and fat mass) was assessed by validated methods.	Moderate (8 points)
7. Nash, 2012	To investigate the effectiveness, sustainability and adverse effects of exercise interventions on muscle strength and physical performance in frail older people.	Male and female participants with the range age of 77 – 86, and frail	Multi-component exercises programs (mixed strength, balance and endurance); adapted Tai-chi, Hydrotherapy, PRT, and ADL tasks program	All studies classified their participants using a minimum of one valid frailty protocol	Group and individual classes exercise, and group class plus home- based exercise program, frequency of 1-7 times per week, with 30-75min session/duration, and 3 -52 weeks program	Strength, flexibility, balance, TUG, walking speed, 2-min step test and PPT, mobility, health-related quality of life indices, self-Report questionnaire, FS-36 and measures of activities of daily living.	Moderate (12 points)
8. Gine- Garrida et al (2014)	To determine the efficacy of exercise- based interventions on improving performance-based measures of physical function and markers of physical frailty in frail older people.	Men and women defined as frail according to standardized criteria, age over 65 years.	Strength, endurance, balance, flexibility and stretching training, and supervised group training, home based physiotherapy, multifactorial interdisciplinary intervention, home based exercises program	All studies classified their participants using a minimum of one valid frailty protocol	Group and individual exercise, functional training, home-based exercise and physiotherapy program, frequency of 2-7 times per week, with 8- 90min session/duration, and 10 - 48 weeks program	Physical function such as mobility, gait, muscular strength, balance, endurance, and disability in ADL. Falls, incidence of fractures, tendinitis, or muscular soreness; health-related quality of life; symptoms of depression; hospitalization; and death.	Moderate (14 points)
9. Daniels et al (2008)	To assess the content, the methodological quality and the effectiveness of intervention studies for the prevention of disability in physically frail elderly	Men and women defined as frail according to standardized criteria, aged 76 to 83	Nutritional status and intervention. Exercise program, Single- Component, strength, multi-component, and both nutritional and exercise	All studies classified their participants using a minimum of one valid frailty protocol	Multicomponent exercise for 10 weeks to 18 months' duration; Home exercising independently and provided monthly phone calls. Additional support by telephone	Physical measures (e.g. weight gain, strength, mobility, oxygen uptake, physical fitness, physical activity and balance; daily life activities, disabilities, diverse frailty outcomes	Moderate (12 points)
10. Chou et al (2012)	To determine the effect of exercise on the physical function, activities of daily living (ADLs), and quality of life (QOL) of the frail older adults.	Man and Women defined as a frail participant with ages ranging from 75.3 to 86.8 years	Exercise-training single or multiple, including flexibility, low- or intensive resistance, aerobic, coordination, balance, and Tai-Chi; repetitive performance of ADLs; and task-oriented or gait train	At least one of the Adapted Fried of Physical Frailty Index, Speechley and Tinetti's criteria, and the EFS, depressed mood, , dependence on assistance in performing ADLs, fall rate, and poor nutritional status	Supervision either exercised in facilities or in communities, or home- based. 60- to 90-minute sessions, repeated daily or weekly for 3 to 12 months.	Timed Up & Go (TUG) test, gait speed, or Berg Balance Scale (BBS), performance in ADLs evaluated by the validated questionnaire or reliability inventory, and QOL evaluated by the Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short- Form Health Survey (SF-36).	Moderate (14 points)

11. Liberman et al (2017)	To report the most recent literature regarding the effects of physical exercise on muscle strength, body composition, physical functioning and inflammation in older adults.	Man and Women aged at least 65 years	Resistance training ranging (moderate to high intensity), aerobic training (cycling and walking), combined resistance training and aerobic training, other types of exercises including whole body vibration, exercise with horses, Pilates and Huber training, tai chi, soccer training and balance training	Different types of frailty screen and frailty related to sarcopenia	The participants exercised 50- to 60-minute/sessions, 2 to 5x/week for 12 to 60 weeks.	Outcome focused on biochemical makers of inflammation status, muscle strength, body composition or physical functioning	Moderate (12 points)
12. Dedeyne et al (2017)	To determine the effect of multi-domain compared to mono- domain interventions on frailty status/score, cognition, muscle mass, strength and power, functional and social outcomes in (pre)frail	Men and Women aged at least 65 years, classified as (pre)frail	Stretching exercises, to increase strength, balance. Resistance training, functional tasks, proprioception, aerobic exercises.	All participants defined as (pre)frail by an operationalized frailty definition.	The participants exercised 45- to 90-minute/sessions, 2 to 3x/week for 3 to 9 months	Primary outcomes including one or more of the following: frailty status or score, muscle mass, strength or power, physical functioning, and cognitive or social outcomes	Moderate (10 points)
13. Arantes et al (2009)	To carry out a systematic review of the literature on physical therapy interventions and their effect on frail community-dwelling elders.	Men and Women aged at least 65 years, classified as frail	7 types of interventions 1) muscle strengthening; 2) exercises for muscle strengthening, balance, coordination, flexibility, reaction time and aerobic training; 3) functional training; 4) physical therapy; 5) at-home physical therapy; 6) environment adaptation and prescription of assistive device; 7) water exercise	All studies classified their participants using a minimum of one valid frailty protocol	The participants exercised 2 to 3x/week for 10 to 27 weeks.	Muscle-strengthening, balance, coordination, flexibility, reaction time and aerobic training and water exercise.	Moderate (10 points)
14. Frost et al (2017)	To synthesize randomized controlled trials (RCTs) evaluating home and community-based health promotion interventions for older people with mild/pre- frailty	Men and Women over 65 years with mild/pre- frailty	Balance, Strength, , speed, walking, Power, Flexibility and resistance training, Wii fit and seated exercise, tele monitoring and home exercises.	Mild frailty identified through a validated frailty scale which contained an intermediate classification between frail and robust	Supervised exercises, monthly sessions, tele monitoring, and home- based exercise, frequency 2-3x/weeks, for 45 to 60minutes, for 10 to 48 weeks	Self reported functioning, performance based-physical functioning, gait speed, balance, time-up and go and muscle- strength tests.	Moderate (15 points)

15. Lopez et al (2017)	To know the effect of resistance training (RT) alone or combined with multimodal exercise intervention on muscle hypertrophy, maximal strength, power output, functional performance, and falls incidence in physically frail elderly	Men and Women over 65 years and older and defined as frail according to standardized criteria	Multimodal and Resistance training	All studies classified their participants using a minimum of one valid frailty protocol	Supervised progressive exercises, 1-6x /weeks, for 8 to 48 weeks. Resistance training increased individually, and sets varying to 1 of 8-15reps, 2 of 6-12 reps, and 3 of 8- 10reps.	Muscle mass, muscle strength, functional capacity, and falls incidence. Specifically muscle hypertrophy, maximal strength, gait speed, timed up and go (TUG) test, sit-to-stand test, Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB) scores	Moderate (12 points)
16. Schechtman and Ory (2001)	To evaluate the effect of exercise on quality of life (QOL)	Men and Women at least age 65	Resistance, balance, flexibility, and endurance exercise. Tai chi and educational session.		Supervised groups (large or small) exercise program, home exercise frequency of 1-6 times per week, 15 to 60 minutes of time session and 15 to 24 weeks of time duration.	Falls and falls-related injuries, strength, aerobic capacity, gait speed, balance, functional mobility and measures of activities of daily living, general health perception, emotional, pain, and social scales.	Critical Low Quality (10 points)
17. De Labra et al (2015)	To examine the exercise interventions to manage frailty in older people	Men and Women with a mean age of 82.5 ± 4.3 years old, defined as frail	Multicomponent, functional, walking, balance, resistance, and home exercise training.	Defined with a clear operational definition/measurement valid frailty protocol.	Exercise frequency of 1-5 times per week, 20 to 90 minutes of time session and 12 to 48 weeks of time duration. Resistance training increased individually, and sets varying to 1-2 of 6-8 reps, and 3 of 8reps	Frailty status and/or physical capacity and/or functional capacity, muscle strength, incidence of falls, balance and body composition.	Moderate (11 points)
18. Apostolo et al (2017)	To summarize the best available evidence regarding the effectiveness of interventions for preventing frailty progression in older adults	Older adults aged 65 and over, explicitly identified as pre-frail or frail	Multicomponent, functional, resistance, and home exercise training.	All studies classified their participants using a minimum of one valid protocol	Supervised groups (large or small) exercise program, home exercise frequency of 1-6 times per week, 15 to 60 minutes of time session and 15 to 24 weeks of time duration.	Cognition status, quality of life, activities of daily living, caregiver burden, functional capacity, depression and other mental health-related outcomes, self- perceived health and social engagement;	Moderate (11 points)

Two independent reviews selected studies that contained one arm of the RCT design controlling combined or multi-domain treatment (e.g. exercise plus especial diet, exercise plus hormonal therapy or cognitive training) (29,36). The author of these reviews revealed that both treatments combined with exercise had a unclear results when compared to exercise treatment alone, since the number of studies was relatively small (29,31,33,34,36). Only one review points to consistent positive results in the quality of life associated to substantial improvements on motor competence in physically frail older adults (32).

4.5 Discussion

To our knowledge, this SR of existing frailty-related, exercise-specific SR is the first of its kind to combine outcomes associated with any type of exercise-based interventions aiming to treat, attenuate or reverse frailty in older adults. Other SRofR papers regarding the exercise effect have been recently developed and served as a guideline for us to carry out this study (25,48). This type of approach in the treatment of information about the 'state of the art' already produced in the area of exercise (or any area of knowledge) on a specific topic seems to be a very attractive way of gathering information from highly explored themes (49).

The overall quality evidence of the included SR studies was moderate, limiting our ability to draw decisive conclusions about specific elements of results. However, it seems that the low scores of QEA were related to the type of SR, since the reviews articles that opted for a SRM show more solid evidence regarding the results presented (16,26-28), according AMSTAR guidelines. Notwithstanding the satisfactory results achieved by these reviews in the QEA, it is worth noting that even following the meta-analysis statistical treatment, some articles present a very small number of studies, which raises doubts as to the validity and weight of the evidence (28). The evidence presented in this review considerably supports a multitude of general health benefits from exercise on frail individuals, even though the mean value of the QAE of the studies classified as moderate. In fact, it seems to have been a characteristic of the different articles not to delimit only a specific and restricted sub-topic related to frailty, but the option for selecting several sub-themes decreases the possibility of performing a RSM (50). However, we must also take into account the main characteristic of intervention studies with exercise carried out with older populations, which, in general, take a multidimensional approach as a way to selected study variables (33). In addition, the number of RS (or comprehensive) included in our study is much higher than the number of RS with metaanalysis articles, an important factor that seems to limit a more solid conclusion.

Observing that most of the included SR considered only RCT studies, we can increase the degree of consistency of our hypothesis, that considers the benefits of regular exercise in the frail elderly. Considering the real nature of the findings and the reasonable evidence found in the SR studies, we can assume that, that the multi-component exercise seems to promote more satisfactory results. Looking at the SR studies it is noted that a classification for this type of program does not always consider its real concept. The ACSM defined multi-component exercise as exercise-type program whose main characteristics usually including musclestrength, flexibility, balance and walking and balance exercises in the same session, aim to prevent falls, improve lower muscle-strength and static-dynamic balance (51). Perhaps, for some exercise programs classified as multi-component by the different studies, the term integrated exercise program would be the most appropriate.

Among the other type of interventions, the only convincingly effective intervention to improve physical fitness performance and other global health makers were muscle-strength exercises (38). The SR looing at home-based as a exercise programs exposed that this type of exercise-mediation intervention may improve disability in older people with moderate, but not severe frailty status (26,28). These results corroborate the findings reported within the different SR studies, which identify that supervised exercise had a greater impact when compared to unsupervised programs. This may be attributed to superior attention from the health care provider and the control of the actual exercise-dose may be better in supervised settings where effort, technique, motivation and volume are better controlled, thereby enabling greater impact of exercise effects (48).

This type of SR has demonstrated the importance of long-term exercise and moderate intensity to achieve impact in a large number of global health variables on pre-frail and frail individuals. Some important concepts do not appear to be associated in different studies, such as the concept of exercise periodization and alteration of stimuli over time (in order to test different benefits), which are variables to be considered in long-term programs. This results also reveal a very important finding. Few studies included in the SR papers have tested the effects of exercise on the physical frailty independent components, especially low levels of physical activity domain, which are currently the dimensions most associated to frailty status (52). However, this SR offers important clues to understand the real impact of exercise on this type of population, as well as to important information for the elaboration of useful exercise programs that contribute to better results and help attenuate the frail condition.

4.6 Conclusion

The increasing incidence of physical frail individuals warrants a crucial need to define public health interventions that improve general health, focussed on physical fitness status. Despite some limitations, such as the exclusion of SR that contained exercise but did not cleary defined the frail status of the subjects and other revisions that included studies with others therapies associated with exercise, the general results showed that structured exercise training has a positive impact on frail older adults (especially pre-frail) and should be used for the management of frailty. The multi-component exercise program seems to be the one that have the most positive impact on this type of population. For other forms of exercise, the evidence is inconclusive due to the low number of studies and evidences. More high-quality studies that use metanalysis statistical treatment are needed to clarity the real effect on specific groups of variables.

4.7 References

- Panza F, Solfrizzi V, Barulli MR, Santamato A, Seripa D, Pilotto A, et al. Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological and Neurobiological Evidence of an Age-Related Clinical Condition. Rejuvenation Research [Internet]. 2015 Oct [cited 2016 Aug 18];18(5):389–412. Available from: http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/rej.2014.1637
- Lang P-O, Michel J-P, Zekry D. Frailty Syndrome: A Transitional State in a Dynamic Process. Gerontology [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2017 Mar 13];55(5):539–49. Available from: http://www.karger.com/doi/10.1159/000211949
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet [Internet]. 2013 Mar 2 [cited 2014 Jul 14];381(9868):752–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23395245
- Lally F, Crome P. Understanding frailty. Postgraduate medical journal [Internet]. 2007
 Jan [cited 2016 Jan 4];83(975):16–20. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2599957&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Clegg A, Rogers L, Young J. Diagnostic test accuracy of simple instruments for identifying frailty in community-dwelling older people: a systematic review. Vol. 44, Age and ageing. 2015.
- Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman a B, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2001 Mar;56(3):M146-56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156
- Kelaiditi E, Cesari M, Canevelli M, Abellan Van Kan G, Ousset P-J, Gillette-Guyonnet S, et al. Cognitive frailty: Rational and definition from an (I.A.N.A./I.A.G.G.) International Consensus Group. Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging [Internet]. 2013 Nov 14 [cited 2017 Apr 16];17(9):726–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24154642
- 8. Ruan Q, Yu Z, Chen M, Bao Z, Li J, He W. Cognitive frailty, a novel target for the prevention of elderly dependency. Vol. 20, Ageing Research Reviews. 2015. p. 1–10.

- Peterson MJ, Giuliani C, Morey MC, Pieper CF, Evenson KR, Mercer V, et al. Physical activity as a preventative factor for frailty: the health, aging, and body composition study. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2009 Jan [cited 2016 Feb 4];64(1):61–8. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2913907&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Silva RB, Aldoradin-Cabeza H, Eslick GD, Phu S, Duque G. The Effect of Physical Exercise on Frail Older Persons: A Systematic Review. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2017 May 25]; Available from: http://www.jfrailtyaging.com/all-issues.html?article=524
- Rodriguez-Larrad A, Arrieta H, Rezola C, Kortajarena M, Yanguas JJ, Iturburu M, et al. Effectiveness of a multicomponent exercise program in the attenuation of frailty in longterm nursing home residents: study protocol for a randomized clinical controlled trial. BMC Geriatrics [Internet]. 2017 Dec 23 [cited 2017 May 10];17(1):60. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28231827
- 12. Tarazona-Santabalbina FJ, Gómez-Cabrera MC, Pérez-Ros P, Martínez-Arnau FM, Cabo H, Tsaparas K, et al. A Multicomponent Exercise Intervention that Reverses Frailty and Improves Cognition, Emotion, and Social Networking in the Community-Dwelling Frail Elderly: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association [Internet]. 2016 Mar 3 [cited 2016 Mar 25];17(5):426–33. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26947059
- Guerreiro RJ, Santana I, Brás JM, Santiago B, Paiva A, Oliveira C. Peripheral inflammatory cytokines as biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Neuro-degenerative diseases [Internet]. 2007 Jan [cited 2015 Jan 7];4(6):406–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17934323
- Aguirre LE, Villareal DT. Physical Exercise as Therapy for Frailty. Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series. 2015;83:83–92.
- Chodzko-Zajko W, Schwingel a. Successful Aging: The Role of Physical Activity. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine [Internet]. 2008 Oct 27 [cited 2014 Sep 27];3(1):20–8. http://ajl.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/1559827608325456
- 16. Chou C-H, Hwang C-L, Wu Y-T. Effect of Exercise on Physical Function, Daily Living Activities, and Quality of Life in the Frail Older Adults: A Meta-Analysis. Archives of

Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2012;93(17):237–44.

- 17. Liu CKCK, Fielding RARA. Exercise as an Intervention for Frailty. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine 2011 p. 101–10.
- Anthony K, Robinson K, Logan P, Gordon AL, Harwood RH, Masud T. Chair-based exercises for frail older people: A systematic review. BioMed Research International. 2013;2013.
- Smith V, Devane D, Begley CM, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Pang T, et al. Methodology in conducting a systematic review of systematic reviews of healthcare interventions. BMC Medical Research Methodology [Internet]. 2011 Dec 3 [cited 2017 Feb 9];11(1):1–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21291558
- 20. Furtado GE, Letieri R, Caldo A, Hogervost E, Teixeira AM, Ferreira JP, et al. PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews Exercise-based interventions as a co-adjuvant treatment of frailty syndrome in older adults: a systematic review of systematic reviews. 2018 [cited 2018 Feb 16];4. Available from: http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.php?ID=CRD42018088782
- 21. b-on library. Biblioteca do Conhecimento Online [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2018 Feb 7]. p.
 1. Available from: https://www.b-on.pt/
- Huang X, Lin J, Demner-Fushman D. Evaluation of PICO as a knowledge representation for clinical questions. AMIA . Annual Symposium proceedings / AMIA Symposium AMIA Symposium [Internet]. 2006 Jan [cited 2015 Jun 2];359–63. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1839740&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

- Hamaker ME, Jonker JM, de Rooij SE, Vos AG, Smorenburg CH, van Munster BC. Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of a comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: a systematic review. The Lancet Oncology [Internet]. 2012 Oct [cited 2015 Jan 18];13(10):e437-44. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23026829
- Huang M, Névéol A, Lu Z. Recommending MeSH terms for annotating biomedical articles. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA [Internet].
 2011 Jan [cited 2015 May 22];18(5):660–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3168302&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

- Stout NL, Baima J, Swisher AK, Winters-Stone KM, Welsh J. A Systematic Review of Exercise Systematic Reviews in the Cancer Literature (2005-2017) [Internet]. Vol. 9, PM and R. 2017 [cited 2017 Oct 29]. p. S347–84. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28942909
- 26. Giné-Garriga M, Roqué-Fíguls M, Coll-Planas L, Sitjà-Rabert M, Salvà A. Physical exercise interventions for improving performance-based measures of physical function in community-dwelling, frail older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2014 Apr [cited 2018 Apr 29];95(4):753–769.e3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24291597
- Frost R, Belk C, Jovicic A, Ricciardi F, Kharicha K, Gardner B, et al. Health promotion interventions for community-dwelling older people with mild or pre-frailty: A systematic review and meta-analysis [Internet]. Vol. 17, BMC Geriatrics. 2017 [cited 2018 Apr 29].
 p. 157. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28728570
- Clegg AP, Barber SE, Young JB, Forster A, Iliffe SJ. Do home-based exercise interventions improve outcomes for frail older people? Findings from a systematic review. Reviews in clinical gerontology [Internet]. 2012 Feb [cited 2018 Apr 29];22(1):68–78. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27226701
- Bibas L, Levi M, Bendayan M, Mullie L, Forman DE, Afilalo J. Therapeutic interventions for frail elderly patients: Part I: Published randomized trials. Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases [Internet]. 2014 Sep [cited 2018 Apr 29];57(2):134–43. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25216612
- Panic N, Leoncini E, De Belvis G, Ricciardi W, Boccia S. Evaluation of the endorsement of the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (PRISMA) statement on the quality of published systematic review and meta-analyses. Vol. 8, PLoS ONE. 2013.
- Mjm, van Uffelen JGLZ, Riphagen I, van Mechelen W, Chin A Paw MJM, van Uffelen JGLZ, et al. The Functional Effects of Physical Exercise Training in Frail Older People. Sports Medicine [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2018 Apr 29];38(9):781–93. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18712944
- 32. Weening-Dijksterhuis E, de Greef MHG, Scherder EJA, Slaets JPJ, van der Schans CP. Frail Institutionalized Older Persons. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2011 Feb [cited 2018 Apr 29];90(2):156–68. Available from: https://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00002060-201102000-00009

- 33. Theou O, Stathokostas L, Roland KP, Jakobi JM, Patterson C, Vandervoort AA, et al. The effectiveness of exercise interventions for the management of frailty: a systematic review. Journal of aging research [Internet]. 2011;2011:569194. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3092602&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 34. de Labra C, Guimaraes-Pinheiro C, Maseda A, Lorenzo T, Millán-Calenti JC. Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Jun 30];15:154. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26626157
- 35. Cadore EL, Rodríguez-Mañas L, Sinclair A, Izquierdo M. Effects of different exercise interventions on risk of falls, gait ability, and balance in physically frail older adults: a systematic review. Rejuvenation research. 2013;16(2):105–14.
- Dedeyne L, Deschodt M, Verschueren S, Tournoy J, Gielen E. Effects of multi-domain interventions in (pre)frail elderly on frailty, functional, and cognitive status: A systematic review [Internet]. Vol. 12, Clinical Interventions in Aging. 2017 [cited 2018 Apr 29]. p. 873–96. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28579766
- Daniels R, van Rossum E, De Witte L, Kempen GI, Van Den Heuvel W. Interventions to prevent disability in frail community-dwelling elderly: A systematic review. BMC Health Services Research [Internet]. 2008 Dec 30 [cited 2018 Apr 29];8(1):278. Available from: http://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-8-278
- Lopez P, Pinto RS, Radaelli R, Rech A, Grazioli R, Izquierdo M, et al. Benefits of resistance training in physically frail elderly: a systematic review. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research [Internet]. 2017 Nov 29 [cited 2018 Apr 29];1–11. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29188577
- Arantes PMM, Alencar MA, Dias RC, Dias JMD, Pereira LSM. Atuação da fisioterapia na síndrome de fragilidade: revisão sistemática TT - Physical therapy treatment on frailty syndrome: systematic review. Braz J Phys Ther [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2018 Apr 29];13(5):365–75. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/rbfis/v13n5/en_aop058_09.pdf
- 40. Nash KC. The effects of exercise on strength and physical performance in frail older people: a systematic review [Internet]. Cambridge University Press; 2012 Nov 3 [cited 2018 Apr 29] p. 274–85. Available from: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0959259812000111

- Apóstolo J, Cooke R, Bobrowicz-Campos E, Santana S, Marcucci M, Cano A, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to prevent pre-frailty and frailty progression in older adults. JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports [Internet].
 2018 Jan [cited 2018 Apr 29];16(1):140–232. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29324562
- Liberman K, Forti LN, Beyer I, Bautmans I. The effects of exercise on muscle strength, body composition, physical functioning and the inflammatory profile of older adults: A systematic review. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care [Internet].
 2017 Jan [cited 2018 Apr 29];20(1):30–53. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27755209
- Schechtman KB, Ory MG. The effects of exercise on the quality of life of frail older adults: A preplanned meta-analysis of the FICSIT trials. Annals of Behavioral Medicine [Internet]. 2001 Aug [cited 2018 Apr 29];23(3):186–97. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11495219
- 44. Freitag S, Schmidt S. Psychosocial Correlates of Frailty in Older Adults. Geriatrics [Internet]. 2016 Nov 1 [cited 2017 Apr 10];1(4):26. Available from: http://www.mdpi.com/2308-3417/1/4/26
- 45. Chen S, Honda T, Chen T, Narazaki K, Haeuchi Y, Supartini A, et al. Screening for frailty phenotype with objectively-measured physical activity in a west Japanese suburban community: Evidence from the Sasaguri Genkimon Study. BMC Geriatrics. 2015;15(1).
- 46. Albala C, Lera L, Sanchez H, Angel B, Márquez C, Arroyo P, et al. Frequency of frailty and its association with cognitive status and survival in older Chileans. Clinical Interventions in Aging [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2017 Aug 4];12:995–1001. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28721027
- 47. Chou CH, Hwang CL, Wu YT. Effect of exercise on physical function, daily living activities, and quality of life in the frail older adults: A meta-analysis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation [Internet]. 2012 Feb [cited 2018 Apr 29];93(2):237–44. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22289232
- 48. Abraha I, Rimland JM, Trotta FM, Dell'Aquila G, Cruz-Jentoft A, Petrovic M, et al. Systematic review of systematic reviews of non-pharmacological interventions to treat behavioural disturbances in older patients with dementia. the SENATOR-OnTop series [Internet]. Vol. 7, BMJ Open. 2017 [cited 2017 Oct 29]. p. e012759. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28302633

- 49. Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J, et al. AMSTAR 2: A critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ (Online) [Internet]. 2017 Sep 21 [cited 2018 Apr 30];358:j4008. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28935701
- Higgins JPT, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Statistics in Medicine [Internet]. 2002 Jun 15 [cited 2017 Mar 13];21(11):1539–58. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/sim.1186
- 51. American College of Sports Medicine. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. Medicine and science in sports and exercise [Internet]. 2009 Mar [cited 2018 Jun 23];41(3):687–708. Available from: http://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00005768-200903000-00026
- 52. de Vries NM, Staal JB, Olde Rikkert MGM, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG. Evaluative frailty index for physical activity (EFIP): a reliable and valid instrument to measure changes in level of frailty. Physical therapy [Internet]. 2013 Apr [cited 2015 Feb 17];93(4):551–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23224216
- 53. Teixeira AM, Ferreira JP, Hogervorst E, Braga MF, Bandelow S, Rama L, et al. Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. Frontiers in Public Health [Internet]. 2016 Jun 27 [cited 2016 Aug 18];4:133. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133/abstract

CHAPTER 5 (STUDY 3):

EFFECTS OF A CHAIR-YOGA EXERCISES ON STRESS HORMONE LEVELS, DAILY LIFE ACTIVITIES, FALLS AND PHYSICAL FITNESS IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER ADULTS**

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Mateus Uba Chupel

Humberto Moreira Carvalho

Nelba Reis Souza

José Pedro Ferreira

Ana Maria Teixeira

^{**}Furtado GE, Uba-Chupel M, Carvalho HM, Souza NR, Ferreira JPP, Teixeira AM, et al. Effects of a chair-yoga exercises on stress hormone levels, daily life activities, falls and physical fitness in institutionalized older adults. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice [Internet]. 2016 May [cited 2016 Jun 13];0(0):144–56. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S174438811630041X; Impact factor: 1.701.

5.1 Abstract

The aim of this study was to assess the changes mediated by exercise on activities of daily life and falls (autonomy), physical fitness, salivary cortisol and alpha amylase in older adults living in social care givers centers. Methods: 35 women (83.81 ± 6.6 years old) were divided into two groups: chair-yoga exercises (CY, n=20) and control group (CG, n=15). All subjects were evaluated before and after 14-weeks of intervention. CY was involved in classes two times per week, while the GC did not participate in any exercise. Results: Fear of falling decreased in both groups, cortisol increased and alpha-amylase decreased in the CG. No significant changes occurred in physical fitness outcomes. Conclusion: Chair-yoga practice was able to maintain the PF scores and stress hormone levels, but was not able to improve the subject's perception on the ability to perform the instrumental activities of daily life.

KEY-WORDS: Older adults, yoga, exercise, physical fitness, cortisol, alpha-amylase.
5.2 Introduction

Ageing is characterized by deregulation of multiple physiological systems with deleterious effects on physical health and functional autonomy in older adults [1], [2]. Biological chronic stress has been shown to have immuno-suppressive effects and to induce a physical-frail state [3]. The gradual deterioration in the skeletal muscle system seems to be the central mechanism for decreased independency in activities of daily life (IADL) and physical fitness (PF) indicators [4]. The autonomy in the elderly can be characterized as the ability of the individual to perform IADL while demonstrating a satisfactory PF condition, without eminent risk of falling [5], [6]. Functional impairment, especially when it is generated by the consequences of falls, increases public health spending to treat patients with later sequels [7]. For this reason, recent aging-autonomy models propose an integrated approach, whose major intervention mechanics are to assesses eminent risk of falls and improve PF over time [8].

Even non injurious falls are disabling with strong associations with activity constraint, isolation, deconditioning, increased fear of falling again and depression [7]. Associated with factors such as multi-comorbidity and polypharmacy, an increased risk of falls can further increase older adult's vulnerability [9]. In this sense, to check for possible associations between hormonal parameters related to stress and psychosocial and stressful constraints seems to be a prudent direction [10], [11].

Cortisol (sCOR) is an essential hormone in the regulation of the biological stress response, but recently salivary alpha-amylase (sAA) has also emerged as a novel biomarker for evaluating stress [12]. These neuroendocrine markers play an important role in establishing the bodily reaction to stress and regulation of the autonomic function [13]. Stress responsiveness is primarily regulated by two neuroendocrine axes: the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical (HPA) and sympathetic adrenomedullary systems [14]. The HPA axis is a complex neuroendocrine stress system involved in bio-behavioral adjustments to confrontational stimuli and change [12]. Because saliva collection is a non-invasive method and for being accurate salivary biomarkers for detection of autonomic activity [15], sCOR and sAA received more attention lately in respect to their relationship with physical exercise [10]. However, results from chronic exercise on neuroendocrine modulation in the older populations are scarce [11]. In the few studies that address exercise in the elderly and biological stress, the use of diverse methodologies strip the accuracy of the inference of the results [16]. The premise that preserving an adequate state of physical independence in advanced age is related to satisfactory PF seems to be widely accepted (Fraga et al., 2011; Matta et al., 2013; Pernambuco et al., 2013).

For this reason, a physical exercise routine can be a complementary form of muscle damage prevention through the improvement of HrPf [19]–[21]. The American College of Sport Medicine (ACSM) makes it clear in their own guidelines when it refers that ten minutes of flexibility training a day, twice a week, will aid in the prevention of falls by improving balance [22]. But the recommendations on flexibility training are controversial since this type of training by itself does not seem to be enough to promote the functional benefits required by older people to maintain an adequate level of PF [23]. Among the various forms of exercise that could be practiced by older persons, yoga has been recommended as it could mitigate the deleterious effects of aging on flexibility [21], [24]. According to the literature, the benefits of regular yoga practice include improvements in balance, coordination, strength and flexibility [19], [25]. In older people with physical limitations to perform the full practice of yoga, adaptations may be made and an exercise program supported by a chair can be developed [21], [24].

To date, few publications on the effect of yoga in elderly have been published [23]. In a recent systematic review [19], the studies that tested the effects of yoga, mainly looked at variables such as strength, flexibility and cardiovascular resistance [25], psychosocial factors such as depression and anxiety [26], and biomarkers able to assess oxidative stress and lipid profile [27]. Studies involving athletes were also used to assess the acute effects of exercise on biological stress [28]. In a recent systematic review [19], Questions regarding whether biological levels of stress are associated with PF, fear of falling and psychosocial factors, as well as if the practice of yoga is able to change these parameters in the older person remain unanswered. Towards this purpose, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of a chairbased yoga exercise program on stress hormone levels, ADL, fear of falling and PF in institutionalized older adults.

5.3 Methods

Participants were older women living in social and health care support centres (SHC), located in the city of Coimbra, Portugal. All participants (or responsible) were required to give a full informed consent before beginning the research project. The study protocol was approved by Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education Ethical Committee - University of Coimbra [Ref.: CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013]; it respects the Portuguese Resolution (Art.^o 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) on ethics in research with humans [29], follows the guidelines for ethics in scientific experiments in exercise science research [30] and complies with the guidelines for research with human beings of the Helsinki Declaration [31]

5.3.1 Design of the study

This study was planned for approximately 20 weeks and was built in 3 different stages, as described below: Phase 1 (2 weeks) consisted in the evaluation of the participants before chair-based yoga exercise program. Phase 2 was an intervention study with implementation. Phase 3 (2 weeks) consisted in the evaluation of the participants after the 14 weeks of exercise. All the tests were applied before and after the exercise intervention in all groups. To minimize difference in procedures the same evaluators performed the data collection both at baseline and follow-up assessments.

5.3.2 Participants

According to a recent systematic review (08 studies, sample average of 09 participants) previous studies on exercise interventions have shown small effect size in psychobiological outcomes in similar populations [16]. For this reason, a minimum sample of 15 participants per group was recruited, sufficient to identify possible beneficial effects taking into account the size of the effect size (d = 0.50, strong effect size, power = 0.80) established [32]. Additionally, another 7 participants were recruited (30% of 15 participants) in order to prevent dropout of the study sample [33]. In total, 58 participants from a Center for social and health care support were selected from a convenience sample. After applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria and after dropout the final sample consisted of 35 female participants (age = 83.81 ± 6.6years old). The participants were allocated into two groups: chair-based yoga type flexibility exercise group (CY, n=20) and non-exercising control group, (CG, n=15).

5.3.3 Sample selection criteria

Baseline assessment tasks included measures of biosocial and global health status, which associated with the medical staff report, formed the basis for determining the selections sample criteria's in the study. The inclusion conditions for the older participants stipulated in first order were: Being female participant aged over 60 years; drug therapy controlled and updated; If the participant present clinical condition or comorbidity, it must be stable and enable participation in yoga classes as decided by local medical staff. The exclusion criteria were: not completing or withdrawing from the '8-foot-up and go test' (FGT) in the maximum time of 50 seconds, since scores above this value indicate severe mobility dependence [34]; involvement in other structured exercise program; presence of severe cardiopathy, uncontrolled hypertension or asthmatic bronchitis, musculoskeletal dysfunctions that prevented the physical testes (i.e. osteoarthritis, recent fractures), mental disorder, hearing and vision impairment, morbid obesity or the use of medications that significantly impair attention.

5.3.4 Masking

To minimize differences in assessment procedures the same evaluators performed the collection data at both baseline and follow-up measures. The psychometric scales were applied by independent assistant that establish contact with the participants without made references to the exercise program. The instructor of the exercise sessions did not take part in the data collection procedures. Precaution was taken to avoid interaction of CY exercises between individuals of the two groups by staggering the classes' schedule.

5.3.5 Assessments

5.3.6 Activities of daily life and falls

The Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) questionnaire was used. The questionnaire is used for identifying how a person is carrying out daily activities at the present time and for identifying improvement or deterioration over time in 8 domains [35]. A summary score ranges from 9 (low function, dependent) to 20 points, for 'high function' independent [36]. Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES) was used. The FES contains questions concerning the possibility of falling during the performance of 10 activities [37]. FES is represented on a 10-item analog scale and accordingly, the lower the score the greater the confidence, resulting in a high self-efficacy and reduced fear of falling when performing the 10 activities described in the questionnaire [38].

5.3.7 Physical tests assessment

The Senior Fitness Test battery (Rikli; Jones 2013) was used to assess PF. The lower body strength was determined with the '30 second's chair-and-stand test' (30s-CS), measuring the number of total stands completed in 30 seconds. The upper body strength was determined with the '30 seconds arm-curl test' (30s-AC) that measures the total number of arm curls executed in that time. To assess lower-body flexibility the 'chair sit-and-reach test' (CSR) was used measuring the distance in centimeters, (cm) of overlap or between the tips of the middle fingers when the arms are reaching up in the middle of the back as far as possible. To assess agility and dynamic balance the FGT was used, assessing the time needed for the participant to get up from the chair, walk as quickly as possible around either side of a cone placed 2.44 cm away and to sit back down in the chair. Each physical test has its respective cutoff value, however, the final scores were used as a continuous variable form.

5.3.8 Biochemical markers

Saliva will be collected by passive drool (method for collecting whole saliva), which provides the purest sample and making possible future testing. The individuals will salivate without any orofacial movement into high quality polypropylene vials to avoid problems with analyte retention or the introduction of contaminants that can interfere with the immunoassays. Collection was always at the same time of the morning in order to minimize the circadian effect of the markers used. After collection, the saliva containing tubes were store at -20°C until analysis, then defrosted and centrifuged in order to collect the saliva sample [40]. The determination of the sAA was done by kinetic assay (Salimetrics, UK) and concentration of sCOR was determinate by competitive ELISA (Salimetrics, UK), according to the manufacturer instructions [41].

5.3.9 Chair-based yoga exercise program

The creation of the chair based CY was based on the essential philosophy of Hatha Yoga and its āsanas, focusing on the flexibility benefits provided by them [19]. Music was not used during the sessions, since it could exert influence on neurocognitive aspects [42], [43]. Exercise intensity was controlled using heart rate monitors (Polar, RCX5) randomly distributed between participants during the exercise program and monitored a low to moderate intensity effort, reaching intensities around 50-75% of maximum heart-rate values as recommended by the ACSM [22]. For safety reasons, exercise intensity was indirectly calculated using the Karvonen's formula to predict target heart rate (HR), but with maximal (max) HR being calculated using [HR_{max}= 207 (beats per minute) - 0.7 x chronological age] for older people [44]. For this study, the sequences of exercises were prepared cautiously and reviewed according to the participants evolution [45], aiming to achieve moderate intensities in classes.

5.3.10 Exercise Adherence

Classes were offered 2-3 times/week, during 14 weeks, in a total of 32 sessions. The percentage of exercise adherence to group classes was calculated individually through the total sum of participation. When a participant had two consecutive absences, she was contacted to return to the group classes. An adherence to the exercise program between of 65% - 75% [46], was established as minimum for each participant to be included in the study.

5.4 Data analysis

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov and visual inspection was done to check the distribution of data. For an elderly population, it should be noted that the intra-individual variability of the data becomes a major research challenge, with regard to homogeneity. Thus dependent variables were log-transformed before analysis to reduce non-uniformity of error as a recurring feature on data from biological nature, except FES and IADL which were based on Likert scales [47]. Descriptive statistics were summarized as average, standard deviation, range and association between variables was done using the Spearman Correlations Rank Test. The magnitude of correlations was classified following the standards: trivial [$r \le 0.1 - 0.3$]; moderate [r < 0.3 - 0.3] 0.5]; strong [r < 0.5 - 0.7], robust [r < 0.7 - 0.9] [48]. Comparison between groups was accomplished using t-test for two independent samples. The T-paired test accessed differences between variables pre and post exercise and percent changes were calculated. The between-subject standard deviation for each dependent variable was used to convert the log-transformed changes of HrPf indicators into standardized [Cohen effect size (ES)] changes in the mean. The smallest standardized change was assumed to be 0.20 [49]. The statistical analysis was made with SPSS 20.0 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences, IBM), and $p \le 0.05$ used as the level of significance.

5.5 Results

Table 5.1 shows the characterization of the sample. No statistically significant differences between the CG and CYG groups were found, in other words, they were homogeneous for all variables at the beginning of the study.

p	d
SD	
.488	0.09
.496	0.16
0.72) .924	0.18
.091 .091	0.63
.590	0.48
1.90) .827	0.22
.804	0.58
.601 .601	0.11
	sing p 5) p D .488 4.60) .496 0.72) .924 4.70) .091 2.84) .590 1.90) .827 22.76) .804 5.12) .601

 Table 5.1 Characteristics of experimental and control groups at baseline and comparison between groups by Two-independent samples.

Notes: ** $p \le 0.01$; * $p \le 0.05$, comparisons between groups based on t-statistic; ^a logarithm transformed; M±SD = means (standard deviation); d = Cohens effect size; IADL: Activities of Daily life

Preliminary, associations between the variables studied at baseline were tested: IADL was inversely and moderately correlated with the 8f-UGT (r = -.347, p < .01), 30s-AC (r = -.361; p < .01), 2m-ST (r = -.343; p < .01); FES moderately correlated with the 30s-CS (r = .336; p < .01) and sCOR showed a moderate and inverse correlation with CSR (r = -.431; p < .01). There were no correlations between the levels of sAA and any of the other parameters assessed. When comparing the results obtained before and after the 14-weeks chair yoga exercise program (Table 5.2) FES values decreased in both groups. The percent change for the CYG is dimmed to be possible beneficial (-36%; p = .04). However, the FES change in the CG was -45% (p = .002). In both groups a large magnitude of effect size (d = 0.60 and d = 1.03 respectively) was identified. A trend towards an increase in the values of the IADL scale in the CYG group (p = .055) was also found with a magnitude of effect size considered as moderate (d = .36). No changes in the IADL score were detected for the GC.

Levels of sCOR increased significantly only in GC (+14%; p = .050) with a moderate magnitude of effect size (d = .39), whereas in the YG no significant changes in this hormone concentration occurred. The results also showed a significant decrease of sAA levels in the CG, with a substantial percentage of change and large magnitude of effect size (-47%, p = 0.24; d = .78). The HrPf indicators (2m-ST, 8f-UGT, 30s-AC and 30s-CS) did not change in both groups.

	Chair Yoga/Flexibility (n=20)				Control group non-exercising (n=15)					
	Pre	Post				Pre	Post			
	M±SD	M±SD	p	$\Delta\%$	d	M±SD	M±SD	p	$\Delta\%$	d
Cortisol	00.57(00.23)	00.62(00.16)	.158	+9	0.25	00.65(00.19)	00.73(00.22)	.050	+14	0.39
Alpha Amylase	76.16(41.13)	70.54(43.46)	.701	-7	0.13	67.98(54.60)	36.32(15.31)	.024	-47	0.78
Chair sit-and-reach	18.90(10.48)	21.01(13.02)	.398	+11	0.17	16.90(10.72)	16.30(10.46)	.883	-4	0.05
30s Arm-curl	11.45(04.10)	10.95(03.33)	.542	-4	0.13	08.67(04.70)	08.06(03.78)	.929	-7	0.14
30s chair-and-stand	09.02(03.75)	09.30(04.24)	.937	+1	0.06	07.40(02.84)	06.20(03.91)	.128	-16	0.35
8-foot up and-go	20.36(16.22)	18.90(12.17)	.989	-7	0.10	17.10(11.90)	14.02(05.75)	.484	-18	0.32
FES Scale	27.85(21.63)	17.90(08.08)	.042*	-36	0.60	40.87 (22.76)	22.46(10.44)	.002**	-45	1.03
Lawton of IADL	20.15(04.13)	21.55(03.59)	.055	+7	0.36	22.01(05.12)	22.33(04.28)	.783	+2	0.06

Table 5.2 Comparison between pre and post exercise intervention values.

Notes: ** $p \le 0.01$; * $p \le 0.05$, comparisons between groups based on t-statistic; ^a logarithm transformed; M±SD = means (standard deviation); d = Cohens effect size; IADL: Activities of Daily life

5.6 Discussion

The objectives of this study were to assess the effects of a structured program of CY in an older population on: physical fitness, which takes place as a set of global health-related measures (Nelson et al., 2007); on functional autonomy, which in this study was evaluated through subjective analysis instruments for activities of daily living, (Graf, 2008); on the fear of falling (Morgan et al., 2013); and on biomarkers related to autonomic system function and biological stress, representing a promising line of studies in older populations [11].

The results of this study revealed significant changes or 'benefit possible' on FES when baseline values where compared to the ones after 14 weeks of exercise intervention with CY. However, this change could not be attributed to exercise only, since the CG also presented the same changes. It is possible that the change from winter to spring, might have also influenced the results obtained. However, two new correlations between FES and the FGT and the 2MST have emerged in the CY, together with the increase in the inverse correlation with the 30s-CS test (r = -0.34 versus r = -0.57) that are not present in the CG. Studies have linked PF and the risk of falls, but even when they found positive results, they recurred to other assessments, so it seems to be more important emphasizing the preventive character of the exercise.

This probably happened because a measure of subjective assessment, first of all, should be combined with studies that use direct measures related to falls, with the objective to explore the real sensitivity of exercise effects under these scales. It would be important to check for the socially desirable answers; check if the initial values have been overestimated and finally, assess the relationship between the decreased FES with the improvement of the static and dynamic balance [50]. Improvements in such parameters were not found in our results (although a correlation between FES and the FGT, the test for static and dynamic balance, did appear), unlike other studies, which suggest that bodily practices like yoga or similar activity are more effective for the elderly population when compared to other exercise programs. The other HrPf tests results showed no improvements as no differences were found in the scores between the first assessment moment and 14 weeks after, at the end of the program. Regarding the IADL our results show a tendency (p<.055) for an increase in functional independency on these activities after the intervention program.

Although this institutionalized groups do not have the opportunity and real need to perform independent activities since they live in a care giver center where most of those activities are provided for them, other activities like mobility, endurance to walk and other physical activities can assist to avoid accidents in those environments. In fact, our results did show a correlation between FES and IADL, that was reinforced after the exercise intervention in the CYG. In our study both groups were classified as "severely dependent" (cut off > 20 points) at the beginning of the program and remained in that condition 14 weeks after. Studies with a similar methodological design and sample are scarce in the literature. Other studies used younger samples aged between 60-75 years old and that may justify the limited responses obtained with the chair based yoga/flexibility exercise program. A small and non-pathological increase of the sCOR levels in the CG was found in our study. A small rise in sCOR levels related to exercise practice was expected in the CY but not in the CG. Other factors may interact with sCOR levels such as psychosocial life stressful events with ageing [51].

It is possible that the chair-based exercise could have helped protect against such stressors. The lack of studies involving similar samples makes it difficult to create a solid evidence of the role of exercise as modulator of HPA axis in this population. At the same time, some studies involving analysis of the sAA reveal considerable variation in the activity of this enzyme across populations. The patterns of between-population differences have been linked to the number of AMY1 copies, which is seen as an adaptive response to the intake of dietary starch and It can also reflect a decrease in mucosal immunity since sAA is also used as a first barrier to bacterial colonization in the mouth [40]. In this study there was a substantial decline in sAA values in the CG but not in the CY where the values remained stable.

The similarities of the PF parameters between the CG and CY suggest that this type of exercise does not promote significant changes (at physiological and PF levels) to justify its use in older subjects with these specific characteristics. Importantly, this age group is characterized as having a 'very poor physical condition', comparing our baseline results with the cutoff values of the original study realized in older American population [52], and with other studies using Portuguese samples living in the community [53]. In addition, factors such as volume, intensity and frequency of exercise (exposure over time) or even another type of exercise practice could be used to promote significant changes in these variables. For example, more intense and challenging yoga exercises maybe more effective as shown in other studies [19]. In our study, the average intensity based on heart rate monitoring varied between 50%-57% of the theoretical HR_{max}. Such values are characterized as low-intensity exercise [54], even for very old participants. However, the chair-based method adopted to perform the Yoga exercises may have been a factor to the greater exercise adherence (average 69%) throughout the program compared to other studies. The age group of the participants may be seen as limiting factor that attenuated the usual progression of the YG exercise program. It is expected that activities like yoga exercises move forward and challenge flexibility in the sitting and lying positions [25], or stay longer in standing position stimulating to improve the strength, resistance and static/dynamic balance [19].

5.7 Conclusion

The results suggest that the chair-based yoga/flexibility program was able to maintain the levels of sCOR and sAA protecting against stress and infection but was not able to promote substantial increments in the other variables analyzed. However, comparison between groups after the exercise program showed that there were statistically significant differences (results not shown) found mainly in the PF variables, which may reflect the maintenance of the PF capacities in the CYG, corroborated by the increase seen in the IADL scores, as opposed to the CG that showed a trend towards a decline in the PF levels.

The advanced average age of the participants in our study has led us to choose the chair-based exercise method, which limited the progression expected of many parameters of PF. It can also be hypothesized that the effect of motivation for the tasks, caused by emotional instability or acute manifestations of chronic diseases is a striking feature of these populations, and seemed to have also influenced the predisposition to complete the some activities inherent to the study [46].

This study provides scientific evidence that, apart from the adaptation of the chairbased exercise program, other variables must be controlled so that the practice becomes more effective for this age-group population. Thus, we recommend that elderly health care centers incorporate these practices with the necessary adaptations from the traditional yoga, seen as a well-established practice with very positive benefits for elderly people. We suggest the implementation of more studies using samples with low HrPf and more advanced age groups. Given the inter-person variability of some of the biochemical markers used, especially the sAA, increasing the sample size is also recommended.

The progressive reduction of the time spent by the participants in the 'seated position in the chair' is also recommended. Such procedure would decrease the recovery interval to effort, increase intensity and add time to the exercise program. Thus, it would be expected that the participants perform more demanding routines from the physical point of view, which may raise the profile of the results and positively influence the subjective perception of functional autonomy related to activities of daily life and risk off falls.

5.8 References

[1] A. L. Gruver, L. L. Hudson, and G. D. Sempowski, "Immunosenescence of ageing.," *J. Pathol.*, vol. 211, no. 2, pp. 144–56, Jan. 2007.

[2] R. Milte and M. Crotty, "Musculoskeletal health, frailty and functional decline.," *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol.*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 395–410, Jun. 2014.

[3] A. Polidoro, T. Dornbusch, A. Vestri, S. Di Bona, and C. Alessandri, "Frailty and disability in the elderly: a diagnostic dilemma. - PubMed - NCBI," *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.*, vol. 52, no. 2, 2011.

[4] K. E. Covinsky, C. Eng, L.-Y. Lui, L. P. Sands, and K. Yaffe, "The last 2 years of life: functional trajectories of frail older people.," *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 492–8, Apr. 2003.

[5] R. Hebert, R. Carrier, and A. Bilodeau, "The Functional Autonomy Measurement System (SMAF): description and validation of an instrument for the measurement of handicaps.," *Age Ageing*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 293–302, Sep. 1988.

[6] M. J. Fraga, S. A. Cader, M. a. Ferreira, T. S. Giani, and E. H. M. Dantas, "Aerobic resistance, functional autonomy and quality of life (QoL) of elderly women impacted by a recreation and walking program," *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.*, vol. 52, pp. 40–43, 2011.

[7] S. M. Albert, J. King, R. Boudreau, T. Prasad, C. J. Lin, and A. B. Newman, "Primary prevention of falls: Effectiveness of a statewide program," *Am. J. Public Health*, vol. 104, no. 5, pp. 77–84, May 2014.

[8] C. Sherrington, N. Fairhall, C. Kirkham, L. Clemson, K. Howard, C. Vogler, J. C. Close, A. M. Moseley, I. D. Cameron, J. Mak, D. Sonnabend, and S. R. Lord, "Exercise and fall prevention self-management to reduce mobility-related disability and falls after fall-related lower limb fracture in older people: protocol for the RESTORE (Recovery Exercises and STepping On afteR fracturE) randomised controlled trial.," *BMC Geriatr.*, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 34, Jan. 2016.

[9] T. N. Robinson, B. Eiseman, J. I. Wallace, S. D. Church, K. K. McFann, S. M. Pfister, T. J. Sharp, and M. Moss, "Redefining geriatric preoperative assessment using frailty, disability and co-morbidity.," *Ann. Surg.*, vol. 250, no. 3, pp. 449–55, Sep. 2009.

[10] A. Hatta, Y. Nishihira, and T. Higashiura, "Effects of a single bout of walking on psychophysiologic responses and executive function in elderly adults: A pilot study," *Clin. Interv. Aging*, vol. 8, pp. 945–952, 2013.

[11] E. Papacosta and G. P. Nassis, "Saliva as a tool for monitoring steroid, peptide and immune markers in sport and exercise science.," *J. Sci. Med. Sport*, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 424–34, Sep. 2011.

[12] Y. Maruyama, A. Kawano, S. Okamoto, T. Ando, Y. Ishitobi, Y. Tanaka, A. Inoue, J. Imanaga, M. Kanehisa, H. Higuma, T. Ninomiya, J. Tsuru, H. Hanada, and J. Akiyoshi, "Differences in salivary alpha-amylase and cortisol responsiveness following exposure to electrical stimulation versus the Trier Social Stress Tests.," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 7, p. e39375, Jan. 2012.

[13] A. H. van Stegeren, O. T. Wolf, and M. Kindt, "Salivary alpha amylase and cortisol responses to different stress tasks: impact of sex.," *Int. J. Psychophysiol.*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 33–40, Jul. 2008.

[14] N. P. Walsh, M. Gleeson, R. J. Shephard, M. G. Jeffrey, A. Woods, N. C. Bishop,M. Fleshner, C. Green, K. Pedersen, L. Hoffman-goetz, and C. J. Rogers, "Part one : Immune function and exercise," pp. 6–63, 2011.

[15] U. M. Nater and N. Rohleder, "Salivary alpha-amylase as a non-invasive biomarker for the sympathetic nervous system: current state of research.," *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 486–96, May 2009.

[16] D. I. Corazza, É. Sebastião, R. V. Pedroso, C. A. A. Andreatto, F. G. de Melo Coelho, S. Gobbi, E. Teodorov, and R. F. Santos-Galduróz, "Influence of chronic exercise on serum cortisol levels in older adults," *Eur. Rev. Aging Phys. Act.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 25–44, Mar. 2013.

[17] E. Matta Mello Portugal, T. Cevada, R. Sobral Monteiro-Junior, T. Teixeira Guimarães, E. da Cruz Rubini, E. Lattari, C. Blois, and A. Camaz Deslandes, "Neuroscience of exercise: from neurobiology mechanisms to mental health.," *Neuropsychobiology*, vol. 68, no. 1, pp. 1–14, Jan. 2013.

[18] C. S. Pernambuco, C. J. Borba-Pinheiro, R. G. de S. Vale, F. Di Masi, P. K. P. Monteiro, and E. H. M. Dantas, "Functional autonomy, bone mineral density (BMD) and serum osteocalcin levels in older female participants of an aquatic exercise program (AAG).," *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 466–71, Jan. 2013.

[19] N. K. Patel, A. H. Newstead, and R. L. Ferrer, "The effects of yoga on physical functioning and health related quality of life in older adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis.," *J. Altern. Complement. Med.*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 902–17, Oct. 2012. [20] M. Irwin, J. Pike, and M. Oxman, "Shingles Immunity and Health Functioning in the Elderly: Tai Chi Chih as a Behavioral Treatment.," *Evid. Based. Complement. Alternat. Med.*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 223–232, Dec. 2004.

[21] G. W. Melville, D. Chang, B. Colagiuri, P. W. Marshall, and B. S. Cheema, "Fifteen minutes of chair-based yoga postures or guided meditation performed in the office can elicit a relaxation response.," *Evid. Based. Complement. Alternat. Med.*, vol. 2012, p. 501986, Jan. 2012.

[22] M. E. Nelson, W. J. Rejeski, S. N. Blair, P. W. Duncan, J. O. Judge, A. C. King, C. A. Macera, and C. Castaneda-Sceppa, "Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association.," *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.*, vol. 39, no. 8, pp. 1435–45, Aug. 2007.

[23] L. Stathokostas, R. M. D. Little, A. A. Vandervoort, and D. H. Paterson, "Flexibility training and functional ability in older adults: a systematic review.," *J. Aging Res.*, vol. 2012, p. 306818, Jan. 2012.

[24] M. Lou Galantino, L. Green, J. A. Decesari, N. A. Mackain, S. M. Rinaldi, M. E. Stevens, V. R. Wurst, R. Marsico, M. Nell, and J. J. Mao, "Safety and feasibility of modified chair-yoga on functional outcome among elderly at risk for falls.," *Int. J. Yoga*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 146–50, Jul. 2012.

[25] L. C. Gonçalves, R. G. D. S. Vale, N. J. F. Barata, R. V. Varejão, and E. H. M. Dantas, "Flexibility, functional autonomy and quality of life (QoL) in elderly yoga practitioners," *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.*, vol. 53, pp. 158–162, 2011.

[26] M. Satyapriya, R. Nagarathna, V. Padmalatha, and H. R. Nagendra, "Effect of integrated yoga on anxiety, depression & well being in normal pregnancy.," *Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract.*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 230–6, Nov. 2013.

[27] R. K. Yadav, D. Magan, R. Yadav, K. Sarvottam, and R. Netam, "High-density lipoprotein cholesterol increases following a short-term yoga-based lifestyle intervention: a non-pharmacological modulation.," *Acta Cardiol.*, vol. 69, no. 5, pp. 543–9, Oct. 2014.

[28] T. Cevada, P. E. Vasques, H. Moraes, and A. Deslandes, "Salivary cortisol levels in athletes and nonathletes: a systematic review.," *Horm. Metab. Res.*, vol. 46, no. 13, pp. 905–10, Dec. 2014.

[29] R. Braga, "Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos," *Rev. Port. Med. Geral e Fam.*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 354–356, 2013.

[30] R. J. Shephard, "Ethics in exercise science research.," Sports Med., vol. 32, no.

3, pp. 169-83, Jan. 2002.

[31] C. Petrini, "Helsinki 50 years on.," *Clin. Ter.*, vol. 165, no. 4, pp. 179–81, 2014.

[32] A. M. Batterham and W. G. Hopkins, "Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes.," *Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform.*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 50–7, Mar. 2006.

[33] A. M. A. Picorelli, D. S. Pereira, D. C. Felício, D. M. Dos Anjos, D. A. G. Pereira, R. C. Dias, M. G. Assis, and L. S. M. Pereira, "Adherence of older women with strength training and aerobic exercise.," *Clin. Interv. Aging*, vol. 9, pp. 323–31, Jan. 2014.

[34] H. A. Bischoff, H. B. Stähelin, A. U. Monsch, M. D. Iversen, A. Weyh, M. von Dechend, R. Akos, M. Conzelmann, W. Dick, and R. Theiler, "Identifying a cut-off point for normal mobility: a comparison of the timed 'up and go' test in community-dwelling and institutionalised elderly women.," *Age Ageing*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 315–20, May 2003.

[35] M. P. Lawton and E. M. Brody, "Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living.," *Gerontologist*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 179–86, Jan. 1969.

[36] C. Graf, "The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale.," *Am. J. Nurs.*, vol. 108, no. 4, pp. 52–62; quiz 62–3, Apr. 2008.

[37] M. E. Tinetti, D. Richman, and L. Powell, "Falls efficacy as a measure of fear of falling.," *J. Gerontol.*, vol. 45, no. 6, pp. P239–43, Nov. 1990.

[38] M. T. Morgan, L. A. Friscia, S. L. Whitney, J. M. Furman, and P. J. Sparto, "Reliability and validity of the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I) in individuals with dizziness and imbalance.," *Otol. Neurotol.*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 1104–8, Aug. 2013.

[39] C. Rikli, R.; Jones, *Senior Fitness Test Manual-2nd Edition*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 2013.

[40] J. E. Allgrove, E. Gomes, J. Hough, and M. Gleeson, "Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men.," *J. Sports Sci.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 653–61, Apr. 2008.

[41] R. Miller, F. Plessow, M. Rauh, M. Gröschl, and C. Kirschbaum, "Comparison of salivary cortisol as measured by different immunoassays and tandem mass spectrometry," *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 50–57, Jan. 2013.

[42] M. Hars, F. R. Herrmann, G. Gold, R. Rizzoli, and A. Trombetti, "Effect of musicbased multitask training on cognition and mood in older adults.," *Age Ageing*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 196–200, Mar. 2014. [43] G. Nikolić, "Narrow capture beat.," *Heart Lung*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 194–5, Jan. 2004.

[44] B. Guderian, A. Johnson, and V. Mathiowetz, "Impact of Exercise Frequency on Hand Strength of the Elderly," *Phys. Occup. Ther. Geriatr.*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 268–279, 2013.

[45] A. Büssing, T. Ostermann, R. Lüdtke, and A. Michalsen, "Effects of yoga interventions on pain and pain-associated disability: a meta-analysis.," *J. Pain*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–9, Jan. 2012.

[46] A. M. A. Picorelli, L. S. M. Pereira, D. S. Pereira, D. Felício, and C. Sherrington, "Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and personal factors: a systematic review.," *J. Physiother.*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 151–6, Sep. 2014.

[47] A. Nevill and A. Lane, "Why self-report 'Likert' scale data should not be log-transformed.," *J. Sports Sci.*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 1–2, Jan. 2007.

[48] J. Cohen, P. Cohen, S. G. West, and L. S. Aiken, *Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. 2013.

[49] W. G. Hopkins, S. W. Marshall, A. M. Batterham, and J. Hanin, "Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science.," *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 3–13, Jan. 2009.

[50] S.-F. Chang, R.-S. Yang, T.-C. Lin, S.-C. Chiu, M.-L. Chen, and H.-C. Lee, "The discrimination of using the short physical performance battery to screen frailty for community-dwelling elderly people.," *J. Nurs. Scholarsh.*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 207–15, May 2014.

[51] G. Mura, G. Cossu, G. M. Migliaccio, C. Atzori, A. E. Nardi, S. Machado, and M. G. Carta, "Quality of life, cortisol blood levels and exercise in older adults: results of a randomized controlled trial.," *Clin. Pract. Epidemiol. Ment. Health*, vol. 10, pp. 67–72, Jan. 2014.

[52] R. E. Rikli and C. J. Jones, "Development and validation of criterion-referenced clinically relevant fitness standards for maintaining physical independence in later years," *Gerontologist*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 255–267, 2013.

[53] J. C. Branco, K. Jansen, J. T. Sobrinho, S. Carrapatoso, B. Spessato, J. Carvalho, J. Mota, and R. A. da Silva, "Physical benefits and reduction of depressive symptoms among the elderly: results from the Portuguese 'National Walking Program'.," *Cien. Saude Colet.*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 789–95, Mar. 2015.

[54] J. E. Donnelly, S. N. Blair, J. M. Jakicic, M. M. Manore, J. W. Rankin, and B. K. Smith, "American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand. Appropriate physical activity intervention strategies for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults.," *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 459–71, Feb. 2009.

SECTION III

Cross-section design: relationships between physical frailty and global health domains

CHAPTER 06 (STUDY 4):

PHYSICAL FRAILTY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES OF FITNESS, SEX HORMONES, PSYCHOLOGICAL AND DISABILITY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER WOMEN: AN EXPLORATORY ASSOCIATION STUDY

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Miguel Patrício

Marisa Loureiro

Eef Hogervorst

Olga Theou

José Pedro Ferreira

Ana Maria Teixeira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018.

6.1 Abstract

Little is known about symptoms associated with frailty in institutionalized Portuguese older adults. The study aimed to investigate the association of frailty with diverse geriatric health characteristics and how the latter might contribute to the former. Cross-sectional data of 140 women aged over 75 years were analyzed. Data were collected between March and June, 2016. Fried's definition of physical frailty, psychological, sex hormones, disability and physical fitness outcomes were examined. Prevalence of frailty was 40%. Frail women had lower scores in cognitive and physical fitness, and high scores for depression and comorbidities. Significant correlations emerged between frailty and disability, fear of falling, aerobic resistance and cognition. Regression analyses and Receiver Operating Curve showed that only aerobic resistance (sensitivity [93-96%]; specificity [74-77%], p=0.001) and cognition (sensitivity [77-88%]; specificity [65-71%], p<0.001) remained in the equation to independently contribute to physical frailty. A trend towards lower systolic blood pressure in the frail group may reflect being less physically active and/or having more systemic comorbidity. Fried's model can be considered applicable. Using simple functional fitness and cognitive measures rather than using less reliable self-report assessments can better identify those with physical frailty The role of blood pressure in physical frailty status needs to be further explored.

Keywords: Frail-older adults, disability, physical fitness, sex steroid hormones, cognition.

6.2 Introduction

The growing numbers of older people in European Countries is one of the main reasons for increasing costs demands on public health systems, especially on medical services and long-term social services (Matlabi, Behtash, & Shafiei, 2016). In Portugal, the term "nursing homes" is used to define institutions that assist elderly people with (or not) chronic diseases and physical constraints, offering health care, social support, nutrition and leisure activities. It constitutes a social response developed in collective housing, temporary or permanent, for older people in situations of greater risk of loss of independence and/or autonomy (Almeida & Rodrigues, 2008). Although not all institutionalized older persons are classified as physically dependent, this state furthers functional decline and increases care demands (González-Vaca et al., 2014). It is therefore important to be able to identify/monitor frailty and its associated risk factors in this population.

Frailty is conceptualized as a state in which reserve function across multiple physiological systems decline, thereby predisposing them to poor functional health, institutionalization and death (Clegg, Young, Iliffe, Rikkert, & Rockwood, 2013). Linda Fried and colleagues developed the phenotype of Physical Frailty (PF) construct whose primary characteristics are sarcopenia, negative energy intake and physical inactivity. The identification of five PF assessment criteria enables the characterization of older persons in three frail subgroups, namely as non-frail pre-frail and frail individuals (Fried et al., 2001). In the past 15 years, this construct has been shown to have good criterion validity to evaluate PF in different populations cohorts (Coelho, Paúl, Gobbens, & Fernandes, 2015). PF is an important predictor of serious adverse health incidents. The current evidence clearly shows the relationship between PF and chronic disease, disability, and psychosocial and biochemical markers, currently known as frail correlates (Morley, 2011). Frail older men have a higher risk of mortality than frail-older women (Theou, Brothers, Mitnitski, & Rockwood, 2014). However, findings in recent studies are unanimous in revealing a higher incidence of PF in older women when compared to older men (Chang & Lin, 2015).

Institutionalized older persons have more heterogeneous health conditions when compared with those living in the community (González-Vaca et al., 2014). It is essential to investigate different demographic and general health outcomes to understand the evolution of this phenotype. Importantly, robust findings support the idea that physiological systems and environmental factors are intrinsically interconnected with the PF condition. In Portugal, this is the first exploratory study that investigates the interconnections between Fried's PF model and adverse biopsychological geriatric health outcomes.

Thus, the goals of this study were to characterize PF in people living in nursing homes, examine associations between PF and adverse general health outcomes and also, to explore the sensitivity, specificity, and prognostic performance of adverse geriatric health outcomes in identifying PF status in institutionalized women.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Study Design

The participants of this study consisted of a subset of participants from the study protocol previous published (Teixeira et. al., 2016). Cross-sectional data from the baseline assessments were used for the current paper. This is an exploratory case-control local population-based survey (Pearce, 2012), that collects information on PF incidence in older women living in nursing homes of social and health care support in Portugal (CHS). This pilot study was designed to provide information on the trends and results expected when using a representative probabilistic sample of this population in future studies. On the first stage of CHS selection, of a total of 206 collective accommodation located in the city of Coimbra, 57 institutions (27%) were classified as CHS. From these CHS, a total of five institutions that presented the following characteristics were selected: a) public or co-participated by local Social Security CHS; b) CHS where the elderly live in long-term accommodation, c) CHS that have the same daily routine, including health and social care practices.

6.3.2 Sample selection criteria

The participants were selected using a non-probably convenience sampling based on the geographical area of the Portuguese Center region of Coimbra city. The primary stage of assessment was information provided to the potential participants by the medical professionals from each CHS, combined with clinical primary outcomes information. The initial recruitment consisted of 305 (100%) institutionalized-dwelling potential participants. However, specific selection criteria were applied: women aged over 60 years and willing to assent to take part in the study spontaneously; drug therapy and clinical conditions controlled and updated; no presence of any type of health condition that could prevent testing of functional autonomy, such as severe cardiopathy, hypertension, uncontrolled asthmatic bronchitis, musculoskeletal conditions (i.e., osteoarthritis, recent fractures), mental disorders, and morbid obesity. Even before applying these criteria, 128 individuals (42%) were excluded due to several negative clinical conditions such as physical, cognitive, hearing or visual severe impairments. A total of 37 (12%) elders dropped out during the data collection phases. The final analyzed sample consisted of 140 (46%) older women.

6.3.3 Ethical aspects

The directors of the CHS, the participants and/or their legal representatives signed consent forms. This study was approved by the Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education Ethical Committee (Reference code CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013) - the University of Coimbra, respected the Portuguese Resolution (Art. 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) and complied with research guidelines in humans of the Helsinki Declaration (Petrini, 2014).

6.3.4 Outcome measurements

All sample variables were measured by the same member of the research team. The quality of data was reported through scores of internal consistency reliability (ICR). As in previous studies, biosocial, anthropometric and clinical health variables that presented differences between frailty subgroups were considered as a co-variate in the correlation and regression models due to the potential confounding effect that these variables can exert on the results (de Vries et al., 2011). The general health indicators of mental health, psychological well-being, physical fitness, functional disability and sex steroid hormones, were analyzed as central outcomes. PF status was also analyzed as a central outcome.

6.3.5 Physical Frailty screening

The prevalence of PF was calculated, as well as the presence of each one of the five independent components of the PF criteria (Fried et al., 2001). Weight loss was assessed by self-reporting unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months. Exhaustion (self-reported) was evaluated by the negative concordance of questions number 7 and 20 from the Centre for Epidemiologic Studies in Depression (CES-D) scale (Gonçalves, Fagulha, Ferreira, & Reis, 2014). Weakness was analyzed using the handgrip strength test (HGT), adjusted for body mass index (BMI) and stratified by gender (ICR = 0.84). Slowness was measured using the 4.6 meters walking test (4.6-WT), whose results are expressed in seconds and adjusted for gender and height (ICR = 0.80). Low PA was assessed by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire short form (IPAQ). Participants classified with low levels of PA had a positive score for the PF (ICR = .78) (Santos et al., 2010). The positive evaluation of one or two criteria classified the participants as pre-frail, in three or more as frail and as non-frail, when the subject had none of the PF criteria.

6.3.6 Sociodemographic and anthropometric data

Chronological age was analyzed as a continuous variable. Marital status was classified into four categories. Level of education was classified according to the Portuguese educational system. Body mass was determined using a portable scale with a precision of 0.1 kilograms (ICR = 0.89) and stature was determined using a portable stadiometer with a precision of 0.1 centimetres (ICR = 0.87) for BMI calculation. Waist and hip circumferences were measured using a retractable glass fibber tape measure (ICR = 0.87, 0.94 and 0.76, respectively).

6.3.7 General health status

Comorbidity was assessed by using the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) (Charlson, Szatrowski, Peterson, & Gold, 1994). Nutritional status was measured using the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) (Guigoz, 2006). To register systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP), the digital device OMRON model M1 Plus was used. Self-reported health status and medication use were assessed through questions number 6 and 18 of the MNA, respectively. Exercise behaviour was assessed by questions number 7 and 24 from the Attitudes to Ageing Questionnaire (AAQ) (Laidlaw, Power, & Schmidt, 2007).

6.3.8 Mental health and psychological well being

The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) was used to assesses cognitive function (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975). To assess health psychological status, CES-D depression scale (Gonçalves et al., 2014), Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES) (Neto, 1996) and the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) were used (Barros, Félix; Neto, 2004).

6.3.9 Functional disability and physical fitness

The Portuguese version of the Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (IADL) (Katz, Downs, Cash, & Grotz, 1970) and Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES) was used (Melo, 2009). Upper body muscle-strength was assessed with the '30 seconds arm-curl test' (30s-AC) (ICR = 0.89). Aerobic resistance was measured through the "2-minutes step test" (2m-ST) (ICR = 0.78) (Rikli & Jones, 2013).

6.3.10 Sex steroids hormone makers

Saliva samples to measure cortisol (CORT), Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and Testosterone (TEST) levels, were collected by passive drool always at the same time in the morning, to minimize circadian effects. The levels of sex steroids hormones were determined by competitive ELISA according to the kits manufacturer instructions (Salimetrics UK, 2017).

6.3.11 Statistical procedures

Normality assessment of continuous variables was performed resorting to Shapiro-Wilk tests. Continuous variables were described by their medians. 1st and 3st quartiles. absolute and relative frequencies. The comparison between the frailty sub-groups was done using ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis. Total and partial Pearson or Spearman coefficients were computed to assess correlations controlling for predetermined co-variates that presented differences in the ANOVA. A linear regression using stepwise backward elimination was undertaken, considering the significant geriatric health outcomes which had been associated with PF status in correlations and regression analyses, adjusted for predetermined co-variates. To examine the contribution of each general health outcome in explaining PF, the univariate diagnostic value of each variable in the model was determined using ROC (receiver operating characteristics) analysis, comparing non-frail versus pre-frail and non-frail plus pre-frail versus frail subgroups. For each model, a 95% confidence interval (CI) from percentiles for the area under the curve (AUC) was determined. In all regression models the collinearity was checked using Variance Inflation Factors and the goodness of fit model was verified by Nagelkerke R square test. The level of significance adopted was 0.05. All computations were performed using IBM/SPSS Statistics 21 and R version 3.3.1 programs.

6.4 Results

In the total sample, median (1° and 3° quartiles) age was 83.0 (77; 88). In total 62.9% (n = 88) of the participants considered their health not to be good, 126 out of 140 participants (90%) reported that they did not participate in regular exercise programs and 87.3% of the total sample considered regular exercise 'important or very important' at any age. Of all participants, 56 (40%) were considered as frail, 53 as pre-frail (38%) and 31 were as classified as non-frail (22%). When frail sub-groups were compared, statistical differences were found for the level of education, comorbidities, mental health (CES-D and MMSE), functional disability (IADL, and FES) and physical fitness of 2-MST and 30s-AC (Table 6.1).

Table 6.1 C	Comparison b	y frailty	syndrome index f	or adverse geriatric	c health outcomes	(n =	140).
-------------	--------------	-----------	------------------	----------------------	-------------------	------	-------

	Non-frail	Pre-frail	Frail	
	(n=31, 22%)	(n=53, 38%)	(n=56, 40%)	<i>p</i> value
Sociodemographic data M(1;3)				
Chronological age (years)	83 (77; 88)	83 (76; 89)	83 (77; 87)	0.988
Level of education (degree)	4.00 (3.00; 6.00)	3.00 (3.00; 4.00)	3.00 (2.00; 4.00)	0.034
Anthropometric measurements M(1;3)				
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	27.24 (24.34; 30.08)	28.90 (24.45; 31.46)	30.03 (25.64; 32.16)	0.086
Waist circumference (cm)	93.00 (86.00; 100.50)	92.00 (83.00; 100.00)	92.00 (85.25; 97.25)	0.693
Hip circumference (cm)	99.50 (94.50; 104.60)	102.50 (97.00; 107.00)	102.53 (96.50; 109.00)	0.302
Waist-to-hip ratio	0.93 (0.88; 1.00)	0.90 (0.84; 0.97)	0.89 (0.83; 0.94)	0.078
General clinical health status M(1;3)				
Self-reported health status (n; %)				
Not as good	21 (67.7%)	30 (56.6%)	37 (66.1%)	
As good	2 (6.5%)	6 (11.3%)	9 (16.1%)	
Does not Know	0 (0%)	3 (5.7%)	1 (1.8%)	0.400
Better	8 (25.8%)	14 (26.4%)	9 (16.1%)	
Mini nutritional assessment M(1;3)	25 (24; 26.5)	25.5 (24; 26)	24 (22.75; 26)	0.074
Systolic blood pressure (mm/H)	137 (114; 153)	135 (119; 148)	129 (120; 139)	0.210
Diastolic blood pressure (mm/Hg)	65 (57; 77)	65 (61; 72)	66 (59; 74)	0.868
Charlson comorbidity index (score)	7 (6; 10)	6 (6; 8)	7.5 (7; 9)	0.010
Physical exercise behaviour (n, %)				
Little or nothing important	2 (6.5%)	6 (11.3%)	12 (21.4%)	
Important or very important	29 (93.5%)	47 (88.7%)	44 (78.6%)	0.118
Participation (n, %)				
I'm not involved	26 (83.9%)	47 (88.7%)	53 (94.6%)	
I'm involved	5 (16.1%)	6 (11.3%)	3 (5.4%)	0.254
Mental health status M(1;3)				
CES-D depression (score)	20 (13; 27)	18 (14; 27)	24 (21; 31)	0.012
Mini mental state exam (score)	25 (21; 27)	21 (17; 25)	17 (13; 22)	< 0.001
Psychological well-being M(1;3)				
Global self-esteem (score)	24 (19; 27)	23 (19; 25)	23 (21; 25)	0.453
Satisfaction with life (score)	23 (13; 27)	24 (21; 29)	22 (19; 27)	0.121
Functional disability M(1;3)				
Katz's instrumental ADL (score)	0 (0; 3)	1 (0; 1)	1.5 (1; 3)	0.004
Fear of falling scale (score)	33 (14; 40)	33 (13; 65)	41 (28.5; 59)	0.023
Physical fitness				
Two minutes step (aerobic) test (reps per time)	50 (42; 58)	40 (30; 45)	27.5 (16; 36.5)	<0.001
Thirty seconds arm curl test (reps per time)	13 (10; 15)	11 (9; 14)	9 (7.5; 10.8)	<0.001
Salivary sex steroids hormones M(1;3)				
Cortisol (µg/mL)	0.26 (0.16; 0.29)	0.21 (0.11; 0.27)	0.27 (0.16; 0.33)	0.115
Dehydroepiandrosterone (pg/mL)	26.97 (7.42; 33.16)	19.77 (5.05; 40.82)	31.2 (7.42; 45.98)	0.741
Testosterone (pg/mL)	59.01 (43.15; 100.74)	57.25 (39.29; 83.99)	64.15 (46.87; 82.3)	0.428

Notes: Abbreviations: ADL = activities of daily living; μ g/mL = microgram per millimeter; pg/mL = picogram per millilitre; CES-D of depression scale; cm = centimeters; Kg/m² = kilograms square meter; mmHg = Millimetre of mercury; M (1;3) = Median of 1° and 3° quartlile.

Physical Frailty showed significant but small associations with CES-D, SBP and MNA; was moderately associated with IADL and FES; and strongly associated with the MMSE, 30s-AC and 2-MST. The results found indicate an indirect correlation of PF with CORT and 30s-AC (moderate association) and the expected associations within DHEA, CORT and TT also appeared. After partial correlations, associations remained stable (Table 6.2).

	Uncontrolled		Contro	lling†
General Health outcomes	r	р	r	р
Mini nutritional assessment	222**	.008	205**	.016
Systolic blood pressure (mm/H)	232 [*]	.031	235 [*]	.005
Diastolic blood pressure (mm/Hg)	045	.595	006	.946
Charlson comorbidity index (score)	.106	213	.056	.509
CES-D depression (score)	.173 [*]	.041	.104	.224
Mini mental state exam (score)	452 ^{**}	.000	424	.000
Global self-esteem (score)	.043	.616	.140	.101
Satisfaction with life (score)	079	.353	062	.469
Katz's instrumental ADL (score)	.269	.001	.264**	.000
Fear of falling scale (score)	.265	.002	.217**	.010
Two minutes step (aerobic) test	585**	.000	552 [*]	.000
Thirty seconds arm curl test (403**	.000	328	.000
Cortisol (µg/mL)	.103	.226	.040	.644
Dehydroepiandrosterone (pg/mL)	.073	.226	097	.256
Testosterone (pg/mL)	.025	.773	.005	.953

 Table 6.2 Spearman and their equivalent partial correlations (p values in bold) between frailty syndrome total score and adverse geriatric health outcomes (n = 140)

Notes: ** *p*≤0.001; * *p*≤0.005; †partial correlation values are expressed in bold of each variable, controlling for level of education

On the basis of these outcomes, a stepwise linear regression model was built using all variables that had shown associations with PF total score, using stepwise backward elimination. In a second step, again using stepwise backward elimination, variables were entered which had shown differences between groups using ANOVA. Sex steroids hormones (DHEA, CORT and TT) were entered in a third step but were removed from analyses as they did not modify associations. In the first step model, the 2m-ST was left in the model (B = -.04, SE = .007, $\beta = -.43$, p < 0.0001). Co-linearity was present for 30-sAC (tolerance = .83), but the 2m-ST offered better adjusted R squared (by itself adjusted R squared = .31, compared to 30s-AC, adjusted R square = .11). Lower SBP also predicted PF scores in the equation independently (B = -0.02, SE = .005, $\beta = -0.21$, p = 0.002) in the first step. In the second step, the MMSE scores were entered (B = -0.09, SE = 0.02), $\beta = -.32$, p < 0.0001).



Figure 6.1 Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for test performance: a) Frail versus non-frail group; b) Frail versus non-frail plus pre-frail group.

6.5 Discussion

The main findings of this study were that after regression analyses only aerobic resistance and cognition remained in the equation to independently predict PF. Our study showed that the prevalence of PF in these institutionalized women was 40%. This estimate is higher when compared to studies in community-dwelling people (34.9%) in Portugal (Duarte & Paúl, 2015). The prevalence in our study is lower than the FINAL (69.3%, n = 187), CUENCA (53.7% n = 281) and higher than the FRADEA (16% n = 993) Spanish studies (Abizanda et al., 2013; de la Rica-Escuín et al., 2014; Garrido, Serrano, Bartolomé, & Martínez-Vizcaíno, 2012). In our results, weakness and slowness were the two main components of PF with the highest incidence, wich were similar to findings reported in the FINAL study (de la Rica-Escuín et al., 2014).

All the subjects in the total sample and subgroups were classified as well-nourished. In contrast, a community Portuguese study with community dwellings samples, revealed a significant prevalence of malnutrition in PF (Sewo Sampaio et al., 2015). In our study, regular dietary control was performed by a nutritionist which seemed to exert a protective nutritional effect. However, the BMI scores classified the participants on average as obese, which associated with PF reveals a pattern known as sarcopenic obesity. We also found a trend for lower blood pressure (SBP) values in the frail sub-group. After 70 years, there are some comorbidities that can cause changes in vascular structure that when added to the polypharmacy use, can cause BP values to decrease substantially (Mermans et al., 2016). Some studies demonstrate that low scores of BP are associated with poor outcomes in frail people, however, BP as a marker of PF remains controversial (Muller, Smulders, De Leeuw, & Stehouwer, 2014).

Surprisingly, a large percentage of our sample mentioned the importance of regular exercise. The role of regular exercise in attenuation and reversal of PF is already well documented (de Labra, Guimaraes-Pinheiro, Maseda, Lorenzo, & Millán-Calenti, 2015). However, public policies to encourage regular participation in physical exercise programmes do not seem to extent to populations with special needs in Portugal. The relationship between PF, functional disability and physical fitness has already been observed in many other studies and some of these markers (i.e. ADL) were identified as PF-independent predictors (Chang & Lin, 2015). In the same direction, higher scores of comorbidity, depression and cognition impairment are also strongly associated with PF status. Unlike our results, previous studies have found associations between PF and free testosterone (Hyde et al., 2010) and lower levels of DHEA were significantly associated with increased odds of PF and mortality (Baylis et al., 2013). These differences could probably be explained by the larger samples used in both of those studies. Importantly, low cognitive function was also an important predictor of PF either as assessed by a total score or as group membership. While it could be argued that circular reasoning may confound the analyses for aerobic fitness variables, this is not the case for cognitive function. Earlier it was argued that cognitive decline as assessed by MMSE is an important part of PF (Lerner, Liben, & Mueller, 2015), which was confirmed in our analyses.

The main limitation of this study was the fact that the sample was not representative of all institutionalized Portuguese older populations and also, the predominance of institutionalized-dwelling female individuals in Portugal is a factual circumstance. The other limitation is the cross-sectional design, that does not permit assessment of the temporal and thus potentially causal relation of variables, as is the case of this study. Despite the study revealing interesting clues to future research, the relatively small sample size could have provided inadequate statistical power to detect some modest but meaningful associations as statistically significant. This study is the first cohort study using saliva samples. Salivary measures have emerged in biopsychological research because they are less invasive when compared to urine and blood collection. Our interest in the subsequent approach will be to verify the effects of a long-term exercise intervention as a co-adjuvant therapy on this population. In this sense, this study provided us with some clues to elaborate a nonpharmacological mediation approach, aimed to attenuate the age-related effects associated with the frail condition.

6.6 Conclusion

The phenotype of physical frailty status developed by Fried and colleagues can be considered applicable to institutionalized-dwelling Portuguese older women. Frailty was associated with a poor aerobic resistance fitness and cognitive function. We reported that two simple measures can provide an objective screening assessment for frailty in this population. The role of blood pressure in frailty needs to be further explored.

6.7 References

Abizanda, P., Romero, L., Sánchez-Jurado, P. M., Martínez-Reig, M., Gómez-Arnedo, L., & Alfonso, S. A. (2013). Frailty and mortality, disability and mobility loss in a Spanish cohort of older adults: the FRADEA study. *Maturitas*, 74(1), 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.09.018

Almeida, A. J. P. dos S., & Rodrigues, V. M. C. P. (2008). The quality of life of aged people living in homes for the aged. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem*, *16*(6), 1025–1031. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0104-11692008000600014

Barros, Félix; Neto, J. (2004). SATISFAÇÃO COM A VIDA: DIFERENÇAS CONFORME A RELIGIÃO E A CULTURA. *Psicologia Educação e Cultura*, *VI*(2), 243–278.

Baylis, D., Bartlett, D. B., Syddall, H. E., Ntani, G., Gale, C. R., Cooper, C., ... Sayer, A. A. (2013). Immune-endocrine biomarkers as predictors of frailty and mortality: A 10-year longitudinal study in community-dwelling older people. *Age*, *35*(3), 963–971. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-012-9396-8

Chang, S.-F., & Lin, P.-L. (2015). Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *52*(8), 1362–1374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.04.005

Charlson, M., Szatrowski, T. P., Peterson, J., & Gold, J. (1994). Validation of a combined comorbidity index. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *47*(11), 1245–51. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560

Clegg, A., Young, J., Iliffe, S., Rikkert, M. O., & Rockwood, K. (2013). Frailty in elderly people. *Lancet*, *381*(9868), 752–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9

Coelho, T., Paúl, C., Gobbens, R. J. J., & Fernandes, L. (2015). Determinants of frailty: The added value of assessing medication. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 7(APR). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2015.00056

de la Rica-Escuín, M., González-Vaca, J., Varela-Pérez, R., Arjonilla-García, M. D., Silva-Iglesias, M., Oliver-Carbonell, J. L., & Abizanda, P. (2014). Frailty and mortality or incident disability in institutionalized older adults: the FINAL study. *Maturitas*, *78*(4), 329–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.05.022

de Labra, C., Guimaraes-Pinheiro, C., Maseda, A., Lorenzo, T., & Millán-Calenti, J. C. (2015). Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Geriatrics*, *15*, 154. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-015-0155-4

de Vries, N. M., Staal, J. B., van Ravensberg, C. D., Hobbelen, J. S. M. M., Olde Rikkert, M. G. M. M., & Nijhuis-van der Sanden, M. W. G. G. (2011). Outcome instruments to measure frailty: a systematic review. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *10*(1), 104–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2010.09.001

Duarte, M., & Paúl, C. (2015). Prevalence of phenotypic frailty during the aging process in a Portuguese community. *Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia*, *18*(4), 871–880. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-9823.2015.14160

Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "MINI-MENTAL STATE." *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *12*, 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6

Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, a B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., ... McBurnie, M. a. (2001). Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *56*(3), M146-56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156

Garrido, M., Serrano, M. D., Bartolomé, R., & Martínez-Vizcaíno, V. (2012). Diferencias en la expresión del síndrome de fragilidad en varones y mujeres mayores institucionalizados sin deterioro cognitivo grave. *Revista Espanola de Geriatria y Gerontologia*, 47(6), 247–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regg.2012.06.007

Gonçalves, B., Fagulha, T., Ferreira, A., & Reis, N. (2014). Depressive symptoms and pain complaints as predictors of later development of depression in Portuguese middle-aged women. *Health Care for Women International*, *35*(11–12), 1228–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2013.862795

González-Vaca, J., de la Rica-Escuín, M., Silva-Iglesias, M., Arjonilla-García, M. D., Varela-Pérez, R., Oliver-Carbonell, J. L., & Abizanda, P. (2014). Frailty in INstitutionalized older adults from ALbacete. The FINAL Study: rationale, design, methodology, prevalence and attributes. *Maturitas*, 77(1), 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.10.005

Guigoz, Y. (2006). The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA(registered trademark)) review of the literature - What does it tell us? *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging, 10*(6), 466–485. Retrieved from http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L46127189 %5Cnhttp://sfx.hul.harvard.edu/sfx_local?sid=EMBASE&issn=12797707&id=doi:&atitle=The +Mini+Nutritional+Assessment+(MNA?)+review+of+the+literature+-

+What+does+it+tell+us?&stitle

Hyde, Z., Flicker, L., Almeida, O. P., Hankey, G. J., McCaul, K. A., Chubb, S. A. P., & Yeap, B. B. (2010). Low Free Testosterone Predicts Frailty in Older Men: The Health in Men Study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, *95*(7), 3165–3172. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-2754

Katz, S., Downs, T. D., Cash, H. R., & Grotz, R. C. (1970). Progress in development of the index of ADL. *The Gerontologist*, *10*(1), 20–30. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5420677

Laidlaw, K., Power, M. J., & Schmidt, S. (2007). The Attitudes to Ageing Questionnaire (AAQ): development and psychometric properties. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22(4), 367–79. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.1683

Lerner, R. M., Liben, L. S., & Mueller, U. (2015). *Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental* Science, Cognitive Processes. Retrieved from https://books.google.pt/books?id=5h7PBwAAQBAJ&pg=PA1047&lpg=PA1047&dq=Campbel I+and+Butcher's+cognition&source=bl&ots=-juU8NoAq7&sig=f-ulfegqOEpoB-z08wkKaqJV2lo&hl=pt-

BR&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwiKtaaW8NHUAhUC2xoKHZGpBd0Q6AEIJTAA#v=onepage&q=Ca mpbell and Butcher's

Matlabi, H., Behtash, H. H., & Shafiei, M. (2016). Admission to a Nursing Home: Viewpoints of Institutionalized Older People about Replacement. *Elderly Health Journal Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences*, *2*(1), 1–5. Retrieved from http://ehj.ssu.ac.ir/article-1-48-en.pdf

Melo, C. (2009). ADAPTAÇÃO CULTURAL E VALIDAÇÃO DA ESCALA "FALLS EFFICACY SCALE" DE TINETTI. *Revista Da Associação Médica Brasileira*, 55(1986), 192–196.

Mermans, E., Degryse, J., Vaes, B., Boeckxstaens, P., Vaes, B., Legrand, D., ... Kidd, M. (2016). Treatment intentions of general practitioners regarding hypertension in the oldest old: a vignette study. *BMC Family Practice*, *17*(1), 122. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-016-0523-y

Morley, J. E. (2011). Frailty: diagnosis and management. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, *15*(8), 667–70. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968862
Muller, M., Smulders, Y. M., De Leeuw, P. W., & Stehouwer, C. D. A. (2014, March 1).Acriticalroleforfrailty?Hypertension.https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.00911

Neto, F. F. (1996). Correlates of social blushing. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 20(3), 365–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(95)00180-8

Pearce, N. (2012). Classification of epidemiological study designs. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *41*(2), 393–397. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dys049

Petrini, C. (2014). Helsinki 50 years on. *La Clinica Terapeutica*, *165*(4), 179–81. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25203329

Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (2013). Development and validation of criterion-referenced clinically relevant fitness standards for maintaining physical independence in later years. *Gerontologist*, 53(2), 255–267.

Salimetrics UK. (2017). Salimetrics: Saliva Collection, Saliva EIA kits, Saliva Testing, & Salivary Bioscience Research. Retrieved May 28, 2017, from https://www.salimetrics.com/

Santos, R., Soares-Miranda, L., Vale, S., Moreira, C., Marques, A. I., & Jorge, M. (2010). Sitting time and body mass index, in a portuguese sample of men: Results from the azorean physical activity and health study (APAHS). *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *7*(4), 1500–1507. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7041500

Sewo Sampaio, P. Y., Sampaio, R. A. C., Coelho J??nior, H. J., Teixeira, L. F. M., Tessutti, V. D., Uchida, M. C., & Arai, H. (2015, July). Differences in lifestyle, physical performance and quality of life between frail and robust Brazilian community-dwelling elderly women. *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, pp. 829–835. https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.12562

Teixeira, A. M., Ferreira, J. P., Hogervorst, E., Braga, M. F., Bandelow, S., Rama, L., ... Pedrosa, F. M. (2016). Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *4*, 133. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133

Theou, O., Brothers, T. D., Pe??a, F. G., Mitnitski, A., & Rockwood, K. (2014). Identifying common characteristics of frailty across seven scales. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.12773

CHAPTER 7 (STUDY 5):

PHYSICAL FITNESS AND FRAILTY SYNDROME IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER WOMEN**

Authors:

Guilherme Furtado

Miguel Patrício

Marisa Loureiro

Ana Botelho Teixeira

José Pedro Ferreira

^{**}Furtado G, Patrício M, Loureiro M, Teixeira AMAM, Ferreira JPJP. Physical Fitness and Frailty Syndrome in Institutionalized Older Women. Percept Mot Skills [Internet]. 2017 May 31 [cited 2017 Jun 12];124(4):3151251770991. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28560893; Impact factor: 0.703.

7.1 Abstract

Associations between frailty and physical-functional fitness (PFF) indicators in frail women over 65 years of age remain largely unexplored. This study analyzed the relationship between old physical frailty syndrome (PF) and PhFi indicators and assessed how the latter might predict the former. Participants were 119 elderly women (81.96 ±7.89 years) recruited from four social and healthcare centers. PhFi was assessed through muscle strength tests of upper and lower limbs, endurance, agility-dynamic balance, flexibility and body composition. The following PF indicators were assessed: weight loss, exhaustion, weakness, slowness and low physical activity level. Significant correlations were found between PF and endurance, agility-dynamic balance, upper and lower limbs muscle strength tests. Comparison analyses also revealed that, among PF groups, the frail subgroup performed significantly poorer on all PFF measures except body composition. Additionally, a Receiving Operating Characteristics curve analysis revealed good diagnostic accuracy for predicting PF by using the agility-dynamic balance test (AUC=.82, 95% CI [0.74, 0.90]; sensitivity and specificity were 70.4% and 84.8% for the cut-off = 16.22 seconds). Thus, the agility-dynamic balance test is a promising tool for screening institutionalized older people for risk of physical frailty.

Keywords: Physical Frailty, older women, physical fitness, agility-dynamic balance.

7.2 Introduction

Physical Frailty syndrome (PF) is a complex ageing expression determined by ontogenetic and phylogenetic factors (Fried et al., 2001). Chronic stress has been shown to have immuno-suppressive effects that accelerate aging and cause cumulative disorders in many physiological systems, resulting in a frail state (Clegg & Trust, 2011). In PF, physiological reserve and defense functions decline (Fried et al., 2001), compromising the individual's capacity to withstand chronic biological stress (Afilalo et al., 2014) and leading to institutionalization or hospitalization, often followed by a premature death (Lally & Crome, 2007). According to geriatric specialists, PF is a highly prevalent and important physical health impairment associated with five identifying criteria: weakness, low resistance to effort, slowness, low physical activity levels and unintentional weight loss (Abizanda et al., 2013; Rockwood, MacDonald, Sutton, Rockwood, & Baron, 2014).

Despite relationships between the decline in the physical functioning and PF, we cannot attribute to PF any central cause (Cho, Scarpace, & Alexander, 2004; Greene, Doheny, O'Halloran, & Anne Kenny, 2014; Kim et al., 2010). Progressive muscle damage related to the deleterious effects of senescence, seems to be at its pathophysiological core (Mohler, Fain, Wertheimer, Najafi, & Nikolich-Žugich, 2014). PF is associated with but not a direct result of aging (Romero-Ortuno, 2013). Currently, there are increasingly robust associations between PF and multiple comorbidities, that although less lethal, tend to accumulate during the aging process (Robinson et al., 2009). Physical disability seems to be a primary pathway to PF (Macklai, Spagnoli, Junod, & Santos-Eggimann, 2013). Notwithstanding the high correlation between low levels of physical-functional health in frail populations (Peterson et al., 2009), some studies have recently discussed the potential attenuation and prevention effect that exercise may have on PF, through stimulating positive improvement in physical-functional fitness (PhFi) indicators (Jeoung & Lee, 2015).

The American College of Sport Medicine (ACSM) describes PhFi as multidimensional, including cardiorespiratory fitness, flexibility, body composition, muscular strength and endurance (Garber et al., 2011). Despite the importance of all PhFi dimensions, the scientific consensus considers cardiorespiratory fitness and muscle strength/resistance as most important epidemiologically from childhood (de Chaves et al., 2016) to old age (Nelson et al., 2007). In this sense, maintaining satisfactory levels of PhFi through adherence to regular exercise, appears highly beneficial in attenuating and preventing cardiometabolic diseases (Murphy, McNeilly, & Murtagh, 2010), osteoarticular disorders (Peterson et al., 2009), sarcopenia and the frail condition (Mjm, van Uffelen, Riphagen, & van Mechelen, 2008; Park, Kwak, Harveson, Weavil, & Seo, 2015). Strong associations between health-related quality of life and PhFi in populations over 60 years old have been reported (Takata et al., 2010).

Some researchers reported that the decline on PhFi indicators associated with age is aggravated by a sedentary lifestyle (Kimura, Mizuta, Yamada, Okayama, & Nakamura, 2012). Women, aged over 60 years, have been found to be less physically active overall but more involved in household activities (Lee, 2008) than older men. On the other hand, the results of a recent and stronger epidemiologic study carried out in 11 countries revealed that women over 60 years of age in all these countries were more likely than men to have disabling, non-lethal conditions including physical disability (i.e., difficulties to perform general activities of daily life), osteoarticular diseases, depressive symptoms and hypertension (Crimmins, Kim, & Solé-Auró, 2011). Many of these diseases are robustly related to a sedentary behavior across life (Chastin, Fitzpatrick, Andrews, & DiCroce, 2014).

The study of associations between PF and some PhFi indicators has recently gained the interest of the scientific community in its search for simple and effective means of preventing PF. Most of these studies have focused on people over 65 years of age living in the community (Drubbel et al., 2014). However, recent research showed a higher prevalence of various comorbidities, PF, and mortality among people living in centers for social and health care support (Abizanda et al., 2014; Nóbrega, Maciel, de Almeida Holanda, Oliveira Guerra, & Araújo, 2014). This type of institution seems to exert a 'protective effect' for many people, preventing other adverse clinical events mostly through improved nutrition (Abizanda et al., 2014). However, since a decrease in physical-motor proficiency, loss of functional autonomy (related to mental health) and absence of family are also psychosocial characteristics of this population (Abizanda et al., 2013), these centers may also play a role in improved PhFi. Given the expected growth in the European adult population over 65 years of age and the fact that PF increases health costs and decreases health related physical activity, it is essential to better understand the relationship between PF and PhFi outcomes.

Therefore, a set of objective and accurate assessment criteria appropriate for use in institutionalized older people is essential to enable health staff to recognize PF cases at early periods and subsequently, provide timely and appropriate combined therapeutics. This study explored the relationship between PF status and PhFi indicators in institutionalized dwelling older women and also explored the sensitivity, specificity, cut-off points and predictive performance of specific senior PhFi tests for identifying frailty status. We hypothesized that PF participants would be at higher risk of PhFi decline, when compared to individuals identified as pre-frail or not frail (robust), and we looked for independent associations between PF and PhFi tests to better predict frailty.

7.3 Methods

This study was a prospective, cross-sectional, local, older population-based survey in which we collected information about PF incidence in older people living in centers for social and health care support (CHS). The sample consisted of a subset of participants within the PRO-HMESCI study protocol (Teixeira et al., 2016). Our initial sample consisted of 203 older participants aged over 60 years minus 84 participants who failed to meet exclusion criteria or dropped out as follows: physical impairment associated with musculoskeletal disorders and joint or muscle pain in the performance of some specific movements or tests (n=34), closed diagnosis of early-stage of dementia or mental disorder (n=09); severe impairment of hearing or visual functions that made it impossible to perform all tests (n=07); need of palliative health care or special nutritional support, with medical indications not to participate in the study (n=04); participants who dropped-out when applying the tests (n=10); and male participants excluded for methodological reasons (n=20).

Participant inclusion criteria used were: women aged over 60 years and willing to assent to take part in the study spontaneously who were under control and updated with prescribed medications. The final number of participants was 119 older women. Needed statistical power was computed by considering the agility-dynamic balance test values in studies comparing frail and pre-frail groups, using a Mann–Whitney U test, with a significance level of 0.01. The computations were performed on G*power 3.1.9.2, and the power was determined to be 0.99 (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009) with a sample of 119 and an effect size of 1.12.

7.3.1 Ethical Procedures

CHS directors and elders who expressed interest in participating in the study signed an informed consent form, in which the privacy and anonymous identity of the data collected were guaranteed and any needed access to participants' medical records were given. The study protocol was approved by the Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education Ethical Committee - University of Coimbra [reference code: CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013], in respect of Portuguese Resolution [Art.^o 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series] on ethics in research (Braga, 2013) and complied with the guidelines for research with human beings of the Helsinki Declaration (Petrini, 2014).

7.3.2 Outcome Measures

Data collection of sociodemographic and medical history status, frailty syndrome, physical fitness and anthropometric indicators was organized by the principal investigator and were performed by independent specialists (properly trained) of the research team. To minimize differences in data collection procedures, the same evaluator carried out data collection for all participants.

7.3.3 Sociodemographic Status.

Information on chronological age (continuous variable); marital state (assessed as a four categories variable: single, married, widowed and divorced) and level of education (assessed as a continuous variable) was collected for each participant. The level of education was classified according to the Portuguese educational system and analyzed as a continuous variable (Fernandes, 2007).

7.3.4 Anthropometric Measures

The standardized procedures described by Lohan and colleagues (Chumlea, Baumgartner, 1989) were followed for the collection of anthropometric data, including body mass weight determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms, stature determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimeters, and body mass index (BMI), calculated according the formula [BMI = weight/height²].

7.3.5 Comorbidities

The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) was used in this study, is a method of predicting mortality by classifying or weighting comorbid conditions. The CCI has been widely utilized by health researchers to measure burden of disease and has a weighted index based on 19 comorbid conditions. Its score can be combined/adjusted with age and gender to form a single index (continuous variable). One point for each additional 10 years is added to the initial score, that has been shown to predict one-year and 10-year mortality (Charlson, Szatrowski, Peterson, & Gold, 1994). Medical records provided by the medical and health professional team were used to verify the accuracy of information provided by study participants for use within the CCI.

7.3.6 Medication-use assessment.

Daily medications used by the participants was assessed through question number six of the Mini Nutritional Assessment (Guigoz, 2006), that asks the participant if she takes more than 3 or less prescription drugs per day. Additionally, the number of medications-used was checked systematically through the institutional medical record of each participant, identifying and reporting polypharmacy (takes more than 3 prescription drugs per day) according to the Portuguese Classification System of Human Medicine (Santos & Almeida, 2010).

7.3.7 Cognitive Status Assessment.

The Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE) used in this study assesses five areas of cognition: orientation, immediate recall, attention and calculation, delayed recall, and language (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975). The maximum MMSE score is 30 points, and a score below 24 points is considered abnormal and used for dementia and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) screening (Melo & Barbosa, 2015). The MMSE was used to classify participants by cognitive profile as a category variable, according to the following cut off values: severe cognitive impairment, 1 to 9 points; moderate cognitive impairment, 10 to 18; MCI, 19 to 24 points and normal cognitive status, 25 to 30 points (Mungas, 1991). Additionally, the MMSE can be analyzed as a continuous variable. Its purpose in this study was to help determine whether a low cognition profile might have affected physical fitness trainability as has been shown by prior research (Uemura et al., 2013).

7.3.8 Physical Frailty Syndrome Screening.

Assessment of Physical frailty was evaluated according to the following Fried's five criteria of the frailty phenotype index (Fried et al., 2001):

i) Weight loss assessed by self-report of unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months; ii) Poor endurance and energy (self-reported exhaustion) evaluated by negative concordance of two questions, number seven and twenty, of the questionnaire developed by the Center of Epidemiologic Studies for Depression, called the CES-D scale (Gonçalves, Fagulha, Ferreira, & Reis, 2014); iii) Weakness, analyzed using the handgrip strength test (HGT). This test uses a hand-held dynamometer (Lafayette Dynamometer, model 78010, United States) and strength is measured in kilograms. The subject holds the dynamometer in the hand to be tested, with the elbow by the side of the body. When ready the subject squeezes the dynamometer with maximum isometric effort, which is maintained for 5 seconds. The best result of the two trials was used for scoring purposes (Syddall, Cooper, Martin, Briggs, & Aihie Sayer, 2003). Participants who were unable to

perform the HGT and those in the lowest 20% (adjusted for BMI and stratified by gender) were categorized as positive for the weakness criterion; iv) Slowness, as measured by the '15 feet walking test', consisting in an individual walk without assistance (4,6 meters) where the time taken to complete it is measured and expressed in seconds, adjusted for gender and height. The best time of the two trials was used for final scoring (Newman, Haggerty, Kritchevsky, Nevitt, & Simonsick, 2003); v) low physical activity level, assessed by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) short form such that participants classified as having 'low levels of PA' and 'very low sedentary' on this instrument scored negatively in the PF criteria (Guessous et al., 2014; Pitanga, Pitanga, Beck, Gabriel, & Moreira, 2012). The prevalence of FS combined score was calculated, as well as the presence of each of the five items (0 to 5 points). According to the Fried Protocol, the negative evaluation in one or two criteria classifies the participants as pre-frail, in three or more as frail and as non-frail or robust, when the subject has no void in any of the five criteria of PF (Fried et al., 2001).

7.3.9 Assessment of Physical Fitness Indicators.

The following Senior Fitness Test battery developed by Rikli and Jones (2013) was used to measure PhFi: i) The lower body strength is determined with the '30 second's chairand-stand test' (30s-CS), measuring the number of total full chair-stands that can be completed in 30 seconds with the arms folded across the chest; ii) The upper body strength was assessed with the '30 seconds arm-curl test' (30s-AC) that measures the total number of bicep curls that can be completed in 30 seconds, seated in a chair and holding a hand weight of 5 lbs (2.27 kg) for women. iii) For lower-body flexibility we used the 'chair sit-and-reach test' (CSR), from a sitting position at front of chair, with leg extended and hands reaching toward the toes, the number of inches (centimeters, + or -) between extended fingers and tip of toe are measured; iv) The upper-body flexibility (shoulder girdle) was measured using the 'back Stretch' test, that assesses the distance (centimeters, + or -) of approach between the middle fingers when one hand reaching over the shoulder and one up the middle of the back; v) Agility-dynamic balance (ADB) was assessed using the eight-foot-up and go test, that assesses the time in seconds required for the participant to get up from a chair (seated position), walk as quickly as possible around either side of a cone placed 2,44 meters away from the chair, turn and sit back down in the seated position; vi) Aerobic resistance was measured through the "2-minutes step test" (2m-ST), that consisted of the number of full steps the subject completed in two minutes performing a stationary gait, with one hand resting on the wall and raising each knee to a midway point between the kneecap and iliac crest. Score is the number of times the right knee reaches the required height. (Rikli,& Jones, 2013).

For all the PhFi tests the best score of the two trials performed was used for final scoring purposes. When upper and lower members were tested in both sides (i.e. left and right) the best scoring side was the one considered for scoring purposes.

7.4 Statistical Analysis

The assumption of normality was checked by resorting to Shapiro Wilk tests and by visual inspection of normality plots. When normally distributed, quantitative variables were described by their means and standard deviations. When not normally distributed, medians and the first and third quartiles were used instead. Nominal variables were described with absolute and relative frequencies.

A comparison of quantitative variables between PF categories (no frail, pre-frail and frail) was performed using one-way ANOVA test or Kruskal-Wallis test, as applicable. Associations between nominal variables were assessed using the chi-squares test and Monte Carlo simulations were performed when appropriate. Partial correlations between the PF combined score and PhFi indicators were computed, together with partial correlations controlling for the cognitive status, comorbidities and both factors at the same time. The variables expressing PhFi results were analyzed regarding their predictive value to distinguish between frail and pre-frail subgroups by performing a Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) curve analyses. A multivariate logistic regression was subsequently undertaken, considering all of the aforementioned PhFi test performance variables as predictors of PF. IBM SPSS Statistics 21.0 and in 'R 3.3.1' software were used for all computations. The level of significance adopted was P= 0.05.

7.5 Results

Data from 119 participants were analyzed, and Table 7.1 presents descriptive characteristics of the participants for all variables. Analysis of the sociodemographic variables indicated that our participants were older women (81.96 ± 7.89), mostly without husbands (94.1%) and with low academic achievement levels according to the Portuguese education classification system (3^{rd} grade). When the 'no frail,' 'pre-frail' and 'frail' subgroups were compared, there were no statistical differences between these groups for chronological age, weight and marital state. Statistical differences were found for height (p < 0.05).

Concerning clinical status, the average scores of the total sample classified the sample as a whole as showing a cognitive status of MCI (MMSE, 20 points), a high incidence of multicomorbidity and a high risk of mortality (CCI, 7 points) and a high incidence of polypharmacy. Differences between groups were found for MMSE scores that were lower (p<0.001) and CCI scores that were higher (p = 0.026) in the frail group. There was also a clear tendency for increased polypharmacy in the frail subgroup. Regarding PF assessment, 19 participants were classified as nonfrail (16%), 46 subjects as pre-frail (38,7%) and 54 as frail (45.4%).

	Total sample	Nonfrail	Pre-frail	Frail	r
	(n=119, 100%)	(n=19, 16%)	(n=46, 38.7%)	(n=54, 45.4%)	P
Bio-sociodemographic					
Chronological age (years, A±SD)	81,96 ±7,89	81.68 ±6.72	81.80 ± 8.65	82.19 ± 7.72	0.959
Weight (kilograms, A±SD)	65.45±12.58	66.22 ± 11.33	65.08 ±11.54	65.49 ± 13.98	0.946
Height (meters, M1;3)	1.51 (1.47 ; 1.56)	1.56 (1.49 ; 1.62)	1.51 (1.47 ; 1.55)	1.50 (1.46 ; 1.52)	0.008
Marital state (n,%)					
Single	31 (26.1)	6 (31.6)	12 (26.1)	13 (24.1)	
Married	7 (5.9)	4 (21.0)	1 (2.2)	2 (3.7)	0.073
Widowed or divorced	81 (68.0)	9 (47.4)	33 (71.7)	39 (72.2)	
Level of education (degree; M1;3)	3 (3 ; 4)	4 (3 ; 6)	3 (3 ; 4)	3 (2 ; 4)	0.063
Clinical status					
Mini mental state exam (score, M1;3)	20 (15 ; 25)	25 (21 ; 27)	21 (17 ; 25)	17 (13 ; 22)	< 0.001
Charlson comorbidity index (score, M1;3)	7 (6 ; 9)	8 (6 ; 10)	7 (6 ; 8)	8 (7 ; 9)	0.026
Medication use, per day (n, %)					
I use more than three	108 (91.5%)	17 (89.5%)	43 (95.6%)	48 (88.9%)	0.465
I use three or less	10 (8.5%)	2 (10.5%)	2 (4.4%)	6 (11.1%)	
Frailty Syndrome (n, %)					
Weakness (N:P)	85 (71,4): 34(28.6)	0 (0) : 19 (100)	36 (78.3) : 10 (21.7)	49 (90.7) : 5 (9.3)	< 0.001
Slowness (N:P)	62 (52.1): 57(47.9)	0 (0) : 19 (100)	14 (30.4) : 32 (69.6)	48 (88.9) : 6 (11.1)	< 0.001
Poor energy (N:P)	49 (41.2): 70 (58.8)	0 (0) : 19 (100)	10 (21.7) : 36 (78.3)	39 (72.2) : 15 (27.8)	< 0.001
Weight loss (N:P)	19 (16): 100 (84)	0 (0) : 19 (100)	3 (6.5) : 43 (93.5)	16 (29.6) : 38 (70.4)	0.001
Low physical activity level (N:P)	55 (46.2): 64 (53.8)	0 (0) : 19 (100)	13 (28.3) : 33 (71.7)	42 (77.8) : 12 (22.2)	< 0.001
Physical Fitness (M1;3)					
Back stretch test (centimetres)	43.00 (34 ; 56)	53.00 (39.00 ; 70.50)	44.00 (37.50 ; 60.50)	40.25 (31.00 ; 51.00)	0.022
Agility-dynamic balance (seconds)	13.00 (10 ; 20.56)	9.75 (7.12 ; 10.58)	11.15 (9.20 ; 14.90)	20.14 (14.30 ; 25.97)	< 0.001
Chair sit and reach (centimetres)	36.00 (25.50 ; 42.50)	35.00 (23.00 ; 43.50)	38.75 (34.50 ; 43.50)	32.25 (22.50 ; 38.50)	0.002
30 seconds chair-and-stand test (reps)	8.00 (6.00 ; 11.00)	11.00 (10.00 ; 12.00)	9.00 (7.00 ; 11.00)	6.00 (5.00 ; 8.00)	< 0.001
30 seconds arm curl test (reps)	10.60 (8.00 ; 12.00)	13.00 (11.00 ; 15.00)	11.00 (9.00 ; 14.00)	9.00 (7.00 ; 11.00)	< 0.001
2-minutes step test (reps)	37.00 (20.00 ; 44.00)	52.00 (44.00 ; 60.00)	39.50 (30.00 ; 45.00)	27.00 (16.00 ; 35.40)	< 0.001
Body mass index (A±SD)	28.49±5.05	26.95± 3.78	28.22± 4.60	29.27± 5.69	0.205

Table 7.1 Characterization of the total sample study population^a and comparison by frailty phenotype index for sociodemographic, clinical status, frailty and physical fitness indicators.

^aData presented as (A±SD): average ± standard deviation; (M1;3): median; 1st quartile; 3rd quartile or as (n, %): number (percentage) of participants, where applicable; N = negative: P: positive.

Analysing scores from the senior PhFi tests battery and comparing the frailty subgroups, the frail group exhibited lower performance results on all tests. A comparison between the three groups showed statistically significant differences attained for all tests battery variables except for body mass index, whose results indicated higher values in the direction of the frail group. In addition to the descriptive scores described in Table 7.1, a graphical representation also showed PF-differences in PhFi scores. In Figure 7.1 of radar plot, to ensure comparability and an easier visualization, the medians were computed for each of the three PF sub-groups and then divided by the maximum of the three medians. It is worth mentioning that, for each PF component represented in the plot, higher results mean better performances. The frail group can be seen to have lower scores for all PhFi variables except for body composition.



Figure 7.1 Radar plot of the variables of the physical fitness tests comparison by physical frailty subgroups (n= 119).

Correlations between the combined score of PF and PhFi indicators can be seen in Table 7.2. Additional partial correlation, controlling for cognitive state, comorbidity and both variables were also included. Direct and strong correlations emerged from associations between PF combined score and ADB test (r = 0.662; p < 0.001). An inverse and strong association emerged in 2m-ST variables (r = -0.617; p < 0.001). Inverse and moderate association appears in 30s-CS (r = -0.555; p < 0.001) and 30s-AC (r = -0.456; p < 0.001) tests; inverse and small associations values appear in BST and 30s-CS tests (r = -0.289; p < 0.001, respectively).

No statistical correlation between BMI and FS combined score was found. When the effects of cognitive profile, comorbidity and interaction between both variables were removed, correlation scores decreased but did not change the magnitude of the correlations.

Control Variables		BST	ADB	CSR	30-SCS	30s-AC	2m	BMI
None	r	- 0.255	0.662	- 0.289	- 0.555	- 0.456	- 0.617	0.119
	р	0.005	< 0.001	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.198
MMSE	r	- 0.212	0.617	-0.292	-0.509	- 0.411	- 0.556	0.157
	р	0.021	< 0.001	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.090
ССІ	r	- 0.231	0.653	- 0.279	- 0.542	- 0.446	- 0.616	0.096
	р	0.012	< 0.001	0.002	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.303
MMSE and CCI	r	- 0.181	0.604	- 0.280	- 0.489	- 0.398	- 0.552	0.131
	р	0.051	< 0.001	0.002	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.159

 Table 7.2 Spearman total and partial correlations (controlling for cognitive, comorbidity and both) between combined score of FS and indicators of physical fitness tests (n =119).

Subsequently, ROC analyses were performed to assess how PhFi indicators may be used to predict PF status (see Table 7.3). The highest AUC value was attained for the ADB test, the 95% confidence interval being [0.739, 0.901]. The corresponding cut-off value, maximizing Youden's Index, was seen to be 16.22 (seconds), the sensitivity 70.4% and the specificity 84.8%.

Table 7.3 Predictive performance of physical fitness tests for frailty syndrome (n =119).

Variables	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	AUC	AUC 95% CI
Back stretch	≤33.75	37.0%	89.1%	0.631	[0.522, 0.740]
Agility-dynamic balance	≥16.22	70.4%	84.8%	0.820	[0.739, 0.901]
Chair sit and stand	≤35.75	68.5%	73.9%	0.712	[0.609, 0.815]
30 seconds chair stand	≤6.50	51.9%	89.1%	0.754	[0.661, 0.847]
30 seconds arm curl	≤11.50	92.6%	47.8%	0.728	[0.626, 0.829]
Two minutes step	≤36.50	77.8%	65.2%	0.738	[0.640, 0.836]
Body mass index	≥29.89	53.7%	63.0%	0.550	[0.436, 0.664]

Test performance indicators were used as predictors for PF in a logistic regression analysis aimed at distinguishing between pre-frail and frail sub-groups. Non-frail participants were thus excluded from this analysis. Out of the seven variables assessing test performance, only ADB test (β = 0.198; SE=0.052; p = 0.0000; OR = 1.218; OR 95% CI [1.110; 1.349]) and 30s-AC (β = -0.213; SE=0.086; p = 0.013; OR = 0.808; OR 95% CI [0.683; 0.956]) were found to be statistically significant predictors. These two predictor variables were linearly related to the logit of the dependent variable using the Box-Tidwell procedure. A multivariate outlier was identified using standardized residual and kept in the analysis. The model was seen to be statistically significant (χ^2 [2] = 45.181, *p* < 0.001) and to explain 48.6% (Nagelkerke R²) of the variance in the outcome variable. It achieved a sensitivity and specificity of 70.4% and 84.8%, respectively, with AUC 0.848 with the corresponding 95% confidence interval being [0.773, 0.922]. Figure 7.2 shows only those significant variables in multivariate logistic regression analysis.



Figure 7.2 Results of Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for test performance used physical fitness indicators (n = 119).

7.6 Discussion

The goals of this study were to explore associations between PF and PhFi indicators and to analyze predictive performance of PhFi tests among women living in centers for social and health care support in the district of Coimbra, Portugal. To our knowledge, this study is the first scientific examination of the predictive performance of PhFi indicators for evaluating PF in a Portuguese population over 65 years old. Frailty has similar prevalence (45.4% frail subgroup) when compared to other European countries that have studied samples living in social and health care support (Abizanda et al., 2013). According to other international studies, there is a clear trend towards an increasing prevalence of PF in samples of institutionalized individuals. Portuguese women over 65 years of age have distinct sociodemographic characteristics, when compared to South American (Yassuda et al., 2012), North American (Kiely, Cupples, & Lipsitz, 2009) and Asian populations (Han, Lee, & Kim, 2014). In agreement with other studies of participants with similar sample characteristics (González-Vaca et al., 2014), our bio-sociodemographic data revealed a trend toward lower levels of education in the pre-frail and frail subgroups.

Unlike other studies in which frail subjects were underweight (Donini et al., 2013), we found no statistically differences between groups in body weight and BMI. This fact may be explained by the nutritional support these individuals received from the care center in which they were living, consistent with a cross-sectional study conducted in Spain (González-Vaca et al., 2014). According to several researchers, in recent years, malnutrition is a frequent problem among people living in institutionalized context (Cereda, Valzolgher, & Pedrolli, 2008; De Luis et al., 2011; Donini et al., 2013). Our data highlight the importance of adequate nutritional balance, one of the variables at the core of the FS status. Especially for this study, it is important to note that body weight probably did not affect the assessment of PhFi.

In terms of clinical history, cognitive impairment and incidence of comorbidities are the most explored dimensions in studies combining PF-correlates (Brigola et al., 2015; Chang & Lin, 2015). Despite ICC scores, present data does not indicate an increase in the number of diseases in the direction of the frail subgroup. The prevalence of a high comorbidity index in our study sample was present in all the PF subgroups. The results of cognitive function assessed by the MMSE showed statistical differences between PF subgroups. The pattern of increased MCI occurrence among the pre-frail and the frail people in this study was comparable to previous studies (Abizanda et al., 2013; Han et al., 2014). However, studies with similar samples with participants living in community-dwelling context have higher values in MMSE scores when compared to studies with institutionalized samples (Robertson, Savva, Coen, & Kenny, 2014). Regarding differences in PhFi indicators between FS subgroups, frail people exhibited smaller scores in the lower and upper body strength, lower and upper body flexibility, agility, dynamic balance and aerobic resistance capacities compared to the non-frail and pre-frail sub-groups.

An improvement on PhFi performance, through regular physical exercise practice, reportedly enhanced physiological parameters related to physical health, exerting therapeutic treatment effect for prevention and mitigation of specific outcomes of physical impairment and can also contribute to increasing physical activity and quality of life (Patel, Newstead, & Ferrer, 2012), even in people aged over 65 years old (Vrantsidis et al., 2014).

The scientific literature recognizes the importance of maintaining an active lifestyle across life, to mitigate adverse and harmful negative effects on physical health. However, muscle strength and cardiorespiratory fitness are consensually the most encouraged PhFi components to be predominantly trained, because of the direct relationship between the human vital capacity and physiological reserve (Charansonney, 2011). A closer look at the FS sub-groups, specifically the frail subjects, revealed that weakness (muscular strength), slowness (walking speed) and low physical activity levels were the three FS components on which a larger number of participants scored negatively. The results of partial correlation between PF combined score and PhFi indicators (seeTable 7.2) showed satisfactory correlations between these dimensions, even when controlling for the effects of comorbidities, cognition profile or both. Some studies indicate that these clinical conditions exert influence on PhFi variables, though this was not demonstrated in the present study. Generally, our results are consistent with other studies that explored associations among similar variables and dimensions (Chang et al., 2014; Jeoung & Lee, 2015).

A second central focus of the present study was an analysis of the potential performance of PhFi tests for predicting the FS condition. We identified the 30s-AC and ADB test as two potential predictors of PF. The longer the ADB test took to be completed and the lower the number of repetitions in 30s-AC, the greater the risk of being frail. Notably, the ADB test was the best predictor. According to recent studies, this test seems to be an appropriate, independent and predictive tool to detect frail subjects (Chang et al., 2014). Note that for the same sensitivity as the best univariate predictor (ADB test), the logistic regression model allows for a slightly higher specificity (89.1%, whereas it was 84.8%).

In analytical terms, for this population or another with similar characteristics, taking longer than 16.22 seconds to complete this test predicts the existence of a frail condition. Accurately, the risk of frail condition (not pre-frail) increases about 2.12% per second spent in the ADB test (see Table 7.3). Similar results were previously found in a similar study using an analogous test (the time-up-and-go test) for predicting frail condition in community-dwelling subjects (Greene et al., 2014; Savva et al., 2013).

However, in their sample, unlike the present study, the authors excluded individuals with MCI. As mentioned, the comparison of the ADB test values between frail and pre-frail subgroups is of particular importance, since statistically significant differences were found between the ADB test values of the two groups, (U=446, p<0.01). The satisfactory execution of this test requires awareness, concentration on the information received (attention) and fast decision-making (reaction time) when the participant receives the signal to 'raise from the chair' and walk as quickly as possible (Barry, Galvin, Keogh, Horgan, & Fahey, 2014);

Additionally, rising from a chair unassisted by upper limbs requires lower limbs muscle strength, and walking fast and turning around a cone placed at 2.44 meters requires quickness, agility, dynamic balance and body support (Cebolla, Rodacki, & Bento, 2015). Thus, this test requires the integration of physical capacities, highly dependent on a satisfactory neurocognitive functioning. Perhaps this is the reason why the cut-off values for predicting risk of PF status in the present study were higher than previous studies in which the predictive cut off value was \geq 8.12 seconds (Chang et al., 2014) as our sample contained individuals whose MMSE test values were in the range of mild cognitive impairment.

The central findings of the present study support the power of the agility-dynamic balance test for predicting PF in institutionalized populations aged over 65 years, where application of Fried's criteria is not feasible. This study's limitations include a sample that was only representative of institutionalized women since randomly selected institutions in a 'universe' of many others was the most feasible, fast and economical method of data collection and the number of male participants motivated to participate was very low. However, comparing these data to similar results from previous research, we conclude that the agility-dynamic balance test is gaining clinical utility because of its accuracy in detecting physical frailty. It has potential for use as a reference measure in future exercise intervention studies.

7.7 References

- Abizanda, P., Romero, L., Sánchez-Jurado, P. M., Martínez-Reig, M., Alfonso-Silguero, S. A.,
 & Rodríguez-Mañas, L. (2014). Age, frailty, disability, institutionalization, multimorbidity or comorbidity. Which are the main targets in older adults? *The Journal of Nutrition, Health*& Aging, 18(6), 622–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-014-0033-3
- Abizanda, P., Romero, L., Sánchez-Jurado, P. M., Martínez-Reig, M., Gómez-Arnedo, L., & Alfonso, S. A. (2013). Frailty and mortality, disability and mobility loss in a Spanish cohort of older adults: the FRADEA study. *Maturitas*, 74(1), 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.09.018
- Afilalo, J., Alexander, K. P., Mack, M. J., Maurer, M. S., Green, P., Allen, L. A., ... Forman, D.
 E. (2014). Frailty assessment in the cardiovascular care of older adults. *Journal of the American* College of Cardiology, 63(8), 747–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.09.070
- Barry, E., Galvin, R., Keogh, C., Horgan, F., & Fahey, T. (2014). Is the Timed Up and Go test a useful predictor of risk of falls in community dwelling older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Geriatrics*, *14*, 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-14-14
- Batterham, A. M., & Hopkins, W. G. (2006). About Magnitudes. International Journal of Sports *Physiology* and *Performance*, 1(1), 50–57. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=pt-PT&Ir=&id=gkalyqTMXNEC&pgis=1
- Braga, R. (2013). Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos. Revista Portuguesa de Medicina Geral E Familiar, 29(6), 354–356. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.mec.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S2182-51732013000600001&lng=pt&nrm=iso&tlng=pt
- Brigola, A. G., Rossetti, E. S., Santos, B. R. dos, Neri, A. L., Zazzetta, M. S., Inouye, K., & Pavarini, S. C. I. (2015). Relationship between cognition and frailty in elderly: A systematic review. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 9(2), 110–119. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-57642015DN92000005
- Cebolla, E. C., Rodacki, A. L. F., & Bento, P. C. B. (2015). Balance, gait, functionality and strength: Comparison between elderly fallers and non-fallers. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, *19*(2), 146–151. https://doi.org/10.1590/bjpt-rbf.2014.0085

- Cereda, E., Valzolgher, L., & Pedrolli, C. (2008). Mini nutritional assessment is a good predictor of functional status in institutionalised elderly at risk of malnutrition. *Clinical Nutrition* (*Edinburgh, Scotland*), 27(5), 700–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2008.06.001
- Chang, S.-F., & Lin, P.-L. (2015). Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.04.005
- Chang, S.-F., Yang, R.-S., Lin, T.-C., Chiu, S.-C., Chen, M.-L., & Lee, H.-C. (2014). The discrimination of using the short physical performance battery to screen frailty for community-dwelling elderly people. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship: An Official Publication of Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing / Sigma Theta Tau*, 46(3), 207–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12068
- Charansonney, O. L. (2011). Physical activity and aging: a life-long story. *Discov Med*, *12*(64), 177–185. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21955845
- Charlson, M., Szatrowski, T. P., Peterson, J., & Gold, J. (1994). Validation of a combined comorbidity index. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *47*(11), 1245–51. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560
- Chastin, S. F. M., Fitzpatrick, N., Andrews, M., & DiCroce, N. (2014). Determinants of sedentary behavior, motivation, barriers and strategies to reduce sitting time in older women: a qualitative investigation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 11(1), 773–91. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110100773
- Cho, B. L., Scarpace, D., & Alexander, N. B. (2004). Tests of stepping as indicators of mobility, balance, and fall risk in balance-impaired older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *52*(7), 1168–1173.
- Chumlea, W., Baumgartner, N. (1989). Status of anthropometry in elderly subjects3 w composition data. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *50*(1158–1166).
- Clegg, A., & Trust, D. M. (2011). CME Geriatric medicine The frailty syndrome, 11(1), 72–75.

- Crimmins, E. M., Kim, J. K., & Solé-Auró, A. (2011). Gender differences in health: results from SHARE, ELSA and HRS. *European Journal of Public Health*, 21(1), 81–91. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckq022
- de Chaves, R. N., Bustamante Valdívia, A., Nevill, A., Freitas, D., Tani, G., Katzmarzyk, P. T., & Maia, J. A. R. (2016). Developmental and physical-fitness associations with gross motor coordination problems in Peruvian children. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 53–54, 107–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2016.01.003
- De Luis, D. A., López Mongil, R., Gonzalez Sagrado, M., Lopez Trigo, J. A., Mora, P. F., & Castrodeza Sanz, J. (2011). Nutritional status in a multicenter study among institutionalized patients in Spain. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences*, 15(3), 259–65. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21528771
- Donini, L. M., Scardella, P., Piombo, L., Neri, B., Asprino, R., Proietti, A. R., ... Morrone, A. (2013). Malnutrition in elderly: social and economic determinants. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 17(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-012-0374-8
- Drubbel, I., Numans, M. E., Kranenburg, G., Bleijenberg, N., de Wit, N. J., & Schuurmans, M. J. (2014). Screening for frailty in primary care: a systematic review of the psychometric properties of the frailty index in community-dwelling older people. *BMC Geriatrics*, *14*(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-14-27
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149–60. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Fernandes, D. (2007). A avaliação das aprendizagens no Sistema Educativo Português. *Educação E Pesquisa*, 33(3), 581–600. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-97022007000300013
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). 'Mini-mental state'. A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *12*(3), 189–198. https://doi.org/0022-3956(75)90026-6 [pii]
- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, a B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., ... McBurnie,
 M. a. (2001). Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(3), M146-56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156
- Garber, C. E., Blissmer, B., Deschenes, M. R., Franklin, B. A., Lamonte, M. J., Lee, I.-M., ... Swain, D. P. (2011). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and

quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *43*(7), 1334–59. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb

- Gonçalves, B., Fagulha, T., Ferreira, A., & Reis, N. (2014). Depressive symptoms and pain complaints as predictors of later development of depression in Portuguese middle-aged women. *Health Care for Women International*, 35(11–12), 1228–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2013.862795
- González-Vaca, J., de la Rica-Escuín, M., Silva-Iglesias, M., Arjonilla-García, M. D., Varela-Pérez, R., Oliver-Carbonell, J. L., & Abizanda, P. (2014). Frailty in INstitutionalized older adults from ALbacete. The FINAL Study: rationale, design, methodology, prevalence and attributes. *Maturitas*, 77(1), 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.10.005
- Greene, B. R., Doheny, E. P., O'Halloran, A., & Anne Kenny, R. (2014). Frailty status can be accurately assessed using inertial sensors and the TUG test. *Age and Ageing*, 43(3), 406–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/aft176
- Guessous, I., Luthi, J. C., Bowling, C. B., Theler, J. M., Paccaud, F., Gaspoz, J. M., & McClellan, W. (2014). Prevalence of frailty indicators and association with socioeconomic status in middle-aged and older adults in a swiss region with universal health insurance coverage: A population-based cross-sectional study. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2014, 8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/198603
- Guigoz, Y. (2006). The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA(registered trademark)) review of the literature - What does it tell us? *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging, 10*(6), 466–485. Retrieved from http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L46127 189%5Cnhttp://sfx.hul.harvard.edu/sfx_local?sid=EMBASE&issn=12797707&id=doi:&ati tle=The+Mini+Nutritional+Assessment+(MNA?)+review+of+the+literature+-+What+does+it+tell+us?&stitle
- Han, E. S., Lee, Y., & Kim, J. (2014). Association of cognitive impairment with frailty in community-dwelling older adults. *International Psychogeriatrics / IPA*, 26(1), 155–63. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610213001841
- Jeoung, B. J., & Lee, Y. C. (2015). A Study of relationship between frailty and physical performance in elderly women. *Journal of Exercise Rehabilitation*, *11*(4), 215–9. https://doi.org/10.12965/jer.150223

- Kiely, D. K., Cupples, L. A., & Lipsitz, L. A. (2009). Validation and comparison of two frailty indexes: The MOBILIZE Boston Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(9), 1532–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02394.x
- Kim, M.-J., Yabushita, N., Kim, M.-K., Nemoto, M., Seino, S., & Tanaka, K. (2010). Mobility performance tests for discriminating high risk of frailty in community-dwelling older women. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 51(2), 192–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2009.10.007
- Kimura, M., Mizuta, C., Yamada, Y., Okayama, Y., & Nakamura, E. (2012). Constructing an index of physical fitness age for Japanese elderly based on 7-year longitudinal data: sex differences in estimated physical fitness age. *Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands)*, *34*(1), 203– 14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-011-9225-5
- Lally, F., & Crome, P. (2007). Understanding frailty. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 83(975), 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1136/pgmj.2006.048587
- Lee, Y. S. (2008). Gender Differences in Physical Activity and Walking Among Older Adults. *Journal of Women & Aging*, *17:1-2*(June 2014), 55–70. https://doi.org/10.1300/J074v17n01
- Macklai, N. S., Spagnoli, J., Junod, J., & Santos-Eggimann, B. (2013). Prospective association of the SHARE-operationalized frailty phenotype with adverse health outcomes: evidence from 60+ community-dwelling Europeans living in 11 countries. *BMC Geriatrics*, *13*(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-13-3
- Melo, D. M. de, & Barbosa, A. J. G. (2015). [Use of the Mini-Mental State Examination in research on the elderly in Brazil: a systematic review]. *Ciência & Saúde Coletiva*, 20(12), 3865–76. https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-812320152012.06032015
- Mjm, van Uffelen, J. G. L., Riphagen, I., & van Mechelen, W. (2008). The functional effects of physical exercise training in frail older people: a systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, *38*(9), 781–793.
- Mohler, M. J., Fain, M. J., Wertheimer, A. M., Najafi, B., & Nikolich-Žugich, J. (2014). The Frailty syndrome: clinical measurements and basic underpinnings in humans and animals. *Experimental Gerontology*, 54, 6–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.01.024
- Mungas, D. (1991). In-office mental status testing: a practical guide. *Geriatrics*, *46*(7), 54–8, 63, 66. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2060803

Murphy, M. H., McNeilly, A. M., & Murtagh, E. M. (2010). Session 1: Public health nutrition:

Physical activity prescription for public health. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 69(1), 178–84. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0029665109991741

- Nelson, M. E., Rejeski, W. J., Blair, S. N., Duncan, P. W., Judge, J. O., King, A. C., ... Castaneda-Sceppa, C. (2007). Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 39(8), 1435–45. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616aa2
- Newman, A. B., Haggerty, C. L., Kritchevsky, S. B., Nevitt, M. C., & Simonsick, E. M. (2003).
 Walking performance and cardiovascular response: associations with age and morbidity--the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 58(8), 715–20. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12902529
- Nóbrega, P. V. de N., Maciel, A. C. C., de Almeida Holanda, C. M., Oliveira Guerra, R., & Araújo, J. F. (2014). Sleep and frailty syndrome in elderly residents of long-stay institutions: a cross-sectional study. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 14(3), 605– 12. https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.12144
- Park, S.-Y., Kwak, Y. S., Harveson, A., Weavil, J. C., & Seo, K. E. (2015). Low intensity resistance exercise training with blood flow restriction: insight into cardiovascular function, and skeletal muscle hypertrophy in humans. *The Korean Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology: Official Journal of the Korean Physiological Society and the Korean Society of Pharmacology*, 19(3), 191–6. https://doi.org/10.4196/kjpp.2015.19.3.191
- Patel, N. K., Newstead, A. H., & Ferrer, R. L. (2012). The effects of yoga on physical functioning and health related quality of life in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine (New York, N.Y.)*, 18(10), 902–17. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2011.0473
- Peterson, M. J., Giuliani, C., Morey, M. C., Pieper, C. F., Evenson, K. R., Mercer, V., ... Simonsick, E. M. (2009). Physical activity as a preventative factor for frailty: the health, aging, and body composition study. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 64(1), 61–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gln001
- Petrini, C. (2014). Helsinki 50 years on. *La Clinica Terapeutica*, *165*(4), 179–81. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25203329
- Pitanga, C. P. S., Pitanga, F. J. G., Beck, C. C., Gabriel, R. E. C. D., & Moreira, M. H. R. (2012). Nível de atividade física para prevenção do excesso de gordura visceral em

mulheres pós-menopáusicas: quanto é necessário? *Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia* & *Metabologia*, *56*(6), 358–363. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0004-27302012000600003

- Rikli, R.; Jones, C. (2013). *Senior Fitness Test Manual-2nd Edition*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics. Retrieved from http://www.humankinetics.com/products/all-products/senior-fitness-test-manual-2nd-edition
- Robertson, D. A., Savva, G. M., Coen, R. F., & Kenny, R.-A. (2014). Cognitive function in the prefrailty and frailty syndrome. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(11), 2118–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13111
- Robinson, T. N., Eiseman, B., Wallace, J. I., Church, S. D., McFann, K. K., Pfister, S. M., ...
 Moss, M. (2009). Redefining geriatric preoperative assessment using frailty, disability and co-morbidity. *Annals of Surgery*, 250(3), 449–55. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b45598
- Rockwood, M. R., MacDonald, E., Sutton, E., Rockwood, K., & Baron, M. (2014). Frailty index to measure health status in people with systemic sclerosis. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, *41*(4), 698–705. https://doi.org/10.3899/jrheum.130182
- Romero-Ortuno, R. (2013). The Frailty Instrument for primary care of the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe predicts mortality similarly to a frailty index based on comprehensive geriatric assessment. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, *13*(2), 497– 504. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00948.x
- Santos, M., & Almeida, A. (2010). Polimedicação no idoso. *Revista de Enfermagem Referência*, *III Série*(n° 2), 149–162. https://doi.org/10.12707/RIII1011
- Savva, G. M., Donoghue, O. A., Horgan, F., O'Regan, C., Cronin, H., & Kenny, R. A. (2013).
 Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 68(4), 441–6.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gls190
- Syddall, H., Cooper, C., Martin, F., Briggs, R., & Aihie Sayer, A. (2003). Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? *Age and Ageing*, *32*(6), 650–6. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14600007
- Takata, Y., Ansai, T., Soh, I., Awano, S., Yoshitake, Y., Kimura, Y., ... Takehara, T. (2010).
 Quality of life and physical fitness in an 85-year-old population. *Archives of Gerontology* and Geriatrics, 50(3), 272–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2009.04.005

Teixeira, A. M., Ferreira, J. P., Hogervorst, E., Braga, M. F., Bandelow, S., Rama, L., ...

Pedrosa, F. M. (2016). Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *4*, 133. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133

- Uemura, K., Shimada, H., Makizako, H., Doi, T., Yoshida, D., Tsutsumimoto, K., ... Suzuki, T. (2013). Cognitive function affects trainability for physical performance in exercise intervention among older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, *8*, 97–102. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S39434
- Vrantsidis, F., Hill, K., Haralambous, B., Renehan, E., Ledgerwood, K., Pinikahana, J., … Penberthy, M. (2014). Living Longer Living Stronger[™]: a community-delivered strength training program improving function and quality of life. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 33(1), 22–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajag.12008
- Yassuda, M. S., Lopes, A., Cachioni, M., Falcao, D. V. S., Batistoni, S. S. T., Guimaraes, V. V, & Neri, A. L. (2012). Frailty criteria and cognitive performance are related: data from the FIBRA study in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 16(1), 55–61. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22238002

CHAPTER 8 (STUDY 6):

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FUNCTIONAL DISABILITY OUTCOMES AND INDEPENDENTS COMPONENTS OF PHYSICAL FRAILTY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER WOMEN

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Miguel Patrício

Marisa Loureiro

Eef Hogervorst

Ana Maria Teixeira

José Pedro Ferreira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018

8.1 Abstract

Introduction: The associations between functional disability (especially related to the activities of life activities) and frailty have already been explored. However, the contribution of each component of physical frailty and their contribution to understanding the early physical decline of older individuals are poorly explored. **Objectives**: To determine the relationships between physical frailty and functional disability and to identify the independent components of frailty that most influence on disability in institutionalized-dwelling older women. **Methods:** A cross-sectional study of 119 (81,96±7,89) institutionalized older women aged 75 and over. Functional disability was assessed through Agility-dynamic and Static balance tests, Activities of daily life and Falls risk screen outcomes. Physical frailty components were assessed by Fried Protocol that encompasses Low levels of physical activity, Self-reported exhaustion, Weakness (low handgrip strength), Slowness (low gait speed) and non-intentional weight loss. **Results:** A comparative analysis showed that the frail subgroup displayed the weakest results for all functional disability outcomes (p < 0.05). Despite the statistically significant associations between frailty total score and all disability outcomes, the linear regressions analysis showed that in the two models tested, Low physical activity levels and Slowness were the frailty independent components most associated to disabilities. Conclusion: More studies with larger samples across different cohorts of institutionalized-dwelling populations will help to better understand the independent relationship of each physical frailty component to the different adverse-disability outcomes may help to provide a more real prognostic value and assist to design a co-adjuvant treatment to attenuate and reverse physical frailty.

Key-words: Frail older adults, women, disability evaluation, activities of daily living, motor skills.

8.2 Introduction

The Frailty Syndrome is a state in which reserve function across multiple physiologic domains decline, compromising the individuals' capacity to withstand stress, thereby predisposing them to poor general health, functional decline, institutionalization and death ^{1,2}. Linda Fried and colleagues ³ developed a construct known as the Physical Frailty (PF) and identified five components: weakness, low resistance to effort, slowness, low physical activity levels and weight loss and operationalized a criteria for characterizing a person as frail, pre-frail and no frail ³.

Recently, findings suggested that PF is strongly linked to different functional disability (FD) outcomes comprising an independent component of PF, increased caregiver burden, and greater financial costs for public health ^{4–6}. Currently, FD is understood as a multidimensional construct that integrates the analysis of compensation strategies to maintain a satisfactory physical health to perform daily life activities autonomously ⁷. The assessment of FD can be quantified by direct (simple and low cost functional fitness and motor tasks tests) or indirect measures (through questionnaires evaluating specific daily life tasks), both clinically validated ^{8,9}. Positive changes in FD are primary determinants of quality of life in advanced age. Perception of a positive physical condition, for example, (i.e. not be afraid to face possible physical barriers that condition the fear of falling) might reflect a personal sense of predicted support from others despite being PF.

Currently, there is poor information about the contribution of each PF independent component to physical-functional decline ¹⁰. Epidemiological studies reported that poor scores on the handgrip strength test were associated with high risk of mortality ¹¹, dementia and mild cognitive impairment ¹². Low levels of physical activity were consistently associated with mortality ¹³ and cognitive decline ¹⁴. Poor walking speed proficiency and low physiological reserve ¹⁵. However, it remains to be explored how each independent component of PF can contribute to explain functional disability in frail older adults. Geriatric researchers have started to explore the independent association of each PF components with some FD outcomes ⁶, However, the relationship of PF independent components and different FD outcomes, as well as their contribution to understand the decline frail institutionalized-dwelling individuals, are poorly explored.

Thus, the aim of this study was to analyse the relationship between the PF and functional disability outcomes, as well as to verify the frailty subgroups-differences on FD outcomes in institutionalized-dwelling people aged 75 years or more.

8.3 Methods

This was a cross-sectional data collection study design of institutionalized-dwelling Portuguese older adults aged 75 and over. The sample consists of a subset of the participants of the previous published study protocol. Initially, 5 centres of health care and social support (CHS) were approached and four institutions were randomly selected to participate in the study. The directors of the CHS, the participants and their legal representatives signed consent forms. This study was approved by the Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education Ethical Committee (Reference code CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013) - the University of Coimbra, respected the Portuguese Resolution (Art. 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) and complied with research guidelines in humans of the Helsinki Declaration¹⁸.

8.3.1 Sample selection criteria

Participant inclusion and exclusion criteria were validated through a face-to-face interview. The inclusion conditions for the participants were: to take part in the research spontaneously and to have controlled and updated medicine treatment. The presence of severe chronic health illness that could prevent performance of the physical tests of functional disability outcomes, such as severe cardiomyopathy, hypertension, uncontrolled asthmatic bronchitis and any musculoskeletal, mental, hearing or vision disorders, including morbid obesity or the use of drugs that could cause attention impairment, were adopted as exclusion criteria of participants. The first eligible sample consisted of 183 institutionalized-dwelling participants. In total, 64 women participants were excluded due to a poor clinical health condition (high physical and cognitive impairment). A total of 119 older women were finally included in the study. Needed statistical power was computed by considering the Lawton index values in studies comparing differences between frail and pre-frail groups, using a Mann–Whitney U test, with a significance level of p = 0.01. The computations were performed on G*power 3.1.9.2, and the power was determined to be 0.97 with a sample of 119 and an effect size of 1.12¹⁶.

8.3.2 Measurement

Data collection was executed by the principal investigator and a properly trained research team constituted of a nurse, physiotherapist and physical educator. To minimize differences, the same evaluators performed data collection. Sociodemographic, anthropometric and health status indicators that presented statistical differences on frailty subgroups comparison were analyzed as a covariate. The quality data of physical tests was examined and internal consistency reliability (ICR) for each test was reported.

8.3.3 Frailty screen

The positive evaluation in one or two PF components classified the participants as prefrail, three or more as frail and as non-frail when the subject had none of the five frailty independent components, forming a categorical classification ³. The incidence of PF based on the five components was calculated by generating a continuous score (0 to 5 points). The following Fried of PF protocol was applied:

i) unintentional weight loss was assessed by self-reporting loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months, validated by medical records over one year;

ii) exhaustion (self-reported weariness) was evaluated by negative concordance of questions number 7 and 20 from the Centre of Epidemiologic Studies in Depression (CES-D) scale ¹⁹;

iii) weakness was analyzed using the handgrip strength test (HGT). This test uses a hand-held dynamometer (Lafayette Dynamometer, model 78010, United States) and strength is measured in kilograms. The subject holds the dynamometer in the hand to be tested, with the elbow by the side of the body. When ready, the subject squeezes the dynamometer with maximum isometric effort, which is maintained for 5 seconds. The best result of the two trials was used for scoring purposes ²⁰. Participants who were unable to perform the HGT and those in the lowest 20% (adjusted for BMI and stratified by gender) scored positive, based on cut off values of Fried's study population; iv) slowness was measured using the 4.6 meters walking test (4.6-WT), which results are expressed in seconds and adjusted for gender and height. Based on cut off values of Fried's study population, the best time of the two trials was used for final scoring ¹⁵;

v) low PA levels were assessed by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) short version ²¹. The IPAQ short form asks about three specific types of activity undertaken in the three domains introduced above and time being sedentary. The specific types of activity that were assessed are walking, moderate-intensity activities and vigorous intensity activities; frequency (measured in days per week) and duration (time per day) are collected separately for each specific type of activity. The total volume and the number of day/sessions were included in the IPAQ analysis. There are four levels of PA suggested for classification: inactive, minimally active, medium active and a highly active. Participants classified as inactive and minimally active had a positive score for the frailty status ²².

8.3.4 Functional disability outcomes

The assessment of FD was organized in a test battery following the approach proposed in a previous study ⁷:

i) The Katz Index of Independence (ADL) and The Lawton Index Instrumental (IADL) were used for assessing autonomy in daily life tasks. ADL scale ranks adequacy of performance in six functions (dressing, transferring, toileting, continence, feeding and bathing). Individuals are scored for each function as an independent (1 point) or dependent (0 points), for the six functions. A score of 6 indicates full function, 4 indicates moderate impairment, and 2 or less indicates severe functional impairment ^{8,23}.

ii) The Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) was used for identifying deterioration or improvement over time in 8 socio-biological functions. A summary score ranges from low function (8 points) dependent, to independent for high functions, 32 points ²⁴.

iii) Fear of falling was measured using the Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES), where individuals are asked to rate, on a 4-point Likert scale, their concerns about the possibility of falling when performing 16 activities. Scores range from 10 to 100 points, with a lower score indicating a high self-efficacy and little fear of falling ²⁵.

iv) The eight foot-up-and go test was used to assess agility-dynamic balance (ADB). The ADB test measures the total time in seconds needed for the participant to get up from the chair, walk the distance of 2.44 meters as quickly as possible around either side of a cone, and to sit back down in the chair (ICR = 0.80). A total time of more than 9 seconds indicates a "risk zone". 26 .

v) The Semi-Tandem Stance Balance test (TSB) was used to evaluate static balance, and consists of the participant maintaining the standing position with open eyes and one foot in front of the opposite foot for a maximum of 30 seconds. The time of 10 seconds or less indicating very poor static balance (ICR = 0.77).

8.3.5 Sociodemographic screening

Information on chronological age was assessed through the date of birth and analyzed as a continuous variable. Marital status was categorized in single, married, widowed or divorced and level of education (assessed as a continuous variable) was collected for each participant. Level of Education was classified according to the Portuguese educational system.

8.3.6 Anthropometric measures

The standardized procedures described by Lohan and colleagues (Chumlea, Baumgartner, 1989) were followed for the collection of anthropometric data, including body mass weight determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms; stature using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimeters and BMI, calculated according to the standard formula (BMI = weight/height²).

8.3.7 Clinical-mental health status

Comorbidity was assessed using the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) that measures the burden of disease and has a weighted index based on 19 comorbid conditions. The score ranging from 0 (low) to 10 points (high), can be combined with age and gender to form a single index ³⁰. Those individuals that presented a comorbidity index above 10 points were excluded from the study. The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) was used to assesses five areas of cognition. The maximum score is 30 points and a score below 24 points is usually considered indicative of dementia screening ^{31,32}. Depression state was assessed using the scale developed by CES-D ¹⁹. The 20-items, totalling an overall score of 0 to 60 points, in which the highest scores correlate with the frequency of depressive symptoms ³³.

8.3.8 Statistical analysis

The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess the normality of continuous variables. Normally distributed continuous data were described by their averages and standard deviations, whilst non-normally distributed continuous data were described by median and first and third quartiles. As for categorical variables, absolute and relative frequencies were used. Independent samples ANOVA tests and Kruskal-Wallis tests were performed to compare continuous variables between groups and Chi-square tests to assess the association between categorical variables. Spearman's rank correlations and corresponding partial Spearman correlations were used to test the associations between FD outcomes PF total score. The relationships between the ADL and each of PF components was evaluated using logistic regressions. The relationships between PF and all other FD outcomes were analyzed using linear regressions. The unadjusted model simply included one dependent variable and one independent variable. In model 1, stature, comorbidities, depressive state and cognitive state were included as covariates. The outcomes of disability were assumed as dependent variables and the PF components were independent in the regression analysis ³⁴ (p=0.05). All computations were performed on IBM/SPSS Statistics 21 and R version 3.3.1.

8.4 Results

Characteristics of the population are shown in Table 8.1. Mean age of the total sample was $81,96\pm7,89$, 68% of the participants were divorced or widowed and the median level of education was third grade. Analysing differences in frailty subgroups, no significant changes were found in sociodemographic and anthropometric variables, except for stature. The mean of stature data showed that the frailest individuals had a statistically significant shorter stature (p = 0.008). None of the other sociodemographic and anthropometric parameters showed significant differences between frail subgroups. Frail individuals presented a lower score on the cognitive test (p < 0.001), a worse depressed mood (p = 0.026), and a higher comorbidity index (p < 0.001) when compared to the other subgroups.

	0				
	Total sample	Nonfrail	Pre-frail	Frail	р
	(n=119, 100%)	(n=19, 16%)	(n=46, 38.7%)	(n=54, 45.4%)	value
Sociodemographic					
Chronological age (years, A±SD)	81,96 (±7,89)	81.68 (±6.72)	81.80 (± 8.65)	82.19 (± 7.72)	0.959
Level of education (degree; M1;3)	3 (3 ; 4)	4 (3 ; 6)	3 (3 ; 4)	3 (2 ; 4)	0.063
Marital state (n,%)					
Single	31 (26.1)	6 (31.6)	12 (26.1)	13 (24.1)	
Married	7 (5.9)	4 (21.0)	1 (2.2)	2 (3.7)	0.073
Widowed or divorced	81 (68.0)	9 (47.4)	33 (71.7)	39 (72.2)	
Anthropometric data					
Weight (kilograms, A±SD)	65.45(±12.58)	66.22 (± 11.33)	65.08 (±11.54)	65.49 (± 13.98)	0.946
Stature (meters, M1;3)	1.51 (1.47; 1.56)	1.56 (1.49; 1.62)	1.51 (1.47; 1.55)	1.50 (1.46; 1.52)	0.008
Body mass index (A±SD)	28.49 (± 5.05)	26.95 (± 3.78)	28.22 (± 4.60)	29.27 (± 5.69)	0.205
Clinical-mental health state					
Mini mental state (0-30 pts, M1;3)	20 (15; 25)	25 (21 ; 27)	21 (17 ; 25)	17 (13; 22)	< 0.001
Comorbidity index (0-10 pts, M1;3)	7 (6; 9)	8 (6 ; 10)	7 (6 ; 8)	8 (7; 9)	0.026
CES-D depression scale (0-60 pts, A±SD)	21.92 (± 8.00)	19.42 (± 7.99)	19.46 (± 8.09)	24.89 (± 6.98)	0.001
A=Average (mean), SD = standard deviatior	n, M1; 3 = Median (2	5 th Percentile; 75 th Pe	ercentile); pts = point	s	

 Table 8.1 Characterization of the total study sample and comparison by physical frailty subgroups for biosocial and global health outcomes.
The results of FD outcomes showed that statistical significant differences were found for all variables indicating that the frail subgroup presented more dependence (Katz index of ADL = p < 0.001 and Lawton index of IADL p = 0.002), higher fear of falling (p = 0.002) and less static (p = 0.039) and dynamic balance (p < 0.001) scores when compared to pre-frail and non-frail subgroups.

	Total sample	Nonfrail	Pre-frail	Frail	р	
	(n = 119, 100%)	(n = 19, 16%)	(n = 46, 38.7%)	(n = 54, 45.4%)	value	
Katz index of ADL	43	13	20	10		
(0-6 pts, n,%, disability)	(36.1)	(68.4)	(43.5)	(18.5)	< 0.001	
Katz index of ADL	76	6	26	44	< 0.001	
(0-6 pts, n,% no disability)	(63.9)	(31.6)	(56.5)	(81.5)		
Lawton index of IADL index	20.11	17.37	18.70	22.28	0.000	
(9-32 pts A±SD)	(± 5.70)	(± 7.24)	(± 5.27)	(± 4.65)	0.002	
Falls efficacy scale	40.00	33.00	34.50	41.00	0.048	
(10-100 pts M1;3)	(18.00; 61.00)	(14.00; 40.00)	(13; 70)	(26.00; 59.00)		
Static balance test	1.30	2.52	1.56	1.09	0.000	
(per time,M1;3)	(0.05; 4.11)	(0.71 ; 11.00)	(0.17 ; 4.15)	(0.01; 3.38)	0.039	
Agility-dynamic balance test	13.00	9.75	11.15	20.14	- 0.004	
(per time,M1;3)	(10.00; 20.56)	(7.12; 10.58)	(9.20 ; 14.90)	(14.30; 25.97)	< 0.001	

 Table 8.2 Characterization of total sample and comparison of physical frailty subgroups for functional disability outcomes.

A=Average (mean), SD=standard deviation, M1; 3= Median (25th Percentile; 75th Percentile); pts = points

As an additional analysis The Spearman's rank and partial correlations, controlling for covariates that presented were performed. Statistical differences in the group-treatment comparison was found. A moderate to strong correlation between PF total score and all FD outcomes was found (p<0.005). When looking at the partial correlations, only that between the Lawton index of IADL and FES scale disappears. On the basis of this first phase of statistical treatment, the multivariate regression analyses were performed and the results are presented in Table 8.3 showed above. Two models of independent relationships were generated between each disability and frailty independent components. The unadjusted results showed that Weakness was significantly associated with Katz of ADL and DBT tests, Slowness was associated to all FD outcomes, Exhaustion was associated to all FD components (except the STB test) and Low PA levels also associated with all FD outcomes, except with the FES scale. However, all these associations were trivial (r < 0.10).

After adding the adjusted covariates, Weakness presented a significant trivial correlation with the Katz of IADL index ($\beta = -0.047$; OR = 0.954; IC95% [0.898, 1.016] ;p <0.001) and ADB test ($r^{2=}0.18$; $\beta = -0.325$; p = 0.007). The PF component of Slowness also showed a small correlations with Katz of ADL index ($\beta = 0.28$; OR = 1.316; IC95% [1.076, 1.609]; p < 0.001) and moderate association with ADB test ($r^{2=}0.53$; $\beta = 1.982$; p < 0.001) and a derivate association with ADB test ($r^{2=}0.53$; $\beta = 1.982$; p < 0.001) and a trivial correlation with TSB test ($r^{2=}0.05$; $\beta = -0.444$;; p = 0.034). Self-reported Exhaustion maintain independent and small significant association with Lawton of IADL index ($r^{2=}0.53$; $\beta = 1.982$; p < 0.001) and a significant but small association with the ADB test ($r^{2=}0.21$; $\beta = -6.642$; p = 0.001) was also seen. Weight loss presented a small association with Katz of IADL index ($\beta = -1.707$; OR = 0.181; IC95% [0.044, 0.749]; p < 0.001) and a trivial association with the TSB test ($r^{2=}0.05$; $\beta = -4.379$;; p = 0.016).

Finally, Low PA levels had the smallest association with the Katz index (β = - 0.245; OR = 0.783; IC95% [0.509, 1.204] ;p <0.001), a moderate association with the Lawton index of IADL (r^{2} = 0.30; β = -1.182; p = 0.010) and a small association with the ADB test (r^{2} = 0.25; β = -3.528; p = 0.010). Lastly, residual and analytical analyses did not show violations of the assumptions underlying regression analysis and indicated a satisfactory fit of the model.

Functional outcomes	Disability	Katz's index of ADL		Lawton's	Lawton's index of IADL Falls efficacy scale			Agility-dynamic balance test			Static Balance test						
Physical components	Frailty	β coefficient	OR	95% CI for OR	omnibus test p-value	R ²	β coefficient	p value	R ²	β coefficient	p value	R ²	β coefficient	p value	R ²	β coefficient	p value
Low hand grip (Weakness)	test																
Unadjusted		-0.056	0.946	[0.898, 0.996]	0.028	0.016	-0.096	0.166	<0.001	0.069	0.825	0.095	-0.400	0.001	0.006	0.070	0.415
Adjusted*		-0.047	0.954	[0.896, 1.016]	<0.001	0.236	-0.043	0.507	0.091	0.035	0.912	0.178	-0.325	0.007	0.008	0.049	0.600
Low 15-feet wa (Slowness)	Iking test																
Unadjusted		0.288	1.334	[1.134, 1.570]	<0.001	0.112	0.523	<0.001	0.059	1.695	0.008	0.533	1.978	<0.001	0.059	-0.471	0.008
Adjusted*		0.275	1.316	[1.076, 1.609]	<0.001	0.252	0.244	0.098	0.108	0.201	0.516	0.531	1.982	<0.001	0.046	-0.444	0.034
Self-reported w (Exhaustion)	veariness																
Unadjusted		-1.405	0.245	[0.106, 0.568]	0.001	0.101	-3.631	<0.001	0.021	-7.353	0.120	0.141	-7.474	<0.001	<0.001	0.209	0.874
Adjusted*		-1.487	0.226	[0.078, 0.659]	<0.001	0.293	-1.551	0.133	0.891	0.289	0.349	0.210	-6.442	0.001	0.007	-0.559	0.704
Unintentional r (Weight loss)	eported																
Unadjusted		-0.706	0.493	[0.167, 1.458]	0.184	0.025	-2.354	0.086	<0.001	0.762	0.902	<0.001	0.135	0.955	0.021	-2.712	0.113
Adjusted*		-1.707	0.181	[0.044, 0.749]	<0.001	0.238	-1.134	0.379	0.095	0.279	0.363	0.122	-0.684	0.776	0.057	-4.379	0.016
IPAQ - short ve (Low PA levels)	ersion)																
Unadjusted		-0.460	0.632	[0.434, 0.919]	0.013	0.107	-1.754	<0.001	<0.001	0.043	0.985	0.176	-3.909	<0.001	0.031	1.173	0.047
Adjusted*		-0.245	0.783	[0.509,1.204]	<0.001	0.277	-1.182	0.010	0.094	0.270	0.382	0.253	-3.528	<0.001	0.029	1.053	0.110

Table 8.3 Association between each physical frailty and functional disability components (n = 119).

Notes: *Adjusted for age, education level, morbidity index, body mass index and cognitive status (model 1). For each logistic regression and each of the FS components, the corresponding β coefficient, odds-ratio (OR), 95% confidence intervals for the OR and the p-value of the omnibus tests of model coefficients were computed. For each linear regression and each of the frailty components variables, the coefficient of determination of the model (R²), the β coefficient, the corresponding p-value and the p-value for the ANOVA test were computed; IPAQ = International Physical Activity Questionnaire

8.5 Discussion

The aim of the present study was to investigate the relationship between PF and FD outcomes in institutionalized women over 75 years old. We also examined the disability-differences between the three frail sub-groups. The main findings of this study were that the regression analyses showed that low levels of physical activity and slowness were the PF component most associated with FD outcomes even after adjusting models. On the other hand, the Katz index of ADL and the ADB test were de FD outcomes most associated with physical frailty independent components in both regressions models.

After Linda Fried described the PF Phenotype ³, several studies examined the prevalence of physical frailty in institutionalized samples ³⁵. Studies realized in Spain (Abizanda et al., 2014; de la Rica-Escuín et al., 2014), North America ³⁸ and Brazil ³⁹ corroborate the findings in the present study. First, the prevalence of PF was similar (45.4%) and second, frail individuals had the worst FD scores when compared to the other PF subgroups. The other finding of this study that drew attention was the short stature found in the frail subgroup when compared to the other frailty sub-groups. According to previous evidence, stunted growth as a developmental delay is a risk factor for later life functional impairments ^{40,41}. Height could be related to osteopenia/osteoporosis leading to loss of height. This fact was independent of age and needs to be further explored. Previous researchers have also found that a high comorbidity index, lower cognition and depressive status also appear to strongly associate with physical frailty (Abizanda et al., 2014; de la Rica-Escuín et al., 2014).

Similar to the present study, low PA levels were found to be a PF independent component that had a relationship with Katz of ADL and Lawton of IADL indexes ^{42–44}. The probable mechanisms that for this association were proposed in a previous study by Theou and colleagues ⁴⁵. The construct of daily life activities includes underlying socio-biological functions that are highly dependent on a satisfactory level of physical activity (PA). The biological mechanisms remain weakly comprehended, however, the main effects of low PA on functionality could be mediated by reduced muscle strength, and also possibly by a down-regulated inflammation and sex steroids hormone expression ⁴⁶. Gait speed is the most used motor skill test in studies related to physical performance in older frail populations ⁴⁷.

Low capacity of walking speed has been found to be an independent component of physical frailty status linked with FD outcomes in numerous previous findings ^{48,49}. On the other hand, the Katz of ADL Index was the FD outcome most closely interrelated with all independent components of frailty and may explain the physical deficit on the functional status that occurs in an advanced frailty stage. For this reason, some researchers recognize it as an independent maker of frailty status ⁵⁰.

Additionally, the results showed that, not the static balance, but the dynamic balance motor skill test, showed the best relationship with all the independent components of frailty status. This test has shown satisfactory associations with PF independent components in previous studies ^{51,52}. In addition, recent research has demonstrated that the ADB test proved to be a good predictor of PF, for instance, when the full application or interpretation of Fried's criteria is impracticable ^{51,53,54}. A critical analysis of the ADB test can help understand the satisfactory associations with PF found in this study since this test requires the integration of different physical capacities such as timed reaction, upper body strength and agility ^{55,56}.

The limitations of this study is its cross-sectional design and the associations may be bidirectional and the study sample was small number of people in frailty subgroups, due to excessive and unexpected number of dropouts. However, the results of the present study showed a similar trend to the other studies with larger samples. Exploring these associations in institutionalized-dwelling individuals has a particular interest since their risk for age-physical decline was approximately four times higher when compared to community-dwelling individuals.

8.6 Conclusion

Our findings showed that low levels of physical activity and slowness are the independent components of physical frailty most associated with functional disability outcomes. These relationships have a specific interest in institutionalized samples and are in agreement with findings of previous studies. More epidemiological studies are needed across different sample cohorts of institutionalized-dwelling populations, to determine the real prognostic value of frailty independent components and to help design a co-adjuvant treatment to prevent frailty based on active lifestyle police interventions, aiming to increase levels of physical activity and also, encourage changes in sedentary behaviours in this type of population.

8.7 References

1. Morley JE, Vellas B, van Kan GA, et al. Frailty consensus: a call to action. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 2013; 14: 392–7.

2. Clegg A, Trust DM. CME Geriatric medicine The frailty syndrome. 2011; 11: 72–75.

3. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* 2001; 56: M146-56.

4. Bergman H, Karunananthan S, Robledo LMG, et al. Understanding and meeting the needs of the older population: a global challenge. *Canadian geriatrics journal : CGJ* 2013; 16: 61–5.

5. Abizanda P, Romero L, Sánchez-Jurado PM, et al. Frailty and mortality, disability and mobility loss in a Spanish cohort of older adults: the FRADEA study. *Maturitas* 2013; 74: 54–60.

6. Ávila-Funes JA, Pina-Escudero SD, Aguilar-Navarro S, et al. Cognitive impairment and low physical activity are the components of frailty more strongly associated with disability. *The journal of nutrition, health & aging* 2011; 15: 683–9.

7. Tomey KM, Sowers MR. Assessment of Physical Functioning: A Conceptual Model Encompassing Environmental Factors and Individual Compensation Strategies. *Physical Therapy* 2009; 89: 705–714.

8. Buurman BM, van Munster BC, Korevaar JC, et al. Variability in measuring (instrumental) activities of daily living functioning and functional decline in hospitalized older medical patients: a systematic review. *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 2011; 64: 619–27.

9. Bowen ME. The relationship between body weight, frailty, and the disablement process. *The journals of gerontology Series B, Psychological sciences and social sciences* 2012; 67: 618–26.

10. Alencar MA, Dias JMD, Figueiredo LC, et al. Frailty and cognitive impairment among community-dwelling elderly. *Arquivos de neuro-psiquiatria* 2013; 71: 362–7.

11. Sasaki H, Kasagi F, Yamada M, et al. Grip strength predicts cause-specific mortality in middle-aged and elderly persons. *The American journal of medicine* 2007; 120: 337–42.

12. Alencar MA, Dias JMD, Figueiredo LC, et al. Handgrip strength in elderly with dementia: study of reliability. *Revista brasileira de fisioterapia (São Carlos (São Paulo, Brazil))* 2012; 16: 510–4.

13. Ekelund U, Ward HA, Norat T, et al. Physical activity and all-cause mortality across levels of overall and abdominal adiposity in European men and women: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition Study (EPIC). *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 2015; 101: 613–21.

14. Lee Y, Kim J, Han ES, et al. Changes in physical activity and cognitive decline in older adults living in the community. *Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands)*; 37. Epub ahead of print 2015. DOI: 10.1007/s11357-015-9759-z.

15. Newman AB, Haggerty CL, Kritchevsky SB, et al. Walking performance and cardiovascular response: associations with age and morbidity--the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* 2003; 58: 715–20.

16. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, et al. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior research methods* 2009; 41: 1149–60.

17. Braga R. Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos. *Revista Portuguesa de Medicina Geral e Familiar* 2013; 29: 354–356.

18. Petrini C. Helsinki 50 years on. *La Clinica terapeutica* 2014; 165: 179–81.

19. Gonçalves B, Fagulha T, Ferreira A, et al. Depressive symptoms and pain complaints as predictors of later development of depression in Portuguese middle-aged women. *Health care for women international* 2014; 35: 1228–44.

20. Syddall H, Cooper C, Martin F, et al. Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? *Age and ageing* 2003; 32: 650–6.

21. Pitanga CPS, Pitanga FJG, Beck CC, et al. Nível de atividade física para prevenção do excesso de gordura visceral em mulheres pós-menopáusicas: quanto é necessário? *Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia* 2012; 56: 358–363.

22. Guessous I, Luthi JC, Bowling CB, et al. Prevalence of frailty indicators and association with socioeconomic status in middle-aged and older adults in a swiss region with universal health insurance coverage: A population-based cross-sectional study. *Journal of Aging Research* 2014; 2014: 8.

23. Katz S, Downs TD, Cash HR, et al. Progress in development of the index of ADL. *The Gerontologist* 1970; 10: 20–30.

24. Graf C. The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale. *The American journal of nursing* 2008; 108: 52-62; quiz 62–3.

25. Tinetti ME, Richman D, Powell L. Falls efficacy as a measure of fear of falling. *Journal of gerontology* 1990; 45: P239-43.

26. Rikli, R.; Jones C. *Senior Fitness Test Manual-2nd Edition*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, http://www.humankinetics.com/products/all-products/senior-fitness-test-manual-2nd-edition (2013, accessed 23 November 2015).

27. Cho BL, Scarpace D, Alexander NB. Tests of stepping as indicators of mobility, balance, and fall risk in balance-impaired older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2004; 52: 1168–1173.

28. Fernandes D. A avaliação das aprendizagens no Sistema Educativo Português. *Educação e Pesquisa* 2007; 33: 581–600.

29. Chumlea, W., Baumgartner N, Baumgartner N. Status of anthropometry in elderly subjects3 w composition data. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*; 50.

30. Charlson M, Szatrowski TP, Peterson J, et al. Validation of a combined comorbidity index. *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 1994; 47: 1245–51.

31. Mungas D. In-office mental status testing: a practical guide. *Geriatrics* 1991; 46: 54–8, 63, 66.

32. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "MINI-MENTAL STATE". *Journal of psychiatric research* 1975; 12: 189–198.

33. Ros L, Latorre JM, Aguilar MJ, et al. Factor structure and psychometric properties of the center for epidemiologic studies depression scale (CES-D) in older populations with and without cognitive impairment. *International journal of aging & human development* 2011; 72: 83–110.

34. Batterham AM, Hopkins WG. About Magnitudes. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance* 2006; 1: 50–57.

35. Chang S-F, Lin P-L. Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 2015; 52: 1362–1374.

36. Abizanda P, Romero L, Sánchez-Jurado PM, et al. Age, frailty, disability, institutionalization, multimorbidity or comorbidity. Which are the main targets in older adults? *The journal of nutrition, health & aging* 2014; 18: 622–7.

37. de la Rica-Escuín M, González-Vaca J, Varela-Pérez R, et al. Frailty and mortality or incident disability in institutionalized older adults: the FINAL study. *Maturitas* 2014; 78: 329–34.

38. Robinson TN, Wallace JI, Wu DS, et al. Accumulated frailty characteristics predict postoperative discharge institutionalization in the geriatric patient. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons* 2011; 213: 37-42; discussion 42–4.

39. Nóbrega PV de N, Maciel ACC, de Almeida Holanda CM, et al. Sleep and frailty syndrome in elderly residents of long-stay institutions: a cross-sectional study. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* 2014; 14: 605–12.

40. Fernihough A, McGovern ME. Physical stature decline and the health status of the elderly population in England. *Economics and Human Biology* 2015; 16: 30–44.

41. Paajanen TA, Oksala NKJ, Kuukasjärvi P, et al. Short stature is associated with coronary heart disease: a systematic review of the literature and a meta-analysis. *European heart journal* 2010; 31: 1802–9.

42. Romero-Ortuno R. The Frailty Instrument for primary care of the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe predicts mortality similarly to a frailty index based on comprehensive geriatric assessment. *Geriatrics & gerontology international* 2013; 13: 497–504.

43. Han ES, Lee Y, Kim J. Association of cognitive impairment with frailty in communitydwelling older adults. *International psychogeriatrics / IPA* 2014; 26: 155–63.

44. Costa TB, Neri AL. Medidas de atividade física e fragilidade em idosos: dados do FIBRA Campinas, São Paulo, Brasil. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública* 2011; 27: 1537–1550.

45. Theou O, Jakobi JM, Vandervoort AA, et al. A comparison of physical activity (PA) assessment tools across levels of frailty. *Archives of gerontology and geriatrics* 2012; 54: e307-14.

46. Ferrucci L, Penninx BWJH, Volpato S, et al. Change in muscle strength explains accelerated decline of physical function in older women with high interleukin-6 serum levels. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2002; 50: 1947–54.

47. Clegg A, Rogers L, Young J. Diagnostic test accuracy of simple instruments for identifying frailty in community-dwelling older people: a systematic review. *Age and ageing*;
44. Epub ahead of print 2015. DOI: 10.1093/ageing/afu157.

48. Barrera G, Cases T, Bunout D, et al. Associations between socioeconomic status, aging and functionality among older women. *Geriatric nursing (New York, NY)*. Epub ahead of print 3 October 2014. DOI: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2014.08.012.

49. Verghese J, Holtzer R, Lipton RB, et al. Mobility stress test approach to predicting frailty, disability, and mortality in high-functioning older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 2012; 60: 1901–5.

50. Boyd CM, Xue QL, Simpson CF, et al. Frailty, hospitalization, and progression of disability in a cohort of disabled older women. *American Journal of Medicine* 2005; 118: 1225–1231.

51. Greene BR, Doheny EP, O'Halloran A, et al. Frailty status can be accurately assessed using inertial sensors and the TUG test. *Age and ageing* 2014; 43: 406–11.

52. Jeoung BJ, Lee YC. A Study of relationship between frailty and physical performance in elderly women. *Journal of exercise rehabilitation* 2015; 11: 215–9.

53. Chang S-F, Yang R-S, Lin T-C, et al. The discrimination of using the short physical performance battery to screen frailty for community-dwelling elderly people. *Journal of nursing scholarship : an official publication of Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing / Sigma Theta Tau* 2014; 46: 207–15.

54. Savva GM, Donoghue OA, Horgan F, et al. Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population. *The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences* 2013; 68: 441–6.

55. Cebolla EC, Rodacki ALF, Bento PCB. Balance, gait, functionality and strength: Comparison between elderly fallers and non-fallers. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy* 2015; 19: 146–151.

56. Furtado G, Patrício M, Loureiro M, et al. Physical Fitness and Frailty Syndrome in Institutionalized Older Women. *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 2017; 124: 003151251770991.

CHAPTER 9 (STUDY 7):

THE RELATIONSHIP AMONG PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING AND PHYSICAL FRAILTY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER WOMEN REVEALS A PSYCHOLOGIC FRAIL STATUS.

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Miguel Patrício

Marisa Loureiro

Eef Hogervorst

Stephan Bandelow

Margarida Figueiredo-Braga

Ana Botelho Teixeira

José Pedro Ferreira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018

9.1 Abstract

Background: The term 'Psychological Frailty' has appeared as a new frailty phenotype and implies a parallel to the Physical Frailty phenotype, suggesting perhaps a relationship between physical and psychological factors in frailty. **Purpose:** Very little is known about the associations between psychological status or mental health-related outcomes and the physical Frailty Syndrome in institutionalized populations. The main goal of this study was to analyse the relationship between physical frailty and psychological status in institutionalized older women. Methods: Cross-sectional data were collected. Participants were 118 older women aged 65 years old or more, recruited from four nursing homes, who were asked to complete a sociodemographic and a general health assessment survey. Psychological status was assessed using cognitive status, self-perceptions (self-efficacy and self-esteem), mood states (stress, depression) and emotional well-being (happiness and satisfaction with life) investigated using psychometric rating scales. Physical Frailty was assessed using the Fried of frailty Phenotype, that includes Weakness, Self-reported Exhaustion, Low Physical Activity levels and Unintentional Weight Loss assessments. Results: Frail older women had a poor score in all psychological well-being outcomes, except for global self-esteem and satisfaction with life. A hierarchical regression model analysis showed that cognitive status, attitudes to aging and a subjective feeling of happiness had a significant relationship with PF in both unadjusted and adjusted models (explaining 34% and 40% of variance, respectively). Conclusions: Psychological factors are strongly associated with PF. Implementing active lifestyle interventions to improve positive psychological outcomes in geriatric assessments could assist in the older institutionalized patient's physical and mental health care.

Key-word: Frail Older adults, women, psychology, emotional well-being and mental health.

9.2 Introduction

Frail populations are at increased risk for adverse negative health consequences (Middleton, Mitnitski, Fallah, Kirkland, & Rockwood, 2008). Disability, morbidity, institutionalization, and hospitalization are likely outcomes of this clinical time-progressive form of unsuccessful ageing (Clegg, Young, Iliffe, Rikkert, & Rockwood, 2013). In the frail person, the order of adverse events occurs earlier and faster, significantly affecting their guality of life (Gobbens, Luijkx, & van Assen, 2013; Kanwar et al., 2013). Consensual statements on the core feature of the physical frailty (PF) syndrome, recognises it as an ageing-phenotype that increases vulnerability to stressors, due to impairments in multiple inter-related systems that lead to a decline in homeostatic reserve and resiliency. The concept of PF developed by Fried and colleagues (Fried et al., 2001), understood as a robust construct, has five components (Weakness, Low levels of Physical, Activity, Weight Loss, Exhaustion and Slowness) and is assumed to be very helpful for health professionals and researchers to comprehend the heterogeneity of health trajectories linked to frailty (Morley et al., 2013).

However, in spite of the considerable progress to date in the development of both the phenotypic and index models, the observational identification of frailty recognises other health dimensions that could further explain this phenomena (Kelaiditi et al., 2013). The coined concept of PF has been reported to mediate risk of several types of neuropsychological impairments (Buchman & Bennett, 2013). The concept of 'cognitive frailty' proposes a parallel to physical frailty, a loss of resilience and adaptability in the dominion of brain function and denotes a linkage to physical functions (Canevelli, Cesari, & van Kan, 2015). Numerous studies on expanded PF have implicated cognition as a possible factor influencing geriatric health outcomes (Panza et al., 2015). As with the concept of cognitive frailty, the term of 'Psychological frailty' (PsyF) appears as a new frailty phenotype, and implies a parallel to PF in the brain activities dimension, suggesting a relationship between the two (Fitten, 2015).

Frailty has been characterized by factors connected with multiple negative Psychological well-being (PwB) facets that manifest during the aging process already studied previously, but the difference is that the PF condition seems to worsen some psychological aspects (Freitag & Schmidt, 2016). In addition to cognitive status, studies aimed to analyse the multifaceted interactions between PwB outcomes and frailty, revealed that motivation (i.e. self-efficacy, attitudes), negative and positive mood state (i.e. depression, stress, emotional well being) were identified as core dimensions of PsyF (Dent & Hoogendijk, 2014; Freitag & Schmidt, 2016; Gale, Cooper, Deary, & Aihie Sayer, 2014; McAuley et al., 2006).

Each person has a unique genotype and a set of lifetime involvements that will fare in terms of global-health and risk of illness (McEwen, 2015). Thus, distinct mood states are the most important contributors to emotional adjustment and reflect in good perception of physical health (Thoits, 2011). Psychosocial stress, for example, is associated with the onset and progression of many and costly comorbidities, including chronic pain conditions linked to functional disabilities (Muscatell et al., 2015). Positive self-esteem is seen as a protective factor that contributes to a high positive physical self-perception in frail subjects (McAuley et al., 2005). High self-efficacy appears to be associated with good levels of motor skills in frail people (Chou, Hwang, & Wu, 2012). Adverse negative conditions of physical health can influence older people's subjective perception of positive feelings, mostly when they determine a reduction in their levels of PwB and their individual perception of their general health (Cho, Martin, Margrett, Macdonald, & Poon, 2011; Wu et al., 2013).

In spite of the critical contribution of PwB outcomes to explain PF, not many studies used PwB to describe how frail populations evaluate their levels of well-being, self-perceptions and mood states and how these are related to PF. Previous research looking at these associations was done in the community and hospital-based populations (Dent & Hoogendijk, 2014). Other recent findings show that some domains of subjective well-being impaired by a frailty identity crisis may play an central role in describing self-reported health status in older populations (Andrew, Fisk, & Rockwood, 2012a). However, very little is known about this relationship in specific populations, e.g. those living in nursing homes. The context of nursing homes provides a crucial location for the study of these connections, due to the patients' heterogenic condition in terms of physical status, comorbidities and psychological adjustment.

Thus, the main goal of this study was to analyse the association of physical frailty-with psychological well-being domains as well as to explore the relationship between frailty and PwB in institutionalized older women.

9.3 Methods

Data collection of all outcomes measures were organized by the principal investigator and were performed by independent specialists (properly trained) from the research team. The same evaluators for each study domain performed the data collection in all study participants using a face-to-face approach. Individual attention was provided to participants with interpretation doubts, questions were read to clarify the meaning assuring that no emphasis was put on the phrase in order to avoid directing the answer.

9.4 Design and procedures

This study a was cross-sectional study using a survey on frailty incidence in old people living in nursing homes. The sample consisted of a subset of participants within a previously published study protocol (Furtado, Patrício, Loureiro, Teixeira, & Ferreira, 2017). In the first stage, 10 CSHS were selected as eligible to participate in the study in the city of Coimbra, Portugal. After the visits to the homes to communicate the purpose of the study and to verify the eligibility selection criteria, four institutions were selected to participate in this study.

9.4.1 Participants and eligibility criteria

In a first phase all female participants aged over 75 years, willing to participate in the study and with their prescribed medications controlled were admitted to the study. The specific exclusion criteria were: i) the presence of any type of health condition that could prevent testing of autonomy, such as severe cardiomyopathy, uncontrolled cardiorespiratory illness and any musculoskeletal conditions that might prevent performance (i.e. recent fractures); ii) mental disorder, uncorrected hearing and vision impairments, morbid obesity; iii) no control and/or not up to date with drug therapy or the use of medications that could cause attention impairments. The first eligible participants included in the study were 183 institutionalized-dwelling old adults aged over 75 years. After applying the sample selection criteria, 64 participants were excluded or dropped out due to: i) physical impairment associated with musculoskeletal disorders and joint or muscle pain (n=34), ii) closed diagnosis of early-stage of dementia or mental disorder (n=09), iii) severe uncorrected impairment of hearing or visual functions that made it impossible to perform all tests (n=07), iv) need of palliative health care or special nutritional support, with medical indications not to participate in the study (n=04), v) participants who dropped-out when applying the tests (n=10), vi) inconsistent data (n = 1). The final number of participants consisted of 118 older women.

9.4.2 Ethical Procedures

The NH directors and those who decided to participate in the study signed an informed consent form, in which the privacy and anonymous identity of the data collected were guaranteed and any needed access to participants' medical records was given. This study was approved by the Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education Ethical Committee (Reference code CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013) - the University of Coimbra, respected the Portuguese Resolution (Art. 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) and complied with research guidelines in humans of the Helsinki Declaration (Petrini, 2014).

9.4.3 Outcomes measures

PF (and its components) was the primary outcome and the domains of PwB were secondary outcomes. Sociodemographic, general health status and anthropometric measures that presented statistical differences in frail sub-groups comparison were treated as possible confounders (and were entered as co-variates in analyses).

9.4.4 Physical Frailty screening

The prevalence of each of five items was calculated to generate the PF total score (continuous). A negative evaluation in one or two criteria classified the participants as pre-frail, in three or more as frail and as non-frail when the subject had a void in any of the five criteria, forming a categorical classification.

The following Fried's PF protocol was used (Fried et al., 2001): i) Weight loss was assessed by self-report of unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months, which was validated by medical records over one year; ii) Poor endurance and energy (self-reported exhaustion) was evaluated by negative concordance of two questions, number seven and twenty, of the questionnaire developed by the Center of Epidemiologic Studies for Depression, the CES-D scale; iii) Weakness was analysed using the handgrip strength test (HGT). This test uses a hand-held dynamometer (Lafayette Dynamometer, model 78010, United States) and strength is measured in kilograms. The subject holds the dynamometer in the hand to be tested, with the elbow by the side of the body. When ready the subject squeezes the dynamometer with maximum isometric effort, which is maintained for five seconds. The best result of two trials was used for scoring purposes (Syddall, Cooper, Martin, Briggs, & Aihie Sayer, 2003). Participants who were unable to perform the HGT and those in the lowest 20% (adjusted for BMI and stratified by gender) were categorized as positive for the weakness criterion; iv) Slowness was measured by the '15 feet walking test', consisting in an individual walk without assistance (4.6 meters) where the time taken to complete it, is measured and expressed in seconds, adjusted for gender and height. The best time of the two trials was used for final scoring; v) Low physical activity level was assessed by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire short form. Participants classified as inactive and minimally active had a positive score for the frailty status score.

9.4.5 Psychological well-being assessement

The psychological tests described below were chosen because they had been validated in the Portuguese population and characterize the main psychological domains described in the concept of PsyF as defined previously (Fitten, 2015):

i) Cognitive status: The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) was used to assess cognitive state. The MMSE assesses five areas of cognitive function: orientation, immediate recall, attention and calculation, delayed recall, and language. The maximum MMSE score is 30 points, and a score below 24 points is considered abnormal and used for dementia and cognitive impairment screening (Macuco et al., 2012).

ii) Mood states: Depression was assessed using the CES-D scale reflecting major facets of this state. The 20-items are given on a four-point Likert scale, with scores between 0 and 60 in which the highest scores correlate with more depressive symptoms for the last week (Gonçalves, Fagulha, Ferreira, & Reis, 2014). The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) assesses the perception of stressful experiences. Seven out of the 14-items is considered negative and seven as positive. Final scores can vary from 14 to 70 points, a higher score indicating greater feelings of stress (Taylor, 2015)

iii) Self-perception: The Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale (RSES) analyses global selfworth. The sum of all 10-item scores gives results between 10 and 40 points, where higher values represent higher levels of self-esteem (McKay, Boduszek, & Harvey, 2014). The General Self-Efficacy Scale (GSES) was used to assess optimistic self-beliefs related to efficacy to cope with a variety of difficult demands in life. Responses sum up to a composite score with a range from 10 to 40 points, where higher values represent higher levels of GSES (McAuley et al., 2005). The Attitudes to Aging Questionnaire (AAQ) was used to assess attitudes toward the ageing process as a personal experience from the perspective of older people. The AAQ contains 24 items and total scores range from 8 to 40 points. The higher the score the more positive the attitude towards one's own ageing process (Low, Molzahn, & Donald Schopflocher, 2013);

iv) Emotional well-being: The Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) measures global cognitive judgments of satisfaction with one's life. The 5-item scale results in scores between one to 35 points, with higher values representing higher levels of life's satisfaction (McKay et al., 2014). The Happiness Face Scale (HFS) consisted of a graphical scheme where for each face is assigned one letter, in which the letter A (seven points) is considered the maximum and the letter G, the minimum (one point). The participant has to identify with one of the faces, depending on his/her state of happiness (Andrews & Withey, 1976).

9.4.6 Sociodemographic variables

Information on chronological age (continuous variable); marital state (assessed as four categories variable: single, married, widowed and divorced) and level of education were collected for each participant. The level of education was classified in years and analysed as a continuous variable.

9.4.7 Anthropometric measurements

Standardized procedures were followed for the collection of anthropometric data and included: i) weight or body mass as determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms; ii) stature determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimeters. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated according to the formula [BMI = weight/height²] (Chumlea & Baumgartner, 1989).

9.4.8 Clinical health status

Comorbidity was assessed using the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) that measures the burden of disease to form a single index and is used as a continuous variable. One point for each additional 10 years is added to the initial score, that has been shown to predict oneyear and 10-year mortality. A recent studied carried out a successful update of the index to 12 comorbidities (Quan et al., 2011). Medical records provided by a medical and health professional's team were used to verify the accuracy of information provided by study participants within the CCI. The number of medications used was checked systematically through each participant institutional medical record, reporting polypharmacy according to the Portuguese Classification System of Human Medicine.

9.4.9 Statistical analysis

The assumption of normality was checked using Shapiro Wilk tests and by visual inspection of normality plots. Continuous data were described by their medians, 25th and 75th percentiles, whereas categorical data were described by absolute and relative frequencies. The comparison of quantitative variables between the frail sub-groups was performed using ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis, depending on whether the variables were found to be normally distributed which, in turn, was ascertained employing Shapiro Wilk tests. The association between the groups and qualitative variables was assessed using Chi-square tests. Partial correlations between the PF and PwB were computed, together with partial correlations

controlling for the assumed co-variates (cognitive status, comorbidities, marital status and height). The magnitude of the associations was classified following recommendations: trivial (r < 0.1); small (r from 0.1 to 0.3); moderate (r from 0.3 to 0.5); strong (r from 0.5 to 0.7) and robust (r from 0.7 to 0.9) (Batterham & Hopkins, 2006). In addition, the relationships between PF and PwB were analysed using a hierarchical stepwise regression model. In these, cognitive status was introduced as a first block. Secondly, depression state was entered together with cognitive status.

Lastly, all other psychological outcomes were entered to explain the maximal variance of the regression model. In addition, the unadjusted bivariate model 1 simply included the dependent variable (PF total score) and independent variable (PwB outcomes). Model 2 was further adjusted for variables of height, marital status and comorbidity. IBM SPSS Statistics 22.0 and in R 3.3.1 software were used for all computations. The level of significance adopted was P= 0.05.

9.5 Results

Table 9.1 presents the descriptive characteristics of the participants (n = 118) for all variables. Concerning the PF assessment, 19 participants were classified as non-frail (16%), 45 subjects as pre-frail (38%) and 54 as frail (46%). Analysis of the sociodemographic variables indicated that participants were older women with a median age of 83.0 (76.0; 88.0) years, mostly without husbands (94%) and with very low median (3rd grade) academic achievement levels. When the frail sub-groups were compared, there were statistical differences between these sub-groups in marital status (p = 0.028) and anthropometric height (p = 0.008), but not weight.

With regards to the general health status, the mean scores of the total sample reflected a high incidence of comorbidity and a high risk of mortality with a median of 7 (6; 9) points on the CCI, as well as a high incidence of polypharmacy. There was also a clear trend for increased polypharmacy in the frail subgroup. Statistical differences between groups were found for CCI scores, that were higher (p = 0.013) in the frail group.

Variable	Total sample	Nonfrail	Pre-frail	Frail	р
	(n=118, 100%)	(n=19, 16%)	(n=45, 38%)	(n=54, 46%)	value
Sociodemographic (M1;3)					
Chronological age (years)	83.0 (76.0; 88.0)	82.0 (77.0; 88.0)	83.0 (76.0; 89.0)	83.0 (76.0; 87.0)	0.954
Level of education (degree)	3.0 (3.0; 4.0)	4.0 (3.0; 6.0)	3.0 (3.0; 4.0)	3.0 (2.0; 4.0)	0.060
Marital state (n,%)					
Single	30 (25.4)	6 (31.6)	11 (24.4)	13 (24.1)	0.028
Married	7 (5.9)	4 (21.1)	1 (2.2)	2 (3.7)	
Widowed or divorced	81 (68.6)	9 (47.4)	33 (73.3)	39 (72.2)	
Anthropometric (M1;3)					
Weight (kilograms)	66.1 (57.2; 71.4)	65.7 (58.6; 77.9)	65.7 (56.8; 71.4)	66.5 (53.1; 70.5)	0.951
Height (meters)	1.5 (1.5; 1.6)	1.6 (1.5; 1.6)	1.5 (1.5; 1.6)	1.5 (1.5; 1.5)	0.008
Body mass index (M1;3)	29.0 (24.6; 31.5)	27.0 (24.6; 30.1)	29.2 (24.4; 31.6)	30.2 (25.3; 32.3)	0.207
General Heath state					
Comorbidity (index, M1;3)	7.0 (6.0; 9.0)	8.0 (6.0; 10.0)	7.0 (6.0; 8.0)	8.0 (7.0; 9.0)	0.013
Medication use, per day (n, %)					
I use more than three	108 (91.5)	17 (89.5)	43 (95.6%)	48 (88.9)	0.434
I use three or less	10 (8.5)	2 (10.5)	2 (4.4)	6 (11.1)	

 Table 9.1 Characterization of the total sample study population^a and comparison by physical frailty subgroups syndrome for sociodemographic, anthropometric and general health status outcomes.

Notes: = M1; 3: The first and third quartile.

Figure 9.1 shows the characteristics of the total study sample and descriptive according to whether they were frail, pre-frail or frail. Examining scores from the PwB outcomes, the results showed statistically significant differences in the frail group, expect for self-esteem as assessed by RSES (p = 0.928) and SWLS (p = 0.171). This group also had high scores for negative mood states using the CES-D depression scale (p = 0.001) and the PSS stress scales (p = 0.003), as well as low scores for cognitive status using the MMSE (p < 0.001), self-perception using the GSES (p = 0.017), attitudes to ageing as assessed with the AAQ (p = 0.005) and subjective well-being using the HFS (p = 0.037). Independent of directions of the scale's quotation, the statistically significant results indicated worse values for the frail subgroup.



Figure 9.1 Box plots of the psychological well being outcomes only for each significant variable when comparing physical frailty sub-groups; X axis = psychological variables and Y axis = frail subgroups (1 = frail, 2 = Pre-frail and 3 = Frail). Statistical treatment was performed using Kruskal-Wallis tests, following Dunn's post-hoc test. The significance level was set at * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01.

Table 9.2 shows the Spearman's rank and partial correlations, controlling for potential confounders. A significant correlation emerged between PF and all PwB, outcomes except with satisfaction with life as assessed by the self-esteem as assessed by the RSES. After applying statistical adjustment, correlations were moderately attenuated or increased, but some some important associations persisted. In the correlations between the psychological variables it was verified that all values were lower than r = 0.70, indicating that the assumption of non-multicollinearity among factors (taking into account the introduction of these variables in the regression model) was not violated.

psychological weil-being outcomes (n – 116).										
Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		
1. Physical Frailty Total score										
2. Mini-mental State Examination	-0.401 ^{**} (<0.001) -0.438 (0.008)									
3. CES-D of depression Scale	0.317 (<0.001) 0.248 (0.008)	-0.152 (0.101) 201 (0.047)								
4. Perceived stress Scale	0.294 (0.001) 0.238 (0.011)	-0.162 (0.081) -0.187 (0.065)	0.416 (<0.001) 0.375 (<0.001)							
5. Global self-esteem Scale	0.085 (0.361) 0.036 (0.704)	-0.085 (0.363) -0.114 (0.164)	0.093 (0.315) 0.060 (0.525)	0.398 (<0.001) 0.375 (<0.001)						
6. General self-efficacy Scale	-0.274 (0.003) -0.161 (0.091)	-0.322 (0.000) -0.252 (0.012)	-0.278 (0.003) -0.258 (0.006)	-0.453 (<0.001) -0.439 (<0.001)	-0.251 (0.007) -0.256 (0.007)					
7. Attitudes to ageing Questionnaire	-0.332 (<0.001) -0.221 (0.019)	0.205 [°] (0.026) 0.285 (0.004)	-0.321 (<0.001) -0.271 (0.004)	-0.385 (<0.001) -0.337 (<0.001)	-0.315 (0.001) -0.269 (0.004)	0.302 (0.001) 0.254 (0.008)				
8. Satisfaction with life Scale	-0.204 (0.027) -0.212 (0.024)	-0.008 (0.934) -0.266 (0.008)	-0.315 (0.001) -0.330 (<0.001)	-0.307 (0.001) -0.294 (0.002)	-0.238 (0.010) -0.212 (0.024)	0.223 (0.017) 0.221 (0.020)	0.381 (<0.001) 0.379 (<0.001)			
9. Subjective Face Happiness Scale	-0.182 (0.053) -0.240 (0.011)	-0.034 (0.715) -0.249 (0.014)	-0.237 (0.011) -0.280 (0.003)	-0.024 (0.804) -0.045 (0.643)	0.266 (0.004) 0.243 (0.010)	0.027 (0.775) 0.055 (0.576)	-0.180 (0.058) -0.144 (0.137)	0.072 (0.450) 0.113 (0.243)		

 Table 9.2 Spearman and their equivalent partial correlations between physical frailty total score and psychological well-being outcomes (n = 118).

Notes: †partial correlation values are expressed in underline of each variable, controlling for marital status, height and comorbidity; MMSE = Minimental State Examination; CES-D = Depression Scale; RSES = Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale; SHS = Subjective Happiness Scale; GSES = General Self Efficacy Scale; AAQ = Attitudes to Ageing Questionnaire; EWB = Emotional Well Being Scale.

Supported by the evidence presented in correlational analyses, multiple linear regression analyses were used to explore relationships between PF (as the dependent variable) and PwB outcomes (as independent variable). RSES and EWB were not introduced in this analysis as these were not correlated with PF. A hierarchical stepwise model was used, considering the theoretical assumption that cognitive profile and depression state presented a closed relationship with frailty (Buchman & Bennett, 2013; Lohman, Dumenci, & Mezuk, 2016). The results in Table 9.3 showed that, as expected, the cognitive profile of MMSE explained 22% of the variance by itself (model 1). Both unadjusted [F(6.100) = 11.613; p < 0.001; $R^2 =$ 0.340)] and adjusted [F(9.97) = 6.789; p < 0.001; $R^2 = 0.401$)] regression analysis (block 3) models were statistical significant. In model 3, cognitive status using the MMSE, the Happiness Face Scale score, and the score of the Attitudes to Aging Questionnaire showed a significant relationship with PF in both unadjusted and adjusted models (explaining 34% and 40% of variance, respectively). Stress, negative mood of depression and self-efficacy did not significantly contribute to the model. The results indicated that decreased cognition, selfefficacy and happiness was accompanied by an increased likelihood for being frail. In regression model 3, associations were moderately attenuated by further adjustment for other potential confounding factors but persisted.

Regression Models		Unadjusted		Adjusted		
	R^2	B coefficient	p value	R^2	B coefficient	p value
Model (block) 1	22			29		
Mini-mental State Examination	.22	467	.000	.20	452	.000
Model (block) 2						
Mini-mental State Exam	.30	440	.000	.32	420	.000
CESD depression scale		.169	.052		.169	.163
Model (block) 3						
Mini-mental State Examination		378	.000		369	.000
CESD depression scale		.011	.909		.028	.771
Perceived Stress Scale	.34	.143	.157	.40	.112	.264
General Self-Efficacy Scale		024	.809		024	.798
Happiness Face Scale		188	.032		198	.022
Attitudes To Ageing Questionnaire		212	.034		209	.038

Table 9.3 - The association of PF with psychological well-being and physical frailty indicators (n = 118).

9.5 Discussion

The purpose of the present study was to analyse the relationship between PF and PwB. Firstly, we verified the PF-differences in PwB indicators and results indicated that frail individuals had a poor satisfaction with life, poor attitudes to ageing, poor general self efficacy, and a increased level of depression and perceived stress. Based on the relationship of depressive and mood states and cognitive status symptoms, additional PwB variables were investigated to explain incremental variance in PF scores. Besides the expected effect of the cognitive profile, results showed that not depressive mood states, but a negative attitude to ageing and low feelings of happiness proved to independently contribute to the variance in PF status. To our knowledge, this is the first scientific evidence for the association of psychological health outcomes with PF scores in a Portuguese female institutionalised population over 75 years old.

9.5.1 Comparison by frailty subgroups

In agreement with other studies using samples with similar attributes, PF had similar prevalence (46%) when compared with other European countries with studied samples living in nursing homes (González-Vaca et al., 2014). The general health was poor and comorbidities presented with high scores in frail subgroups, showing that a possible overlap between morbidity and frailty exists (Wong et al., 2010). Interestingly, the sociodemographic of height (but not weight) and marital status (more widowed or divorced) presented with worse results in the frail subgroup. Height could be related to osteopenia/osteoporosis leading to loss of height. This was independent of age, and needs to be further explored. Marital status has also been shown in several longitudinal studies to be a powerful predictor of a number of chronic diseases (Lunenfeld & Stratton, 2013), and seems to follow the same trend towards the PF condition.

Analysis of PWB outcomes showed that higher scores were found with an increased incident of frailty. As in the Canadian Aging Study (N= 5.703), which results revealed that frailty was associated with low levels of well-being. The authors confirmed that PWB impaired by a frailty identity crisis may play an important role in defining subjective health in older adults (Andrew, Fisk, & Rockwood, 2012b). A more recent longitudinal study carried-out in similar population was found that a higher feeling of psychological well being was associated with a sense of control, self-realization and autonomy and may exert a protective effect against PF (Gale et al., 2014). Despite the differences in the different protocols for the evaluation of frailty, these studies were unanimous in confirming the robust link between frailty status and low general psychological well-being.

9.5.2 Relationships among PF and PWB outcomes

Several PWB outcomes were found to be directly associated with the PF total score. A recent study showed a clear interconnection between PF status and a set of PWB outcomes highlighting self-efficacy, anxiety, depression and resilience (Freitag & Schmidt, 2016). But, unlike our results, in this study depression emerged as an important psychological domain that explained the variance in PF scores.

In the regression analysis of the present study, a satisfactory relationship explained the PWB variance of PF, and the co-variates had only a slight attenuating effects on these relationships. It may be that cognitive status explained the association of depression, self efficacy and stress with frailty in our sample. Similar to Campbell and Bucher's findings at 20 years ago, this study found that the MMSE independently predicted frailty syndrome (Lerner, Liben, & Mueller, 2015). Cognitive frailty is already a widely accepted concept, as is the temporal similarity between the onset of cognitive decline and subsequent deficit in physical function (Kelaiditi et al., 2013).

Other factors associated with PF, such as perceived stress and self-efficacy did not contribute to the regression models in this sample. However, these outcomes play an important role in the establishment of the indirect relationships with frailty. The interconnections between stress and physical health remain the most widely studied under a biological approach (Corazza et al., 2013). However, it is possible that several psychosocial events exist activating emotional stressors with ageing. Also the ability to cognitively adjust to these events and reduce stress and improve self efficacy to deal with stressors could mediate the relationships found. Attitudes to aging, subjective feelings of happiness and their association with PF appeared as surprising findings. Attitudes towards ageing played an important role in the regression model.

A robust cross-sectional survey that collected data in 20 countries and was carried out by WHO quality of life research group showed that attitudes to ageing mediated the relationship between health satisfaction and physical, psychological, social and environmental quality of life (Low et al., 2013). These associations represent solid evidence, since the AAQ is a multidimensional construct, which includes three sub-dimensions: psychosocial loss, reflecting an high perception of negative feelings; and psychological growth, related to the increase of positive feelings regarding the life events; and physical change, emphasizing on items primarily associated to health and to the experience of ageing itself, therefore resulting in a subjective individualised psychological viewpoint affecting physical health (Laidlaw, Power, & Schmidt, 2007).

In this study, happiness displayed an additional factor to explain PF in this population. Positive psychology in recent years has advocated for the assessment of happiness rather than only assessing negative mood and its associations with general health status (Jones, Rapport, Hanks, Lichtenberg, & Telmet, 2003). Our data suggest that positive mood may have a more satisfactory contribution to PF rather than a negative mood which may have been explained by other factors present in the model. Interestingly, satisfaction with life and self esteem were not associated with frailty.

Experimental studies including those which can improve mood such as regular exercise will show whether our findings may reflect causality. If this is the case it may be that through exercise or other activities that improve mood and perceived coping styles (reducing stress and possibly a related increase in self-efficacy and self-esteem), improved attitudes to ageing (and possibly the related life satisfaction) will also improve and mediate improvement in PF symptoms. A take-home significance of this study is that increasing evidence supports the protective features of maintenance of a stronger sense of psychological well-being, which may help to reduce risk for physical frailty and support a reasonable end-life-course. Doctor Carol Ryff, who has high expertise of psychological well-being domains makes clear the importance of introducing new concepts to help understanding the links between the aging process and psychological well-being, highlighting attitudes and resilience (Ryff, 2014). They are important psychological skills for the development of capacity to maintain or regain well-being in the face of adversity.

9.6 Conclusions

Frailty was related to poor scores of psychological well-being outcomes outcomes in institutionalized older women. In addition, cognitive status, attitude toward aging and individual feelings of subjective happiness were revealed as independent predictors of frailty. Despite a construct of satisfactory evidence, this study had some limitations. Firstly, these lie within the sample characteristics, which included more fit individuals than frail people and could have caused biased results. Furthermore, this study has a cross-sectional design and the associations may be bidirectional and causal reasoning is difficult here as those with PF, because of their limitations may be more likely to feel less in control, more stressed and have a more negative attitude and lower feelings of happiness in life. However, the results of the present study showed a similar trend to the other studies with larger samples. Implementing active lifestyle interventions that take into consideration positive feelings outcomes in geriatric assessments will assist in patients physical and mental health care planning. Future research needs to investigate the mechanisms underlying this finding, perhaps exploring some biopsychological mechanisms.

9.7 References

- Andrew, M. K., Fisk, J. D., & Rockwood, K. (2012a). Psychological well-being in relation to frailty: a frailty identity crisis? *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(08), 1347–1353. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610212000269
- Andrew, M. K., Fisk, J. D., & Rockwood, K. (2012b). Psychological well-being in relation to frailty: A frailty identity crisis? *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(8), 1347–1353. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610212000269
- Andrews, F., & Withey, S. (1976). Social Indicators of Well Being. Boston, MA: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-2253-5
- Batterham, A. M., & Hopkins, W. G. (2006). About Magnitudes. International Journal of Sports
 Physiology and Performance, 1(1), 50–57. Retrieved from
 https://books.google.com/books?hl=pt-PT&Ir=&id=gkalyqTMXNEC&pgis=1
- Buchman, A. S., & Bennett, D. A. (2013, September). Cognitive frailty. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging*. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-013-0397-9
- Canevelli, M., Cesari, M., & van Kan, G. A. (2015). Frailty and cognitive decline: How do they relate? *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.000000000000133
- Cho, J., Martin, P., Margrett, J., Macdonald, M., & Poon, L. W. (2011). The Relationship between Physical Health and Psychological Well-Being among Oldest-Old Adults. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2011, 605041. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/605041
- Chou, C.-H., Hwang, C.-L., & Wu, Y.-T. (2012). Effect of Exercise on Physical Function, Daily Living Activities, and Quality of Life in the Frail Older Adults: A Meta-Analysis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 93(17), 237–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2011.08.042
- Chumlea, W. C., & Baumgartner, R. N. (1989). Status of anthropometry and body composition data in elderly subjects. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *50*(5 Suppl), 1158-66; discussion 1231–5.
- Clegg, A., Young, J., Iliffe, S., Rikkert, M. O., & Rockwood, K. (2013). Frailty in elderly people. *Lancet*, *381*(9868), 752–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9

Corazza, D. I., Sebastião, É., Pedroso, R. V., Andreatto, C. A. A., de Melo Coelho, F. G.,

Gobbi, S., ... Santos-Galduróz, R. F. (2013). Influence of chronic exercise on serum cortisol levels in older adults. *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*, *11*(1), 25–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11556-013-0126-8

- Dent, E., & Hoogendijk, E. O. (2014). Psychosocial factors modify the association of frailty with adverse outcomes: a prospective study of hospitalised older people. *BMC Geriatrics*, *14*(1), 108. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-14-108
- Fitten, L. J. (2015). Psychological Frailty in the Aging Patient. *Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series*, 83, 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1159/000382060
- Freitag, S., & Schmidt, S. (2016). Psychosocial Correlates of Frailty in Older Adults. *Geriatrics*, 1(4), 26. https://doi.org/10.3390/geriatrics1040026
- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, a B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., ... McBurnie,
 M. a. (2001). Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(3), M146-56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156
- Furtado, G., Patrício, M., Loureiro, M., Teixeira, A. M. A. M., & Ferreira, J. P. J. P. (2017). Physical Fitness and Frailty Syndrome in Institutionalized Older Women. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 124(4), 003151251770991. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031512517709915
- Gale, C. R., Cooper, C., Deary, I. J., & Aihie Sayer, A. (2014). Psychological well-being and incident frailty in men and women: The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Psychological Medicine*, 44(4), 697–706. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713001384
- Gobbens, R. J. J., Luijkx, K. G., & van Assen, M. A. L. M. (2013). Explaining quality of life of older people in the Netherlands using a multidimensional assessment of frailty. *Quality of Life Research : An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 22(8), 2051–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-012-0341-1
- Gonçalves, B., Fagulha, T., Ferreira, A., & Reis, N. (2014). Depressive symptoms and pain complaints as predictors of later development of depression in Portuguese middle-aged women. *Health Care for Women International*, 35(11–12), 1228–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2013.862795
- González-Vaca, J., de la Rica-Escuín, M., Silva-Iglesias, M., Arjonilla-García, M. D., Varela-Pérez, R., Oliver-Carbonell, J. L., & Abizanda, P. (2014). Frailty in INstitutionalized older adults from ALbacete. The FINAL Study: rationale, design, methodology, prevalence and attributes. *Maturitas*, 77(1), 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.10.005

- Jones, T., Rapport, L., Hanks, R., Lichtenberg, P., & Telmet, K. (2003). Cognitive and psychosocial predictors of subjective well-being in urban older adults. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *17*(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1076/clin.17.1.3.15626
- Kanwar, A., Singh, M., Lennon, R., Ghanta, K., McNallan, S. M., & Roger, V. L. (2013). Frailty and health-related quality of life among residents of long-term care facilities. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 25(5), 792–802. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264313493003
- Kelaiditi, E., Cesari, M., Canevelli, M., Abellan Van Kan, G., Ousset, P.-J., Gillette-Guyonnet,
 S., ... Vellas, B. (2013). Cognitive frailty: Rational and definition from an (I.A.N.A./I.A.G.G.) International Consensus Group. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging*, 17(9), 726–734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-013-0367-2
- Laidlaw, K., Power, M. J., & Schmidt, S. (2007). The Attitudes to Ageing Questionnaire (AAQ): development and psychometric properties. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 22(4), 367–79. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.1683
- Lerner, R. M., Liben, L. S., & Mueller, U. (2015). *Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science, Cognitive Processes.* Retrieved from https://books.google.pt/books?id=5h7PBwAAQBAJ&pg=PA1047&lpg=PA1047&dq=Ca mpbell+and+Butcher's+cognition&source=bl&ots=-juU8NoAq7&sig=f-ulfegqOEpoB-z08wkKaqJV2lo&hl=pt-BR&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwiKtaaW8NHUAhUC2xoKHZGpBd0Q6AEIJTAA#v=onepage&

g=Campbell and Butcher's

- Levy, B. R., Slade, M. D., Kunkel, S. R., & Kasl, S. V. (2002). Longevity increased by positive self-perceptions of aging. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *83*(2), 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.2.261
- Lohman, M., Dumenci, L., & Mezuk, B. (2016). Depression and frailty in late life: Evidence for a common vulnerability. *Journals of Gerontology - Series B Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 71(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbu180
- Low, G., Molzahn, A., & Donald Schopflocher. (2013). Attitudes to aging mediate the relationship between older peoples' subjective health and quality of life in 20 countries. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *11*(1), 146. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-11-146
- Lunenfeld, B., & Stratton, P. (2013). The clinical consequences of an ageing world and preventive strategies. Best Practice & Research. Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 27(5), 643–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2013.02.005

- Macuco, C. R. M., Batistoni, S. S. T., Lopes, A., Cachioni, M., da Silva Falcão, D. V., Neri, A. L., & Yassuda, M. S. (2012). Mini-Mental State Examination performance in frail, pre-frail, and non-frail community dwelling older adults in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. *International Psychogeriatrics / IPA*, 24(11), 1725–31. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610212000907
- McAuley, E., Elavsky, S., Motl, R. W., Konopack, J. F., Hu, L., & Marquez, D. X. (2005).
 Physical activity, self-efficacy, and self-esteem: longitudinal relationships in older adults.
 The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 60(5), P268-75. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16131621
- McAuley, E., Konopack, J. F., Motl, R. W., Morris, K. S., Doerksen, S. E., & Rosengren, K. R. (2006). Physical activity and quality of life in older adults: influence of health status and self-efficacy. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine : A Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine*, 31(1), 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324796abm3101_14
- McEwen, B. S. (2015). Biomarkers for assessing population and individual health and disease related to stress and adaptation. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 64(3), S2–S10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2014.10.029
- McKay, M. T., Boduszek, D., & Harvey, S. A. (2014). The rosenberg self-esteem scale: A bifactor answer to a two-factor question? *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 96(6), 654– 660. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2014.923436
- Middleton, L. E., Mitnitski, A., Fallah, N., Kirkland, S. A., & Rockwood, K. (2008). Changes in cognition and mortality in relation to exercise in late life: a population based study. *PloS One*, *3*(9), e3124. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003124
- Morley, J. E., Vellas, B., van Kan, G. A., Anker, S. D., Bauer, J. M., Bernabei, R., ... Walston, J. (2013). Frailty consensus: a call to action. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, *14*(6), 392–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022
- Muscatell, K. A., Dedovic, K., Slavich, G. M., Jarcho, M. R., Breen, E. C., Bower, J. E., ... Eisenberger, N. I. (2015). Greater amygdala activity and dorsomedial prefrontalamygdala coupling are associated with enhanced inflammatory responses to stress. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 43, 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2014.06.201
- Panza, F., Solfrizzi, V., Barulli, M. R., Santamato, A., Seripa, D., Pilotto, A., & Logroscino, G. (2015). Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological and Neurobiological Evidence of an Age-Related Clinical Condition. *Rejuvenation Research*, *18*(5), 389–412.

- Petrini, C. (2014). Helsinki 50 years on. *La Clinica Terapeutica*, *165*(4), 179–81. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25203329
- Quan, H., Li, B., Couris, C. M., Fushimi, K., Graham, P., Hider, P., ... Sundararajan, V. (2011).
 Updating and validating the Charlson comorbidity index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *173*(6), 676–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq433
- Ryff, C. D. (2014). Psychological Well-Being Revisited: Advances in the Science and Practice of Eudaimonia. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *83*(1), 10–28. https://doi.org/10.1159/000353263
- Syddall, H., Cooper, C., Martin, F., Briggs, R., & Aihie Sayer, A. (2003). Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? *Age and Ageing*, *32*(6), 650–6. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14600007
- Taylor, J. M. (2015). Psychometric analysis of the ten-item perceived stress scale. *Psychological Assessment*, 27(1), 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038100
- Thoits, P. a. (2011). Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. *J Health Soc Behav*, *52*(2), 145–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146510395592
- Wong, C. H., Weiss, D., Sourial, N., Karunananthan, S., Quail, J. M., Wolfson, C., & Bergman,
 H. (2010). Frailty and its association with disability and comorbidity in a communitydwelling sample of seniors in Montreal: a cross-sectional study. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22(1), 54–62. https://doi.org/10.3275/6675
- Wu, S., Wang, R., Zhao, Y., Ma, X., Wu, M., Yan, X., & He, J. (2013). The relationship between self-rated health and objective health status: a population-based study. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 320. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-320

CHAPTER 10 (STUDY 8):

EXPLORING THE POTENTIAL OF SALIVARY AND BLOOD IMMUNE PROFILE MAKERS TO EXPLAIN PHYSICAL FRAILTY IN INSTITUTIONALIZED OLDER WOMEN.

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Luciele Minuzzi

Matheus Uba Chupel

Miguel Patrício

Marisa Loureiro

Eef Hogervorst

Stephan Bandelow

José Pedro Ferreira

Ana Maria Teixeira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018

10.1 Abstract

Background: Early identification of older populations at increased risk for the physical frailty syndrome using biological approaches is potentially important for screening accuracy. Goals: To assess how different blood and salivary biomarkers may be applied to accurately explain frailty status and study the relationship between immune markers and independent components of physical frailty in institutionalized older women. Methods: A group of 139 institutionalized-dwelling women, aged 75 years and older, were assessed for sociodemographic, anthropometric and general health variables. The five Fried's physical frailty components (weakness, exhaustion, slowness, weight loss and low levels of physical activity) were also assessed. The quantification of different biochemical makers, including pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines, sex steroid hormones, anti-microbial proteins and blood cells count was performed in plasma and salivary samples. Results: The present study indicates that salivary α -amylase was the biomarker that better explained the frail condition and the one biomarker that best associated with the independent components of physical frailty. Inflammatory markers and blood counts also presented a link to the Physical Frailty components with Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin, IL-10, IL-16, TNF- α - and cortisol levels associating with Exhaustion. Conclusion: These results are in accordance with previous studies observed for similar populations and have uncovered a new salivary marker (aamylase) that may be used as a screening tool. Future research needs to investigate the causal-effect association between immune makers and physical frailty and further explore other markers of the multiple systems involved in the immune response, including those found in saliva samples, as this could be an easier non-invasive method for screening for frailty.

Key-words: Frail older adults, immune system, sex steroid hormones, cytokines, alphaamylase
10.2 Introduction

The overall biochemical markers of organ systems are intrinsically inter-related and are best studied in the development of frailty (Gale, Baylis, Cooper, & Sayer, 2013; Walston, 2002). Especially in advanced age, clinical health status is characterised by a set of long-term musculoskeletal, immune and neurocognitive morbidities, that impact on people's physicalfunctioning. Clinical health outcomes are more than just the absence of disease, and includes all physiological structures related to the aging process. Studies revealed that lower clinical health is associated with an imbalance in several biochemical makers (BM) involved in the immune system, especially in frail individuals (Leng, Xue, Tian, Walston, & Fried, 2007).

The frailty syndrome is a challenging aging expression determined by phylogeny and ontogeny factors (Morley et al., 2013). Nowadays, frailty is conceptualized as a state in which reserve function across multiple physiologic systems declines, compromising the individuals' capacity to withstand biological stress, thereby predisposing them to poor health, functional decline, institutionalization and death (Mitnitski et al., 2015; Rockwood & Bergman, 2012). Using a classical approach, Linda Fried and colleagues (2001) established the Physical Frailty (PF) concept and identified five components which were Weakness, Slowness, Exhaustion, Weight loss and Low levels of Physical Activity (PA) to characterize it. According to this protocol it is possible to categorise the older population in frail, pre-frail and non-frail subgroups, according to the negative scores obtained on the individual factors (Fried et al., 2001). However, accumulating evidence from observational studies supports a progressive relationship between frailty, immune and neuroendocrine systems (Clegg, Young, Iliffe, Rikkert, & Rockwood, 2013).

Numerous studies have shown that a decrease in the immune response is closely associated with a number of aspects of frailty, including sarcopenia and osteopenia (Aw, Silva, & Palmer, 2007). The molecular mechanisms involved in this relationship are quite complex, which occasionally hinders a reasonable conclusion about which biomarkers may have a greater power in explaining the early development of the frailty phenotype (Yao, Li, & Leng, 2011). However, some specialists suggest that the major reason for the difficulty in understanding the phenomenon is the diversity of mechanisms involved in the immune system, which include molecules, such as catecholamines, sex steroid hormones, anti and pro-inflammatory interleukins, and several cellular subsets that impact on in immune function. The cross-talk between these biochemical markers pathways are usually linear, although sometimes the lines of action through a chemokine signalling are diffuse, and do not follow the expected predictability of the linear pathway (Soysal et al., 2016a).

Numerous researchers have sought or assessed clinical or physiologically relevant biomarkers for their relationship with PF and poor clinical status, or assessed how putative predictors of PF may serve as additional screening tools (Schoufour, Echteld, Boonstra, Groothuismink, & Evenhuis, 2016). The Newcastle 85+ Study assessed whether a 40 Biochemical makers (BM) based frailty index allowed examination of their collective effect in predicting mortality compared with individual biomarkers (Mitnitski et al., 2015). The results showed that the combined BM of Frailty-index was more powerful for mortality prediction than any individual biomarker. In another study, serum sirtuins (NAD dependent deacetylases with anti-ageing properties) were described as promising non-invasive biomarkers for PF status (Kumar et al., 2014). Associations between PF in older institutionalized men and inflammatory makers, in particular Interleukin-6 (IL-6), Tumour Necrosis Factor-Alpha (TNF- α) and high sensitivity C-reactive Protein (CRP) serum levels have also been reported (Hubbard, O'Mahony, Savva, Calver, & Woodhouse, 2009).

Analysing multisystem risk factors of frailty in cross-sectional data of 1685 older adults aged 55 and older in the Singapore Longitudinal Ageing Studies, the researchers found that white blood cell counts, haemoglobin, albumin, lymphocytes and total cholesterol were highly associated with pre-frail and frail subgroups (Ng, Feng, Nyunt, Larbi, & Yap, 2014). The most recent study that focused on the female population found that high concentrations of the inflammatory marker CRP were more strongly predictive of incident frailty in women than in men (Gale et al., 2013). Many of the studies in the scientific literature came from community-dwelling elderly people, and the extrapolation of these results to a sample of institutionalized older people can be imprecise. Older adults living in institutionalized care are a dissimilar population with regards to many geriatric clinical health outcomes. Many questions remain unresolved for this population, as for example, whether and how BM of the different physiological systems have a close relationship with PF status. To our knowledge, the use of salivary biomarkers associated with mucosal immunity and their association with PF has not been reported in the literature.

In this study, we propose to assess how biomarkers (cytokines, sex steroid hormones, anti-microbial proteins and blood count analysis) of different systems may be applied to explain PF status and to test the strength of their relationship with independent components of PF in institutionalized older women. It was hypothesized that the frail sub-group would have a lower immune profile than those who are pre-frail and non-frail, and that salivary biomarkers could also reveal useful associations with frailty in this population.

10.3 Material and Methods

This exploratory study evolving institutionalized-dwelling individuals was based on **a** survey aimed to verify PF incidence in people living in centres for social and health care support (CHS). The sample consisted of a subset of the participants who took part in the previous published study protocol (Teixeira et al., 2016). Cross-sectional data from the baseline assessments were used for the current paper.

10.3.1 Eligibility criteria

Included participants were female, aged 75 years and over, who were willing to take part in the study and who were under medical supervision with updated prescribed drugs. The specific criteria for participant's exclusion were: the presence of any type of health condition that could prevent testing of autonomy, such as severe cardiomyopathy, uncontrolled cardiorespiratory illness and any musculoskeletal conditions that might prevent testing (i.e. recent fractures); having a mental disorder, hearing and vision impairment, morbid obesity; having no controlled and updated drug therapy or the use of medications that could cause attentional impairments.

10.3.2 Sample selection

A total of five institutions of CHS where the older person lives in long-term care and has the same daily routine, including health and social care were selected. The primary stage of participants' assessment was information provided on the potential participants by the medical professionals from each CHS, combined with clinical primary outcomes information. A convenience sampling assignment was used. The initial recruitment consisted of 305 (100%) institutionalized-dwelling potential participants. Before the initial screen, 128 individuals (42%) were excluded because of several negative clinical health conditions, such as severe physical, cognitive, hearing or visual impairment and other specifics impairments. A total of 37 (12%) older people dropped out during the data collection phases. The final analysed sample consisted of 139 (46%) older women.

10.3.3 Ethical statement

All the CHS directors and potential participants who expressed interest in participating in the study signed an informed consent form, in which the privacy and anonymous identity of the data collected were guaranteed and any needed access to participants' medical records were given. This study was approved by the Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education Ethical Committee (Reference code CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013) - the University of Coimbra, respected the Portuguese Resolution (Art. 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) and complied with research guidelines in humans of the Helsinki Declaration (Petrini, 2014).

10.3.4 Outcomes measures

Data collection of all variables was organized by the principal investigator and was performed by independent specialists (properly trained) of the research team. The same evaluators for each study domain performed the data collection in all study participants. The biosocial and general health indicators which had shown statistical differences between frail sub-groups in the comparison analysis were treated as covariates in the subsequent correlational statistical analyses.

10.3.5 Physical Frailty screening

Assessment of PF was evaluated according to Fried's PF protocol (Fried et al., 2001). Weight loss was assessed by self-report of unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months, validated by medical records. Poor endurance and energy (self-reported exhaustion) was evaluated by negative concordance of two questions (number 7 and 20) of the Center of Epidemiologic Studies for Depression questionnaire (CES-D), which in the original study had shown a significant association with a direct measurement of maximum rate of oxygen consumption (VO²_{max}). Weakness was analyzed using the handgrip strength test (HGT). Participants who were unable to perform the HGT and those in the lowest 20% (adjusted for BMI and stratified by gender) were categorized as positive, based on cut off values. Slowness, as measured by the '15 feet (4,6 meters) walking test', adjusted for gender and height. Based on cut off values of Fried's study population, the best time of the two trials was used for final scoring. Low PA levels were assessed by the International PA Questionnaire short form, such that participants classified as having inactive and minimally active on this instrument scored positively. The PF total score was calculated according to the presence of each of the five items (0 to 5 points), classifying the participants as pre-frail (with 1 or 2 points), as frail (with 3 or more points) and as non-frail when the subject had none of the five frailty independent components, establishing a categorical classification.

10.3.6 Biochemical markers analysis

All saliva and blood collections for the biomarkers analysis occurred in the morning (between 10:00h - 12:00h). Saliva samples were collected by passive drool, that consisted in the participant allowing saliva to collect on the floor of the mouth, then to lean forward and dribble into a polypropylene tube for 3 minutes. Prior to the saliva collection, subjects were asked to rinse their mouth with water to remove food residues 20 min before sample collection. Saliva samples volumes were measured, aliquoted and stored at $-20^{\circ}C$ until further analysis.

Salivary concentrations of testosterone (TT), cortisol (COR), dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), lysozyme (Lys), and immunoglobulin-A (Ig-A) were analyzed by competitive ELISA [Salimetrics[®], UK]. Salivary alpha-amylase (α -amylase) was analyzed using a kinetic assay [Salimetrics[®], UK]. Additionally, salivary concentrations of interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β) and IL-6 were also analyzed by standard ELISA [Salimetrics[®], UK]. Blood samples were collected by venepuncture by a registered nurse, and were allocated into kEDTA and serum tubes. Determination of blood counts was done immediately after blood collection, using an automated haematology analyzer [Coulter AcT Diff, Beckman Coulter, USA]. The remaining blood was separated by centrifugation and the plasma and serum samples kept frozen at - 80°C until further use. The plasma levels of TNF- α , interferon gamma (IFN- γ) and interleukin-10 (IL-10) and were analyzed by ELISA [Invitrogen[®], CA]. Serum CRP was determined using the Horiba Medical Pentra C200 [Kyoto, Japan].

10.3.7 Biosocial status

Sociodemographic information on chronological age (continuous variable) and level of education (assessed as a continuous variable) was collected for each participant. The level of education was classified according to the Portuguese educational system and analyzed as a continuous variable (Fernandes, 2007). Anthropometric measures included body mass, determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms; stature, determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimeters, and body mass index (BMI), was calculated according the standard formula [BMI = weight/height²]. The standardized procedures described by Lohan and colleagues were followed for the collection of anthropometric data (Chumlea, Baumgartner, 1989).

10.3.8 General health status screen

Nutritional status was measured using the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA). It consists of 18 questions. The maximum score is 30 points (pts), and classifies subjects as well-nourished (24 to 30 pts), at risk of malnutrition (17 to 23.5 pts) or as malnourished when scoring 17 points and lower (Guigoz, 2006). The *Charlson Comorbidity Index* (CCI) measures burden of disease and has a weighted index based on 19 comorbid conditions (Charlson, Szatrowski, Peterson, & Gold, 1994). *Daily medications used* (MU) by the participants were assessed through question number six of the MNA, that asks the participant if he/she takes more than 3 or less prescription drugs per day. The *Mini Mental State Examination* (MMSE) was used to assess cognitive profile. MMSE assesses five areas of cognition (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975). The scores range from 0 to 30 points, and a score below 24 pts is considered abnormal and used for dementia screening.

10.3.9 Statistical analysis

The assumption of normality was checked by using Shapiro Wilk tests and visual inspection of plots. Continuous data are described by their medians, 25th and 75th percentiles, whereas qualitative data are described by absolute and relative frequencies. The comparison of continuous variables between the frail sub-groups was performed using ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis, aimed to test biosocial and global health outcomes to control for selection bias. The association between PF sub-groups and category variables was assessed using Chi-square tests (Monte Carlo simulations were used when applicable). Correlations were computed to check de assumption of collinearity, together with partial correlations controlling for predetermined co-variates. To examination the contribute of each BM to explain frailty, the univariate diagnostic value of each BM was determined using ROC (receiver operating characteristics) analysis, comparing non-frail versus (vs) pre-frail and non-frail vs frail subgroups. For each model, a 95% confidence interval (CI) from percentiles for the area under the curve (AUC) was determined. The relationship between independent PF components of Slowness, Weakness and low levels of PA and some BM were made using linear regression. The PF of Exhaustion and Weight loss and their association with BM was assessed through logistic regression. The unadjusted model simply included one dependent variable and one independent variable. Model 1 presented unadjusted analysis results and model 2 included educational level, comorbidities, and cognitive state as co-variates. The outcomes of BM were assumed as dependent variables and the all BM were independent in the regression analysis. IBM SPSS Statistics 21.0 and in R 3.3.1 software were used for all computations. The level of significance adopted was P = 0.05.

10.4 Results

Table 10.1 presents biosocial characteristics of the complete sample and results from the frail subgroups analysis of the participants. Of all participants, 55 (39.6%) were considered as frail, 53 as pre-frail (38,1%) and 31 were classified as non-frail (22.3%). When frail subgroups were compared for biosocial and global health status (co-variates), statistical differences were found for the level of education (p = 0.030), stature (p < 0.001), comorbidities (p = 0.006), depression (p = 0.009) and cognitive status (p < 0.001).

	Total sample	Nonfrail	Pre-frail	Frail	p value	
	(n = 139, 100%) (n= 31; 22.3%)		(n= 53; 38.1%)	(n= 55;39.6%)	value	
Biosocial status (M1;3)						
	83	82,5	83	83	0.045	
Chronological age (years)	(77; 88)	(77; 88)	(76; 89)	(78; 87)	0.945	
Lovel of advantion (degree)	3	4	3	3	0.020	
Level of education (degree)	(3; 4)	(3; 6)	(3; 4)	(2; 4)	0.030	
	28.74	27.24	28.9	30.09	0.070	
Body mass index (MII;3)	(25.02, 31.16)	(24.49, 29.6)	(24.45, 31.46)	(26.13, 32.16)	0.070	
General health status (M1;3)						
Mini-nutritional assessment (0-30	24	24	24	24	0.010	
points)	(20, 26)	(21, 25.25)	(2, 26)	(22, 26)	0.916	
Comorbidity inday (0.10 points)	7	7	6	8	0.006	
Comorbially index (0-10 points)	(6, 9)	(6, 10)	(6, 8)	(7, 9)	0.006	
Delumber and the function	3	3	2	4	0.440	
Polypharmacy use, per day (unit)	(2, 4)	(2, 4)	(2, 4)	(2, 4)	0.142	
Mini Mental State Exam (0-30	21	25	21	17	0.000	
points)	(16, 25)	(21.5, 27)	(17, 25)	(13.5, 22)	0.000	

 Table 10.1 Characterization of the total sample and comparison by physical frailty categories for biosocial and general health status.

Notes: M (1;3) = Median vale of the first and third quartile.

The biochemical markers characteristics of the complete sample and results by frail subgroups analysis of the participants were presented in Table 10.2. Statistical differences were found for the levels of salivary IL-6 (p < 0.001), IL-1 β (p = 0.011), COR (p < 0.001) and α -amylase (p = 0.020) as well as plasma cytokine of IL-10 (p = 0.049) and TNF- α (p = 0.035). In the differential blood counts, differences in mean corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH) (p = 0.013) were also found.

	Total sample	Nonfrail	Pre-frail	Frail	Р
Biochemical makers	(n = 139, 100%)	(n= 31; 22.3%)	(n= 53; 38.1%)	(n= 55; 39.6%)	value
Salivary Interleukin-6 (pg/mL)	16.75	34.18	18.46	13.07	0.000
	(9.22, 25.7)	(16.75, 40.66)	(8.09, 25.2)	(8.04, 19.95)	
Salivary Interleukin-1 beta (pg/mL)	117.5	239.24	115.84	73.01	0.011
	(20.35, 208.95)	(61.9, 486.95)	(16.55, 203.89)	(8.36, 203.89)	
Plasma Interleukin-10 (pg/mL)	9.46	15.61 (3.88, 19.73)	6.13	20.53	0.049
	(3.01, 27.3)		(1.8, 19.73)	(3.75, 27.52)	
Interferon-gamma (pg/mL)	5.55	4.17	3.39	7.57	0.503
	(1.19, 11.4)	(1.19, 8.03)	(1.19, 11.4)	(1.19, 11.4)	
Tumour Necrosis Factor (pg/mL)	94.31	102.15	47.51	131.09	0.035
	(25.09, 145.35)	(31.86, 159.2)	(23.58, 133.14)	(25.09, 186.88)	
C-Reactive Protein (pg/mL)	3.93	4.73	2.48	3.93	0.126
	(0.7, 5.66)	(1.9, 6.41)	(0.65, 4.7)	(1.3, 5)	
Salivary Cortisol (µg/mL)	0.24	0.26	0.21	0.27	0.055
	(0.15, 0.29)	(0.16, 0.29)	(0.11, 0.27)	(0.16, 0.32)	
Salivary Testosterone (pg/mL)	59.01	59.01	57.25	65.29	0.365
	(41.45, 85.25)	(44.71, 93.53)	(39.29, 83.99)	(49.95, 82.3)	
Salivary Dehydroepiandrosterone (pg/mL)	26.97	26.97	19.77	32.16	0.701
	(6.25, 41.23)	(7.42, 33.16)	(5.05, 40.82)	(7.42, 45.98)	
Salivary Lysozyme (µg/mL)	2.1	2.1	1.37	3.02	0.386
	(0.44, 4.65)	(2, 3.05)	(0.18, 4.65)	(0.5, 4.65)	
Salivary Immunoglobulin-A (μg/mL)	231.44	258.23	199.25	234.81	0.173
	(105.73, 258.23)	(171.56, 258.23)	(105.74, 247.73)	(94.25, 351.58)	
Salivary alpha-amylase (U/mL)	45.59	84.95	41.49	25.91	0.020
	(2.95, 102.66)	(25.01, 197.81)	(2.71, 98.73)	(0.82, 61.13)	
Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor (ng/mL)	4.92	5.45	5.17	4.85	0.964
	(2.89, 7.97)	(2.7, 8.21)	(2.88, 8.27)	(3.09, 6.89)	
Leucocyte (*10-3/uL)	6.81	7.3	6.5	7.1	0.428
	(5.9, 8.4)	(5.65, 8.9)	(5.5, 8.1)	(6.4, 7.85)	
Lymphocyte (*10-3/uL)	1.93	2.2	1.9	1.9	0.393
	(1.6, 2.3)	(1.55, 2.7)	(1.6, 2.2)	(1.6, 2.3)	
Monocyte (*10-3/uL)	0.34	0.3	0.34	0.34 (0.3, 0.4)	0.870
	(0.3, 0.4)	(0.3, 0.45)	(0.2, 0.4)		
Granulocyte (*10-3/uL)	64.7	65.4	64.5	64.7	0.812
	(58.15, 71.6)	(56.65, 71.6)	(58.9, 70.8)	(60.25, 71.9)	
Erythrocyte (*10-6/uL)	4.39 (4.12, 4.7)	4.43	4.39	4.39	0.987
		(3.96, 4.7)	(4.22, 4.66)	(4.12, 4.71)	
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	12.3	12.2	12.5	12.02	0.189
	(11.55, 13.1)	(11.35, 13.6)	(11.7, 13.3)	(11.3, 12.8)	
Mean Corpuscular Haemoglobin (pg)	27.8	28.3	28	31.4	0.013
	(26.75, 29.2)	(27.1, 29.3)	(27, 29.4)	(26.2, 32.4)	
Mean Cell Volume (fL)	88.2	89.2	88.5	87.67	0.185
	(85.9, 91.55)	(86.35, 93)	(86.5, 91.5)	(84.85, 89.4)	
Percentage of red cell distribution width	13.31	13.2	13.4	13.31	0.955
	(12.8, 14.1)	(12.7, 14.15)	(12.8, 14.3)	(12.8, 14.05)	
Platelets (*10-3/uL)	218.43	204.52	220	224	0.156
	(175, 258)	(158.5, 230)	(186, 261)	(184.5, 258.5)	
Mean Platelet Volume (fL)	8.6	8.6	8.66	8.6	0.641
	(8, 9.2)	(8.05, 9.05)	(7.8, 9.7)	(8.2, 9)	

Table 10.2 Characterization of total sample an	d comparison by physical frailty	y subgroups for biochemical makers.
--	----------------------------------	-------------------------------------

Notes: = M1; 3: Median value of the first and third quartile in the bracket.

Subsequently, the first model of logistic regression analysis (using stepwise backward elimination) following a receiver operating characteristics curve analysis was performed to test

the contribution of each BM to explain the frail condition, comparing non-frail versus (vs) prefrail and non-frail vs frail. For both comparisons, the previously selected co-variates were entered. In the non-frail vs frail analysis, co-linearity was present for IL-1 β and TNF- α (tolerance = .85) and was removed from the statistic model. The results show that when comparing non-frail vs frail groups, only salivary α -amylase contributed to the frail condition in the equation independently (β = -.006, OR = .994, 95%CI [998;1000], p = .022). A satisfactory area under curve (AUC) reference value was attained for α -amylase (AUC = 0.613, AUC 95%CI = [0.518; 0.707]), with a sensitivity of 64.6% and a specificity of 75.4%.The corresponding cut-off value, maximizing Youden's index, was seen to be 63.7 U/mL. The analysis of non-frail vs pre-frail subgroups was not found to have statistical significant results.



Figure 10.1 Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for biochemical maker of salivary α -amylase, (n =140).

In the second regression analysis we opted for exploring the relationship between each independent PF component and the same biochemical makers were used as in the previous regressions analysis. The results of Table 10.3 show that in the unadjusted and adjusted (CCI, MMSE and Education levels) models, salivary IL-6, IL-1 β and α -amylase makers were associated with the frailty component of Weakness. Plasma IL-10, TNF- α , MCH and salivary α -a, COR and IL-1- β showed an association with Self-reported Exhaustion, although α -a presented a statistical significant relationship only after adjusting the model (β -. = 003, OR = 998, 95%CI = [.997; 1003], p = .048). Only salivary α -amylase presented a statistical significant significant relationship on the independent of Low Levels of physical activity, considering both adjusted (r^2 = .044, β -. = 002, p = .008) and unadjusted (r^2 = .033, β -. = 003, p = .009) regression models.

Physical Frailty		Weakness			Slowness Exhaustion			Weight loss				Low PA levels					
components	(Low	Hand grip str	ength)		(Low Gait spe	ed)	(Self-repo	rted weariness)			(Uninten	tional reported)		(IP	AQ-short vers	ion)
Biochemical markers	R ²	β coefficient	p value	R ²	β coefficient	p value	β coefficient	OR	95% CI for OR	p value omnibus test	β coefficient	OR	95% CI for OR	p value omnibus test	R ²	β coefficient	p value
IL-6 (pg/mL)																	
Unadjusted	.020	.054	.044	007	005	.710	007	.993	[.979; 1007]	.321	003	.997	[.979; .1007]	.707	.015	.006	.090
Adjusted*	.026	.057	.050	.016	004	.744	009	.991	[.997; 1006]	.140	003	.997	[.980; .1015]	.438	.000	.006	.096
IL-1β (pg/mL)																	
Unadjusted	.048	.005	.008	002	001	.386	001	.999	[.998; 1000]	.126	.000	1000	[.998; 1003]	.585	.000	.003	.237
Adjusted*	.076	.005	.007	003	001	.389	001	.999	[.997; 1010]	.023	.000	1000	[.999; 1001]	.401	011	.000	.242
IL-10 (pg/mL)																	
Unadjusted	002	012	.401	004	.004	.523	042	959	[.935; .983]	.001	002	.998	[.991; 1005]	.552	006	001	.680
Adjusted*	.032	012	.395	.005	.004	.554	040	961	[.937; .984]	.000	002	.998	[.991; 1007]	.466	018	001	.695
α-amylase (U/mL)																	
Unadjusted	.089	.019	.009	.004	003	.218	001	.996	[.996;1001]	.256	.000	1000	[.996; 1003]	.798	.044	.002	.008
Adjusted*	.104	.019	.000	.007	003	.229	003	.998	[.997; 1003]	.048	.000	999	[.996; 1003]	.488	.033	.003	.009
MCH(A) (pg/mL)																	
Unadjusted	006	.145	.655	.001	.147	.300	.255	1.290	[1.061; 1559]	.011	.048	1049	[846; 1301]	.658	.010	.066	.125
Adjusted*	.007	.183	.572	.014	.180	.206	.238	1.268	[1.037; 1551]	.009	.056	1057	[847; 1321]	.490	002	.063	.148
COR (µg/mL)																	
Unadjusted	004	936	.529	003	.526	.421	.311	1.365	[1.361; 1367]	.467	.593	1089	[1000; 1099]	.495	.007	200	.311
Adjusted*	.142	580	.506	.154	.265	.328	.373	1452	[1.449; 1458]	.026	.220	1773	[1769; 1785]	.512	.146	211	.256
TNF-α (pg/mL)																	
Unadjusted	001	.004	.327	001	002	.369	008	.992	[.990; 1.001]	.000	002	.998	[.991; 1011]	.035	002	.389	.389
Adjusted*	.144	.580	.484	.156	277	.169	007	.993	[.991; 1004]	.000	003	.997	[.994; 1008]	0.75	.120	.212	.212

Table 10.3 Association between each physical frailty independent component and available biochemical makers (n = 139).

Notes: *Adjusted for education level, morbidity index and mini-mental state exam. For each logistic regression and each of the FS components, the corresponding β coefficient, odds-ratio (OR), 95% confidence intervals for the OR and the p-value of the omnibus tests of model coefficients were computed. For each linear regression and each of the frailty components variables, the coefficient of determination of the model (R^2), the β coefficient, the corresponding p-value and the p-value for the ANOVA test were computed; PA = Physical activity; Salivary Interleukin-6 = IL-6, Salivary Interleukin-1 beta = IL-1 β , Plasma Interleukin-10 = IL-10, Tumour Necrosis Factor = TNF- α , Salivary α -amylase = AA, Mean Corpuscular Haemoglobin = MCH; IPAQ-SV = International Physical Activity questionnaire – short version.

10.5 Discussion

Analysing the associations between the immune markers and frailty status in institutionalized older women, the results indicated that of all biomarkers that presented statistical differences in the frailty subgroups comparison, only salivary α -amylase contributed to explain frailty status in this study sample. Exploring the relationship between PF independent components and salivary IL-6, IL-1 β , COR, α -amylase, plasma TNF- α , the results showed that mucosal immune makers (α -amylase and cortisol), pro-inflammatory (IL-6, IL-1 β and TNF- α) and anti-inflammatory (IL-10) cytokines showed a statistical significant relationship with the independent PF components of Weakness and/or Exhaustion. The human immune system is a host defence system involving many biological structures within an organism that defends against several types of pathogens or other substances from the environment, neutralizing viruses, bacteria and fungi through mechanisms such as phagocytosis (Licastro et al., 2005). All BM involved in this study have protective functions directly or indirectly in different immune sub-systems, but its efficacy decreases with advanced ageing. Recent studies suggest that there are abnormal increased immunosenescence processes in frail individuals, namely in the pro-inflammatory cytokines levels, such IL-6 and IL-1 β (Soysal et al., 2016b).

High levels of IL-6 and IL-1 β in older people were associated with neurodegenerative, cardiometabolic, and musculoskeletal disorders (Licastro et al., 2005). However, our study showed unexpected lower values of IL-6 in the frail subgroup, contradicting the results of some recent findings (Leng et al., 2007). The likely explanation for these results is presented by Maggio and colleagues, that elucidate the causal role of lower levels of IL-6 (and other cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-12 and IL-23) in very old frail people (as was the case in our study sample), with an intrinsic relationship with possible decreases in the immune response, involving the Pattern Recognition Receptors-PRR (Maggio, Guralnik, Longo, & Ferrucci, 2006). The action of PRR intramolecular mechanism associating with the immune response is the pathway that can explain the lowering of these cytokines levels. PRR recognize varied pathogen by their molecular patterns, leading to the secretion of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules (Compté et al., 2013). In very old frail individuals, this response does not occur in the same proportion, and poor nutrition and low muscle mass were closely associated with low activation of this mechanism (Compté et al., 2013; Leng et al., 2007).

In the present study, IL-6 and IL-1 β were associated with Weakness (low hand grip strength), corroborating the findings previously described by Compté and colleagues (Compté et al., 2013). It is important to mention that some recent studies suggested that IL-6 also exerts important signalling in the inflammatory process, not requiring its suppression, but rather an expression which may be beneficial for the activation of some anti-inflammatory mechanisms (Maggio et al., 2006) or a direct response to elevate TNF- α levels (Walston, 2012; Welsh et. al, 201), as it seems to be the case in our study. On the other hand, IL-10 exerts a potent antiinflammatory activity regulating the immune system response (Bruunsgaard & Pedersen, 2000). Decreases in IL-10 have been linked to the aging process and found in obese individuals (Bruunsgaard & Pedersen, 2000). A number of studies showed different IL-10 levels on different frail sub-groups. Curiously IL-10 knock out mice have been used as frailinduced animal models (Dagdeviren et al., 2017; von Zglinicki et al., 2016). Relationship between IL-10 and Exhaustion emerged in our study that could be explained by the direct relationship between IL-10 and low cardiorespiratory function shown in previous findings (Su, Hao, Liu, & Dong, 2017). Elevations in IL-10 are expected as a counter regulatory mechanism to arrest and limit further inflammation in chronic inflamed tissues. Furthermore elevation of IL-10, with or without elevation in IL-6, is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Welsh et al., 2011). TNF- α levels were higher in the pre-frail and frail individuals which could have elicited higher levels of IL-10 in the frail subgroup. However, the limited number of studies that associated frailty and IL-10 do not permit an accurate inference (von Zglinicki et al., 2016). While IL-10 was inversely associated with Exhaustion, TNF- α , levels were positively associated with Exhaustion.

According to a recent literature review, increases in the levels of this pro-inflammatory cytokine are associated with the chronic fatigue syndrome, which in turn has a pathophysiological core common to the frail condition: bone and muscle weakness (Morey, Boggero, Scott, & Segerstrom, 2016). In our study sample the second highest incidence of comorbidity were bone degenerative diseases (Louati & Berenbaum, 2015). PF and anaemia in the older individuals appear to share a common biological disorder, especially immune - endocrine dysregulations linked to frailty (Leng et al., 2009). In this study, a slightly but significant increase in MCH levels in the frail subgroup may give clues to understand an established association between blood count cells, sarcopenia and frailty (Silva et al., 2014). The MCH represents the average mass of haemoglobin per red blood cell (RBC) which main function is to carry oxygen to the body tissues via the blood current through the circulatory system (Snyder & Sheafor, 1999). As self-reported Exhaustion is understood as a PF component of fatigue, the associations found in the present study makes sense, corroborating some findings with similar population from the FIBRA study (Silva et al., 2014).

Notwithstanding the above findings, the primary findings of this study revealed that α amylase was the only marker that could explain the frail condition. Interestingly, α -amylase presented a statistical and direct relationship with Exhaustion, low levels of PA and Weakness (low grip strength), which explains why α -amylase was the marker that showed the best fit in the ROC analysis. Research on saliva samples in older populations has grown in the last years for two apparent reasons, easy and non-invasive data collection and the existence of moderate and strong correlations with their similar blood markers (Schumacher, Kirschbaum, Fydrich, & Ströhle, 2013). Although α -amylase was included in our statistical model considering its important contribute to mucosal immunity (acting as a first barrier of host immune defence), in the last years, α -amylase has also been studied in a behavioural perspective, due to its identification as a modulator of the autonomic nervous system activity in both biological and psychological stress (Allgrove, Gomes, Hough, & Gleeson, 2008). The small concentration found in our study sample is possibly explained by the high prevalence of low levels of PA (40% of total sample), since recent findings suggested that maintaining an active life style in older individuals (i.e. moderate exercise) can help preserve a reasonable response of the ANS, contributing to a stronger first immune barrier (Walsh et al., 2011).

In contrast to the α -amylase results, the salivary cortisol (COR) response had higher levels in the frail individuals group. While COR is a useful maker as a measure of hypothalamicpituitary-adrenocortical activity (HPA) and psychobiological stress, the expression of α amylase occurs in the parotid gland (in response to adrenergic activity) and the sympathetic adrenomedullary system (SAM). This difference may be the first step in understanding the antagonist results in the frail sub-group. Previous studies have shown that the responses of the HPA and the SAM systems may differ depending on the type of stressor (i.e. psychosocial stress, chronic disease, exercise) (Maruyama et al., 2012; Schumacher et al., 2013). As was the case of this study, evidence suggests that higher levels of salivary COR may be due to the vulnerability of clinical status in older women (high ICC values were observed in this sample), corroborated with similar findings from previous studies (Varadhan et al., 2008).

Furthermore, experts recognize that high psychological state of depression and anxiety (other important characteristic of this sample) have been empirically linked to dysregulation and inhibition of some immune responses (Morey et al., 2016). This marker also presents an association with the independent PF component of Exhaustion after adjusted model statistics, suggesting associations between global health status, low cardiorespiratory fitness and high levels of biological stress.

Despite of the results obtained, this study has some limitations. First, the number of participants was relatively small, considering the individual variability in some of the biochemical makers studied. Future studies with institutionalized samples should include larger samples, especially if involving markers that act in different pathways of the immune system. Second, the cross-sectional data does not permit a causal-effect association. The high number of biomarkers examined was very positive. However, we recognize that when examining the results, the reader must take into account that we introduced in the statistical model different biological materials, although the correlation between the salivary and blood samples of the markers used in the present study were proven. The introduction of saliva made the study interesting from the methodological point of view. Although the regression models used levels of comorbidity (and cognitive profile) in the adjustment of statistical models, future analysis should also try to examine relationships between immune markers and a group-type of medication used.

10.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, the present study indicates that salivary α -amylase was the better biomarker in the model to explain the frail condition and was the one that was most strongly associated with the independent physical frailty components. The inflammatory and blood cell makers studied also revealed interesting links to the the five independent components of physical frailty and and all the associations made sense from a biological point of view with Weakness and Exhaustion being the frailty components most associated with the immune profile.

10.7 References

Allgrove, J. E., Gomes, E., Hough, J., & Gleeson, M. (2008). Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *26*(6), 653–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410701716790

Aw, D., Silva, A. B., & Palmer, D. B. (2007, April). Immunosenescence: Emerging challenges for an ageing population. *Immunology*. Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02555.x

Batterham, A. M., & Hopkins, W. G. (2006). About Magnitudes. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, *1*(1), 50–57. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=pt-PT&Ir=&id=gkalyqTMXNEC&pgis=1

Braga, R. (2013). Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos. *Revista Portuguesa de Medicina Geral e Familiar*, 29(6), 354–356. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.mec.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S2182-51732013000600001&lng=pt&nrm=iso&tlng=pt

Bruunsgaard, H., & Pedersen, B. K. (2000). Effects of exercise on the immune system in the elderly population. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 78(5), 523–531. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1711.2000.t01-14-.x

Charlson, M., Szatrowski, T. P., Peterson, J., & Gold, J. (1994). Validation of a combined comorbidity index. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *47*(11), 1245–51. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560

Chumlea, W., Baumgartner, N., & Baumgartner, N. (1989). Status of anthropometry in elderly subjects3 w composition data. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *50*(1158–1166).

Clegg, A., Young, J., Iliffe, S., Rikkert, M. O., & Rockwood, K. (2013). Frailty in elderly people. *Lancet*, *381*(9868), 752–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9

Compté, N., Zouaoui Boudjeltia, K., Vanhaeverbeek, M., De Breucker, S., Tassignon, J., Trelcat, A., ... Goriely, S. (2013). Frailty in Old Age Is Associated with Decreased Interleukin-12/23 Production in Response to Toll-Like Receptor Ligation. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(6), e65325. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065325

Dagdeviren, S., Jung, D. Y., Friedline, R. H., Noh, H. L., Kim, J. H., Patel, P. R., ... Kim, J. K. (2017). IL-10 prevents aging-associated inflammation and insulin resistance in skeletal muscle. *FASEB Journal*, *31*(2), 701–710. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201600832R

Fernandes, D. (2007). A avaliação das aprendizagens no Sistema Educativo Português. *Educação e Pesquisa*, *33*(3), 581–600. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-97022007000300013

Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *12*(3), 189–198. https://doi.org/0022-3956(75)90026-6 [pii]

Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, a B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., ... McBurnie, M. a. (2001). Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *56*(3), M146-56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156

Gale, C. R., Baylis, D., Cooper, C., & Sayer, A. A. (2013). Inflammatory markers and incident frailty in men and women: the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands)*, *35*(6), 2493–501. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-013-9528-9

Guigoz, Y. (2006). The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA(registered trademark)) review of the literature - What does it tell us? *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging, 10*(6), 466–485. Retrieved from http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L46127189 %5Cnhttp://sfx.hul.harvard.edu/sfx_local?sid=EMBASE&issn=12797707&id=doi:&atitle=The +Mini+Nutritional+Assessment+(MNA?)+review+of+the+literature+-+What+does+it+tell+us?&stitle

Hubbard, R. E., O'Mahony, M. S., Savva, G. M., Calver, B. L., & Woodhouse, K. W. (2009). Inflammation and frailty measures in older people. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, *13*(9 B), 3103–3109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00733.x

Kumar, R., Mohan, N., Upadhyay, A. D., Singh, A. P., Sahu, V., Dwivedi, S., ... Dey, S. (2014). Identification of serum sirtuins as novel noninvasive protein markers for frailty. *Aging Cell*, *13*(6), 975–980. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12260

Leng, S. X., Hung, W., Cappola, A. R., Yu, Q., Xue, Q. L., & Fried, L. P. (2009). White blood cell counts, insulin-like growth factor-1 levels, and frailty in community-dwelling older women. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, *64*(4), 499–502. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gln047

Leng, S. X., Xue, Q.-L. L., Tian, J., Walston, J. D., & Fried, L. P. (2007). Inflammation and frailty in older women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *55*(6), 864–871. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01186. Licastro, F., Candore, G., Lio, D., Porcellini, E., Colonna-Romano, G., Franceschi, C., & Caruso, C. (2005). Innate immunity and inflammation in ageing: a key for understanding age-related diseases. *Immunity & Ageing : I & A, 2, 8.* https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4933-2-8

Louati, K., & Berenbaum, F. (2015, October 5). Fatigue in chronic inflammation - a link to pain pathways. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*. BioMed Central. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-015-0784-1

Maggio, M., Guralnik, J. M., Longo, D. L., & Ferrucci, L. (2006, June). Interleukin-6 in aging and chronic disease: A magnificent pathway. *Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*. NIH Public Access. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/61.6.575

Maruyama, Y., Kawano, A., Okamoto, S., Ando, T., Ishitobi, Y., Tanaka, Y., ... Akiyoshi, J. (2012). Differences in salivary alpha-amylase and cortisol responsiveness following exposure to electrical stimulation versus the Trier Social Stress Tests. *PloS One*, *7*(7), e39375. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0039375

Mitnitski, A., Collerton, J., Martin-Ruiz, C., Jagger, C., von Zglinicki, T., Rockwood, K., & Kirkwood, T. B. L. (2015). Age-related frailty and its association with biological markers of ageing. *BMC Medicine*, *13*, 161. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-015-0400-x

Morey, J. N., Boggero, I. A., Scott, A. B., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2016). Current Directions in Stress and Human Immune Function. *Curr Opin Psychol*, *5*, 13–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.03.007.Current

Morley, J. E., Vellas, B., van Kan, G. A., Anker, S. D., Bauer, J. M., Bernabei, R., ... Walston, J. (2013). Frailty consensus: a call to action. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, *14*(6), 392–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022

Ng, T. P., Feng, L., Nyunt, M. S. Z., Larbi, A., & Yap, K. B. (2014). Frailty in older persons: Multisystem risk factors and the Frailty Risk Index (FRI). *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, *15*(9), 635–642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2014.03.008

Petrini, C. (2014). Helsinki 50 years on. *La Clinica Terapeutica*, *165*(4), 179–81. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25203329

Rockwood, K., & Bergman, H. (2012). FRAILTY: A Report from the 3rd Joint Workshop of IAGG/WHO/SFGG, Athens, January 2012. *Canadian Geriatrics Journal : CGJ*, *15*(2), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.5770/cgj.15.35

Schoufour, J. D., Echteld, M. A., Boonstra, A., Groothuismink, Z. M. A., & Evenhuis, H. M. (2016). Biochemical measures and frailty in people with intellectual disabilities. *Age and Ageing*, *45*(1), 142–148. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afv152

Schumacher, S., Kirschbaum, C., Fydrich, T., & Ströhle, A. (2013). Is salivary alphaamylase an indicator of autonomic nervous system dysregulations in mental disorders?--a review of preliminary findings and the interactions with cortisol. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *38*(6), 729–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.02.003

Silva, J. C., de Moraes, Z. V., Silva, C., de Barros Mazon, S., Guariento, M. E., Neri, A. L., & Fattori, A. (2014). Understanding red blood cell parameters in the context of the frailty phenotype: Interpretations of the FIBRA (Frailty in Brazilian Seniors) study. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, *59*(3), 636–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2014.07.014

Snyder, G. K., & Sheafor, B. A. (1999). Red blood cells: Centerpiece in the evolution of the vertebrate circulatory system. *American Zoologist*, 39(2), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/39.2.189

Soysal, P., Stubbs, B., Lucato, P., Luchini, C., Solmi, M., Peluso, R., ... Veronese, N. (2016a). Inflammation and frailty in the elderly: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *31*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2016.08.006

Soysal, P., Stubbs, B., Lucato, P., Luchini, C., Solmi, M., Peluso, R., ... Veronese, N. (2016b, November). Inflammation and frailty in the elderly: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2016.08.006

Su, L., Hao, Q. K., Liu, S., & Dong, B. R. (2017). Monocytes Related Inflammatory Biomarkers are Associated With Frailty Syndrome. *International Journal of Gerontology*, *11*(4), 225–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijge.2017.08.004

Teixeira, A. M., Ferreira, J. P., Hogervorst, E., Braga, M. F., Bandelow, S., Rama, L., ... Pedrosa, F. M. (2016). Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *4*, 133. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133

Varadhan, R., Walston, J., Cappola, A. R., Carlson, M. C., Wand, G. S., & Fried, L. P. (2008). Higher levels and blunted diurnal variation of cortisol in frail older women. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, *63*(2), 190–195. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/63.2.190

von Zglinicki, T., Nieto, I. V., Brites, D., Karagianni, N., Ortolano, S., Georgopoulos, S., ... van Os, R. (2016). Frailty in mouse ageing: A conceptual approach. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2016.07.004

Walsh, N. P., Gleeson, M. M., Shephard, R. J., Jeffrey, M. G., Woods, A., Bishop, N. C., ... Simon, P. (2011). Part one: Immune function and exercise. *Exercise Immunology Review*, *17*, 6–63. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21446352

Walston, J. (2002). Frailty and Activation of the Inflammation and Coagulation Systems With and Without Clinical Comorbidities&It;subtitle>Results From the Cardiovascular Health Study&It;/subtitle> *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *162*(20), 2333. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.162.20.2333

Welsh, P., Murray, H. M., Ford, I., Trompet, S., De Craen, A. J. M., Jukema, J. W., ... Sattar, N. (2011). Circulating interleukin-10 and risk of cardiovascular events: A prospective study in the elderly at risk. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *31*(10), 2338– 2344. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.231795

Yao, X., Li, H., & Leng, S. X. (2011). Inflammation and immune system alterations in frailty. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*, 27(1), 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cger.2010.08.002

SECTION IV

Intervention design: modulation of exercise on general health indicators

CHAPTER 11 (STUDY 9):

MUSCLE-STRENGTH AND MULTIMODAL CHAIR-BASED EXERCISE PROGRAMMES INCREASE DHEA AND TESTOSTERONE LEVELS, DECREASE FRAILTY STATUS AND FUNCTIONAL DISABILITY IN OLDER WOMEN

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Humberto Moreira Carvalho

Miguel Patrício

Marisa Loureiro

Matheus Uba Chupel

Juan Colado

Eef Hogervorst

Stephan Bandelow

Ana Maria Teixeira

José Pedro Ferreira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018.

11.1 Abstract

Many people experience ageing-related losses in different physical functioning domains, resulting in a physical frail status. The aim of this study was to analyse the effects of two different 24-weeks class chair-based exercise protocols on frailty, disability and salivary steroids hormones in frail older women. A sample of older women was divided into three groups: the control non-exercising group (CG_{ne} , n = 17), muscle-strength (CSE, n=18) and multimodal (CME, n =24) exercise groups. Supervised exercise programs consisted of 50 minutes' chair-based group classes, carried out 3 times a week. CME participants performed a progressive resistance exercise-circuit using walking and body height resistance exercises. The muscle-strength resistance exercises with elastic-bands followed a bi-set protocol. The controls did not change their usual lifestyle. Results: Frailty, disability and hormone outcomes were analyzed before and after the intervention. Both exercise groups diminished the frailty status, showing significant time (p = 0.003) and time versus treatment interactions (p=0.000). A small increase in CME between baseline and 12-weeks for Testosterone concentrations (p=0.009) were observed. D-hydroepiandrosterone increase after 24 weeks (p=0.01) in CME. Both exercises programs decreased negative scores in several domains of disability, especially fear of falling that showed a significant effect of time (p=0.01), and time versus intervention (p=0.03). Conclusion: Both chair-exercise programs were effective in stimulating positive changes in physical health and simultaneously, satisfactory responses in sex steroids hormones. The control group did show a negative trend towards increased frailty status and decreased levels of anabolic hormones. These results support the importance of an active lifestyle in very old frail women.

Key-words: Muscle-strength, Multimodal, physical exercise, Frail-Older adults, Sex steroids hormones, Functional disability

11.2 Introduction

Nowadays, the recently coined concept of physical Frailty (PF) is understood to be a decreased resistance to stressors and an increased risk for adverse health outcomes as well as to modulate the risk of several types of physical, mental and hormonal disorders (Bernabei et al., 2014). A sedentary lifestyle also proves to be a powerful condition linked to the frail condition. Progressive neuromuscular changes in old people, such as the decrease in type II fibres and increase in type I contributing to a reduction of physical activity levels, added numbers of falls and modulated negative changes in the endocrine system (Chen et al., 2007). Compared to men, women experience more intense alterations in their endocrine function with ageing, especially in menopause (Copeland, Chu, & Tremblay, 2004).

Recent findings provided some evidence that changes in sex steroids hormones such as Cortisol (CORT), Testosterone (TT) and D-hydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) may be involved in the vulnerability observed in frail older women (Holanda et al., 2012). However, some studies suggest that regular exercise can stimulate hormones expression in older adults (Walsh & Oliver, 2016). While high levels of stress can determine physical impairment, moderate stress with a mild increase in CORT levels may have a positive effect on coping and physical fitness performance (Mura et al., 2014). TT is an essential hormone for women, with physiological actions mediated via estradiol throughout the body (Davis & Wahlin-Jacobsen, 2015). Low TT levels have been associated with a higher risk of anemia, poor performance on cognitive tests and sarcopenia (Mitchell et al., 2012). DHEA is a hormone that shows a reduction (10% to 20%) from peak levels reached in early adulthood to old age and is implicated in the disturbance of the musculoskeletal system, neurotransmitters receptors, immune system functions and androgenic activity (Labrie, 2010). Values of TT to CORT ratio correlated significantly with individual increases obtained in one repetition maximal strength test in older women after 24-weeks exercise participation (Häkkinen et al., 2002). However, the literature describes that involvement of salivary hormones is not clear in their response to regular exercise in this specific population, despite advanced research in exercise related to hormone response (Walsh & Oliver, 2016).

Resistance elastic-bands appear to be an equitable alternative to traditional strength training devices, with reduced risk of injury and adjust the exercise intensity based on the rate of perceived exertion (Colado & Triplett, 2008). This method has demonstrated the efficacy in improving muscle strength, a better anti-inflammatory balance and an increase in cognitive status in older people (Chupel et al., 2017). At the same time, improvements in maximal oxygen uptake after multimodal exercise programs in frail individuals were reported in several studies, as well as gains in gait speed, dynamic balance, reaction time and the time spent in the stand position. (Theou et al., 2011).

However, the effect of strength or multimodal chair-exercises on the modulation of different physical functioning domains (hormonal, behavioural and disability) still needs to be explored. Therefore, the aim of this study was to analyse the effects of two different class groups of chair multimodal and muscle-strengthening exercises with elastic bands on indicators of frailty status, functional disability and sex steroids hormones in institutionalized pre-frail and frail women. Based on previous findings, we hypothesized that both 28-weeks of exercises programs would be able to decrease disability, reverse frailty status and simultaneously increase the levels of sex steroids hormones.

11.3 Methods

Participants or their legal tutors signed an informed consent term. This study was approved by the Ethics and Human Subjects Review Board of the University of Coimbra, respecting the guidelines for human research of the Helsinki declaration.

11.3.1 Participants' selection

Participants were institutionalized-dwelling women living in centres of health and social support (CHS) in the city of Coimbra, Portugal, aged 75 years and above, with drug therapy updated and clinically stable. Not completing the dynamic balance test in 30 seconds, an involvement in other exercise programs, use of medications that significantly impaired attention, individuals classified with morbid obesity, medical diagnosed cardiometabolic, respiratory and musculoskeletal dysfunctions, the presence of severe mental, hearing and vision impairment or involvement in hormone therapy were the main exclusion criteria.

11.3.2 Sample size and allocation

Sample size estimation was performed by comparison of frail outcomes based on previous studies (de Labra, Guimaraes-Pinheiro, Maseda, Lorenzo, & Millán-Calenti, 2015). Assuming a minimum power of .80 as realistically expected, the sample size was 19 participants per group. Further supposing a dropout rate of 30% (Picorelli, Pereira, Pereira, Felício, & Sherrington, 2014), the sample was increased to 28 per group, allocated into three groups. The final sample analyzed consisted of 59 participants: non-exercising control group (CG_{ne} , n = 17), chair elastic-band muscle strength (CSE, n=18) and chair multimodal exercises (CME, n =24) programmes. The allocation to treatment followed the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT).

11.3.3 Assessments

The data collection was done in the morning period (09:00 to 11:30 am). The quality of data assessment was made and reported for each physical markers through internal consistency reliability scores (ICR). The Cronbach's alpha (C- α) or Cohen's kappa coefficient (*k*) were reported for rate scales.

11.3.4 Physical Frailty

The Fried of PF protocol was used (Fried et al., 2001). Shrinking was assessed by selfreport of unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months; Selfreported exhaustion was evaluated by concordance of two questions (7 and 20) of the CES-D depression scale; Weakness, was analyzed using the handgrip strength test, adjusted for gender and body mass index (ICR = .88); Slowness, was measured by the 4.6 meters walking test, adjusted for gender and height (ICR = .80); levels of PA were assessed by the International Questionnaire short form (ICR = .78). The prevalence of PF was calculated to generate a PF total score.

11.3.5 Sex steroids hormones

Saliva samples to measure CORT, DHEA and TT levels, were collected by passive drool always at the same time in the morning (between 10:00h to 11:30h) to minimize circadian effects. Individuals salivated without any orofacial movement into high-quality polypropylene vials to avoid problems with analytic retention or the introduction of contaminants that could interfere with the immunoassays. The tubes containing the saliva samples were then frozen (- 20° C), until the day of the analysis, when they were defrosted and centrifuged in order to obtain a clear sample. The levels of hormones were determined by competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), according to the manufacturer instructions [Salimetrics, United Kingdom]. The following values for CORT (<0.007 ug/dL, r = .91), TT (1 pg/mL, r = .96) and DHEA (5 pg/mL, r = .86) were reported by the manufacturer, in terms of sensitivity and their respective correlation with serum samples.

11.3.6 Functional disability

The Katz Index of Independent daily life activities (ADL, α = .81) were used to rank adequacy of performance in the biosocial functions and a summary classifying people as dependent or independent (Wallace & Shelkey, 2007). Fear of falling was measured through the Falls Efficacy Scale (FES, α = .88) (Melo, 2009). Static balance was assessed through the Tandem Stance Balance test (TSB, ICR = .76), consisting of the participant maintaining the standing position with eyes opened and one foot in front of the opposite foot for 30 seconds (Cho, Scarpace, & Alexander, 2004).

11.3.7 Clinical health status

The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA, k = .74) was used to evaluate nutritional status, classified as predetermined state of malnutrition (< 17 points), malnutrition risk (17 to 23.5 points) and adequate nutritional status of > 23.5 points (Loureiro, 2008). The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI, ICR = .94) was used to classify comorbid conditions based on the register of each individual (Charlson, Szatrowski, Peterson, & Gold, 1994). Medication use (MU) was assessed through medical record over one year for each participant. To reduce potential confounding effects, all the participants were encouraged to maintain unchanged diets, drugs treatment, and routines across the 24-weeks of the intervention.

11.3.8 Biosocial and anthropometric

Information about chronological age was collected. Body mass was determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms (ICR = .89). Stature was determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimetres (ICR = .87). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated according the formula [BMI = weight/height²]. The standardized procedures were followed (Lohman, Roche, & Martorell, 1988).

11.3.9 Intervention programmes

The chair-based exercise programmes were conducted by exercise specialists. The guidelines for integrated exercise periodization to non-active older adults were respected. For safe reasons, in both exercises programs intensity was indirectly calculated using the Karvonen's formula to predict target heart rate (HR), with HR_{max} being calculated using a specific formula for older populations [HR_{max} = 207 beats per minute (bpm) - 0.7 x chronological age].

The participants of the exercise programs were monitored using heart rate monitors Polar, RCX5® model (Guderian, Johnson, & Mathiowetz, 2013). The interventions were offered for 24-weeks, totalling 74 exercise sessions, with two-three sessions per week on nonconsecutive days (separated by 48 hours). The percentage of exercise frequency was calculated individually through the total sum of class participation entries recorded in a checklist. A total of 74 (100%) sessions were offered and the values of engagement in different moments were reported as a percentage. Based on previous reports, an adherence to the exercise program up to 65% was established as a minimum for each participant to be included in the final data analysis. The CG_{ne} did not participate in any physical exercise intervention but was encouraged to maintain their normal routine, which included a monthly agenda of artistic and cultural activities.

11.3.10 Chair multimodal exercises (CME)

The CME program was performed with a determined number of exercises (7-9), repetitions (8-16), sets (2-4), the rhythm of execution (1:2) and active rest in the sit position between sets (20-30) seconds and passive rest between circuits (60-120 seconds). Each session was conducted using a functional circuit training protocol. During the first 12 weeks, the body weight exercises executed in the set and reach position were used. In the last 12 weeks, the increase of exercise intensity was induced by the inclusion of more difficult and complex exercises and challenge sequences, increasing walking time and placed obstacles during the walking route (cones, floor markers, arcs) to work handedness, changes in direction, balance and coordination. A low to moderate intensity effort around 50-75% of HR_{max} values was attained. Additionally, intensity was measured through the modified BORG PES, that consists of an arbitrary scale ranging from 0 to 10 points with reference to the quality of effort: (0) nothing at all; (1) very weak; (2) weak; (3) moderate; (4) somewhat strong; (5-6) strong; (7-9) very strong; (10) very, very strong (almost maximal). Each exercise session was divided into three parts: 5 minutes of warm-up exercises for general body mobilization (PSE = 1-3, HR_{max} = 50-55%); 35 minutes of body weight exercises aimed to improve walking proficiency in a sitting and standing position (PSE 3-5, HR_{max} = 56-85%) and finally 5 minutes of cool down (PSE 1-2, HR_{max} = 45-50%).

11.3.11 Chair muscle-strength exercises (CSE)

To create progressive CSE training, exercises were performed with a determined number of exercises (8-10), sets (2-3); repetitions (10-15), a cadence of repetitions execution in 2 seconds concentric and 3 seconds eccentric (2:3) and a passive rest in the sit position between sets (30-45 seconds), following a bi-set protocol method. The first three levels of the Thera Band[®] System were used. Level one (yellow colour) elastic-bands were used during the first 12 weeks. In the remaining 12 weeks, the increase in the exercise intensity was introduced by changing to the elastic-bands level 2 and 3 (red and green colour). Intensity was measured through the OMINI PES, that comprises a subjective effort scale ranging from 0 to 10 points, with identical intervals and with reference to the quality of effort: (0) extremely easy; (1-2) easy; (3-5) somewhat easy, (6-7) somewhat-hard; (8) hard; (9-10) extremely-hard (Robertson et al., 2003). The goal was to keep the intensity of the exercise activities between 1 to 6 in PES levels. It was expected that the relationship with the real effort would be 55-80% of maximum heart-rate. The session was divided into three parts: 5 minutes of warm-up (PSE 1 to 3, HR_{max} = 45-55%), 35 minutes of muscle-strength elastic-band exercises in PSE 4 to 6 (HR_{max} = 56-75%) and finally, 5 minutes of cool-down (PSE 1 to 2, HR_{max} = 45-50%).

11.3.12 Data analysis

Descriptive data were presented as mean (±) standard deviation or frequencies. The normality of continuous variables was assessed with Shapiro-Wilk tests. In the baseline scores, comparisons between groups were analyzed by one-way ANOVA. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to analyse the effect of time and time versus (*vs*) group interactions for PF total score, disability and hormonal changes over time, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* test. The magnitude of global effect size (ES) was calculated in the exercise-modulation treatment. For continuous variables, ES were computed using eta-squared (η^2). Magnitude of ES = $\eta^2 > 0.01$ corresponds to a small effect, $\eta^2 > 0.06$ to a medium effect and $\eta^2 > 0.14$ to a large effect (Cooper & Hedges, 1994). McNemar tests were used to compare categorical variables (PF components) between the three time-points intervention treatment following Cochrane's Q *posthoc* test. The ES for PF components reported was Cramer's *Phi* coefficient. In case of interpretability, *Phi* > 0.1 corresponds to a small effect, *Phi* > 0.3, medium effect and *Phi* > 0.5 to a large effect (Alfred P. Rovai, Jason D. Baker, 2012). We used the IBM SPSS Statistics package 24.0 and in R 3.3.1 software's for all statistical procedures. The level of significance adopted was p-value = .05.

11.4 Results

From the 119 participants initially screened, 35 (29.4%) subjects were excluded. Initially, 28 older adults who met the inclusion criteria were simple randomly assigned to each group. In the follow-up phase, 27 subjects withdrew their willingness to participate before or immediately after the beginning of the study and 3 participants were excluded from analyses due to low exercise adherence. None of the drop-outs left the intervention because of injuries or adverse responses to the intervention. A total of 59 participants were analyzed at the completion of the 24 weeks' study. According to Table 11.1, there were no significant differences between all groups for their baseline characteristics at the beginning of the study (p>0.05).

	Total sample (n=59)	Chair-multimodal exercises (n=24)	Chair muscle strength exercises (n=18)	Control group non exercise (n=17)
	M±SD	M±SD	M±SD	M±SD
Chronological age (years)	81.47±7.84	79.92±7.93	84±4.79	80.93±10.1
Stature (centimeters)	1.56±0.31	1.52±0.06	1.64±0.54	1.52±0.08
Body mass (Kilograms)	65.25±14.15	62.44±9.82	65.03±17.76	69.99±4.89
Body mass index (kg·m ⁻²)	27.91±6.56	26.98±3.97	27.02±9.09	30.45±6.06
Charlson comorbidity index (score)	7.93±2.1	7.58±1.86	7.78±1.99	7.67±2.53
Medication use, per day (unit)	3.82±0.97	3.71±0.86	4.06±1.11	3.73±0.96
Mini-mental state exam (score)	20±5.57	21.42±5.1	19.28±5.53	21±5.5
Mini nutritional assessment (score)	23.98±2.63	23.33 ±2.68	24.53±2.32	24.37±2.83
Frailty syndrome total score (score)	2.37±1.42	2.14±1.49	2.39±1.46	2.28±1.19

 Table 11.1 Characteristics of total sample, experimental and control groups at baseline.

Notes: ** p≤0.01; * p≤0.05; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation). The p-values correspond to comparisons between the three groups and were computed with one-way ANOVA one-way.

11.4.1 Sex steroids hormones

As we see in Table 11.2, there were no effects of time or time vs treatment on cortisol and TT levels during the intervention (p>0.05), despite *post-hoc* analysis with Bonferroni correction showing a small increase in CME between baseline and 14 weeks for TT concentration (p=0.009). Taken the above results together, we saw that no significant effect of time and time versus (vs) treatment were observed for cortisol and testosterone/cortisol ratio during the interventions (p>0.05). Despite no effect of time alone on changes in DHEA levels, a significant time vs treatment effect with large effect size was observed in this parameter ($F[df:3.564, 98.005] = 6.009, p=0.000, \eta^2=.179$) and Post-hoc comparisons showed increase in CME after 24 weeks (p=0.01), and decrease in CG_{ne} after the same period (p=0.01).

Groups	Baseline	12 weeks	24 weeks	Interaction	F	p	η^2	Practical
	M±SD	M±SD	M±SD	effects	test	value	Effect size	relevance
Cortisol								
CME	0.23±0.10	0.26±0.09	0.36±0.64	Time	2.069	.131	.037	small effect
CSE	0.23±0.13	0.26±0.11	0.21±0.12	TxG	1.203	.344	.043	small effect
CGne	0.25±0.13	0.26±0.14	0.27±0.17					
Testosterone levels								
CME	55.62±25.75	63.02±24.86	67.49±37.43	Time	.509	.750	.009	small effect
CSE	61.49±23.64	63.15±24.46	70.58±42.07	TxG	1.940	.136	.066	small effect
CGne	53.93±27.11	50.66±19.04	52.68±28.34					
DHEA levels								
CME	27.53±29.13	37.96±33.96	47.69±54.53	Time	1.528	.000	.027	small effect
CSE	39.60±32.63	49.59±42.99	49.26±35.23	TxG	6.009	.036	.179	medium efect
CGne	46.99±44.14	38.14±30.99	29.71±14.25					
TT to COR ratio								
CME	0.0061±0.0059	0.0045±0.0018	0.0081±0.0121	Time	1.122	.330	.023	small effect
CSE	0.0036±0.0025	0.0046±0.0029	0.0064±0.0132	TxG	1.233	.302	.050	small effect
CGne	0.0054±0.0030	0.0051±0.0023	0.0055±0.0024					

 Table 11.2 Comparison of salivary sex steroids hormones markers between baseline, 14 and 28 weeks of exercise intervention moment.

Notes: ** $p \le 0.01$; * $p \le 0.05$; η^2 = Eta Square effect size (> 0.02 = small effect, > 0.13 = medium effect and > 0.26 = large effect; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation). The p-values correspond to comparisons between the three groups and were computed with following Bonferroni *post-hoc* test, respectively. TxG = time versus group; TT = testosterone; COR = Cortisol; DHEA = D-hydroepiandrosterone

11.4.2 Physical Frailty and disability

The PF total score showed significant time (*F*[*df*: 1.43; 78.75]=7.385, p = 0.003) and time *vs* treatment interactions (*F*[*df*: 2.86; 78.75]=6.765, p=0.000) changes with a medium and large ES, respectively (η^2 =.118 and η^2 =.197). No significant differences of time and time *vs* intervention were observed on Katz of ADL over 24 weeks (*p*>.05). However, *the post-hoc* comparison showed differences observed after 12 weeks between CME and CSE (CI: -2.367, -0.022 and CI: -2.463, -0.037, respectively, p<.05), as reported in Table 11.3. On the other side, significant effect of time (*F*[*df* =1.7, 93.9] = 20.268, *p*<.01), and time *vs* intervention (*F*[*df*=3.4, 93.9]2.830, *p*=.03), were observed after 28-weeks on FES, with a large and medium ES, respectively (η^2 =.270 and η^2 =.093). There were no significant time *vs* treatment interactions in TSB for the three groups, despite changes over time presenting a medium effect on this parameter (*F*[*df*: 1.612; 88.684]=7.609, p = 0.003, η^2 =.115) and *Post-hoc* analysis showed that differences between CME and CG_{*ne*} were only found after 28 weeks of intervention time (*p* = 0.047) (Table 11.3).

	Baseline	14 weeks	28 weeks	Interaction	F	р	η^2	Practical
Groups variables	M±SD	M±SD	M±SD	effects	test	value	Effect size	relevance
Physical frailty total score								
CME	2.24±1.49	1.13±1.12	1.04±1.16	Time	7.385	.003	.118	medium effect
CSE	2.39±1.46	2.06±1.11	1.56±0.86	TxG	6.765	.000	.197	large effect
CGne	2.87±1.19	3.2±1.32	3.27±1.33					
Katz index of IADL								
CME	0.88±1.51	0.75±1.15	1.25±1.78	Time	.289	.750	.005	small effect
CSE	1.54±1.29	1.94±1.82	1.11±1.49	TxG	1.787	.136	.061	medium effect
CGne	1.73±1.87	1.93±1.71	1.87±1.64					
Falls efficacy scale								
CME	59.08±26.66	24.63±16.87	32.08±5.43	Time	20.268	.000	.270	large effect
CSE	38.17±21.31	23.28±13.84	18.11±16.3	TxG	2.830	.036	.093	medium effect
CGne	45.73±28.73	38.8±19.96	39.67±20.87					
Tandem balance								
CME	2.38±6.02	6.63±9.24	10.3±11.65	Time	7.609	.002	.122	medium effect
CSE	2.83±6.91	5.6±6.57	8.46±6.47	TxG	2.078	.104	.070	medium effect
CGne	3.36±4.91	2.54±1.93	3.31±4.36					

 Table 11.3 Comparison of frailty status (total score) and functional disability outcomes between baseline, 14 and 28 weeks of experimental design.

Notes: Values of significance (p<0.05) are highlighted in bold; η^2 = Eta Square effect size (> 0.02 = small effect, > 0.13 = medium effect and > 0.26 = large effect; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation). The p-values correspond to comparisons between the three groups and were computed with following Bonferroni *post-hoc* test, respectively.

11.4.3 Physical Frailty independent components

Significant positive variations with a large effect size were showed on low levels of PA (CSE, p = <0.001 and CME, p = 0.004). *The post-hoc* comparison showed differences observed after 12 weeks for both exercise interventions (p>0.01). Moderate and statistical significant changes in PF of decrease slowness were observed only for the CME (p = 0.016; *Phi*_{es} = 0.35). Trends in decrease incidence of weakness with moderate effect size were also found for the CME participants (p = 0.58; *Phi*_{es} = 0.30). No significant changes in the frailty independent components of controls were found, however, a tendency to increase incidence of slowness with small effect size was found (p=0.08, *Phi*_{es} = 0.21)

11.4.4 Perceived exertion and adherence

The final minimum, maximum and mean of HR achieved at the end by the CME group was 65.75 (\pm 9.96), 97.56 (\pm 12.40) and 77.27 (\pm 8.21) bpm, respectively. This was equivalent to 57% to 70% of the predicted HRz_{max}. The final mean of PES ranged from moderate (3.14 \pm 0.98) to somewhat strong (4.92 \pm 1.01). For the CSE, the minimum, maximum and mean of HR achieved at the end was 69.08 (\pm 14.77), 96.24 (\pm 14.13) and 84.48 (\pm 11.52) bpm. This corresponded to 48% to 74% of the predicted HR_{max}. The final mean of PES oscillated from "to somewhat easy" (3.98 \pm 1.99) to "somewhat strong" (6,02 \pm 2.22), according to the participants self-perception. Regarding exercise engagement, the CSE participants attended an average of 58 sessions (72% of attendance), out of 74 sessions offered in total. In the CME, the participants had 72% of adherence, corresponding to 54 sessions attended.

11.5 Discussion

The main findings of the present study indicated that both CME and CSE had similar effects in decreasing the incidence of low physical activity levels and slowness both independent components of PFS, resulting in a decrease of the PFS total score and disability. Moreover, we revealed that the effect of any exercise-treatment, when compared to the CG_{ne} , was more beneficial for all variables to maintain an appropriate balance through steroids hormones concentrations since DHEA levels decreased in the CG_{ne} and a slight increase of TT and DHEA levels occurred in CME over time. Corroborating with literature review, the participants' adherence to the exercise interventions was considered satisfactory.

A high index of comorbidity, polypharmacy, low cognitive profile and high sedentary behaviour were expected characteristics within all the groups since these health markers are closely associated with the frail condition (Farhat et al., 2012). In general, the two chair-exercise protocols were effective in promoting improvements in some physical functioning indicators, corroborating findings from previous studies (Anthony et al., 2013). A decrease in fear of falling can be explained by the increased proficiency in the balance test. Possible explanations for this result could be that in the present study, both CME and CSE use different systems of progressive muscle-strength exercises, stimulating type II fibers, which assist in the motor skills such as quickness, fast-decision make (time-reaction) and even, empowering the proprioception mechanisms (Ishigaki, Ramos, Carvalho, & Lunardi, 2014).

An interesting finding was the ability of both chair-exercises programs to demonstrate a positive modulation of PF-independent components, reversing the PF status. It was clear that they contributed to increase the levels of PA in their daily living, even if they were classified as octogenarian participants. The most solid explanation for these results is the exercise periodization methodology used for the design of both exercise programs, that included several strategies to develop physical fitness in an integrated way and also, decreasing the sitting time and substantially increasing the time spent in the standing position (Strohacker, Fazzino, Breslin, & Xu, 2015). This seems to have reflected positively on the autonomy for the performance of daily life activities that depend on moderate to high PA levels. Another characteristic that differentiates this study from similar ones is the large total time of the intervention, which may also help to explain the positive results obtained, since the current literature review shows that exercise programs with a longer period (\geq 5months), performed 3 times per week, for 30–45 minutes per session, largely had superior results than other exercise programs (Theou et al., 2011).

In the present study, the potential mechanisms for exercise-induced increases in DHEA levels (reviewed by Heaney et al., 2013) could be explained by an increased secretion rate by the adrenal cortex as a result of adrenocorticotropic hormone stimulation, produced by the anterior pituitary gland. However, hormonal responses in older adults differing between sexes, it appears that women are more sensitive to exercise-induced hormonal modulation (Heaney, Carroll, & Phillips, 2014). This study seems to be in accordance with Heaney and colleagues (2013) suggestions, which encourages the maintenance of chronic exercise (specially muscle-strength routines) to induce the increase in DHEA levels, particularly in older frail adults who experience psychobiological chronic stress (Corazza et al., 2013).

Additionally, increase in DHEA with a simultaneously slight increase in TT levels, showed the effectiveness of exercise as a co-adjuvant therapy to promoting benefits in the musculoskeletal, immune and nervous system in frail older adults since age-related decline in DHEA may play an important role in several degenerative dysfunctions observed in older people (Arlt & Hewison, 2004). Small increases in TT concentrations obtained by the CME participants seem to have promoted muscle strength and endurance in our sample. However, higher increases were reported in other studies, but in these, most of the participants were middle-aged and older men (Hayes et al., 2015). In our study sample, several factors such as age-related hormonal decline, changes in body composition (especially decline of muscle mass) and low mineral density and disturbance in the neuroendocrine system have been shown as concurrent factors in blunting the response to exercise in older females (Copeland et al., 2002).

On the other hand, the response observed for COR and the TT/CORT ratio, corroborates numerous previous studies, although changes in COR levels and consequently variations in the ratios are more perceptible in studies involving acute exercise (Heaney et al., 2014), which was not the case of our study. However, an increase of CORT would be expected if both exercise programs had predominantly continuous aerobic exercise routine, since this type of exercise program does not only promote an increase in CORT secretion by the adrenal gland (Mura et al., 2014), but it can also promote an increase in adrenal gland volume itself (Kjaer, 1998).

In frail older adults, for example, a slight increase in COR levels at non-pathological levels may bring benefits to improve neuroendocrine functions (Sudheimer D. et al., 2014). In general, it appears that older women retain the ability to stimulate an increase in circulating levels of some anabolic hormones via exercise modulation (Copeland et al., 2004) which to a small extent also occurred in our study. Nevertheless, our study sample displays some particular characteristics. Firstly, the frail individuals appeared to have lower hormonal concentrations when compared to non-frail (Wu, Lin, Liu, Tsai, & Shiesh, 2010). The other important condition is multi-comorbidity and subsequently polypharmacy-use. Statins, for example, are a commonly prescribed medicine to reduce cardiovascular disease risk in older adult patients. However, recent studies show that this pharmacological substance attenuates increases in cardiorespiratory fitness and skeletal muscle mitochondrial content when combined with exercise training in overweight or obese patients, promoting strong side-blinding effects (Mikus et al., 2013). Statins could also affect TT and DHEA production, since cholesterol is a precursor to these hormones, blunting the exercise effects.

In conclusion, both exercise treatments used in this study produced similar and significant benefits in order to diminish the physical frail condition, decreased negative perceptions of functional disability domains and also, stimulated satisfactory hormonal responses. in frail older women. Future interventions should attempt to included samples of institutionalized frail-older men since that would allow generalization for both genders.
11.6 References

- Alfred P. Rovai, Jason D. Baker, M. K. P. (2012). Social Science Research Design and Statistics: A Practitioner's Guide to Research Methods and SPSS Analysis. Watertree Press.
- Anthony, K., Robinson, K., Logan, P., Gordon, A. L., Harwood, R. H., & Masud, T. (2013). Chair-based exercises for frail older people: A systematic review. *BioMed Research International*, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/309506
- Arlt, W., & Hewison, M. (2004, July 9). Hormones and immune function: Implications of aging. *Aging Cell*. Blackwell Science Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9728.2004.00109.x
- Bernabei, R., Martone, A. M., Vetrano, D. L., Calvani, R., Landi, F., & Marzetti, E. (2014). Frailty, Physical Frailty, Sarcopenia: A New Conceptual Model. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, 203. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-425-1-78
- Charlson, M., Szatrowski, T. P., Peterson, J., & Gold, J. (1994). Validation of a combined comorbidity index. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *47*(11), 1245–51. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560
- Chen, Z., Wang, Z., Lohman, T., Heymsfield, S. B., Outwater, E., Nicholas, J. S., ... Going, S. (2007). Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry is a valid tool for assessing skeletal muscle mass in older women. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *137*(12), 2775–80. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18029498
- Cho, B. L., Scarpace, D., & Alexander, N. B. (2004). Tests of stepping as indicators of mobility, balance, and fall risk in balance-impaired older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *52*(7), 1168–1173.
- Chupel, M. U., Direito, F., Furtado, G. E., Minuzzi, L. G., Pedrosa, F. M., Colado, J. C., ... Teixeira, A. M. (2017). Strength training decreases inflammation and increases cognition and physical fitness in older women with cognitive impairment. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8(JUN), 377. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00377
- Colado, J. C., & Triplett, N. T. (2008). Effects of a short-term resistance program using elastic bands versus weight machines for sedentary middle-aged women. *Journal of Strength* and Conditioning Research / National Strength & Conditioning Association, 22(5), 1441– 8. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e31817ae67a
- Cooper, H., & Hedges, L. (1994). *The Handbook of Research Synthesis*. Russell Sage Foundation. Retrieved from https://books.google.co.uk/books/about/The_Handbook_of_Research_Synthesis.html?i

d=cQxN792ttyEC&redir_esc=y

- Copeland, J., Chu, S., & Tremblay, M. (2004). Aging, physical activity, and hormones in women -- a review. *Journal of Aging & Physical Activity*, *12*(1), 101–116. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=106763168&site=ehos t-live
- Copeland, J. L., Consitt, L. A., & Tremblay, M. S. (2002). Hormonal responses to endurance and resistance exercise in females aged 19-69 years. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 57(4), B158–B165. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/57.4.B158
- Corazza, D. I., Sebastião, É., Pedroso, R. V., Andreatto, C. A. A., de Melo Coelho, F. G., Gobbi, S., ... Santos-Galduróz, R. F. (2013). Influence of chronic exercise on serum cortisol levels in older adults. *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity*, *11*(1), 25–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11556-013-0126-8
- Davis, S. R., & Wahlin-Jacobsen, S. (2015, December). Testosterone in women-the clinical significance. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00284-3
- de Labra, C., Guimaraes-Pinheiro, C., Maseda, A., Lorenzo, T., & Millán-Calenti, J. C. (2015). Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Geriatrics*, 15, 154. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-015-0155-4
- Farhat, J. S., Velanovich, V., Falvo, A. J., Horst, H. M., Swartz, A., Patton, J. H., & Rubinfeld,
 I. S. (2012). Are the frail destined to fail? Frailty index as predictor of surgical morbidity and mortality in the elderly. *The Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 72(6), 1526-30–1. https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0b013e3182542fab
- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, a B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., ... McBurnie,
 M. a. (2001). Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(3), M146-56.
 Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156

Guderian, B., Johnson, A., & Mathiowetz, V. (2013). Impact of Exercise Frequency on Hand Strength of the Elderly. *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, *31*(3), 268–279. Retrieved from https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=2012228225&site=eh ost-live

- Häkkinen, K., Kraemer, W. J., Pakarinen, A., Triplett-McBride, T., McBride, J. M., Häkkinen,
 A., ... Newton, R. U. (2002). Effects of heavy resistance/power training on maximal strength, muscle morphology, and hormonal response patterns in 60-75-year-old men and women. *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology = Revue Canadienne de Physiologie Appliquee*, 27(3), 213–31. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12180315
- Hayes, L. D., Sculthorpe, N., Herbert, P., Baker, J. S., Hullin, D. A., Kilduff, L. P., & Grace, F.
 M. (2015). Poor levels of agreement between serum and saliva testosterone measurement following exercise training in aging men. *The Aging Male*, 0(2), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.3109/13685538.2015.1018158
- Heaney, J. L. J., Carroll, D., & Phillips, A. C. (2013). DHEA, DHEA-S and cortisol responses to acute exercise in older adults in relation to exercise training status and sex. Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands), 35(2), 395–405. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-011-9345-y
- Heaney, J. L. J., Carroll, D., & Phillips, A. C. (2014). Physical activity, life events stress, cortisol, and DHEA: Preliminary findings that physical activity may buffer against the negative effects of stress. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 22(4), 465–473. https://doi.org/10.1123/JAPA.2012-0082
- Holanda, C. M. de A., Guerra, R. O., Nóbrega, P. V. de N., Costa, H. F., Piuvezam, M. R., & Maciel, Á. C. C. (2012, March). Salivary cortisol and frailty syndrome in elderly residents of long-stay institutions -A cross-sectional study-.pdf. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2011.11.006
- Ishigaki, E. Y., Ramos, L. G., Carvalho, E. S., & Lunardi, A. C. (2014). Effectiveness of muscle strengthening and description of protocols for preventing falls in the elderly: a systematic review. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, 18(2), 111–118. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1413-35552012005000148
- Kjaer, M. (1998). Adrenal medulla and exercise training. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol.*, 77(3), 195–9.
- Labrie, F. (2010). DHEA, Important Source of Sex Steroids in Men and Even More in Women. In *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 182, pp. 97–148). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(10)82004-7
- Lohman, T. G., Roche, A. F., & Martorell, R. (1988). *Anthropometric standardization reference manual. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* (Vol. 24).

- Loureiro, M. (2008). Validação do Mini -Nutricional Assessement Em Idosos. Retrieved from https://estudogeral.sib.uc.pt/handle/10316/10439
- Melo, C. (2009). ADAPTAÇÃO CULTURAL E VALIDAÇÃO DA ESCALA "FALLS EFFICACY SCALE" DE TINETTI. *Revista Da Associação Médica Brasileira*, *55*(1986), 192–196.
- Mikus, C. R., Boyle, L. J., Borengasser, S. J., Oberlin, D. J., Naples, S. P., Fletcher, J., ...
 Thyfault, J. P. (2013). Simvastatin impairs exercise training adaptations. *Journal of the American* College of Cardiology, 62(8), 709–14.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.02.074
- Mitchell, W. K., Williams, J., Atherton, P., Larvin, M., Lund, J., & Narici, M. (2012). Sarcopenia, dynapenia, and the impact of advancing age on human skeletal muscle size and strength;
 a quantitative review. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 3, 260. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00260
- Mura, G., Cossu, G., Migliaccio, G. M., Atzori, C., Nardi, A. E., Machado, S., & Carta, M. G. (2014). Quality of life, cortisol blood levels and exercise in older adults: results of a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health : CP & EMH*, 10(1), 67–72. https://doi.org/10.2174/1745017901410010067
- Picorelli, A. M. A., Pereira, L. S. M., Pereira, D. S., Felício, D., & Sherrington, C. (2014). Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and personal factors: a systematic review. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 60(3), 151–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2014.06.012
- Robertson, R. J., Goss, F. L., Rutkowski, J., Lenz, B., Dixon, C., Timmer, J., ... Andreacci, J. (2003). Concurrent validation of the OMNI perceived exertion scale for resistance exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 35(2), 333–41. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000048831.15016.2A
- Strohacker, K., Fazzino, D., Breslin, W. L., & Xu, X. (2015). The use of periodization in exercise prescriptions for inactive adults: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.04.023
- Sudheimer D., K. D., O'Hara, R., Spiegel, D., Powers, B., Kraemer C., H. C., Neri, E., ...
 Dhabhar S., F. S. (2014). Cortisol, cytokines, and hippocampal volume interactions in the elderly. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 6(JUL), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2014.00153

- Theou, O., Stathokostas, L., Roland, K. P., Jakobi, J. M., Patterson, C., Vandervoort, A. A., & Jones, G. R. (2011). The effectiveness of exercise interventions for the management of frailty: a systematic review. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2011, 569194. https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/569194
- Wallace, M., & Shelkey, M. (2007). Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (ADL). Urologic Nursing: Official Journal of the American Urological Association Allied, 27(1), 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004045-200105000-00020
- Walsh, N. P., & Oliver, S. J. (2016). Exercise, immune function and respiratory infection: An update on the influence of training and environmental stress. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 94(2), 132–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/icb.2015.99
- Wu, I.-C., Lin, X.-Z., Liu, P.-F., Tsai, W.-L., & Shiesh, S.-C. (2010). Low serum testosterone and frailty in older men and women. *Maturitas*, 67(4), 348–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2010.07.010

CHAPTER 12 (STUDY 10):

THE MEDIATING EFFECT OF TWO DIFFERENT EXERCISE PROGRAMMES ON THE IMMUNE PROFILE OF INSTITUTIONALIZED FRAIL OLDER WOMEN

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Matheus Uba-Chupel

Juan Carlos Colado

Eef Hogervorst

José Pedro Ferreira

Ana Maria Teixeira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018.

12.1 Abstract

Background: Physically frail individuals experience a guicker immunosenescence effect when compared to healthy older individuals. Physical frailty (PF) is characterized by a low physical fitness and exercise has been identified as a coadjutant therapy able to promote a better inflammatory environment and increase physical fitness. Objective: To analyse the effects of 24-weeks of two different exercise protocols on functional fitness and immune profile in institutionalized pre-frail and frail women. Methods: A sample of older frail individuals (n = 59, 81±7.84 years) participated in the study and were divided into three groups: chair-based muscle-strength exercises (CSE, n=18), chair-based multimodal exercise (CME, n =24) and a control non-exercise group (CG_{ne}, n = 17). Both exercise programs consisted of 45 minutes of supervised classes without music, carried out 3 times a week. Multimodal participants performed a progressive circuit-training protocol using static-dynamic balance, walking and body height muscle-resistance exercises. The muscle-strength resistance training with elasticband exercises following a compound set protocol. The controls did not change their usual lifestyle. The Fried Physical Frailty protocol was used to identify pre-frail and frail groups. Data for anti and pro- inflammatory makers and physical fitness tests were analysed pre and postinterventions. Results: After interventions, a significant effect of time and time by group for IgA and time by group for IL-10 levels were found (p > 0.05). Within-group analysis showed a significant moderate decrease in the IL-10 to TNF-a ratio for MME and an increase in controls (p > 0.05). A substantial improvement in physical fitness in both exercise groups was also found. Conclusion: Both chair-based exercise programs were effective in stimulating positive changes in physical fitness and simultaneous satisfactory responses in immune profile. The controls showed a negative trend towards a decreased physical fitness and slight decreased levels of anti-inflammatory profiles. The evidence regarding the use of systematic and moderate long-term physical exercise as co-adjuvant therapy in promoting better balance on the pro- and anti-inflammatory environment was the most promising results of this study.

KEY-WORDS: Older frail adults, exercise, physical fitness, upper respiratory tract infections, cytokines, immune system

12.2 Introduction

Older frail-adults have a greater intrinsic vulnerability to biological and environmental stressors, increasing the risk for physical decline and adverse health-related characteristics, such as disability and comorbidity when compared to non-frail older-adults (Clegg et al. 2013). Sedentary life styles, chronic stress, vascular, inflammatory, nutritional and metabolic factors have also been shown to have immuno-suppressive effects and to accelerate immunosenescence (Gruver, Hudson, and Sempowski 2007). In older frail individuals, this process occurs more rapidly, leading older people to early hospitalization and death (Collerton et al. 2012). During ageing, there is a decrease in salivary immunoglobulin-A (IgA) secretion, an important ant-bacterial protein involved in the mechanism of defence against pathogens that penetrate the mucosal epithelium, which is also linked to higher URTI incidence (Papacosta and Nassis 2011). Immune function is less impaired in highly conditioned versus non-active older adults (Walsh and Oliver 2016). Immunosenescence is also a part of the aging process and is associated with an increased risk for autoimmune disorders, tumours, infectious disease and inflammatory deregulation (Minciullo et al. 2016).

Recent findings have implicated the inflammatory pathway in increased severity of muscle damage as mechanisms to develop severe physical disorders and fast muscle decline in older frail-subjects (Lu et al. 2016). Very few studies have looked at the effect of regular moderate exercise on salivary makers such as Lys and IgA and none have looked at interferon gamma (IFN- γ) salivary levels in the older participants (Liberman et al. 2017). Peripheral blood concentrations of inflammatory pathway markers, specifically interleukins (IL), will also interact in anti- and pro-inflammatory processes triggered by aging, and affect physical status in older adults (Lu et al. 2016). Some makers, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, IFN- γ , Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and C-reactive protein (CRP) are important immune markers involved in this process, and some recent studies have shown that hormonal modulation caused by exercise can help maintain the balance within the immune system (Walsh et al. 2011).

Exercise can be a significant factor in ameliorating the deleterious effects of chronic biological and psychological stress, and may positively affect, to different extents, many immune parameters (Kohut and Senchina 2004). However, the type, intensity, duration and frequency of exercise that should be performed in order to effectively improve immune response in very old persons needs to be defined more clearly (Liberman et al. 2017). A review of the literature found that regular exercise has a positive impact on immune status in frail individuals, especially on TNF- α (Theou et al. 2011). Several studies have showed the potential exercise effect on the TNF- α /IL-10 ratio in promoting an pro-anti-inflammatory enviorment/balance in humans (Chupel et al. 2017).

Multimodal exercise programmes seem to be particularly effective in improving general physical fitness, while there is little evidence to date that muscle strength exercises can help achieve the same improvements in frail older adults (Liu, 2017). However, as in the case of the present study, the muscle-strengthening elastic-band exercise system has been offered as a successful method to promote significant beneficial effects on cognition status, physical fitness and immune profile (Chupel et al. 2017). Thus, the aim of this study was to analyse the effect of 24-weeks of two different chair-based group classes exercise protocols on functional fitness and immune profile in institutionalized pre-frail and frail older women.

12.3 Methods

This study consisted of three arms, with controlled trial chair-exercise based interventions, that included a subset of the participants of the previous published study protocol (Teixeira et al. 2016). Participants or their legal tutors signed an informed consent term. This study was approved by the Ethics and Human Subjects Review Board of the University of Coimbra, respecting the guidelines for human research of the Helsinki declaration.

12.3.1 Participants recruitment and allocation

Participants were institutionalized-dwelling pre-frail and frail women living in centres of health and social support in the city of Coimbra, Portugal, aged 75 years and above, with updated medical therapy and who were clinically stable. Not completing the dynamic balance test in 30 seconds, involvement in other exercise programs, use of medications that significantly impaired attention, individuals classified with morbid obesity, who were medical diagnosed with cardiometabolic, respiratory and musculoskeletal dysfunctions, the presence of mental, hearing and vision impairment or involvement in hormone therapy were exclusion criteria.

12.3.2 Sample size calculation and allocation

The sample size was 19 participants per group (power = 0.80), taking into account the comparison of frailty outcomes between treatments in previous studies (de Labra et al. 2015). Further anticipating a dropout rate of 30% (Picorelli et al. 2014), the sample was increased to 28 per group, allocated into three arms. The final sample analysed consisted of 59 participants: a non-exercising control group (CG_{*ne*}, n = 17), elastic-band muscle strength (CSE, n=18) and multimodal exercises (CME, n =22) programmes.

12.3.3 Assessment procedures

All the tests were applied by an independent assistant who established contact with the participants without reference to the exercise program. The instructor of the exercise sessions did not take part in the data collection procedures. Precaution was taken to avoid interaction of exercise programs between individuals of the two groups by staggering the classes' schedules. The quality of data assessment was made and reported for each of the physical markers through internal consistency reliability scores (ICR).

12.3.4 Physical Frailty (PF)

The Fried PF protocol was used (Fried et al. 2001). Shrinking was assessed by selfreport of unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months; Selfreported exhaustion was evaluated by concordance of two questions (7 and 20) of the Center for Epidemiology-Depression (CES-D) scale; Weakness was analyzed using the handgrip strength test, adjusted for gender and body mass index (ICR = .88); Slowness was measured by the 4.6 meters walking test, adjusted for gender and height (ICR = .80); levels of PA were assessed by the International Questionnaire short form (ICR = .78). The prevalence of PF was calculated to generate a PF total score.

12.3.5 Immune and biochemical makers' determination

The sample collection of saliva and blood was done in the morning (between 10:00h – 12:00h). Saliva samples were collected by a passive drool technique, that consisted of allowing the subjects' saliva to collect on the floor of the mouth, then to lean forward and dribble into an high quality polypropylene tube for three minutes. Prior to the saliva collection, the participants were asked to rinse their mouth with water to remove food residues 10 minutes before sample collection. The sample volumes were determined by weighing the collection tubes before and after the saliva collection and the samples were then stored at -20° C until determination of the saliva markers. Salivary concentrations of IL-1 β and IL-6 were were analyzed by competitive ELISA kits according to the manufacturer instructions [Salimetrics[®], UK]. Blood samples were collected by venepuncture by a registered nurse, and were allocated into serum and kEDTA tubes. Determination of blood counts was done immediately after blood collection, using an automated haematology analyser (Coulter AcT Diff, Beckman Coulter, USA).

The remaining blood samples were centrifuged, serum and plasma aliquoted into several Eppendorf tubes and kept frozen at -80°C until further use. The plasma levels of proand anti- inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IFN- γ and IL-10 were analyzed by ELISA [Invitrogen[®], CA] according to the manufacturer instructions. Serum CRP was determined using the Horiba Medical Pentra C200 [Kyoto, Japan].

12.3.6 Functional Fitness

The Senior Fitness Test battery developed by Rikli and Jones (2013) was used. i) Lower body strength was determined with the '30 second's chair-and-stand test' (30s-CS), measuring the number of total full chair-stands that can be completed in 30 seconds with the arms folded across the chest; ii) Upper body strength was assessed with the '30 seconds arm-curl test' (30s-AC) that measures the total number of bicep curls that can be completed in 30 seconds arm-curl test' (30s-AC) that measures the total number of 5 lbs (2.27 kg) for women. vi) Aerobic resistance was measured through the "2-minutes step test" (2m-ST), that consisted of the number of full steps the subject completed in two minutes performing a stationary gait, with one hand resting on the wall and raising each knee to a midway point between the kneecap and iliac crest. For all the Functional Fitness (FF) tests the best score of the two trials performed was used for final scoring purposes (Rikli,& Jones, 2013).

12.3.7 Health status

The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA, k = .74) was used to evaluate the nutritional status categorized as: a predetermined state of malnutrition (< 17 points), malnutrition risk (17 to 23.5 points) and adequate nutritional status of > 23.5 points (Loureiro 2008). The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI, ICR = .94) was used to classify comorbid conditions based on the medical register of each individual (Charlson et al. 1994). Systolic and diastolic blood pressure were recorded using a digital device of OMRON model M1 Plus [HEM-4011C-E][®] (Viera and Hinderliter 2007). Medication use (MU) was assessed through medical records over one year for each participant. To reduce potential confounding effects, all participants were encouraged to maintain unchanged diets, drugs treatment, and routines across the 24-weeks of the intervention.

12.3.8 Biosocial and anthropometric assessment

Information about chronological age was collected. Body mass was determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms (ICR = .89). Stature was determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimetres (ICR = .87). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated according the formula [BMI = weight/stature²]. Standardized procedures were followed (Lohman, Roche, and Martorell 1988)

12.3.9 Intervention programmes

The chair-based exercise programmes were conducted by exercise specialists. For safety reasons, in both exercise programmes intensity was indirectly calculated using the Karvonen's formula to predict target heart rate (HR), with HR_{max} being calculated using a specific formula for older populations [HR_{max}= 207 beats per minute (bpm) - 0.7 x chronological age] and was monitored using heart rate monitors Polar, RCX5® model (Guderian, Johnson, and Mathiowetz 2013). The classes were offered for 24-weeks, totalling 74 exercise sessions, with two-three sessions per week on non-consecutive days (separated by 48 hours). The percentage of exercise frequency was calculated individually through the total sum of class participation entries recorded in a checklist. A total of 74 (100%) sessions were offered and the values of engagement in different moments were reported as percentages. Based on previous reports, an adherence to the exercise program up to 65% was established as a minimum for each participant to be included in the final data analysis. The CG_{ne} group did not participate in any physical exercise intervention but was encouraged to maintain their normal routine, which included a monthly agenda of artistic and cultural activities.

12.3.10 Multimodal exercises (CME)

The chair CME program was performed with a determined number of exercises (7-9), repetitions (8-16), sets (2-4), the rhythm of execution (1:2) and active rest in a seated position between sets (20-30 seconds) with passive rest between circuits (60-120 seconds). Each session was conducted using a functional circuit training protocol. During the first 12 weeks, the body weight exercises executed in the seat and reach position were used. In the last 12 weeks, the increase of exercise intensity was induced by the inclusion of more difficult and complex exercises and challenge sequences, increasing walking time and placing obstacles along the walking route (cones, floor markers, arcs) to work handedness, changes in direction, static/dynamic balance and coordination. A low to moderate intensity effort around 50-75% of HR_{max} values was attained. Additionally, intensity was measured through the modified BORG

PES, that consists of an arbitrary scale ranging from 0 to 10 points with reference to the quality of effort: (0) nothing at all; (1) very weak; (2) weak; (3) moderate; (4) somewhat strong; (5-6) strong; (7-9) very strong; (10) very, very strong (almost maximal). Each exercise session was divided into three parts: 5 minutes of warm-up exercises for general body mobilization (PSE = 1-3, HR_{max} = 50-55%); 35 minutes of body weight exercises aimed to improve walking proficiency in a sitting and standing position (PSE 3-5, HR_{max} = 56-85%) and finally 5 minutes of cooling down (PSE 1-2, HR_{max} = 45-50%).

12.3.11 Muscle-strength exercises (CSE)

To create a progressive chair MSE program, exercises were performed with a determined number of exercises (8-10), sets (2-3); repetitions (10-15), a cadence of repetitions execution in 2 seconds concentric and 3 seconds eccentric (2:3) and a passive rest in the seated position between sets (30-45 seconds), following a bi-set protocol method. The first three levels of the Thera Band[®] System were used. Level one (yellow colour) elastic-bands were used during the first 12 weeks. In the remaining 12 weeks, the increase in the exercise intensity was introduced by changing to the elastic-bands level 2 and 3 (red and green colour respectively). Intensity was measured through the OMINI PES, that comprises a subjective effort scale ranging from 0 to 10 points, with identical intervals and with reference to the quality of effort: (0) extremely easy; (1-2) easy; (3-5) somewhat easy, (6-7) somewhat-hard; (8) hard; (9-10) extremely-hard (Robertson et al. 2003). The goal was to keep the intensity of the exercise activities between 1 to 6 in PES levels. It was expected that the relationship with the real effort would be 55-80% of maximum heart-rate. The session was divided into three parts: 5 minutes of warm-up (PSE 1 to 3, HR_{max} = 45-55%), 35 minutes of muscle-strength elasticband exercises in PSE 4 to 6 (HR_{max} = 56-75%) and finally, 5 minutes of cooling-down (PSE 1 to 2, $HR_{max} = 45-50\%$).

12.3.12 Data analysis

Descriptive data were presented as mean (and standard deviations) or frequencies. In the baseline scores, comparisons between groups were analyzed by one-way ANOVA. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to analyse the effect of time and time by group interactions on the frailty total score, functional fitness and immune profile changes over time, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* tests, reporting the confidence interval (CI:95%) for the statistically significant results.

Since there was no normality distribution for the TNF- α /IL-10 ratio the pre- and postinterventions comparisons were made using the Kruskall-Wallis test. The percent of change after the interventions was also calculated ([post value/pre value]-1). The magnitude of the global effect size (ES) was calculated by exercise-modulation treatment. For continuous variables, ES were computed using Cohen's (*d*). The effect size was considered trivial ($d \le$.20), small (.21 < *d* <.50), moderate (.51 < *d* <.79) and large (*d* > .80) (Batterham and Hopkins 2006). The IBM SPSS Statistics package 24.0 and in R 3.3.1 software's for all statistical procedures were used. The level of significance adopted was p-value = .05.

12.4 Results

From the 119 potential participants initially recruited, a total of 29% were excluded for not meeting inclusion criteria and declining to participate in the study spontaneously. In the follow-up phase 6 participants of CME training, 10 of CSE and 9 of CG_{ne} withdrew their willingness to participate before or immediately after the beginning of the study for various reasons. A total of 24 drop-outs was registered during the intervention period because of low exercise engagement, injuries or adverse responses to the intervention. In total, 59 older women participants were examined at completion of the 24 weeks' study. Characteristics of experimental and control groups at baseline are presented in Table 12.1. The statistical analysis showed that no significant differences between the three groups were found (p>0.05).

Variables	Total Sample	Chair	Chair Elastic-band	Control group	
		multimodal	muscle strength	non-exercise	
-	M+SD	M+SD	M+SD	(II=19) M+SD	
	81 62 +7 01	80 1/+8 10	81 00+4 79	80.03+10.01	
Chionological age (years)	01.02 ±1.91	00.1410.19	01.0014.79	00.95±10.01	
Stature (centimeters)	1.51±0.07	1.52±0.61	1.51±0.08	1.51±0.80	
Body mass (Kilograms)	64.86±14.06	63.24±8.5	62.03±17.76	64.99±14.89	
Dedu mese index (kg m ⁻²)	20 10 5 71	26 52 2 65	20 25 7 40	20 4416 06	
Body mass index (kg·m)	20.19±0.71	20.03±3.00	20.33±1.10	20.44±0.00	
Charlson comorbidity index	7.93±2.13	7.55±1.92	7.78±1.98	8.67±2.53	
,					
Medication use, per day (unit)	6.75±2.34	7.05±1.98	6.95±3.05	6.30±0.95	
Svotolia Pland progrum	126 00+17 24	124 05+15 01	1121 22+10 27	100 02+17 20	
Systolic Blood pressure	120.09±17.24	124.05±15.01	1131.22±19.37	122,93±17.39	
Diastolic Blood pressure	64.85±11.08	64.86±8.07	67.67±13.99	65.87±10.60	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
Mini nutritional assessment	23.94±2.66	23.18±2.75	24.52±2.32	24.36±2.83	

 Table 12.1 Total sample, exercising and control groups characteristics of at baseline.

Notes: ** p≤0.01; * p≤0.05; m(sd) = mean (standard deviation). The p-values correspond to comparisons between the three groups and were computed with one-way ANOVA one-way or Kruskal-Wallis, depending the assumption (normality) of variable.

12.4.1 Immune markers

Table 12.2 shows the inflammatory markers changes after the 24 weeks' intervention programs. The results showed that a significant effect of time [F (2,44) = 6.681; p = 0.014)] and time by group for IgA changes over the interventions [*F* (1,44) = 4.661; p = 0.015)]. Bonferroni corrections applied *post hoc* showed a moderate decrease in IgA levels in MSE group (ES = 0.68, Δ % = -26; p<0.01, Cl95%: 0.08 to 0.313), while the others remained unchanged over time (p>0.05).

Table 12.2 Comparison of immune profile biochemical makers b	between baseline and 24 weeks of intervention
--	---

			moments.					
Groups	Baseline	28 weeks	Interaction	F	p	Cohens' d	Practical	Δ %
laA (ua/ml)	MESD	NI±5D	enects	lesi	value	ellect size	relevance	
	263 34+203 99	155 16+92 13	Time	6 581	0 014	0.68	Moderate	- 26
CSE	200.04±200.00	234 77+123 90	Time x Group	4.661	0.015	0.00	Trivial	+42
CGne	257 61+172 57	196 92+90 73				0.15	Trivial	- 11
l vsozvme (ug/ml.)	201.011112.01	100.02±00.10				0.10	Thinki	
CMF	1 42+1 38	1 04+0 84	Time	0 041	0 840	0.33	Small	- 36
CSE	2 97+2 38	2 10+1 41	Time x Group	0.313	0.734	0.44	Small	- 18
CGne	2.89+3.62	2.59+2.03				0.29	Small	- 10
IL-6 (pg/mL)	210020102	210022100				0.20	0	
CMF	20,43+15,50	17.99+10.85	Time	0.048	0.827	0.19	Trivial	- 09
CSE	23.89 +18.18	25.01+14.95	Time x Group	0.685	0.509	0.06	Trivial	+ 31
CGne	19.15±15.46	20.81±13.80				0.11	Trivial	+ 22
IL-1B (pg/mL)								
CME	77.9±61.34	67.16±56.27	Time	1.402	0.246	0.23	Small	- 130
CSE	76.79±69.55	82.81±55.72	Time x Group	0.643	0.553	0.09	Trivial	+ 83
CGne	73.86±50.23	91.23±62.37				0.31	Small	+ 88
IL-10 (pg/mL)								
CME	13.91±11.09	18.38±12.46	Time	2.769	0.103	0.39	Small	+ 62
CSE	17.63 ±11.28	21.55±10.29	Time x Group	4.514	0.016	0.36	Small	+ 46
CGne	14.89±11.03	13.52±10.96				0.12	Trivial	- 03
CRP (pg/mL)								
CME	4.94v5.77	4.16±3.64	Time	0.690	0.410	0.16	Trivial	- 48
CSE	2.91±3.33	2.95±2.87	Time x Group	1.789	0.179	0.01	Trivial	+ 24
CGne	3.19±3.73	5.83±3.08				0.52	Moderate	+ 73
IFN-γ (pg/mL)								
CME	3.48±4.17	4.48±5.49	Time	6.117	0.018	0.26	Small	+ 86
CSE	5.04±3.55	6.11±4.61	Time x Group	0.010	0.990	0.25	Small	+ 60
CGne	4.58±5.83	4.82v4.23				0.04	Trivial	+ 91
TNF-α (pg/mL)								
CME	112.55±65.73	122.41±64.12	Time	3.280	0.077	0.15	Trivial	+ 24
CSE	140.23±59.81	153.98±56.22	Time x Group	0.003	0.997	0.23	Trivial	+ 18
CGne	118.11±78.23	131.65±70.22				0.18	Trivial	+ 39
TNF-α/IL-10 ratio*								
CME	9.30±7.76	6.46v8.98	Time		0.011	0.33	Small	- 43
CSE	11.62 ±9.42	8.98±4.82	Time x Group		0.068	0.35	Small	- 30
CGne	8.27 ±7.85	14.40±20.04			0.021	0.40	Small	+ 74

Notes: Cohens' d = trivial ($d \le .20$), small (.21 < d <.50), moderate (.51 < d <.79) and large (d > .80) effect size; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation); Δ % = Delta change percentage; The p-values correspond to comparisons between the two groups and were computed by repeated measure's ANOVA for within comparisons, following Bonferroni *post-hoc* test; TNF- α /IL-10 ratio statistical analysis was made using univariate analysis following within-group Wilcoxon-signed rank test; CME = Chair multimodal exercises; CSE = Chair Elastic-band muscle strength exercises; CGne = Control group non-exercise.

No effects of time or time *by* group were observed for Lys levels (p>0.05). Analysing the results of Table 12.2, we found that effects of time or time *by* group were observed for changes in IL-6 and IL-1 β (p>0.05), despite only a small decrease in the CME group (ES = 0.23, Δ % = - 130) and a small increase in the GC_{ne} group (ES = 0.31, Δ % = + 88) in IL-1 β levels. Significant interactions were observed for time by group in IL-10 levels [*F* (2,45) = 4.514; p=0.01], where concentrations increased in MME (ES = 0.39; Δ % = + 62; p = 0.023; CI95%: - 0.247 to -0.019) and CSE (ES = 0.36; Δ % = + 46; p = 0.029; CI95%: -241 to -013) groups. However, no significant change was observed in controls (p = 0.147). No effect of time or time by group were observed for TNF- α levels (p>0.05), despite a trend for changes over time shown [*F* (1,41) = 3.280, p=0.07].

There was an effect of time for IFN- γ changes [*F* (1, 42) = 6.117, p=0.01)], but no significant interactions with group (p>0.05). No differences were observed for time and time *by* group interaction in CRP levels (p>0.05). Despite a trend for these to be increased in the CG_{*ne*} group (p = 0.06). Regarding TNF- α /IL-10 ratio, univariate analysis showed no significant differences between groups at baseline and after 24 weeks (p > 0.05). However, within-group analysis using Wilcoxon-signed rank test showed a significant moderate decrease in this ratio for CME (z = -2.551; p = 0.01; ES = 0.33; Δ % = -43), and an increase in controls (z = -2.312, p = 0.02; ES = 0.40; Δ % = +74).

12.4.2 Physical Fitness

Analysing the physical fitness parameters after the 24-weeks intervention programmes, the results showed that there was only an effect of time on CSR-M [*F* (1; 52) = 5.259, p=0.02], but no interactions with group. (Table 12.3) Both CME and CSE group showed increased score with large effect size (ES = 0.40; Δ % = -12 and ES = 0.49; Δ % = -16, respectively). A significant effect of time on 30s-AC was shown [*F*(1;52) = 16.045, p < 0.01). Post hoc analysis showed a decrease in both CME and CSE on 30s-AC with a large and moderate effect-size, respectively (ES = 1.05; Δ % = + 51; p = 0.000 and ES = 0.60; Δ % = + 42; p = 0.021). There was a significant effect of time [*F* (1;52) = 22.675, p < 0.01) and time *by* group interactions [*F* (2;52) = 5.556; p = 0.006)] on the 30s-CS test, and Bonferroni analysis showed an increase for MSE after exercise intervention (p < 0.01).

	Baseline	28 weeks	Interaction	F	р	Cohens' d	Practical	Δ %
	M±SD	M±SD	effects	test	value	effect size	relevance	
Chair Seat and Reach								
(centimeters)								
CME	28.25±10.59	23.79±11.61	Time	05.25	0.026	0.40	small	- 12
CSE	27.53±11.83	22.56±07.80	TxG	00.63	0.850	0.53	moderate	- 16
CGne	24.25±11.27	22.00±10.01				0.12	Trivial	- 08
30-seconds arm curl								
(reps per time)								
CME	9.09±2.99	12.59±3.45	Time	16.04	0.000	1.05	Large	+ 51
CSE	11.56±5.63	14.17±3.42	TxG	00.79	0.456	0.60	Moderate	+ 42
CGne	8.67±4.54	9.20±3.49				0.37	small	+18
Chair-seated and								
stand (reps per time)								
CME	9.14±3.10	12.36±3.12	Time	22.67	0.000	1.03	Large	+ 37
CSE	7.44±3.18	11.94±2.75	TxG	05.56	0.006	1.51	Large	+ 82
CGne	6.93±2.81	8.01±3.31				0.19	Trivial	+ 44
Two-minutes step								
(reps per time)								
CME	39.82±11.83	49.14±14.68	Time	21.43	0.000	0.83	Large	+ 35
CSE	29.61±15.63	44.56±12.90	TxG	08.77	0.001	1.04	Large	+ 51
CGne	27.92±12.01	24.20±10.54				0.33	small	- 06

Table 12.3 Comparison of physical-functional status outcomes between baseline and 24 weeks of intervention.

Notes: Cohens' d = trivial ($d \le .20$), small (.21 < d <.50), moderate (.51 < d <.79) and large (d > .80) effect size; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation); Delta change percentage; The p-values correspond to comparisons between the two groups and were computed by repeated measure's ANOVA for within comparisons, following Bonferroni *post-hoc* test; CME = Chair multimodal exercises; CSE = Chair Elastic-band muscle strength exercises; CGne = Control group non-exercise; TxG = time versus group.

Both CSE and CME demonstrated a large magnitude of effect after interventions (ES = 1.05, Δ % = +37 and ES = 1.51; Δ % = 82, respectively). A significant effect of time [*F* (1;52) = 21.739, p < 0.01] and time by group [*F*(2;52) = 8.474, p < 0.01] on the 2M-ST was shown after the intervention program. Post hoc analysis showed an increase in both CME and CSE on the 2M-ST (p < 0.01), with moderate (ES = 0.70, Δ % = +30) and large effects (ES = 1.04; Δ % = +51), respectively. The CG*ne* remained unchanged over time (p>0.05).

12.4.3 Exercise effort and engagement

The final scores of minimum, maximum and mean HR achieved at the end by the CME group was 65.75 (±9.96), 97.56 (±12.40) and 77.27 (±8.21) bpm, respectively. This corresponded to 57% to 70% of the predicted HRz_{max}. The final mean of PES ranged from moderate (3.14 ± 0.98) to somewhat strong (4.92 ± 1.01). For the CSE group, the scores of HR achieved at the end were 69.08 (±14.77), 96.24 (±14.13) and 84.48 (±11.52) bpm. This corresponded to 48% to 74% of the predicted HR_{max}. The final mean of PES oscillated from somewhat easy (3.98 ± 1.99) to somewhat strong (6.02 ± 2.22), according to the participants self-perception. Regarding adherence, the CSE participants attended an average of 58 sessions (78% of attendance), out of 74 sessions offered in total. In the CME, the participants had a 72% adherence, corresponding to 54 sessions attended.

12.5 Discussion

The goals of this study were to assess the impact of two different structured exercise programmes, CSE and CME, in older frail women on immune profile and physical fitness. The assumption was that including regular exercise as a co-adjuvant therapy would be effective for reducing chronic inflammation, since this population suffers, more prominently age-effects, which tend to accelerate the immunosenescence process. The main results of this study were that both CSE and CME programmes could increase physical fitness and also simultaneously increase anti-inflammatory cytokine concentrations to promote a better inflammatory balance in institutionalized older frail women after 24 weeks of systematic exercise. However, CSE and CME programs promoted a different response for some of the analysed variables, even though the participants of the study had a similar intensity of effort and similar values in adherence to the exercise programmes.

12.5.1 Immune Makers

It is generally understood that immune function declines with age, and, compared with young people, older people are less resistant to pathogenic microorganisms (Senchina DS1; Kohut ML. 2007). In the case of frail individuals, the susceptibility to increased episodes of the upper respiratory tract infector (URTI) appears to be greater (Compté et al. 2013). Several exercise intervention have examined markers of mucosal immunity, including salivary antimicrobial proteins, such as IgA (Allgrove et al. 2008; Shibuya et al. 2015; Silva et al. 2009). However, results showed a slight conflict in the interpretation of results, especially in short-term programs (up to 12 weeks) (Senchina DS1; Kohut ML. 2007).

In the results of Akimoto and colleagues, regular moderate exercise seemed to enhance mucosal immune function (salivary IgA) in elderly subjects after 12-weeks of combined training (Akimoto et al. 2003). But, this study reveals another important question in the comparison with our results, although the exercise program used shows some similarity with the CME used in this study, his sample had a younger age group living in the community and for this reason the authors may have observed better results. In the other study which aimed to investigate the effects of aerobic conditioning in a very similar population, salivary IgA concentration was unchanged, suggesting that alterations in salivary IgA levels in response to exercise may also be related to age (Martins et al. 2009). In another recent study, no change was observed in IgA after 28 weeks of Yoga, however, a trend towards an moderate increase in both IgA (ES = 0.20, Δ % = 26) and Lysozyme (ES = 0.48, Δ % = 87) secretion rates were found, while in the control group a trend towards a decrease in the IgA secretion rate was found (Marques et al., 2017).

In our study, unlike these studies cited above, there was a trend to reduced IgA, except for the CSE group, which is in line with the results of the previous studies using strength training (Neves et al. 2009). Unlike data on IgA, there is little data available regarding the changes in salivary Lys concentrations with acute or chronic exercise in this type of population. A recent study described that salivary Lys secretion increased after moderate intensity exercise and increased further after high intensity exercise, which implies that Lys levels may be related with exercise intensity (Papacosta and Nassis 2011). Despite the lack of research involving modulating effects of exercise on Lys, the studies showed that Lys and IgA and others salivary markers, such as α -amylase, seem to demonstrated a similar behaviour during and after physical exercise, because they share the same control and activation that is regulated by the autonomic nervous system (Allgrove et al. 2008). The subjacent mechanisms involving the inflammation process is one such potential pathophysiological change which may be closely linked with the physical frailty condition (Soysal et al. 2016). However, it is consensual that chronic subclinical inflammation contributes to impaired physical functioning in older adults (Brinkley et al. 2009).

The concept of a beneficial 'anti-inflammatory exercise-effects' in older populations who participate in regular programs seems to justify the possible beneficial increase that occurred in IL-10 in both CSE and CME programs, while in the CG_{ne} a slight decrease occurred, taking into account the magnitude of effect size. TNF- α and IL-6 are important pro-inflammatory markers and have previously been found to be elevated in cases of frail individuals in comparison to healthy age-matched controls (Hubbard et al. 2009). In the present study, the increase in IL-10 levels may partly justify the behaviour of inflammatory markers observed, since this marker promotes the reduction of TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 mRNA levels of in skeletal muscle of older adults (Nicklas and Brinkley 2009). In similar research with obese frail older patients, a combined exercise program (strength plus muscular resistance training) led to a significant decrease in IL-6 and TNF- α mRNA expression, despite having no effect on weight loss (Lambert et al. 2008). In another intervention study, significant decreases in TNF α mRNA and protein expression were reported after 12-weeks of resistance training in frail older men and women (Lambert et al. 2008).

Our results showed, after 24-weeks of systematic exercise, a slight reduction in inflammatory IL-6 and IL-1 β concentrations in the CME participants, while in the controls a trend for an increase in levels of these markers was seen. Changes in TNF- α levels appear to be inconclusive, but when analysing the TNF- α to IL-10 ratio, a decrease of this ratio was observed which could be seen as the effect of exercise on the inflammatory balance, an immune physiological phenomenon recently observed by our research group in a study with a very similar population (Matheus U. Chupel et al. 2017). The mechanism explaining this

balance is associated with the attenuated-effect triggered by IL-10 on TNF- α receptors expression, stimulating release of their extracellular domains into the systemic circulation. Additionally, IL-10 also downregulates cell-mediated immune responses and cytotoxic inflammatory responses, the imbalance in these cytokines appearing to be associated with coronary heart disease (Kumari et al. 2018). Similar to TNF- α , several cross-sectional studies have associated high levels of CRP to abnormal cardiovascular risk and stroke. Results from these studies are consistent in showing that low general physical function (gait speed, muscle mass, muscle strength and self-reported functional ability) are associated with high inflammatory marker concentrations (Nicklas and Brinkley 2009).

Therefore, low concentrations of these inflammatory markers are essential for the maintenance of better neuromuscular performance. In this study, the results showed no significant alterations in CRP levels, although the CG*ne* did show a trend for a moderate increase (ES =0.47; Δ % = 87) which could indicate that exercise was able to prevent further CRP increase with time/aged. However, in two other similar studies conducted with postmenopausal women, between14 and 20 weeks of aerobic exercise intervention decreased CRP by 15% and 25%, respectively (Greine 2001; Giannopoulou et al. 2005).

Comparable to the present study, the exercise-mediated effect on the increase of antiinflammatory makers (IL-10 and IFN- γ) was the plausible explanation given for these results. Similar to the increase in IL-10, the concurrent small increase of IFN- γ in both the MME and MSE exercise groups (and unchanged in the controls) seems to be beneficial, since this biomarker is considered as an anti-inflammatory cytokine in low concentrations. it is secreted by Th1 cells and has an essential role in maintaining immune function by preserving the Th1/Th2 balance that is usually altered towards a more Th2 cytokine secretion profile with age (Gage et al., 2004). Regular moderate exercise (as was the case in this study) and not intense exercise, has beneficial effects on health by way of increasing satisfactory plasma IFN- γ levels (Vijayaraghava et al., 2014).

12.5.2 Physical Fitness status

Analysing the physical fitness data, we observed that the large and beneficial improvements achieved by the exercise groups were quite similar after the 24-week programmes, despite the fact that the design characteristics of CSE and CME exercise programs were quite specific and different. According to the American College of Sport Medicine (ACSM), multimodal exercises are categorized as a group class where the instructor uses aerobic exercises interspersed with endurance, strength, balance and other types of exercises (De La Cabra et al., 2015).

The main purposes of multimodal exercise program is to encourage older people to work on muscle strength and endurance, integrating other physical fitness domains, such as time reaction, gait performance, static balance and improved stability in dynamic balance (Baker et al., 2007). Although ACSM classifies the evidence level of multimodal as C or moderate (on a scale ranging from A to D) (Antunes et al., 2006), most current studies have demonstrated a general health benefit of multimodal exercise in older patients with physical and cognitive frailty conditions when compared to other programs or controls, especially in increasing cognitive functions, decreasing falls incidence and improving physical fitness related to daily tasks autonomy (Lopez et al., 2017). The most probable explanation for the results similarities between the CME and CSE groups, was the progressive increase in difficulty (effort) of the muscle resistance body weight exercise components over time (i.e. chair muscle up and seat to chair muscle up and stand), which demonstrated beneficial effects on muscle strength after 24 weeks.

A complete and comprehensive review indicated that longer-term (intervention time over 16 weeks) MME interventions with shorter-duration sessions (30 to 45 minutes) might be a better option for this population, especially for the prevention of adverse health consequences (Theou et al., 2011). In this sense, the results of our study are in agreement with the current literature. Unlike the CME programs, the CSE programs are classified as evidence level A (strong), and its benefits are also well researched and scientifically proven. Current evidence indicates that supervised and controlled trials of CSE represent an effective intervention in physical frailty treatment (Lopez et al., 2017). Unlike the traditional MSE program, which opts for the use of free weights and machines, our program used a workout with gradual increases in elastic bands resistances. Recent studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of exercise interventions with elastic bands in improving muscle strength and functional capacity in older adults (José & Del Corso, 2016).

In addition to the fundamental characteristics such as ergonomics, practicality, and gradual control of the effort (Andersen et al., 2010), some studies with older participants have proven that some physiological adaptations (including changes in immunological parameters) inherent to the traditional strength exercises, can also be achieved using the gradual system of elastics bands (Chupel et al., 2017; Colado e Triplett, 2008). One other hypothesis, that could explain the substantial physical fitness improvements in this sample refers to the gains most evident in older people with low levels of physical functioning, as was the case in this sample.

The control group, as expected, did not shown any improvements in these study variables, on the contrary a decreased performance in almost all of the physical fitness tests used in this study was seen, emphasizing the importance of being and staying active across the life span. Lack of exercise/physical activity is a well-known risk factor for the loss of independence of older adults.

12.5.3 Limitations

Despite the interesting results, this study presented some limitations. Firstly, we must interpret the results carefully, since the degree of multi-comorbidity and the use of drugs may influence the variation of biochemical markers. In our study sample, for example, there was a high prevalence of hypertension (78%), dyslipidemia and metabolic syndrome (64%), heart failure (37%), rheumatic or connective tissue disease (48%) and diagnosed mental disorders, such as depression, anxiety and chronic stress (28%). Some of these diseases are treated with beta-blockers that may have interfered with autonomous nervous system functioning (49); Statins, the commonly prescribed drug to reduce cardiovascular disease risk has been linked to skeletal muscle myopathy and attenuates increases in cardiorespiratory fitness and skeletal muscle mitochondrial content when combined with exercise (50).

The pragmatic treatment for rheumatic disorders included medication for pain and inflammation (methotrexate and leflunomide) or biologic drugs (infliximab, adalimumab, etanercept, golimumab and certolizumab), and while improving pain, mood disorders, and fatigue, these drugs also act as inhibitors of IL-6 and TNF- α (49). Secondly, we opted for a naturalistic controlled trial, due to the very poor physical-functional condition of the sample, that would have made moving to an exercise center unlikely. However, it is essential to mention that participants of this study started the exercise programmes under the same conditions. Another interesting question is that unlike some studies, this one choose to also discuss the results taking into account the size of the effect of the changes, which may reveal clinically or biologically relevant effects for all the variables in question.

12.6 Conclusion

Our study described important evidence regarding the use of systematic and moderate long-term physical exercise as co-adjuvant therapy in achieving a better balance/environment between the pro- and anti-inflammatory environment. Also, these findings revealed the expected capability of multimodal or elastic-band strength exercise programmes to substantially increase physical fitness in the older frail women that can substantially promote independence. The chair-based exercise method in groups used does not appear to have negatively influenced the results.

12.7 References

- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet [Internet]. 2013 Mar 2 [cited 2014 Jul 14];381(9868):752–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23395245
- Gruver AL, Hudson LL, Sempowski GD. Immunosenescence of ageing. The Journal of pathology [Internet]. 2007 Jan [cited 2014 Dec 26];211(2):144–56. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1931833&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Collerton J, Martin-Ruiz C, Davies K, Hilkens CM, Isaacs J, Kolenda C, et al. Frailty and the role of inflammation, immunosenescence and cellular ageing in the very old: Crosssectional findings from the Newcastle 85+ Study. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development [Internet]. 2012 Jun [cited 2017 Mar 13];133(6):456–66. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0047637412000991
- Papacosta E, Nassis GP. Saliva as a tool for monitoring steroid, peptide and immune markers in sport and exercise science. Journal of science and medicine in sport / Sports Medicine Australia [Internet]. 2011 Sep [cited 2014 Dec 29];14(5):424–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21474377
- Walsh NP, Oliver SJ. Exercise, immune function and respiratory infection: An update on the influence of training and environmental stress. Immunology and cell biology [Internet]. 2016 Feb 13 [cited 2017 Jan 21];94(2):132–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26563736
- Minciullo PL, Catalano A, Mandraffino G, Casciaro M, Crucitti A, Maltese G, et al. Inflammaging and Anti-Inflammaging: The Role of Cytokines in Extreme Longevity [Internet]. Vol. 64, Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis. 2016 [cited 2018 Jan 23]. p. 111–26. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26658771
- Lu Y, Tze Ying Tan C, Nyunt MSZ, Hei Mok EW, Camous X, Kared H, et al. Inflammatory and immune markers associated with physical frailty syndrome: findings from Singapore longitudinal aging studies. Oncotarget [Internet]. 2016 May 16 [cited 2017 Jul 17];7(20):28783–28795. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27119508
- Liberman K, Forti LN, Beyer I, Bautmans I. The effects of exercise on muscle strength, body composition, physical functioning and the inflammatory profile of older adults: A systematic review. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care [Internet].

2017 Jan [cited 2018 Apr 29];20(1):30–53. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27755209

- Walsh NP, Gleeson MM, Shephard RJ, Jeffrey MG, Woods A, Bishop NC, et al. Part one : Immune function and exercise. Exercise immunology review [Internet]. 2011 Jan [cited 2015 Oct 28];17:6–63. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21446352
- Kohut ML, Senchina DS. Reversing age-associated immunosenescence via exercise. Exercise Immunology Review [Internet]. 2004 Jan [cited 2015 Nov 6];10:6–41. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15633584
- 11. Theou O, Stathokostas L, Roland KP, Jakobi JM, Patterson C, Vandervoort AA, et al. The effectiveness of exercise interventions for the management of frailty: a systematic review. Journal of aging research [Internet]. 2011;2011:569194. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3092602&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Chupel MU, Direito F, Furtado GE, Minuzzi LG, Pedrosa FM, Colado JC, et al. Strength training decreases inflammation and increases cognition and physical fitness in older women with cognitive impairment. Frontiers in Physiology [Internet]. 2017 Jun 12 [cited 2017 Jun 12];8(JUN):377. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys.2017.00377/full
- Chupel MU, Direito F, Furtado GE, Minuzzi LG, Pedrosa FM, Colado JC, et al. Strength training decreases inflammation and increases cognition and physical fitness in older women with cognitive impairment. Frontiers in Physiology. 2017;8(JUN).
- Teixeira AM, Ferreira JP, Hogervorst E, Braga MF, Bandelow S, Rama L, et al. Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. Frontiers in Public Health [Internet]. 2016 Jun 27 [cited 2016 Aug 18];4:133. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133/abstract
- de Labra C, Guimaraes-Pinheiro C, Maseda A, Lorenzo T, Millán-Calenti JC. Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. BMC geriatrics [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Jun 30];15:154. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26626157
- 16. Picorelli AMA, Pereira LSM, Pereira DS, Felício D, Sherrington C. Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and

personal factors: a systematic review. Journal of physiotherapy [Internet]. 2014 Sep [cited 2015 Nov 14];60(3):151–6. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1836955314000800

- 17. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman a B, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2001 Mar;56(3):M146-56. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156
- Rikli, R.; Jones C. Senior Fitness Test Manual-2nd Edition [Internet]. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2013 [cited 2015 Nov 23]. Available from: http://www.humankinetics.com/products/all-products/senior-fitness-test-manual-2ndedition
- Loureiro M. Validação do Mini -Nutricional Assessement Em Idosos [Internet]. 2008
 [cited 2017 Aug 11]. Available from: https://estudogeral.sib.uc.pt/handle/10316/10439
- Charlson M, Szatrowski TP, Peterson J, Gold J. Validation of a combined comorbidity index. Journal of clinical epidemiology [Internet]. 1994 Nov [cited 2014 Nov 10];47(11):1245–51. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560
- Viera AJ, Hinderliter AL. Validation of the HEM-780REL with easy wrap cuff for selfmeasurement of blood pressure according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol. Blood pressure monitoring [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2016 Aug 23];12(5):335–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17969368
- Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R. Anthropometric standardization reference manual.
 Vol. 24, Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. 1988. 177 p.
- 23. Guderian B, Johnson A, Mathiowetz V. Impact of Exercise Frequency on Hand Strength of the Elderly. Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics [Internet]. 2013;31(3):268–79. Available from: https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=2012228225&site=ehost-live
- Robertson RJ, Goss FL, Rutkowski J, Lenz B, Dixon C, Timmer J, et al. Concurrent validation of the OMNI perceived exertion scale for resistance exercise. Medicine and science in sports and exercise [Internet]. 2003 Feb [cited 2015 Jan 6];35(2):333–41. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12569225

- 25. Batterham AM, Hopkins WG. About Magnitudes. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2015 Nov 19];1(1):50–7. Available from: https://books.google.com/books?hl=pt-PT&Ir=&id=gkalyqTMXNEC&pgis=1
- 26. Senchina DS1; Kohut ML. Immunological outcomes of exercise in older adults. Clinical interventions in aging [Internet]. 2007 Jan [cited 2015 Nov 27];2(1):3–16. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2684080&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Compté N, Zouaoui Boudjeltia K, Vanhaeverbeek M, De Breucker S, Tassignon J, Trelcat A, et al. Frailty in Old Age Is Associated with Decreased Interleukin-12/23 Production in Response to Toll-Like Receptor Ligation. Fitzgerald-Bocarsly P, editor. PLoS ONE [Internet]. 2013 Jun 5 [cited 2017 Mar 13];8(6):e65325. Available from: http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065325
- Allgrove JE, Gomes E, Hough J, Gleeson M. Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men. Journal of sports sciences [Internet]. 2008 Apr [cited 2015 Nov 8];26(6):653–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18344136
- 29. Shibuya T, Kaburagi T, Nagai R, Oshiro S. The effects of moderate exercise on secretory IgA production in mice depends on dietary carbohydrate intake. Journal of clinical biochemistry and nutrition [Internet]. 2015 Jul [cited 2015 Nov 28];57(1):44–9. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4512897&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 30. Silva RP Da, Natali AJ, Paula SO De, Locatelli J, Marins JCB. Salivary immunoglobulin A (s-lgA) and exercise: relevance of its control in athletes and methodological implications. Rev Bras Med Esporte [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2017 Aug 13];15(6):459–66. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/rbme/v15n6/a12v15n6.pdf
- 31. Akimoto T, Kumai Y, Akama T, Hayashi E, Murakami H, Soma R, et al. Effects of 12 months of exercise training on salivary secretory IgA levels in elderly subjects. British journal of sports medicine [Internet]. 2003 Feb [cited 2015 Apr 23];37(1):76–9. Available from:

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1724582&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

- 32. Martins RA, Cunha MR, Neves AP, Martins M, Teixeira-Veríssimo M, Teixeira AM. Effects of aerobic conditioning on salivary IgA and plasma IgA, IgG and IgM in older men and women. International journal of sports medicine [Internet]. 2009 Dec [cited 2015 Nov 27];30(12):906–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19941250
- 33. Neves S da C, Lima RM, Simões HG, Marques MC, Reis VM, de Oliveira RJ. Resistance exercise sessions do not provoke acute immunosuppression in older women. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research [Internet]. 2009;23(1):259–65. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19130647
- Soysal P, Stubbs B, Lucato P, Luchini C, Solmi M, Peluso R, et al. Inflammation and frailty in the elderly: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Research Reviews [Internet]. 2016 Nov [cited 2016 Dec 9];31:1–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27592340
- 35. Brinkley TE, Leng X, Miller ME, Kitzman DW, Pahor M, Berry MJ, et al. Chronic inflammation is associated with low physical function in older adults across multiple comorbidities. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences [Internet]. 2009 Apr [cited 2016 Nov 29];64(4):455–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19196644
- Hubbard RE, O'Mahony MS, Savva GM, Calver BL, Woodhouse KW. Inflammation and frailty measures in older people. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine [Internet].
 2009 Sep [cited 2017 Mar 13];13(9 B):3103–9. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00733.x
- Nicklas BJ, Brinkley TE. Exercise training as a treatment for chronic inflammation in the elderly. Exercise and sport sciences reviews [Internet]. 2009 Oct [cited 2017 Jan 20];37(4):165–70. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19955865
- Lambert CP, Wright NR, Finck BN, Villareal DT. Exercise but not diet-induced weight loss decreases skeletal muscle inflammatory gene expression in frail obese elderly persons. Journal of Applied Physiology [Internet]. 2008 Aug [cited 2018 Jun 19];105(2):473–8. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18535122
- 39. Kumari R, Kumar S, Ahmad MK, Singh R, Pradhan A, Chandra S, et al. TNF-α/IL-10 ratio: An independent predictor for coronary artery disease in North Indian population. Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews [Internet]. 2018 May [cited 2018 Jun 19];12(3):221–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28988596

- GREIWE JS. Resistance exercise decreases skeletal muscle tumor necrosis factor alpha in frail elderly humans. The FASEB Journal [Internet]. 2001 Sep [cited 2018 Jun 20];15(2):475–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11033992
- Giannopoulou I, Fernhall B, Carhart R, Weinstock RS, Baynard T, Figueroa A, et al. Effects of diet and/or exercise on the adipocytokine and inflammatory cytokine levels of postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental [Internet]. 2005 Jul [cited 2018 Jun 20];54(7):866–75. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15988694
- Vijayaraghava A, Radhika K. Alteration of Interferon Gamma (IFN-gamma) in Human Plasma with Graded Physical Activity. Journal of clinical and diagnostic research : JCDR [Internet]. 2014 Jun [cited 2018 Jun 20];8(6):BC05-7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25120968
- Baker MK, Atlantis E, Fiatarone Singh MA. Multi-modal exercise programs for older adults [Internet]. Vol. 36, Age and Ageing. 2007 [cited 2016 Jul 27]. p. 375–81. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17537741
- 44. Antunes HKM, Santos RF, Cassilhas R, Santos RVT, Bueno OF a., Mello MT De. Exercício físico e função cognitiva: uma revisão. Revista Brasileira de Medicina do Esporte [Internet]. 2006 Apr;12(2):108–14. Available from: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1517-86922006000200011&lng=pt&nrm=iso&tlng=pt
- 45. Lopez P, Pinto RS, Radaelli R, Rech A, Grazioli R, Izquierdo M, et al. Benefits of resistance training in physically frail elderly: a systematic review. Aging Clinical and Experimental Research [Internet]. 2017 Nov 29 [cited 2018 Apr 29];1–11. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29188577
- 46. José A, Dal Corso S. Inpatient rehabilitation improves functional capacity, peripheral muscle strength and quality of life in patients with community-acquired pneumonia: A randomised trial. Journal of Physiotherapy [Internet]. 2016 Apr [cited 2017 Jul 23];62(2):96–102. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26996093
- 47. Andersen LL, Andersen CH, Mortensen OS, Poulsen OM, Bjornlund IBT, Zebis MK. Muscle Activation and Perceived Loading During Rehabilitation Exercises: Comparison of Dumbbells and Elastic Resistance. Physical Therapy [Internet]. 2010 Apr 1 [cited 2018 Jan 31];90(4):538–49. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20133444

- Colado JC, Triplett NT. Effects of a short-term resistance program using elastic bands versus weight machines for sedentary middle-aged women. Journal of strength and conditioning research / National Strength & Conditioning Association [Internet]. 2008 Sep [cited 2017 Jul 23];22(5):1441–8. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=0012427 8-200809000-00009
- 49. Gage JR, Fonarow G, Hamilton M, Widawski M, Martínez-Maza O, Vredevoe DL. Beta blocker and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor therapy is associated with decreased Th1/Th2 cytokine ratios and inflammatory cytokine production in patients with chronic heart failure. NeuroImmunoModulation [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2018 Jun 21];11(3):173–80. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15067208
- 50. Mikus CR, Boyle LJ, Borengasser SJ, Oberlin DJ, Naples SP, Fletcher J, et al. Simvastatin impairs exercise training adaptations. Journal of the American College of Cardiology [Internet]. 2013 Aug 20 [cited 2016 Mar 8];62(8):709–14. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3745788&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract

CHAPTER 13 (STUDY 11):

EFFECTS OF MULTIMODAL AND MUSCLE-STRENGTH CHAIR-EXERCISE PROGRAMMES ON PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING AND SALIVARY STRESS HORMONES IN PRE-FRAIL AND FRAIL OLDER WOMEN

Authors:

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado

Matheus Uba Chupel

Eef Hogervorst

Ana Maria Teixeira

José Pedro Ferreira

Date of last submission for publication: August, 2018.

13.1 Abstract

Background: In recent years, the role of different types of physical exercise programmes in improving the overall factors of global health, such as immune profile, functional fitness status, psychological well-being has been highlighted together with its positive mediation effect on stress hormones. Goals: Thus, the aim of this study was to analyse the effects of 24-weeks of two different exercise protocols on functional fitness and stress hormone levels in institutionalized pre-frail and frail women. Methods: A sample of older frail individuals (n = 59, 81±7.84 years) participated in the study and were divided into three groups: chair-based muscle-strength exercises (MSE, n=18), chair-based multimodal exercise (MME, n =24) and a control non-exercise group (CG_{ne}, n = 17). Both exercise programs consisted of 45 minutes of supervised classes without music, carried out 3 times a week. The multimodal exercise group performed a progressive circuit-training protocol using staticdynamic balance, walking and body height muscle-resistance exercises. The muscle-strength resistance training with elastic-band exercises followed a compound set protocol. The controls did not change their usual lifestyle. The Fried Physical Frailty protocol was used to identify older-frail participants. Data for functional fitness, stress hormones and mucosal immune makers were analysed pre and post- interventions. Results: After interventions, a significant effect of exercise in time versus group for IgA levels (p>0.05) was found. A substantial improvement in psychological well-being and functional fitness in both exercise groups was also found while the controls had a substantial decrease (p > 0.05). Overall, the multimodal exercise group presented better improvements for all variables. Conclusion: Present results clearly evidence a positive effect of exercise in improving individual feeling, preventing a psychological and physical frail status. The slight variation seen in the stress hormones also indicated a beneficial mediation of exercise, with the different types of exercise showing satisfactory results. Further studies involving the same markers should be performed, in order to prove their real adaptation to this makers of the chronic exercise.

Key-words: Older-frail adults, psychological well-being, cortisol, alpha-amylase.

13.2 Introduction

Muscle strength, gait speed, low cardiorespiratory capacity and levels of physical inactivity characterizes a central partner of Physical Frailty (PF), a current concept that designates a frail state in older individuals associated with poor physical-performance (Fried et al. 2001). However, recently studies have revealed that other geriatric outcomes, such as psychological domains have a significant association with PF status (Freitag and Schmidt 2016). The term psychological frailty is relatively new and encompasses cognitive, mood, and motivational components (Andrew, Fisk, and Rockwood 2012). The concept is intended to consider brain changes that occur beyond normal aging, but not necessarily inclusive of disease, that result in decreased cognitive or mood resilience in the presence of modest stressors, and may eventually lead to negative health outcomes in a manner parallel to physical frailty, an entity well known to clinicians (Fitten 2015).

In oldest age, losses of social, mental and physical status are expected to have an intrinsic relationship that is maintained across the life (Clegg and Trust 2011). Levels of negative mood and feelings appear to increase faster in the elderly-frail when compared to non-frail subjects (Lohman, Dumenci, and Mezuk 2016). Stress is often recognized as a latent variable in studies involving older populations and it plays a crucial role in late-life depression (Jeon and Dunkle 2009). Stress is well-defined as a state in which an organism's internal controlling homeostasis is disturbed by real or perceived tasks in its situational demands (Souza-Talarico et al. 2009). It refers to a cognitive-affective response involving appraisal of threat and increased physiological arousal. However, feelings of stress have a proven relationship with other emotional states such as, anxiety, self-esteem and well-being (Steptoe, Deaton, and Stone 2015). Psychosocial and biological stress do not always trigger similar responses, however both have closeness and affect the physical performance (Takai et al. 2004).

Some physiological systems have a close involvement with changes in the biological and psychological stress response (van Stegeren, Wolf, and Kindt 2008). The survival and well-being of all species requires appropriate physiological responses to environmental and homeostatic challenges (Urs Markus Nater et al. 2006). The hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis and the autonomic nervous system (ANS), especially the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) are the systems that provide the most immediate response to stressor exposure (U. M. Nater and Rohleder 2009). Variations in these two systems have been related to several (psycho) pathologies (Urs Markus Nater et al. 2006). The biochemical makers of Alpha-Amylase (α -amylase) and Cortisol (COR) are the biochemical makers involved in the regulation and homeostasis of the both HPA and SNS systems as well as in the regulation of the mucosal immune system (U. M. Nater and Rohleder 2009).

Both α -amylase and COR has been shown can be sensitive in detecting changes related to adaptive responses to stress and can be (non-invasively) detected in saliva (Bosch et al. 2011), It was recently found that the salivary α -amylase/COR ratio could be used as marker to evaluate dysregulations in the stress systems (Ali and Pruessner 2012). In addition, -amylase also play an important role in the immune response, integrating the defence mechanism against pathogens trying to enter through the oral mucosa by preventing their adherence and penetration of the mucosal epithelium (van Stegeren, Wolf, and Kindt 2008).

Exercise in general triggers a series of changes in the body regulated by the ANS (Fu and Levine 2013). Several studies have revealed that α -amylase levels increase under conditions of physical and psychobiological stress (Rashkova et al. 2012). Unlike α -amylase, CORT has been well studied over many years and there are several studies that relate its increased levels to exercise practice, but the results of these evidences may not be generalized, especially because the studies showed diversity in the outcomes and approaches (Corazza et al. 2013). Additionally, little evidence on the chronic exercise-effect studies relating to α -amylase and CORT concentrations in frail-older adults has been found, with most exercise studies focusing in adults or athletes (Schipper, Silletti, and Vingerhoeds 2007).

A few studies aimed at testing the modulatory effect of exercise on stress hormones have reported a simultaneously positive improvement on health psychological outcomes in older subjects experiencing chronic exercise (de Labra et al. 2015). Recent studies have also demonstrated the effectiveness of both aerobic and strength exercise with elastic bands in improving physical fitness, and reversing the physical frailty and improve some psychological correlates of frailty in older adults (Theou et al. 2011). The types of exercise program and the approaches used can establish the level in exercise involvement and the results attained, especially in populations with special needs conditions, as is the case in this study. Thus, the purpose of this study was to analyse the effects of 24-weeks of two different chair-based circuit exercise protocols on changes in psychological well-being, frailty status and biochemical stress markers in institutionalized pre-frail and frail women.

13.3 Methods

13.3.1 Initial procedures and ethics

The legal tutors, directors of social and health care support centres and all subjects, were required to give full statement consent, where the confidentiality was also assured. This research was approved by the Multidisciplinary Research Ethical Committee of the University of Coimbra; comprehending the Portuguese Statement on ethics in human studies and conforming to the guidelines of the Helsinki Declaration (Petrini 2014).
This study consisted of a naturalistic controlled trial chair-exercise based intervention. The first phase included the recruitment and assessment of the participants before interventions. The second phase involved 24-weeks of two types of exercise-based interventions and phase three comprised the final assessment of the participants.

13.3.2 Participants characterisation and recruitment

Participants were institutionalized-dwelling women living in the city of Coimbra, Portugal, that were living in three different SHC with similar characteristics. Participants who were taking medications including aspirin and statins maintained unaltered posology during the study. All participants were provided with similar diets, in terms of caloric intake and nutrients, controlled by a local nutritionist and clinical staff. The diet was preserved unaltered across the intervention time.

13.3.3 Criteria of sample selection

The inclusion conditions for the older participants were: participants had to be aged over 65 years; medication therapy needed to be controlled and updated; if the participant had a clinical condition or severe comorbidity, it had to be stable and enable participation in exercise classes as decided by local medical staff. The exclusion criteria were: withdrawing or not completing the 8-foot-up and go test in the maximum time of 30 seconds, since scores above this value indicate severe physical conditions in institutionalized older adults (Furtado, Patrício, Loureiro, Teixeira, & Ferreira, 2017); involvement in other structured PE program; presence of severe cardiopathy, uncontrolled hypertension or asthmatic bronchitis, musculoskeletal dysfunctions (i.e. osteoarthritis, recent fractures), mental disorder, hearing and vision impairment, morbid obesity or the use of medications that significantly impair attention.

13.3.4 Sample calculation and allocation

The sample size (SS) estimation was performed by comparison of physical fitness outcomes between pre- and post PE intervention (de Labra et al. 2015). For different combinations of power and effect size (ES), the SS was computed with G*Power 3.1.9.2, with paired samples t-Student tests (Faul et al. 2007). The SS was seen to range between 5 and 44. Previous publications have reported high ES for frailty total score, up to 0.5 (large effect). Assuming a minimum power of 0.80 as acceptable and that we may realistically but conservatively expect the ES to be at least 0.3 (medium ES), the SS of the study was 19 per

group. Further assuming a dropout rate of 25 to 35% (Picorelli et al. 2014), the SS increases to 28 per group, to a total of n = 84 participants. To guarantee an initial equal distribution [1:1] and the non-influence of the researchers in the assignment of the groups, participants were allocated into 3 groups: a chair based exercise (CBE) elastic-band muscle strength group (CSE, n=23), a CBE aerobic improved walking group (CAE, n =24) and a control non-exercising group (CG_{ne}, n = 15). The allocation to treatment was randomized according to CONSORT statement extension for controlled trials and was used this study (Des Jarlais, Lyles, and Crepaz 2004).

13.3.5 Masking effect

All the tests were applied by an independent assistant who established contact with the participants without reference to the exercise program. The instructor of the exercise sessions did not take part in the data collection procedures. Precaution was taken to avoid interaction of CEB programs between individuals of the two groups by staggering the classes schedule.

13.3.6 Measurements

All dimensions' measures were done by the same expert technicians in all participants, to diminish differences in data collection procedures. The data quality was done in the pilot study and reported for each physical-functional fitness and anthropometric markers through scores of internal consistency reliability (ICR). In the psychometric rate scales the Cronbach's alpha (C- α) or Cohen's kappa coefficient (*k*) were reported.

13.3.7 General health status

The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) is a method of predicting mortality by classifying or weighting comorbid conditions based on the registry of each individual comorbidity. This score can be combined with age and gender to form a single index. CCI was validated by medical records over one year for each participant. (Charlson et al. 1994). Medication use (MU) was assessed through question number six (6) of the Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) scale, that asks the participants how many prescription drugs they take per day. CCI and MU was validated by medical record over one year for each participant. Medications for all the study participants did not change during the intervention program. The MNA was used to evaluate the nutritional status and comprised 18 questions for a maximal score of 30 points, and classifies older subjects as well-nourished, malnutrition risk, or malnourished (k = .74) (Loureiro 2008).

13.3.8 Biosocial and anthropometric evaluation

Information about chronological age was collected. The standardized procedures described by Lohan and colleagues (Chumlea, W., Baumgartner and Baumgartner 1989) for anthropometric measures were followed. Body mass was determined using a portable scale (Seca®, model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms (IC = .89). Stature was determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter®, model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimetres (IC = .87). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated according the formula [BMI = weight/stature²].

13.3.9 Physical Frailty assessment

Assessment of physical frailty was evaluated according to the five criteria of the Fried frailty phenotype index (Fried et al. 2001). Shrinking was assessed by self-report of unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months, validated by medical records over one year for each participant; Self-reported exhaustion was evaluated by concordance of two questions (7 and 20) of the Center of Epidemiologic Studies for Depression (CES-D) scale (Gonçalves et al. 2014); Weakness, was analyzed using the handgrip strength test, adjusted for gender and BMI (Syddall et al. 2003); Slowness, as measured by the 4.6 meters walking test, adjusted for gender and height (ICR = .80) (Newman et al. 2003); low levels of PA were assessed by the International PA Questionnaire short form (ICR = .78) (Pitanga et al. 2012; Guessous et al. 2014). The prevalence of this criteria was calculated to generate a FS combined score.

13.3.10 Psychological well-being screen

The psychological tests described below were chosen because they had been validated in the Portuguese population and characterize the main psychological domains described in the concept of Psychological frailty as defined previously (Fitten 2015).

i) Cognitive status: The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) was used to assess cognitive state (Cr- α = 0.71) The MMSE assesses five areas of cognitive function: orientation, immediate recall, attention and calculation, delayed recall, and language. The maximum MMSE score is 30 points, and a score below 24 points is considered abnormal and used for dementia and cognitive impairment screening (Macuco et al. 2012).

ii) Mood states: Depression was assessed using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies for Depression (CES-D) scale reflecting major facets of this state (Cr- α = 0.89). The 20-items are given on a four-point Likert scale, with scores between 0 and 60 in which the highest scores correlate with more depressive symptoms for the last week (Gonçalves et al. 2014). The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) assesses the perception of stressful experiences. Seven out of the 14-items are considered negative and seven as positive. Final scores can vary from 14 to 70 points, a higher score indicating greater feelings of stress (Taylor 2015).

iii) Self-perception: The Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale (RSES) analyses global selfworth (Cr- α = 0.85). The sum of all 10-item scores gives results between 10 and 40 points, where higher values represent higher levels of self-esteem (McKay, Boduszek, and Harvey 2014). The General Self-Efficacy Scale (GSES) was used to assess optimistic self-beliefs related to efficacy to cope with a variety of difficult demands in life (Cr- α = 0.75). Responses sum up to a composite score with a range from 10 to 40 points, where higher values represent higher levels of GSES (Edward McAuley et al. 2005). The Attitudes to Aging Questionnaire (AAQ) was used to assess attitudes toward the ageing process as a personal experience from the perspective of older people (Cr- α = 0.67). The AAQ contains 24 items and total scores range from 8 to 40 points. The higher the score the more positive the attitude towards one's own ageing process (Low, Molzahn, and Donald Schopflocher 2013).

iv) Emotional well-being: The Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) measures global cognitive judgments of satisfaction with one's life (Cr- α = 0.89). The 5-item scale results in scores between one to 35 points, with higher values representing higher levels of life's satisfaction (McKay, Boduszek, and Harvey 2014). The Happiness Face Scale (HFS) consisted of a graphical scheme where for each face is assigned one letter, in which the letter A (seven points) is considered the maximum and the letter G, the minimum of one point (Cr- α = 0.78). The participant has to identify with one of the faces, depending on his/her state of happiness (Andrews and Withey 1976).

13.3.11 Stress hormones assessment

Saliva samples to measure salivary COR, IgA, Lys and α -amylase levels, were collected by passive drool always at the same time in the morning (between 10:00h to 11:30h) to minimize circadian effects. Individuals salivated without any orofacial movement into high quality polypropylene vials to avoid problems with analyte retention or the introduction of contaminants that could interfere with the immunoassays. The tubes containing the saliva samples were then frozen (-20°C), until the day of analysis. defrosted and centrifuged in order to obtain a clear sample. Cortisol concentrations were determined by competitive enzyme

linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) [Salimetrics, USA], according to the manufacturer instructions (Miller et al. 2013). Alpha-amylase activity was determined by enzyme kinetic enzymatic assay (Salimetrics, USA) according to the manufacturer instructions. The reference values (RV) and serum saliva-correlation (r) for salivary CORT (RV = <0.007 ug/dL, r = .91) and α -amylase (RV = 0.4 U/mL, r =.86) were reported by the manufacturer, in terms of sensitivity and their respective correlation with serum samples.

13.3.12 Characterization of chair-exercise protocols and adherence

The CBE programmes were conducted by exercise specialists, and consisted of structured and progressive exercises performed with a chair for support guarantying the individual's security and stability during the session, respecting individual limitations without discouraging individuals to reach beyond their limits (Anthony et al. 2013) Additionally, both CME and CSE respected the guidelines of integrated exercise periodization and ACSM guides of prescription exercise for non-active older adults (Strohacker et al. 2015; Nelson et al. 2007). The two types of CBE programs were offered for 28-weeks, with two-three sessions per week on nonconsecutive days (separated by at least 48 hours). The percentage of exercise frequency was calculated individually through the total sum of participation and entries were recorded in a checklist. When a participant had two consecutive absences, she was contacted to return to the group classes. An adherence to the exercise program between of 65% - 75% (Picorelli et al. 2014), was established as minimum for each participant to be included in the study results analysis.

13.3.13 Chair multimodal exercises (CME)

In order to establish a progressive endurance training program aimed to improve the walking capability, specific exercises were performed with a determined number of exercises (7-10), repetitions (6-10), sets (2-3), cadence of execution (1:2) and rest between sets (45-60 seconds), following a circuit training protocol. Intensity was indirectly calculated using the Karvonen's formula to predict target heart rate (HR), with HR_{max} being calculated using a specific formula for older population [HR_{max}= 207 (beats per minute, bpm) - 0.7 x chronological age] (Guderian, Johnson, and Mathiowetz 2013) and was monitored using heart rate monitors (Polar, RCX5®) randomly distributed among participants. A low to moderate intensity effort around 50-75% of maximum heart rate zone (HRz_{max}) values was attained as recommended by the ACSM (Nelson et al. 2007). Additionally, intensity was measured through the modified BORG scale of perceived exertion (PSE), that consists of an arbitrary scale ranging from 0 to 10 points, with identical intervals and with reference to the quality of effort: (0) nothing at all;

(1) very weak; (2) weak; (3) moderate; (4) somewhat strong; (5-6) strong; (7-9) very strong; (10) very, very strong (almost maximal). Each session was divided into three parts: 10 minutes of warm-up and body mobilization (PSE = 1-3, HRz_{max} = 50-55%); 40 minutes of elastic-band exercises (PSE 3-4, HRz_{max} = 56-70%) and finally 10 minutes of stretching exercises targeted to encourage cool-down (PSE 1-2, HRz_{max} = 45-50%).

13.3.14 Chair elastic-band muscle-strength exercises (CSE)

To create progressive strength training, specific exercises were performed with a determined number of exercises (4-8), sets (2-3), repetitions (12-15), cadence of execution (2:2) and rest between sets (30-45 seconds), following a circuit training protocol. The first three levels of the Thera Band system (Thera Band[®], Akron, Ohio, US) were used. Intensity was measured through the OMINI PSE, that consists of an arbitrary scale ranging from 0 to 10 points, with identical intervals and with reference to the quality of effort: (0) extremely easy; (1-2) easy; (3-5) somewhat easy, (6-7) somewhat-hard; (8) hard; (9-10) extremely-hard (Robertson et al. 2003). The goal was to keep the intensity of the exercise activities between 1 to 6 in PES levels. It was expected that the relationship with the real effort would be 55-80% of maximum heart-rate (Garber et al. 2011). For safety reasons, the participants of CSE were using heart rate monitors. The session was divided into three parts: 10 minutes of warm-up exercises for general body mobilization (PSE 1 to 3, $HRz_{max} = 45-55\%$), 40 minutes of strength elastic-band exercises in PSE 4 to 7 (HRz_{max} = 56-75%) and finally, 10 minutes of cool-down stage, through easy-walking and static flexibility exercises for 'breath' control, PSE 1 to 2 (HRz_{max} = 45-550%). During 24-weeks the CG_{ne} did not participate in any exercise protocols intervention. The participants were encouraged to maintain their usual life style, within the monthly agenda of the CSHS which comprised several sociocultural activities and external tours.

13.3.15 Data analysis

Descriptive data were presented as mean (and standard deviations) or frequencies. In the baseline scores, comparisons between groups were analysed by one-way ANOVA. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to analyse the effect of time and time by group interactions on the frailty total score, functional fitness, psychological well-being and stress hormone changes over time, followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* tests, reporting the confidence interval (CI95%) for the statistically significant results. The percent of change after the interventions was calculated ([post value/pre value]-1). The magnitude of the global effect size (ES) was calculated by exercise-modulation treatment. For continuous variables, ES were computed using Cohen's (*d*). The effect size was considered trivial ($d \le .20$), small (.21 < d < .50), moderate (.51 < d < .79) and large (d > .80) (Batterham and Hopkins 2006). The IBM SPSS Statistics package 24.0 for all statistical procedures were used. The level of significance adopted was p-value = .05.

13.4 Results

Characteristics of experimental and control groups at baseline are presented in Table 13.1. The analysis of statistical comparisons shows that no significant differences between the three groups were found (p>0.05). In terms of adherence, the CSE participants attended an average of 58 sessions (78% of attendance), out of 74 sessions offered in total. In the CME, the participants had 72% of adherence, corresponding to 54 sessions attended. From the 119 potential participants initially recruited, a total of 29% were excluded for not meeting inclusion criteria and declining to participate in the study spontaneously. In the follow-up phase, 4 participants of CME, 2 of CSE and 12 of CG_{ne} withdrew their willingness to participate before or immediately after the beginning of the study for various personal reasons. A total of 3 dropouts were registered during the intervention period because of low exercise engagement, injuries (not related to the exercise program) or adverse responses to the intervention. In total, 57 older women participants were examined at completion of the 24 weeks' study. No differences regarding any variables of sample characteristics were found among the 2 exercise and controls groups who completed the trials (p > 0.05).

	Total sample (n=57)	Chair multimodal exercises (n=24)	Chair muscle strength exercises (n=18)	Control group non- exercise (n=15)		
	M±SD	M±SD	M±SD	M±SD		
Chronological age (years)	83.93 ±10.10	79.92±7.83	81.15±4.89	80.93 ±10.10		
Stature (centimeters)	151.47±0.30	152.13±0.06	153.89±0.51	152.67±0.08		
Body mass (Kilograms)	66.01±13.91	63.44±9.82	65.03±16.80	64.99±14.89		
Body mass index (kg·m ⁻²)	28.04±6.84	26.98±3.97	27.03±8.67	27.45±6.06		
Charlson comorbidity index	8.05±2.53	7.58±3.97	7.65±1.93	7.67±2.53		
Medication use, per day (unit)	6.75±2.34	7.05±1.98	6.95±3.05	6.30±0.95		
Mini nutritional assessment	25.03±2.60	23.33±2.68	24.58±2.37	24.37±2.83		
Physical Frailty index	2.02±1.32	2.35±1.42	2.38±1.72	2.37±1.19		

 Table 13.1 Characteristics of total sample, exercise and control groups at baseline.

Notes: ** p≤0.01; * p≤0.05; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation). The p-values correspond to comparisons between the three groups and were computed with one-way ANOVA one-way or Kruskal-Wallis

The baseline comparisons show that no significant differences exist in the salivary hormones and physical fitness variables before to start the interventions (p > 0.05). Table 13.2 shows the salivary stress hormones biomarkers changes after the 24 weeks' intervention programs. No effect of time or time versus group was observed in the COR levels, however, a moderate ES in the CME group (ES = 0.51, Δ % = +104%) and a large increased in the controls (ES = 1.13, Δ % = +102%) were observed. Significant value of time treatment was observed in salivary α -amylase [F(1.53) = 0.48; (p<0.01)] with a trend to significant differences in the time versus group [F(2.53) = 0.25; (p=0.052)].

 Table 13.2 Salivary stress hormones and functional fitness comparisons between pre- and post- intervention and control group (non-exercise) after 24-weeks.

Baseline	24 weeks	Interaction	F	p	Cohens' d	Practical	Δ%
M±SD	M±SD	effects	test	value	effect size	relevance	
0.21±0.11	0.44±0.65	T	0.44	0.4.47	0.51	moderate	+104
0.22±0.13	0.20±0.14	Time	9.11	0.147	0.14	small	+5
0.23±0.14	0.46±0.25	TxG	1.60	0.057	1.13	large	+102
68.06±126.34	57.28±71.08	-	0.40		0.10	small	-16
43.57±86.35	50.54±100.13	lime	0.48	0.009	0.07	trivial	+16
38.65±29.17	51.7±70.57	TxG	1.43	0.052	0.48	small	+33
	Baseline M±SD 0.21±0.11 0.22±0.13 0.23±0.14 68.06±126.34 43.57±86.35 38.65±29.17	Baseline 24 weeks M±SD M±SD 0.21±0.11 0.44±0.65 0.22±0.13 0.20±0.14 0.23±0.14 0.46±0.25 68.06±126.34 57.28±71.08 43.57±86.35 50.54±100.13 38.65±29.17 51.7±70.57	Baseline 24 weeks Interaction M±SD M±SD effects 0.21±0.11 0.44±0.65 Time 0.22±0.13 0.20±0.14 TxG 0.23±0.14 0.46±0.25 Time 68.06±126.34 57.28±71.08 Time 43.57±86.35 50.54±100.13 TxG 38.65±29.17 51.7±70.57 TxG	Baseline 24 weeks Interaction F M±SD M±SD effects test 0.21±0.11 0.44±0.65 Time 9.11 0.22±0.13 0.20±0.14 TxG 1.60 0.23±0.14 0.46±0.25 Time 9.11 68.06±126.34 57.28±71.08 Time 0.48 43.57±86.35 50.54±100.13 TxG 1.43 38.65±29.17 51.7±70.57 TxG 1.43	Baseline 24 weeks Interaction F p M±SD M±SD effects test value 0.21±0.11 0.44±0.65 Time 9.11 0.147 0.22±0.13 0.20±0.14 TxG 1.60 0.057 0.23±0.14 0.46±0.25 Time 9.11 0.147 68.06±126.34 57.28±71.08 Time 0.48 0.009 43.57±86.35 50.54±100.13 TxG 1.43 0.052 38.65±29.17 51.7±70.57 TxG 1.43 0.052	Baseline24 weeksInteraction F ρ Cohens' dM±SDM±SDeffectstestvalueeffect size0.21±0.110.44±0.65Time9.110.1470.510.22±0.130.20±0.14Time9.110.1470.140.23±0.140.46±0.25Time0.0571.1368.06±126.3457.28±71.080.0480.0090.0743.57±86.3550.54±100.13TxG1.430.05238.65±29.1751.7±70.570.480.052	Baseline 24 weeks Interaction F p Cohens' d Practical M±SD M±SD effects test value effect size relevance 0.21±0.11 0.44±0.65 Time 9.11 0.147 0.51 moderate 0.22±0.13 0.20±0.14 Time 9.11 0.147 0.14 small 0.23±0.14 0.46±0.25 Time 1.60 0.057 0.14 small 68.06±126.34 57.28±71.08 Time 0.48 0.009 0.10 small 43.57±86.35 50.54±100.13 Time 1.43 0.052 0.48 small 38.65±29.17 51.7±70.57 TxG 1.43 0.052 0.48 small

Notes: Cohens' d = trivial ($d \le .20$), small (.21 < d < .50), moderate (.51 < d < .79) and large (d > .80) effect size; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation); Delta change percentage; The p-values correspond to comparisons between the two groups and were computed by repeated measure's ANOVA for within comparisons, following Bonferroni *post-hoc* test; CME = Chair multimodal exercises; CSE = Chair Elastic-band muscle strength exercises; CGne = Control group non-exercise

Table 13.3 shows the results for the functional fitness tests. The baseline comparisons show that no significant differences exist in the physical fitness variables before the start the intervention (p > 0.05). Statistical differences in the time versus groups after intervention [F(2.53) = 0.25; (p=0.000)] in the HGT test was found. Bonferroni corrections applied *post hoc* indicating a statistical significant small increase in the CME (ES = 0.30, Δ % = +16%; p<0.01, CI:95% = -5.10 to -1.38), a large addition in the CSE (ES = 0.90, Δ % = +24%; p<0.01, CI:95% = 1.39 to 5.01) and a moderate decreased in the GC*ne* (ES = 0.69, Δ % = -22%; p<0.01, CI:95% = 1.38 to 6.08). Significant effect of time in the 4.6 walking test was found [F(1.53) = 12.96; p = 0.001)]. *Post hoc* tests indicated that significant moderate decrease on time of execution in the CME (ES = 0.62, Δ % = -23%; p<0.01, CI:95% = 0.228 to 4.75) and CSE (ES = 0.69, Δ % = -22%; p<0.01, CI:95% = 0.228 to 4.75) and CSE (ES = 0.69, Δ % = -22%; p<0.01, CI:95% = 0.228 to 4.75) and CSE (ES = 0.69, Δ % = -22%; p<0.01, CI:95% = 0.228 to 4.75) and CSE (ES = 0.69, Δ % = -22%; p<0.01, CI:95% = 2.09 to -0.22) was found.

Physical Fitness	Baseline	24 weeks	Interaction	Interaction F		Cohens' d	Practical	Δ%
	M±SD	M±SD	effects	test	value	effect size	relevance	
Hand grip strength test								
CME	19.91±11.18	23.12±10.47	Timo	2.06	0.001	0.30	small	+16
CSE	14.30 ±5.12	18.50±2.28	Time	2.96	0.091	0.90	large	+24
CGne	17.75±7.45	13.20±4.45	TXG	13.82	0.000	0.69	moderate	-22
4,6 meters walking test								
CME	12.63±4.81	10.13±3.04		10.00	0.004	0.62	moderate	-23
CSE	17.52v8.31	13.05±4.43	Time	12.96	0.001	0.67	moderate	-25
CGne	16.17±7.86	15.24±5.21	TXG	1.99	0.070	0.13	small	-9

Table 13.3 Functional fitness comparisons between pre- and post- exercise and control group after 24-weeks.

Notes: Cohens' d = trivial ($d \le .20$), small (.21 < d < .50), moderate (.51 < d < .79) and large (d > .80) effect size; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation); Delta change percentage; The p-values correspond to comparisons between the two groups and were computed by repeated measure's ANOVA for within comparisons, following Bonferroni *post-hoc* test; CME = Chair multimodal exercises; CSE = Chair Elastic-band muscle strength exercises; CGne = Control group non-exercise

Table 13.4 presents the results of psychological well-being (PwB) dimensions before and after the intervention programs. The baseline comparisons show that significant differences exist in the PwB variables before the start the interventions for MMSE (CME to CSE group), CES-D (CG*ne* to both exercise intervention groups); RSES (CG*ne* to both exercise intervention groups) and SWLS (MME to CSE group (p > 0.05). After de intervention program, statistical differences in the time versus group treatment was found for MMSE (F(2. 56)=5.42; p=0.007) and Bonferroni corrections applied *post hoc* indicating a small increase in the CME (ES = 0.48, Δ % = +16%; p<0.01) and moderate decreased for GC*ne* (ES = 0.58, Δ % = -14%; p<0.01), with the CME group also presenting a small increase (ES = 0.47, Δ % = +18%). There was an effect of time versus group interaction in CES-D changes (F(2. 56)=6.452; p=0.003) with the *Post hoc* test showing a statistical significant large decrease in the CME group (ES = 1.16, Δ % = -14%; p<0.01; CI:95% = 4.97 to 13.92).

Statistical differences in the time versus group treatment was found for GSES (F(2. 56)=5.42; p=0.007). *Post hoc test* showed a statistical significant large increase in the CME group (ES = 0.87, $\Delta\%$ = +14%; p<0.005), and the CSE presented a trend for statistical differences with moderate effect (ES = 0.62, $\Delta\%$ = +10%; p<0.060). The GC_{ne} presented a moderate decrease (ES = 0.55, $\Delta\%$ = -9%). There was significant statically differences in the time versus group (F(2.56)=12.08; p=0.000) for the GSES. After intervention program, post analysis showed a statistical large increase in CME (ES = 0.86, $\Delta\%$ = +14%, p = 0.001; CI:95% = -6.12 to -1-71), moderate increase in the CSE (ES = 0.76, $\Delta\%$ = -9%, p = 0.006; CI:95% = -5.86 to -1.04) while a moderate decrease in the controls occurred (ES = 0.57 $\Delta\%$ = -15%; p = 0.004; CI:95% = 1.41 to 6.98).

 Table 13.4 Psychological well-being comparisons between pre- and post- intervention and control group (nonexercise) after 24-weeks.

						Cohens'		
Psychological well-being	Baseline M±SD	24 weeks M±SD	Interaction	F	р	d	Practical	A 0/
			effects	test	value	effect	relevance	Δ/0
						size		
Mini-mental state examination								
CME	21.42±5.09	23.12±4.62	Time	0.58 5.41	0.448 0.007	0.47	small	+8
CSE	16.95±5.33	19.70±20.70	TyG			0.48	small	+16
CGne	21.0±05.50	18.13±4.32	170			0.58	moderate	-14
State of depression scale								
CME	43.42±9.21	41.00±8.06	Time	3.23	0.077	0.27	small	-6
CSE	42.35±9.31	33.20±8.53			0.077	1.16	large	-22
CGne	33.20±8.44	37.13±5.97	IXG	0.03	0.003	0.15	small	+12
Perceived stress scale								
CME	28.54v8.01	24.54±6.03	Time	1.32	0.023 0.107	0.51	moderate	-14
CSE	25.19±6.12	24.95±5.51	Time			0.04	trivial	-1
CGne	28.73±5.83	29.87±7.06	TXG	3.34		0.17	small	+4
Global self-esteem scale								
CME	20.83±2.82	23.79±4.01	-	2.05 5.22	0.157 0.008	0.85	large	+14
CSE	20.75±2.85	22.85±4.75	Time			0.62	moderate	+10
CGne	24.40±4.45	22.20±3.07	TXG			0.55	moderate	-9
General self-efficacy scale								
CME	28.42±4.75	32.33±4.25	T :	2.18 12.08	0.145 0.000	0.86	large	+14
CSE	28.35±5.01	31.81±4.65	Time			0.59	moderate	+12
CGne	28.52±5.77	24.67±7.98	TXG			0.62	moderate	-15
Attitudes to aging questionnaire								
CME	28.46±4.63	31.43±3.96	T :	1.83 7.91	0.381 0.001	0.68	moderate	+10
CSE	26.65±4.66	29.85±3.66	Time TxG			0.76	moderate	+12
CGne	25.21±6.52	21.87±5.08				0.57	moderate	+13
Satisfaction with life scale								
CME	24.96±5.97	26.63±6.14	-	0.37 7.83	0.541 0.001	0.27	small	+9
CSE	19.40±5.77	22.35±7.12	Time TxG			0.45	small	+15
CGne	21.93±6.18	18.13±3.58				0.59	moderate	-17
Happiness face scale								
CME	2.81±1.29	3.33±1.09	T :	0.07	0.400	0.43	small	+19
CSE	3.03±1.30	3.48±1.04	THE	2.67	0.108	0.38	small	+15
CGne	3.27±1.94	3.20±1.15	IXG	0.97	0.409	0.04	trivial	-17

Notes: Cohens' d = trivial ($d \le .20$), small (.21 < d < .50), moderate (.51 < d < .79) and large (d > .80) effect size; M(SD) = mean (standard deviation); Delta change percentage; The p-values correspond to comparisons between the two groups and were computed by repeated measure's ANOVA for within comparisons, following Bonferroni *post-hoc* test; CME = Chair multimodal exercises; CSE = Chair Elastic-band muscle strength exercises; CG*ne* = Control group non-exercise; TxG = time versus group

In the AAQ, statistical variations in time versus group were found (F(2. 56)=5.42; p=0.007). Post hoc test showed significant and moderate increases in the CME (ES = 0.68 Δ % = 10%; p = 0.010; CI:95% = -5.17 to -0.74) and CSE (ES = 0.76; Δ % = 12%; p = 0.009; CI:95% = -5.73 to -0.87), while GC_{ne} showed a moderate decrease (ES = 0.57 Δ % = -15%; p = 0.004; CI:95% = 0.53 to 6.14). In the SWLS, significant statistical changes in time versus group was found (F(2. 56)=7.83; p=0.001). Post hoc test showed a significant and small increase in the CSE (ES = 0.27; Δ % = 9%; p = 0.017; CI:95% = -5.36 to -0.53), and CSE showed a not significant but small increase (ES = 0.45; Δ % = 15%), while GC_{ne} showed a moderate decrease (ES = 0.57 Δ % = -17%; p = 0.008; CI:95% = 1.01 to 6.58). No significant time and time versus treatment was observed for HFS, however, Both CME and CSE presented a small increase (ES = 0.43; Δ % = 19% and ES = 0.45; Δ % = 15%, respectively).

Additionally, the final values of exercise engagement and adherence were also registered. The final scores of minimum, maximum and mean of HR achieved at the end by the CME reported were 65.75 (\pm 9.96), 97.56 (\pm 12.40) and 77.27 (\pm 8.21) bpm, respectively. This corresponded to 57% to 70% of the predicted HRz_{max}. The final mean of PES ranged from moderate (3.14 \pm 0.98) to somewhat strong (4.92 \pm 1.01). For the CSE group, the same HR scores achieved at the end were 69.08 (\pm 14.77), 96.24 (\pm 14.13) and 84.48 (\pm 11.52) bpm respectively. This corresponded to 48% to 74% of the predicted HR_{max}. The final mean of PES oscillated from somewhat easy (3.98 \pm 1.99) to somewhat strong (6,02 \pm 2.22), according to the participants self-perception.

13.5 Discussion

In this study, the goals were to assess the impact of two different structured exercise programs of CSE and CME in older frail women on biochemical markers related to stress as well as to verify simultaneously changes in psychological well-being and functional fitness. The assumption was that including regular exercise as a co-adjuvant treatment would be important for positive modulation of salivary stress hormones, since this population suffers, more prominently age-effects (e.g. biological stress and psychological stress), which tend to affect mental health and psychological well-being. The main results of this study were that both CBE programs increased functional fitness, and promoted important changes in the PwB state in institutionalized older frail women after 24 weeks of systematic exercise. Despite participants of the two different exercise program registering a similar adherence and intensity of effort, CSE and CME programs induced a different response for some of the analysed variables.

13.5.1 Salivary stress hormones

Despite the variations was found in the salivary α -amylase and COR levels, we should be cautious when taking conclusions, since these two hormones may be influenced by external factors, such as psychological stress, medication use or even by the acute response to physical exertion (Maruyama et al. 2012). Another question would be the small number of studies that looked at the chronic response of these markers in frail and pre-frail older individuals. Alpha-amylase was recently identified as a potential marker of sympathetic activity while salivary cortisol seems to be a valid measure for the HPA axis activity and also, related to the biological stress response (Papacosta and Nassis 2011). Alpha-amylase is an enzyme that breaks down starch into maltose and can be important to host defence by inhibiting the adherence and growth of certain bacteria (Maruyama et al. 2012). In this study there was a substantial decline in α -amylase values in the CME and increase in CSE and controls. Some studies involving analysis of the sAA reveal considerable variation in the activity of this enzyme across populations (Mandel et al., 2010). The patterns of between population differences have been linked to the number of AMY1 copies, which is seen as an adaptive response to the intake of dietary starch (Perry et al., 2006). It can also reflect a decrease in mucosal immunity since α -amylase is also used as a first barrier to bacterial colonization in the mouth. At the same time, a small increase of the salivary COR levels in both exercise groups and a large increase in the controls were found in our study. Although this evidence explains a variation of these hormones, in our study it seems much more clear that this variation may be associated to the different intensities promoted by the different exercise programmes. While CSE promotes intermittent stimuli, CME participants underwent a more continuous effort with very short rest intervals, and the subsequent adaptation-response to the effort may have influenced the results of both markers.

This result was expected, since exercise has been shown to increase adrenal glands volume and cortisol secretion (Papacosta and Nassis 2011). Based on the assumption that the older-frail population has a usually sedentary lifestyle and suffer side effects from polypharmacy use, this small and no pathological increase of cortisol levels over time may be beneficial, since it may be associated with a small increase in autonomy for the motor activities of everyday life. However, the large increase found in the control group in the both stress hormones may reflect a response to increased biological (ex: inflammaging) and psychological stress (Ali and Pruessner 2012).

13.5.2 Psychological well-being

In the last decades health professionals have been increasingly interested in the potential of exercise to prevent and treat mental health disorders and to improve the levels of psychological well-being of the older population (Windle et al. 2010). In this study, the results show that regular exercise improved or maintained satisfactory PwB across the time-intervention. However, it is important to note that the slight decline in the subjective perception of PwB in the control group is equally important as the findings described above. Within the exercising groups, other factors may have been responsible for this improvement, such as the benefits of regular exercise in increasing social interaction that may reflect positively on dimensions such as attitudes, subjective happiness and depressive state. (Ko and Lee 2012)

In this study, older-frail participants exposed to exercise, especially in the CME group, showed a substantial increase in their levels of functional fitness (gait speed and grip strength test), contributing positively, according to classical theories of the physical self-perception, in the improvement of general self-efficacy, exercise efficacy and physical and global self-esteem (Opdenacker, Delecluse, and Boen 2009). Positive effects of exercise participation have been reported suggesting increases on older adult's self-efficacy that might improve more positive perceptions of well-being and effectively enhancing mood states⁻ (Edward McAuley et al. 2006). Recently, a longitudinal descriptive study suggested that CME exercise programs may be effective in preventing psychological declines, such as depression, anxiety, cognitive decline and other psychological events (50,51), associated with improvements on strength and cardiorespiratory fitness, even in the populations over 60 years of age (9,51).

Recent studies showed a positive correlation between high levels of physical activity or participation in regular exercise programs and the satisfaction with life domain (18). These studies, as well as ours, support the hypothesis that increased proficiency on motor tasks via structured exercise, even in women over 75 years of age, can contribute to improvements in their subjective well-being (14). Unlike other studies, our results revealed changes in the subjective perception of psychological stress, which satisfactory reduction of PSS in the CME group that could be related to increased social interaction and improved well-being perception associated with the physiological effects of exercise.

Systematic reviews have examined the sizable empirical literature testing the effect of multimodal interventions on subjects with cognitive impairments (9). Unlike others studies, the participants of CSE program, but not CME presented improvement in their cognitive status. Recently, there is a growing body of evidence indicating the positive impact of exercise on individuals with cognitive impairment, one particular facet of mental health. The MMSE is an instrument that verifies the proficiency of the elderly in performing tasks that require the executive function (Okun et al., 2006). The executive functions require higher level cognitive processes associated with the frontal lobe of the brain that control and coordinate more fundamental processes in the effortful pursuit of goals (Atlantis et al., 2004). Several studies investigated the effects of exercise programs on older adults and found improvements for both older men and women on executive function tasks has also been shown associated to prospectively low levels of physical activity in all components of physical fitness (Okun et al., 2006). The other factor that can contributed to the results is the attenuation of subjective perception of depressive state and psychosocial stress.

The hypothetical conclusions that associate the variation effects of the stress hormones involved in this study with the effects that were found in PwB are somewhat limited, since there was no response considered linear in these markers. However, the assumption mentioned above, that the cyclical increase of stress hormones at levels not harmful to health can bring psychological benefits seems promising, since these hormones can act as starting signals to the use of glucose in the physical and brain activities, which to a certain extent can bring benefits for mental well-being.

13.6 Conclusion

In summary, our results clearly evidence a positive effect of exercise on improving individual feelings of psychological well-being and functional fitness. Interpreting the slight variation of the hormones as beneficial, we can see that although to a different extent, both types of exercise have shown satisfactory results. These however, should be interpreted carefully due to the small sample size. Further studies involving the same hormonal markers should be performed, in order to prove that they represent a real adaptation to chronic exercise (ex: biological stress caused by the exercise), and their relationship with the variation in the psychological well-being and mental health found.

13.7 References

- Akimoto, T, Y Kumai, T Akama, E Hayashi, H Murakami, R Soma, S Kuno, and I Kono. 2003.
 "Effects of 12 Months of Exercise Training on Salivary Secretory IgA Levels in Elderly Subjects." *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 37 (1): 76–79. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1724582&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.
- Ali, Nida, and Jens C Pruessner. 2012. "The Salivary Alpha Amylase over Cortisol Ratio as a Marker to Assess Dysregulations of the Stress Systems." *Physiology and Behavior* 106 (1): 65–72. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.10.003.
- Allgrove, Judith E, Elisa Gomes, John Hough, and Michael Gleeson. 2008. "Effects of Exercise Intensity on Salivary Antimicrobial Proteins and Markers of Stress in Active Men." *Journal of Sports Sciences* 26 (6): 653–61. doi:10.1080/02640410701716790.
- Andrew, Melissa K., John D. Fisk, and Kenneth Rockwood. 2012. "Psychological Well-Being in Relation to Frailty: A Frailty Identity Crisis?" *International Psychogeriatrics* 24 (8). Cambridge University Press: 1347–53. doi:10.1017/S1041610212000269.
- Andrews, F, and S Withey. 1976. *Social Indicators of Well Being*. Boston, MA: Springer US. doi:10.1007/978-1-4684-2253-5.
- Anthony, Kevin, Katie Robinson, Philippa Logan, Adam L. Gordon, Rowan H. Harwood, and Tahir Masud. 2013. "Chair-Based Exercises for Frail Older People: A Systematic Review." *BioMed Research International* 2013. doi:10.1155/2013/309506.
- Atlantis, Evan, Chin-Moi Chow, Adrienne Kirby, and Maria Fiatarone Singh. 2004. "An Effective Exercise-Based Intervention for Improving Mental Health and Quality of Life Measures: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *Preventive Medicine* 39 (2): 424–34. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.02.007.
- Batterham, Alan M, and William G Hopkins. 2006. "About Magnitudes." *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance* 1 (1): 50–57. https://books.google.com/books?hl=pt-PT&Ir=&id=gkalyqTMXNEC&pgis=1.
- Bosch, Jos A, Enno C I Veerman, Eco J de Geus, and Gordon B Proctor. 2011. "α-Amylase as a Reliable and Convenient Measure of Sympathetic Activity: Don't Start Salivating Just Yet!" *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36 (4): 449–53. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.12.019.
- Charlson, M, T P Szatrowski, J Peterson, and J Gold. 1994. "Validation of a Combined Comorbidity Index." *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 47 (11): 1245–51. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560.

- Chumlea, W., Baumgartner, N, and N Baumgartner. 1989. "Status of Anthropometry in Elderly Subjects3 w Composition Data." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 50 (1158– 1166).
- Clegg, Andrew, and Dunhill Medical Trust. 2011. "CME Geriatric Medicine The Frailty Syndrome" 11 (1): 72–75.
- Compté, Nathalie, Karim Zouaoui Boudjeltia, Michel Vanhaeverbeek, Sandra De Breucker, Joel Tassignon, Anne Trelcat, Thierry Pepersack, and Stanislas Goriely. 2013. "Frailty in Old Age Is Associated with Decreased Interleukin-12/23 Production in Response to Toll-Like Receptor Ligation." Edited by Patricia Fitzgerald-Bocarsly. *PLoS ONE* 8 (6). Public Library of Science: e65325. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065325.
- Corazza, Danilla Icassatti, Émerson Sebastião, Renata Valle Pedroso, Carla Andreza Almeida Andreatto, Flavia Gomes de Melo Coelho, Sebastião Gobbi, Elizabeth Teodorov, and Ruth Ferreira Santos-Galduróz. 2013. "Influence of Chronic Exercise on Serum Cortisol Levels in Older Adults." *European Review of Aging and Physical Activity* 11 (1): 25–44. doi:10.1007/s11556-013-0126-8.
- Elavsky, Steriani, Edward McAuley, Robert W Motl, James F Konopack, David X Marquez, Liang Hu, Gerald J Jerome, and Ed Diener. 2005. "Physical Activity Enhances Long-Term Quality of Life in Older Adults: Efficacy, Esteem, and Affective Influences." Annals of Behavioral Medicine 30 (2): 138–45. doi:10.1207/s15324796abm3002_6.
- Faul, Franz, Edgar Erdfelder, Albert-Georg Lang, and Axel Buchner. 2007. "G*Power 3: A Flexible Statistical Power Analysis Program for the Social, Behavioral, and Biomedical Sciences." *Behavior Research Methods* 39 (2): 175–91. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17695343.
- Ferreira, José Pedro L, and Kenneth R Fox. 2008. "Players With and Without Disability: A Preliminary Analysis Using." *European Journal of Adapted Physical Activity* 1 (1): 35–49.
- Fisher, K. J., Li, F. 2004. "A Community-Based Walking Trial to Improve Neighbourhood Quality of Life in Older Adults: A Multilevel Analysis." *Journals of Behaviour Medicine* 28 (3): 186–94.
- Fitten, L. Jaime. 2015. "Psychological Frailty in the Aging Patient." *Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series* 83: 45–53. doi:10.1159/000382060.

- Freitag, Simone, and Silke Schmidt. 2016. "Psychosocial Correlates of Frailty in Older Adults." *Geriatrics* 1 (4). Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute: 26. doi:10.3390/geriatrics1040026.
- Fried, L P, C M Tangen, J Walston, a B Newman, C Hirsch, J Gottdiener, T Seeman, et al.
 2001. "Frailty in Older Adults: Evidence for a Phenotype." *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 56 (3): M146-56. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156.
- Fu, Qi, and Benjamin D. Levine. 2013. "Exercise and the Autonomic Nervous System." Handbook of Clinical Neurology 117: 147–60. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-53491-0.00013-4.
- Furtado, Guilherme, Miguel Patrício, Marisa Loureiro, A.M. Ana Maria Teixeira, and J.P. José
 Pedro Ferreira. 2017. "Physical Fitness and Frailty Syndrome in Institutionalized Older
 Women." *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 124 (4): 003151251770991.
 doi:10.1177/0031512517709915.
- Garber, Carol Ewing, Bryan Blissmer, Michael R Deschenes, Barry A Franklin, Michael J Lamonte, I-Min Lee, David C Nieman, and David P Swain. 2011. "American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand. Quantity and Quality of Exercise for Developing and Maintaining Cardiorespiratory, Musculoskeletal, and Neuromotor Fitness in Apparently Healthy Adults: Guidance for Prescribing Exercise." *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 43 (7): 1334–59. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb.
- Gonçalves, Bruno, Teresa Fagulha, Ana Ferreira, and Natália Reis. 2014. "Depressive Symptoms and Pain Complaints as Predictors of Later Development of Depression in Portuguese Middle-Aged Women." *Health Care for Women International* 35 (11–12): 1228–44. doi:10.1080/07399332.2013.862795.
- Gothe, Neha P, Sean P Mullen, Thomas R Wójcicki, Emily L Mailey, Siobhan M White, Erin A Olson, Amanda N Szabo, Arthur F Kramer, and Edward McAuley. 2011. "Trajectories of Change in Self-Esteem in Older Adults: Exercise Intervention Effects." *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 34 (4): 298–306. doi:10.1007/s10865-010-9312-6.
- Guderian, Bryan, Ashley Johnson, and Virgil Mathiowetz. 2013. "Impact of Exercise Frequency on Hand Strength of the Elderly." *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics* 31 (3): 268–79.

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=rzh&AN=2012228225&site=eh ost-live.

- Guessous, Idris, Jean Christophe Luthi, Christopher Barrett Bowling, Jean Marc Theler, Fred Paccaud, Jean Michel Gaspoz, and William McClellan. 2014. "Prevalence of Frailty Indicators and Association with Socioeconomic Status in Middle-Aged and Older Adults in a Swiss Region with Universal Health Insurance Coverage: A Population-Based Cross-Sectional Study." *Journal of Aging Research* 2014: 8. doi:10.1155/2014/198603.
- Hu, Liang, Edward Mcauley, and Steriani Elavsky. 2005. "Does the Physical Self-Effi Cacy Scale Assess Self-Effi Cacy or Self-Esteem ?," 152–70.
- Hülya Asçi, F., Robert C. Eklund, James R. Whitehead, Sadettin Kirazci, and Canan Koca.
 2005. "Use of the CY-PSPP in Other Cultures: A Preliminary Investigation of Its Factorial Validity for Turkish Children and Youth." *Psychology of Sport and Exercise* 6 (1): 33–50. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2003.10.003.
- Jarlais, Don C Des, Cynthia Lyles, and Nicole Crepaz. 2004. "Improving the Reporting Quality of Nonrandomized Evaluations of Behavioral and Public Health Interventions: The TREND Statement." *American Journal of Public Health* 94 (3): 361–66. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1448256&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.
- Jeon, Hae Sook, and Ruth E Dunkle. 2009. "Stress and Depression among the Oldest-Old: A Longitudinal Analysis." *Research on Aging* 31 (6): 661–87. doi:10.1177/0164027509343541.
- Ko, J. E., and S. H. Lee. 2012. "A Multilevel Modeling of Factors Affecting Depression among Older Korean Adults." *Mental Health & Social Work* 40 (1): 322–351.
- Koyuncu, Mehmet, Serdar Tok, A Meliha Canpolat, and Fatih Catikkas. 2010. "Body Image Satisfaction and Dissatisfaction, Social Physique Anxiety, Self-Esteem, And Body Fat Ratio In Female Exercisers And Nonexercisers" 38 (4): 561–70. doi:10.2224/sbp.2010.38.4.561.
- Labra, Carmen de, Christyanne Guimaraes-Pinheiro, Ana Maseda, Trinidad Lorenzo, and José C Millán-Calenti. 2015. "Effects of Physical Exercise Interventions in Frail Older Adults: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials." *BMC Geriatrics* 15: 154. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0155-4.
- Lohman, Matthew, Levent Dumenci, and Briana Mezuk. 2016. "Depression and Frailty in Late Life: Evidence for a Common Vulnerability." *Journals of Gerontology - Series B Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences* 71 (4). doi:10.1093/geronb/gbu180.

- Loureiro, Maria. 2008. "Validação Do Mini -Nutricional Assessement Em Idosos." https://estudogeral.sib.uc.pt/handle/10316/10439.
- Low, Gail, Anita Molzahn, and Donald Schopflocher. 2013. "Attitudes to Aging Mediate the Relationship between Older Peoples' Subjective Health and Quality of Life in 20 Countries." *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 11 (1). BioMed Central: 146. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-11-146.
- Macuco, Cláudia Rodrigues Monteiro, Samila Satler Tavares Batistoni, Andrea Lopes, Meire Cachioni, Deusivânia Vieira da Silva Falcão, Anita Liberalesso Neri, and Mônica Sanches Yassuda. 2012. "Mini-Mental State Examination Performance in Frail, Pre-Frail, and Non-Frail Community Dwelling Older Adults in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil." International Psychogeriatrics / IPA 24 (11): 1725–31. doi:10.1017/S1041610212000907.
- Marsh, H. W., D. Chessor, R. Craven, and L. Roche. 1995. "The Effects of Gifted and Talented Programs on Academic Self-Concept: The Big Fish Strikes Again." *American Educational Research Journal* 32 (2): 285–319. doi:10.3102/00028312032002285.
- Marsh, H.W. 1993. "Academic Self-Concept: Theory Measurement and Research." In *Psychological Perspectives on the Self*, edited by J. Suls, 59–98. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Martin, K. A., and C. M. Lichtenberger. 2002. "Fitness Enhancement and Changes in Body Image." In Body Image: A Handbook of Theory, Research, and Clinical Practice, 414–21.
- Martins, R A, M R Cunha, A P Neves, M Martins, M Teixeira-Veríssimo, and A M Teixeira.
 2009. "Effects of Aerobic Conditioning on Salivary IgA and Plasma IgA, IgG and IgM in
 Older Men and Women." *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 30 (12): 906–12.
 doi:10.1055/s-0029-1237389.
- Maruyama, Yoshihiro, Aimi Kawano, Shizuko Okamoto, Tomoko Ando, Yoshinobu Ishitobi, Yoshihiro Tanaka, Ayako Inoue, et al. 2012. "Differences in Salivary Alpha-Amylase and Cortisol Responsiveness Following Exposure to Electrical Stimulation versus the Trier Social Stress Tests." *PloS One* 7 (7): e39375. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039375.
- McAuley, E, B Blissmer, J Katula, Terry E Duncan, and S L Mihalko. 2000. "Physical Activity, Self-Esteem, and Self-Efficacy Relationships in Older Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial." Annals of Behavioral Medicine : A Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine 22 (2): 131–39. doi:10.1007/BF02895777.
- McAuley, E, B Blissmer, D X Marquez, G J Jerome, a F Kramer, and J Katula. 2000. "Social Relations, Physical Activity, and Well-Being in Older Adults." *Preventive Medicine* 31 (5): 608–17. doi:10.1006/pmed.2000.0740.

- McAuley, E, D X Marquez, G J Jerome, B Blissmer, and J Katula. 2002. "Physical Activity and Physique Anxiety in Older Adults: Fitness, and Efficacy Influences." *Aging & Mental Health* 6 (3): 222–30. doi:10.1080/13607860220142459.
- McAuley, Edward, Steriani Elavsky, Robert W Motl, James F Konopack, Liang Hu, and David X Marquez. 2005. "Physical Activity, Self-Efficacy, and Self-Esteem: Longitudinal Relationships in Older Adults." *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences* 60 (5): P268-75. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16131621.
- McAuley, Edward, James F Konopack, Robert W Motl, Katherine S Morris, Shawna E Doerksen, and Karl R Rosengren. 2006. "Physical Activity and Quality of Life in Older Adults: Influence of Health Status and Self-Efficacy." Annals of Behavioral Medicine : A Publication of the Society of Behavioral Medicine 31 (1): 99–103. doi:10.1207/s15324796abm3101_14.
- McKay, Michael T., Daniel Boduszek, and Séamus A. Harvey. 2014. "The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale: A Bifactor Answer to a Two-Factor Question?" *Journal of Personality Assessment* 96 (6): 654–60. doi:10.1080/00223891.2014.923436.
- Miller, Robert, Franziska Plessow, Manfred Rauh, Michael Gröschl, and Clemens Kirschbaum.
 2013. "Comparison of Salivary Cortisol as Measured by Different Immunoassays and Tandem Mass Spectrometry." *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38 (1): 50–57. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.04.019.
- Nater, U. M., and N. Rohleder. 2009. "Salivary Alpha-Amylase as a Non-Invasive Biomarker for the Sympathetic Nervous System: Current State of Research." *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 34 (4): 486–96. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.01.014.
- Nater, Urs M., Nicolas Rohleder, Jens Gaab, Simona Berger, Andreas Jud, Clemens Kirschbaum, and Ulrike Ehlert. 2005. "Human Salivary Alpha-Amylase Reactivity in a Psychosocial Stress Paradigm." *International Journal of Psychophysiology* 55 (3): 333– 42. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2004.09.009.
- Nater, Urs Markus, Roberto La Marca, Ladina Florin, Anthony Moses, Wolfgang Langhans, Markus M Koller, and Ulrike Ehlert. 2006. "Stress-Induced Changes in Human Salivary Alpha-Amylase Activity - Associations with Adrenergic Activity." *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 31 (1): 49–58. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005.05.010.

- Nelson, Miriam E., W. Jack Rejeski, Steven N. Blair, Pamela W. Duncan, James O. Judge, Abby C. King, Carol a. Macera, and Carmen Castaneda-Sceppa. 2007. "Physical Activity and Public Health in Older Adults: Recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association." *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 39 (8): 1435–45. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616aa2.
- Netz, Y., M.J. Wu, B.J. Becker, and G. Tenenbaum. 2005. "Physical Activity and Psychological Well-Being in Advanced Age: A Meta-Analysis of Intervention Studies." *Psychology and Aging*, no. 20: 272–84.
- Neves, Sergio da Cunha, Ricardo Moreno Lima, Herbert Gustavo Simões, Mario C Marques,
 Victor Machado Reis, and Ricardo Jacó de Oliveira. 2009. "Resistance Exercise Sessions
 Do Not Provoke Acute Immunosuppression in Older Women." *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research* 23 (1): 259–65. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31818767b9.
- Newman, Anne B, Catherine L Haggerty, Stephen B Kritchevsky, Michael C Nevitt, and Eleanor M Simonsick. 2003. "Walking Performance and Cardiovascular Response: Associations with Age and Morbidity--the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study." *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 58 (8): 715–20. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12902529.
- Oken, Barry S., Daniel Zajdel, Shirley Kishiyama, Kristin Flegal, Cathleen Dehen, Mitchell Haas, Dale F. Kraemer, Julie Lawrence, and Joanne Leyva. 2006. "Randomized, Controlled, Six-Month Trial of Yoga in Healthy Seniors: Effects on Cognition and Quality of Life." *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine* 12 (1): 40–47. doi:10.1073/pnas.111134598.
- Opdenacker, Joke, Christophe Delecluse, and Filip Boen. 2009. "The Longitudinal Effects of a Lifestyle Physical Activity Intervention and a Structured Exercise Intervention on Physical Self-Perceptions and Self-Esteem in Older Adults." *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology* 31 (6): 743–60. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20384010.
- Papacosta, Elena, and George P Nassis. 2011. "Saliva as a Tool for Monitoring Steroid, Peptide and Immune Markers in Sport and Exercise Science." *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport / Sports Medicine Australia* 14 (5): 424–34. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2011.03.004.
- Petrini, C. 2014. "Helsinki 50 Years On." *La Clinica Terapeutica* 165 (4): 179–81. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25203329.

- Picorelli, Alexandra Miranda Assumpção, Leani Souza Máximo Pereira, Daniele Sirineu Pereira, Diogo Felício, and Catherine Sherrington. 2014. "Adherence to Exercise Programs for Older People Is Influenced by Program Characteristics and Personal Factors: A Systematic Review." *Journal of Physiotherapy* 60 (3): 151–56. doi:10.1016/j.jphys.2014.06.012.
- Pitanga, Cristiano Penas Seara, Francisco José Gondim Pitanga, Carmem Cristina Beck, Ronaldo Eugénio Calçada Dias Gabriel, and Maria Helena Rodrigues Moreira. 2012.
 "Nível de Atividade Física Para Prevenção Do Excesso de Gordura Visceral Em Mulheres Pós-Menopáusicas: Quanto é Necessário?" *Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia* 56 (6). ABE&M: 358–63. doi:10.1590/S0004-27302012000600003.
- Rashkova, Maya R, Lora S Ribagin, and Nina G Toneva. 2012. "Correlation between Salivary Alpha-Amylase and Stress-Related Anxiety." *Folia Medica* 54 (2): 46–51. doi:10.2478/v10153-011-0088-4.
- "Rcise & Physical Activity: Your Everyday Guide." 2011. *National Institute of Aging U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.* http://www.nia.nih.gov/sites/default/files/nia_exercise_and_physical_activity.pdf.
- Robertson, Robert J, Fredric L Goss, Jason Rutkowski, Brooke Lenz, Curt Dixon, Jeffrey Timmer, Krisi Frazee, John Dube, and Joseph Andreacci. 2003. "Concurrent Validation of the OMNI Perceived Exertion Scale for Resistance Exercise." *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 35 (2): 333–41. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000048831.15016.2A.
- Robins, Richard W, Kali H Trzesniewski, Jessica L Tracy, Samuel D Gosling, and Jeff Potter. 2002. "Global Self-Esteem Across the Life Span" 17 (3): 423–34. doi:10.1037//0882-7974.17.3.423.
- Schipper, Raymond G, Erika Silletti, and Monique H Vingerhoeds. 2007. "Saliva as Research Material: Biochemical, Physicochemical and Practical Aspects." *Archives of Oral Biology* 52 (12): 1114–35. doi:10.1016/j.archoralbio.2007.06.009.
- Senchina DS1; Kohut ML. 2007. "Immunological Outcomes of Exercise in Older Adults." *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 2 (1): 3–16. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2684080&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

- Shibuya, Takumi, Tomoko Kaburagi, Ryoji Nagai, and Satoru Oshiro. 2015. "The Effects of Moderate Exercise on Secretory IgA Production in Mice Depends on Dietary Carbohydrate Intake." *Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition* 57 (1): 44–49. doi:10.3164/jcbn.15-21.
- Silva, Rafael Pires Da, Antônio José Natali, Sérgio Oliveira De Paula, Jamille Locatelli, and João Carlos Bouzas Marins. 2009. "Salivary Immunoglobulin A (s-LgA) and Exercise:
 Relevance of Its Control in Athletes and Methodological Implications." *Rev Bras Med Esporte* 15 (6): 459–66. doi:doi: 10.1590/S1517-86922009000700012.
- Souza-Talarico, J N, E C Chaves, R Nitrini, and P Caramelli. 2009. "Chronic Stress Is Associated with High Cortisol Levels and Emotional Coping Mechanisms in Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment." *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders* 28 (5): 465–70. doi:10.1159/000259696.
- Spence, John C., Kerry R. McGannon, and Paulie Poon. 2005. "The Effect of Exercise on Global Self-Esteem :" *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology* 27: 311–34.
- Stegeren, Anda H van, Oliver T Wolf, and Merel Kindt. 2008. "Salivary Alpha Amylase and Cortisol Responses to Different Stress Tasks: Impact of Sex." International Journal of Psychophysiology : Official Journal of the International Organization of Psychophysiology 69 (1): 33–40. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2008.02.008.
- Steptoe, Andrew, Angus Deaton, and Arthur A Stone. 2015. "Subjective Wellbeing, Health, and Ageing." *Lancet (London, England)* 385 (9968). NIH Public Access: 640–48. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61489-0.
- Stoll, Oliver, and Dorothee Alfermann. 2002. "Effects of Physical Exercise on Resources Evaluation, Body Self-Concept and Well-Being Among Older Adults." *Anxiety, Stress & Coping* 15 (3): 311–19. doi:10.1080/1061580021000020752.
- Strohacker, Kelley, Daniel Fazzino, Whitney L Breslin, and Xiaomeng Xu. 2015. "The Use of Periodization in Exercise Prescriptions for Inactive Adults: A Systematic Review." *Preventive Medicine Reports*. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.04.023.
- Syddall, Holly, Cyrus Cooper, Finbarr Martin, Roger Briggs, and Avan Aihie Sayer. 2003. "Is Grip Strength a Useful Single Marker of Frailty?" *Age and Ageing* 32 (6): 650–56. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14600007.

- Takai, Noriyasu, Masaki Yamaguchi, Toshiaki Aragaki, Kenji Eto, Kenji Uchihashi, and Yasuo Nishikawa. 2004. "Effect of Psychological Stress on the Salivary Cortisol and Amylase Levels in Healthy Young Adults." *Archives of Oral Biology* 49 (12): 963–68. doi:10.1016/j.archoralbio.2004.06.007.
- Taylor, John M. 2015. "Psychometric Analysis of the Ten-Item Perceived Stress Scale." *Psychological Assessment* 27 (1): 90–101. doi:10.1037/a0038100.
- Theou, Olga, Liza Stathokostas, Kaitlyn P Roland, Jennifer M Jakobi, Christopher Patterson, Anthony A Vandervoort, and Gareth R Jones. 2011. "The Effectiveness of Exercise Interventions for the Management of Frailty: A Systematic Review." *Journal of Aging Research* 2011: 569194. doi:10.4061/2011/569194.
- Walsh, Neil P, and Samuel J Oliver. 2016. "Exercise, Immune Function and Respiratory Infection: An Update on the Influence of Training and Environmental Stress." *Immunology and Cell Biology* 94 (2): 132–39. doi:10.1038/icb.2015.99.
- Windle, Gill, Dyfrig Hughes, Pat Linck, Ian Russell, and Bob Woods. 2010. "Is Exercise Effective in Promoting Mental Well-Being in Older Age? A Systematic Review." Aging & Mental Health 14 (6): 652–69. doi:10.1080/13607861003713232.

SECTION V

Final considerations: discussion, conclusion and directions for the future researches

CHAPTER 14:

GLOBAL DISCUSSION AND FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

14.1 Summary of findings

The present chapter presents the main findings found in the studies carried out, taking into account the three phases of this PhD thesis. Firstly, some of the results found in the preliminary studies will be discussed. Secondly, we will discuss the results of the cross-sectional studies and finally, we will present the general discussion of the findings related to the intervention-exercise studies. However, this sequence of the discussion does follow a linear path (according to the types of study), but taking into account that the results of the different studies have an intrinsic relation between them. As it was previously started, this PhD thesis presents a multidimensional approach in the study of PF and its connections with other global health variables, through correlational data analysis. Subsequently, it sought to test the impact of different exercises on the modulation of global health markers related to PF.

The main results found in this preliminary studies pointed to the following questions: i) in study 01, we found a strong association between the decline in the cognitive profile and PF. which presents a similar pattern in countries from several regions of world; ii) study 2 confirmed through numerous systematic review studies that there is concrete evidence of a promising effect for the different types of physical exercise on different global health variables, as well as its ability to attenuate and reverse the PF in the elderly. It seems that a multimodal exercise with a long-term duration (more than five months) and a weekly frequency variyng between 3-5 times per week seems to have a superior effect when compare to other types of exercise; iii) in study 3, it was possible to verify, using a preliminary exercise intervention programme with yoga-flexibility chair-based exercise, as an method integrated method with the conventional exercise group classes, also promotes promising results in the modulation of some parameters of global health, namely in the subjective perception for the execution of daily living tasks, functional fitness and salivary stress hormones (1). However, we verified that the intensity of the exercise was determinant for the impact of the results, since it was verified that the light exercise intensity did not promote substantial changes in all analyzed variables, namely physical-functional fitness.

The cross-sectional studies presented interesting evidence regarding the identification of new variables related to PF in the elderly, as well as the power of some of these variables to explain the variance associated with frailty status in the institutionalized old women, which are as follows: i) study 4 demonstrated that the cognitive status was the variable that has the strongest power of explanation of the PF condition when compared to several other global health markers, corroborating the findings pre-announced in the preliminary systematic review study (2); ii) in study 5, it was demonstrated that the agility-dynamic balance test can be used as a simple and fast tool for the detection of physical frailty in the elderly (3); iii) in study 6, it was clear that low activity levels and slow gait are independent dimensions of Physical Frailty that contribute to functional disability in the elderly; iv) study 7 revealed that attitudes towards aging and the subjective perception of happiness were highlighted as new psychological dimensions that may explain the variance associated with PF; v) in study 8, the results pointed to salivary α -amylase as a promising marker for prognosis of PF the condition.

Intervention studies with different types of multimodal (CME) and muscle strength elastic bands exercise (CSE) presented as important results: i) in study 9 it was possible to verify the positive effect of exercise modulation on the independent components of PF; in several domains of physical function, namely in the reduction of the subjective perception of the risk of falls and in the proficiency to perform daily life activities in addition to the small increase in sex hormones such as DHEA and testosterone; ii) Study 10 demonstrated the effect of exercise on the positive mediation of immune markers, specifically in the IL-10 / TNF alpha ratio and salivary IgA; iii) In study 11, the effect of exercise on the maintenance and improvement of psychological well-being and cognitive abilities of exercise practitioners was verified, as well as the effect of exercise on the modulation of biological stress markers (COR and γ -amylase).

14.2 Inferences based on key results

Despite the numerous frailty evaluation protocols available, Fried's PF phenotype has clearly demonstrated its robustness, as found in study 1, the systematic review of metanalysis (2). As pointed out by several studies, its easy application and access allowed the evaluation of large samples and to confirm that PF respects a temporal pattern associated with age and other aspects of aging that transcends particular characteristics of some samples (e.g. community elders or living in a hospital setting). On the other hand, some recent research has also shown that, regardless of the size of the sample (whether small or large), the use of the five independent components of PF for the creation of the three subgroups has been replicated in several studies (4). In the Portuguese population of institutionalized older individuals, as in the case of our study 4, the results revealed a significant incidence of PF, highlighting the Linda Fried construct as a phenotype associated with the elderly that has the accuracy and reliability to detect what is proposed in samples of institutionalized elderly, corroborating with findings in other European countries (5,6). In addition, subsequent cross-sectional studies revealed that, as the literature points out, PF has several dimensions of global health that have a more closed relationship, highlighted in cross-sectional studies 5, 6, 7 and 8 that pointed out significant differences for some variables (i.e., d and the frail subgroup participants presented the most negative outcomes for most of the variables framed in the different dimensions.

However, when were explored the associations between PF and the several dimensions of global health in some cross-sectional studies (i.e. studies 6 and 8), we opted to perform the correlations analisys between the variables included in the statistical model and each independent components of the physical frailty, following the rationale of previous studies (7,8). Although the different markers did not present consistent associations with PF total score, some variables demonstrated a closed link with different independent components of PF, like in study 6, that linear regressions analysis showed that in the two models tested, Low physical activity levels and Slowness were the frailty independent components most associated with disabilities, and study 8, revealed that weakness and exhaustion were the PF components most associated with immune profile makers.

The option for using ROC analysis in study 4, for example, allowed us to verify that the MMSE questionnaire of cognitive status can be used to predict a possible PF associated to cognitive impairment, being a result that is in line with several recent studies (9–11); to verified the power of estimation of a simple applicable functional-fitness test (i.e. agility-dynamic balance test) for the use to detect PF in institutionalized older people, corroborating previous studies (12,13); and also, identifying that salivary α -amylase was the 'novel' biomarker that better explained the physical frail condition.

In this sense, the set of cross-sectional studies were able to prove the existence of a significant independent and combined relationship of several variables with the PF status, help us achieve some important conclusions, taking into account the current state of art about frailty and their correlates (14): in this sample was showed the presence of a new phenotypes associated with physical frailty status: Disability of Frailty characterized by the high loss of proficiency to perform activities of daily living (15); Cognitive Frailty, defined as a form of pathological brain-aging and a precursor to neurodegenerative processes, that is characterized by concurrent PFS and potentially reversible cognitive impairment (16); Psychological Frailty defined by the decline in subjective perception of psychological well-being (e. g. emotional well-being, mood and resilience) associated with worsening physical condition (17); Poor functional fitness of Frailty, characterized by a fast deterioration in other motor skills and functional-physical tasks; the frailty endocrine-immune system, with evidence suggests inflammation process has a major role in the pathophysiology of frailty through an abnormal, low-grade inflammatory response that is hyper-responsive to stimuli and that persists for a long period after removal of the initial inflammatory stimulus (18).

Looking at the interconnection between studies, we can see that lower physical fitness in frail individuals, accompanied by a physical inability to perform daily tasks and the high fear of falling makes sense (19); also a link between the low profile of psychological and cognitive state and a lower functional fitness, since the literature points out a relationship between a satisfactory executive function and a greater capacity to solve physical tasks and daily problems, also including the management of the stress for problem solving (20,21); and the relationship between the satisfactory hormonal balance and the good functioning of the skeletal muscle system (22).

Despite the objectives proposed in each cross-sectional study, it is important to highlight that notwithstanding the associations demonstrated in the different studies, some of them where dependent on the cognitive profile (MMSE) and the multiple comorbidities (CCI), characterized as a central co-variates in this type of study. Some findings have shown the existence of a PF associated with cardio metabolic diseases, whose incidence in our study sample is high (48% of the total sample). Recently, the term 'Diabetes of Frailty' and Sarcopenic obseity has been suggested comprehended as a two new frailty phenotype (23), which associates this disease with PF. The precise relationship between incidence of cardiometabolic diseases and physical frailty could be explored in future studies.

It is important to highlight that the cross-sectional studies helped us create a greater affinity and specific knowledge of the study variables include in the experimental study design. The most interesting was to observe the effect of the exercise modulation in those variables that presented some degree of correlation with the PF status. The intervention studies were performed with the same participants of the cross-sectional studies and this factor allowed us to look for this variables from a specific point of view. Considering the closed interconnection between the different study variables and PF on this sample, our interest was to observe the impact of the exercise in the static and dynamic balance, cognitive status, attitudes toward aging and subjective perception of happiness and fear of falling; and particularly biochemical markers of α -amylase, cortisol, and Interleukins (IL-10, IL-6 and IL-1ß), because these variables presented a more closed relation with PF. However, our decision was to organized the three intervention studies observing the modulating effect of exercise on a greater number of variables, without disregarding a logical and coherent organization of the intervention studies, which took into account the physical-functioning, psychobiological and the immunity profile dimensions.

When analyzing the effects of exercise in some of these variables, it is appropriate to identify the reasons for choosing the different exercise programs (PEP). In a preliminary phase study, the choice of Yoga type-flexibility was based on the hypothesis that a low-impact exercise program would not promote satisfactory results in the positive modulation of some variables in study, which was partially supported by the results. Another factor was the need to test some methods for driving exercise programs (e.g. chair and stand exercises, heart rate control) and the effect on some variables in study. In a subsequent phase of the study design, we decided to select two exercise programs, based on the findings of the previous systematic review of reviews study and the guidelines the of American College of Sport Medicine (ACSM) (24,25).

The Muscle-strength exercise is considered by ACSM a gold standard, of high evidence (level A) of exercise-type recommended to older populations (24). In the case of our study, we chose to use a more economical solution, strength training with elastic bands, which recent literature points to similarly satisfactory results for this type of population, when compared to a group of elderly people who performed traditional strength training using dumbbells, free weights and machines (26). The CME was considered of moderate evidence, level C. However, our SR presented results that can be considered as contradictory to what is presented by the ACSM, since it evidences the CME as the one that most impacts on the overall health of the older person (25). However, we should consider that our SR of study 2 clearly was displayed that this type of training has benefits for the older classified as (pre)frailty or with low physical-functional fitness, while the ACSM guidelines does not fit the different classifications of the older population.

Our option was to select two types of exercise program (CME and CSE) and integrate them in chair-based exercise, that literature points out as appropriate to integrate with the conventional methods of exercise prescription in the older-frail individuals (27). Subsequently, we tested the hypothesis that the different types of program would present different results in the modeling of the different variables included in the intervention. Taking into account the overall outcomes of the three different intervention studies (10, 11 and 12) and when compare the impact of different exercise programs the results showed similar findings. This can be justified by some aspects. First, we verified that two exercise programs had the same average exercise intensities. However, looking at the heart rate behaviour during the different programs, the graphs obtained through the measurement of the MME training showed a curve that characterizes the exercise program as extensive interval training, that is, there were variations of effort with peaks of moderate intensity moments of medium-low intensity. In the muscle-strength elastic bands exercises, the interposition of the graphs clearly assumed an interval design, with peaks of moderate-high intensity, followed by moments of very low-intensity of active and passive recovery. In this case, the mean of the results obtained in the monitoring of HR masks these results. The other reason that justify the similarities of results was the percentage of exercise adherence in the CME and CSE programs was similar. Both exercise programs were conducted by experienced professionals, who assisted in the design and development of more attractive types of programs for this type of population. In addition, the exercise programs were conducted in the very places where the elderly lived, characterizing the interventions as 'naturalistic' controlled trial. These strategies seem to have positively influenced the satisfactory adherence to both exercise programs (28,29).

Another relevant aspect that seems to have influenced the similarity of the results achieved may be related to the fact that one of the main components of the CME was the integration of neuromuscular strength exercises with body weight, which seems to have promoted similar adaptations to the CSE or traditional strength programs, according recent findings. Looking at the results we can observe that the CME also obtained satisfactory results also in the improvements of upper and lower body strength. In spite of similarities of the findings, it appears that multimodal exercise program was able to promote a slightly more pronounced impact on steroid sex hormone markers, improvements of the CSE program. However, the CSE program promoted slight higher benefits in the functional-physical fitness, physical frailty and psychological well being variables. The two programs were equally effective for the variables of physical function associated with disabilities.

Despite the different results presented in the intervention studies, we could see that: i) different types of physical exercise positively influenced the improvement of levels of physical activity (independent component of PF) and muscular endurance (*2 minute step test*) of the participants, which may be related to an improvement in subjective perception of fear of falling and proficiency in daily life activities; ii) the improvement of the physical performance outcomes mentioned above and the scores of the muscular strength test seem to have influenced attitudes toward aging, global self-esteem and general self-efficacy, which the previous studies already reporting correlations through physiological well-being and some physical-functional fitness components; ii) although not directly assessed the social interaction component promoted by both exercise programs, may have a positive influencing on the improvement of emotional well-being and mood state of participants, since similar results were not shown in the non exercising controls.

Overall, this study highlighted the beneficts of regular exercise in terms of physicalfunctional fitness improvment, dimished sedentary behaviour, reversed frailty status, increased psychological well-being and cognitive status, as well as knowledge on the response of biochemical makers of neuroendocrine and immune systems. However, the exercise frequency of 2-3 times per week, using an integrated pediodization model as a form of organizing longterm exercise programs, with special attention for adherence and control of effort, seems to be an effective solution. The findings could provide evidence suggesting the need to augment the standard exercise practice prescribed at nursing homes for the frail older population. It is expected that the findings of this research will guide clinical practice in centers for social and health support, so that physicians togheter with physiotrapeuts, exercise specialists and policymakers can provide more evidence based practice for the management of institutionalized older people. It is also critical to highlight the importance of considering the possibility of integrating different types of frailty assessments to detect frailty and their main correlated dimensions. Despite the proven robustness of Fried's construct, our study demonstrated that some psychological, biological, and behavioral dimensions seem to have an equal or greater contribution to frailty. In this sense, multidimensional assessement is recommended.

14.3 General limitations

Although this PhD thesis presented a well-defined topic of study and a logic sequence of different studies, we did find several methodological limitations. Notwithstanding the study limitations described earlier in chapter one of this thesis, we have outlined some limitations that were during the development of the study. Contrary to our expectations, adherence to exercise programs was satisfactory. As already predicted, we did not obtain authorization to transport the elderly to the FCDEF laboratory facilities to perform of anthropometric and physical fitness assessment. Then, we set up the physical assessements stations in each institution. In addition, exercise programs were also conducted on-site, as previously mentioned and predicted. Considering the characteristics of the populations and the outcomes measurements, we observed great variability among the different study variables especially in the biochemical of salivary and blood makers. Comparing our study with the international literature, we found similar results for some variables. However, studies with higher samples of the population in question (in the case of the cross-sectional studies), would solve the problem of intra-individual variability in some markers. This increase in the initial study sample would have increase the number of participants in the exercise intervention study design. Additional limitations were the few cross-sectional studies performed in institutionalized settings, that made it impossible for us to perform significant and strong comparisons with them. Lastly, the small sample sizes of the trials, despite the application of power calculation, limited the strength of the conclusions.

14.4 Directions for the future studies

Based on our cross-sectional studies as a pilot trial, we can recommend future studies that extend to the older populations (e.g. hospitalization, community, social vulnerability). In addition, a longitudinal design that focuses in the study of the time-life course, starting at age 40 and above (middle-age) may produce clues about how the physical Frailty phenotype develops across the time. This was the maximal recommendation from the World Health Organization Scientific Committee on the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia 2017 (Barcelona). Exercise as adjunctive therapy may be combined with other therapies (e.g. Supplementation) to improve its beneficial effects, and these are also studies that need further implementation.

14.5 References

- Furtado GE, Uba-Chupel M, Carvalho HM, Souza NR, Ferreira JP, Teixeira AMM, et al. Effects of a chair-yoga exercises on stress hormone levels, daily life activities, falls and physical fitness in institutionalized older adults. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice [Internet]. 2016 May [cited 2016 Jun 13];0(0):144–56. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S174438811630041X
- Furtado GE, Caldo A, Rieping T, Filaire E, Hogervorst E, Botelho AMT, et al. Physical Frailty and cognitive status over-60 age populations: a systematic review with metaanalysis. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2018 Jul 22];78:240–8. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167494318301377
- Furtado G, Patrício M, Loureiro M, Teixeira AM, Ferreira JP. Physical Fitness and Frailty Syndrome in Institutionalized Older Women. Perceptual and Motor Skills [Internet]. 2017 May 31 [cited 2017 Jun 12];124(4):003151251770991. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28560893
- Chang S-F, Lin P-L. Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. International Journal of Nursing Studies [Internet]. 2015;52(8):1362–1374. Available from: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0020748915001066
- de la Rica-Escuín M, González-Vaca J, Varela-Pérez R, Arjonilla-García MD, Silva-Iglesias M, Oliver-Carbonell JL, et al. Frailty and mortality or incident disability in institutionalized older adults: the FINAL study. Maturitas [Internet]. 2014 Aug [cited 2015 Jul 7];78(4):329–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24929996
- Abizanda P, Romero L, Sánchez-Jurado PM, Martínez-Reig M, Alfonso-Silguero SA, Rodríguez-Mañas L. Age, frailty, disability, institutionalization, multimorbidity or comorbidity. Which are the main targets in older adults? The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 Jul 26];18(6):622–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24950154
- Ávila-Funes JA, Pina-Escudero SD, Aguilar-Navarro S, Gutierrez-Robledo LM, Ruiz-Arregui L, Amieva H. Cognitive impairment and low physical activity are the components of frailty more strongly associated with disability. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2011 Aug [cited 2015 Jul 27];15(8):683–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968865
- Jacobs JM, Cohen A, Ein-Mor E, Maaravi Y, Stessman J. Frailty, cognitive impairment and mortality among the oldest old. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet].
 2011 Aug [cited 2015 Jul 27];15(8):678–82. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968864
- 9. Samper-Ternent R, Al Snih S, Raji MA, Markides KS, Ottenbacher KJ. Relationship between frailty and cognitive decline in older Mexican Americans. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society [Internet]. 2008 Oct [cited 2015 Jul 27];56(10):1845–52. Available http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2628807&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Lee SH, Han JH, Jin YY, Lee IH, Hong HR, Kang HS. Poor physical fitness is independently associated with mild cognitive impairment in elderly Koreans. Biology of sport [Internet]. 2016 Mar [cited 2016 Apr 3];33(1):57–62. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4786587&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 11. Cano C, Samper-Ternent R, Al Snih S, Markides K, Ottenbacher KJ. Frailty and cognitive impairment as predictors of mortality in older Mexican Americans. The journal of nutrition, health & aging [Internet]. 2012 Feb [cited 2015 Jul 27];16(2):142–7. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3281306&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- Greene BR, Doheny EP, O'Halloran A, Anne Kenny R. Frailty status can be accurately assessed using inertial sensors and the TUG test. Age and ageing [Internet]. 2014 May [cited 2015 Jan 10];43(3):406–11. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24212918
- de Vries NM, Staal JB, Olde Rikkert MGM, Nijhuis-van der Sanden MWG. Evaluative frailty index for physical activity (EFIP): a reliable and valid instrument to measure changes in level of frailty. Physical therapy [Internet]. 2013 Apr [cited 2015 Feb 17];93(4):551–61. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23224216
- Ottenbacher KJ, Graham JE, Al Snih S, Raji M, Samper-Ternent R, Ostir G V., et al. Mexican Americans and frailty: Findings from the hispanic established populations epidemiologic studies of the elderly. American Journal of Public Health [Internet]. 2009 Apr [cited 2017 Sep 6];99(4):673–9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19197079

- Azzopardi RV, Vermeiren S, Gorus E, Habbig AK, Petrovic M, Van Den Noortgate N, et al. Linking Frailty Instruments to the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health: A Systematic Review. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2016;17(11):1066.
- Panza F, Solfrizzi V, Barulli MR, Santamato A, Seripa D, Pilotto A, et al. Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review of Epidemiological and Neurobiological Evidence of an Age-Related Clinical Condition. Rejuvenation Research [Internet]. 2015 Oct [cited 2016 Aug 18];18(5):389–412. Available from: http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/rej.2014.1637
- Fitten LJ. Psychological Frailty in the Aging Patient. Nestle Nutrition Institute Workshop Series [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 29];83:45–53. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26484526
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet [Internet]. 2013 Mar 2 [cited 2014 Jul 14];381(9868):752–62. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23395245
- Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, Bergman H, Hogan DB, McDowell I, et al. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne [Internet]. 2005 Aug 30 [cited 2015 Jan 7];173(5):489–95. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1188185&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract
- 20. Robertson DA, Savva GM, Coen RF, Kenny R-A. Cognitive function in the prefrailty and frailty syndrome. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society [Internet]. 2014 Nov [cited 2015 Jul 27];62(11):2118–24. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25370593
- Shirooka H, Nishiguchi S, Fukutani N, Tashiro Y, Nozaki Y, Hirata H, et al. Cognitive impairment is associated with the absence of fear of falling in community-dwelling frail older adults. Geriatrics & Gerontology International [Internet]. 2016 Feb [cited 2017 Mar 20];17(February):n/a-n/a. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ggi.12702
- Wilson D, Jackson T, Sapey E, Lord JM. Frailty and sarcopenia: The potential role of an aged immune system [Internet]. Ageing Research Reviews Elsevier; Jul 1, 2017 p. 1–10. gcid=raven_sd_recommender_email

- Sinclair AJ, Rodriguez-Mañas L. Diabetes and Frailty: Two Converging Conditions? [Internet]. Vol. 40, Canadian Journal of Diabetes. 2016 [cited 2018 Jul 26]. p. 77–83. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26683240
- 24. Mazzeo RS. Exercise and the Older Adult. ACSM's Fit Society Page [Internet]. 2003;1–
 3. Available from: papers2://publication/uuid/23D5B7C2-01FF-4D8D-9E912AEB3639D104
- 25. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee I-M, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. Medicine and science in sports and exercise [Internet]. 2011 Jul [cited 2014 Jul 10];43(7):1334–59. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21694556
- Colado JC, Triplett NT. Effects of a short-term resistance program using elastic bands versus weight machines for sedentary middle-aged women. Journal of strength and conditioning research / National Strength & Conditioning Association [Internet]. 2008 Sep [cited 2017 Jul 23];22(5):1441–8. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=0012427 8-200809000-00009
- Kevin A, Louise C, Phillipa L, John G, Tahir M. Chair based exercise in frail older people: A systematic review. European Geriatric Medicine [Internet]. 2011;2:S16. Available from:

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y&NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=eme d10&AN=70705320%5Cnhttp://lib.exeter.ac.uk:4556/resserv?sid=OVID:embase&id=p mid:&id=doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2011.06.003&issn=1878-

7649&isbn=&volume=2&issue=&spage=S16&pages=S16&date=2011&title=European +Geriatric+Medicine&atitle=Chair+based+exercise+in+frail+older+people:+A+systema tic+review&aulast=Kevin&pid=%3Cauthor%3EKevin+A.%3C/author%3E&%3CAN%3 E70705320%3C/AN%3E

28. Picorelli AMA, Pereira DS, Felício DC, Dos Anjos DM, Pereira DAG, Dias RC, et al. Adherence of older women with strength training and aerobic exercise. Clinical interventions in aging [Internet]. 2014 Jan [cited 2015 May 17];9:323–31. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3933242&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract 29. Picorelli AMA, Pereira LSM, Pereira DS, Felício D, Sherrington C. Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and personal factors: a systematic review. Journal of physiotherapy [Internet]. 2014 Sep [cited 2015 Nov 14];60(3):151–6. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1836955314000800

ANNEXES

Essential elements of research activities

ANNEX I: CONSENT FORMS

Termo de consentimento dirigido à Instituição

Obrigado por ter demonstrado interesse neste projecto. Por favor leia cuidadosamente esta folha informativa antes de decidir participar. Desde já agradecemos a sua adesão, no entanto não existirá qualquer tipo de desvantagem se a sua decisão for contrária e agradecemos de qualquer modo, o facto de ter ponderado a sua participação. Em qualquer altura poderá abandonar este projecto sem qualquer desvantagem. Este projecto de estudo insere-se no âmbito das Ciências do Desporto e tem por objectivo verificar se diferentes programas de exercício físico moderado são capazes de modificar o "ambiente" hormonal em idosos e se se correlacionam com variáveis cognitivas, imunes e de stress, podendo o exercício funcionar como um factor protector contra as doenças crónicas próprias do envelhecimento.

Ao integrar este projecto, será pedido aos participantes que autorizem a recolha de amostras de sangue venoso, saliva, medidas corporais, o preenchimento de vários questionários destinados a avaliar o seu nível de stress, a realização de vários testes de cognição, testes de avaliação funcional/condição física e dados biográficos. Todos os dados recolhidos serão confidenciais e só a equipa de avaliação terá acesso a eles. Os resultados deste projecto poderão ser publicados mas jamais permitirão a identificação de qualquer elemento. Se for o seu desejo os responsáveis pelo projecto prontificam-se a disponibilizar os resultados obtidos. Os dados recolhidos serão armazenados em segurança e só os que foram mencionados poderão ter acesso a eles. No final todas as informações recolhidas serão destruídas, excepto aquelas que por política de investigação tenham implicações relativamente às conclusões deste projecto, que serão armazenadas em segurança. Se tiver dúvidas acerca do projecto agora ou no futuro não hesite em colocá-las aos responsáveis do projecto.

O investigador responsável: Doutora Ana Maria Teixeira e-mail: ateixeira@fcdef.uc.pt





Termo de consentimento

Li a folha de informação relativa a este projecto e compreendi o seu âmbito e o que a participação nele envolve. Todas as minhas dúvidas foram esclarecidas. Compreendi que posso pedir informações adicionais em qualquer altura.

Sei que:

- 1. a participação é totalmente voluntária.
- 2. posso abandonar o projecto em qualquer altura sem qualquer desvantagem.
- os dados recolhidos serão destruídos quando o projecto terminar, excluindo aqueles dados necessários para sustentar as conclusões do estudo que serão conservados em segurança.
- 4. sei os riscos que envolvem a recolha de dados prevista.
- 5. os resultados deste estudo poderão ser publicados mas o anonimato será preservado.

Concordo em participar neste estudo

.....

.....

(assinatura)

(data)

Este estudo foi previamente aprovado pelo Comitê Multidisciplinar de Ética da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, integrado numa linha de pesquisa denominada PRO-HMECSI: Mediação hormonal do exercício no estresse, cognição e imunidade [FCT-PTDC/DTP-DES/0154/2012].





Termo de Consentimento dirigido ao participante ou ao seu responsável

Obrigado por ter demonstrado interesse neste projecto. Por favor leia cuidadosamente esta folha informativa antes de decidir participar. Desde já agradecemos a sua adesão, no entanto não existirá qualquer tipo de desvantagem se a sua decisão for contrária e agradecemos de qualquer modo, o facto de ter ponderado a sua participação. Em qualquer altura poderá abandonar este projecto sem qualquer desvantagem. Este projecto de estudo insere-se no âmbito das Ciências do Desporto e tem por objectivo verificar se diferentes programas de exercício físico moderado são capazes de modificar o "ambiente" hormonal em idosos e se se correlacionam com variáveis cognitivas, imunes e de stress, podendo o exercício funcionar como um factor protector contra as doenças crónicas próprias do envelhecimento.

Ao integrar este projecto, ser-lhe-á pedido que autorize a recolha de amostras de sangue venoso, saliva, medidas corporais, o preenchimento de vários questionários destinados a avaliar o seu nível de stress, a realização de vários testes de cognição, testes de avaliação funcional/condição física, recolha de sangue, saliva, utilização de suplementação alimentar específica (ver autorização corpo médico) e recolha dos dados biográficos. Todos os dados recolhidos serão confidenciais e só a equipa de avaliação terá acesso a eles. Os resultados deste projecto poderão ser publicados mas jamais permitirão a identificação de qualquer elemento. Se for o seu desejo os responsáveis pelo projecto prontificam-se a disponibilizar os dados individuais ao próprio. Os dados recolhidos serão a eles. No final todas as informações recolhidas serão destruídas, excepto aquelas que por política de investigação tenham implicações relativamente às conclusões deste projecto, que serão armazenadas em segurança. Se tiver dúvidas acerca do projecto agora ou no futuro não hesite em colocá-las aos responsáveis do projecto.

O investigador responsável: Doutora Ana Maria Teixeira e-mail: ateixeira@fcdef.uc.pt







Termo de consentimento

Li a folha de informação relativa a este projecto e compreendi o seu âmbito e o que a participação nele envolve. Todas as minhas dúvidas foram esclarecidas. Compreendi que posso pedir informações adicionais em qualquer altura.

Sei que:

- 1. a participação é totalmente voluntária.
- 2. posso abandonar o projecto em qualquer altura sem qualquer desvantagem.
- os dados recolhidos serão destruídos quando o projecto terminar, excluindo aqueles dados necessários para sustentar as conclusões do estudo que serão conservados em segurança.
- 4. sei os riscos que envolvem a recolha de dados prevista.
- 5. os resultados deste estudo poderão ser publicados mas o anonimato será preservado.

Concordo em participar neste estudo

(assinatura) (data) SE NÃO FOR O PRÓPRIO A ASSINAR POR IDADE OU INCAPACIDADE

(se o participante tiver discernimento deve também assinar em cima, se consentir)

BI/CC N.º: /..... DATA OU VALIDADE /.....

GRAU DE PARENTESCO OU TIPO DE REPRESENTAÇÃO:

Este estudo foi previamente aprovado pelo Comitê Multidisciplinar de Ética da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, integrado numa linha de pesquisa denominada PRO-HMECSI: Mediação hormonal do exercício no estresse, cognição e imunidade [FCT-PTDC/DTP-DES/0154/2012].





ANNEX II: TEST BATTERIES

QUESTIONARIO BIOSSOCIAL

1	Nome completo:
2	Qual a sua idade?
3	Sexo 1. Masculino 2. Feminino
4	Estado civil: 1.Solteiro 2. Casado/união de fato 3.Viúvo 4.Separado/divorciado
5	Escolaridade: 1.Nunca frequentou a escola 2.Não completou Primário 3.Primário 4.Preparatório 5.Secundário 6.Ensino profissional 7.Universitário
6	Naturalidade (Concelho):
7	Residência (Concelho):
8	Onde vive atualmente? 1.Casa própria 2.Lar 3.Casa dos filhos 4.Casa dos parentes
9	Pratica exercício físico/ginástica de manutenção/ginásio? 1. Sim 2.Não
10	Qual a frequência semanal? 1.Uma vez 2.Duas vezes 3.Três vezes 4.Quatro vezes ou mais

AVALIAÇÃO DA CONDIÇÃO GLOBAL DE SAÚDE

	Índice de comorbilidade de Charlson (Mourão, 2008; Charlson et al., 1987)							
Instruç	ções p	ara p	preenchimento: Marcar com uma cruz caso seja acometido por uma ou mais destas doenças ou condiç	ões clínicas				
listada	s em b	aixo						
	1	1	Enfarte do Miocárdio					
	2	2	Insuficiência Cardíaca					
	3	3	Doença Arterial Periférica					
	4	4	Doença Cerebrovascular (AVC)					
	5	5	Demência					
	6	6	Doença Respiratória Crónica					
	7	7	Doença do Tecido Conjuntivo					
	8	8	Úlcera Gastroduodenal					
	g	9	Hepatopatia Crónica Leve					
	1	.0	Diabetes					
	1	.1	Hemiplegia					
	1	.2	Insuficiência Renal Crónica Moderada/Severa					
	1	.3	Diabetes com Lesão em Órgãos Alvo					
	1	.4	Tumor ou Neoplasia Sólida					
	1	.5	Leucemia					
	1	.6	Linfoma					
	1	.7	Hepatopatia Cronica Moderada/Severa					
	1	.8	Tumor ou Neoplasia					
	1	.9	Sida definida					
	2	0						

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

Mini Avaliação do Estado Nutricional MNA-p						
I	Avaliação antropométrica					
1	Índice de Massa Corporal (IMC)					
	0 = IMC <19 1 = 19 <imc 2="21<IMC" 3="IMC" <21="" <23="">23</imc>					
2	Perímetro Médio Braquial (PMB em cm)					
	0,0 = PMB <21 0,5 = 21 <pmb 1,0="IMC" <22=""> 22</pmb>					
3	Circunferência da perna (CP em cm)					
	0 = CP <31 1 = CP> 31					
4	Perda ponderal (PP) nos últimos 3 meses					
	0 = PP> 3 Kg 1 = não sabe 2 = PP entre 1 e 3 Kg 3 = Sem PF					
- I	Avaliação Global					
5	O doente vive independentemente (em contraponto de viver num lar)?					
6	O doente toma mais de 3 medicamentos prescritos (por día)?					
	0=Sim 1=Não					
7	Nos últimos dois meses o doente foi vítima de stresse psicológico ou doença aguda?					
	0=Sim 1=Não					
8	Mobilidade					
-	0= Limitado a uma cadeira ou cama 1= Consegue sair da cama/ cadeira, mas não sai à rua 2	=Sai à rua				
9	Problemas neuropsicológicos?					
	0=Demência severa ou depressão 2= Sem problemas psicológicos					
10	Tem úlceras de pressão ou escaras?					
	0=Sim 1=Não					
ш	Avaliação dietética					
11	Quantas refeições completas o utente come por dia?					
	0= 1 Refeição 1= 2 Refeições 2=3 Refeições					
12	O utente consome:					
12.1	Pelo menos um porção de laticínios por dia? 0=sim 1=Não					
12.2	Duas ou mais porções de feijão/grão, ovos por semana? 0=sim 1=Não					
12.3	Carne, peixe ou aves diariamente? 0=sim 1=Não					
	0,0= 0 ou 1 resposta for sim 0,5= 2 Respostas sim 1,0 3 respostas sim					
13	Consome duas ou mais porções de fruta ou vegetais diariamente?					
	0=Sim 1=Não					

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

14	A ingestão alimentar do utente foi reduzida nos últimos 3 meses devido anorexia, problemas digestivos ou dificuldades de deglutinação						
	0=Anorexia Severa	1=Anorexia Mod	lerada	2= Sem anorexia			
15	Quantos copos/chávenas d	e bebida (água, sumo, ca	bebida (água, sumo, café, chá, leite, cerveja, vinho) o utente consome por dia				
	0,0=Menos de 3 copos	1=3 a 5 copos	2= Mais de	5 copos			
16	Modo de se alimentar						
	0=Alimenta só com ajuda	1=Alimenta-se sozinho dificuldade	mas com	2=alimenta-se sozinho, sem problemas			
18	O doente considera ter alg	um problema nutricional	?				
	0=malnutrição <i>major</i>	1=não sabe/malnutriçã	ăo moderada	2= Sem problema nutricional			
18	Em comparação com pesso	oas da mesma idade, com	no é que o doente	e considera seu estado de saúde?			
	0,0= Não tão bom	1,0 = Tão bom 0	0,5 = Não sabe	2,0 = Melhor			

Questionário de sintomas do Trato Respiratório Superior

URTI-p

Por favor indica a severidade dos teus sintomas nas últimas 24 horas, fazendo um círculo em cada sintoma

	Não tive este sintoma	Muito ligeiramente	Ligeiramente		iente Moderada			Severa	
	0	1	2 3		3 4		6	7	
Corrimento nasal									
Nariz entupido									
Espirros									
Dor de garganta									
Garganta arranhada/ irritada									
Tosse									
Rouquidão									
Dor de cabeça									
Peito congestionado									
Sensação de cansaço									

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

	Avaliação das Atividades Independentes da vida diária ADL-p						
I	Lavar-se						
	1. Toma banho sem necessitar de qualquer ajuda.						
	2. Precisa apenas de ajuda para lavar uma parte do corpo.						
	3. Precisa de ajuda para lavar mais do que uma parte do corpo, ou para entrar ou sair do						
	banho.						
II	Vestir-se						
	1. Escolhe a roupa e veste-se por completo, sem necessitar de ajuda.						
	2. Apenas necessita de ajuda para apertar os sapatos.						
	3. Precisa de ajuda para escolher a roupa e não se veste por completo.						
	Utilizar a sanita						
	1. Utiliza a sanita, limpa-se e veste a roupa, sem qualquer ajuda. Utiliza o bacio durante a						
	noite e despeja-o de manhã, sem ajuda.						
	2. Precisa de ajuda para ir à sanita, para se limpar, para vestir a roupa e para usar o bacio,						
	de holte.						
	3. Não consegue utilizar a sanita sozinho (a).						
	Nachilizer co						
IV	wodilizar-se						
IV	1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda.						
IV	1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda.						
	1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama.						
V	1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama. Ser continente						
V	 I. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama. Ser continente 1. Controla completamente os esfíncteres anal e vesical, não tendo perdas. 						
V	 1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama. Ser continente 1. Controla completamente os esfíncteres anal e vesical, não tendo perdas. 2. Tem incontinência ocasional. 						
V	 I. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama. Ser continente Controla completamente os esfíncteres anal e vesical, não tendo perdas. Tem incontinência ocasional. Sé incontinente ou usa sonda vesical necessitando de vigilância. 						
V V	 1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama. Ser continente Controla completamente os esfíncteres anal e vesical, não tendo perdas. Tem incontinência ocasional. É incontinente ou usa sonda vesical necessitando de vigilância. Alimentar-se 						
V	 1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama. Ser continente Controla completamente os esfíncteres anal e vesical, não tendo perdas. Tem incontinência ocasional. É incontinente ou usa sonda vesical necessitando de vigilância. Alimentar-se Come sem qualquer ajuda. 						
V V	 1. Entra e sai da cama, senta-se e levanta-se sem ajuda. 2. Entra e sai da cama e senta-se e levanta-se da cadeira, com ajuda. 3. Não se levanta da cama. Ser continente Controla completamente os esfíncteres anal e vesical, não tendo perdas. Tem incontinência ocasional. É incontinente ou usa sonda vesical necessitando de vigilância. Alimentar-se Come sem qualquer ajuda. Necessita de ajuda só para cortar os alimentos ou para barrar o pão. 						

	Avaliação das atividades Instrumentais da vida diária IADL-p
I	Capacidade para usar o telefone:
	1. Utiliza o telefone por iniciativa própria; procura e marca números, etc.
	2. Marca alguns números que conhecem bem.
	3. Atende o telefone mas não marca números.
	4. Não usa o telefone
Ш	Fazer compras:
	1. Consegue fazer as compras de que necessita sozinho
	2. Compra sozinho(a) pequenas coisas.
	3. Necessita de ser acompanhado para qualquer compra
	4. Incapaz de fazer compras.
III	Preparar refeições:
	1. Planeia, prepara e serve refeições adequadas, sozinho.
	2. Prepara refeições adequadas se possuir ingredientes necessários.
	3. Aquece, serve e prepara refeições mas não mantém uma dieta adequada.
	4. Necessita de refeições preparadas e servidas.
IV	Cuidar da casa
	1. Cuida da casa só ou com ajuda ocasional (exemplo: "trabalho doméstico pesado")
	2. Realiza tarefas diárias como lavar a louça ou fazer a cama
	3. Realiza tarefas domésticas diárias mas não mantém um nível aceitável de limpeza
	4. Necessita de ajuda em todas as tarefas domésticas
	5. Não participa em nenhuma tarefa doméstica
V	Lavar a roupa:
	1. Lava toda a sua roupa
	2. Lava pequenas peças de roupa
	3. É incapaz de lavar a sua roupa
VI	Modo de transporte:
	1. Desloca-se em transportes públicos ou viatura própria
	2. Não usa transportes públicos, exceto táxi
	3. Desloca-se em transportes públicos quando acompanhado
	4. Desloca-se utilizando táxi ou automóvel quando acompanhado por outro
	5. Incapaz de se deslocar
VII	Responsabilidade pela própria medicação:
	1. Toma a medicação nas doses e horas corretas
	2. Toma a medicação se preparada e separada por outros
	3. É incapaz de tomar a medicação
VIII	Habilidade para lidar com o dinheiro:
	1. Sozinho resolve problemas monetários como: passar cheques, pagar a renda
	2. Lida com compras do dia-a-dia mas necessita de ajuda para efetuar compras maiores
	3. Incapaz de lidar com o dinheiro

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

Avaliação do risco de quedas

Abaixo estão indicadas várias tarefas. À frente delas encontra-se uma linha (0-10) que mede o grau de confiança, ou seja, <u>o medo que você tem de cair na execução destas tarefas</u>. Marque na linha <u>com uma cruz</u> o grau de confiança que sente ao executar esta tarefa.

1	Vestir e despir-se	L 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	 10
2	Preparar uma refeição ligeira										
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
3	Tomar uma banho ou um duche										
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
				-		-	-		-	-	
4	Sentar/levantar da cadeira	1			1						
•		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	
		-	-	5	-	5	Ū	,	Ū	5	10
5	Deitar/levantar da cama			1							
5	Deltary levalitar da calila	1	2	2		5	6				10
		1	2	3	4	5	0	/	0	9	10
6	Atondor o porto ou o tolofono			1	1						1
0	Atender a porta ou o telefone				_						
		T	2	3	4	5	6	/	ð	9	10
-				1	1					1	1
/	Andar dentro de casa										
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
		i	Ì	1	i.	i	i.	i.	Ì	i	- 1
8	Chegar aos armários										
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
٥	Trabalho doméstico ligeiro										
5	(Limpar pó, fazer cama, lavar louça)										
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
10	Pequenas compras										
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

Questionário Internacional de Atividade Física – versão curta

As próximas questões referem-se ao tempo em que esteve fisicamente activo/a nos últimos 7 dias. Pense nas actividades que desenvolve na sua actividade profissional, nas suas deslocações, nas actividades referentes aos trabalhos em casa, no jardim ou no quintal/campo e nas actividades que efectuou no seu tempo livre para recreação ou prática de Exercício Físico. As suas respostas são muito importantes! Por favor, responda a todas as questões, mesmo que não se considere uma pessoa fisicamente activa.						
Ao responder às questões considere o seguinte:						
 Actividades Físicas Vigorosas referem-se a actividades que requerem um esforço físico intenso e que fazem ficar com a respiração ofegante; 						
 Actividades Físicas Moderadas referem-se a actividades que requerem esforço físico moderado e tornam a respiração um pouco mais forte que o normal. 						
Ao responder às questões considere apenas as Actividades Físicas que realizou durante pelo menos 10 minutos seguidos.						
Nos últimos 7 dias, em quantos dias fez actividades físicas VIGOROSAS, pelo menos 10 minutos seguidos, como por exemplo, correr, fazer ginástica aeróbica, jogar futebol, andar de bicicleta a um ritmo rápido, transportar objectos pesados, fazer trabalhos pesados em casa, no jardim ou no quintal/campo, como cavar, ou qualquer outra actividade que fez aumentar MUITO a sua respiração ou batimentos do coração?						
Dias						
Q2 Nos dias em que fez actividades físicas VIGOROSAS, durante quanto tempo, no total, realiza essas actividades?						
Horas Minutos						
Q3 Nos últimos 7 dias, em quantos dias fez actividades físicas MODERADAS, pelo menos 10 minutos seguidos, como por exemplo, dançar, andar de bicicleta a um ritmo normal, transportar objectos leves, fazer trabalhos em casa, no jardim ou no quintal/campo, como aspirar, varrer, cuidar das plantas, ou qualquer outra actividade que fez aumentar MODERADAMENTE a sua respiração ou batimentos do coração? Por favor não inclua o "Caminhar".						
Dias						
Q4 Nos dias em que faz actividades físicas MODERADAS, durante quanto tempo, no total, realiza essas actividades?						
Horas Minutos						
Q5 Nos últimos 7 dias, em quantos dias CAMINHOU pelo menos 10 minutos seguidos, em casa, no trabalho, como forma de deslocação, por lazer, por prazer ou como forma de Exercício Físico?						
Dias						
Q6 Nos dias em que CAMINHOU, quanto tempo, no total, costuma caminhar por dia?						
Horas Minutos						
Q7 Num dia normal, dos últimos 7 dias, quanto tempo passa SENTADO? Isto pode incluir o tempo que passa sentado a uma secretária, a conversar com amigos, a ler, a estudar, a descansar ou a ver televisão.						
Horas Minutos						

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

	Avaliação da Fragilidade Física							
	(Furtado, Teixeira & Ferreira, 2014); Fried, 2001)							
Instruções para pra aos arquivos médi posterior cálculo de	Instruções para preenchimento: um aplicador externo conduz os testes, respeitando a forma de avaliação de cada dimensão. Todavia, é valido recorrer aos arquivos médicos, caso alguma questão suscite dúvidas no seu preenchimento. Cada dimensão deverá passar pelo ajustamento estatístico para posterior cálculo do traço de fragilidade. Ver apêndice do estudo original							
1	Lentidão da marcha: Ao sinal o participante deve percorrer a distância de a distância de 4,6 metros em velocidade confortável num terreno plano, utilizando técnica de caminhada. Executar 3 tentativas para posterior cálculo da média dos valores, que deverão ser registrados em segundos:							
	1 ^ª 2 ^ª Média							
2	Perda de peso não intencional: perguntar ao participante a seguinte questão: Você perdeu 4 quilos ou mais de peso corporal de forma não intencional neste último ano? (ou valor acima de 5% do peso corporal, segundo registro médico). Duas opções de resposta:							
	1. 5111 2. Nau							
3	Força muscular: utilizando o teste de força de preensão manual, mensurar e registar a força no membro superior dominante. Executar 3 tentativas para posterior cálculo da média dos valores, que deverão ser registrados em quilos:							
	Lado: Direito Esquerdo1 ^ª FPM 2 ^ª 3 ^ª FPM FPM (total)							
4	Exaustão (perceção subjetiva): Fazer as 2 perguntas abaixo (7 e 20 CES-D) ao participante e verificar a concordância ne positiva entre elas: a) Senti que tudo do que fazia era um esforço: Sim b) Senti falta de energia:	gativa ou						
5	Avaliação dos níveis de atividade física: Aplicar o questionário IPAQ versão curta, que se encontra abaixo. Ler atentam questões antes de iniciar a aplicação.	ente as						

Mini Exame do Estado Mental

I	Orientação (Um ponto por cada resposta certa)
1	Em que ano estamos?
2	Em que mês estamos?
3	Em que dia do mês estamos?
4	Em que dia da semana estamos?
5	Em que estação do ano estamos?
6	Em que país estamos?
7	Em que distrito vive?
8	Em que terra vive?
9	Em que casa estamos?
10	Em que andar estamos?
	Pontos:
II	Retenção (contar um ponto por cada palavra corretamente repetida)
11	"Vou dizer três palavras; queria que as repetisse, mas só depois que eu as dizer todas, procure sabê-las de cor":
	(PÊRA – GATO – BOLA)
	Pontos:
111	Atenção e cálculo (um ponto por cada resposta correta. Se der uma errada mas depois continuar a subtrair, consideram-se as seguintes como corretas. Pára ao fim de 5 respostas)
12	"Agora peço-lhe que me diga quantos são 30 menos 3 e depois ao número encontrado voltar a tirar 3 e repete assim até eu dizer para parar" 30_2724211815
	Pontos:
IV	Evocação (um ponto por cada resposta correta)
13	"Veja se consegue dizer as 3 palavras que pedi há pouco para decorar" (Pêra – Gato – Bola)
	Pontos:

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

v	Linguagem (um ponto por cada resposta correta)						
14	"Como se chama isto?" Mostrar os objetos: Relógio e lá	pis Pontos:					
15	"Repita a frase que eu vou dizer: "O RATO ROEU A ROLH	A" Pontos:					
16	"Quando eu lhe der esta folha, pegue nela com a mão o "sobre a cama", se for o caso); dar a folha, segurando co a) Pega com a mão direita; b) Dobra ao meio; c) Colo	lireita, dobre-a ao meio e coloque-a sobre a mesa", (ou m as duas mãos. ca onde deve Pontos					
17	"Leia o que está neste cartão e faça o que lá diz". M OLHOS"; sendo analfabeto lê-se a frase. Fechou os olhos	ostrar um cartão com a frase bem legível, "FECHE OS					
	"Escreva uma frase inteira aqui". Deve ter sujeito e verb	Pontos o e fazer sentido; os erros gramaticais não prejudicam a					
18	pontuação.						
	Frase:Pontos						
VI	Habilidade construtiva (um ponto pela cópia correta do	desenho)					
19	Deve copiar um desenho. Dois pentágonos parcialmento quais intersectados. Não valorizar tremor ou rotação.	e sobrepostos; cada um deve ficar com 5 lados, dois dos					
	Desenho	Cópia					
		Pontos					

Atitudes Face ao Envelhecimento

AAQp-2

	Este questionário se refere a forma como se sente em relação ao envelhecer. Por favor, responda todas as questões. Se não se sente seguro a respeito da resposta a uma questão, escolha aquela que lhe parece mais apropriada. Muitas vezes, esta pode ser a primeira ideia que lhe surge. Por favor, tenha em mente seus valores, esperanças, prazeres e preocupações. Pedimos que pense na sua vida em geral.												
	Por exemplo, pensando como seria de modo geral, uma pergunta poderia ser:												
	Eu não gosto de envelhecer												
	Nada verdadeiro 1	Pouco verdadeiro 2	Mais ou menos verdadeiro 3	Extremamente verdadeiro 4									
	Para responder, deve circular o número que melhor descreva o quanto concorda com esta afirmação. Por favor, leia atentamente todas as afirmações, reflita sobre o que sente e assinale na escala a sua resposta.												
	Agora responda as questões abaixo, assinalando o <u>quanto você concorda com cada uma</u> das afirmações. As questões referem-se às pessoas idosas de uma forma geral.												
1	À medida que as p	essoas envelhecem	são mais capazes de lidar c	om a vida.									
	Nada verdadeiro 1	Pouco verdadeiro 2	Mais ou menos verdadeiro 3	Extremamente verdadeiro 4									
2	É um privilégio env	velhecer.											
	Nada verdadeiro 1	Pouco verdadeiro 2	Mais ou menos verdadeiro 3	Extremamente verdadeiro 4									
3	A velhice é um terr	npo de solidão.											
	Nada verdadeiro 1	Pouco verdadeiro 2	Mais ou menos verdadeiro 3	Extremamente verdadeiro 4									
4	A sabedoria vem c	om a idade.											
	Nada verdadeiro 1	Pouco verdadeiro 2	Mais ou menos verdadeiro 3	Extremamente verdadeiro 4									
5	Há muitas coisas p	razerosas no envelh	ecer.										
	Nada verdadeiro 1	Pouco verdadeiro 2	Mais ou menos verdadeiro 3	Extremamente verdadeiro 4									

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

6	A velhice é um per	íodo depressivo da	vida.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
7	É importante fazer	exercício em qualqu	ier idade.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
8	Envelhecer tem sid	lo mais fácil do que	pensava.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
9	À medida que enve	elheço tenho mais d	lificuldade em falar sobre o	s meus sentimentos.									
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
10	À medida que envelheço aceito-me cada vez mais a mim próprio(a).												
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
11	Não me sinto velho	o(a).											
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
12	Vejo a velhice prin	cipalmente como u	m período de perda.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
13	A minha identidad	e não é definida pel	a minha idade.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
14	Tenho mais energi	a do que esperava t	er na minha idade.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									
15	Estou a perder a m	inha independência	a física à medida que fico m	ais velho(a).									
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro									
	1	2	3	4									

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

16	Problemas com a minha saúde física não me impedem de fazer o que quero.													
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										
17	À medida que me	torno mais velho(a)	encontro maior dificuldade	e em fazer novos amigos.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										
18	É muito importante transmitir a minha experiência aos mais jovens.													
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										
19	Acredito que a minha vida foi relevante.													
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro Extremamente ve											
	1	2	3 4											
20	Agora que estou m	ais velho(a), não m	e sinto envolvido(a) na soc	iedade.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										
21	Quero ser um bom	exemplo para os m	ais jovens.											
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										
22	Sinto-me excluído	(a) de algumas coisa	s, devido à minha idade.											
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										
23	A minha saúde est	á melhor do que esp	perava para a minha idade.											
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										
24	Procuro manter-m	e tão em forma e at	ivo(a) quanto possível, fazo	endo exercício.										
	Nada verdadeiro	Pouco verdadeiro	Mais ou menos verdadeiro	Extremamente verdadeiro										
	1	2	3	4										

Avaliação Autoestima Global

	Para cada item faça uma cruz sobre o retângulo que corresponde à conceção de valor que												
	tem por si próprio(a):												
		Concordo		Concordo		Discordo		Discordo					
		Plenamente		concordo		Discordo		Plenamente					
						[]							
1	No geral, estou satisfeito comigo mesmo.												
_													
		[]				[]							
2	Por vezes penso que não sou nada bom												
	(a).												
	Cinto mus tamba um ham número da												
3	Sinto que tenno um bom numero de qualidades												
	quanuaues.												
	Estou anto(a) para fazer coisas tão hem												
4	como a maioria das pessoas.												
_	Sinto que não tenho muito de que me												
5	orgulhar.												
C	Sinto-me por vezes inútil.												
6													
	Sinto que sou uma pessoa de valor, pelo												
7	menos num plano de igualdade com os												
	outros.												
8	Gostava de ter mais respeito por mim												
	Em termos gerais estou inclinado(a) a												
9	sentir que sou um(a) falhado(a).												
	Eu tomo uma atitude positiva perante												
10	mim mesmo(a).												

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

Avaliação Autoeficácia Geral percecionada

Para cada item faça uma cruz sobre o retângulo que corresponde à conceção de valor que tem por si próprio(a): De modo Moderadam Dificilmente é Exatamente nenhum é ente verdade Verdade verdade verdade Eu consigo resolver sempre os problemas 1 difíceis se eu tentar bastante. Se alguém se opuser, eu posso encontrar os 2 meios e as formas de alcançar o que eu quero. É fácil para mim, agarrar-me às minhas 3 intenções e atingir os meus objetivos. estou confiante que poderia lidar, Eu 4 eficientemente, com acontecimentos inesperados. Graças ao meu desembaraço, eu sei como lidar 5 com situações imprevistas. Eu posso resolver a maioria de problemas se eu 6 investir o esforço necessário. Eu posso manter-me calmo ao enfrentar 7 dificuldades porque eu posso confiar nas minhas capacidades para enfrentar as situações. Quando eu sou confrontado com um problema, geralmente eu consigo encontrar diversas 8 soluções. Se eu estiver com problemas, geralmente 9 consigo pensar em algo para fazer. Quando tenho um problema pela frente, 10 geralmente ocorrem-me várias formas para resolvê-lo.

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

- Utilização sujeita a autorização prévia -

GSEE-p

	Perceção face ao estresse (Mota-Cardoso, 2002)													
	Para cada questão, pedimos que indique com que frequência se sentiu ou pensou de determina maneira, <u>durante o último mês</u> . Apesar de algumas perguntas serem parecidas, existem diferen entre elas e deve responder a cada uma como perguntas separadas. Responda de forma rápid espontânea. Para cada questão, escolha a alternativa que melhor se ajusta à sua situação.													
	QN:	N:	PV:	-	AF	-		MF:						
	Quase nunca	Nunca	uma fre	equência	Muit	o frequ	ente							
1	Com que freque ocorrer um acon	ência tem ficado tecimento inespe	chateado pelo f rado?	acto de										
2	Com que frequência tem sentido a sensação de ser incapaz de controlar as coisas importantes na sua vida?													
3	Com que frequência se tem sentido nervoso(a) ou stressado(a)?													
4	Com que frequência tem lidado com sucesso com os problemas e com as contrariedades do dia-a-dia?													
5	Com que frequência se tem sentido efetivamente envolvido(a) nas alterações importantes que ocorrem na sua vida?													
6	Com que frequêr capacidade de lic	ncia se tem sentid dar com os seus p	o confiante acerca roblemas?	da sua										
7	Com que frequê correr como que	ncia tem sentido ria?	que as coisas lhe	estão a										
8	Com que frequ resposta a tudo a	ência tem sentio aquilo que tem pa	lo que é incapaz ra fazer?	de dar										
9	Com que frequêr irritantes na sua	ncia tem sido capa vida?	az de controlar situ	ações										
10	Com que frequé controlo?	ência tem sentid	o que tem as co	isas sob										
11	Com que frequêr coisas que estão	ncia se tem sentid fora do seu contr	o irritado/ chateac olo?	lo por										
12	Com que frequé coisas que tem p	ència tem dado o ara fazer?	consigo a pensar s	sobre as										
13	Com que frequêr como gasta o seu	ncia tem sido capa u tempo?	az de controlar o m	odo										
14	Com que frequêr a acumular tanto	ncia tem sentido o o que será incapaz	que as dificuldade s de as superar?	se estão										

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

Escala de avaliação da Depressão (Gonçalves & Fagulha, 2003)

CES-Dp

	Nesta página encontra uma lista das maneiras como se pode ter sentido ou reagido <u>durante a última</u> <u>semana</u> . Faça uma cruz no quadrado que se identifica com os seus sentimentos tendo em conta que												
	as opções significam:												
		Nunca ou muito raramente	Ocasional mente	Com alguma frequência	Com muita frequência ou sempre								
Durar	nte a semana passada												
1	Fiquei aborrecido com coisas que habitualmente não me aborrecem.												
	Não me apeteceu comer: estava sem												
2	apetite.												
2	Senti que nao consegui livrar-me da												
3	ajuda dos amigos ou da família.												
4	Senti que valia tanto como os outros.												
5	Tive dificuldades em manter-me												
3	concentrado no que estava a fazer												
6	Senti-me deprimido.												
				[]									
7	Senti que tudo do que fazia era um												
	estorço.												
8	Senti-me confiante no futuro												
0													
0	Pensei que a minha vida tinha sido um												
9	fracasso.												
10	Senti-me com medo.												
11	Dormi mal.												

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

CIDAF - Centro de Investigação em Desporto e Atividade Física

12	Senti-me feliz.				
13	Falei menos do que o costume.				
14	Senti-me sozinho.				
15	As pessoas foram desagradáveis ou pouco amigáveis comigo				
16	Senti prazer ou gosto na vida.				
17	Tive ataques de choro.				
		 1		1	
18	Senti-me triste.				
19	Senti que as pessoas não gostavam de mim.				
20	Senti falta de energia.				

Escala das "caras" para avaliação da felicidade (Ribeiro & Matos, 2012)

Instruções: Aqui estão várias "caras" que representam alguns sentimentos. Por baixo de cada uma está uma letra. Qual das caras expressa melhor a forma como se sente (em relação à sua vida de modo geral)?

	DT:	D:	DL:	N:	CL:				C:		CT:				
т	Discordo Discordo Discordo Nem Concordo Ligeiramente			do Io	C Lig	Concor	do ente	Conco	ordo	Concordo Totalmente					
						Г	D	DL	Ν	CL	С	СТ			
S1. Na maioria dos aspetos a minha vida está próxima do ideal															
S3.	Estou satisfe	eito com a vida													
S4.	Até agora o	btive a coisa mais	importante que q	ueria na vida											
	Se pudesse	viver de novo a r	ninha vida, não m	nudaria quase											
S5.	nada														

Mediação hormonal do exercício na cognição, no estresse e na imunidade.

ANNEX III: PUBLISHED ARTICLES

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/archger

Physical frailty and cognitive status over-60 age populations: A systematic review with meta-analysis



Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado^{a,g,*}, Adriana Caldo^{a,g}, Taís Rieping^{b,g}, Edith Filaire^{d,e,f,g}, Eef Hogervorst^{c,g}, Ana Maria Botelho Teixeira^{a,g}, José Pedro Ferreira^{a,g,*,1}

^a Research Unit of Physical Activity and Sport at Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education (CIDAF, UID/PDT/04213/2016) – University of Coimbra, Portugal

^b Laboratory of Sport and Exercise Psychology of Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education of University of Coimbra, Portugal

^c School of Sport, Exercise and Health Sciences, Loughborough University, United Kingdom

^d CIAMS, University Paris-Sud, Université, Paris-Saclay, 91405, Orsay Cedex, France

e CIAMS, Université d'Orléans, 45067, Orléans, France

f Research Team ECRIN, INRA, UMR 1019, Clermont-Ferrand, France

⁸ Medical Psychology Unit, School of Medicine, Clinical Neuroscience and Mental Health, University of Porto, Al. Prof. Hernâni Monteiro, 4200-319, Porto, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Frail older adults Geriatric assessment Mild cognitive impairment Mini-Mental state exam

ABSTRACT

The aim of this meta-analysis was to analyse the magnitude of the effect-size of the cognitive status of populations over 60 years of age, when comparing nonfrail versus pre-frail and nonfrail versus frail subgroups. A systematic review of prospective studies published from 2000 to 2017 was completed in Medline, B-on, Ebsco, Ebsco Health, Scielo, ERIC, LILACS and Sport discus databases and observational, cohort and cross-sectional studies were selected. The Mini-Mental State Examination to screening cognitive status and the Fried phenotype for assess physical frailty state was used as clinical outcomes. After applying additional search criteria, 14 manuscripts (26,798 old participants) were selected from an initial universe of 1681 identified. When comparing the scores of cognitive status of the participants who were non-frail (n = 12,729, 47.4%) versus pre-frail (n = 11,559, 43.2%) and non-frail versus frail (n = 2452, 9.4%) subgroups, significant statistical differences were found for both comparisons (M \pm SD = 0.60, 95%CI: 0.50-0.62, p < 0.001 and M \pm SD = 3.43, 95%CI: 2.26-4.60, p < 0.001, respectively). It is clear that poor cognitive function is strongly closed associated with pre-frailty and frailty subgroups in older populations around the world.

1. Introduction

Increasing functional health status in older adults across the life has been given more attention in the last decade (WHO, 2012), including both cognitive and physical functioning. Cognitive status refers to all fundamental mental skills that regulate humans' lifestyles, such as instrumental daily life activities and complex behaviours (Carlson et al., 2009). An older age has been shown to be a risk factor for early dementia and age-related cognitive decline in specific areas, such as episodic memory (Misiak et al., 2013), with a third to half of the older adults in Europe complaining of cognitive impairment (CI), a possible precursor of early dementia (Verdelho et al., 2011). Recently, studies have found that older people with lower physical function, called the Physical Frailty syndrome (PFS), were more likely to develop CI (Buchman & Bennett, 2013; Gray et al., 2013). However, conversely,

individuals with IC can also enter a spiral of early physical-functional decline, e.g. through engaging in less activity because they feel less secure and/or because a common co-factor (e.g. dementia pathology) driving both CI and apraxia (the inability to perform learned activities and routines) (Brigola et al., 2015; Panza et al., 2015; Ruan et al., 2015)

PFS is thought to be highly prevalent in old age, particularly in those with low education and those of low socioeconomic status (Guessous et al., 2014). According to Fried's model, the phenotype of clinical PFS is characterized by a critical mass of three or more "core frail components" which are: i) weight loss > 10 lbs in past year, ii) weak grip strength (lowest quintile), iii) exhaustion (by self-report), iv) slow gait speed (lowest quintile) and v) low physical activity (lowest quintile) (Fried et al., 2001). Likewise, Ensrud in 2007 identified the physical frailty phenotype as having the following components: i)

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2018.07.004

Received 10 April 2018; Received in revised form 25 June 2018; Accepted 5 July 2018 Available online 06 July 2018

0167-4943/ © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

^{*} Corresponding authors at: Research Unit of Physical activity and Sport at Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education (CIDAF, UID/PDT/04213/2016), Estádio Universitário - Pavilhão III, Santa Clara, 3040-156, Coimbra, Portugal.

E-mail addresses: furts2001@yahoo.com.br (G.E. Furtado), jpferreira@fcdef.uc.pt (J.P. Ferreira).

¹ President of International Federation of European Adapted Physical Activity.

diminished levels of physical activity ii) unintentional weight loss, iii) self-rated fatigue, as also identified by impaired hand grip strength and low performance in gait speed (Ensrud et al., 2007).

While these criteria have mainly physical components, Campbell and Buchner (1997) measured PFS by incorporating specific physical and cognitive tests, comprising i) grip strength, ii) chair stand, iii) submaximal treadmill performance, iv) 6 min walking test, v) static Balance Test, vi) body mass index (to assess weight loss), vii) arm muscle area (to assess sarcopenia, the muscle loss associated with frailty) but also viii) Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) to assess cognitive impairment (Campbell & Buchner, 1997; Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975). These multiple tests thus assess both physiological and psychological/cognitive functioning to allow for identification of specific areas of potential disability, which could perhaps be targeted by specific interventions (Brigola et al., 2015). However, because of its ease of application, the Fried model has been widely disseminated in several studies around the world (Theou et al., 2015).

Whether only one or several assessments are useful in the diagnoses of PFS is important for the complexity and cost of screening (Hamaker et al., 2012). For instance, according to some criteria, mental or cognitive impairment is a crucial factor for PFS and this would need to be assessed using objective instruments (Panza et al., 2015). On the other hand, PFS may also be an early indicator for possible later dementia (Gray et al., 2013). One study showed that at post-mortem, Alzheimer Disease brain pathology was associated with PFS both in people with and without dementia (Buchman et al., 2013).

Epidemiological studies demonstrate the interconnection between physical frailty and cognitive performance. However, longitudinal studies show this relationship and the emergence of cognitive changes, cognitive impairment and dementia to be associated with an increased risk of frailty status in older populations. Some systematic reviews have been carried out in order to clarify this association (Brigola et al., 2015; Panza et al., 2015; Ruan et al., 2015). However, a recent review of cross-sectional data used meta-analysis, comparing the means scores of MMSE among pre-frail and frail sub-groups, but omitted the non frail group data (Furtado, Teixeira, & Ferreira, 2017). The present paper, in order to complement this systematic review with metanalysis (SM) and to clarify the magnitude of effect size in mean cognitive status investigated frail, pre frail and non frail subgroups using the Fried of Physical Frailty Protocol.

2. Methods

2.1. Data sources

This work followed a pre-determined and published protocol available in PROSPERO 2017: number registration CRD42017057360 (Furtado, Caldo et al., 2017). The search was conducted in English language (published or in press) in the following databases: Medline, Bon, Ebsco, Ebsco Health, Scielo, ERIC, LILACS and Sportdiscus databases, with access made between December of 2016 and July of 2017, using the advanced meta-search option in which original articles of epidemiological studies of cross-sectional, observational, cohort and population-based published between 2000-2017. Key Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) and search indexed descriptors were used to refine the data search (Huang, Névéol, & Lu, 2011): ((("frail elderly" [MeSH Terms] OR "frail" [MeSH Terms]) AND "cognition" [MeSH Terms]) OR ([mild cognitive impairment]] AND "frail older adults" [MeSH Terms]) OR "frail older adults" [MeSH Terms] AND "[mini-mental State examination or MMSE]" AND "Fried criteria" AND "Frailty Phenotype AND "Phenotype of Fried. Studies done in the last 17 years, with samples of people over 60 years of age of both genders, who were not hospitalized samples were selected. The data source strategy included also additional terms related to indexed descriptors such as 'Fried criteria', 'Fried Phenotype of Frailty' and 'Fried Phenotype'.

2.2. Central criteria of selected studies

The search was further limited by selecting articles including the Fried's model to assess frailty status and Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) to assess cognitive status. The PFS Phenotype was developed by Linda Fried and collaborators (Fried et al., 2001). After consecutive studies on older adults samples, they identified five dimensions which translated into five criteria to operationalize PFS. Weight loss was assessed by self-reporting, targeting unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months or a loss of 5% of total body weight in the three months prior to the assessment date. Self report exhaustion was evaluated by negative concordance of questions number 7 and 20 of the Centre of Epidemiologic Studies in Depression scale. Weakness was analyzed using the handgrip strength test, adjusted for gender/body mass index. Slowness was measured using the 4.6 m walking test, which results are expressed in seconds and adjusted for gender/height. Low PA levels were assessed using the Minnesota Questionnaire - short version. The positive evaluation in one or two negative criteria classified the participants as pre-frail, in three or more as frail and as non-frail or robust, when the subject had none of the FS five criteria (Fried et al., 2001).

The MMSE is an instrument composed by 30 questions, and is able to assess the cognitive profile based on the evaluation of six areas of cognition: orientation, immediate recall, attention, calculation, delayed recall, and language (Han, Lee, & Kim, 2014; Mungas, 1991). It is a continuous score, ranging from 0 to 30 points (pts) and according to the criteria established in several studies, the following cut-off values that classify individuals (categorical scores) on cognitive profiles are: a) severe cognitive impairment (from 1 to 9 pts); b) moderate cognitive impairment (10 to 18 pts) mild cognitive impairment (19 to 24 pts), d) normal cognitive status (25 pts and above) (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975).

2.3. Exclusion criteria

The exclusion criteria of the present study comprised the elimination of all articles that did not meet the initial selection criteria (include both MMSE and FPS), had poorly defined dimensions, did not report MSSE scores as mean and standard deviation, examination of middleaged adults was omitted. Extended or congress abstracts, systematic reviews, book chapters, letters to editor, short surveys, study protocols, and interventional studies were also excluded.

2.4. Data extraction

The initial search to create the present study was carried out by two independent research assistants, who were trained in SM methods. Each research assistant performed the independent-blindly search and at the end of the work, the principal research was conducted a short briefing to assess the level of agreement of the search procedures. All titles and abstracts of identified articles were screened and the full-text articles were assessed for potential inclusion by the principal investigator and any conflicts that arose were reviewed until an agreement was reached. For the final selection of the articles we included all based-population studies, according to the FS subgroups non-frail, pre-frail and frail (as a categorical variable) as well as compare the mean scores of the MMSE results (as a continuous variable), according to the aforementioned subgroups.

2.5. Quality assessment (QA)

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Statement for the organization of this study was followed (Panic et al., 2013). PRISMA describes the four stages (identification, screening, eligibility, final selection) needed to perform the search and selection of manuscripts under a SM, and feature the graphic option to draw a flowchart (Liberati et al., 2009). At the same time, the PRISMA presents the PICOS acronym ('patient, problem or population', 'intervention', 'comparison, control or comparison', 'outcomes'), which directs the refinement of the systematic search, making the process more effective (Panic et al., 2013). In addition to this method, we chose to use the Strengthening Reporting of Observational studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) Positioning Statement, that the characterization of each assessed item has been described in detail elsewhere (Malta et al., 2010). This method consists of a checklist comprising 22 items, which characterizes a manuscript based on the quality assessment that it presents. In this study, we used a STROBE combined model of study designs, which is specifically assesses observational, epidemiological, population-based, cross-sectional or cohort studies (Abevsena, 2011). After applying the above criteria we attributed to the total score of the 22 items a value of 100%. The purpose of this procedure was not to use an established cut-off point to enter/or not enter the meta-analysis. Instead, the percentage value was used to identify studies in which low quality assessment could interfere with the results of the SM.

2.6. Statistical analysis

The results are expressed by calculating the values of the standardized mean and standard deviation (M \pm SD) differences in MMSE scores when comparing the subgroups of NFvsPF and NFvsF, as well as their respective variance, confidence intervals (CI:95%), the magnitude of the effect size and levels of statistical significance, which was set at $p \le 0.05$ (Batterham & Hopkins, 2006). The global M ± SD of the studies included in this review were calculated based on the random effects model, including the assumption of heterogeneity of the studies and their participants. The risk of publication bias was assessed by the method of visual inspection method of the scatter plot generated by the Egger's intercept test (Egger et al., 1997). This graphic assumes a format of an 'inverted funnel plot' inserted by a midline, with analogue display of points representing the studies included in the graphical analysis (Sterne, Egger, & Smith, 2001). Heterogeneity was measured using the Chi square, Cochran's Q, the Higgin I squared (I²) and Tau square tests (T^2) , assuming that a $T^2 > 1$ suggests presence of substantial statistical heterogeneity. In terms of I² test analysis, the percentage of the variance attributed to the heterogeneity of the study, ranges from low $(25\% < I^2 < 50\%)$ to high $(I^2 > 75\%)$ (Egger et al., 1997). If the Q test is statistically significant (set at p < 0.05) there is also evidence of heterogeneity. The SM was performed using the statistical program Comprehensive Meta-Analysis - Version 3.0 (Bax et al., 2007).

3. Results

3.1. Data search

Fig. 1 shows the paths covered for final studies selection that were later included in the meta-analysis. The initial search identified 1681 potentially eligible papers. After excluding articles following a review of titles and abstracts, replication and others reasons, such as systematic reviews and intervention studies, 149 full-text articles were examined in the screening stage. After applying the central criteria to the studies, 56 papers were advanced for the eligibility phase. From the eligibility stage, criteria such as presentation of MMSE scores as a categorical variable and treating the physical frailty as a continuous variable, as well as studies carried out with the same database, were the most common reason for papers exclusion. In total, 20 studies were included after quality analysis and six studies were excluded.

3.2. Characteristics of studies and participants

Table 1 shows the 14 epidemiological studies were included for data quantitative meta-analysis. The 14 studies included for final data analysis have a total sample of 26,798 participants which came from 11

different countries, with mean and their respective standard deviation of ages varying between 61.8 (1.4) to 87.5 (5.4) years old. Overall, the sample included 12,729 (47.4%) non-frail, 11,559 pre-frail (43.2%) and 2452 (9.4%) frail individuals. A total of 10 studies had samples from both genders (Abizanda et al., 2013; Al-Kuwaiti, Aziz, & Blair, 2015; Avila-Funes et al., 2009; Han et al., 2014; Kiely, Cupples, & Lipsitz, 2009; Macuco et al., 2012; Ottenbacher et al., 2009; Robertson et al., 2014; Tay et al., 2016; Yassuda et al., 2012), but only the study carried out by Sook-Han and colleagues presented a separate analysis performed by gender (Han et al., 2014). Three studies included female participants (Alencar et al., 2013; Furtado, Caldo et al., 2017; Samper-Ternent et al., 2008) and one study included only older men (Jacobs et al., 2011).

As we see in Table 2, four types of epidemiological studies were found: Three longitudinal (Avila-Funes et al., 2009; Ottenbacher et al., 2009; Samper-Ternent et al., 2008), four cohort (Abizanda et al., 2013; Alencar et al., 2013; Jacobs et al., 2011; Tay et al., 2016), six crosssectional (Al-Kuwaiti et al., 2015; Furtado, Caldo et al., 2017; Han et al., 2014; Macuco et al., 2012; Robertson et al., 2014; Yassuda et al., 2012) and one observational study (Kiely et al., 2009). Study designs and full details are summarized in Table 1. The cognitive status measured by MMSE was assumed as the central outcome in 11 studies (Alencar et al., 2013; Al-Kuwaiti et al., 2015; Avila-Funes et al., 2009; Han et al., 2014; Jacobs et al., 2011; Kiely et al., 2009; Macuco et al., 2012; Ottenbacher et al., 2009; Robertson et al., 2014; Samper-Ternent et al., 2008; Yassuda et al., 2012) and as a co-variate in three studies (Abizanda et al., 2013; Furtado, Caldo et al., 2017; Tay et al., 2016). All of the included papers used a version of Fried's model and their respective five components were used to create frail sub-groups. However, the study conducted by Laura Tay and collaborators (Tay et al., 2016) did not have the three frailty subgroups and the main investigator decided to introduce it only in the statistical analyses that compared the non-frail versus frail individuals.

When looking to the mean scores of cognitive performance in the PFS subgroups and taking into account the cut-off values of the cognitive status by MMSE, In all studies the frail subgroup was classified as having cognitive impairment (MMSE lower 24 pts), expect for studies carried out in France (Avila-Funes et al., 2009), United States (Kiely et al., 2009) and Ireland (Robertson et al., 2014). In the pre-frail subgroup, a total of 7 studies (USA, South Korea, Brazil, Portugal, Mexico and United Arab Emirates) also presented the same cut-of values to classified participants as a cognitive impairment (Alencar et al., 2013; Al-Kuwaiti et al., 2015; Furtado, Patrício et al., 2017; Han et al., 2014; Macuco et al., 2012; Ottenbacher et al., 2009; Yassuda et al., 2012).

3.3. Magnitude of effect size

Regarding the central hypothesis of this SM, we attempted to assess whether the frailty subgroups, non-frail versus pre-frail (NFvsPF) and non-frail *versus* frail (NFvsF) differed in mean and standard deviation scores for cognitive performance. The results showed that the global effects of MMSE mean and standard deviation differences were statistically significant for both NFvsPF (M \pm SD = 0.60, 95%CI: 0.50-0.62, p < 0.001) and NFvsF (M \pm SD = 3.43, 95%CI: 2.26–4.60, p < 0.001) comparisons. The results of Z-values test scores showed that we may reject the null hypothesis as the frail subgroups-effect was not associated with cognitive performance) in both comparisons (NFvsPF, Z = 18.31 and NFvsF, Z = 5.73) (Fig. 2).

3.4. Homogeneity effects

To determine whether the observed variation fell within the interval assigned to the error of the studies sample and to test the null hypothesis according to which all the studies involved in this SM share a magnitude of common effects, the Cochran's Q test (Q) was used. If all studies share the same magnitude of effects, the expected value of Q



Fig. 1. Flow diagram of studies selection according PRISMA guidelines (Panic et al., 2013).

would be equal to the degrees of freedom, i.e., the number of studies minus 1. The value obtained from Q test for both comparisons were 857.820, with 14° of freedom (NFvsF) and 417.520, with 13° of freedom (NFvsPF). In both comparisons the values were statistical significant (p < 0.001) accepting the alternative hypothesis, i.e., the true magnitude of the effect varies from study to study.

The statistics of I^2 corresponded to the ratio of the real heterogeneity of the total variation of the observed effects, that is, it tells us what proportion (percentage) of the observed variance reflects the differences in the true magnitude of the effect rather than in the error of the sample(Dinnes et al., 2005). The obtained value of $I^2 = 98.368$ (NFvsF) and 96.886 (NFvsPF) which means that about 98.40% of the variance reflects the true effects. The Tau squared (T^2) values correspond to the variance of the true effect sizes among studies which were in the current SRM, 4.92 (NFvsF) and 0.54 (NFvsPF).

Table 1

Quality assessment scores of selected studies based on the STROBE check-list.

Items (paper sessions)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	100%	22
1. (Abizanda et al., 2013)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
2. (Alencar et al., 2013)	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	86%	19
3. (Avila-Funes et al., 2009)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	100%	22
4. (Furtado, Caldo et al., 2017; Furtado, Patrício et al., 2017; Furtado,	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
Teixeira et al., 2017)																								
5a. (Han et al., 2014)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	100%	22
5b. (Han et al., 2014)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	100%	22
6. (Jacobs et al., 2011)	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	91%	20
7. (Kiely et al., 2009)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
8. (Robertson et al., 2014)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	86%	19
9. (Samper-Ternent et al., 2008)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	95%	21
11. (Al-Kuwaiti et al., 2015)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	91%	20
12. (Macuco et al., 2012)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	86%	19
13. (Ottenbacher et al., 2009)	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	82%	18
14. (Yassuda et al., 2012)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	82%	18
15. (Tay et al., 2016)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	91%	20
Median of total scores																							92%	20
Author's study	Country of Samples population	Sex	Age (M ± SD)	Study Method	Frailty Su samples d (100%)	ıbgroups listribution		Mini-men subgroups (M ± SD)	tal scores by	/ Frailty	Central outcomes	Main goal												
---	-------------------------------------	------------	-----------------------------------	---------------------------------	--	--------------------------	----------------	-----------------------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------	---	--												
					Non-frail n (%)	Pre-frail n (%)	Frail n (%)	Non- frail	Pre-frail	Frail														
1. Abizanda et al. (2013)	Albacete, Spain	M/F	79,4 ± 6,4	Cohort	n = 993 168 (16.9%)	482 (48.5%)	286 (22.8%)	26.61 (3.23)	24.92 (4.91)	22.31 (5.52)	Physical Frailty, morality, disability and activities of daily living	To analyse whether frailty implies increased risk of death and incident disability.												
2. Alencar et al. (2013)	Belo Horizonte, Brazil	ш	78,37 ± 7,2	Cohort	n = 160 47 (23.7)	112 (54.1)	48 (23.2)	24.02 (4.03)	21.11 (5.99)	17.02 (5.43)	denty notice Physical Frailty, cognitive status, hospitalization and death	Evaluate associations between frailty status and cognitive decline as well as the incidence of cognitive impairment over 12-												
3. Avila-Funes et al. (2009)	3 cities, France	M/F	$74,1 \pm 5,2$	Longitudinal	n = 603(2738 (45.4)	0 2871 (47.6)	421 (7)	27.51 (1.93)	27.42 (1.93)	26.91 (2.01)	Physical Frailty, mortality incidence, disability and cognitive profile	month period. To determine whether adding cognitive impairment to frailty improves its predictive validity for adverse health												
4 a. Han et al. (2014)	25 cities, South	М	$68,1 \pm 5,4$	Cross-sectional	$n = 429^{4}$ 2200 (51.2)	4 1719 (40.3)	375 (8.7)	26.10 (2.93)	24.42 (3.21)	21.53 (5.11)	Physical Frailty and coonitive abilities	oucoures. To analyse Association between frailty and coonitive disorder in community people.												
4b. Han et al. (2014)	25 cities, South Korea	н	64,8 ± 3,72	Cross-sectional	$n = 609^{2}$ 2593 (42.5)	4 2894 (47.4)	607 (10.1)	23.81 (3.92)	21.73 (4.54)	18.61 (5.72)	Physical Frailty and cognitive abilities	regeneration and the manufacture of the second seco												
5. Jacobs et al. (2011)	Jerusalem, Israel	M	87,5 ± 5,4	Cohort	n = 834 206 (24.5)	470 (56)	164 (19.5)	28.21 (2.34)	27.01 (2.72)	22.22 (6.12)	Physical Frailty and cognitive status	To examine the association between frailty and cognitive impairment and the immost on 5 prosec entrying												
6 . Kiely et al. (2009)	Boston, United States	M/F	$78,1 \pm 5,4$	Observational	n = 760 389 (51.2)	295 (38.8)	76 (10)	27.31 (2.53)	26.78 (2.72)	25.39 (3.21)	Physical Frailty, falls, disability and hosniralization	and the inpact on operate survival To validate two established fraility indexes and compare their ability to predict adverse outcomes												
7. Robertson et al. (2014)	Dublin, Ireland	M/F	$61,8 \pm 1,4$	Cross-Sectional	n = 434 ⁽ 3115 (71.6)	9 1144 (26.3)	90 (2.1)	28.88 (1.52)	28.41 (1.82)	27.63 (2.23)	Physical Frailty and cognitive abilities	To explore the relationship between cognitive function and physical frailty												
8. Samper-Ternent et al. (2008)	Texas, United States	н	75,2 ± 5,8	Longitudinal	n = 1370 684 (49.9)	626 (45.7)	60 (4.4)	26.11 (2.97)	25.41 (3.22)	24.81 (3.05)	Physical Frailty and cognitive profile	synurome. Examine the association between frailty status and change in cognitive function over time												
9. Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015)	United Arab Emirates, Abudabi	M/F	$65,6 \pm 6,2$	Cross-Sectional	n = 151 75 (46.9)	53 (33.1)	23 (14.4)	24.72 (1.52)	23.71 (2.64)	19.73 (3.88)	Physical Frailty	To determine the prevalence and correlates of frailty												
10. Macuco et al. (2012) 11. Ottenbacher et al. (2009)	Sao Paulo, Brazil Texas, United	M/F M/F	72.3 ± 5.8 74.03 ± 6.4	Cross-Sectional Longitudinal	n = 384 142 (36.9) n = 777	211 (54.9)	31 (8.2)	24.56 (2.77) 21.71	23.63 (3.72) 21.87	20.52 (5.54) 19.14	Physical Frailty and cognitive status	To examine the association between frailty and cognitive functioning												
	Status			0	191 (24.5)	425 (54.6)	161 (20.9)	(3.88)	(41.10)	(5.63)	Physical Frailty and cognitive performance.	We examined the prevalence of frailty and explored the correlates associated with disability and morbidity												
12 . Yassuda et al. (2012)	Sao Paulo, Brazil	M/F	72.3 ± 5.8	Cross-Sectional	n = 384 142 (36.9)	211 (54.9)	31 (8.2)	24.66 (3.78)	23.68 (3.76)	20.50 (5.55)	Physical Frailty and cognitive function.	To explore the relationship between cognitive function and frailty. (contrinued on next page)												

Table 2 (continued)												
Author's study	Country of Samples population	Sex	Age (M ± SD)	Study Method	Frailty Subg samples dis (100%)	groups tribution		Mini-ment subgroups (M ± SD)	al scores by	Frailty	Central outcomes	Main goal
					Non-frail n (%)	Pre-frail n (%)	Frail n (%)	Non- frail	Pre-frail	Frail		
 Furtado, Teixeira et al., 2017; Furtado, Caldo et al., 2017; Furtado, Patrício et al., 2017) 	Coimbra, Portugal	н	81.96 ± 7.9	Cross-Sectional	n = 119 19 (15.9)	n = 46 (38.7)	n = 54 (45.4)	23.75 (3.98)	21.58 (4.84)	18.11 (5.17)	Physical Frailty and physical fitness	To explore the relationship between physical frailty and physical fitness
14 Torr of al (2016)	Cinconom	M /E	76.6 + 6.7	Cohort	n = 99			16 70		10.02		
14. 1ay et al. (2010)	Southeast Asia.	M/ F			20 (20.2)	1	79 (79.8)	(3.76)	I	(5.11)	Physical Frailty and cognitive status	To examine the independent and combined effects of inflammation and endocrine dysregulation on baseline frailty status and frailty progression at one year

3.5. Publication bias

To assess hypothetical publication bias, we initially performed the visual inspection of the funnel plot, suggesting low evidence for publication bias. However, we used Egger intercept test and standard deviation (SD), Confidence interval (CI): n95% and degree of freedom (df) to test the null hypothesis according to which the intercept is equal to zero (Fig. 3). The result for NFvsF intercept comparison was 5.05 (SE = 2.96, CI:95% = $-1.27 \cdot 11.38$, t = 1.72, df = 13 and p = 0.10) and for NFvsFF comparison the intercept comparison was 3.34 (SE = 2.05, CI:95% = $-1.12 \cdot 7.81$, t = 1.63, df = 12 and p = 0.12). In the both comparisons the p value was not significant, indicating no strong evidence for publication bias.

4. Discussion

4.1. Frailty, age and gender

Regarding PFS and sex differences, the older literature points to a similar association between physical frailty and cognitive decline in both male and female older adults (Han et al., 2014). It is perhaps for this reason that many authors did not present the statistical analyses stratified for sex. However, findings in recent studies that used other PFS screen tools are unanimous in revealing a higher incidence of PFS in older women when compared to older men (Chang & Lin, 2015; Theou et al., 2011, 2015). Older men (with or without cognitive decline) have physical frailty associated with a higher incidence of mortality when compared to older women and such results were corroborated in 3 studies selected for this SM (Abizanda et al., 2015; Avila-Funes et al., 2009; Jacobs et al., 2011). In the present study, similar to occurred in a previous study (Furtado, Teixeira et al., 2017), it was not possible to explore sex-differences, since only the study carried out in South Korea presented statistical analysis by gender (Han et al., 2014). In fact, sex is one of the variables which influence may help us to explain the high heterogeneity found in this meta-analyses (Egger et al., 1997; Sterne et al., 2001). Frailty linked to cognitive decline is identified in the literature as having a strong relationship with advanced age, although this phenotypes may be able to manifest itself early as well. In the present SM the results showed that only studies carried out in Portugal (Furtado, Patrício et al., 2017) (81.96 ± 7.91) and Singapore (Tay et al., 2016) (76.6 \pm 7.03) with a higher mean age showed more cognitive decline and similar distribution in the PFS subgroups. Contrariwise, the studies conducted in South Korea (Han et al., 2014) and United Arab Emirates (Al-Kuwaiti et al., 2015) presented the same frailty and cognitive characteristics but had lower mean ages for cognitive scores. Factors such as education, public policies to adopt an active and healthy lifestyle during the course of life and different eating habits from country to country may interfere and could be identified in a more in depth meta-analysis.

4.2. Frailty, cognition performance and assessments

PFS assessment is used to identify older populations at risk for adverse aging-related health indicators (Mohler et al., 2014). Recent reviews recognized more than 25 types of frailty screening tools among which the Fried's and colleagues set is the most widely used (de Vries et al., 2011; Schwenk et al., 2014; Sieliwonczyk, Perkisas, & Vandewoude, 2014). The PFS comprises five components and this screen tool has been confirmed associated with subsequent health outcomes in a succession of studies drawn from a range of diverse older populations (Bouillon et al., 2013; Brigola et al., 2015). However, Fried's model, which comprises physical frailty, had a strong interrelationship with cognitive state as assessed by MMSE (Alencar et al., 2013; Han et al., 2014; Robertson et al., 2014; Yassuda et al., 2012). As the MMSE assesses several cognitive domains, it might be useful to determine which individual experienced cognitive deficits are most



Fig. 2. Visual Funnel plot inspection associated to Egger's test. (a) Non-frail versus frail, (b) Non-frail versus pre-frail.

Difference Standard Lower Upper Innean Abancar et al. (2013) 4,300 0,448 0,211 3,421 5,179 9,593 0,000 Abancar et al. (2013) 5,000 0,813 0,662 3,406 6,394 6,147 0,000 Avita-Stress et al. (2011) 6,000 0,000 0,404 0,765 5,605 1,918 1,434 3,303 7,997 4,718 0,000 Neuco et al. (2012) 4,040 0,820 0,672 2,433 5,647 4,928 0,000	a)	Study name		Stati	stics for	each s	tudy			Di	fferenc	e in mear	ns and 95	<u>%</u> CI
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			Difference S in means	Standard error	L /ariance	owerU limit l	pper imit Z	-Valuep	-Value					
A becar et al. (2013) A K-Kw atti et al. (2015) Furtado et al. (2017) Furtado et al. (2011) Furtado et al. (2011) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2012) Furtado et al. (2012) Furtado et al. (2012) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2015) Furtado et al. (2017) Furtado et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2015) Furtado et al. (2015) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2017) Furtado et al. (2016) Furtado et al. (2017) Furtado et al. (2016) Furtado et al. (2017) Furtado et al. (2017) Socket al. (2014) Furtado et al. (2014)		Abizanza et al. (2013)	4,300	0,448	0,201	3,421 5	5,179	9,593	0,000				-#	
A+Kuwatii et al. (2015) 5,000 0.813 0.662 3,406 6,594 6,147 0,000 Avlas-Funes et al. (2017) 5,650 1,198 1,434 3,003 7,997 4,718 0,000 Hurdo et al. (2011) 6,000 0,410 0,213 5,096 6,000 0,000 0,000 Kely et al. (2012) 4,040 0,820 0,672 2,433 5,647 4,928 0,000 Macuco et al. (2012) 4,040 0,820 0,672 2,433 5,647 4,928 0,000 Robertson et al. (2014) 1,200 0,163 0,027 0,881 1,519 7,365 0,000 Scoket al. (2014a) 4,600 1,180 0,480 2,140 3,032 0,000 Scoket al. (2014a) 5,200 0,194 0,038 4,820 5,800 2,682 0,000 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,677 0,000 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -		Alencar et al. (2013)	7,000	1,012	1,024	5,016 8	3,984	6,916	0,000				-	━
Avie-Funes et al. (2013) Furtado et al. (2017) Jacobs et al. (2017) Key et al. (2017) Key et al. (2018) Hubber 14. (2018) Semper et al. (2014) J.200 Sock et al. (2014) J.200 Sock et al. (2014) J.200 Sock et al. (2014) Lower Upper in means et al. (2015) Study name Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Difference in means and 95% CI Alexandre in means et al. (2013) Sock et al. (2013) Subper is al. (2013) Subper is al. (2014) Lower Upper in means et al. (2013) Ar-Kuweiti et al. (2013) Ar-Kuweiti et al. (2013) Subper is al. (2014) Subper is al. (2015) Subper is al. (2013) Subper is al. (2013) Subper is al. (2013) Ar-Kuweiti et al. (2013) Subper is al. (2014) Subper is al. (2015) Subper is al. (2015) Subper is al. (2014) Subper is al. (2015) Subper is al. (2014) Subper is al. (2014)		Al-Kuw aiti et al. (2015)	5,000	0,813	0,662	3,406 6	6,594	6,147	0,000				_+∎-	-
Furtado et al. (2017) 5.650 1.198 1.434 3.303 7.997 4.718 0.000 Jacobs et al. (2011) 6.000 0.461 0.213 5.066 6.904 13.007 0.000 Kiely et al. (2008) 1.910 0.316 0.100 1.291 2.529 6.051 0.000 Ottomäctfer et al. (2014) 1.200 0.163 0.027 0.881 1.519 7.365 0.000 Sonk et al. (2014) 1.200 0.163 0.027 0.881 1.519 7.365 0.000 Sonk et al. (2014b) 5.200 0.184 0.460 2.140 3.032 0.002 Sock et al. (2014b) 5.200 0.184 0.462 2.583 5.634 0.000 Global effect 3.435 0.599 0.252 2.568 5.634 0.000 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 4.00 0.00 5.00 </td <td></td> <td>Ávila-Funes et al. (2013)</td> <td>0,600</td> <td>0,100</td> <td>0,010</td> <td>0,404 0</td> <td>),796</td> <td>5,989</td> <td>0,000</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Ávila-Funes et al. (2013)	0,600	0,100	0,010	0,404 0),796	5,989	0,000					
Jacobs et al. (2011) 6,000 0,461 0,213 5,096 6,304 13,007 0,000 Nieky et al. (2020) 1,910 0,316 0,100 1,291 2,529 6,051 0,000 Macuco et al. (2012) 4,040 0,820 0,672 2,433 5,647 4,928 0,000 Robertson et al. (2014) 1,200 0,163 0,027 0,881 1,519 7,365 0,000 Sook et al. (2014) 1,200 0,185 0,034 4,237 4,933 2,4,862 0,000 Sook et al. (2014) 5,200 0,194 0,038 4,802 5,580 2,624 0,000 7 6,000 Sook et al. (2014) 5,200 0,194 0,608 0,662 2,517 5,683 5,077 0,000 6,00 0,00 4,00 8,00 Vassuda et al. (2012) 4,100 0,808 0,652 2,517 5,683 5,077 0,000 -8,00 -4,00 0,00 6,00 Study name Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Alencar et al. (2013)		Furtado et al. (2017)	5,650	1,198	1,434	3,303 7	,997	4,718	0,000				+-	_
Kely et al. (2008) 1,910 0.316 0,100 1,291 2,529 6,051 0,000 Macuco et al. (2012) 4,040 0.820 0,672 2,433 5,647 4,928 0,000 Ottomachter et al. (2009) 2,570 0,509 0,259 1,572 3,586 5,046 0,000 Robertson et al. (2014) 1,200 0,183 0,027 0,881 1,519 7,365 0,000 Somper et al. (2008) 1,300 0,429 0,184 0,480 2,140 3,302 0,002 Sock et al. (2014) 5,200 0,194 0,038 4,820 5,633 5,077 0,000 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,369 2,262 2,619 5,737 0,000 Study name Statistics for each study Difference Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Alexace et al. (2013) 1,700 0,384 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alexacra et al. (2013) 1,700 0,384 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 <t< td=""><td></td><td>Jacobs et al. (2011)</td><td>6,000</td><td>0,461</td><td>0,213</td><td>5,096 6</td><td>6,904</td><td>13,007</td><td>0,000</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>_ -</td><td>- </td></t<>		Jacobs et al. (2011)	6,000	0,461	0,213	5,096 6	6,904	13,007	0,000				_ -	-
Mecuco et al. (2012) 4,040 0.820 0.672 2,433 5,647 4,928 0.000 Ottenäacfter et al. (2009) 2,570 0,509 0,259 1,572 3,568 5,046 0,000 Robertson et al. (2014) 1,200 0,163 0,027 0,881 1,519 7,365 0,000 Sook et al. (2014) 4,600 0,185 0,034 4,237 4,963 24,862 0,000 Sook et al. (2016) -2,300 1,502 2,256 -5,244 0,644 -1,531 0,126 Yassuda et al. (2012) 4,100 0,888 0,652 2,517 5,683 5,077 0,000 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 Study name Etatistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 A Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 A A A A		Kiely et al. (2008)	1,910	0,316	0,100	1,291 2	2,529	6,051	0,000					
Ottenčacfar et al. (2019) 2,570 0,509 0,259 1,572 3,586 5,046 0,000 Samper et al. (2014) 1,200 0,163 0,027 0,881 1,519 7,365 0,000 Sock et al. (2014a) 4,600 0,148 0,460 2,140 3,032 0,002 Sock et al. (2014b) 5,200 0,1592 2,256 5,240 6,642 1,310 126 Yassuda et al. (2016) -2,300 1,502 2,256 5,240 6,642 1,31 126 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,369 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 Study name Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Difference Standard Lower Upper Immas Enror Variance limit limit Z-Valuep-Value Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,864 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 A 0 4,00 0,03 A Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,864 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 A A <		Macuco et al. (2012)	4,040	0,820	0,672	2,433 5	5,647	4,928	0,000				_	
Robertson et al. (2014) 1,200 0,163 0,027 0,881 1,519 7,365 0,000 Samper et al. (2008) 1,300 0,429 0,184 0,460 2,140 3,032 0,002 Sock et al. (2014a) 4,600 0,185 0,034 4,237 4,933 24,862 0,000 Sock et al. (2014b) 5,200 0,194 0,038 4,820 5,580 26,824 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 4,100 0,808 0,662 2,577 5,000 -8,00 -4,00 0,00 4,00 8,00 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 -8,00 -4,00 0,00 4,00 8,00 Statistics for each study Difference Standard Lower Upper Immeans error Variance Immit Immit Z-Valuep-Value Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,977 4,862 2,948 0,003 - - - - - - - - - - - -		Ottenöacfter et al. (2009)	2,570	0,509	0,259	1,572 3	3,568	5,046	0,000				╼╴	
Samper et al. (2008) 1,300 0,429 0,184 0,460 2,140 3,032 0,002 Sook et al. (2014a) 4,600 0,185 0,034 4,237 4,963 24,862 0,000 Sook et al. (2014b) 5,200 0,194 0,038 4,820 5,580 26,824 0,000 Tay et al. (2016) -2,300 1,502 2,256 -5,244 0,644 -1,531 0,126 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 Book Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,009 0,00 4,00 8,00 Non-frail Frail Frail Frail Frail Frail Frail Difference in means and 95% CI Alizarza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alizarca et al. (2013) 1,700 0,383 -1,392 1,730 0,045 Alizarca et al. (2013) 1,700 0,384 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alizarca et al. (2013) 1,700		Robertson et al. (2014)	1,200	0,163	0,027	0,881 1	,519	7,365	0,000					
Sooket al. (2014a) 4.600 0.185 0.034 4.237 4.963 24.862 0.000 Tay et al. (2016) -2.300 1.502 2.266 -5.244 0.644 -1.531 0.126 Yassuda et al. (2012) 4.100 0.808 0.652 2.517 5.683 5.077 0.000 Global effect 3.435 0.599 0.359 2.262 4.609 5.737 0.000 Study name Statistics for each study Difference Standard Lower Upper -8,00 -4,00 0,00 4,00 8,00 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0.364 0.132 0.987 2.413 4.671 0.000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0.364 0.132 0.987 2.413 4.671 0.000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0.364 0.132 0.987 2.413 4.671 0.000 Alencar et al. (2013) 0,000 0.651 0.003 0.010 1.99 1.970 0.497 Furtado et al. (2017) 2.170 1.174 1.378 0.131 4.471 1.848		Samper et al. (2008)	1,300	0,429	0,184	0,460 2	2,140	3,032	0,002			-	F	
Sooket al. (2014b) 5,200 0,194 0,038 4,820 5,580 26,824 0,000 Tay et al. (2016) -2,300 1,502 2,256 -5,244 0,644 -1,531 0,126 Yassuda et al. (2012) 4,100 0,808 0,652 2,257 5,633 5,077 0,000 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 B Study name Estatistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Difference Standard Lower Upper Immit Z-Valuep-Value Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Al-Kuweiti et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Ai-Roweit et al. (2013) 0,000 0,651 0,033 -0,134 2,139 1,720 0,049 Furtados et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,848<		Sook et al. (2014a)	4,600	0,185	0,034	4,237 4	,963	24,862	0,000					
Tay et al. (2016) -2,300 1,502 2,256 -5,244 0,644 -1,531 0,126 Yassuda et al. (2012) 4,100 0,808 0,652 2,517 5,683 5,077 0,000 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 Study name Statistics for each study Difference Standard Lower Upper Imit Imit Z-Valuep-Value Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,001 0,199 1,970 0,049 Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,447 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 <		Sook et al. (2014b)	5,200	0,194	0,038	4,820 5	5,580	26,824	0,000					
Yassuda et al. (2012) Global effect 4,100 0,808 0,652 2,517 5,683 5,077 0,000 Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 Bond -8,00 -4,00 0,00 4,00 8,00 Non-frail Frail b) Study name Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Jacobs et al. (2017) 1,700 0,351 0,033 0,010 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 0 0		Tay et al. (2016)	-2,300	1,502	2,256 -	5,244 0),644	-1,531	0,126					
Global effect 3,435 0,599 0,359 2,262 4,609 5,737 0,000 -8,00 -4,00 0,00 4,00 8,00 Non-frail Frail b) Study name Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 4 4 5 Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 4 4 4 4 6 4 4 6 4 4 5 4 4 6 4 4 6 4 4 6 4 4 4 4 6 4		Yassuda et al. (2012)	4,100	0,808	0,652	2,517 5	5,683	5,077	0,000					
-8,00 -4,00 0,00 4,00 8,00 Non-frail Frail b) <u>Study name</u> <u>Statistics for each study</u> <u>Difference in means and 95%</u> CI <u>Difference at a (2013)</u> 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al (2013) 2,920 0,991 0,981 0,978 4,862 2,948 0,003 Al-Kuwaiti et al (2015) 1,000 0,651 0,003 0,001 0,199 1,720 0,085 Aila-Funes et al (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,001 0,199 1,720 0,085 Aila-Funes et al (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,868 0,555 0,000 Kidy et al (2012) 0,380 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenöacfter et al (2012) 0,380 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Nacuco et al (2012) 0,380 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenöacfter et al (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,003 0,000 0,500 7,847 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 0,400 0,071 0,018 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sock et al (2014)		Global effect	3,435	0,599	0,359	2,262 4	,609	5,737	0,000				-	
b) <u>Study name</u> <u>Statistics for each study</u> <u>Difference in means and 95% CI</u> <u>Non-frail</u> <u>Difference in means and 95% CI</u> <u>Difference in means and 95% CI</u> <u>Abizanza et al. (2013)</u> 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 <u>Abizanza et al. (2013)</u> 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 <u>Abizanza et al. (2013)</u> 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 <u>Abizanza et al. (2013)</u> 1,000 0,651 0,338 -0,139 2,139 1,720 0,085 <u>Abia-Funes et al. (2013)</u> 1,000 0,051 0,033 0,001 0,199 1,970 0,049 <u>Abizanza et al. (2011)</u> 1,200 0,051 0,038 0,001 0,199 1,970 0,049 <u>Abizanza et al. (2012)</u> 0,100 0,051 0,033 0,001 0,199 1,970 0,049 <u>Abizanza et al. (2013)</u> 1,000 0,051 0,033 0,001 0,199 1,970 0,049 <u>Abizanza et al. (2011)</u> 1,200 0,071 0,071 0,714 1,748 0,065 <u>Abizanza et al. (2012)</u> 0,330 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,488 0,014 <u>Otenäcacfier et al. (2009)</u> 0,160 0,370 0,177 0,088 0,560 -0,432 0,666 <u>Bobertson et al. (2014)</u> 0,400 0,071 0,018 0,102 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,118 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 <u>Sock et al. (2014)</u> 1,700 0,1040 0,051 0,013 0,010 0,01										-8,00	-4,00	0,00	4,00	8,00
b) Study name Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2015) 1,000 0,581 0,338 -0,139 1,720 0,085 Avita-Funes et al. (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,011 1,970 0,485 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,474 0,774 1,785 0,005 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,447 0,744 1,848 0,665 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,330 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Samper et al. (2008) 0,700 0,177 0,031 0,333 1,947 3,955 0,000 <													F	
b) Study name Statistics for each study Difference $\frac{1}{100}$ $\frac{1}{1000}$ $\frac{1}{10000}$ $\frac{1}{1000}$ $\frac{1}$											Non-tra	all	Frail	
Difference Statistics for each study Difference in means and 95% CI Difference Standard in means Lower Uper limit Uper limit Difference in means and 95% CI Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Aencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 1,000 0,581 0,988 2,948 0,003 0,003 Al-Kuwaii et al. (2015) 1,000 0,581 0,338 -0,139 1,720 0,0485 Airla-Funes et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiely et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2014) 0,400 0,511 0,031 <td< th=""><th>L.</th><th>\</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></td<>	L.	\												
Difference Standard in means Lower error User Variance Lower limit Uper limit Lower Z-Valuep-Value Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 2,920 0,991 0,981 0,978 4,862 2,948 0,003 Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015) 1,000 0,581 0,978 4,862 2,948 0,003 Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,010 0,051 0,003 Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiely et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,137 -0,886 0,666	D) Study name		S	tatistics f	for eacl	h stud	łv			Differer	nce in me	ans and 9	95% CI
Difference Standard error Lower Upper Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 2,920 0,991 0,981 0,978 4,862 2,948 0,003 Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015) 1,000 0,581 0,338 -0,132 2,139 1,720 0,085 Åvila-Funes et al. (2017) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,001 0,199 1,720 0,049 Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiely et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,1137 -0,886 0,666								.,		-				
in means error Variance limit limit Z-Valuep-Value Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 2,920 0,991 0,981 0,978 4,862 2,948 0,003 Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015) 1,000 0,651 0,003 0,019 1,720 0,085 Ávila-Funes et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,648 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2012) 0,930 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiely et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenöacfter et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,300 0,5			Difference	Standard	1 I	Lower	Uppe	er						
Abizanza et al. (2013) 1,700 0,364 0,132 0,987 2,413 4,671 0,000 Alencar et al. (2013) 2,920 0,991 0,981 0,978 4,862 2,948 0,003 Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015) 1,000 0,681 0,038 -0,139 2,139 1,720 0,085 Aivila-Funes et al. (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,101 0,199 1,970 0,049 Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2012) 0,330 0,378 0,143 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (20208) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2008) 0,700 0,177 0,031 0,333 1,477 3,555 0,000			in means	error	Variance	e limit	limit	Z-Valu	lep-Valu	е				
Alencar et al. (2013) 2,920 0,991 0,981 0,978 4,862 2,948 0,003 Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015) 1,000 0,681 0,338 -0,139 2,139 1,720 0,085 Ávila-Funes et al. (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,199 1,970 0,049 Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiely et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenöacfter et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,033 3,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 - Samper et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000		Abizanza et al. (2013)	1,700	0,364	0,132	0,987	2,413	3 4,671	1 0,000	1		1	•	
Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015) 1,000 0,581 0,338 -0,139 2,139 1,720 0,085 Ávila-Funes et al. (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,001 0,199 1,970 0,049 Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,074 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiely et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenöacfler et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,137 -0,886 0,565 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,030 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 - - Samper et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,118 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 - - - - Sook et al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114		Alencar et al. (2013)	2,920	0,991	0,981	0,978	4,862	2 2,948	3 0,003					•
Ávila-Funes et al. (2013) 0,100 0,051 0,003 0,019 1,970 0,049 Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiel y et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,003 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 Samper et al. (2014) 0,400 0,117 0,313 0,353 1,047 3,955 0,000 Sook et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sook et al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,787 2,490 0,013 - Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 -		Al-Kuwaiti et al. (2015)	1,000	0,581	0,338	-0,139	2,13	9 1,720	0,085				•	
Furtado et al. (2017) 2,170 1,174 1,378 -0,131 4,471 1,848 0,065 Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiel yet al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,180 0,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,003 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 Scoket al. (2014a) 1,700 0,118 0,152 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Scoket al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Scoket al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000		Ávila-Funes et al. (2013)	0,100	0,051	0,003	0,001	0,199	9 1,970	0,049			- i		
Jacobs et al. (2011) 1,200 0,217 0,047 0,774 1,626 5,525 0,000 Kiely et al. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenöacfter et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,003 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 Samper et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sook et al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000		Furtado et al. (2017)	2,170	1,174	1,378	-0,131	4,47	1 1,848	3 0,065				•	*
Kielyetal. (2008) 0,520 0,184 0,034 0,160 0,880 2,832 0,005 Macuco et al. (2012) 0,330 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenääcfter et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,003 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 Samper et al. (2008) 0,700 0,117 0,033 1,047 3,955 0,000 Sook et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sook et al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000 400		Jacobs et al. (2011)	1,200	0,217	0,047	0,774	1,626	5,525	5 0,000				•	
Macuco et al. (2012) 0,930 0,378 0,143 0,188 1,672 2,458 0,014 Ottenöacfter et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,003 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 Samper et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,114 0,013 1,886 1,912 1,6697 0,000 Sook et al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Sook et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000 400		Kielvetal. (2008)	0.520	0.184	0.034	0.160	0.880	2.832	2 0.005					
Ottenöacfter et al. (2009) -0,160 0,370 0,137 -0,886 0,566 -0,432 0,666 Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,051 0,003 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 Samper et al. (2008) 0,700 0,177 0,031 0,353 1,047 3,955 0,000 Sook et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sook et al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000 400		Macuco et al. (2012)	0.930	0.378	0.143	0,188	1.672	2 2.458	3 0.014					
Robertson et al. (2014) 0,400 0,0051 0,003 0,300 0,500 7,847 0,000 Samper et al. (2008) 0,700 0,177 0,031 0,353 1,047 3,955 0,000 Scoket al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Scoket al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000		Ottenöacfter et al. (2009)	-0.160	0.370	0.137	-0.886	0.566	6 -0.43	2 0.666					
Samper et al. (2008) 0,700 0,177 0,031 0,353 1,047 3,955 0,000 Sook et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sook et al. (2014a) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000 +		Robertson et al. (2014)	0.400	0.051	0.003	0.300	0.500	7.847	7 0.000					
Sook et al. (2014a) 1,700 0,108 0,012 1,488 1,912 15,697 0,000 Sook et al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000		Samper et al. (2008)	0.700	0.177	0.031	0.353	1.04	7 3.95	5 0.000			-	.	
Scoket al. (2014b) 2,100 0,114 0,013 1,876 2,324 18,372 0,000 Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000		Sooketal (2014a)	1 700	0 108	0.012	1 488	1.91	2 15 69	7 0,000					
Yassuda et al. (2012) 1,000 0,402 0,161 0,213 1,787 2,490 0,013 Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000 + -4.00 -2.00 0.00 2.00 4.00		Sook et al. (2014b)	2 100	0 114	0,013	1 876	2,32	1 18.37	2 0,000					
Global effect 0,565 0,031 0,001 0,505 0,626 18,313 0,000 -4.00 -2.00 0,00 2,00 4,00		Yassuda et al. (2012)	1 000	0.402	0.161	0.213	1 78	7 2⊿0r	0,000				.	
-4.00 -2.00 0.00 0.001 0.000 0.000 0.000 1 1 1 1		Global effect	0.565	0,402	0,001	0,213	0.624	5 18.31	3 0,010					
		Clobal chool	0,000	0,001	0,001	0,000	0,020	5 10,01	0,000	_4()0 _2(00 00	2.00	4.00

Fig. 3. Descriptive statistic of each study and global results of meta-analysis. (a) Non-frail versus frail, (b) Non-frail versus pre-frail.

significantly associated with frailty scores (Mungas, 1991). However, MMSE total score (rather than isolated cognitive ability screen tools) showed to be a better predictor of physical frailty scores (Abizanda et al., 2013; Avila-Funes et al., 2009). As the Fried construct seems to be the most used protocol for assessing the frailty phenotype, MMSE is the most widely used tool for assessing cognitive status, thus increasing the level of comparability with other studies (Vella Azzopardi et al., 2018).

4.3. Frailty subgroups and cognitive decline

Non-frail

The pattern of decreased cognitive performance in the comparisons of non-frail versus pre-frail and frail subgroups was found in all studies included in this meta-analysis, except in those carried out in Singapore (Tay et al., 2016), that showed higher MMSE values, i.e. better cognitive results in the frail subgroup. In the other comparisons, the mean differences in MMSE scores were always statistical significant. The results were recently confirmed when also comparing pre-frail and nonfrail subgroups (Furtado, Teixeira et al., 2017). Various studies have

Pre-frail

confirmed the existence of cognitive decline in pre-frail and frail subgroups. However, according to our latest review of literature, this is the first study to statistically show the magnitude of the mean differences.

The strong evidence of communal physio-pathological chains is based on the occurrence of both physical frailty and decreased cognitive function involved in the same biopsychological systems (Gale et al., 2013). Recent findings suggest a severe loss of muscle (sarcopenia) and bone (osteopenia) mass as a common nutritional impairment in this population, causing cellular and molecular damage, reducing homeostatic reserves caused by mechanisms that are regulated by complex neuronal maintenance and repair networks (Chang et al., 2016). Cognitive Frailty, as it is known today, has become of major concern for public health, as a result of the increased incidence of many types of dementia (Panza et al., 2015), since it is characterized as a phenotype that represents large expenditures to health care systems (Macklai et al., 2013).

4.4. Study limitations

To the best of our comprehension this is the first analyses to systematically examine the interaction between physical frailty and cognition performance in the elderly population. Despite the high methodological quality of the studies included, this work has some limitations. It was not possible to perform a gender analysis, since only one of all the studies included presented the results according to the sex of the participants. The different criteria for the evaluation of frailty phenotype adopted by some researchers did not allow us to include more studies. Our results signify the importance of implementation of public policies to develop and improve non-pharmacological treatments (i.e. physical activity plus nutritional support) when evaluating physical impairments and their associations with cognitive decline to be used as a basis for health professionals decision-making.

5. Conclusion

Worse of physical frailty condition improves the predictive validity of the accepted currently definition of cognitive impairment, characterize as a low score of mini-mental cognitive test. The accuracy in the evaluation of cognitive functioning may help to well-define and characterize frailty associated to cognitive decline in older persons. This would be useful in expecting aging policies needs and to provide appropriate services to encouraged an active life style, aiming to large prevent the premature health decline effects in the old populations.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Contributors

Guilherme Furtado was a design and drafted the paper. Taís Rieping and Adriana Caldo helped with blinding data collection. José Pedro help analyzed, interpreted data and revised critically the manuscript. Eef Hogervorst did a critical revision of manuscript. Ana Teixeira and José Ferreira coordinated the research group. All the authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This systematic review was integrated as a research project entitled "PRO-HMESCI: Hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress and immunity" [FCT PTDC/DTP-DES/0154/2012] study protocol (Teixeira et al., 2016). Furtado (PhD student) were financed by a grant from CAPES/CNPQ – Ministry of Education – Brazil, reference BEX: 11929/13-8. Ana Teixeira and José Ferreira are registered at CIDAF (UID/PTD/04213/2016).

References

- Abeysena, C. (2011). Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: New guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Journal of the College of Community Physicians of Sri Lanka*, 13(2), 20–22.
- Abizanda, P., et al. (2015). Effects of an oral nutritional supplementation plus physical exercise intervention on the physical function, nutritional status, and quality of life in frail institutionalized older adults: The ACTIVNES study. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 16(5), 439 e9-439 e16.
- Abizanda, P., et al. (2013). Frailty and mortality, disability and mobility loss in a Spanish cohort of older adults: The FRADEA study. *Maturitas*, 74(1), 54–60. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23107816 . (Accessed 27 July 2015) .
- Alencar, M. A., et al. (2013). Frailty and cognitive impairment among communitydwelling elderly. Arquivos de neuro-psiquiatria, 71(6), 362–367. Available at: http:// www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0004-282X2013000600362& lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=en. (Accessed 9 February 2015).
- Al-Kuwaiti, S. J., Aziz, F., & Blair, I. (2015). Frailty in community-dwelling older people in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates: A cross-sectional study. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 3, 248. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid = 4630498&tool = pmcentrez&rendertype = abstract. (Accessed 26 April 2016).
- Avila-Funes, J. A., et al. (2009). Cognitive impairment improves the predictive validity of the phenotype of frailty for adverse health outcomes: The three-city study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(3), 453–461. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/19245415 . (Accessed 1 February 2015) .
- Batterham, A. M., & Hopkins, W. G. (2006). Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes. *International Journal of Sports Physiology And Performance*, 1(1), 50–57. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19114737 . (Accessed 25 December 2014) .
- Bax, L., et al. (2007). A systematic comparison of software dedicated to meta-analysis of causal studies. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 7, 40. Available at: http://www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid = 2048970&tool = pmcentrez& rendertype = abstract. (Accessed 27 April 27 2016).
- Bouillon, K., et al. (2013). Validating a widely used measure of frailty: Are all sub-components necessary? Evidence from the Whitehall II cohort study. Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands), 35(4), 1457–1465. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3705104&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract (Accessed 17 February 2015).
- Brigola, A. G., et al. (2015). Relationship between cognition and frailty in elderly: A systematic review. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 9(2), 110–119. Available at: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1980-57642015000200110& lng=en&nrm=iso&thg=en . (Accessed 26 April 2016).
- Buchman, A. S., & Bennett, D. A. (2013). Cognitive frailty. The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 17(9), 738–739. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 24154644. (Accessed 22 June 2017).
- Buchman, A. S., et al. (2013). Association of brain pathology with the progression of frailty in older adults. *Neurology*, (22), 80.
- Campbell, A. J., & Buchner, D. M. (1997). Unstable disability and the fluctuations of frailty. Age and Ageing, 26(4), 315–318. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/9271296. (Accessed 30 June 2017).
- Carlson, M. C., et al. (2009). Evidence for neurocognitive plasticity in at-risk older adults: The experience corps program. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences,* 64(12), 1275–1282. Available at: http://www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid = 27817855&tool = pmcentrez& rendertype = abstract. (Accessed 17 September 2014).
- Chang, S.-F., & Lin, P.-L. (2015). Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(8), 1362–1374. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/ retrieve/pii/S0020748915001066.
- Chang, K. V., et al. (2016). Association between sarcopenia and cognitive impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, 17(12), 1164. e7-1164 e15. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S1525861016304285. (Accessed 25 May 2017).
- de Vries, N. M., et al. (2011). Outcome instruments to measure frailty: A systematic review. Ageing Research Reviews, 10(1), 104–114. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20850567 . (Accessed 31 January 2015) .
- Dinnes, J., et al. (2005). A methodological review of how heterogeneity has been examined in systematic reviews of diagnostic test accuracy. *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, 9(12), 1–113. iii. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15774235 (Accessed 22 May 2016).
- Egger, M., et al. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* (*Clinical Research Ed.*), 315(7109), 629–634. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2127453&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract. (Accessed 2 January 2015).
- Ensrud, K. E., et al. (2007). Frailty and risk of falls, fracture, and mortality in older women: The study of osteoporotic fractures. *Journals of Gerontology – Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(7), 744–751. Available at: http://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17634322. (Accessed 30 June 2017).
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975a). MINI-MENTAL STATE. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 12, 189–198.
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975b). Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 12(3), 189–198.
- Fried, L. P., et al. (2001). Frailty in older adults: Evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(3), M146–M156. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156.

- Furtado, G., Caldo, A., et al. (2017). Frailty and cognition performance in older populations: Systematic review with meta-analysis. p.1. Available at: . . (Accessed 5 September 2017) https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.asp?ID = CRD42017057360.
- Furtado, G., Patrício, M., et al. (2017). Physical fitness and frailty syndrome in institutionalized older women. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 124(4), 3151251770991. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28560893. (Accessed 12 June 2017).
- Furtado, G. E.áquio, Teixeira, A. M., & Ferreira, J. P. (2017). Frailty syndrome and cognition performance in older populations, part I: Systematic review with meta-analysis. Cien Saude Colet. Available at: http://www.cienciaesaudecoletiva.com.br/artigos/fragilidade-edesempenho-cognitivo-em-populacoes-idosas-parte-i-uma-revisao-sistematica-commetanalise/16300?id=16300&id=16300&id=16300.
- Gale, C. R., et al. (2013). Inflammatory markers and incident frailty in men and women: The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Age (Dordrecht, Netherlands)*, 35(6), 2493–2501. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=3751755&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract (Accessed 28 February 2016).
- Gray, S. L., et al. (2013). Frailty and incident dementia. Journals of Gerontology Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 68(9), 1083–1090.
- Guessous, I., et al. (2014). Prevalence of frailty indicators and association with socioeconomic status in middle-aged and older adults in a swiss region with universal health insurance coverage: A population-based cross-sectional study. *Journal of Aging Research*, 8.
- Hamaker, M. E., et al. (2012). Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of A comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: A systematic review. *The Lancet Oncology*, 13(10), e437–e444. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/23026829. (Accessed 18 January 2015).
- Han, E. S., Lee, Y., & Kim, J. (2014). Association of cognitive impairment with frailty in community-dwelling older adults. *International psychogeriatrics / IPA, 26*(1), 155–163.
 Available at: http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S1041610213001841. (Accessed 27 July 2015).
- Huang, M., Névéol, A., & Lu, Z. (2011). Recommending MeSH terms for annotating biomedical articles. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, *18*(5), 660–667. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender. fcgi?artid=3168302&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract . (Accessed 22 May 2015) .
- Jacobs, J. M., et al. (2011). Frailty, cognitive impairment and mortality among the oldest old. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 15(8), 678–682. Available at: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21968864. (Accessed 27 July 2015).
- Kiely, D. K., Cupples, L. A., & Lipsitz, L. A. (2009). Validation and comparison of two frailty indexes: The MOBILIZE Boston study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(9), 1532–1539. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender. fcgi?artid=2792729&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract. (Accessed 28 January 2015).
- Liberati, A., et al. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: Explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Medicine*, 6(7), e1000100 Available at: http://dx.plos.org/10. 1371/journal.pmed.1000100. (Accessed July 15, 2014).
- Macklai, N. S., et al. (2013). Prospective association of the SHARE-operationalized frailty phenotype with adverse health outcomes: Evidence from 60 + community-dwelling Europeans living in 11 countries. *BMC Geriatrics*, 13(1), 3. Available at: http://www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid = 3585820&tool = pmcentrez& rendertype = abstract (Accessed 24 September 2014)
- Macuco, C. R. M., et al. (2012). Mini-mental State examination performance in frail, prefrail, and non-frail community dwelling older adults in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. *International Psychogeriatrics / IPA, 24*(11), 1725–1731. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22652040. (Accessed 26 April 2016).
- Malta, M., et al. (2010). Iniciativa STROBE: subsídios para a comunicação de estudos observacionais. *Revista de Saúde Pública, 44*(3), 559–565.
- Misiak, B., et al. (2013). European studies on the prevalence of dementia in the elderly: Time for a step towards a methodological consensus. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 28(12), 1211–1221. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/23450739 . (Accessed December 26, 2014) .
- Mohler, M. J., et al. (2014). The frailty syndrome: Clinical measurements and basic underpinnings in humans and animals. *Experimental Gerontology*, 54, 6–13. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24503059 (Accessed 17 February 2015).
- Mungas, D. (1991). In-office mental status testing: A practical guide. *Geriatrics*, 46(7), 54–58. 63, 66. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2060803 .

(Accessed 21 December 2014) .

- Ottenbacher, K. J., et al. (2009). Mexican Americans and frailty: Findings from the hispanic established populations epidemiologic studies of the elderly. *American Journal* of Public Health, 99(4), 673–679. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/19197079 (Accessed 6 September 2017).
- Panic, N., et al. (2013). Evaluation of the endorsement of the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (PRISMA) statement on the quality of published systematic review and meta-analyses. *PLoS One*, 8(12).
- Panza, F., et al. (2015). Cognitive frailty: A systematic review of epidemiological and neurobiological evidence of an age-related clinical condition. *Rejuvenation Research*, 18(5), 389–412. Available at: http://online.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/rej.2014. 1637 (Accessed 18 August 2016).

Robertson, D. A., et al. (2014). Cognitive function in the prefrailty and frailty syndrome. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 62(11), 2118–2124. Available at: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25370593 (Accessed 27 July 2015) .

Ruan, Q., et al. (2015). Cognitive frailty, a novel target for the prevention of elderly dependency. Ageing Research Reviews, 20, 1–10.

Samper-Ternent, R., et al. (2008). Relationship between frailty and cognitive decline in older Mexican Americans. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 56(10), 1845–1852. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi? artid=2628807&tool = pmcentrez&rendertype = abstract. (Accessed 27 July 2015).

- Schwenk, M., et al. (2014). Frailty and technology: A systematic review of gait analysis in those with frailty. *Gerontology*, 60(1), 79–89. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid = 4017858&tool = pmcentrez&rendertype = abstract (Accessed 2 January 2015) .
- Sieliwonczyk, E., Perkisas, S., & Vandewoude, M. (2014). Frailty indexes, screening instruments and their application in Belgian primary care. Acta Clinica Belgica, 69(4), 233–239. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24773077 . (Accessed 16 February 2015) .
- Sterne, J. A., Egger, M., & Smith, G. D. (2001). Systematic reviews in health care: Investigating and dealing with publication and other biases in meta-analysis. BMJ (Clinical Research ed.), 323(7304), 101–105. Available at: http://www. pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1120714&tool=pmcentrez& rendertype=abstract. (Accessed 28 July 2015).
- Tay, L., et al. (2016). The independent role of inflammation in physical frailty among older adults with mild cognitive impairment and mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 20*(3), 288–299. Available at: http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26892578. (Accessed 28 February 2016).
- Teixeira, A. M., et al. (2016). Study protocol on hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress and immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of different exercise programmes in institutionalized elders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 4, 133. Available at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133/abstract . (Accessed 18 August 2016)
- Theou, O., et al. (2015). Modifications to the frailty phenotype criteria: Systematic review of the current literature and investigation of 262 frailty phenotypes in the survey of health, ageing, and retirement in Europe. Available at: . . (Accessed 13 March 2017) http:// linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1568163715000355.
- Theou, O., et al. (2011). The effectiveness of exercise interventions for the management of frailty: A systematic review. *Journal of Aging Research*, 569194. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3092602&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract.
- Vella Azzopardi, R., et al. (2018). Increasing use of cognitive measures in the operational definition of frailty—A systematic review. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 43, 10–16. Available at: https://ac.els-cdn.com/S1568163717301009/1-s2.0-S1568163717301009-main.pdf?_tid=757a66c6-1737-11e8-8848-00000aab0f27& acdnat=1519238944_68689ee41fa25b8ec24590d5b9afac23. (Accessed 21 February 2018).
- Verdelho, A., et al. (2011). Self-perceived memory complaints predict progression to Alzheimer disease. The LADIS study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease : JAD, 27*(3), 491–498. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21841255 . (Accessed 26 December 2014) .
- WHO, W. H. O. R. C.for E. (2012). Strategy and action plan for healthy ageing in Europe. World Health Organization: Regional Office for Europe.
- Yassuda, M. S., et al. (2012). Frailty criteria and cognitive performance are related: Data from the FIBRA study in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 16*(1), 55–61. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/22238002. (Accessed 26 April 2016).

Physical Fitness and Frailty Syndrome in Institutionalized Older Women

Perceptual and Motor Skills 0(0) 1–23 © The Author(s) 2017 Reprints and permissions: sagepub.com/journalsPermissions.nav DOI: 10.1177/0031512517709915 journals.sagepub.com/home/pms



Guilherme Furtado¹, Miguel Patrício², Marisa Loureiro², Ana Maria Teixeira¹, and José Pedro Ferreira¹

Abstract

Associations between frailty and physical-functional fitness (PFF) indicators in frail women over 65 years of age remain largely unexplored. This study analyzed the relationship between frailty syndrome (FS) and PFF indicators and assessed how the latter might predict the former. Participants were 119 elderly women $(81.96 \pm 7.89$ years) recruited from four social and healthcare centers. PFF was assessed through muscle strength tests of upper and lower limbs, endurance, agility-dynamic balance, flexibility, and body composition. The following FS indicators were assessed: weight loss, exhaustion, weakness, slowness, and low physical activity level. Significant correlations were found between FS and endurance, agility-dynamic balance, upper and lower limbs muscle strength tests. Comparitive analyses also revealed that, among FS groups, the frail subgroup performed significantly poorer on all PFF measures except body composition. Additionally, a receiving operating characteristics curve analysis revealed good diagnostic accuracy for predicting FS using the agility-dynamic balance test (Area Under Curve [AUC] = .82, 95% CI [0.74, 0.90]; sensitivity and specificity were 70.4% and 84.8% for the cutoff = 16.22 seconds). Accurately, the risk of frail condition (not pre-frail) increases about 2.12%

Corresponding Author:

¹Research Unit for Sport and Physical Activity (CIDAF) at Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education (FCDEF), Coimbra, Portugal

²Laboratory of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics and IBILI, Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

Guilherme Furtado, Faculty of Sports Science and Physical Education, University of Coimbra (FCDEF-UC), Estádio Universitário, Pavilhão III, Santa Clara 3040-156, Coimbra, Portugal. Email: furts2001@yahoo.com.br

per second spent in this test. Thus, the agility-dynamic balance test is a promising tool for screening institutionalized older people for risk of FS.

Keywords

aging, development, physical development and measurement, motor skills, motor skills and ergonomics, balance, egonomics, frail older adults, physical fitness

Introduction

Frailty syndrome (FS) is a complex aging expression determined by ontogenetic and phylogenetic factors (Fried et al., 2001). Chronic stress has been shown to have immunosuppressive effects that accelerate aging and cause cumulative disorders in many physiological systems, resulting in a fragile state (Clegg & Trust, 2011). In FS, physiological reserve and defense functions decline (Fried et al., 2001), compromising the individual's capacity to withstand chronic biological stress (Afilalo et al., 2014) and leading to institutionalization or hospitalization, often followed by premature death (Lally & Crome, 2007). According to geriatric specialists, FS is highly prevalent and associated with five identifying criteria: weakness, low resistance to effort, slowness, low physical activity levels, and unintentional weight loss (Abizanda et al., 2013; Rockwood, MacDonald, Sutton, Rockwood, & Baron, 2014).

Despite relationships between the decline in the physical functioning and FS, we cannot attribute to FS any central cause (Cho, Scarpace, & Alexander, 2004; Greene, Doheny, O'Halloran, & Anne Kenny, 2014; Kim et al., 2010). Progressive muscle damage related to the deleterious effects of senescence seems to be at its pathophysiological core (Mohler, Fain, Wertheimer, Najafi, & Nikolich-Žugich, 2014). FS is associated with, but not a direct result of, aging (Romero-Ortuno, 2013). Currently, there are increasingly robust associations between FS and multiple comorbidities, that although less lethal, tend to accumulate with age (Robinson et al., 2009). Physical disability seems to be a primary pathway to FS (Macklai, Spagnoli, Junod, & Santos-Eggimann, 2013). Notwithstanding the high correlation between low levels of physical-functional health in frail populations (Peterson et al., 2009), some studies have recently discussed the potential attenuation and prevention effect that exercise may have on FS, through stimulating positive improvement in physical-functional fitness (PFF) indicators (Jeoung & Lee, 2015).

The American College of Sport Medicine describes PFF as multidimensional, including cardiorespiratory fitness, flexibility, body composition, muscular strength, and endurance (Garber et al., 2011). Despite the importance of all PFF dimensions, the scientific consensus considers cardiorespiratory fitness and muscle strength or resistance as most important epidemiologically from childhood (de Chaves et al., 2016) to old age (Nelson et al., 2007). In this sense, maintaining satisfactory levels of PFF through adherence to regular exercise appears highly beneficial in attenuating and preventing cardiometabolic diseases (Murphy, McNeilly, & Murtagh, 2010), osteoarticular disorders (Peterson et al., 2009), sarcopenia, and the frail condition (Mjm, van Uffelen, Riphagen, & van Mechelen, 2008; Park, Kwak, Harveson, Weavil, & Seo, 2015). Strong associations between health-related quality of life and PFF in populations over 60 years old have been reported (Takata et al., 2010).

Some researchers reported that the decline on PFF indicators associated with age is aggravated by a sedentary lifestyle (Kimura, Mizuta, Yamada, Okayama, & Nakamura, 2012). Women, aged over 60 years, have been found to be less physically active overall but more involved in household activities (Lee, 2008) than older men. On the other hand, the results of a recent and stronger epidemiologic study carried out in 11 countries revealed that women over 60 years of age in all these countries were more likely than men to have disabling, nonlethal conditions including physical disability (i.e., difficulties to perform general activities of daily life), osteoarticular diseases, depressive symptoms, and hypertension (Crimmins, Kim, & Solé-Auró, 2011). Many of these diseases are robustly related to sedentary behavior across life (Chastin, Fitzpatrick, Andrews, & DiCroce, 2014).

The study of associations between FS and some PFF indicators has recently gained the interest of the scientific community in its search for simple and effective means of preventing FS. Most of these studies have focused on people over 65 years of age living in the community (Drubbel et al., 2014). However, recent research showed a higher prevalence of various comorbidities, FS, and mortality among people living in centers for social and health care support (CSHS; Abizanda et al., 2014; Nóbrega, Maciel, de Almeida Holanda, Oliveira Guerra, & Araújo, 2014). This type of institution seems to exert a "protective effect" for many people, preventing other adverse clinical events mostly through improved nutrition (Abizanda et al., 2014). However, since a decrease in physical-motor proficiency, loss of functional autonomy (related to mental health), and absence of family are also psychosocial characteristics of this population (Abizanda et al., 2013), persons in these centers may be at particular risk for FS, and these centers may play a role in improving PFF.

Given an expected growth in the European adult population over 65 years of age and the fact that FS increases health costs and decreases health-related physical activity, it is essential to better understand the relationship between FS and PFF outcomes. Therefore, a set of objective and accurate assessment criteria appropriate for use among institutionalized older people an be valuable to both the recognition and amelioration of FS. This study explored the relationship between FS status and PFF indicators in institutionalized-dwelling older women and also explored the sensitivity, specificity, cutoff points, and predictive performance of specific senior PFF tests for identifying frailty status. We hypothesized that FS participants would be at higher risk of PFF decline, when compared with individuals identified as prefrail or not frail (robust), and we looked for independent associations between FS and PFF tests to better predict FS.

Method

Study Design and Participant Sample

This study was a prospective, cross-sectional, local, older population-based survey in which we collected information about FS incidence in older people living in centers for CSHS. The sample consisted of a subset of participants within the PRO-HMESCI study protocol (Teixeira et al., 2016), inserted in a PHALIF study: participative, health, and active lifestyle in frail institutionalized-dwelling individuals. Our initial sample consisted of 203 older participants aged over 60 years minus 84 participants who failed to meet exclusion criteria or dropped out as follows: Physical impairment associated with musculoskeletal disorders and joint or muscle pain in the performance of some specific movements or tests (n = 34), closed diagnosis of early-stage of dementia or mental disorder (n=9); severe impairment of hearing or visual functions that made it impossible to perform all tests (n=7); need of palliative health care or special nutritional support, with medical indications not to participate in the study (n=4); participants who dropped out when applying the tests (n = 10); and male participants excluded for methodological reasons (n = 20). Participant inclusion criteria used were as follows: Women aged over 60 years and willing to assent to take part in the study spontaneously who were under control and updated with prescribed medications. The final number of participants was 119 older women. Needed statistical power was computed by considering the agility-dynamic balance test values in studies comparing frail and prefrail groups, using a Mann–Whitney Utest, with a significance level of p = 0.01. The computations were performed on G*power 3.1.9.2, and the power was determined to be 0.99 (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009) with a sample of 119 and an effect size of 1.12.

Ethical Procedures

CSHS directors and elders who expressed interest in participating in the study signed an informed consent form, in which the privacy and anonymous identity of the data collected were guaranteed and any needed access to participants' medical records were given. The study protocol was approved by the Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education Ethical Committee—University of Coimbra (reference code: CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013), in respect of Portuguese Resolution (Art.° 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) on ethics in research (Braga, 2013) and complied with the guidelines for research with human beings of the Helsinki Declaration (Petrini, 2014).

Outcome Measures

Data collection of sociodemographic and medical history status, FS, physical fitness, and anthropometric indicators was organized by the principal investigator and was performed by independent specialists (properly trained) of the research team. To minimize differences in data collection procedures, the same evaluator carried out data collection for all participants.

Sociodemographic status. Information on chronological age (continuous variable), marital state (assessed as a four categories variable: single, married, widowed, and divorced), and level of education (assessed as a continuous variable) was collected for each participant. The level of education was classified according to the Portuguese educational system and analyzed as a continuous variable (Fernandes, 2007).

Anthropometric measures. The standardized procedures described by Lohan et al. (Chumlea & Baumgartner, 1989) were followed for the collection of anthropometric data, including body mass weight determined using a portable scale (Seca[®], model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kg, stature determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Body meter[®], model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 cm, and body mass index (BMI), calculated according the formula (BMI = weight/height²).

Comorbidities screening. The Charlson comorbidity index (CCI), used in this study, is a method of predicting mortality by classifying or weighting comorbid conditions. The CCI has been widely utilized by health researchers to measure burden of disease and has a weighted index based on 19 comorbid conditions. Its score can be combined or adjusted with age and gender to form a single index (continuous variable). Adding one point for each additional 10 years to the initial score has been shown to predict 1-year and 10-year mortality (Charlson, Szatrowski, Peterson, & Gold, 1994). Medical records provided by the medical and health professional team were used to verify information provided by study participants for use within the CCI.

Medication use assessment. Daily medication use by the participants was assessed through Question 6 of the Mini Nutritional Assessment (Guigoz, 2006), that asks the participant about prescription drugs taken per day. Additionally, the number of medications used was checked systematically through the institutional medical record of each participant, identifying and reporting polypharmacy (i.e., more than three prescription drugs per day) according to the Portuguese Classification System of Human Medicine (Santos & Almeida, 2010).

Cognitive status assessment. The Mini–Mental State Exam (MMSE) used in this study assesses five areas of cognition: orientation, immediate recall, attention and calculation, delayed recall, and language (Folstein, Folstein, & McHugh, 1975). The maximum MMSE score is 30 points, and a score below 24 points is considered abnormal and used for dementia and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) screening (Melo & Barbosa, 2015). The MMSE was used to classify participants by cognitive profile as a category variable, according to the following cutoff values: severe cognitive impairment: 1 to 9 points; moderate cognitive impairment: 10 to 18; MCI: 19 to 24 points; and normal cognitive status: 25 to 30 points (Mungas, 1991). Additionally, the MMSE can be analyzed as a continuous variable. Its purpose in this study was to help determine whether a low-cognition profile might have affected physical fitness trainability as has been shown by prior research (Uemura et al., 2013).

FS screening. Assessment of FS was evaluated according to Fried's five criteria of the frailty phenotype index (Fried et al., 2001): (i) Weight loss assessed by selfreport of unintentional weight loss of four kg or more in the last six months; (ii) poor endurance and energy (self-reported exhaustion) evaluated by negative concordance of two questions, Number 7 and Number 20, of the questionnaire developed by the Center of Epidemiologic Studies for Depression, called the CES-D scale (Gonçalves, Fagulha, Ferreira, & Reis, 2014); (iii) weakness, analyzed using the handgrip strength test. This test uses a handheld dynamometer (Lafayette Dynamometer, model 78010, USA) and strength is measured in kilograms. The subject holds the dynamometer in the hand to be tested, with the elbow by the side of the body. When ready, the subject squeezes the dynamometer with maximum isometric effort, which is maintained for 5 seconds. The best result of the two trials was used for scoring purposes (Syddall, Cooper, Martin, Briggs, & Aihie Sayer, 2003). Participants who were unable to perform the handgrip strength test and those in the lowest 20% (adjusted for BMI and stratified by gender) were categorized as positive for the weakness criterion; (iv) slowness, as measured by the "15 feet walking test," consisting of an individual walk without assistance (4.6 m) where the time taken to complete it is measured and expressed in seconds, adjusted for gender and height. The best time of the two trials was used for final scoring (Newman, Haggerty, Kritchevsky, Nevitt, & Simonsick, 2003); and (v) low physical activity level, assessed by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire short form such that participants classified as having "low levels of PA" and "very low sedentary" on this instrument scored negatively in the FS criteria (Guessous et al., 2014; Pitanga, Pitanga, Beck, Gabriel, & Moreira, 2012). The prevalence of FS combined score was calculated, as well as the presence of each of the five items (0-5 points). According to the Fried protocol, a negative evaluation in one or two criteria classifies the participants as prefrail, in three or more as frail and as nonfrail or robust, when the subject has no score on any of the five criteria of FS (Fried et al., 2001).

Assessment of physical fitness indicators. The senior fitness test battery developed by Rikli and Jones (2013) was used to measure PFF. (i) The lower body strength is determined with the "30 seconds chair and stand test" (30 s-CS), measuring the number of total full chair stands that can be completed in 30 seconds with the arms folded across the chest; (ii) the upper body strength was assessed with the "30 seconds arm curl test" (30 s-AC) that measures the total number of bicep curls that can be completed in 30 seconds, seated in a chair and holding a hand weight of five lbs (2.27 kg) for women; (iii) for lower body flexibility, we used the "chair sit and reach test" from a sitting position at front of chair, with leg extended and hands reaching toward the toes, the number of inches (cm, + or -) between extended fingers and tip of toe were measured; (iv) the upper body flexibility (shoulder girdle) was measured using the "back stretch' test," that assesses the distance (cm, + or -) of approach between the middle fingers when one hand reaching over the shoulder and one up the middle of the back; (v) agility-dynamic balance was assessed using the 8 foot up and go test, that assesses the time in seconds required for the participant to get up from a chair (seated position), walk as quickly as possible around either side of a cone placed 2.44 m away from the chair, turn and sit back down in the seated position; and (vi) aerobic resistance was measured through the "2 minutes step test" (2 m-ST), that consisted of the number of full steps the subject completed in 2 minutes performing a stationary gait, with one hand resting on the wall and raising each knee to a midway point between the kneecap and iliac crest; the score is the number of times the right knee reaches the required height (Rikli & Jones, 2013). For all the PFF tests, the best score of the two trials performed was used for data analysis. When upper and lower members were tested on both sides (i.e., left and right), the best scoring side was the one considered for scoring purposes.

Statistical Analysis

The assumption of normality was checked by resorting to Shapiro–Wilk tests and by visual inspection of normality plots. When normally distributed, quantitative variables were described by their means and standard deviations. When not normally distributed, medians and the first and third quartiles were used instead. Nominal variables were described with absolute and relative frequencies. A comparison of quantitative variables between FS categories (no frail, prefrail, and frail) was performed using one-way analysis of variance test or Kruskal–Wallis test, as applicable. Associations between nominal variables were assessed using the chi-squared test and Monte Carlo simulations were performed when appropriate. Partial correlations between the FS combined score and PFF indicators were computed, together with partial correlations controlling for the cognitive status, comorbidities, and both factors at the same time. The magnitude of the associations was classified following recommendations: trivial (r < .1); small (r from .1 to .3); moderate (r from .3 to .5); strong (*r* from .5 to .7); and robust (*r* from .7 to .9; Batterham & Hopkins, 2006). The variables expressing PFF results were analyzed regarding their predictive value to distinguish between frail and prefrail subgroups by performing a receiver operating characteristics curve analyses. A multivariate logistic regression was subsequently undertaken, considering all of the aforementioned PFF test performance variables as predictors of FS. IBM SPSS Statistics 21.0 and in R 3.3.1 software were used for all computations. The level of significance adopted was p = .05.

Results

Data from 119 participants were analyzed, and Table 1 presents descriptive characteristics of the participants for all variables. Analysis of the sociodemographic variables indicated that our participants were older women (81.96 ± 7.89) , mostly without husbands (94.1%) and with low academic achievement levels according to the Portuguese education classification system (3rd grade). When the "no frail," "prefrail," and "frail" subgroups were compared, there were no statistical differences between these groups for chronological age, weight, and marital state. Statistical differences were found for height (p < .05). Concerning clinical status, the average scores of the total sample classified the sample as a whole as showing a cognitive status of MCI (MMSE, 20 points), a high incidence of multicormobidity and a high risk of mortality (CCI, 7 points), and a high incidence of polypharmacy. Differences between groups were found for MMSE scores that were lower (p < .001) and CCI scores that were higher (p = .026) in the frail group. There was also a clear tendency for increased polypharmacy in the frail subgroup.

Regarding FS assessment, 19 participants were classified as nonfrail (16%), 46 subjects as prefrail (38.7%), and 54 as frail (45.4%). Both for the prefrail and frail groups, as well as for the total sample, "weakness" was the dimension on which most participants obtained negative scores and "poor energy" was the dimension on which the fewest participants obtained negative scores.

Analyzing scores from the senior PFF tests battery and comparing the frailty subgroups, the frail group exhibited lower performance results on all PFF tests. A comparison between the three groups showed statistically significant differences attained for all PFF tests battery variables except for BMI, whose results indicated higher values in the direction of the frail group. In addition to the descriptive scores described in Table 1, a graphical representation (radar plot, Figure 1) also showed FS differences in PFF scores. In Figure 1, to ensure comparability and an easier visualization, the medians were computed for each of the three FS subgroups and then divided by the maximum of the three medians. It is mentioning that, for each FS component represented in the plot, higher results mean better performances. The frail group can be seen to have lower scores for all PFF variables except for body composition.

Clinical Status, Frailty, and Physical Fi	mess Indicators.			-	
	Total sample $(n = 119, 100\%)$	Nonfrail (<i>n</i> = 19, 16%)	Prefrail (<i>n</i> = 46, 38.7%)	Frail (n = 54, 45.4%)	đ
Bio-sociodemographic Chronological age (years, $A \pm SD$)	81.96 (土7,89)	81.68 (±6.72)	81.80 (土8.65)	82.19 (±7.72)	.959
Weight (kg, $A \pm SD$)	65.45(±12.58)	66.22 (±11.33)	65.08 (±11.54)	65.49 (±13.98)	.946
Height (m, M1;3)	1.51 (1.47; 1.56)	1.56 (1.49; 1.62)	1.51 (1.47; 1.55)	1.50 (1.46; 1.52)	.008
Marital state (<i>n</i> , %)					
Single	31 (26.1)	6 (31.6)	12 (26.1)	13 (24.1)	.073
Married	7 (5.9)	4 (21.0)	I (2.2)	2 (3.7)	
Widowed or divorced	81 (68.0)	9 (47.4)	33 (71.7)	39 (72.2)	
Level of education (degree; M1;3)	3 (3; 4)	4 (3; 6)	3 (3; 4)	3 (2; 4)	.063
Clinical status					
MMSE (score, MI;3)	20 (15; 25)	25 (21; 27)	21 (17; 25)	17 (13; 22)	<.001
CCI (score, MI;3)	7 (6; 9)	8 (6; 10)	7 (6; 8)	8 (7; 9)	.026
Medication use, per day $(n, \%)$					
I use more than three	108 (91.5%)	17 (89.5%)	43 (95.6%)	48 (88.9%)	.465
I use three or less	10 (8.5%)	2 (10.5%)	2 (4.4%)	6 (11.1%)	
Frailty syndrome (n, %)					
Weakness (N:P)	85 (71,4): 34(28.6)	0 (0): 19 (100)	36 (78.3): 10 (21.7)	49 (90.7): 5 (9.3)	<.001
Slowness (N:P)	62 (52.1): 57(47.9)	0 (0): 19 (100)	14 (30.4): 32 (69.6)	48 (88.9): 6 (11.1)	<.001
Poor energy (N:P)	49 (41.2): 70 (58.8)	0 (0): 19 (100)	10 (21.7): 36 (78.3)	39 (72.2): 15 (27.8)	<.001
Weight loss (N:P)	19 (16): 100 (84)	0 (0): 19 (100)	3 (6.5): 43 (93.5)	16 (29.6): 38 (70.4)	100.
Low physical activity level (N:P)	55 (46.2): 64 (53.8)	0 (0): 19 (100)	13 (28.3): 33 (71.7)	42 (77.8): 12 (22.2)	<.001
				(col	ntinued)

Table 1. Characterization of the Total Sample Study Population and Comparison by Frailty Phenotype Index for Sociodemographic,

-0
Ō
n
_
÷
_
0
()
~
_
d)
-
<u>ם</u>
ъ.

ticipants,	number (percentage) of par	artile; 3rd quartile; n, $\% =$	on; M1;3 = median 1st qua	= average \pm standard deviati	lote. N = negative; P = positive; $A \pm SD =$
.205	29.27 (土5.69)	28.22 (土4.60)	26.95 (土3.78)	28.49 (土5.05)	BMI (A \pm SD)
<.001	27.00 (16.00; 35.40)	39.50 (30.00; 45.00)	52.00 (44.00; 60.00)	37.00 (20.00; 44.00)	2 minutes step test (reps)
<.001	9.00 (7.00; 11.00)	11.00 (9.00; 14.00)	13.00 (11.00; 15.00)	10.60 (8.00; 12.00)	30 seconds arm curl test (reps)
					stand test (reps)
<.001	6.00 (5.00; 8.00)	9.00 (7.00; 11.00)	11.00 (10.00; 12.00)	8.00 (6.00; 11.00)	30 seconds chair and
.002	32.25 (22.50; 38.50)	38.75 (34.50; 43.50)	35.00 (23.00; 43.50)	36.00 (25.50; 42.50)	Chair sit and reach (centimetres)
<.001	20.14 (14.30; 25.97)	11.15 (9.20; 14.90)	9.75 (7.12; 10.58)	13.00 (10; 20.56)	Agility-dynamic balance (seconds)
.022	40.25 (31.00; 51.00)	44.00 (37.50; 60.50)	53.00 (39.00; 70.50)	43.00 (34; 56)	hysical fitness (M1;3) Back stretch test (centimetres)
þ	(n = 54, 45.4%)	(<i>n</i> = 46, 38.7%)	(n = 19, 16%)	(<i>n</i> = 119, 100%)	
	Frail	Prefrail	Nonfrail	Total sample	

where applicable. ž



Figure 1. Radar plot of the variables of the physical fitness tests (n = 119).

Control variables		Back stretch	Agility- dynamic balance	Chair sit and stand	30 seconds chair stand	30 seconds arm curl	2 minutes step	BMI
None	r	255	.662	289	555	456	617	.119
	Þ	.005	<.001	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.198
MMSE	r	212	.617	292	509	411	556	.157
	Þ	.021	<.001	.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	.090
CCI	r	23 I	.653	279	542	446	616	.096
	Þ	.012	<.001	.002	<.001	<.001	<.001	.303
MMSE	r	181	.604	280	489	398	552	.131
and CCI	Þ	.051	<.001	.002	<.001	<.001	<.001	.159

Table 2. Spearman Total and Partial Correlations (Controlling for Cognitive, Comorbidity, and Both) Between Combined Score of FS and Indicators of Physical Fitness Tests (n = 119).

Note. BMI = body mass index; MMSE = Mini-Mental State Exam; CCI = Charlson comorbidity index.

Correlations between the combined score of FS and PFF indicators can be seen in Table 2. Additional partial correlation, controlling for cognitive state, comorbidity, and both variables were also included. Direct and strong correlations emerged from associations between FS combined score and agility-

Variables	Cutoff	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	AUC	AUC 95% CI
Back stretch	<u>≤</u> 33.75	37.0	89.1	0.631	[0.522, 0.740]
Agility-dynamic balance	\geq 16.22	70.4	84.8	0.820	[0.739, 0.901]
Chair sit and stand	≤35.75	68.5	73.9	0.712	[0.609, 0.815]
30 seconds chair stand	<u>≤</u> 6.50	51.9	89.1	0.754	[0.661, 0.847]
30 seconds arm curl	\leq II.50	92.6	47.8	0.728	[0.626, 0.829]
2 minutes step	<u>≤</u> 36.50	77.8	65.2	0.738	[0.640, 0.836]
BMI	≥ 29.89	53.7	63.0	0.550	[0.436, 0.664]

Table 3. Predictive Performance of Physical Fitness Tests for Frailty Syndrome (n = 119).

Note. BMI = body mass index; AUC = Area Under Curve; CI = Confidence Interval.

dynamic balance (ADB) test (r = .662; p < .001). An inverse and strong association emerged in 2 m-ST variables (r = -.617; p < .001). Inverse and moderate association appears in 30 s-CS (r = -.555; p < .001) and 30 s-AC (r = -.456; p < .001) tests; inverse and small associations values appear in BST and 30 s-CS tests (r = -.255 and r = -.289; p < .001, respectively). No statistical correlation between BMI and FS combined score was found. When the effects of cognitive profile, comorbidity, and interaction between both variables were removed, correlation scores decreased but did not change the magnitude of the correlations.

Subsequently, receiver operating characteristics analyses were performed to assess how PFF indicators may be used to predict FS status (see Table 3). The highest AUC value was attained for the ADB test, the 95% confidence interval being [0.739, 0.901]. The corresponding cutoff value, maximizing Youden's index, was seen to be 16.22 (seconds), with the sensitivity 70.4% and the specificity 84.8%.

Test performance indicators were used as predictors for FS in a logistic regression analysis aimed at distinguishing between prefrail and frail subgroups. Nonfrail participants were thus excluded from this analysis. Of the seven variables assessing test performance, only ADB test ($\beta = 0.198$; SE = 0.052; p = .0000; OR = 1.218; OR 95% CI [1.110, 1.349]) and 30 s-AC ($\beta = -0.213$; SE = 0.086; p = .013; OR = 0.808; OR 95% CI [0.683, 0.956]) were found to be statistically significant predictors. These two predictor variables were linearly related to the logit of the dependent variable using the Box-Tidwell procedure.

A multivariate outlier was identified using standardized residual and kept in the analysis. The model was seen to be statistically significant ($\chi^2[2]=45.181$, p < .001) and to explain 48.6% (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in the outcome variable. It achieved a sensitivity and specificity of 70.4% and 84.8%, respectively, with AUC 0.848 with the corresponding 95% confidence interval being [0.773, 0.922]. Figure 2 shows only those significant variables in multivariate logistic regression analysis.



Figure 2. Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis for test performance (n = |1|9).

Discussion

The goals of this study were to explore associations between FS and PFF indicators and to analyze predictive performance of PFF tests among women living in centers for CSHS in the district of Coimbra, Portugal. To our knowledge, this study is the first scientific examination of the predictive performance of PFF indicators for evaluating FS in a Portuguese population over 65 years old. FS has similar prevalence (45.4% frail subgroup) when compared with other European countries that have studied samples living in CSHS (Abizanda et al., 2013).

According to other international studies, there is a clear trend toward an increasing prevalence of FS in samples of institutionalized individuals. Portuguese women over 65 years of age have distinct sociodemographic characteristics, when compared with South American (Yassuda et al., 2012), North American (Kiely, Cupples, & Lipsitz, 2009), and Asian populations (Han, Lee, & Kim, 2014). In agreement with other studies of participants with similar sample characteristics (González-Vaca et al., 2014), our bio-sociodemographic data revealed a trend toward lower levels of education in the prefrail and frail subgroups. Unlike other studies in which frail subjects were underweight (Donini et al., 2013), we found no statistical differences between groups in body weight and BMI. This fact may be explained by the nutritional support these individuals received from the care center in which they were living, consistent with a cross-sectional study conducted in Spain (González-Vaca et al.,

2014). According to several researchers, in recent years, malnutrition is a frequent problem among people living in institutionalized context (Cereda, Valzolgher, & Pedrolli, 2008; De Luis et al., 2011; Donini et al., 2013). Our data highlight the importance of adequate nutritional balance, one of the variables at the core of the FS status. Especially for this study, it is important to note that body weight probably did not affect the assessment of PFF.

In terms of clinical history, cognitive impairment and incidence of comorbidities are the most explored dimensions in studies combining FS correlates (Brigola et al., 2015; Chang & Lin, 2015). Despite ICC scores, present data do not indicate an increase in the number of diseases in the direction of the frail subgroup. The prevalence of a high comorbidity index in our study sample was present in all the FS subgroups. The results of cognitive function assessed by the MMSE showed statistical differences between FS subgroups. The pattern of increased MCI occurrence among the prefrail and the frail people in this study was comparable to previous studies (Abizanda et al., 2013; Han et al., 2014). However, studies with similar samples with participants living in community-dwelling context have higher values in MMSE when compared with studies with institutionalized scores samples (Robertson, Savva, Coen, & Kenny, 2014).

Regarding differences in PFF indicators between FS subgroups, frail people exhibited smaller scores in the lower and upper body strength, lower and upper body flexibility, agility, dynamic balance, and aerobic resistance capacities compared with the nonfrail and prefrail subgroups. An improvement on PFF performance, through regular physical exercise practise, reportedly enhanced physiological parameters related to physical health, exerting therapeutic treatment effect for prevention and mitigation of specific outcomes of physical impairment and can also contribute to increasing physical activity and quality of life (Patel, Newstead, & Ferrer, 2012), even in people aged over 65 years old (Vrantsidis et al., 2014).

The scientific literature recognizes the importance of maintaining an active lifestyle across life to mitigate adverse and harmful negative effects on physical health. However, muscle strength and cardiorespiratory fitness are consensually the most encouraged PFF components to be predominantly trained because of the direct relationship between the human vital capacity and physiological reserve (Charansonney, 2011). A closer look at the FS subgroups, specifically the frail subjects, revealed that weakness (muscular strength), slowness (walking speed), and low physical activity levels were the three FS components on which a larger number of participants scored negatively. The results of partial correlation between FS combined score and PFF indicators (see Table 2) showed satisfactory correlations between these dimensions, even when controlling for the effects of comorbidities, cognition profile, or both. Some studies indicate that these clinical conditions exert influence on PFF variables, though this was not demonstrated in the present study. Generally, our results are consistent with

other studies that explored associations among similar variables and dimensions (Chang et al., 2014; Jeoung & Lee, 2015).

A second central focus of the present study was an analysis of the potential performance of PFF tests for predicting the FS condition. We identified the 30s-AC and ADB test as two potential predictors of FS. The longer the ADB test took to be completed and the lower the number of repetitions in 30s-AC, the greater the risk of being frail. Notably, the ADB test was the best predictor. According to recent studies, this test seems to be an appropriate, independent, and predictive tool to detect frail subjects (Chang et al., 2014). Note that for the same sensitivity as the best univariate predictor (ADB test), the logistic regression model allows for a slightly higher specificity (89.1%, whereas it was 84.8%). In analytical terms, for this population or another with similar characteristics, taking longer than 16.22 seconds to complete this test predicts the existence of a frail condition. Accurately, the risk of frail condition (not prefrail) increases about 2.12% per second spent in the ADB test. Similar results were previously found in a similar study using an analogous test (the time up and go test) for predicting frail condition in community-dwelling subjects (Greene et al., 2014; Savva et al., 2013). However, in their sample, unlike the present study, the authors excluded individuals with MCI. As mentioned, the comparison of the ADB test values between frail and prefrail subgroups is of particular importance, since statistically significant differences were found between the ADB test values of the two groups (U = 446, p < .01).

The satisfactory execution of this test requires awareness, concentration on the information received (attention), and fast decision-making (reaction time) when the participant receives the signal to "raise from the chair" and walk as quickly as possible (Barry, Galvin, Keogh, Horgan, & Fahey, 2014); rising from a chair unassisted by upper limbs requires lower limbs muscle strength, and walking fast and turning around a cone placed at 2.44 m requires quickness, agility, dynamic balance, and body support (Cebolla, Rodacki, & Bento, 2015). Thus, this test requires the integration of physical capacities, highly dependent on a satisfactory neurocognitive functioning. Perhaps, this is the reason why the cutoff values for predicting risk of FS status in the present study were higher than previous studies in which the predictive cutoff value was ≥ 8.12 seconds (Chang et al., 2014) as our sample contained individuals whose MMSE test values were in the range of MCI.

The central findings of the present study support the power of the agility-dynamic balance test for predicting FS in institutionalized populations aged over 65 years, where application of Fried's criteria is not feasible. This study's limitations include a sample that was only representative of institutionalized women since randomly selected institutions in a "universe" of many others was the most feasible, fast, and economical method of data collection and the number of male participants motivated to participate was very low. However, comparing these data to similar results from previous research, we

conclude that the agility-dynamic balance test is gaining clinical utility because of its accuracy in detecting physical frailty. It has potential for use as a reference measure in future exercise intervention studies.

Acknowledgments

Tha authors would like to thank all SHSC localized in Coimbra, Portugal, that accepted to participate in this study. The authors also thank the students Matheus Uba, Nelba Souza, Filipa Pedrosa, Fábio Direito, Rafael Carvalho, and Taís Rieping for volunteering in data collection.

Authors Contributions

Guilherme Furtado drafted the paper and help in the acquisition data. Miguel Patrício and Marisa Loureiro performed the statistical analysis. José Ferreira and Ana Teixeira coordinated the research study protocol. All the authors have made a substantial contribution in their respective areas of expertise and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: This work was financed by FEDER funds through COMPETE and national funds through FCT-Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology in the framework of project PTDC/DTP-DES/0154/2012. Guilherme Furtado was financed by a grant from CAPES/CNPQ—Ministry of Education, Brazil (BEX: 11929/13-8). Ana Teixeira and José Ferreira are registered at CIDAF (UID/PTD/ 04213/2016).

References

- Abizanda, P., Romero, L., Sánchez-Jurado, P. M., Martínez-Reig, M., Alfonso-Silguero, S. A., & Rodríguez-Mañas, L. (2014). Age, frailty, disability, institutionalization, multimorbidity or comorbidity. Which are the main targets in older adults? *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 18*(6), 622–627. Retrieved from https://doi. org/10.1007/s12603-014-0033-3
- Abizanda, P., Romero, L., Sánchez-Jurado, P. M., Martínez-Reig, M., Gómez-Arnedo, L., & Alfonso, S. A. (2013). Frailty and mortality, disability and mobility loss in a Spanish cohort of older adults: The FRADEA study. *Maturitas*, 74(1), 54–60. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.09.018
- Afilalo, J., Alexander, K. P., Mack, M. J., Maurer, M. S., Green, P., Allen, L. A.,...Forman, D. E. (2014). Frailty assessment in the cardiovascular care of older adults. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 63(8), 747–762. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2013.09.070

- Barry, E., Galvin, R., Keogh, C., Horgan, F., & Fahey, T. (2014). Is the timed up and go test a useful predictor of risk of falls in community dwelling older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Geriatrics*, 14, 14. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10. 1186/1471-2318-14-14
- Batterham, A. M., & Hopkins, W. G. (2006). About magnitudes. *International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance*, 1(1), 50–57. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=pt-PT&lr=&id=gkalyqTMXNEC&pgis=1
- Braga, R. (2013). Etica na publicação de trabalhos científicos. Revista Portuguesa de Medicina Geral E Familiar [Ethics in the publication of scientific papers], 29(6), 354–356. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.mec.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S2182-51732013000600001&lng=pt&nrm=iso&tlng=pt
- Brigola, A. G., Rossetti, E. S., dos Santos, B. R., Neri, A. L., Zazzetta, M. S., Inouye, K., & Pavarini, S. C. I. (2015). Relationship between cognition and frailty in elderly: A systematic review. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 9(2), 110–119. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-57642015DN92000005
- Cebolla, E. C., Rodacki, A. L. F., & Bento, P. C. B. (2015). Balance, gait, functionality and strength: Comparison between elderly fallers and non-fallers. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, 19(2), 146–151. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1590/bjpt-rbf. 2014.0085
- Cereda, E., Valzolgher, L., & Pedrolli, C. (2008). Mini nutritional assessment is a good predictor of functional status in institutionalised elderly at risk of malnutrition. *Clinical Nutrition*, 27(5), 700–705. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu. 2008.06.001
- Chang, S.-F., & Lin, P.-L. (2015). Frail phenotype and mortality prediction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52, 1362–1374. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu. 2015.04.005
- Chang, S.-F., Yang, R.-S., Lin, T.-C., Chiu, S.-C., Chen, M.-L., & Lee, H.-C. (2014). The discrimination of using the short physical performance battery to screen frailty for community-dwelling elderly people. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship: An Official Publication of Sigma Theta Tau International Honor Society of Nursing/Sigma Theta Tau*, 46(3), 207–215. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12068
- Charansonney, O. L. (2011). Physical activity and aging: A life-long story. *Discovery Medicine*, 12(64), 177–185. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 21955845
- Charlson, M., Szatrowski, T. P., Peterson, J., & Gold, J. (1994). Validation of a combined comorbidity index. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 47(11), 1245–1251. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7722560
- Chastin, S. F. M., Fitzpatrick, N., Andrews, M., & DiCroce, N. (2014). Determinants of sedentary behavior, motivation, barriers and strategies to reduce sitting time in older women: A qualitative investigation. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 11(1), 773–791. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph110100773
- Cho, B. L., Scarpace, D., & Alexander, N. B. (2004). Tests of stepping as indicators of mobility, balance, and fall risk in balance-impaired older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52(7), 1168–1173.

- Chumlea, W., & Baumgartner, N. (1989). Status of anthropometry in elderly subjects3 w composition data. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 50, 1158–1166.
- Clegg, A., & Trust, D. M. (2011). The frailty syndrome. Clinical Medicine, 11(1), 72-75.
- Crimmins, E. M., Kim, J. K., & Solé-Auró, A. (2011). Gender differences in health: Results from SHARE, ELSA and HRS. *European Journal of Public Health*, 21(1), 81–91. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckq022
- de Chaves, R. N., Bustamante Valdívia, A., Nevill, A., Freitas, D., Tani, G., Katzmarzyk, P. T., & Maia, J. A. R. (2016). Developmental and physical-fitness associations with gross motor coordination problems in Peruvian children. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 53–54, 107–114. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2016.01.003
- De Luis, D. A., López Mongil, R., Gonzalez Sagrado, M., Lopez Trigo, J. A., Mora, P. F., & Castrodeza Sanz, J. (2011). Nutritional status in a multicenter study among institutionalized patients in Spain. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences*, 15(3), 259–265. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21528771
- de Melo, D. M., & Barbosa, A. J. G. (2015). Use of the Mini-Mental State Examination in research on the elderly in Brazil: A systematic review. *Ciência & Saúde Coletiva*, 20(12), 3865–3876. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-812320152012. 06032015
- Donini, L. M., Scardella, P., Piombo, L., Neri, B., Asprino, R., Proietti, A. R.,... Morrone, A. (2013). Malnutrition in elderly: Social and economic determinants. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 17(1), 9–15. Retrieved from https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12603-012-0374-8
- Drubbel, I., Numans, M. E., Kranenburg, G., Bleijenberg, N., de Wit, N. J., & Schuurmans, M. J. (2014). Screening for frailty in primary care: A systematic review of the psychometric properties of the frailty index in community-dwelling older people. *BMC Geriatrics*, 14(1), 27. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-14-27
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149–1160. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Fernandes, D. (2007). A avaliação das aprendizagens no Sistema Educativo Português [The evaluation of learning in the Portuguese Education System]. *Educação E Pesquisa*, 33(3), 581–600. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-97022007000300013
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). 'Mini-mental state'. A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 12(3), 189–198. Retrieved from https://doi.org/0022-3956(75)90026-6 [pii]
- Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, A. B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J.,...McBurnie, M. A. (2001). Frailty in older adults: Evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(3), M146–M156. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11253156
- Garber, C. E., Blissmer, B., Deschenes, M. R., Franklin, B. A., Lamonte, M. J., Lee, I.-M.,...Swain, D. P. (2011). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory,

musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: Guidance for prescribing exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 43(7), 1334–1359. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb

- Gonçalves, B., Fagulha, T., Ferreira, A., & Reis, N. (2014). Depressive symptoms and pain complaints as predictors of later development of depression in Portuguese middle-aged women. *Health Care for Women International*, 35(11–12), 1228–1244. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2013.862795
- González-Vaca, J., de la Rica-Escuín, M., Silva-Iglesias, M., Arjonilla-García, M. D., Varela-Pérez, R., Oliver-Carbonell, J. L., & Abizanda, P. (2014). Frailty in INstitutionalized older adults from ALbacete. The FINAL Study: Rationale, design, methodology, prevalence and attributes. *Maturitas*, 77(1), 78–84. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.10.005
- Greene, B. R., Doheny, E. P., O'Halloran, A., & Anne Kenny, R. (2014). Frailty status can be accurately assessed using inertial sensors and the TUG test. *Age and Ageing*, 43(3), 406–411. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/aft176
- Guessous, I., Luthi, J. C., Bowling, C. B., Theler, J. M., Paccaud, F., Gaspoz, J. M., & McClellan, W. (2014). Prevalence of frailty indicators and association with socioeconomic status in middle-aged and older adults in a swiss region with universal health insurance coverage: A population-based cross-sectional study. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2014, 8. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/198603
- Guigoz, Y. (2006). The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA(registered trademark)) review of the literature What does it tell us? *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging, 10*(6), 466–485. Retrieved from http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L46127189%5Cnhttp://sfx.hul.harvard.edu/sfx_local?sid=EMBASE&issn=12797707&id=doi:&atitle=The + Mini + Nutritional + Assessment + (MNA?) + review + of + the + literature + + What + does + it + tell + us?&stitle
- Han, E. S., Lee, Y., & Kim, J. (2014). Association of cognitive impairment with frailty in community-dwelling older adults. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 26(1), 155–163. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610213001841
- Jeoung, B. J., & Lee, Y. C. (2015). A Study of relationship between frailty and physical performance in elderly women. *Journal of Exercise Rehabilitation*, 11(4), 215–219. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.12965/jer.150223
- Kiely, D. K., Cupples, L. A., & Lipsitz, L. A. (2009). Validation and comparison of two frailty indexes: The MOBILIZE Boston Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(9), 1532–1539. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009. 02394.x
- Kim, M.-J., Yabushita, N., Kim, M.-K., Nemoto, M., Seino, S., & Tanaka, K. (2010). Mobility performance tests for discriminating high risk of frailty in community-dwelling older women. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 51(2), 192–198. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2009.10.007
- Kimura, M., Mizuta, C., Yamada, Y., Okayama, Y., & Nakamura, E. (2012). Constructing an index of physical fitness age for Japanese elderly based on 7-year longitudinal data: Sex differences in estimated physical fitness age. Age, 34(1), 203–214. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-011-9225-5
- Lally, F., & Crome, P. (2007). Understanding frailty. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 83(975), 16–20. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1136/pgmj.2006.048587

- Lee, Y. S. (2008). Gender differences in physical activity and walking among older adults. *Journal of Women & Aging*, 17(1–2), 55–70. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1300/ J074v17n01
- Macklai, N. S., Spagnoli, J., Junod, J., & Santos-Eggimann, B. (2013). Prospective association of the SHARE-operationalized frailty phenotype with adverse health outcomes: Evidence from 60+ community-dwelling Europeans living in 11 countries. *BMC Geriatrics*, 13(1), 3. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2318-13-3
- Mjm, van Uffelen, J. G. L., Riphagen, I., & van Mechelen, W. (2008). The functional effects of physical exercise training in frail older people: A systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, 38(9), 781–793.
- Mohler, M. J., Fain, M. J., Wertheimer, A. M., Najafi, B., & Nikolich-Žugich, J. (2014). The frailty syndrome: Clinical measurements and basic underpinnings in humans and animals. *Experimental Gerontology*, 54, 6–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.01. 024
- Mungas, D. (1991). In-office mental status testing: A practical guide. *Geriatrics*, 46(7), 54–58, 63, 66. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2060803
- Murphy, M. H., McNeilly, A. M., & Murtagh, E. M. (2010). Session 1: Public health nutrition: Physical activity prescription for public health. *The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 69(1), 178–184. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0029665109991741
- Nelson, M. E., Rejeski, W. J., Blair, S. N., Duncan, P. W., Judge, J. O., King, A. C.,...Castaneda-Sceppa, C. (2007). Physical activity and public health in older adults: Recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 39(8), 1435–1445. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e3180616aa2
- Newman, A. B., Haggerty, C. L., Kritchevsky, S. B., Nevitt, M. C., & Simonsick, E. M. (2003). Walking performance and cardiovascular response: Associations with age and morbidity—the health, aging and body composition study. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 58(8), 715–720. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12902529
- Nóbrega, P. V., Maciel, A. C. C., de Almeida Holanda, C. M., Oliveira Guerra, R., & Araújo, J. F. (2014). Sleep and frailty syndrome in elderly residents of long-stay institutions: A cross-sectional study. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 14(3), 605–612. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/ggi.12144
- Park, S.-Y., Kwak, Y. S., Harveson, A., Weavil, J. C., & Seo, K. E. (2015). Low intensity resistance exercise training with blood flow restriction: Insight into cardiovascular function, and skeletal muscle hypertrophy in humans. *The Korean Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology: Official Journal of the Korean Physiological Society and the Korean Society of Pharmacology, 19*(3), 191–196. Retrieved from https://doi.org/ 10.4196/kjpp.2015.19.3.191
- Patel, N. K., Newstead, A. H., & Ferrer, R. L. (2012). The effects of yoga on physical functioning and health related quality of life in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 18(10), 902–917. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2011.0473
- Peterson, M. J., Giuliani, C., Morey, M. C., Pieper, C. F., Evenson, K. R., Mercer, V.,...Simonsick, E. M. (2009). Physical activity as a preventative factor for

frailty: The health, aging, and body composition study. *The Journals of Gerontology*. *Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *64*(1), 61–68. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gln001

- Petrini, C. (2014). Helsinki 50 years on. *La Clinica Terapeutica*, *165*(4), 179–181. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25203329
- Pitanga, C. P. S., Pitanga, F. J. G., Beck, C. C., Gabriel, R. E. C. D., & Moreira, M. H. R. (2012). Nível de atividade física para prevenção do excesso de gordura visceral em mulheres pós-menopáusicas: Quanto é necessário? [Level of physical activity in the prevention of excess visceral fat in postmenopausal women: how much is needed?] Arquivos Brasileiros de Endocrinologia & Metabologia, 56(6), 358–363. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1590/S0004-27302012000600003
- Rikli, R., & Jones, C. (2013). Seniorfitness test manual (2nd ed.). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics. Retrieved from http://www.humankinetics.com/products/all-products/ senior-fitness-test-manual-2nd-edition
- Robertson, D. A., Savva, G. M., Coen, R. F., & Kenny, R.-A. (2014). Cognitive function in the prefrailty and frailty syndrome. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(11), 2118–2124. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.13111
- Robinson, T. N., Eiseman, B., Wallace, J. I., Church, S. D., McFann, K. K., Pfister, S. M., ... Moss, M. (2009). Redefining geriatric preoperative assessment using frailty, disability and co-morbidity. *Annals of Surgery*, 250(3), 449–455. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b45598
- Rockwood, M. R., MacDonald, E., Sutton, E., Rockwood, K., & Baron, M. (2014). Frailty index to measure health status in people with systemic sclerosis. *The Journal* of *Rheumatology*, 41(4), 698–705. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3899/jrheum. 130182
- Romero-Ortuno, R. (2013). The frailty instrument for primary care of the survey of health, ageing and retirement in Europe predicts mortality similarly to a frailty index based on comprehensive geriatric assessment. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 13(2), 497–504. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0594. 2012.00948.x
- Santos, M., & Almeida, A. (2010). Polimedicação no idoso [Polypharmacy in old age]. *Revista de Enfermagem Referência*, III Série (n° 2), 149–162. Retrieved from https:// doi.org/10.12707/RIII1011
- Savva, G. M., Donoghue, O. A., Horgan, F., O'Regan, C., Cronin, H., & Kenny, R. A. (2013). Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 68(4), 441–446. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gls190
- Syddall, H., Cooper, C., Martin, F., Briggs, R., & Aihie Sayer, A. (2003). Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? *Age and Ageing*, 32(6), 650–656. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14600007
- Takata, Y., Ansai, T., Soh, I., Awano, S., Yoshitake, Y., Kimura, Y.,... Takehara, T. (2010). Quality of life and physical fitness in an 85-year-old population. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 50(3), 272–276. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j. archger.2009.04.005
- Teixeira, A. M., Ferreira, J. P., Hogervorst, E., Braga, M. F., Bandelow, S., Rama, L., ... Pedrosa, F. M. (2016). Study protocol on hormonal mediation of exercise on

cognition, stress and immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of different exercise programmes in institutionalized elders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *4*, 133. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133

- Uemura, K., Shimada, H., Makizako, H., Doi, T., Yoshida, D., Tsutsumimoto, K.,...Suzuki, T. (2013). Cognitive function affects trainability for physical performance in exercise intervention among older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 8, 97–102. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.2147/ CIA.S39434
- Vrantsidis, F., Hill, K., Haralambous, B., Renehan, E., Ledgerwood, K., Pinikahana, J.,... Penberthy, M. (2014). Living longer living strongerTM: A community-delivered strength training program improving function and quality of life. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 33(1), 22–25. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/ajag.12008
- Yassuda, M. S., Lopes, A., Cachioni, M., Falcao, D. V. S., Batistoni, S. S. T., Guimaraes, V. V., & Neri, A. L. (2012). Frailty criteria and cognitive performance are related: Data from the FIBRA study in Ermelino Matarazzo, São Paulo, Brazil. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, 16(1), 55–61. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/22238002.

Author Biographies

Guilherme Furtado has a degree in Sport Science and Physical Education (UNI-BH, Brazil), postgraduate in Functional Training (ULTH-FEDF, Portugal), and a master's degree in Exercise and Health in Special Groups (FCDEF-UC, Portugal). He has large professional experience in exercise programs. He is a doctoral fellow (CAPES Foundation—Ministry of Education, Brazil) in Physical activity and Health at University of Coimbra (FCDEF-UC). Research has focused on modulated effects of regular exercise on biopsychologies outcomes (hormonal, psychological, and physical fitness) in older adults with physical frailty condition.

Miguel Patrício has a degree in Mathematics (University of Coimbra) and a PhD also in Mathematics (Technical University of Eindhoven). He worked as an assistant professor at the Department of Mathematics of the School of Technology and Management of the Polytechnic Institute of Leiria between 2008 and 2012. Subsequently, he moved to the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra, where he now works as a researcher, focusing mostly on Applied Mathematics and Biostatistics.

Marisa Loureiro has a degree in Mathematics (since 2006 by University of Coimbra—Department of Mathematics) and master's degree in Teaching Mathematics (since 2010 by University of Coimbra—Department of Mathematics). She is a PhD Student in Mathematics with a specialization in Statistics (since 2015 by University of Évora). Currently, she is a trainer of Mathematics and Statistics and a member of Laboratory of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra.

Ana Maria Teixeira has a degree in Biochemistry (UC, Portugal), master's degre in imunology (UP, Portugal), and PhD in Hematology from the University of London, UK. Currently, she is an associated professor with aggregation (CIDAF/FCDEF-UC) and her research focus on the areas of medical sciences with an emphasis on health sciences. The most common themes in the context of her scientific production are exercise immunology, training load, salivary IgA, immunessenescence,

and health promotion. Currently, she is dedicated to research on the effects of exercise on hormonal mediation of stress, cognition, and immunity in older persons.

José Pedro Ferreira has a degree in Physical Education (Special Education or Rehabilitation), master's degreee in Children Motor Behavior (FMH-UTL, Portugal), and PhD in (University of Bristol, UK). Currently, he is a professor associated and research interests focus on the study of psychological variables associated with the practice of sport and exercise in special groups (CIDAF/ FCDEF-UC). It teaches European programs Erasmus Mundus Master in Adapted Physical Activity and European University Diploma in Adapted Physical Activity. Currently, he is president of the European Federation of Adapted Physical Activity.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ctcp



Effects of a chair-yoga exercises on stress hormone levels, daily life activities, falls and physical fitness in institutionalized older adults



G.E. Furtado ^{a, c, *}, M. Uba-Chupel ^{a, c}, H.M. Carvalho ^b, N.R. Souza ^a, J.P. Ferreira ^a, A.M. Teixeira ^a

^a Research Unit for Sport and Physical Activity (CIDAF), Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education, University Coimbra (FCDEF-UC), Portugal

^b Faculty of Physical Education, University of Campinas, UNICAMP, Brazil

^c CAPES Foundation, Ministry of Education, Brazil

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 2 May 2016 Received in revised form 18 May 2016 Accepted 20 May 2016

Keywords: Older adults Yoga Exercise Physical fitness Cortisol Alpha-amylase

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to assess the changes mediated by exercise on activities of daily life and falls, physical fitness, salivary cortisol and alpha amylase in older adults living in social and health care givers centers.

Methods: Sample consisted in 35 women (83.81 \pm 6.6 years old) were divided into two groups: chairyoga exercises group (CY, n = 20) and control group (CG, n = 15). All subjects were evaluated before and after 14-weeks. CY was involved in exercise classes two times per week, while the GC did not participate in any exercise.

Results: Fear of falling decreased in both groups, cortisol increased and alpha-amylase decreased in the CG. No significant changes occurred in physical fitness outcomes. Conclusion: CY practice was able to maintain the physical fitness scores and stress hormone levels, but was not able to improve the subject's perception on the ability to perform the instrumental activities of daily life.

© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Aging is characterized by deregulation of multiple physiological systems with deleterious effects on physical health and functional autonomy in older adults [1,2]. Biological chronic stress has been shown to have immuno-suppressive effects and to induce a physical-fragile state [3]. The gradual deterioration in the skeletal muscle system seems to be the central mechanism for decreased independency in activities of daily life (IADL) and physical fitness (PF) indicators [4].

The autonomy in the elderly can be characterized as the ability of the individual to perform IADL while demonstrating a satisfactory PF condition, without eminent risk of falling [5,6]. Functional impairment, especially when it is generated by the consequences of falls, increases public health spending to treat patients with later sequels [7]. For this reason, recent aging-autonomy models propose an integrated approach, whose major intervention mechanics are to assesses eminent risk of falls and improve PF over time [8].

E-mail address: furts2001@yahoo.com.br (G.E. Furtado).

Even non injurious falls are disabling with strong associations with activity constraint, isolation, deconditioning, increased fear of falling again and depression [7]. Associated with factors such as multi-comorbidity and polypharmacy, an increased risk of falls can further increase older adult's vulnerability [9]. In this sense, to check for possible associations between hormonal parameters related to stress and psychosocial and stressful constraints seems to be a prudent direction [10,11].

Cortisol (sCOR) is an essential hormone in the regulation of the biological stress response, but recently salivary alpha-amylase (sAA) has also emerged as a novel biomarker for evaluating stress [12]. These neuroendocrine markers play an important role in establishing the bodily reaction to stress and regulation of the autonomic function [13]. Stress responsiveness is primarily regulated by two neuroendocrine axes: the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) and sympathetic adrenomedullary systems [14]. The HPA axis is a complex neuroendocrine stress system involved in biobehavioral adjustments to confrontational stimuli and change [12]. Because saliva collection is a non-invasive method and for being accurate salivary biomarkers for detection of autonomic activity [15], sCOR and sAA received more attention lately in respect to their relationship with physical exercise [10]. However, results from

^{*} Corresponding author. FCDEF-UC - Estádio Universitário, Pavilhão III, Santa Clara, 3040-156, Coimbra, Portugal.

chronic exercise on neuroendocrine modulation in the older populations are scarce [11]. In the few studies that address exercise in the older person and biological stress, the use of diverse methodologies strip the accuracy of the inference of the results [16].

The premise that preserving an adequate state of physical independence in advanced age is related to satisfactory PF seems to be widely accepted [6,17,18]. For this reason, a physical exercise routine can be a complementary form of muscle damage prevention through the improvement of HrPf [19–21]. The American College of Sport Medicine (ACSM) makes it clear in their own guidelines when it refers that ten minutes of flexibility training a day, twice a week, will aid in the prevention of falls by improving balance [22]. But the recommendations on flexibility training are controversial since this type of training by itself does not seem to be enough to promote the functional benefits required by older people to maintain an adequate level of PF [23].

Among the various forms of exercise that could be practiced by older persons, yoga has been recommended as it could mitigate the deleterious effects of aging on flexibility [21,24]. According to the literature, the benefits of regular yoga practice include improvements in balance, coordination, strength and flexibility [19,25]. In older people with physical limitations to perform the full practice of yoga, adaptations may be made and an exercise program supported by a chair can be developed [21,24].

To date, few publications on the effect of yoga in olders have been published [23]. In a recent systematic review [19], the studies that tested the effects of yoga, mainly looked at variables such as strength, flexibility and cardiovascular resistance [25], psychosocial factors such as depression and anxiety [26], and biomarkers able to assess oxidative stress and lipid profile [27]. Studies involving athletes were also used to assess the acute effects of exercise on biological stress [28]. In a recent systematic review [19], Questions regarding whether biological levels of stress are associated with PF, fear of falling and psychosocial factors, as well as if the practice of yoga is able to change these parameters in the older person remain unanswered. Towards this purpose, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of a chair-based yoga exercise program on stress hormone levels, ADL, fear of falling and PF in institutionalized older women.

2. Methods

2.1. Initial procedures

Participants were older women living in social and health care support centres (SHC), located in the city of Coimbra, Portugal. All participants (or responsible) were required to give a full informed consent before beginning the research project. The study protocol was approved by Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education Ethical Committee - University of Coimbra [Ref.: CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013]; it respects the Portuguese Resolution (Art.° 4th; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) on ethics in research with humans [29], follows the guidelines for ethics in scientific experiments in exercise science research [30] and complies with the guidelines for research with human beings of the Helsinki Declaration [31].

2.2. Design of the study

This study was planned for approximately 20 weeks and was built in 3 different stages, as described below: First phase (2 weeks) consisted in the evaluation of the participants before chair-based yoga exercise program. Second phase 2 was an intervention study with implementation. Phase 3 (2 weeks) consisted in the evaluation of the participants after the 14 weeks of exercise. All the tests were applied before and after the exercise intervention in all groups (see Fig. 1). To minimize difference in procedures the same evaluators performed the data collection both at baseline and follow-up assessments.

2.3. Participants

According to a recent systematic review (sample average of 09 participants) previous studies on exercise interventions have shown small effect size in psychobiological outcomes in similar populations [16]. For this reason, a minimum sample of 15 participants per group was recruited, sufficient to identify possible beneficial effects taking into account the size of the effect size (d = 0.40, strong effect size, power = 0.80) established [32]. Additionally, another 7 participants were recruited (30% of 15 participants) in order to prevent dropout of the study sample [33].

In total, 58 participants from a center for social and health care support were selected from a convenience sample. After applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria and after dropout the final sample consisted of 35 female participants (age = 83.81 ± 6.6 years old). The participants were allocated into two groups: chair-based yoga exercise group (CY, n = 20) and non-exercising control group, (CG, n = 15).

2.3.1. Sample selection criteria

Baseline assessment tasks included measures of biosocial and global health status, which associated with the medical staff report, formed the basis for determining the selections sample criteria's in the study. The inclusion conditions for the older participants stipulated in first order were: Being female participant aged over 60 years; drug therapy controlled and updated; If the participant present clinical condition or comorbidity, it must be stable and enable participation in yoga classes as decided by local medical staff. The exclusion criteria were: not completing or withdrawing from the '8-foot-up and go test' (FGT) in the maximum time of 50 s, since scores above this value indicate severe mobility dependence [34]; involvement in other structured exercise program; presence of severe cardiopathy, uncontrolled hypertension or asthmatic bronchitis, musculoskeletal dysfunctions that prevented the physical testes (i.e. osteoarthritis, recent fractures), mental disorder, hearing and vision impairment, morbid obesity or the use of



Fig. 1. Flowchart of the selection sample.

medications that significantly impair attention.

2.3.2. Masking

To minimize differences in assessment procedures the same evaluators performed the collection data at both baseline and follow-up measures. The psychometric scales were applied by independent assistant that establish contact with the participants without made references to the exercise program. The instructor of the exercise sessions did not took part in the data collection procedures. Precaution was taken to avoid interaction of CY exercises between individuals of the two groups by staggering the classes schedule.

2.4. Assessments

Measures of global health, biosocial status, psychometric (Portuguese version), physical-fitness and anthropometric were done by expert technicians.

2.4.1. Activities of daily life

The Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADL) questionnaire was used. The questionnaire is used for identifying how a person is carrying out daily activities at the present time and for identifying improvement or deterioration over time in 8 domains [35]. A summary score ranges from 9 (low function, dependent) to 20 points, for 'high function' independent [36].

2.4.2. Subjective fear of falling (risk of fall)

Tinetti Falls Efficacy Scale (FES) was used. The FES contains questions concerning the possibility of falling during the performance of 10 activities [37]. FES is represented on a 10-item analog scale and accordingly, the lower the score the greater the confidence, resulting in a high self-efficacy and reduced fear of falling when performing the 10 activities described in the questionnaire [38].

2.4.3. Physical tests assessment

The Senior Fitness Test battery [39] was used to assess PF. The lower body strength was determined with the '30 s's chair-andstand test' (30s-CS), measuring the number of total stands completed in 30 s. The upper body strength was determined with the '30 s arm-curl test' (30s-AC) that measures the total number of arm curls executed in that time. To assess lower-body flexibility the 'chair sit-and-reach test' (CSR) was used measuring the distance in centimeters, (cm) of overlap or between the tips of the middle fingers when the arms are reaching up in the middle of the back as far as possible. To assess agility and dynamic balance the FGT was used, assessing the time needed for the participant to get up from the chair, walk as quickly as possible around either side of a cone placed 2.44 cm away and to sit back down in the chair. Each physical test has its respective cutoff value, however, the final scores were used as a continuous variable form.

2.4.4. Biochemical markers

Saliva will be collected by passive drool (method for collecting whole saliva), which provides the purest sample and making possible future testing. The individuals will salivate without any orofacial movement into high quality polypropylene vials to avoid problems with analyte retention or the introduction of contaminants that can interfere with the immunoassays. Collection was always at the same time of the morning in order to minimize the circadian effect of the markers used. After collection, the saliva containing tubes were store at -20 °C until analysis, then defrosted and centrifuged in order to collect the saliva sample [40]. The determination of the sAA was done by kinetic assay (Salimetrics,

UK) and concentration of sCOR was determinate by competitive ELISA (Salimetrics, UK), according to the manufacturer instructions [41].

2.5. CY exercise program

The creation of the chair based CY was based on the essential philosophy of Hatha Yoga and its āsanas, focusing on the flexibility benefits provided by them [19]. Music was not used during the sessions, since it could exert influence on neurocognitive aspects [42,43]. Exercise intensity was controlled using heart rate monitors (Polar, RCX5) randomly distributed between participants during the exercise program and monitored a low to moderate intensity effort, reaching intensities around 50-75% of maximum heart-rate values as recommended by the ACSM [22]. For safety reasons, exercise intensity was indirectly calculated using the Karvonen's formula to predict target heart rate (HR), but with maximal (max) HR being calculated using $[HR_{max} = 207 (beats per minute) 0.7 \times$ chronological age] for older people [44]. For this study, the sequences of exercises were prepared cautiously and reviewed according to the participants evolution [45], aiming to achieve moderate intensities in classes.

2.5.1. Exercise adherence

Classes were offered 2–3 times/week, during 14 weeks, in a total of 32 sessions. The percentage of exercise adherence to group classes was calculated individually through the total sum of participation. Entries were recorded in a checklist. When a participant had two consecutive absences, she was contacted to return to the group classes. An adherence to the exercise program between of 65%–75% [46], was established as minimum for each participant to be included in the study.

3. Data analysis

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov and visual inspection was done to check the distribution of data. For an elderly population, it should be noted that the intra-individual variability of the data becomes a major research challenge, with regard to homogeneity. Thus dependent variables were log-transformed before analysis to reduce non-uniformity of error as a recurring feature on data from biological nature (Feng et al., 2014), except FES and IADL which were based on Likert scales [47]. Descriptive statistics were summarized as average, standard deviation, range and association between variables was done using the Spearman correlations rank test. The magnitude of correlations was classified following the standards: trivial [r < 0.1-0.3]; moderate [r < 0.3-0.5]; strong [r < 0.5-0.7], robust [r < 0.7-0.9] [48]. Comparison between groups was accomplished using t-test for two independent samples. The *T*-paired test accessed differences between variables pre and post exercise and percent changes were calculated. The between-subject standard deviation for each dependent variable was used to convert the log-transformed changes of PF indicators into standardized [Cohen effect size (ES)] changes in the mean. The smallest standardized change was assumed to be 0.20 [49]. The statistical analysis was made with SPSS 20.0 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences, IBM), and $p \le 0.05$ used as the level of significance.

4. Results

Table 1 shows the characterization of the sample. No statistically significant differences between the CG and CYG groups were found, in other words, they were homogeneous for all variables at the beginning of the study.

Associations between the variables studied at baseline were:

Tabla	1
lable	1

Characteristics of ex	perimental a	nd control	groups at	baseline and	comparison	between	groups	by two-ind	ependent	sample	25

	Chair Yoga Exerci	ses Group ($n = 20$)	Control group (n	= 15)	р	d
	Average (SD)	Range	Average (SD)	Range		
Salivary Cortisol (ug/mL) ^a	00.57(00.23)	00.49-01.32	00.65(00.19)	00.26-01.12	0.488	0.09
Salivary Alpha Amylase (U/mL)	76.16(41.13)	05.24-180.07	67.98(54.60)	06.56-217.79	0.496	0.16
Chair sit-and-reach test (cm)	18.90(10.48)	02.00-32.00	16.90(10.72)	01.00-31.00	0.924	0.18
30s Arm-curl test (repetitions per time) ^a	11.45(04.10)	05.00-24.00	08.67(04.70)	02.00-19.00	0.091	0.63
30s chair-and-stand test (repetition per time)	09.20(03.75)	02.00-18.00	07.40(02.84)	03.00-13.00	0.590	0.48
8-foot up and-go test (seconds)	20.36(16.22)	08.04-60.00	17.10(11.90)	7.23-50.00	0.827	0.22
Falls Efficacy Scale (#)	27.85(21.63)	10.00-87.00	40.87 (22.76)	10.00-82.00	0.804	0.58
Instrumental activities Daily Living Scale (#)	20.15(04.13)	14.00-27.00	22.01(05.12)	12.00-30.00	0.601	0.11

** $p \le 0.01$; * $p \le 0.05$, comparisons between groups based on t-statistic.

^a Logarithm transformed; SD: standard deviation.

IADL was inversely and moderately correlated with the FGT (r = -0.347, p < 0.01), 30s-AC (r = -0.361; p < 0.01), p < 0.01); FES moderately correlated with the 30s-CS (r = 0.336; p < 0.01) and sCOR showed a moderate and inverse correlation with CSR (r = -0.431; p < 0.01). There were no correlations between the levels of sAA and any of the other parameters assessed.

When comparing the results obtained before and after the 14 weeks CY exercise program (Table 2) FES values decreased in both groups. The percent change for the CY is dimmed to be possible beneficial (-36%; p = 0.04). However, the FES change in the CG was -45% (p = 0.002). In both groups a large magnitude of effect size (d = 0.60 and d = 1.03 respectively) was identified. A trend towards an increase in the values of the IADL scale in the CY group (p = 0.055) was also found with a magnitude of effect size considered as moderate (d = 0.36). No changes in the IADL score were detected for the GC.

Levels of sCOR increased significantly only in GC (+14%; p = 0.050) with a moderate magnitude of effect size (d = 0.39), whereas in the YG no significant changes in this hormone concentration occurred. The results also showed a significant decrease of sAA levels in the CG, with a substantial percentage of change and large magnitude of effect size (-47%, p = 0.24; d = 0.78). The HrPf indicators (FGT, 30s-AC and 30s-CS) did not change in both groups.

A new association between FES and the FGT test (r = 0.49, p < 0.01) - , p < 0.01) also emerged in the CY after the 14 weeks of the exercise program.

5. Discussion

The objectives of this study were to assess the effects of a structured program of CY in an older population on: physical fitness, which takes place as a set of global health-related measures [22]; on functional autonomy, which in this study was evaluated

through subjective analysis instruments for activities of daily living, [36]; on the fear of falling [38]; and on biomarkers related to autonomic system function and biological stress, representing a promising line of studies in older populations [11].

5.1. CY intervention effects

The results of this study revealed significant changes or 'benefit possible' on FES when baseline values where compared to the ones after 14 weeks of exercise intervention with CY. However, this change could not be attributed to exercise only, since the CG also presented the same changes. It is possible that the change from winter to spring (the exercise program started in November and ended in March) might have also influenced the results obtained. However, two new correlations between FES and the FGT have emerged in the CY, together with the increase in the inverse correlation with the 30s-CS test (r = -0.34 versus r = -0.57) that are not present in the CG. Studies have linked PF and the risk of falls, but even when they found positive results, they recurred to other assessments, so it seems to be more important emphasizing the preventive character of the exercise (Gautam et al., 2011). This probably happened because a measure of subjective assessment, first of all, should be combined with studies that use direct measures related to falls, with the objective to explore the real sensitivity of exercise effects under these scales [19].

It would be important to check for the socially desirable answers; check if the initial values have been overestimated and finally, assess the relationship between the decreased FES with the improvement of the static and dynamic balance [50]. Improvements in such parameters were not found in our results (although a correlation between FES and the FGT, the test for static and dynamic balance, did appear), unlike other studies, which suggest that bodily practices like yoga or similar activity are more effective for the elderly

Table 2

Comparison between pre and post exercise intervention and control group (no exercise intervention) results by t-pairs and chances that the true difference in the changes is substantial.

	Chair Yoga Ex	ercises Group	(n = 20))		Control group	(n = 15)			
	Pre	Post	р	Percent change	d	Pre	Post	р	Percent change	d
	Average (SD)	Average (SD)				Average (SD)	Average (SD)			
Salivary Cortisol (ug/mL)	00.57(00.23)	00.62(00.16)	0.158	+9	0.25	00.65(00.19)	00.73(00.22)	0.050	+14	0.39
Salivary Alpha Amylase (U/mL)	76.16(41.13)	70.54(43.46)	0.701	-7	0.13	67.98(54.60)	36.32(15.31)	0.024	-47	0.78
Chair sit-and-reach test (cm)	18.90(10.48)	21.01(13.02)	0.398	+11	0.17	16.90(10.72)	16.30(10.46)	0.883	-4	0.05
30s Arm-curl test (repetitions per time)	11.45(04.10)	10.95(03.33)	0.542	-4	0.13	08.67(04.70)	08.06(03.78)	0.929	-7	0.14
30s chair-and-stand test (repetition per time)	09.02(03.75)	09.30(04.24)	0.937	+1	0.06	07.40(02.84)	06.20(03.91)	0.128	-16	0.35
8-foot up and-go test (seconds)	20.36(16.22)	18.90(12.17)	0.989	-7	0.10	17.10(11.90)	14.02(05.75)	0.484	-18	0.32
Falls Efficacy Scale (#)	27.85(21.63)	17.90(08.08)	0.042*	-36	0.60	40.87 (22.76)	22.46(10.44)	0.002**	-45	1.03
Instrumental Activities Daily Living Scale (#)	20.15(04.13)	21.55(03.59)	0.055	+7	0.36	22.01(05.12)	22.33(04.28)	0.783	+2	0.06

** $p \le 0.01$; * $p \le 0.05$, comparisons based on t-paired test.

population when compared to other exercise programs [19,21,24,25,45]. The other PF tests results showed no improvements as no differences were found in the scores between the first assessment moment and 14 weeks after, at the end of the program.

Regarding the IADL our results show a tendency (p < 0.055, d =(0.36) for an increase in functional independency on these activities after the intervention program. Although this institutionalized groups do not have the opportunity and real need to perform independent activities since they live in a care giver center where most of those activities are provided for them, other activities like mobility, endurance to walk and other physical activities can assist to avoid accidents in those environments. (DeSure et al., 2013). In fact, our results did show a correlation between FES and IADL, that was reinforced after the exercise intervention in the CY. In our study both groups were classified as "severely dependent" (cut off > 20 points) at the beginning of the program and remained in that condition 14 weeks after. Studies with a similar methodological design and sample are scarce in the literature. Other studies used younger samples aged between 60 and 75 years old and that may justify the limited responses obtained with the chair based CY exercise program (Chou, Hwang, & Wu, 2012)[23].

A small and non-pathological increase of the sCOR levels in the CG was found in our study. A small rise in sCOR levels related to exercise practice was expected in the CY but not in the CG. Other factors may interact with sCOR levels such as psychosocial life stressful events with aging [51]. It is possible that the chair-based exercise could have helped protect against such stressors. The lack of studies involving similar samples makes it difficult to create a solid evidence of the role of exercise as modulator of HPA axis in this population [11].

At the same time, some studies involving analysis of the sAA reveal considerable variation in the activity of this enzyme across populations (Mandel et al., 2010). The patterns of between-population differences have been linked to the number of AMY1 copies, which is seen as an adaptive response to the intake of dietary starch (Perry et al., 2006). It can also reflect a decrease in mucosal immunity since sAA is also used as a first barrier to bacterial colonization in the mouth [40]. In this study there was a substantial decline in sAA values in the CG but not in the CY where the values remained stable.

The similarities of the PF parameters between the CG and CY suggest that this type of exercise does not promote significant changes (at physiological and PF levels) to justify its use in older subjects with these specific characteristics. Importantly, this age group is characterized as having a 'very poor physical condition', comparing our baseline results with the cutoff values of the original study realized in older American population [52], and with other studies using Portuguese samples living in the community [53].

In addition, factors such as volume, intensity and frequency of exercise (exposure over time) or even another type of exercise practice could be used to promote significant changes in these variables. For example, more intense and challenging yoga exercises maybe more effective as shown in other studies [19]. In our study, the average intensity based on heart rate monitoring varied between 50% and 57% of the theoretical HR_{max}. Such values are characterized as very low-intensity exercise [54], even for very old participants. However, the chair-based method adopted to perform the yoga exercises may have been a factor to the greater exercise adherence (average 69%) throughout the program compared to other studies.

The age group of the participants may be seen as limiting factor that attenuated the usual progression of the YG exercise program. It is expected that activities like yoga exercises move forward and challenge flexibility in the sitting and lying positions [25], or stay longer in standing position stimulating to improve the strength, resistance and static/dynamic balance [19].

6. Conclusion

The results suggest that the chair-based yoga exercises program was able to maintain the levels of sCOR and sAA protecting against stress and infection but was not able to promote substantial increments in the other variables analyzed. However, comparison between groups after the exercise program showed that there were statistically significant differences (results not shown) found mainly in the PF variables, which may reflect the maintenance of the PF capacities in the CY, corroborated by the increase seen in the IADL scores, as opposed to the CG that showed a trend towards a decline in the PF levels.

6.1. Limitations

The advanced average age of the participants in our study has led us to choose the chair-based exercise method, which limited the progression expected of many parameters of PF. It can also be hypothesized that the effect of motivation for the tasks, caused by emotional instability or acute manifestations of chronic diseases is a striking feature of these populations, and seemed to have also influenced the predisposition to complete the some activities inherent to the study [46].

6.2. Generalizability

This study provides scientific evidence that, apart from the adaptation of the chair-based exercise program, other variables must be controlled so that the practice becomes more effective for this age-group population. Thus, we recommend that social and health care centers incorporate these practices with the necessary adaptations from the traditional yoga, seen as a well-established practice with very positive benefits for older people.

6.3. Suggestions for the future research

We suggest the implementation of more studies using samples with low PF and more advanced age groups. Given the inter-person variability of some of the biochemical markers used, especially the sAA, increasing the sample size is also recommended. The progressive reduction of the time spent by the participants in the 'seated position in the chair' is also recommended. Such procedure would decrease the recovery interval to effort, increase intensity and add time to the exercise program. Thus, it would be expected that the participants perform more demanding routines from the physical point of view, which may raise the profile of the results and positively influence the subjective perception of functional autonomy related to activities of daily life and risk off falls.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Founding

This work was financed by FEDER funds through COMPETE and national funds through FCT- Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology in the framework of project [PTDC/DTP-DES/0154/2012]. The PhD students Furtado and Uba-Chupel were financed by a grant from CAPES/CNPQ, Ministry of Education - Brazil.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the social and health care suport centers that accepted to participate in this study: Cáritas Diocesana and Venerável Ordem Terceira and Santa Casa da Misericordia, Coimbra. Thanks the students Pedrosa, Direito and Rieping for volunteering to help with exercise implementation and data collection. Furtado, Uba-Chupel, and Souza acquisition of data and organized the write of paper; Carvalho analyzed and helped interpretation of data; Teixeira and Ferreira coordinate the research, revising is critically for important intellectual content and approval of the version to be submitted.

References

- A.L. Gruver, L.L. Hudson, G.D. Sempowski, Immunosenescence of ageing, J. Pathol. 211 (no. 2) (Jan. 2007) 144–156.
- [2] R. Milte, M. Crotty, Musculoskeletal health, frailty and functional decline, Best. Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 28 (no. 3) (Jun. 2014) 395-410.
- [3] A. Polidoro, T. Dornbusch, A. Vestri, S. Di Bona, C. Alessandri, Frailty and disability in the elderly: a diagnostic dilemma. - PubMed - NCBI, Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 52 (no. 2) (2011).
- [4] K.E. Covinsky, C. Eng, L.-Y. Lui, L.P. Sands, K. Yaffe, The last 2 years of life: functional trajectories of frail older people, J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 51 (no. 4) (Apr. 2003) 492–498.
- [5] R. Hebert, R. Carrier, A. Bilodeau, "The Functional Autonomy Measurement System (SMAF): description and validation of an instrument for the measurement of handicaps, Age Ageing 17 (no. 5) (Sep. 1988) 293–302.
- [6] M.J. Fraga, S.A. Cader, M.A. Ferreira, T.S. Giani, E.H.M. Dantas, Aerobic resistance, functional autonomy and quality of life (QoL) of elderly women impacted by a recreation and walking program, Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 52 (2011) 40–43.
- [7] S.M. Álbert, J. King, R. Boudreau, T. Prasad, C.J. Lin, A.B. Newman, "Primary prevention of falls: effectiveness of a statewide program, Am. J. Public Health 104 (no. 5) (May 2014) 77–84.
- [8] C. Sherrington, N. Fairhall, C. Kirkham, L. Clemson, K. Howard, C. Vogler, J.C. Close, A.M. Moseley, I.D. Cameron, J. Mak, D. Sonnabend, S.R. Lord, Exercise and fall prevention self-management to reduce mobility-related disability and falls after fall-related lower limb fracture in older people: protocol for the RESTORE (Recovery Exercises and STepping on afteR fracture) randomised controlled trial, BMC Geriatr. 16 (no. 1) (Jan. 2016) 34.
 [9] T.N. Robinson, B. Eiseman, J.I. Wallace, S.D. Church, K.K. McFann, S.M. Pfister,
- [9] T.N. Robinson, B. Eiseman, J.I. Wallace, S.D. Church, K.K. McFann, S.M. Pfister, T.J. Sharp, M. Moss, "Redefining geriatric preoperative assessment using frailty, disability and co-morbidity, Ann. Surg. 250 (no. 3) (Sep. 2009) 449–455.
- [10] A. Hatta, Y. Nishihira, T. Higashiura, Effects of a single bout of walking on psychophysiologic responses and executive function in elderly adults: a pilot study, Clin. Interv. Aging 8 (2013) 945–952.
- [11] E. Papacosta, G.P. Nassis, Saliva as a tool for monitoring steroid, peptide and immune markers in sport and exercise science, J. Sci. Med. Sport 14 (no. 5) (Sep. 2011) 424–434.
- [12] Y. Maruyama, A. Kawano, S. Okamoto, T. Ando, Y. Ishitobi, Y. Tanaka, A. Inoue, J. Imanaga, M. Kanehisa, H. Higuma, T. Ninomiya, J. Tsuru, H. Hanada, J. Akiyoshi, Differences in salivary alpha-amylase and cortisol responsiveness following exposure to electrical stimulation versus the Trier Social Stress Tests, PLoS One 7 (no. 7) (Jan. 2012) e39375.
 [13] A.H. van Stegeren, O.T. Wolf, M. Kindt, Salivary alpha amylase and cortisol
- [13] A.H. van Stegeren, O.T. Wolf, M. Kindt, Salivary alpha amylase and cortisol responses to different stress tasks: impact of sex, Int. J. Psychophysiol. 69 (no. 1) (Jul. 2008) 33–40.
- [14] N.P. Walsh, M. Gleeson, R.J. Shephard, M.G. Jeffrey, A. Woods, N.C. Bishop, M. Fleshner, C. Green, K. Pedersen, L. Hoffman-goetz, C.J. Rogers, Part one: immune function and exercise, 2011, pp. 6–63.
- [15] U.M. Nater, N. Rohleder, Salivary alpha-amylase as a non-invasive biomarker for the sympathetic nervous system: current state of research, Psychoneuroendocrinology 34 (no. 4) (May 2009) 486–496.
- [16] D.I. Corazza, É. Sebastião, R.V. Pedroso, C.A.A. Andreatto, F.G. de Melo Coelho, S. Gobbi, E. Teodorov, R.F. Santos-Galduróz, Influence of chronic exercise on serum cortisol levels in older adults, Rev. Aging Phys. Act. 11 (no. 1) (Mar. 2013) 25–44.
- [17] E. Matta Mello Portugal, T. Cevada, R. Sobral Monteiro-Junior, T. Teixeira Guimarães, E. da Cruz Rubini, E. Lattari, C. Blois, A. Camaz Deslandes, Neuroscience of exercise: from neurobiology mechanisms to mental health, Neuropsychobiology 68 (no. 1) (Jan. 2013) 1–14.
- [18] C.S. Pernambuco, C.J. Borba-Pinheiro, R.G. de S. Vale, F. Di Masi, P.K.P. Monteiro, E.H.M. Dantas, Functional autonomy, bone mineral density (BMD) and serum osteocalcin levels in older female participants of an aquatic exercise program (AAG), Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 56 (no. 3) (Jan. 2013) 466–471.
- [19] N.K. Patel, A.H. Newstead, R.L. Ferrer, The effects of yoga on physical

functioning and health related quality of life in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis, J. Altern. Complement. Med. 18 (no. 10) (Oct. 2012) 902–917.

- [20] M. Irwin, J. Pike, M. Oxman, Shingles immunity and health functioning in the elderly: tai chi chih as a behavioral treatment, Evid. Based. Complement. Altern. Med. 1 (no. 3) (Dec. 2004) 223–232.
- [21] G.W. Melville, D. Chang, B. Colagiuri, P.W. Marshall, B.S. Cheema, Fifteen minutes of chair-based yoga postures or guided meditation performed in the office can elicit a relaxation response, Evid. Based. Complement. Altern. Med. 2012 (Jan. 2012) 501986.
- [22] M.E. Nelson, W.J. Rejeski, S.N. Blair, P.W. Duncan, J.O. Judge, A.C. King, C.A. Macera, C. Castaneda-Sceppa, Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of sports medicine and the American heart association, Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39 (no. 8) (Aug. 2007) 1435–1445.
- [23] L. Stathokostas, R.M.D. Little, A.A. Vandervoort, D.H. Paterson, Flexibility training and functional ability in older adults: a systematic review, J. Aging Res. 2012 (Jan. 2012) 306818.
- [24] M. Lou Galantino, L. Green, J.A. Decesari, N.A. Mackain, S.M. Rinaldi, M.E. Stevens, V.R. Wurst, R. Marsico, M. Nell, J.J. Mao, Safety and feasibility of modified chair-yoga on functional outcome among elderly at risk for falls, Int. J. Yoga 5 (no. 2) (Jul. 2012) 146–150.
- [25] L.C. Gonçalves, R.G.D.S. Vale, N.J.F. Barata, R.V. Varejão, E.H.M. Dantas, Flexibility, functional autonomy and quality of life (QoL) in elderly yoga practitioners, Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 53 (2011) 158–162.
- [26] M. Satyapriya, R. Nagarathna, V. Padmalatha, H.R. Nagendra, Effect of integrated yoga on anxiety, depression & well being in normal pregnancy, Complement. Ther. Clin. Pract. 19 (no. 4) (Nov. 2013) 230–236.
- [27] R.K. Yadav, D. Magan, R. Yadav, K. Sarvottam, R. Netam, High-density lipoprotein cholesterol increases following a short-term yoga-based lifestyle intervention: a non-pharmacological modulation, Acta Cardiol. 69 (no. 5) (Oct. 2014) 543–549.
- [28] T. Cevada, P.E. Vasques, H. Moraes, A. Deslandes, Salivary cortisol levels in athletes and nonathletes: a systematic review, Horm. Metab. Res. 46 (no. 13) (Dec. 2014) 905–910.
- [29] R. Braga, Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos, Rev. Port. Geral Fam. 29 (no. 6) (2013) 354–356.
- [30] R.J. Shephard, Ethics in exercise science research, Sports Med. 32 (no. 3) (Jan. 2002) 169–183.
- [31] C. Petrini, Helsinki 50 years on, Clin. Ter. 165 (no. 4) (2014) 179–181.
- [32] A.M. Batterham, W.G. Hopkins, Making meaningful inferences about magnitudes, Int. J. Sports Physiol. Perform. 1 (no. 1) (Mar. 2006) 50–57.
- [33] A.M.A. Picorelli, D.S. Pereira, D.C. Felício, D.M. Dos Anjos, D.A.G. Pereira, R.C. Dias, M.G. Assis, L.S.M. Pereira, Adherence of older women with strength training and aerobic exercise, Clin. Interv. Aging 9 (Jan. 2014) 323–331.
- [34] H.A. Bischoff, H.B. Stähelin, A.U. Monsch, M.D. Iversen, A. Weyh, M. von Dechend, R. Akos, M. Conzelmann, W. Dick, R. Theiler, Identifying a cut-off point for normal mobility: a comparison of the timed 'up and go' test in community-dwelling and institutionalised elderly women, Age Ageing 32 (no. 3) (May 2003) 315–320.
- [35] M.P. Lawton, E.M. Brody, Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living, Gerontologist 9 (no. 3) (Jan. 1969) 179–186.
- [36] C. Graf, The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale, Am. J. Nurs. 108 (no. 4) (Apr. 2008) 52–62 quiz 62–3.
- [37] M.E. Tinetti, D. Richman, L. Powell, Falls efficacy as a measure of fear of falling, J. Gerontol. 45 (no. 6) (Nov. 1990) P239–P243.
- [38] M.T. Morgan, L.A. Friscia, S.L. Whitney, J.M. Furman, P.J. Sparto, Reliability and validity of the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I) in individuals with dizziness and imbalance, Otol. Neurotol. 34 (no. 6) (Aug. 2013) 1104–1108.
- [39] C. Rikli, R. Jones, Senior Fitness Test Manual-2nd Edition, Human Kinetics, Champaign, IL, 2013.
- [40] J.E. Aligrove, E. Gomes, J. Hough, M. Gleeson, Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men, J. Sports Sci. 26 (no. 6) (Apr. 2008) 653–661.
- [41] R. Miller, F. Plessow, M. Rauh, M. Gröschl, C. Kirschbaum, Comparison of salivary cortisol as measured by different immunoassays and tandem mass spectrometry, Psychoneuroendocrinology 38 (no. 1) (Jan. 2013) 50–57.
- [42] M. Hars, F.R. Herrmann, G. Gold, R. Rizzoli, A. Trombetti, Effect of music-based multitask training on cognition and mood in older adults, Age Ageing 43 (no. 2) (Mar. 2014) 196–200.
- [43] G. Nikolić, Narrow capture beat, Heart Lung 33 (no. 3) (Jan. 2004) 194–195.
 [44] B. Guderian, A. Johnson, V. Mathiowetz, Impact of exercise frequency on hand
- strength of the elderly, Phys. Occup. Ther. Geriatr. 31 (no. 3) (2013) 268–279. [45] A. Büssing, T. Ostermann, R. Lüdtke, A. Michalsen, Effects of yoga interventions
- [45] A. bussing, T. Ostermann, K. Ludtke, A. Michalsen, Elects of yoga interventions on pain and pain-associated disability: a meta-analysis, J. Pain 13 (no. 1) (Jan. 2012) 1–9.
- [46] A.M.A. Picorelli, L.S.M. Pereira, D.S. Pereira, D. Felício, C. Sherrington, Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and personal factors: a systematic review, J. Physiother. 60 (no. 3) (Sep. 2014) 151–156.
- [47] A. Nevill, A. Lane, Why self-report 'Likert' scale data should not be logtransformed, J. Sports Sci. 25 (no. 1) (Jan. 2007) 1–2.

- [48] J. Cohen, P. Cohen, S.G. West, L.S. Aiken, Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 2013.
- [49] W.G. Hopkins, S.W. Marshall, A.M. Batterham, J. Hanin, Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science, Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 41 (no. 1) (Jan. 2009) 3–13.
- [50] S.-F. Chang, R.-S. Yang, T.-C. Lin, S.-C. Chiu, M.-L. Chen, H.-C. Lee, The discrimination of using the short physical performance battery to screen frailty for community-dwelling elderly people, J. Nurs. Scholarsh. 46 (no. 3) (May 2014) 207–215.
- [51] G. Mura, G. Cossu, G.M. Migliaccio, C. Atzori, A.E. Nardi, S. Machado, M.G. Carta, Quality of life, cortisol blood levels and exercise in older adults: results of a randomized controlled trial, Clin. Pract. Epidemiol. Ment. Health 10 (Jan. 2014) 67–72.
- [52] R.E. Rikli, C.J. Jones, Development and validation of criterion-referenced clinically relevant fitness standards for maintaining physical independence in later years, Gerontologist 53 (no. 2) (2013) 255–267.
- [53] J.C. Branco, K. Jansen, J.T. Sobrinho, S. Carrapatoso, B. Spessato, J. Carvalho, J. Mota, R.A. da Silva, Physical benefits and reduction of depressive symptoms among the elderly: results from the Portuguese 'National Walking Program', Cien. Saude Colet. 20 (no. 3) (Mar. 2015) 789–795.
- [54] J.E. Donnelly, S.N. Blair, J.M. Jakicic, M.M. Manore, J.W. Rankin, B.K. Smith, American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand. Appropriate physical activity intervention strategies for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults, Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 41 (no. 2) (Feb. 2009) 459–471.



Humberto M. Carvalho (hmoreiracarvalho@gmail.com) has a degree in Sport Science and Physical Education, MSc in Sports Training for Children and Youth and PhD in Sport Science and Physical Education by the University of Coimbra. Currently is a post-doctoral fellow in Physical Education at the University of Campinas UNICAMP (Brazil). Has experience in multidimensional performance analysis in young athletes, particularly dealing with data analysis in longitudinal studies.



Nelba Reis Souza (nelbaef@yahoo.com.br) has a degree in Sport Science and Physical Education (UESB, Brazil) and a master's degree in Physical activity of Elderly (FDUP, Portugal). Currently, as a doctoral candidate in Physical activity and health at FCDEF-UC. She has research focus on the effects of exercise on physical fitness and psychossocial outcomes associated to body image and 'enpowerment' in older woman, with emphasis on qualitative research approachs.



Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado (furts2001@yahoo.com.br) has a degree in Sport Science and Physical Education (UNI-BH, Brazil), post-graduate in Functional Training (ULTH-FEDF, Portugal) and a master's degree in Exercise and Health in Special Groups (FCDEF-UC, Portugal). He has large professional experience in exercise programs. He is a doctoral fellow (CAPES Foundation - Ministry of Education, Brazil) in Physical activity and Health at University of Coimbra (FCDEF-UC). Research has focused on modulated effects of crhonic exercise on biopsychological outcomes (hormonal, psychological and physical fintness) in older adults with frailty condition.



José Pedro Leitão Ferreira (jpl.ferreira.2010@gmail.com) has a degree in Physical Education (Special Education /Rehabilitation), master's degreee in Children Motor Behavior (FMH-UTL, Portugal) and PhD in (University of Bristol, United Kingdom). Currently, he is a professor associated and research interests focus on the study of psychological variables associated with the practice of sport and exercise in special groups (CIDAF/FCDEF-UC). It teaches European programs Erasmus Mundus Master in Adapted Physical Activity and European University Diploma in Adapted Physical Activity. Currently he is president of the European Federation of Adapted Physical Activity.



Mateus Uba Chupel (matheusuba@hotmail.com) has a degree in Sport Science and Physical Education (UnC, Brazil), a post-graduation in Exercise Physiology and master's degree in Biokinetics (FCDEF-UC). Actually he is professor on UnC (Brazil) and a PhD student in Physical Activity and Health at University of Coimbra (FCDEF-UC, Portugal). Actually, he is a financiated by CAPES Foundation, Ministry of Education, Brazil. His experience is focused on exercise physiology, biochemistry and supplementation, blood-brain barrier dysfunction and immunological parameters.



Ana Maria Botelho Teixeira (ateixeira@fcdef.uc.pt) has a degree in Biochemistry (UC, Portugal), master's degreee in imunology (UP, Portugal) and PhD in Hematology from the University of London, United Kingdom. Currently she is an associated professor with aggregation (CIDAF/FCDEF-UC) and her research focus on the areas of medical sciences with an emphasis on health sciences. The most common themes in the context of her scientific production are exercise immunology, training load, salivary IgA, immunessenescence and health promotion. Currently, she is dedicated to research on the effects of exercise on hormonal mediation of stress, cognition and immunity in older persons.

ANNEX IV: PUBLISHED ARTICLES RELATED TO THESIS




Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders

Ana Maria Teixeira¹*, José Pedro Ferreira¹, Eef Hogervorst², Margarida Ferreira Braga³, Stephan Bandelow², Luís Rama¹, António Figueiredo¹, Maria João Campos¹, Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado^{1,4}, Matheus Uba Chupel^{1,4} and Filipa Martins Pedrosa¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Vladeta Ajdacic-Gross, Psychiatric University Hospital Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Francesco Panza, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy Andreas Hoell, Central Institute of Mental Health (CIMH), Germany

> *Correspondence: Ana Maria Teixeira ateixeira@fcdef.uc.pt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 17 December 2015 Accepted: 13 June 2016 Published: 27 June 2016

Citation:

Teixeira AM, Ferreira JP, Hogervorst E, Braga MF, Bandelow S, Rama L, Figueiredo A, Campos MJ, Furtado GE, Chupel MU and Pedrosa FM (2016) Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders. Front. Public Health 4:133. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2016.00133 ¹ Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal, ² National Centre for Sports and Exercise Medicine, Loughborough University, Loughborough, UK, ³ Medical Psychology Unit, Department of Clinical Neurosciences and Mental Health, Faculty of Medicine, Porto University, Porto, Portugal, ⁴CAPES Foundation, Ministry of Education, Brasilia, Brazil

Physical activity (PA) in elders has been shown to have positive effects on a plethora of chronic diseases and to improve immunity, mental health, and cognition. Chronic stress has also been shown to have immuno-suppressive effects and to accelerate immunose-nescence. Exercise could be a significant factor in ameliorating the deleterious effects of chronic stress, but variables such as the type, intensity, and frequency of exercise that should be performed in order to effectively reduce the stress burden need to be defined clearly. PRO-HMECSI will allow us to investigate which hormonal and immunological parameters are able to mediate the effects of exercise on mucosal immunity, psychological/biological stress, and cognitive functioning in older people. Phase I consists of an observational cross-sectional study that compares elders groups (n = 223, >65 years) by functional fitness levels aiming to identify biomarkers involved in maintaining immune and mental health. Neuroendocrine and immune biomarkers of stress, psychological well-being related to mental health, neurocognitive function, functional fitness, and daily PA will be evaluated. Phase II consists of a 28-week intervention in elders with

Abbreviations: α -amy, salivary alpha amylase; 2ST, 2-minute step test; 8-UGT, 8-foot up-and-go test; ACSM, American College of Sport Medicine Science; ACT, 30 seconds arm-curl test; AD, Alzheimer disease; ADL, Katz index of independence in activities of daily living; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; BST, back stretch test; CAW, chair aerobic to improve walking exercises; CCI, Charlson comorbidity index; CRP, C-reactive protein; CSE, chair elastic-band strength exercises; CSHS, Centers for Social and Health Care Support; CSR, chair sit-and-reach test; CST, 30 second chair-and-stand test; CYE, chair yoga type flexibility exercises; DHEA, dehydroepiandrosterone; DST, digital span test; ES, effect size; FES, falls efficacy scale; HADS, hospital anxiety and depression scale; HPA axis, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis; HR_{max}, maximal heart rate; HVLT, Hopkins verbal learning task; IADL, Lawton independence activities day living scale; IFN- γ , interferon gamma; IL-1 β , interleukin-1 beta; IL-10, interleukin 10; IL-6, interleukin-6; K-S, Kolmogorov–Smirnov test with Lilliefors; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; MMSE, mini mental state examination; MOCI, moderate cognitive impairment; NCP, normal cognitive profile; PA, physical activity; PF, physical fitness; PRO-HMECSI, hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress, and immunity project; PSS, perceived stress scale; RSES, Rosenberg self-esteem scale; SCI, severe cognitive impairment; scOR, salivary cortisol; sIgA, salivary immunoglobulin-A; SMT, symbol modality test; SWLS, satisfaction with life scale; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor alpha; VFT, verbal fluency.

mild cognitive impairment (MCI) profile (n = 149, >65 years, divided in three groups of exercise and one control group), aiming to investigate whether the positive effect of three different types of chair-based exercise programs on physical and psychological health is mediated by an optimal endocrine environment. Primary outcomes are measures of cognitive function and global health. Secondary outcomes include the evaluation the other dimensions such as immune function, psychological health, and depression. Few studies addressed the effects of different types of exercise interventions in older population samples with MCI. We will also be able to determine which type of exercise is more effective in the immune and hormonal function of this population.

Keywords: exercise, older women, cognition, immunity, mental health

INTRODUCTION

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) refers to a stage in which a person experiences memory loss to a greater extent than one would expect for that age, but do not yet meets currently accepted criteria for clinically probable Alzheimer disease (AD) or other types of dementia (1, 2). The recently coined concept of frailty - decreased resistance to stressors and increased risk for adverse health outcomes (3), has been reported to modulate the risk of several types of dementias and cognitive impairment tour court. Cognitive and physical frailty may be divided in subtypes according to their reversibility and task forces are proposing refined criteria to detect frail older subjects (4). Vascular, inflammatory, nutritional, and metabolic factors appear to be involved in late life frailty and are targeted as preventive causes of dementia (5). Recently published longitudinal studies report that muscle mass and physical performance may constitute an independent frailty component, according to the type of dementia, pointing to the need of further research (6). In general, the relationship between general cognitive function and physical frailty has been well documented (7). Although less consistently with dementia (8), but some authors argue that a dynamic perspective conveyed by longitudinal approaches of frailty may contribute to better understand transitions in cognitive status (9).

Immunosenescence is also a part of the aging process and is associated with an increased risk for autoimmune disorders, tumors, or infectious disease and neurocognitive disorders (10). The mucosal immune system, including the upper respiratory tract, is considered a first barrier to the colonization by pathogenic agents, reducing the incidence of upper respiratory tract infections (URTI) in humans (11). During aging, there is a decrease on salivary immunoglobulin-A (sIgA) secretion which is also linked to higher URTI incidence (12). Engaging in regular sports, exercise or systematic physical activity (PA) is known to protect against many factors associated with poor physical and psychological health and improves life expectancy (13). Cognitive functions sensitive to early dementia and agerelated cognitive decline, such as memory and executive functions and simple and complex information processing reaction times have been shown to respond and be sensitive to the effects of exercise in both young and old ages (14). Six months of moderate levels of aerobic activity were sufficient to produce significant improvements in cognitive function, with the most dramatic effects occurring on measures of episodic memory and executive control (15). Dementia and vascular disease are leading causes of mortality in women, but risk seems to be reduced with exercise (16). Depressive symptoms are present in 12-30% elders (17), frequently associated with cognitive impairment (18). Furthermore, the presence of immune system dysfunction and inflammation has been reported to predict depressive symptoms during aging and appears to be the link between depression and dementia (19). It is very important for public health to identify the main factors associated with cognitive decline in the elders, subsidizing the creation of new methods of therapy. Exercise may have the largest positive effects on older women who have low levels of sex steroids after menopause which at the same time increase the risk for cardiovascular disease and dementia (20). The type of exercise seems to be crucial on increasing the aerobic capacity, but the evidence to support the involvement of flexibility, aerobic, and strength resistance exercise in improving cognition and psychological well-being related to mental health are not clear (14), and their effectiveness should to be investigated. Promising results have been reported in the reduction of depressive symptoms with PA interventions when including flexibility/resistance and low intensity exercise (21). In the older persons, PA appears to be beneficial for those presenting clinical depression, although the effect of different programs is still unclear (22). A few studies have looked at the effect of regular moderate exercise on SIgA, and there is no sufficient evidence to support the effect of exercise on IFN-y and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels in elders (10). Regular exercise has also been shown to diminish the level of stress and anxiety and the risk of psychological diseases and emotional decline in elders (23). The responses of saliva flow rate and their composition during exercise are influenced by sympathetic nervous system activity and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA-axis), the salivary glands being enervated by both parasympathetic and sympathetic nerves (24). Recent studies have identified salivary α -amylase (α -Amy) as a potential marker of sympathetic activity, while salivary cortisol (sCor) seems to be a valid measure for the HPA-axis activity (25). α -Amy is an enzyme that catalyzes starch into maltose and can be important to host

defense by inhibiting the adherence and growth of certain bacteria (26). Testosterone levels decline with aging as well as cognitive function, and their levels seems to be diminished in patients with AD and MCI (27). Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) is another steroid hormone involved in metabolism, produced mainly in the adrenal cortex, its functions are linked with anti-glucocorticoid, anti-oxidant anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulatory effects (28). Recently, DHEA has been investigated for its relationship to mental and physical stress and also in psychological and behavioral disorders. The DHEA plasma concentration and the ratio SCor/DHEA have also been shown to increase with PA (29). Salivary markers may serve as potential non-invasive tools for evaluation of the relationship between the central nervous system and mucosal immunity following psychological and/or physical stress and how these may affect cognitive functions (24).

In addition to these measures in saliva, peripheral blood concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers, such as interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), and interleukin-6 (IL-6), have previously been found to be elevated in cases of MCI and depression in comparison to healthy age-matched controls (23, 24, 29). Evidence shows that immunological and hormonal parameters are able to mediate the effects of exercise on mucosal immunity, psychological stress, cognitive improvement, and risk of dementia in the elders who are regularly active (30) and that regular exercise may provide an effective strategy in the treatment and prevention of associated disorders by anti-inflammatory benefits. IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10, IFN- γ , TNF- α , and CRP are important immune markers that interact in anti- and proinflammatory processes triggered by aging, and affecting the cognitive profile of the elderly. Studies have implicated the inflammatory pathway on increased severity of white matter hyperintensities and brain atrophy as mechanisms to develop brain alterations and cognitive decline in older subjects (31, 32).

Highlighted as an important neuroendocrine marker, the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), is involved in neuroplasticity, differentiation, neuronal growth, learning, and memory (33, 34). Its decrease is reported in individuals with Parkinson's, AD, depression, and MCI, this last one a clinical condition evidenced through cognitive testing (35). Differences in BDNF polymorphisms may have consequences on antidepressant efficacy (36), and the presence of depressive symptoms is associated with lower BDNF peripheral levels before antidepressant treatment (37). Exercise can act as a positive mediator of cognitive functioning in individuals suffering from early dementia and mental disorders, these responses being attributed to a possible role of BDNF (15, 38).

AIMS OF THE STUDY

(a) To examine the multivariate associations between physical fitness (PF), cognitive indexes, biomarkers of inflammation, stress, and neurotrophic factors, associated with psychological well-being and mental health, in a cross-sectional study in older women subjects;

- (b) To verify the hypothetical effect of different types of regular exercise practice on PF, hormonal responses related to immunological and neurocognitive systems in healthy older participants and those with MCI after 14 and 28 weeks of regular practice;
- (c) To explore the associations between changes in neurocognitive and immunological systems, functional fitness, psychological well-being, and mental health by different exercise programs after 14 and 28 weeks of regular practice.

INITIAL PROCEDURES

All CSHS and participants (or responsible) will be required to give a full informed consent before beginning the study. Individuals who express interest in participating in the program will sign a statement of responsibility, in which the privacy of identity and data collected will be guaranteed as well as the possibility of accessing the medical report of the subject. The contact with the medical center was established as one of the criteria to verify the eligibility of each subject to perform the exercise program (Figure 1). Once individuals were interviewed to participate in the study, they were informed of the procedures for data collection and of the class sessions that would occur in the pilot study. An information session about the study protocol was created for presentation to local organizations and to all the individuals that express interest in participating in the study. The study protocol has been approved by Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education Ethical Committee - University of Coimbra (number reference: CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013), and it is integrated in the research project entitled "PRO-HMECSI: Hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress and immunity"; respected the Portuguese Resolution (Art.º 4st; Law no. 12/2005, 1st series) on ethics in research with humans (39); follows the guidelines for ethics in scientific experiments in exercise science research (40)



and still, complied with the guidelines for research with human beings of the Helsinki Declaration (41).

CSHS Eligibility Criteria

CSHS eligibility criteria include (a) ability to participate in a study with total duration of 12 months and encompassing three phases: cross-sectional study, intervention, and detraining periods; (b) existence of an appropriate physical space to carry out the exercise sessions; and (c) required support of caregivers to assist with the elders displacement to the exercise classes.

Older Participant's Eligibility Criteria

The inclusion conditions for the older participants stipulated in order are being a female participant aged over 65 years; drug therapy controlled and updated; if the participant presents a clinical condition or comorbidity, it must be stable and enable participation in the exercise classes as decided by local medical staff. Specific criteria for participant exclusion are not completing or withdrawing from the "8-foot-up-and-go test" (8-UGT) in the maximum time of 50 s. According to previous studies with samples of institutionalized elderly, scores above this value indicate severe disability/mobility dependence (42); involvement in other structured exercise programs; the presence of any type of health condition that could prevent testing of functional autonomy, such as severe cardiopathy, hypertension, uncontrolled asthmatic bronchitis, and any musculoskeletal conditions that might prevent testing (i.e., osteoarthritis, recent fractures), mental disorder, hearing and vision impairment, morbid obesity, or the use of medications that could cause high attention impairment.

METHODS/DESIGN

This research is planned for ~16 months, and it is built in three different phases/studies as described below: the cross-sectional study 1 (4 weeks' duration) consists in the evaluation of older people (\geq 65 years old) aiming to investigate existing multivariate

associations between PF, psychological well-being, cognitive, immunological, and neurotrophic factors in institutionalized elderly woman. Participants are older women living in CSHS. We will contact these subjects in CSHS located in the city of Coimbra, Portugal. Primary outcomes will be collected by a short test battery that measures biosocial, global health, cognitive, and PF indicators. PF battery, psychological well-being, multidimensional cognitive function profile, immunological, and neurotrophic factors are second outcomes and will also be collected. In addition, the secondary goals of this cross-sectional study 1 will be to identify the older women with MCI, for subsequent stratification and participation in the intervention study 2, described below.

The observational study 2 is an intervention study with three different chair-based exercise (CBE) programs for women aged \geq 65 years. The study is designed to assess the effect of strength/ elastic band, aerobic/walking, and yoga/flexibility exercise interventions on secondary outcomes of PF, immunological, and neurotrophic markers as well as cognitive function in older women with MCI, recruited in institutionalized context. It is assumed that the effect of the exercise programs is independent. Measurement of primary outcomes will take place 4 weeks prior to the beginning of the exercise programs, on the same variables of study 1. Participants in these groups will attend a 45-min exercise session, 2-3 times/week during 28 weeks. The exercise programs will be run in the care centers for safety, disability, and comfort reasons. An appropriate space will be prepared by our fitness instructor's team in each center to run the exercise sessions. Study 3 will involve analyzing the effect of 14 weeks detraining in all variables described in the observational study 2 above. Data regarding the assessment of psychological well-being related to mental health, cognitive function, PF, and biochemical markers will be collected (Figure 2).

SAMPLE SIZE

Sample size was estimated considering data of sample sizes described in a recent review (43) that obtained significant



results involving the effects of exercise on immunological and cognitive parameters of elderly samples with MCI. Estimating the incidence of MCI in institutionalized elders to be around 30 and 57% (44), a total of 223 participants will be recruited for study 1. The sample size for study 2 was estimated adjusting MANOVA for repeated measures effects, alpha (Type I error rate) at 0.05, and power (Type II error rate) at 0.85 were computed using G* Power Version 3.1.9.2 (45, 46). A total of 149 participants are estimated to provide enough information about the outcome variability in our study design. It is predicted that only 70% of the participants will complete the full program (47) justifying a minimum sample size of 25 individuals for both intervention and control group.

EXERCISE ADHERENCE

Exercise sessions will be offered 2–3 times/week, during 28 weeks, in a total of 78 sessions. The percentage of exercise adherence to group classes is calculated individually through the total sum of participation. Entries will be recorded in a database. When a participant has two consecutive absences, she will be contacted to return to the group classes. According to a recent systematic review, an adherence to the exercise program of 55% was established as minimum for each participant to be included in the study (47).

PILOT STUDY

A pilot study was conducted during 4 weeks with an exercise session per week. At the same time, interviews, psychometric scales, cognitive, and functional tests were applied to check the subject's conditions and evaluate the methods of application of the study. Classes with duration of 30 min were given during this period (pre-training, easy-level), to gain insight to the implementation of CBE programs, adequacy of the spaces and structures where the classes would take place, and test the rating of perceived exertion by the participants.

MASKING

The fitness instructor of the all CBE sessions will not take part in data collection procedures. Collection of saliva and blood samples as well as the global health assessment will be performed by a registered nurse. The assessment of psychometric, cognitive scales, and physical-functional fitness battery was organized by the principal investigators and will be applied by specialists and co-investigators of the research team. This assessment can be done in different days, respecting the motivation of the elders, interrupting the test, and continuing on another day if they feel tired or uncomfortable. To minimize differences in procedures the same evaluators that will perform the data collection will apply both baseline and follow-up questionnaires and physical-functional fitness battery tests. The specialists of PF, psychometric, and cognitive assessments will not make any reference to the exercise program and do not have access to the remaining data.

OUTCOME MEASURES

All outcome measures will be collected at baseline (study 1). After 14 and 28 weeks of exercise intervention (study 2) and after week 42 (washout period), biosocial and global health status will not be included. The primary outcomes are measures of cognitive function, biosocial, and global health status. One session will be used to administer a short test battery to measure biosocial, global health status, cognition (MCI screening), and PF (mobility screening) in this specific order. Secondary measures comprise psychological well-being, cognition, PF, anthropometric, immunological, and neurotrophic markers.

BIOSOCIAL STATUS

Information on sociodemographic characteristics such as chronological age (continuous and category form), gender (category), and education (continuous and category) will be collected and used for adjusting models.

NEUROCOGNITIVE PROFILE I: MEMORY COMPLAINTS AND MCI SCREEN

Participants included will be institutionalized older adults with memory complaints, i.e., those with possible MCI, who are at risk for developing dementia. For this purpose, the combination of two cognitive tests and respective cut-off values will be used.

MINI MENTAL STATE EXAMINATION

The mini mental state examination (MMSE) assesses five areas of cognition: orientation, immediate recall, attention and calculation, delayed recall, and language (48). The maximum score is 30 points and a score below 24 points is considered abnormal and used for dementia and MCI screening (49). The MMSE will be used to classify participants by cognitive profile as a category variable, following the criteria described by Mungas (1): (a) severe cognitive impairment (SCI, values between 01 and 09), (b) moderate cognitive impairment (MOCI, between 10 and 18); (c) MCI (values between 19 and 24); (d) normal cognitive profile (NCP, values between 25 and 30). The MSSE was included because it was shown to be sensitive to the effects of exercise in an older population (50).

HOPKINS VERBAL FLUENCY TEST

The Hopkins verbal learning task (HVLT) is one of the most commonly used memory tests in clinical neuropsychological evaluation of older adults and is used to assess verbal episodic memory, including immediate memory (48). It is a 4-min test, easy to administer, to score, and to well tolerate even by significantly impaired individuals. This test requires recall of a series of 12 words (nouns) from 3 semantic categories (precious stones, animals, and human dwellings) over 3 learning trials (35). Scores between 15.5 and 24.5 on this test indicate a risk of dementia or MCI (48). Recent studies indicate that this test has satisfactory construct and concurrent validity and good test–retest reliability, range 0.80 to 0.98 values (51, 52).

GLOBAL HEALTH STATUS EVALUATION

This evaluation includes the initial contact with the medical staff of the CSHS, in order to collect information on the medical history and current health of the participants that may condition their participation in the exercise programs. Additionally, comorbidity severity will be evaluated using the Charlson comorbidity index (CCI), in association with the medical drug record of the elders.

CHARLSON COMORBIDITY INDEX

The CCI is a method of predicting mortality by classifying or weighting comorbid conditions that has been widely utilized by health researchers to measure burden of disease. It has a weighted index based on 17 comorbid conditions that has been shown to predict 1- and 10-year mortality (53, 54). A recent studied aimed to update the index of 12 comorbidities showed adequate discrimination in predicting and classifying comorbidities, when analyzing data from six countries (55). In this study, the total score of the ICC is used as a continuous variable.

FUNCTIONAL FITNESS ASSESSMENT I: MOBILITY SCREEN

To assess quickness, agility, and dynamic balance, the "*8-foot up-and-go test*" (8-UGT) will be used. The time needed for the participant to get up from the chair, walk as quickly as possible around either side of the cone, and to sit back down in the chair is registered (56). According to recent research, the 8-UGT can be used to effectively screen older people at risk for low mobility (57, 58).

SECONDARY OUTCOMES

In total, three sessions will be used for collection of secondary outcomes. In the first session, cognitive and psychological tests will be applied. In the second day, blood and saliva samples will be collected. Anthropometric measures and PF tests will be applied in the third session.

NEUROCOGNITIVE PROFILE II: MULTIDIMENSIONAL COGNITIVE SCREEN

The cognitive profile assessment will be evaluated using the Portuguese version of the multidimensional evaluation cognitive battery developed by Hogervorst–Bandelow and used worldwide in many treatment and observational studies (13, 32). The cognitive testing requires <20 min, including MMSE and HVLT. These tests have in earlier interventions also shown to respond and be sensitive to the effects of exercise in the elders (59).

VERBAL FLUENCY TEST

Verbal fluency is a cognitive function that enables the retrieval of information from memory linked to executive and linguistic abilities (60). The verbal fluency test (VFT) evaluates an individual's ability to retrieve specific information within restricted search parameters, such as the semantic fluency, tested by asking the participant to generate a semantic category with names of animals (61). This test consists of giving the person 60 s to verbally list as many animals as possible.

DIGITAL SPAN TEST

The digital span test (DST) consists of two tests: in the first one, the examiner says a series of numbers and asks the participant to repeat them back in the same order. The test finishes when the subject fails two times in the same series or completes all the series (up to nine numbers). In the second one, the subject is asked to repeat a series of numbers in the inverse order. The first series begins with two numbers, and then continues in the same manner by increasing one number at each time. The test finishes when the subject fails two times in the same series or completes all the series (up to eight numbers). Administering the test forward assesses both attention and short-term memory. When the backwards version of the test is given, it also measures working memory (62).

SYMBOL MODALITY TEST

This is a measure of attention, perceptual speed, motor speed, visual scanning, and memory. A piece of paper with nine symbols corresponding to nine digits is given to the participants. On another sheet of paper, there are several rows of digits with empty spaces below them. The subjects are asked to fill in as many corresponding symbols as possible in 90 s (63).

PSYCHOLOGICAL WELL-BEING/MENTAL HEALTH

The test battery will be administrated by the same research team after a short briefing on the purpose of the study and requires <10 min. Standardized instructions will be given to all participants as well as encouragement to ask for help. Individual attention will be provided to participants with interpretation doubts, questions will be read to clarify the meaning assuring that no emphasis will be put on the question in order to avoid directing the answer. The test battery to be used in this study includes the Portuguese version of the tests describing below. All the tests scores will be analyzed as continuous variables.

ROSENBERG SELF-ESTEEM SCALE

A 10-item scale that measures global self-worth by measuring both positive and negative feelings about one self. The scale is believed to be unidimensional. All items are answered using a four-point Likert scale format ranging from "strongly agree" to "strongly disagree" (64). For items 1, 2, 4, 6, and 7, a reversal of the scores is done. The global self-esteem is represented by the sum of all scores and gives results between 10 and 40 points, where higher values represent higher levels of global self-esteem. Many studies have shown it to respond and be sensitive to the effects of exercise in the elders (65).

SATISFACTION WITH LIFE SCALE

The satisfaction with life scale (SWLS) is a short five-item instrument designed to measure global cognitive judgments of satisfaction with one's life. The scale usually requires only about 2 min of the participants' time (66). It uses a seven-point Likert scale, indicating your agreement with each item by placing the appropriate number on the line preceding that item. Results range between 1 and 35 points, with higher values representing higher levels of life's satisfaction (67).

PERCEIVED STRESS SCALE

The perceived stress scale (PSS) was originally developed as a 14-item scale that assesses the perception of stressful experiences by asking the participant to rate the frequency of his/her feelings and thoughts related to events and situations that occurred over the previous month. Seven out of the 14 items of PSS-14 are considered negative and the remaining 7 as positive, representing perceived helplessness and self-efficacy, respectively (68). For items 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, and 13, a reversal of the scores is done. Final scores vary from 14 to 70 points. A higher score indicates greater stress (69).

HOSPITAL ANXIETY AND DEPRESSION SCALE

This questionnaire consists of two subscales, one measuring anxiety, with seven items, and one measuring depression, with seven items, which are scored separately. Each item is answered on a 4-point (0-3) response category, so that the possible scores range from 0 to 21 for anxiety and from 0 to 21 for depression. It takes 2–5 min to complete. The hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS) manual indicates that a score between 0 and 7 is "normal," between 8 and 10 "mild," between 11 and 14 "moderate," and between 15 and 21 "severe" (70).

THE LAWTON INSTRUMENTAL ACTIVITIES OF DAILY LIVING SCALE

The Lawton scale is a suitable questionnaire to assess independent living skills. The instrument is most useful for identifying how a person is functioning at the present time and for identifying improvement or deterioration over time (71). There are eight domains of function measured with the Lawton independence activities day living (IADL) scale. Current recommendations are to assess all domains for both genders, although cultural differences with regard to the proposed tasks to be evaluated may exist. Participants are scored according to their highest level of functioning in that category (72). A summary score ranges from 0 (low function, dependent) to 8 (high function, independent).

KATZ INDEX OF INDEPENDENCE IN ACTIVITIES OF DAILY LIVING

The Katz index of independence in activities of daily living (ADL) is the most appropriate instrument to assess functional status as a measurement of the older person's ability to perform ADL independently (73). The index ranks adequacy of performance in the six functions of bathing, dressing, toileting, transferring, continence, and feeding. Participants are scored yes/no for independence in each of the six functions (74). A score of 6 indicates full function, 4 indicates moderate impairment, and 2 or less indicates severe functional impairment (75).

FALLS EFFICACY SCALE

The falls efficacy scale (FES) contains questions that assess the concern about the possibility of falling during the performance of 10 activities (76). The trust that the elders have to perform the activities without falling is represented on a 10 points analog scale ranging from "No confidence" (10 points) to "Completely confident" (1 score). The score of the FES is the sum of the scores obtained in each of the 10 items. The minimum score possible is 10 and the maximum is 100. Accordingly, the lower the score, the greater the confidence, resulting in a high self-efficacy (77).

BIOCHEMICAL ASSESSMENT I: COLLECTION OF SALIVA SAMPLE

Saliva will be collected by passive drool (the participant allows saliva to collect on the floor of the mouth, then leans forward and dribbles into a tube), for 3 min in high quality polypropylene vials to avoid problems with analyte retention or the introduction of contaminants that can interfere with the immunoassays. The collection times are always at the same time in the morning in order to minimize the circadian effect seen with some of the markers under study. Prior to the saliva collection subjects will be asked to rinse their mouth with water to remove food residues 10 min before sample collection and to avoid: alcohol for 12 h, dairy products for 20 min, a big meal for 60 min, foods with high sugar or acidity, or high caffeine content immediately before sample collection. The tubes containing the saliva will then be frozen, then defrosted and centrifuged in order to collect the saliva sample. The volumes measured, the flow rate calculated, and the samples will be store at -20 °C until determination of the saliva markers proposed for this study. IgA, testosterone, cortisol, and DHEA will be analyzed by ELISA (Salimetrics, UK), and Alpha-Amylase by a kinetic-assay (Salimetrics, UK), according to standard procedures (78).

BIOCHEMICAL ASSESSMENT II: COLLECTION OF BLOOD SAMPLE

Blood will be collected by venopuncture, in a fasted state, by a registered nurse. Determination of blood counts done after the blood collection, and then the tubes will be centrifuged for the collection of plasma and serum and these stored in cryovials

at -80° C until determination of the serum and plasma markers proposed for this study. The levels of the pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, IFN- γ , and TNF- α , the cardiovascular risk marker, such as CRP, and the neurotrophic factor, such as BDNF, will be analyzed by ELISA kits according to the manufacturers' instructions.

FUNCTIONAL FITNESS ASSESSMENT II: SENIOR FUNCTIONAL BATTERY

The functional fitness of every participant will be measured using the Senior Fitness Test battery developed and revised by Rikli and Jones (79). The lower body strength is determined with the "30 second's chair-and-stand test" (CST) that measures the total number of stands completed in 30 s. The upper-body strength is determined with the "30 seconds Arm-curl test" (ACT) that measures the total number of arm curls executed in the 30-s. The aerobic endurance is determined with the "2-minute step test" (2ST) that measures the number of full steps completed in 2 min, raising each knee to a point midway between the patella (kneecap) and iliac crest (top hip bone). Score is the number of times the right knee reaches the required height. To assess lowerbody flexibility, the "chair sit-and-reach test" (CSR) measures the maximum reach as forward as possible toward or past the toes. The upper-body flexibility is determined with the "back scratch test (BST)" that measures the distance of overlap or between the tips of the middle fingers of the back. For the abovementioned each test, there is cut-off values adjusted for sex and age, which will be analyzed as continuous variables.

ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES ASSESSMENT

The anthropometric measurements will be applied in four different moments following standardized procedures (80): in the beginning of the project for the data collection of the crosssectional study and at three time-points during the intervention study. Measurements will take place in a separate room in order to give some privacy to the participants. Body mass will be determined using a portable scale (Seca[®], model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kg. Waist circumference will be measured using a retractable glass fiber tape measure (Hoechstmass-Rollfix[®], Germany) with a precision of 0.1 cm. Stature will be determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Bodymeter[®], model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 cm.

CHARACTERIZATION OF THE EXERCISE PROGRAMS

The development of the exercises programs will include the selection of intervention programs, defining the types of exercise, conducting literature review, consultation with specialists from each exercise program, presentation of the final version of the chair-based exercise program design, and beginning of implementation of the pilot study in care centers. All classes, of each exercise program, will be administered by two instructors. The

main guidelines of exercise prescription recommended by the American College of Sport Medicine Science (ACSM) for older adults (81) will be followed. In addition, recent guidelines for exercise prescription in groups, with the support of a chair will be followed (82). The chair-based group exercise classes can vary in intensity from vigorous chair aerobics designed to provide muscle conditioning and aerobic benefits for healthy adults to movement that concentrates or maintaining a basic level function for older participants (82, 83). Music will not be used during the sessions, since the objective is to test the influence of exercise without music for some cognition parameters and therapy of music alone (84) or combined with physical exercise (85) can positively influence cognition. All exercise programs will have the same number of sessions. Detailed exercise description is presented in **Table 1**.

CHAIR ELASTIC-BAND STRENGTH EXERCISES

The chair elastic-band strength exercises (CSE) consist of an exercise class performing a determined number of sets, repetitions, cadence of execution, and rest between sets using a Thera-band® elastic bands exercise system (86), that takes into account the ACSM guidelines for muscle-strength exercises prescriptions for older populations (81). The session consist of six exercises for body mobilization and dynamic stretching (5 min warm-up); between 8 and 10 elastic-band exercises using the three first levels of elastic bands (yellow, red, and green), for the development of muscle-strengthening activity (20-30 min); five easy stretching exercises to promote cool down lasting 15 min. We will expect real effort to be 60-85% of maximum heart-rate values recommended by the ACSM as the work intensity for the older people submitted to exercise programs. This would allow the training stimulus dosage to be precisely controlled in both the session in progress and between different sessions (86).

CHAIR AEROBIC EXERCISES TO IMPROVE WALKING

The classes of chair aerobic to improve walking exercises (CAW) include activities that involve minutes of walking, chair-based sit, and reach exercises and activities for upper and lower body members. The walking time is expected to increase gradually during the program (81). The session has a maximum duration of 45 min divided into three parts with the following characteristics: warm-up (5–10 min) six exercises for body mobilization and dynamic stretching, 7–10 specific exercises to improve walking in a sitting and standing position, lasting 20–30 min, and cool-down easy stretching exercises to promote cool down lasting 15 min. Exercise intensity will be measured with heart rate (HR) monitors and real effort is expected to be 60–85% of maximum HR.

CHAIR YOGA TYPE FLEXIBILITY EXERCISES

The introduction of āsanas shall be made through a sequence of movements combined with breathing (87). This method allows

TABLE 1 | Overview of the two phases of chair-based exercise programs intervention and some specifics exercises.

Modality	Warm-up phaseª (7 min.)	% HR	Main part of the workout/conditioning	% HR	Cool-down	% HR
		RPE	phase (30 min.)		phase (7 min.)	RPE
Phase I – 1	the first 14 weeks					
AEW	General body mobilization and dynamic stretching chair-based exercises	~50–60 1–3	Aerobic walking activity: divided in 7–10 sets. They will be held a series containing 4–8 chair-based aerobic exercises. After performing 2–3 sets, the participants will be encouraged to combine the walk around the gym-room during 2–3 min. Walking time may be increased gradually during the program. Example of exercises: (1) chair-based sit and reach, leg extension, and overhead reach and standing rear leg extension (2–3 sets × 10 reps); (2) 2-min walking; (3) arm rising, hip marching, chair stand, and upper-body twist; (4) 2-min walking	~60–70 3–4	General body mobilization and static stretching chair-based exercises	~50–55 1–2
EB-RT	Eight exercises performed in two sets of six repetitions (reps) for general body mobilization	~50–60 1–3	Muscle-strengthening activity: 8–10 exercises using the first level of elastic Thera-band. Will consisted in to pull-up the elastic-band for 10 reps × 2 sets, with the concentric phase for 1 s and eccentric phase for 2 s with 45 s rest between sets and exercises. Examples of exercises: (1) front squat, (2) unilateral hip flexion in the chair, (3) bench over row, (4) chest press, (5) standing reverse fly, (6) spine twist extension arm, (7) shoulder press/twist arm front position, (8) frontal total raiser, (9) biceps arm curl stand/chair, and (10) overhead triceps exertion	~60–70 3–4	General body mobilization and static stretching chair-based exercises	~50–55 1–2
YTF	Standing or sitting exercises of joint mobilization and exercises to promote respiratory body awareness	~40–50 1–2	 Standing or sitting practice of <i>āsanas</i> and postures sequences. Ex: (1) "Seated Forward Bend" (<i>Paschimottanasana</i>), (2)"Butterfly" (<i>Baddha Konasana</i>), (3) "Seated Spinal Twist" (<i>Ardha Matsyendrasana</i>), (4) "Cow face pose" (<i>Gomukhasana</i>), (5) "Cat" (<i>Cakravakasana</i>), (6) "Child's Pose" (<i>Balasana</i>), (7) "Snake" (<i>Bhujangasana</i>), (8) "Child's Pose with arms extended" (<i>Utthita Balasana</i>), (9) "Side Bending Stretch" (<i>Tiryaka Tadasana</i>), (10) "Dorsal Torsion" (<i>Kati Chakrasana</i>), (11) "Triangle" (<i>Trikonasana</i>), and (12) "Eagle" or "Half eagle" (<i>Garudasana</i>) 	~50–60 2–3	Sitting or lying respiratory body awareness exercises, located massages, exercises for muscle relief, and meditation and vocalization	~40–45 1–2
Phase II –	the last 14 weeks					
AEW	General body mobilization, dynamic flexibility chair-based exercises, and 3 min of "easy walking" ^b	50–60 1–3	The progress of the program will be followed according to aerobic endurance activity guidelines, therefore basing on the inclusion of more difficult and complex chair-based aerobic exercises and challenges sequences. Additionally, it will be increased walking time and placed obstacles during the walking route (cones, floor markers, arcs) to work handedness, changes in direction and coordination	60–70 3–4	1–2 min easy walking, general body mobilization, and static stretching stand exercises	50–55 1–2
EB-RT	Six exercises (3 sets × 6 reps) for general body mobilization and dynamic stretching	50–60 1–3	The progress of the program will be grounded on the muscle-strengthening activity guidelines, therefore basing on the inclusion of more exercises sets. Also, the same exercises in the Phase I will be used, but with more complex progressions. Example: 2–3 sets × 10 reps of front Squat in the chair + frontal raiser	60–70 3–4	General body mobilization and static stretching chair-based exercises	50–55 1–2
YTF	Standing or sitting exercises of joint mobilization and exercises to promote respiratory body awareness	~40–50 1–2	The progress of the program will be grounded on the Hatha Yoga philosophy, therefore basing on the inclusion of more difficult and complex āsanas and challenging sequences. Postures will be modified or added, sequences should have more postures with more difficult transitions, and the goal range of each posture will be increased	~50–60 2–3	Sitting or lying respiratory body awareness exercises, located massages, exercises for muscle relief, and meditation and vocalization	~40–45 1–2

CBE, chair-based exercises; RPE, rated perceived exertion; % HR, percentage of the estimated maximal heart rate; Reps, number of repetitions; Rest, interval recovery. ^aSpecific exercises for different body segments, i.e., neck and shoulders, back and chest, waist and legs.

^bEasy walking, 2–3 min of walking around the fitness room.

the modification of postures itself and of how to "enter" and "leave" the postures, which simplifies working with limiting conditions in group classes with various levels of physical ability and can be reviewed according to the participants evolution (88). Additionally, the methods of design of the exercise programs include the ACSM guidelines for stretching exercises prescriptions for older populations (81). The global exercise intensity will be measured with HR monitors, and it is expected that the real effort will be 50–75% of maximum HR, the values recommended by the ACSM.

EXERCISE INTENSITY CONTROL

Heart rate monitors will randomly be used in five participants, during the exercise sessions in all exercise programs, as aid adjustment and control of training loads. For safety reasons, exercise intensity is indirectly predicted using the Karvonen's formula to predict target HR but with maximal heart rate (HR_{max}) being calculated using Franklin, Whaley, and Howley formula's for older people (HR_{max} = 207 beat per minute $-0.7 \times$ chronological age) (89).

EXERCISE ADHERENCE TO THE INTERVENTION PROTOCOL

The instructors will document attendance to each class and the levels of exercise adherence will be calculated using the number of sessions attended as a covariable in secondary analysis of the exercise results. Intervention groups are asked to attend at least 70% of the classes. The instructors and research team staff will be asked to motivate the participants every time an absence to two consecutive classes occurs (47).

DATA ANALYSIS

The assumption of normality will be checked by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test with Lilliefors' (K-S) significance correction and by visual inspection of normality plots. In study 2, comparison between groups will be accomplished using Univariate Statistics, in particular the independent T-test for 2 paired samples, and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for K-independent samples. To elucidate which pathways (as biological, psychological, and behavioral parameters) will play a significant role in the effects of exercise on cognitive function in the participants, we will conduct mediation analysis. In this case, hormonal mediation will be analyzed by including hormone levels as covariates in the models with cognitive and immunological outcomes, to see if they partially or fully explain the exercise effects (make exercise effects less or nonsignificant), where there are exercise effects. These analyses will be conducted using SPSS and R (www.r-project.org) at a significance threshold of alpha = 0.05, adjusted for multiple comparisons where relevant. Data analysis will include repeated measures ANOVA models for block designs of different exercise conditions (SPPS and R), and mixed effects models to include graded dose-dependent exercise effects whilst also allowing for repeated measures data (using R). ANOVA models require principally that variance between cells does not differ too strongly (not more than factor 2), which will be checked in the assumptions checking stage. Mixed effects models allow very flexibly for non-normal outcome data distributions,

for example, binomial for accuracy data (e.g., correct/wrong answers on cognitive tests) or Poisson for count data. Biological and psychological data are also often log-normally distributed (e.g., hormone levels, reaction times), variables where this is applicable will be log-transformed if the resulting distribution shows a better match with a normal distribution. Model residuals will also be checked for deviations from normality. Because a large number of outcome variables will be collected in this study, variable grouping and compound score selection will be based initially on theoretical domains (90, 91). The betweensubject SD for each dependent variable was used to convert the changes in all variables into standardized [Cohen effect size (ES)] changes in the mean. Using Hopkins as guide (92), ESs were considered as trivial ($d \le 0.2$), small (0.2 < d < 0.6), moderate (0.6 < d < 1.2), large (1.2 < d < 2.0), very large (2.0 < d < 4.0), and nearly perfect (d > 4.0). This will be confirmed by correlation matrices (all variables in a group should correlate with at least 50%) and principal component analyses where the first component should carry at least 70% of the variance.

DISCUSSION

This study will allow us to investigate which hormonal parameters are able to mediate the effects of exercise on immunity, psychological stress, and cognitive improvement and dementia risk in older people who are regularly active and which type of exercise is more effective in promoting immune and psychological health and cognitive improvement. The final goal is to develop exercise protocols that may lead to prevention of disease and a better quality of life. This study also sustains the hypothetical premise that exercise improves neurocognitive functions, following a current trend study in the field of aging (23, 59, 93). However, to the best of our knowledge, no large intervention study has yet been conducted on the effect of these exercise interventions on cognitive decline in subjects with MCI. The pilot study for this type of population is essential as it will reveal to what extent adherence to exercise suffers influence of psychosocial factors in chronic diseases (94, 95). It is important to monitor the effectiveness of the program, as evidence shows that a low cognitive profile may compromise the trainability of the participants (96). This study also shows a strong multidisciplinary approach, since it is prudent to investigate the combined effects of some independent variables. In addition, we will also look at the hypothetical premise that some objective measures have strong associations with subjective perception measures.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AT and JF designed and coordinated the research project. GF and MC drafted the paper. All the authors have made a substantial contribution in their respective areas of expertise, critically revised the work, approved the final version, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Institutions that accepted to participate in this study: Santa Casa da Misericórdia de Coimbra, Cáritas Diocesana de Coimbra e Venerável Ordem Terceira da Penitência de S. Francisco. The authors would also like to thank the students Fábio Direito, Tais Rieping, Nelba Souza, Sandra Pereira, and Rafael Carvalho for volunteering to help with exercise implementation and data collection. Thera-band[®] elastic bands were kindly provided by Prof. Juan Colado, Valencia University, Spain.

REFERENCES

- 1. Mungas D. In-office mental status testing: a practical guide. *Geriatrics* (1991) 46(7):54–8.
- Doi T, Shimada H, Park H, Makizako H, Tsutsumimoto K, Uemura K, et al. Cognitive function and falling among older adults with mild cognitive impairment and slow gait. *Geriatr Gerontol Int* (2015) 15(8):1073–8. doi:10.1111/ggi.12407
- Panza F, Seripa D, Solfrizzi V, Tortelli R, Greco A, Pilotto A, et al. Targeting cognitive frailty: clinical and neurobiological roadmap for a single complex phenotype. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2015) 47(4):793–813. doi:10.3233/ JAD-150358
- Han ES, Lee Y, Kim J. Association of cognitive impairment with frailty in community-dwelling older adults. *Int Psychogeriatr* (2014) 26(1):155–63. doi:10.1017/S1041610213001841
- Panza F, Solfrizzi V, Barulli MR, Santamato A, Seripa D, Pilotto A, et al. Cognitive frailty: a systematic review of epidemiological and neurobiological evidence of an age-related clinical condition. *Rejuvenation Res* (2015) 18(5):389–412. doi:10.1089/rej.2014.1637
- Chong MS, Tay L, Chan M, Lim WS, Ye R, Tan EK, et al. Prospective longitudinal study of frailty transitions in a community-dwelling cohort of older adults with cognitive impairment. *BMC Geriatr* (2015) 15:175. doi:10.1186/ s12877-015-0174-1
- Robertson DA, Savva GM, Kenny RA. Frailty and cognitive impairment a review of the evidence and causal mechanisms. *Ageing Res Rev* (2013) 12(4):840–51. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2013.06.004
- 8. Bilotta C, Bergamaschini L, Nicolini P, Casè A, Pina G, Rossi SV, et al. Frailty syndrome diagnosed according to the study of osteoporotic fractures criteria and mortality in older outpatients suffering from Alzheimer's disease: a one-year prospective cohort study. *Aging Ment Health* (2012) 16(3):273–80. doi:10.1080/13607863.2011.609534
- 9. Lee JSW, Auyeung T-W, Leung J, Kwok T, Woo J. Transitions in frailty states among community-living older adults and their associated factors. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* (2014) 15(4):281–6. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.12.002
- Walsh NP, Gleeson M, Shephard RJ, Gleeson M, Woods A, Bishop NC, et al. Position statement. Part one: immune function and exercise. *Exerc Immunol Rev* (2011) 17:6–63.
- Gruver AL, Hudson LL, Sempowski GD. Immunosenescence of ageing. J Pathol (2007) 211(2):144–56. doi:10.1002/path.2104
- Sato S, Kiyono H, Fujihashi K. Mucosal immunosenescence in the gastrointestinal tract: a mini-review. *Gerontology* (2015) 61(4):336–42. doi:10.1159/000368897
- Wullems JA, Verschueren SMP, Degens H, Morse CI, Onambélé GL. A review of the assessment and prevalence of sedentarism in older adults, its physiology/health impact and non-exercise mobility counter-measures. *Biogerontology* (2016) 17(3):547–65. doi:10.1007/s10522-016-9640-1
- Williams JW, Plassman BL, Burke J, Benjamin S. Preventing Alzheimer's disease and cognitive decline. *Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep)* (2010) (193):1–727.
- Erickson KI, Kramer AF. Aerobic exercise effects on cognitive and neural plasticity in older adults. *Br J Sports Med* (2009) 43(1):22–4. doi:10.1136/ bjsm.2008.052498

FUNDING

This work was financed by FEDER funds through COMPETE and national funds through FCT-Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology in the framework of project PTDC/DTP-DES/0154/2012. The PhD students GF and MC were financed by a grant from CAPES/CNPQ – Ministry of Education, Brazil (BEX: 11929/13-8 and BEX: 13642/13-8, respectively). AT, JF, LR, AF, and MC are registered at CIDAF (UID/PTD/04213/2013).

- Middleton LE, Mitnitski A, Fallah N, Kirkland SA, Rockwood K. Changes in cognition and mortality in relation to exercise in late life: a population based study. *PLoS One* (2008) 3(9):e3124. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003124
- Blazer DG. Depression in late life: review and commentary. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2003) 58(3):249–65. doi:10.1093/gerona/58.3.M249
- Koenig AM, Bhalla RK, Butters MA. Cognitive functioning and late-life depression. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2014) 20(5):461–7. doi:10.1017/ S1355617714000198
- Leonard BE, Myint A. Changes in the immune system in depression and dementia: causal or coincidental effects? *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* (2006) 8(2):163–74.
- Allison DJ, Ditor DS. The common inflammatory etiology of depression and cognitive impairment: a therapeutic target. *J Neuroinflammation* (2014) 11(1):151. doi:10.1186/s12974-014-0151-1
- Conn VS. Depressive symptom outcomes of physical activity interventions: meta-analysis findings. Ann Behav Med (2010) 39(2):128–38. doi:10.1007/ s12160-010-9172-x
- Sjösten N, Kivelä S-L. The effects of physical exercise on depressive symptoms among the aged: a systematic review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2006) 21(5):410–8. doi:10.1002/gps.1494
- Chodzko-Zajko W, Schwingel A. Successful aging: the role of physical activity. Am J Lifestyle Med (2008) 3(1):20–8. doi:10.1177/1559827608325456
- Papacosta E, Nassis GP. Saliva as a tool for monitoring steroid, peptide and immune markers in sport and exercise science. J Sci Med Sport (2011) 14(5):424–34. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2011.03.004
- van Stegeren AH, Wolf OT, Kindt M. Salivary alpha amylase and cortisol responses to different stress tasks: impact of sex. *Int J Psychophysiol* (2008) 69(1):33–40. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2008.02.008
- Scannapieco FA, Solomon L, Wadenya RO. Emergence in human dental plaque and host distribution of amylase-binding streptococci. *J Dent Res* (1994) 73(10):1627–35.
- Beauchet O. Testosterone and cognitive function: current clinical evidence of a relationship. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2006) 155(6):773–81. doi:10.1530/ eje.1.02306
- Maninger N, Wolkowitz OM, Reus VI, Epel ES, Mellon SH. Neurobiological and neuropsychiatric effects of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA sulfate (DHEAS). *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2009) 30(1):65–91. doi:10.1016/j. yfrne.2008.11.002
- Straub RH, Tankó LB, Christiansen C, Larsen PJ, Jessop DS. Higher physical activity is associated with increased androgens, low interleukin 6 and less aortic calcification in peripheral obese elderly women. *J Endocrinol* (2008) 199(1):61–8. doi:10.1677/JOE-08-0319
- Guerreiro RJ, Santana I, Brás JM, Santiago B, Paiva A, Oliveira C. Peripheral inflammatory cytokines as biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Neurodegener Dis* (2007) 4(6):406–12. doi:10.1159/000107700
- Satizabal CL, Zhu YC, Mazoyer B, Dufouil C, Tzourio C. Circulating IL-6 and CRP are associated with MRI findings in the elderly: the 3C-Dijon study. *Neurology* (2012) 78(10):720–7. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318248e50f
- Sudheimer DKD, O'Hara R, Spiegel D, Powers B, Kraemer CHC, Neri E, et al. Cortisol, cytokines, and hippocampal volume interactions in the elderly. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2014) 6:1–7. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00153

- Gomez-Pinilla F, Hillman C. The influence of exercise on cognitive abilities. *Compr Physiol* (2013) 3(1):403–28. doi:10.1002/cphy.c110063
- 34. Vaughan S, Morris N, Shum D, O'Dwyer S, Polit D. Study protocol: a randomised controlled trial of the effects of a multi-modal exercise program on cognition and physical functioning in older women. *BMC Geriatr* (2012) 12(1):60. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-12-60
- De Jager CA, Hogervorst E, Combrinck M, Budge MM. Sensitivity and specificity of neuropsychological tests for mild cognitive impairment, vascular cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Psychol Med* (2003) 33(6):1039–50. doi:10.1017/S0033291703008031
- 36. Kocabas NA, Antonijevic I, Faghel C, Forray C, Kasper S, Lecrubier Y, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene polymorphisms: influence on treatment response phenotypes of major depressive disorder. Int Clin Psychopharmacol (2011) 26(1):1–10. doi:10.1097/ YIC.0b013e32833d18f8
- Shimizu E, Hashimoto K, Okamura N, Koike K, Komatsu N, Kumakiri C, et al. Alterations of serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in depressed patients with or without antidepressants. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003):70–5. doi:10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00181-1
- Verdelho A, Madureira S, Moleiro C, Santos CO, Ferro JM, Erkinjuntti T, et al. Self-perceived memory complaints predict progression to Alzheimer disease. The LADIS study. J Alzheimers Dis (2011) 27(3):491–8. doi:10.3233/ JAD-2011-110494
- Braga R. Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos. Rev Port Med Geral e Fam (2013) 29(6):354–6.
- 40. Shephard RJ. Ethics in exercise science research. Sports Med (2002) 32(3):169–83. doi:10.2165/00007256-200232030-00002
- Petrini C. Helsinki 50 years on. Clin Ter (2014) 165(4):179–81. doi:10.7417/ CT.2014.1729
- 42. Bischoff HA, Stähelin HB, Monsch AU, Iversen MD, Weyh A, von Dechend M, et al. Identifying a cut-off point for normal mobility: a comparison of the timed "up and go" test in community-dwelling and institutionalised elderly women. *Age Ageing* (2003) 32(3):315–20. doi:10.1093/ ageing/32.3.315
- Jensen CS, Hasselbalch SG, Waldemar G, Simonsen AH. Biochemical markers of physical exercise on mild cognitive impairment and dementia: systematic review and perspectives. *Front Neurol* (2015) 6:187. doi:10.3389/ fneur.2015.00187
- 44. González-Vaca J, de la Rica-Escuín M, Silva-Iglesias M, Arjonilla-García MD, Varela-Pérez R, Oliver-Carbonell JL, et al. Frailty in INstitutionalized older adults from ALbacete. The FINAL study: rationale, design, methodology, prevalence and attributes. *Maturitas* (2014) 77(1):78–84. doi:10.1016/j. maturitas.2013.10.005
- 45. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A-G, Buchner A. G*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav Res Methods* (2007) 39(2):175–91. doi:10.3758/BF03193146
- 46. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang A-G. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav Res Methods* (2009) 41(4):1149–60. doi:10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Picorelli AMA, Pereira LSM, Pereira DS, Felício D, Sherrington C. Adherence to exercise programs for older people is influenced by program characteristics and personal factors: a systematic review. *J Physiother* (2014) 60(3):151–6. doi:10.1016/j.jphys.2014.06.012
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res* (1975) 12(3):189–98. doi:10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- de Melo DM, Barbosa AJG. [Use of the mini-mental state examination in research on the elderly in Brazil: a systematic review]. *Cien Saude Colet* (2015) 20(12):3865–76. doi:10.1590/1413-812320152012.06032015
- Hogervorst E, Clifford A. Exercise to prevent cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease: for whom, when, what, and (most importantly) how much? *J Alzheimers Dis Park* (2012) 02(03):2–4. doi:10.4172/2161-0460.1000e117
- Dellagi L, Ben Azouz O, Johnson I, Kebir O, Amado I, Tabbane K. [Tunisian adaptation of Hopkins verbal learning test, form 1]. *La Tunisie médicale* (2009) 87(10):670–3.
- Rieu D, Bachoud-Lévi A-C, Laurent A, Jurion E, Dalla Barba G. [French adaptation of the Hopkins verbal learning test]. *Rev Neurol (Paris)* (2006) 162(6–7):721–8. doi:10.1016/S0035-3787(06)75069-X

- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J Chronic Dis* (1987) 40(5):373–83. doi:10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8
- Charlson M, Szatrowski TP, Peterson J, Gold J. Validation of a combined comorbidity index. J Clin Epidemiol (1994) 47(11):1245–51. doi:10.1016/0895-4356(94)90129-5
- 55. Quan H, Li B, Couris CM, Fushimi K, Graham P, Hider P, et al. Updating and validating the Charlson comorbidity index and score for risk adjustment in hospital discharge abstracts using data from 6 countries. *Am J Epidemiol* (2011) 173(6):676–82. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq433
- 56. Rikli R, Jones C. *Senior Fitness Test Manual*. 2nd ed. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics (2013).
- Savva GM, Donoghue OA, Horgan F, O'Regan C, Cronin H, Kenny RA. Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2013) 68(4):441–6. doi:10.1093/gerona/gls190
- Greene BR, Doheny EP, O'Halloran A, Anne Kenny R. Frailty status can be accurately assessed using inertial sensors and the TUG test. *Age Ageing* (2014) 43(3):406–11. doi:10.1093/ageing/aft176
- Hogervorst E, Clifford A, Stock J, Xin X, Bandelow S. Exercise to prevent cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease: for whom, when, what, and (most importantly) how much? *J Alzheimers Dis Park* (2012) 2(3):1000e117. doi:10.4172/2161-0460.1000e117
- Alice M, Pimenta DM, Baradel RR, Fonseca RP, Pereira N, Carthery-Goulart MT. Evolution of language assessment in patients with acquired neurological disorders in Brazil. *Dementia e Neuropsychologia* (2014) 8(3):196–206. doi:10.1590/S1980-57642014DN83000002
- Ardila A, Ostrosky-Solís F, Bernal B. Cognitive testing toward the future: the example of semantic verbal fluency (ANIMALS). *Int J Psychol* (2006) 41(5):324–32. doi:10.1080/00207590500345542
- Lortie JJ, Remington R, Hoffmann H, Shea TB. Lack of correlation of WAIS digit span with clox 1 and the dementia rating scale in MCI. *Int J Alzheimers Dis* (2012) 2012:829743. doi:10.1155/2012/829743
- 63. Berrigan LI, Fisk JD, Walker LAS, Wojtowicz M, Rees LM, Freedman MS, et al. Reliability of regression-based normative data for the oral symbol digit modalities test: an evaluation of demographic influences, construct validity, and impairment classification rates in multiple sclerosis samples. *Clin Neuropsychol* (2014) 28(2):281–99. doi:10.1080/13854046.2013.871337
- Fernandes HM, Vasconcelos-Raposo J, Pereira E, Ramalho J, Oliveira S. A influência da actividade física na saúde mental positiva de idosos. *Motricidade Revista Motricidade/Edições Desafio Singular* (2009) 5(1):33–50. doi:10.6063/ motricidade.5(1).186
- McAuley E, Elavsky S, Motl RW, Konopack JF, Hu L, Marquez DX. Physical activity, self-efficacy, and self-esteem: longitudinal relationships in older adults. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci (2005) 60(5):268–75. doi:10.1093/ geronb/60.5.P268
- Barros F, Neto J. Satisfação com a vida: diferenças conforme a religião e a cultura. Psicol Educ e Cult (2004) VI(2):243–78.
- 67. Parker SJ, Strath SJ, Swartz AM. Physical activity measurement in older adults: relationships with mental health. *J Aging Phys Act* (2008) 16(4):369–80.
- Trigo M, Canudo N, Branco F, Silva D. Estudo das propriedades psicométricas da perceived stress scale (PSS) na população portuguesa. *Phychologica* (2010) 53:353–8. doi:10.14195/1647-8606_53_17
- Remor E. Psychometric properties of a European Spanish version of the perceived stress scale (PSS). Span J Psychol (2006) 9(1):86–93. doi:10.1017/ S1138741600006004
- Pais-Ribeiro J, Silva I, Ferreira T, Martins A, Meneses R, Baltar M. Validation study of a Portuguese version of the hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Psychol Health Med* (2007) 12:225–35; quiz 235–7. doi:10.1080/13548500500524088
- Lawton MP, Brody EM. Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Gerontologist* (1969) 9(3):179–86. doi:10.1093/geront/9.3_Part_1.179
- Graf C. The Lawton instrumental activities of daily living scale. *Am J Nurs* (2008) 108(4):52–62; quiz 62–3. doi:10.1097/01.NAJ.0000314810.46029.74
- 73. Katz S, Downs TD, Cash HR, Grotz RC. Progress in development of the index of ADL. *Gerontologist* (1970) 10(1):20–30. doi:10.1093/geront/10.1_Part_1.20
- 74. Arik G, Varan HD, Yavuz BB, Karabulut E, Kara O, Kilic MK, et al. Validation of Katz index of independence in activities of daily living in Turkish

older adults. Arch Gerontol Geriatr (2015) 61(3):344-50. doi:10.1016/j. archger.2015.08.019

- Buurman BM, van Munster BC, Korevaar JC, de Haan RJ, de Rooij SE. Variability in measuring (instrumental) activities of daily living functioning and functional decline in hospitalized older medical patients: a systematic review. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2011) 64(6):619–27. doi:10.1016/j. jclinepi.2010.07.005
- Tinetti ME, Richman D, Powell L. Falls efficacy as a measure of fear of falling. J Gerontol (1990) 45(6):239–43. doi:10.1093/geronj/45.6.P239
- Morgan MT, Friscia LA, Whitney SL, Furman JM, Sparto PJ. Reliability and validity of the falls efficacy scale-international (FES-I) in individuals with dizziness and imbalance. *Otol Neurotol* (2013) 34(6):1104–8. doi:10.1097/ MAO.0b013e318281df5d
- Allgrove JE, Gomes E, Hough J, Gleeson M. Effects of exercise intensity on salivary antimicrobial proteins and markers of stress in active men. J Sports Sci (2008) 26(6):653–61. doi:10.1080/02640410701716790
- Rikli RE, Jones CJ. Development and validation of criterion-referenced clinically relevant fitness standards for maintaining physical independence in later years. *Gerontologist* (2013) 53(2):255–67. doi:10.1093/geront/gns071
- Chumlea W, Baumgartner N. Status of anthropometry in elderly subjects3 w composition data. *Am J Clin Nutr* (1989) 50:1158–66.
- Nelson ME, Rejeski WJ, Blair SN, Duncan PW, Judge JO, King AC, et al. Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (2007) 39(8):1435–45. doi:10.1249/ mss.0b013e3180616aa2
- Robinson KR, Leighton P, Logan P, Gordon AL, Anthony K, Harwood RH, et al. Developing the principles of chair based exercise for older people: a modified Delphi study. *BMC Geriatr* (2014) 14(1):65. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-65
- Anthony K, Robinson K, Logan P, Gordon AL, Harwood RH, Masud T. Chair-based exercises for frail older people: a systematic review. *Biomed Res Int* (2013) 2013:309506. doi:10.1155/2013/309506
- Hars M, Herrmann FR, Gold G, Rizzoli R, Trombetti A. Effect of music-based multitask training on cognition and mood in older adults. *Age Ageing* (2014) 43(2):196–200. doi:10.1093/ageing/aft163
- Nikolić G. Narrow capture beat. *Heart Lung* (2004) 33(3):194–5. doi:10.1016/ S0147-9563(03)00118-3
- Colado JC, Garcia-Masso X, Triplett NT, Calatayud J, Flandez J, Behm D, et al. Construct and concurrent validation of a new resistance intensity scale for exercise with Thera-band[®] elastic bands. J Sports Sci Med (2014) 13(4):758–66.
- Patel NK, Newstead AH, Ferrer RL. The effects of yoga on physical functioning and health related quality of life in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Altern Complement Med (2012) 18(10):902–17. doi:10.1089/ acm.2011.0473

- Büssing A, Ostermann T, Lüdtke R, Michalsen A. Effects of yoga interventions on pain and pain-associated disability: a meta-analysis. *J Pain* (2012) 13(1):1–9. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2011.10.001
- Guderian B, Johnson A, Mathiowetz V. Impact of exercise frequency on hand strength of the elderly. *Phys Occup Ther Geriatr* (2013) 31(3):268–79. doi:10. 3109/02703181.2013.796583
- Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, Sherrington C, Gates S, Clemson LM, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2012) 9:CD007146. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007146.pub3
- Robitaille A, Muniz G, Lindwall M, Piccinin AM, Hoffman L, Johansson B, et al. Physical activity and cognitive functioning in the oldest old: within- and between-person cognitive activity and psychosocial mediators. *Eur J Ageing* (2014) 11(4):333–47. doi:10.1007/s10433-014-0314-z
- Hopkins WG, Marshall SW, Batterham AM, Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (2009) 41(1):3–12. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e31818cb278
- Carlson MC, Erickson KI, Kramer AF, Voss MW, Bolea N, Mielke M, et al. Evidence for neurocognitive plasticity in at-risk older adults: the experience corps program. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci (2009) 64(12):1275–82. doi:10.1093/gerona/glp117
- Milte R, Crotty M. Musculoskeletal health, frailty and functional decline. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol (2014) 28(3):395–410. doi:10.1016/j. berh.2014.07.005
- 95. Macklai NS, Spagnoli J, Junod J, Santos-Eggimann B. Prospective association of the SHARE-operationalized frailty phenotype with adverse health outcomes: evidence from 60+ community-dwelling Europeans living in 11 countries. *BMC Geriatr* (2013) 13(1):3. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-13-3
- 96. Uemura K, Shimada H, Makizako H, Doi T, Yoshida D, Tsutsumimoto K, et al. Cognitive function affects trainability for physical performance in exercise intervention among older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Clin Interv Aging* (2013) 8:97–102. doi:10.2147/CIA.S39434

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Teixeira, Ferreira, Hogervorst, Braga, Bandelow, Rama, Figueiredo, Campos, Furtado, Chupel and Pedrosa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Predicting Frail Syndrome using adverse geriatric health outcomes: comparison of different statistical classifiers

Furtado, Guilherme†; Loureiro, Marisa†; Ferreira, José; Teixeira, Ana; Patrício, Miguel

Abstract— The present work seeks to evaluate the role of statistical classifiers based on sociodemographic data, anthropometric measurements and adverse health outcomes for identifying frail individuals. Three classifiers were considered: Logistic Regression, Random Forest and Support Vector Machines. The best results were obtained with Logistic Regression models based solely on 3 predictors, which reached an area under the curve [0.80, 0.85], specificity [75%, 81%] and sensitivity [80%, 86%]. These models display a promising role as a brief and easy screening tool for Frail Syndrome and should be further assessed, notably by external validation.

I. INTRODUCTION

Detecting frail syndrome (FS) in older populations using brief and easy screening tools is highly sought, as it may reduce costs and unnecessary complex health assessments, [1]. In a classical approach, Fried and colleagues have developed a construct, called "Frailty Cycle" [2]. They identified five components in the FS, that can classify the older population in frail, pre-frail and nonfrail subgroups [3]. Several authors report having sought or assessed psychosocial, clinical or physiologically relevant variables for their association with FS or evaluated how putative predictors of FS may serve as screening tools. In particular, [4] showed how motor performance tests such as a "chair stand" test may be used as screening instruments for FS in older adults. In [5], the Short Physical Performance Battery is studied in communitydwellers. Both gait and balance assessments with wearable sensor technology were evaluated in a small number of patients with peripheral artery disease in terms of their roles as early indicators of FS [6]. Timed up-and-go (TUG) test results in a large sample of the older Irish population were reported in [7], with TUG seen to accurately identify frail elements of the population but being less able to discriminate nonfrail from the pre-frail or frail. In [8] the authors sought to identify kinematic variables suitable for screening for FS. These kinematic variables were measured using inertial sensors embedded in smartphones that the participants wore in a small sleeve fixed around the trunk while performing the expanded TUG test. The role of physical activity levels (LPA) in different domains (notably, work, transportation, housework and leisure) was assessed as a predictor of absence of FS in the elderly, [9]. Serum sirtuins were reported to be promising noninvasive protein markers for FS in [10], whereas an association was seen to exist between FS in the older institutionalized men and

Guilherme Furtado (grant CAPES/CNPQ – Ministry of Education, Brazil, BEX: 11929/13-8), José Ferreira and Ana Teixeira are registered at Research Unit of Sport and Physical Activity, Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education, University of Coimbra, CIDAF [UID/PTD/04213/2016] (e-mails:

inflammatory markers, in particular serum levels of interleukin-6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and high sensitivity C-reactive protein (CRP).

Though machine learning procedures are known to be data hungry [11], they allow combining several potential predictors of FS to obtain potentially better screening tools. However, few authors have attempted to use these procedures. In particular, [12] aimed at distinguishing between pre-frail and frail individuals with artificial neural networks based on an automatic system to measure general clinical indicators. The predictors were measured using devices that can also be used as furniture (for example, a chair with a pressure sensor) and electronic questionnaires. The neural networks were trained with data gathered on 160 subjects and assessed over data collected on further 149 people. The sensitivity and specificity of this approach were reported to be 79.7% and 86.2%, respectively. In [13] the authors further improved the results of an earlier article using logistic regression models [14], by studying how three physical assessments (TUG, five times sit to stand and quiet standing balance) could be taken as predictors in support vector machines (SVM) to distinguish between two groups of community-dwelling older adults: nonfrail and frail. The latter group comprised not only individuals who were classified as frail by the Fried FS criterion but also those classified as pre-frail. Separate classifier models were generated for males (17 of which in the non-frail group and 16 in the frail group) and for females (41 of which in the non-frail group and 50 in the frail group). Ten repetitions of 10-fold validation were used to assess the sensitivity and specificity of the models, which are reported to be 91.3% and 96.5% for males and 86.0% and 73.0% for females, respectively.

In this exploratory study, we aim to assess how different machine learning procedures may be applied to accurately predict FS in institutionalized older woman, using adverse health outcomes, notably functional fitness, cognition status, state of depression, physical functioning, body composition, comorbidity index, levels of cortisol and chronologic age.

II. Methods

A. Design and ethical aspects

The FS incidence was assessed in older people living in Centers for Social and Health Care Support situated in the

^{*}Research supported by FCT – Portuguese Foundation and Technology in the framework of the projects (UID/PTD/04213/2016, UID/NEU/04539/2013 and POCI-01-0145-FEDER-007440, COMPETE).

furts2001@yahoo.com.br, jpferreira@fcdef.uc.pt, ateixeira@fcdef.uc.pt respectively).

Marisa Loureiro and Miguel Patrício are with the Laboratory of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics and IBILI, Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra (phone: 00351239480029; fax: 00351239480217; e-mails: mjpd@uc.pt and marisa.loureiro@uc.pt, respectively).

[†] Equally contributing first authors.

district of Coimbra, Portugal. All participants expressed interest in participating in the study and signed a statement of responsibility. This study has been approved by the Faculty of Sport Sciences and Physical Education Ethical Committee (Reference CE/FCDEF-UC/000202013) - University of Coimbra and respects the Portuguese Resolution (Art.^o 4st; Law n. 12/2005, 1st series) and [15] and Helsinki Declaration [16].

B. Participants

A total of 203 individuals aged over 65 years expressed interest in participating in the study. After selecting only female participants, accounting for dropouts and excluding individuals with low clinical health condition, a total of 118 older women were included in the study.

C. Data collection

Sociodemographic data: chronological age was assessed through data of birth.

Anthropometric measurements: Body mass was determined using a portable scale (Seca \mathbb{R} , model 770, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 kilograms. Stature was determined using a portable stadiometer (Seca Bodymeter \mathbb{R} , model 208, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 centimetres (CR = 0.98). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated according to the usual formula: BMI = weight/height2 [17].

FS screening: The prevalence of FS was calculated according to the Fried FS protocol [2]. Participants were classified as frail when three or more of the following criteria were present: shrinking, which was evaluated by self-report about unintentional weight loss of four kilograms or more in the last six months; poor endurance and energy (self-reported exhaustion), which was analysed by negative concordance of two questions from the CES-D depression scale [18]; weakness, which was evaluated by 4.6 meters walking test [20] and low LPA, which was analysed resorting to the International PA Questionnaire (IPAQ) [21]. A participant was classified as pre-frail when one or two criteria were present and non-frail when none of the criteria held.

Adverse health outcomes: Cognitive status was assessed through Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE), [22]. Comorbidity was assessed using The Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) that measures burden of disease and has a weighted index based on 19 comorbid conditions, [23]. Depressive state was assessed by CES-D scale [18]. For Physical Functioning, the Portuguese version of Katz Index of Independence in Activities of Daily Living (ADL) was used. The Index ranks adequacy of performance in the 6 psychobiological functions [24]. For functional fitness, the lower body strength was assessed with the '30 seconds chair stand' (30CST) that measures the total number of executed in this period of time, [25]. In terms of the biochemical marker, saliva samples of Cortisol (sCOR) were collected by passive drool and analyzed by ELISA according to the manufacturer instructions (Salimetrics, UK). The complete method for treatment of biochemical samples was described in a previously published study protocol, [26].

D. Statistical analysis

All predictors were assessed for normality resorting to Shapiro-Wilk tests, [27]. Normally distributed variables are described as mean±standard deviation, whilst non-normally distributed variables are described as median (25th percentile; 75th percentile). Comparisons between groups were performed resorting to t-Student tests or Mann-Whitney U tests, as applicable.

A logistic regression model was used with all 8 predictors, the dependent variable expressing whether each subject was frail. All assumptions were verified. Subsequently, a forward logistic regression was employed to assess the contribution of the different predictors. These computations were performed on IBM SPSS Statistics 24. All 8 variables were considered to build up classification models, implemented in R 3.3.2 using the "randomForest", "e1071" and the base packages with default parameters. Logistic regression (LR), support vector machines (SVM) and random forests (RF) models, each including the n most meaningful predictors (n ranging from 1 to 8) were assessed. For that purpose, Monte Carlo crossvalidation was used [3], with 500 random splits of the data into training and test sets, with 70.3% of the data assigned to the training set. For each model, a 95% confidence interval from percentiles for the area under the curve (AUC) was determined using ROC analysis.

III. RESULTS

Out of the 118 female participants, 64 were observed not to be frail (this "Not frail" group comprises 19 non-frail individuals and 45 pre-frail individuals) and 54 observed to be frail. The data collected for the two groups is illustrated in Figure 1 and further described in Table 1.



Figure 1. Radar chart illustrating the different profiles of the "Not frail" and "Frail" groups. For each predictor, its median value was computed for each group and normalised by dividing it with the largest of the two medians.

Table 1. Univariate comparisons of predictors between the "Not frail" and the "Frail" groups.

Variable	Not frail $(n=64)$	Frail (n=54)	p-value
ADL	0.0 (0.0; 1.0)	1.0 (1.0; 3.0)	< 0.001
CES-D	17.5 (13.5; 25.5)	24.0 (20.0; 30.0)	< 0.001
CCI	7.0 (6.0; 8.0)	8.0 (7.0; 9.0)	0.023
sCOR	0.24 (0.11; 0.30)	0.27 (0.16; 0.33)	0.182
BMI	27.8±4.4	29.3±5.7	0.126
Age	81.7±8.1	82.2±7.7	0.76
MMSE	22.0 (17.0; 26.0)	17.0 (13.0; 22.0)	< 0.001
30CST	10.0 (7.0; 12.0)	6.0 (5.0; 8.0)	< 0.001

Data is presented as mean \pm standard deviation or median (25th percentile; 75th percentile). The p-values were obtained with t-Student tests or Mann-Whitney tests, as applicable.

A statistically significant logistic regression model was obtained using all predictors, $\chi^2(8)=51.166$, p<0.001; Nagelkerke R²=0.470, Hosmer and Lemeshow $\chi^2(8)=3.556$, p=0.895, see Table 2.

Table 2. Results of the logistic regression model obtained using all predictors as independent variables.

Predictor	В	S.E.	p-value	95% CI for OR
Age	-0.003	0.031	0.934	[0.939, 1.059]
BMI	0.059	0.050	0.240	[0.961, 1.170]
CCI	0.154	0.141	0.278	[0.884, 1.539]
MMSE	-0.122	0.048	0.011	[0.806, 0.972]
ADL	0.265	0.185	0.151	[0.907, 1.874]
CES-D	0.049	0.032	0.128	[0.986, 1.120]
30CST	-0.287	0.086	0.001	[0.634, 0.888]
sCOR	-0.211	0.805	0.794	[0.167, 3.927]
Constant	0.607	3.353	0.856	

B is the regression coefficient; S.E. is the standard error for B; 95% CI for OR is the 95% confidence interval for the adjusted odds ratio.

By decreasing order of importance, assessed by a forward logistic regression model with all predictors, the statistically meaningful predictors were: 30CST, MMSE and CES-D. Again by decreasing order of importance, this time assessed by a backward logistic model including all variables, the remaining predictors were: ADL, BMI, CCI, sCOR and Age.

The results obtained using the aforementioned classification models can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3. Area under the ROC curve, sensitivity and specificity obtained using three classification models and considering a varying number of predictors.

n	Performance measure	LR	RF	SVM
1	AUC	[0.76, 0.81]	[0.71, 0.76]	[0.74, 0.79]
	Sensitivity	[0.65, 0.72]	[0.64, 0.70]	[0.62, 0.69]
	Specificity	[0.78, 0.85]	[0.81, 0.86]	[0.80, 0.87]
2	AUC	[0.79, 0.83]	[0.71, 0.75]	[0.75, 0.80]
	Sensitivity	[0.71, 0.77]	[0.64, 0.71]	[0.67, 0.73]
	Specificity	[0.79, 0.85]	[0.75, 0.81]	[0.80, 0.86]
3	AUC	[0.80, 0.85]	[0.74, 0.79]	[0.79, 0.83]
	Sensitivity Specificity	[0.75, 0.81]	[0.68, 0.75]	[0.77, 0.83]
		[0.80, 0.86]	[0.79, 0.86]	[0.79, 0.84]
4	AUC	[0.80, 0.84]	[0.76, 0.80]	[0.79, 0.83]
	Sensitivity	[0.74, 0.80]	[0.68, 0.74]	[0.74, 0.80]
	Specificity	[0.79, 0.85]	[0.82, 0.88]	[0.80, 0.86]
5	AUC	[0.80, 0.84]	[0.79, 0.84]	[0.80, 0.84]
	Sensitivity	[0.71, 0.77]	[0.72, 0.78]	[0.75, 0.81]
	Specificity	[0.81, 0.87]	[0.82, 0.87]	[0.77, 0.84]
	AUC	[0.79, 0.84]	[0.80, 0.84]	[0.79, 0.84]
6	Sensitivity	[0.70, 0.76]	[0.73, 0.79]	[0.72, 0.79]
	Specificity	[0.83, 0.89]	[0.82, 0.88]	[0.80, 0.86]
7	AUC	[0.78, 0.83]	[0.79, 0.83]	[0.78, 0.83]
	Sensitivity	[0.70, 0.76]	[0.70, 0.77]	[0.70, 0.77]
	Specificity	[0.81, 0.87]	[0.81, 0.87]	[0.80, 0.87]
8	AUC	[0.77, 0.82]	[0.77, 0.82]	[0.77, 0.81]
	Sensitivity	[0.70, 0.76]	[0.69, 0.76]	[0.68, 0.75]
	Specificity	[0.80, 0.86]	[0.80, 0.86]	[0.79, 0.85]

In the table, n is the number of predictors included in the classification models; LR is short for Logistic Regression; RF is short for Random Forest and SVM is short for Support Vector Machine. For each performance measure, 95% confidence intervals are presented.

The best AUC values for the LR models, [0.80, 0.85], were attained using solely 3 predictors. The corresponding 95% confidence intervals for the specificity and the sensitivity were [75%, 81%] and [80%, 86%], respectively. For the RF models, the best AUC values were [0.80, 0.84], with corresponding sensitivity [73%, 79%] and specificity [82%, 88%], attained using 6 predictors. As for SVM, the AUC reached [0.80, 0.84] when 5 predictors were used. The corresponding sensitivity and specificity were [75%, 81%] and [77%, 84%], respectively.

IV. DISCUSSION

Other studies have reported using statistical classifiers to distinguish between FS status. In [12] the goal was to distinguish between pre-frail and frail individuals, while in [13] the distinction was made between a group of non-frail individuals and a group either pre-frail or frail. The present study focused on discriminating between frail and either nonfrail or pre-frail instead. A direct comparison between the three studies is unfair, as the dependent variables were different, but it is noteworthy that there are no great differences in the sensitivities and specificities reached with the exception that, in [13], better results were obtained for models generated for male patients. The present work did not include male patients as the sample size for these patients would be quite small. Still, including 118 participants implied adopting a feature selection algorithm as models using statistical classifiers are known to require a large ratio of observation per variable for trustworthy results to be obtained, [11]. Performance measures obtained for models with fewer variables are, in this sense, more likely to be reliable. In particular, the LR models were able to attain high AUC values with solely three predictors. This is advantageous if one seeks to find brief and easy screening tools, as the practical application of the model would only require obtaining data on 30CST, MMSE and CES-D.

As usual, further validation should be undertaken to confirm the diagnostic value of the models, [28]. Moreover, it would be interesting and, to the best of our knowledge, novel, to propose models to distinguish between all three FS subgroups.

V. CONCLUSION

A logistic regression model with solely three predictors was sufficient to attain a 95% confidence interval for the AUC of [0.80, 0.85]. This is a promising result when seeking for a brief and easy screening tool for FS, which should be further assessed, notably by external validation.

REFERENCES

- [1] T. P. Ng, L. Feng, M. S. Z. Nyunt, A. Larbi, and K. B. Yap, "Frailty in older persons: Multisystem risk factors and the Frailty Risk Index (FRI)," *J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc.*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 635–642, 2014.
- [2] L. P. Fried *et al.*, "Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype,," *J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. M146-56, Mar. 2001.
- [3] J. E. Morley *et al.*, "Frailty consensus: a call to action.," J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc., vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 392–7, Jun. 2013.
- [4] K. T. Santos, M. H. Fernandes, J. A. Carneiro, and R. da Silva Coqueiro, "Motor performance tests as screening instruments for frailty in the older adults," *Appl. Nurs. Res.*, vol. 32, pp. 80–84, 2016.
- [5] S. M. A. da Câmara, B. E. Alvarado, J. M. Guralnik, R. O. Guerra, and Á. C. C. Maciel, "Using the Short Physical Performance Battery to screen for frailty in young-old adults with distinct socioeconomic conditions," *Geriatr. Gerontol. Int.*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 421–428, 2013.
- [6] R. Thiede, N. Toosizadeh, J. L. Mills, M. Zaky, J. Mohler, and B. Najafi, "Gait and balance assessments as early indicators of frailty in patients with known peripheral artery disease," *Clin. Biomech.*, vol. 32, pp. 1–7, 2016.
- [7] G. M. Savva, O. A. Donoghue, F. Horgan, C. O'Regan, H. Cronin, and R. A. Kenny, "Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population," *Journals Gerontol. - Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.*, vol. 68, no. 4, pp. 441–446, 2013.
- [8] A. Galán-Mercant and A. I. Cuesta-Vargas, "Clinical frailty syndrome assessment using inertial sensors embedded in smartphones.," *Physiol. Meas.*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 1929–1942, 2015.
- [9] S. Tribess, J. S. Virtuoso Junior, R. J. de Oliveira, and R. J. de

Oliveira, "Physical activity as a predictor of absence of frailty in the elderly.," *Rev. Assoc. Med. Bras.*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 341–347, 2012.

- [10] R. Kumar *et al.*, "Identification of serum sirtuins as novel noninvasive protein markers for frailty," *Aging Cell*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 975–980, 2014.
- [11] T. van der Ploeg, P. C. Austin, and E. W. Steyerberg, "Modern modelling techniques are data hungry: a simulation study for predicting dichotomous endpoints.," *BMC Med Res Methodol*, vol. 14, p. 137, 2014.
- [12] Y.-C. Chang *et al.*, "eFurniture for home-based frailty detection using artificial neural networks and wireless sensors," *Med. Eng. Phys.*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 263–268, 2013.
- [13] B. R. Greene, E. P. Doheny, R. A. Kenny, and B. Caulfield, "Classification of frailty and falls history using a combination of sensor-based mobility assessments.," *Physiol. Meas.*, vol. 35, no. 10, pp. 2053–66, 2014.
- [14] B. R. Greene, E. P. Doheny, A. O'Halloran, and R. A. Kenny, "Frailty status can be accurately assessed using inertial sensors and the TUG test," *Age Ageing*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 406–411, 2014.
- [15] R. Braga, "Ética na publicação de trabalhos científicos," *Rev. Port. Med. Geral e Fam.*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 354–356, 2013.
- [16] C. Petrini, "Helsinki 50 years on.," Clin. Ter., vol. 165, no. 4, pp. 179–81, 2014.
- [17] T. G. Lohman, A. F. Roche, and R. Martorell, Anthropometric standardization reference manual, vol. 24. 1988.
- [18] B. Gonçalves, T. Fagulha, A. Ferreira, and N. Reis, "Depressive symptoms and pain complaints as predictors of later development of depression in Portuguese middle-aged women.," *Health Care Women Int.*, vol. 35, no. 11–12, pp. 1228–44, Jan. 2014.
- [19] H. Syddall, C. Cooper, F. Martin, R. Briggs, and A. Aihie Sayer, "Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty?," *Age Ageing*, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 650–6, Nov. 2003.
- [20] A. B. Newman, C. L. Haggerty, S. B. Kritchevsky, M. C. Nevitt, and E. M. Simonsick, "Walking performance and cardiovascular response: associations with age and morbidity--the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study.," *J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 715–20, Aug. 2003.
- [21] C. P. S. Pitanga, F. J. G. Pitanga, C. C. Beck, R. E. C. D. Gabriel, and M. H. R. Moreira, "Nível de atividade física para prevenção do excesso de gordura visceral em mulheres pós-menopáusicas: quanto é necessário?," *Arq. Bras. Endocrinol. Metabol.*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 358–363, Aug. 2012.
- [22] M. F. Folstein, S. E. Folstein, and P. R. McHugh, "'Mini-mental state'. A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician.," *J. Psychiatr. Res.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 189–198, 1975.
- [23] M. Charlson, T. P. Szatrowski, J. Peterson, and J. Gold, "Validation of a combined comorbidity index.," *J. Clin. Epidemiol.*, vol. 47, no. 11, pp. 1245–51, Nov. 1994.
- [24] S. Katz, T. D. Downs, H. R. Cash, and R. C. Grotz, "Progress in development of the index of ADL.," *Gerontologist*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 20–30, Jan. 1970.
- [25] C. Rikli, R.; Jones, Senior Fitness Test Manual-2nd Edition. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 2013.
- [26] A. M. Teixeira *et al.*, "Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders," *Front. Public Heal.*, vol. 4, p. 133, Jun. 2016.
- [27] M. Patrício, F. Ferreira, B. Oliveiros, and F. Caramelo, "Comparing the performance of normality tests with ROC analysis and confidence intervals," *Commun. Stat. - Simul. Comput.*, 2016.
- [28] E. W. Steyerberg and Y. Vergouwe, "Towards better clinical prediction models: Seven steps for development and an ABCD for validation," *European Heart Journal*, vol. 35, no. 29. pp. 1925– 1931, 2014.



Dear Ms. Furtado:

It is a pleasure to accept your manuscript entitled "Fragilidade e desempenho cognitivo em populações idosas, parte I: uma revisão sistemática com metanálise" for publication in the Ciência & Saúde Coletiva. In order for your manuscript to be edited, we would ask that you include the text in a single file with the: (1) Title (in Portuguese and in the foreign language); (2) Authors (full name, institution and e-mail); (3) Summary (in Portuguese and in the foreign language); (4) Keywords (in Portuguese and in the foreign language); (5) Full text of the article (from the introduction to the references) and (6) Illustrative material (if any, in up to 5 units).

We note that this file, which cannot be in PDF format, must have the same content as the manuscript which was reviewed. It is this version which shall be published.

The file and the declarations attached should be sent to the e-mail: <u>cienciasaudecoletiva@fiocruz.br</u> Thank you for your contribution,

Prezado(a) Ms. Furtado:

É um prazer aceitar o seu manuscrito intitulado "Fragilidade e desempenho cognitivo em populações idosas, parte I: uma revisão sistemática com metanálise" para publicação na revista Ciência & Saúde Coletiva.

Para que o seu manuscrito seja editorado, solicitamos que você reúna em um único arquivo um texto com: (1) Título (em português e na língua estrangeira); (2) Autores (nome completo, instituição e e-mail); (3) Resumo (em português e na língua estrangeira); (4) Palavras-Chave (em português e na língua estrangeira); (5) Corpo completo do artigo (indo desde a introdução até as referências) e (6) Material ilustrativo (caso haja, em até cinco unidades).

Observamos que esse arquivo – que não pode ser em formato de PDF – deve ter o mesmo conteúdo do manuscrito que foi avaliado. É essa versão que será publicada.

O arquivo e as declarações em anexo devem ser enviados para o e-mail: cienciasaudecoletiva@fiocruz.br

Obrigado pela sua contribuição,

Sincerely, / Atenciosamente, Dr. Romeu Gomes Editor-in-Chief, Ciência & Saúde Coletiva romeugo@gmail.com

Brazil, 02-Jun-2017.

How to cited this article:

Furtado, GE, Teixeira, AB, Ferreira. jP. Fragilidade e desempenho cognitivo em populações idosas, parte I: uma revisão sistemática com metanálise. Cien Saude Colet. **[periódico na internet]** (2017/Jul). [Citado em 22/08/2018]. **Está disponível em:** <u>http://www.cienciaesaudecoletiva.com.br/artigos/fragilidade-edesempenho-cognitivo-em-populacoes-idosas-parte-i-uma-revisao-sistematica-commetanalise/16300?id=16300&id=16300&id=16300&id=16300&id=16300</u>

ANNEX V:

MAIN ACTIVITIES CARRIED OUT DURING THE COURSE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BIOGRAPHY

Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado was born in October 219th, 1979 in the city of Belo Horizonte, State of Minas Gerais - Brazil. After finishing the secondary school in Belo Horizonte (1999), has a degree in Sport Science and Physical Education at Centro Universitário de Belo Horizonte - UNI-BH (2001-2005). During this period studied (1 one year) in the Faculty of Sport Science and Physical Education at University of Coimbra (FCDEF-UC), under the Socrates program (2003-2004). In the year of 2010, he concluded post-graduate course in Functional Training at Universidade Lusófona de Tecnologia e Humaidade, Portugal and in 2011 was finished master's degree in Exercise and Health in Special Groups at (FCDEF-UC, Portugal). During the period of 2013-2014 was a junior investigator in the project "Hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition. stress and immunity [PTDC/DES-DTP/0154/2012], with a research fellow from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology – FCT. In the period of 2014–2018 he concluded a PhD student in Sport Sciences in the branch of Physical Activity and Health and had earned a grant from the CAPES Foundation – ministry od Education, Brazil. He has large professional experience in fitness exercise programs. Currently, research has focused on modulated effects of regular exercise on biopsychologies outcomes (hormonal, psychological and physical fintness) in older adults with physical frailty condition.

CONGRESS, SYMPOSIUM AND SCIENTIFIC MEETINGS – ORAL COMMUNICATION

• Furtado, GE; Pedrosa, AFM; Silva, AO; Letieri, Rubens; Teixeira, AM; Ferreira, JP (2014). Development of a protocol for assessing functional autonomy for the elderly: Is the cognitive and sensory dimension a confounding factor for the analysis of this dimension? *European Congress of Sport Science (ECSS),* Amsterdam - Netherland, July. Oral Presentation.

• Letieri, RV. Figueiredo, AJ. ; **Furtado,GE.** ; Letieri, m. FB; Alves junior, t. a. ; sousa, f. c. s. . acute effect of strenght training with blood flow occlusion in parameter related to muscle damage. in: 19th annual congress of the european college of sport science - sport around the canals, 2014, amsterdam. ecss amsterdam 2014 - book of abstracts. cologne: sportools, 2014. v. 19. p. 641-641.

• Pedrosa, AFM; Furtado, GE; Silva, AO; Colado, JC; Ferreira, JP; and Teixeira, AM (2014). Development of different exercise programs in institutionalized elderly patients with mild cognitive impairment: A preliminary study for a project on hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress and immunity. *European Congress of Sport Science (ECSS)*, Amsterdam - Netherland, July. Oral Presentation.

• Furtado, GE; Pedrosa, AFM; Uba-Chuppel, M.; Ferreira, JP; Teixeira, AM (2014). Analysis of functional-physical fitness according to cognitive profile in a group of institutionalized elderly people. *European Congress of Adapted Physical Activity* (*EUCAPA*), Madrid – Spain, September. Oral Presentation.

• Furtado, GE; Uba-Chuppel, M.; Pedrosa, AFM; Ferreira, JP; Teixeira, AM (2014). Será o perfil cognitivo um 'fator de confusão' para a análise de marcadores de aptidão física funcional? Um estudo exploratório em idosos institucionalizados. XV Jornadas da Sociedade Portuguesa de Psicologia do Desporto, Escola Superior de Desporto de Rio Maior – Portugal. Apresentação oral. • Furtado, GE; Letieri, R; Uba-Chuppel, M; Carvalho, H; Ferreira, JP and Dantas, EM (2014). Effects of a physical fitness program in the functional autonomy and satisfaction with life on elderly men. *CIDESD 2014 - International Congress of Exercise and Sport Performance, Institute Polytechnic of Guarda – Portugal.* Oral Presentation.

• Furtado, G.^{1,2}; Uba-Chupel, M.^{1,2}; Rama L.¹, Rieping, T.¹; Sousa, N.¹; Direito, F.¹; Pedrosa, AF¹; Ferreira, JP.¹; Teixeira, AM.¹ Effects of different types of chair based exercise programs on hormonal, functional autonomy and physical fitness in pre-frail elderly woman. *Annual European Congress of Sport Science – ECSS – Malmö; Sweeden, 2015.* Oral Presentation.

• Uba-Chupel, M; **Furtado, G;** Pedrosa, AF; Rieping, T; Souza, N; Direito, F; Silva, J; Ferreira, JPL; Teixeira, AM. Effects of Exercise on Haematological changes of Elderly Persons. *Annual European Congress of Sport Science – ECSS – Malmö; Sweeden, 2015.* Oral Presentation.

• Uba-Chupel, M; **Furtado, G**; Souza, N; 1Rieping, T; 1Direito, F; 1Pedrosa, F; 2Colado, J; Hogervorst, E; Rama, L; Ferreira, JPL; Teixeira, AM. Effect of strength training on blood inflammatory markers of elderly women with cognitive impairment. *International Society for Exercise and Immunology (ISEI) – Wien, Austria –* 2015. Oral Presentation.

• <u>José Pedro FERREIRA</u>¹; **Guilherme FURTADO**^{1,2}; Matheus UBA-CHUPEL^{1,2}; Rafael CARVALHO1¹, Taís RIEPING¹; Nelba SOUZA¹; Fábio DIREITO¹; Margarida FIGUEIREDO-BRAGA³ and Ana TEIXEIRA^{1.} Effects of an aerobic walking exercise program on salivary cortisol, cognition, depression and feelings of happiness of institutionalized elderly women. *International Society for Exercise and Immunology (ISEI) – Wien, Austria –* 2015. Oral Presentation.

• <u>Ana Maria TEIXEIRA¹</u>, **Guilherme FURTADO**^{1,2}; Matheus UBA-CHUPEL^{1,2}; Luís RAMA¹, Margarida FIGUEIREDO-BRAGA⁴, Ana Filipa PEDROSA¹, Nelba SOUZA¹, Taís RIEPING¹; Fábio DIREITO¹, Stephan Bandelow³, Eef Hogervorst³, and José Pedro FERREIRA¹. Involvement of BDNF, Cortisol, Testosterone and DHEA on changes in Cognitive Profile: effects of aerobic exercise in institutionalized elderly with cognitive impairment. *International Society for Exercise and Immunology (ISEI) – Wien, Austria* – **2015.** Oral Presentation.

• <u>Guilherme FURTADO^{1,2}</u>; Matheus UBA-CHUPEL^{1,2}; Nelba SOUZA¹, Taís RIEPING¹; Fábio DIREITO¹, José Pedro FERREIRA¹ and Ana TEIXEIRA¹ Effects of Strength Training on salivary IgA, Lysozyme, IL-1 β and IL-6 of frail elderly persons. *International Society for Exercise and Immunology (ISEI) – Wien, Austria –* 2015. Oral Presentation.

• Souza, N.,1, **Furtado, G.,**1, Uba-Chupel, M., 1, Martins, R., 1, Teixeira, AM.,1. Efeitos do exercício sobre os níveis de IgA e lisozima de idosos institucionalizados. *1º Congresso Ibero-americano de Desporto, Educação, Atividade Física e Saúde, 2015 – Lisboa.* Oral Presentation. • <u>Guilherme FURTADO^{1,2}</u>; Matheus Uba-Chupel^{1,2}; José Pedro Ferreira¹ e Ana Teixeira¹. Efeitos de um programa de treino de força nos marcadores salivares da imunidade, em mulheres idosas frágeis. **1º Congresso Ibero-americano de Desporto,** *Educação, Atividade Física e Saúde, 2015 – Lisboa.* Oral Presentation.

• Direito, F.¹ Uba-Chupel, M.^{1,2}, **Furtado, G**.^{1,2}, Rieping, T.^{1,} Souza, N.¹, Rosado, MF.¹, Ferreira, JPL.¹, Teixeira, AM.¹ Efeitos de um programa de exercício de força em parâmetros hematológicos de idosos institucionalizados. *1º Congresso Ibero-americano de Desporto, Educação, Atividade Física e Saúde, 2015 – Lisboa.* Oral Presentation.

• Rieping, T.¹; **Furtado, G.^{1,2}**; Uba-Chupel, M.^{1,2}; Ferreira, JP.¹; Teixeira, AM.¹ Efeito de diferentes tipos de exercício na autonomia funcional e modulação hormonal em idosas institucionalizadas. *1º Congresso Ibero-americano de Desporto, Educação, Atividade Física e Saúde, 2015 – Lisboa.* Oral Presentation.

• <u>Guilherme FURTADO^{1,2}</u>; Nelba Reis Souza, Matheus Uba-Chupel ^{1,2}; Eef Hogervost, Sthepan Bandelow, José Pedro Ferreira¹ e Ana Teixeira (2016) Associações entre indicadores de aptidão física funcional e fragilidade no idoso: um estudo exploratório. **XVI de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física dos dos países de Educação Física de língua Portuguesa - Portugal**, Poster presentation.

• Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado; Luana Bastos de Oliveira, Clarice Alves dos Santos, Saulo Vasconcelos Rocha Estélio Henrique Martin Dantas (2016) Sarcopénia, incapacidade funcional e indicadores sócio-demográficos em idosos residentes na comunidade. XVI de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física dos dos países de Educação Física de língua Portuguesa - Portugal, Poster presentation.

• Nelba Souza ^{1,} **Guilherme Furtado** ^{1,2,} Mateus Uba-Chupel ^{1,2,} Raul Martins ^{1,} Ana Maria Teixeira ¹. A influência do exercício aeróbio nos biomarcadores da imunidade e na aptidão física em idosas (2016). **XVI de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física dos dos países de Educação Física de língua Portuguesa - Portugal**, Poster presentation.

• SOUZA, N.R.; ROCHA, S. V.; Furtado G.; RODRIGUES, W. K. M.; ANDRADE, F. A.; ALMEIDA, T. Z. S.; PINTO, L. L. T.; PEREIRA, G. S.; BRITO, A. S.; OLIVEIRA, S. C. . Avaliação do desempenho motor de idosos residentes em áreas rurais. In: XVI Congresso de Ciências do deporto e Educação Física dos países de língua portuguesa., 2016, Porto. Revista Portuguesa de Ciências do Desporto. Porto: Revista Portuguesa de Ciências do Desporto, 2016. v. R1. p. 157-157.

• Furtado G. ; ROCHA, SV ; COUTINHO, A. P. P. ; SOUZA NETO, J. ; VASCONCELOS, L. R. C. ; SOUZA, N. R. ; DANTAS, E. (2016) Multivariate association between body mass index and multicomorbidities in elderly people living in low socio-economic status context. In: 3rd IPLeiria International Health Congress: Health, Demographic Changes & Well-being, Leiria. BMC Helath Services Research, 2016. v. 16. p. 67-67.

• SOUZA, N. R. ; **Furtado G**. ; ROCHA, SV ; SILVA, P. ; CARVALHO, J. . Influence of physical exercise on the self-perception of body image in elderly women: A systematic review of qualitative studies (2016). **In: 3rd IPLeiria International Health Congress: Health, Demographic Changes & Well-being,** Leiria. BMC Health Service Research. v. 13. p. 60-60.

• Emanuel Oliveira1,2, D. Sousa1, M. Uba-Chupel2, G. Furtado2, C. Rocha3, A. Teixeira2, P. Ferreira The effect of a walking program on the quality of life and wellbeing of people with schizophrenia In: 3rd IPLeiria International Health Congress: Health, Demographic Changes & Well-being, Leiria. BMC Health Service Research. v. 13. p. 60-60.

• Pedro Gil, Inês Laíns, João Gil, **Guilherme Furtado**, Marco Marques, Joana Providência, Patrícia Barreto, Tânia Mesquita, John B. Miller, Joan W. Miller, Deeba Husain, Rufino Silva. **Age-related Macular Degeneration: an association with**

physical activity and lifestyle. 59th Congress of the Portuguese Society of Ophthalmology. Coimbra, Portugal.

• **Furtado, Guilherme*1;** Loureiro, Marisa*²; Ferreira, José¹; Teixeira, Ana¹; Patrício, Miguel⁺² Predicting Frail Syndrome using adverse geriatric health outcomes: comparison of different statistical classifiers (2017). **Predicting Frail Syndrome using adverse geriatric health outcomes: comparison of different statistical classifiers 5th IEEE Portuguese BioEngineering Meeting, Coimbra, Portugal, 16-18 February.**

• Guilherme Furtado; Humberto Carvalho; Mateus Uba-Chupel; José Pedro Ferreira; Ana Botelho Teixeira. Effectiveness of two exercise programs on physical functioning and biomarkers of autonomic activity in frail elderly woman (2017). International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research (ICFSR 2017) Barcelona, Spain (April, 2017) [resumo aceito, ver anexo 2].

• Guilherme Furtado; Miguel Patrício,4; Marisa Loureiro,4; José Pedro Ferreira, and Ana Teixeira, PhD1. Physical functioning correlates of the Fried Frailty Phenotype components in women aged over 65 years (2017) International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research (ICFSR 2017) Barcelona, Spain (April, 2017) [resumo aceito, ver anexo 2].

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS IN THE COMMUNITY ACTIONS

• Furtado G., Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM. (2014) **Programa Ativa-Idade** (**PROJETO MESCHI**): A importância da prática regular de exercício físico em idosos que frequentam lares e centros de dia. Comunicação realizada na Cáritas Diocesanas de Coimbra: Lar e Centro de Dia para acolhimento de pessoas idosas. Coimbra, junho.

• Furtado G.; Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM. (2014). Programa Ativa-Idade (PROJETO MESCHI): A importância da prática regular de exercício físico em idosos que frequentam lares e centros de dia. Comunicação realizada na Venerável Ordem Terceira Da Penitência De São Francisco: Lar e Centro de Dia para acolhimento de pessoas idosas. Coimbra, junho.

• Furtado G.; Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM. (2014). **Envelhecimento ativo e saudável I: Estratégias para a sua implementação.** Comunicação realizada aos Funcionários da Cáritas Diocesanas de Coimbra. Julho.

• Furtado G.; Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM. (2014). **Envelhecimento ativo e saudável II: O exercício Físico e os benefícios para saúde global dos idosos.** Comunicação realizada na Cáritas Diocesanas de Coimbra. Agosto.

• Furtado G.; Uba-Chupel, M.; Carvalho, R. AF Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM. (2014). **Programa Ativa-Idade (PROJETO MESCHI): A importância da prática regular de exercício físico em idosos que frequentam lares e centros de dia.** Comunicação realizada na Santa Casa da Misericórdia de Cantanhede: Centro de Apoio à Terceira Idade (CATI). Cantanhede, Novembro.

• Furtado G.; Uba-Chupel, M.; Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM. (2014) **Programa Ativa-Idade (PROJETO MESCHI): Comunicação parcial dos resultados da intervenção.** Venerável Ordem Terceira Da Penitência De São Francisco: Lar e Centro de Dia para acolhimento de pessoas idosas. Coimbra, Dezembro.

• Furtado, GF; Campos, MJ, Ferreira, JP e Teixeira, AM (2014). **Aptidão Física-Funcional em idosos: Aplicação prática.** Seminário apresentado aos alunos do curso do 3º ano licenciatura [UnC Desporto de opção] em Exercício e saúde em populações Especiais da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, Maio.

• Furtado, GF; Campos, MJ, Ferreira, JP e Teixeira, AM (2014). **Programa de exercícios para idosos frágeis I: Treino de força com resistências elásticas.** Seminário apresentado aos alunos do curso do 3º ano licenciatura [UnC Desporto de opção] da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, Maio.

• Furtado, GF; Ferreira, JP (2014). **Planificação do Treino em Indivíduos com condições especiais.** Seminário apresentado aos alunos do curso do 2º ano licenciatura [UnC Desporto de opção] em Exercício e saúde em populações Especiais da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, Maio.

• Furtado, GF; Campos, MJ, Ferreira, JP e Teixeira, AM (2015). **Aptidão Física-Funcional em idosos: Aplicação prática.** Seminário apresentado aos alunos do curso do 3º ano de licenciatura [UnC Desporto de opção] da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, fevereiro.

• Furtado, GF; Campos, MJ, Ferreira, JP e Teixeira, AM (2015). **Programa de exercícios para idosos frágeis II: Treino de combinado.** Seminário apresentado aos alunos do curso do 3º ano de licenciatura [UnC Desporto de opção] Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, fevereiro.

• Furtado, GF; Teixeira, AM (2015). **Prescrição do exercício físico baseada na evidência em idosos com condições clínicas.** Seminário apresentado aos alunos do curso de Mestrado em Exercício e saúde em populações Especiais da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, Janeiro.

• Furtado, GF; Teixeira, AM (2015). **Eventos de meia distância: Implicações metabólicas.** Aula de substituição ministrada aos alunos do 2º ano licenciatura [UnC Bioquímica do Exercício] da Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra, Maio.

• Furtado G.; Ulba-Chupel, M.; Carvalho, R.; AF Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM. (2015) **Programa Ativa-Idade: Prática regular de exercício físico em idosos que frequentam lares e centros de dia.** Comunicação realizada no Centro de Atendimento à Terceira Idade, SCM. Cantanhede, Janeiro. • Furtado G.; Ulba-Chupel, M.; Carvalho, R.; AF Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM (2015). **Envelhecimento ativo e saudável: Estratégias para a sua implementação.** Comunicação realizada no Centro de Atendimento à Terceira Idade, Santa Casa de Misericórdia. Cantanhede, Janeiro.

• Furtado G.; Ulba-Chupel, M.; Carvalho, R.; AF Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM (2015) Envelhecimento ativo e saudável II: O exercício Físico e os benefícios para saúde global dos idosos. Comunicação realizada no Centro de Atendimento à Terceira Idade, Santa Casa de Misericórdia. Cantanhede, Fevereiro.

• Direito, F., Ulba-Chupel, M.; Ripieing, T. Furtado; AF Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM (2015). Ação de mobilização para prevenção das quedas em idosos: Uma experiência de 'Flash mob dance' com idosos institucionalizados [vídeo]. Parceria com Grupo *ProFouND: Prevention of Falls Network for Dissemination* – Cáritas Diocesana de Coimbra.

• Direito, F., Ulba-Chupel, M.; Ripieing, T. Furtado; AF Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM (2015). **Mobilização para prevenção das quedas em idosos: Uma experiência de 'Flash mob dance' com idosos institucionalizados [vídeo].** Parceria com Grupo *ProFouND: Prevention of Falls Network for Dissemination.* Acção realizada no Centro de Atendimento à Terceira Idade, Santa Casa de Misericórdia de Coimbra.

• Direito, F., Uba-Chupel, M.; Ripieing, T. Furtado; AF Ferreira; JPL; Teixeira AM (2015). **Mobilização para prevenção das quedas em idosos: Uma experiência de 'Flash mob dance' com idosos institucionalizados [vídeo].** Parceria com Grupo *ProFouND: Prevention of Falls Network for Dissemination.* Acção realizada no Centro de Atendimento à Terceira Idade, Santa Casa de Misericórdia de Cantanhede.

PARTICIPATION IN SHORT COURSES, LECTURES AND SEMINARS (LISTENER)

• Ageing@Coimbra (2015). **3º Congresso Regional sobre o Envelhecimento Ativo e saudável.** Auditório Central da Universidade de Coimbra, Janeiro.

• Projeto *Do-Health* (2014). **Quedas em idosos: Sinais de Perigo. Previna-se!** Auditório Central dos Hospitais da Universidade de Coimbra, Setembro.

• Cavaglieri, C. (2014) ministrou também uma palestra intitulada "*Anti-inflammatory effect of exercise in obesity*" Comunição proferida no âmbito da disciplina de Doutorado Seminário II. Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra. Fevereiro.

• *Carvalho, HM (2015).* **Research Methods in Sport Science.** Curso de metodologia da pesquisa aplicado às Ciências do Desporto. Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra. Fevereiro.

• Cursos Laboratório de Bioestatística e Informática Médica (2016): **Revisões** sistemáticas e metanálise [duração: 4 horas] anfiteatro da subunidade 1 da Faculdade de Medicina. 26/Fevereiro.

• Cursos Laboratório de Bioestatística e Informática Médica (2016): **Pensamento estatístico aplicável** [duração: 4 horas] anfiteatro da subunidade 1 da Faculdade de Medicina. 22/Fevereiro. • Cursos Laboratório de Bioestatística e Informática Médica (2016): **Regressão Logística e Anáise de ROC** [duração: 8 horas] anfiteatro da subunidade 1 da Faculdade de Medicina. 22/Abril.

• Cursos Laboratório de Bioestatística e Informática Médica (2016): **Modelos de regressão** [duração: 8 horas] anfiteatro da subunidade 1 da Faculdade de Medicina. 20/Maio.

• Cursos Laboratório de Bioestatística e Informática Médica (2016): **Investigação replicável** [duração: 4 horas] anfiteatro da subunidade 1 da Faculdade de Medicina. 22/Setembro.

• Ageing@Coimbra: **4º Congresso Regional sobre Envelhecimento Ativo e Saudável** (2016). Auditório da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Coimbra. Maio.

• **17º Fórum Internacional de Desporto** (2017): integrado na edição da semana cultural na Universidade de Coimbra, Coordenação do mestrado em Treino Desportivo para Crianças e Jovens, Faculdade de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física da Universidade de Coimbra (Março/2017)

ELABORATION AND PARTICIPATION IN SCIENTIFIC ARTICLES

• Furtado G. ; SOUZA, N. R. ; Ferreira JP ; Letieri R ; Carvalho H ; DANTAS, E. ; **ROCHA, SV** . The effects of exercise on physical fitness in daily life activities, autonomy and satisfaction with life among the brazilian elderly (2015). Egitania Sciencia, v. 9, p. 52-63.

• Teixeira, AM. et al. (2016) Study protocol: Hormonal mediation of exercise on cognition, stress and immunity (PRO-HMECSI): effect of different exercise programmes in institutionalized elders. *Frontiers in Public Health* [Aceite: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4921497/]

• Marques, MC. et al. (2017) Influence of Yoga Practice on salivary anti-microbial proteins in an elderly population. *European Journal of Integrative Medicine*. [https://ec.europa.eu/eip/ageing/sites/eipaha/files/results_attachments/influence_ of_chair-based_yoga.pdf]

• Furtado, G. et al. (2016) Effects of different types of chair based exercise programs on hormonal, functional autonomy and physical fitness in pre-frail elderly woman. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice [Aceite: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27502812]

• Furtado, Guilherme^{*1}; Loureiro, Marisa^{*2}; Ferreira, José¹; Teixeira, Ana¹; Patrício, Miguel (2017) Predicting Frail Syndrome using adverse geriatric health outcomes: comparison of different statistical classifiers. IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering Journal [https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7889430/]

• Furtado, Guilherme^{*1}; Loureiro, Marisa^{*2}; Patrício, Miguel; Ferreira, José¹; Teixeira, Ana¹ (2017) Examining relationship and potential predictive performance between physical fitness indicators and frailty syndrome outcomes in institutionalized woman over 60 years of age. **Perceptual and Motor Skills (Sage Journals)** [http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0031512517709915]

• Furtado, Guilherme^{*1}; Loureiro, Marisa^{*2}; Patrício, Miguel; Hogervost, Eef; Bandelow, Sthepan; Ferreira, José¹; Teixeira, Ana¹ (2017) Which physical functioning markers best correlate with the five components of Fried Frailty Criteria? **Jornal of Aging and Health [sob revisão]**

• Furtado, Guilherme^{*1}; Ferreira, José¹; Teixeira, Ana¹(2017) Frailty syndrome influence on cognition performance in populations over 60 years of age, part I: a systematic review with meta-analysis. **Revista Ciências e Saúde Coletiva** [http://www.cienciaesaudecoletiva.com.br/artigos/fragilidade-e-desempenhocognitivo-em-populacoes-idosas-parte-i-uma-revisao-sistematica-commetanalise/16300?id=16300&id=16300]

• Uba Chupel, M. Furtado, G. Direito, F. Minuzzi, L. Colado, J. Ferreira, JP. Filaire, E. Teixeira, AM. (2017). Strength training improves the anti-inflammatory profile, cognition and physical fitness in older women with cognitive impairment. *Frontiers in Physiology* https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28659812

• Rieping, T.¹; **Furtado, G.^{1,2}**; Uba-Chupel, M.^{1,2}; Ferreira, JP.¹; Teixeira, AM.¹ (2018) Effect of different types of chair-based exercise programs on salivary biomarkers and functional autonomy in institutionalized older women. **Research Quartely of Physical Activity and Health [accepted article, final revision].**

• Uba-Chupel, M, **Minuzzi, L; Furtado, G.**^{1,2; 1,2}; Filaire, E..¹; Teixeira, AM.¹ (2018) Exercise and supplementation with taurine in the elderly: effects on immune and bloodbrain barrier integrity markers. **Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism** https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29474803

• **Furtado, Guilherme***¹; Loureiro, Marisa*²; Patrício, Miguel; Uba-chuppel, M. Hogervost, Eef; Bandelow, Sthepan; Ferreira, José¹; Teixeira, Ana¹ (2018). Musclestrength elastic band and multimodal chair-based exercise programmes increase DHEA and Testosterone levels, decrease frailty status and functional disability in older women. European Journal of Sport Science (*under revision*).

• Furtado GE, Caldo A, Rieping T, Filaire E, Hogervorst E, Teixeira, AM, et al. Physical Frailty and cognitive status over-60 age populations: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2018 Jul 22];78:240–8. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167494318301377 ; Impact fator: 2.241

PARTICIPATION AS MEMBER OF A CO-ADVISOR OF MASTER'S THESIS

• Rieping, T. (2016) Efeitos de diferentes tipos de programas de exercício físico no comportamento da alfa-amilase salivar e do cortisol e na autonomia funcional em idosas institucionalizadas. Dissertação apresentada no Mestrado em Exercício e Saúde em Populações Especiais, FCDEF-UC, Portugal. Orientador: Prof. Doutor José Pedro Ferreira e Coorientador: Prof. Mestre Guilherme Furtado. Coimbra.

• Carvalho, Rafael (2016). Efeitos de um programa de exercício físico aeróbio na mediação de indicadores biopsicológicos em idosas institucionalizadas. Dissertação apresentada no Mestrado em Exercício e Saúde em Populações Especiais, FCDEF-UC, Portugal. Orientador: Prof. Doutor José Pedro Ferreira e Coorientador: Prof. Mestre Guilherme Furtado. Coimbra.

SCIENTIFIC PRIZES

• Furtado et al., (2016). Second prize of the best oral communication presented at the 3rd IPLeiria International Health Congress: Health, Demographic Changes & Wellbeing, organized by the Health Research Unit (UIS) of the IPL, Health Research Unit (UIS) of the IPLeiria School of Health Sciences - Leiria, Portugal (2016).

• Furtado, G. Ferreira, JP e Teixeira, A. Menção honrosa recebida através da Comissão de Coordenação e Desenvolvimento Regional do Centro e o consórcio Ageing@Coimbra. Concurso de Boas Práticas de Envelhecimento Ativo e Saudável (outubro, 2017).

REVIEWER OF ARTICLES IN NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC JOURNALS

• Guilherme Eustáquio Furtado colaborador (Revisor) no Vol. 1, n.º 1 do ano 2015 da Revista Portuguesa de_Investigação Comportamental e Social – RPICS [http://rpics.ismt.pt/index.php/ISMT]

• "Exercise and Antioxidant Intake in Aging Normotensive and Hypertensive Individuals", for the upcoming issue of the **Journal Gerontology & Geriatric Medicine** (manuscript reference HGGM-16-004), August 04, 2016.

• Revisor do artigo "O apoio dos amigos na participação desportiva do atleta: uma revisão sistemática da literatura". *Revista Iberoamericana de Psicología del Ejercicio y el Deporte*. *Abril de 2018.*

ACADEMIC-SCIENTIFIC MISSIONS

• UNICAMP - Faculdade de Educação Física (2016). Visita ao convite da professora Doutora Cláudia Cavalieri (ver Anexo 3) para acompanhado do trabalho relacionado a linha de investigação Exercício e Envelhecimento, intergrada ao meu período de férias no Brasil, outubro.

• Faculdade de Psicologia, Ciências da Educação e Esportes - Blanquerna (University Ramon Llull). Visita ao Convite da professora Doutora para acompanhamento do Projeto Europeu: Exercise Referral Schemes enhanced_by Self-Management Strategies to battle sedentary behavior, which obtained a Horizon-2020 financial support from the European Commission (Project ID: 634270). The project's objective is_to assess the long-term effectiveness (18 month follow-up) of a complex intervention on_sedentary behavior and physical activity in a community dwelling older population based on_existing exercise referral schemes enhanced by self-management-strategies.

• Center of Sport Medicine and well being. Faculty of Sport Science, Loughborough University. Visita ao abrigo do Programa Eramus+ (Mobilidade para estágio), sob a aceitação do Convite da professora Doutora Eef Hogervost para o desenvolvimento de atividades da linha de pesquisa: Study Protocol on Hormonal Mediation of Exercise on Cognition, Stress and Immunity (PRO-HMECSI): Effects of Different Exercise Programmes in Institutionalized Elders.